Howard J. Eisen Editor

Pharmacology of Immunosuppression



Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology

Volume 272

Editor-in-Chief

James E. Barrett, Center for Substance Abuse Research, Lewis Katz School of Medicine at Temple University, Philadelphia, PA, USA

Editorial Board Members

Veit Flockerzi, Institute for Experimental and Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology, Saarland University, Homburg, Germany

Michael A. Frohman, Center for Developmental Genetics, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY, USA

Pierangelo Geppetti, Headache Center, University of Florence, Florence, Italy

Franz B. Hofmann, Forschergruppe 923 Carvas, Technical University, München, Germany

Rohini Kuner, Institute of Pharmacology, Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany

Martin C. Michel, Dept of Pharmacology, Johannes Gutenberg Universität, Mainz, Germany

Clive P. Page, SIPP, Kings College London, London, UK

KeWei Wang, School of Pharmacy, Qingdao University, Qingdao, China

The *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology* is one of the most authoritative and influential book series in pharmacology. It provides critical and comprehensive discussions of the most significant areas of pharmacological research, written by leading international authorities. Each volume in the series represents the most informative and contemporary account of its subject available, making it an unrivalled reference source.

HEP is indexed in PubMed and Scopus.

Howard J. Eisen Editor

Pharmacology of Immunosuppression



Editor Howard J. Eisen Heart and Vascular Institute Pennsylvania State University Hershey, PA, USA

ISSN 0171-2004 ISSN 1865-0325 (electronic) Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology ISBN 978-3-031-05117-3 ISBN 978-3-031-05118-0 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-05118-0

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

This volume of *The Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology* provides insights into the broad range of immunosuppressive agents used to modulate immune responses against organs of the body. Given the complexity of the immune pathways involved and their interplay, taming the immune system to treat and control a multitude of naturally occurring diseases and diseases that are a consequence of modern lifesaving therapies such as solid organ and bone marrow transplantation is truly remarkable. The volume begins with a detailed review of salient immune pathways involved in the alloimmune response as well as immune responses to infections, malignancies, and other threats. The subsequent chapters then discuss how these pathways go awry in patients, resulting in autoimmune diseases, and how these pathways are controlled in these autoimmune diseases (rheumatic and multiple sclerosis) using immunosuppression. A further discussion relates to how immunosuppression improves clinical outcomes in these patients through modulation of the immune system.

A preponderance of the chapters address the most dramatic use of immunosuppression currently which is to blunt the alloimmune onslaught which is a consequence of solid organ and bone marrow allo-transplantation. In these settings, the alloimmune response is a consequence of desperate efforts to control life-threatening diseases such as advanced heart or lung diseases, end-stage kidney and liver diseases, and hematologic malignancies. In these clinical scenarios, organ transplantation is often performed using immunologically different donors, resulting in the trading of one disease, the life-threatening one, which necessitated transplantation with the post-transplant state. Left uncontrolled, the alloimmune responses to organ transplantation can result in the swift destruction of the allograft and death of the recipient. One only need to think of the earliest heart transplant recipients in the late 1960s and early 1970s to fully comprehend both the consequences of not understanding the pathophysiology of the alloimmune responses and the therapies used to control these which have resulted in the modern miracle which is organ transplantation. This lack of understanding of immunology and the lack of effective immunosuppressive drugs also explain why the very earliest renal transplant in Boston in the 1950s was between identical twins. It was not until 1974 that the alloimmune response was deciphered by Doherty and Zinkernagel, ushering in an era of more specific, less toxic immunosuppressive agents. These agents have allowed for the development of successful, safe transplants which in turn have saved millions. The understanding of how these immunosuppressive can be used in organ transplant recipients clinically has been a dynamic process resulting from the results of clinical trials, experience, and registries. This evolution is detailed and explained in the organ transplant specific chapters. Chapters dealing with pharmacology and immunology ranging from small inhibitory molecules like the calcineurin and mTOR inhibitors which block pivotal parts of the immune cascade to less specific agents like anti-proliferatives which block the proliferation of immune cells to corticosteroids which have more global effects explain how these agents are utilized for immunosuppression and how to optimize their clinical effects. A chapter discussing the use of antibodies to blunt the alloimmune response is also included.

It is well known that managing transplant recipients is a "tightrope" balancing act where either under- or over-immunosuppression can be catastrophic, the former causing allograft failure and the latter causing infections, malignancies, or other complications all of which can be life-threatening. The complications of immunosuppressive agents are delineated into specific categories including infections, malignancies, and metabolic complications. The fact that these complications can occur even with routine use of immunosuppression by experienced clinicians illustrates that the use of immunosuppression to manage autoimmune disease and organ transplantation is a high-stakes game.

The authors of these chapters are experts in their fields with considerable experience in the use of these agents and often leaders in conducting clinical trials of new agents. A chapter is included on novel immunosuppression on the horizon.

This volume provides the scientific underpinning for understanding the mechanism of immunosuppressive agents' actions. The volume also provides information for use of immunosuppressive agents in specific conditions including autoimmune diseases and organ transplants. Finally, the myriad of complications caused by immunosuppression are discussed in detail. This volume will be of considerable interest and use for clinicians, physician-scientists, clinical investigators, residents, fellows, and medical students. I thank the authors who contributed these outstanding chapters. They are experts and leaders in their fields. Their work can be considered authoritative sources in their fields.

Hershey, PA, USA

Howard J. Eisen

Contents

The Biology and Molecular Basis of Organ Transplant Rejection Philip F. Halloran, Gunilla Einecke, Majid L. N. Sikosana, and Katelynn Madill-Thomsen	1
A Comprehensive Review of Calcineurin Inhibitors Used for Immunosuppression in Cardiac Transplantation	27
Antiproliferatives and Transplantation	39
Mechanistic Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) Inhibitors Denise Wang and Howard J. Eisen	53
Corticosteroids in Immunosuppression Caroline Marzbani and Arvind Bhimaraj	73
Induction Therapy and Therapeutic Antibodies	85
Immunosuppression and Heart Transplantation	117
Immunosuppression in Lung Transplantation Joelle Nelson, Elisabeth Kincaide, Jamie Schulte, Reed Hall, and Deborah Jo Levine	139
Immunosuppression and Kidney Transplantation	165
Immunosuppression in Rheumatologic and Auto-immune Disease Arundathi Jayatilleke	181
Immune Suppression in Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation Thomas F. Michniacki, Sung Won Choi, and Daniel C. Peltier	209

Immunosuppression in Multiple Sclerosis and Other Neurologic Disorders	245
Novel Immunosuppression in Solid Organ Transplantation Prasad Konda, Reshma Golamari, and Howard J. Eisen	267
Adverse Effects of Immunosuppression: Infections	287
Malignancy: An Adverse Effect of Immunosuppression	315
Adverse Effects of Immunosuppression: Nephrotoxicity, Hypertension, and Metabolic Disease	337



The Biology and Molecular Basis of Organ Transplant Rejection

Philip F. Halloran, Gunilla Einecke, Majid L. N. Sikosana, and Katelynn Madill-Thomsen

Contents

1	Introd	uction and Overview	2
	1.1	Structure and Function of the Immune System and Some Molecules to Know	3
2	Three	-Signal Model of the Alloimmune T Cell Response in the SLO	4
3	Effect	ors, Lesions, and Molecular Phenotype of Rejection	6
	3.1	T Cell-Mediated Rejection (TCMR)	6
		3.1.1 Tissue Injury in TCMR	8
	3.2	Antibody-Mediated Rejection	10
	3.3	Triggering of Host B Cell Clones with Cognate Receptors for Native Donor HLA	
		Molecules	10
	3.4	Effector Mechanisms in ABMR	12
	3.5	Classification of ABMR	13
		3.5.1 Hyperacute ABMR	13
		3.5.2 Early Acute ABMR in Sensitized Patients (Type 1)	14
		3.5.3 ABMR Apparently Independent of Pre-Transplant Sensitization (Type 2)	14
	3.6	Late-Stage ABMR (LABMR)	14
	3.7	Mixed Rejection	15
	3.8	Sub-Threshold ABMR-Like Changes	15
	3.9	DSA-Negative ABMR	15
	3.10	Unsolved Issues in ABMR	15
4	Donor	r-Derived Cell-Free DNA (dd-cfDNA)	16
5	Host-	Graft Adaptation	16
	5.1	Immune Checkpoint Molecules	16
	5.2	Regulatory T Cells	17
	5.3	Transplant Tolerance	18
6	Late S	Slow Deterioration of Organ Transplants	18
7	Effect	s of Injury	19

P. F. Halloran (\boxtimes) · M. L. N. Sikosana · K. Madill-Thomsen

Department of Nephrology and Hypertension, Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany

Division of Nephrology, Department of Medicine, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada e-mail: phallora@ualberta.ca

G. Einecke

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

H. J. Eisen (ed.), Pharmacology of Immunosuppression,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 272, https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2021_557

	7.1 Does Injury Evoke Rejection?	20
8	Summary	20
Re	eferences	21

Abstract

Allograft rejection is defined as tissue injury in a transplanted allogeneic organ produced by the effector mechanisms of the adaptive alloimmune response. Effector T lymphocytes and IgG alloantibodies cause two different types of rejection that can occur either individually or simultaneously: T cell-mediated rejection (TCMR) and antibody-mediated rejection (ABMR). In TCMR, cognate effector T cells infiltrate the graft and orchestrate an interstitial inflammatory response in the kidney interstitium in which effector T cells engage antigenpresenting myeloid cells, activating the T cells, antigen-presenting cells, and macrophages. The result is intense expression of IFNG and IFNG-induced molecules, expression of effector T cell molecules and macrophage molecules and checkpoints, and deterioration of parenchymal function. The diagnostic lesions of TCMR follow, i.e. interstitial inflammation, parenchymal deterioration. and intimal arteritis. In ABMR, HLA IgG alloantibodies produced by plasma cells bind to the donor antigens on graft microcirculation, leading to complement activation, margination, and activation of NK cells and neutrophils and monocytes, and endothelial injury, sometimes with intimal arteritis. TCMR becomes infrequent after 5–10 years post-transplant, probably reflecting adaptive mechanisms such as checkpoints, but ABMR can present even decades posttransplant. Some rejection is triggered by inadequate immunosuppression and non-adherence, challenging the clinician to target effective immunosuppression even decades post-transplant.

Keywords

Alloimmune response \cdot Antibody-mediated rejection \cdot Donor-specific antibody \cdot Organ transplantation \cdot Rejection \cdot T cell-mediated rejection

1 Introduction and Overview

This chapter focuses on organ transplant (allograft) rejection, with a particular focus on kidney and heart transplants, but we will also consider the effects of parenchymal injury. T cells with alpha-beta receptors (TCRs) recognizing major histocompatibility complex (MHC – human, HLA) proteins are essential for all graft rejection: animals with no thymus and no T cells cannot reject organ allografts. For reviews, see Halloran (2004); Halloran et al. (2016a). Aspects of the rejection process have been covered in previous reviews (Einecke and Halloran 2007).

Much new information about rejection included here has been generated in the development of the Molecular Microscope Diagnostic System (MMDx) (Halloran

et al. 2018) for organ transplants biopsies, including kidney (Reeve et al. 2017), heart (Parkes et al. 2019), lung transbronchial biopsies (Halloran et al. 2019), lung mucosal biopsies (Halloran et al. 2020), and liver biopsies (Madill-Thomsen et al. 2020).

Much of what we know about rejection comes from kidney transplant studies because the core biopsies are abundant and more easily read than the more challenging heart and lung biopsies. This chapter will often refer to kidney studies but most lessons are generalizable to other organ transplants.

It is necessary to understand tissue injury, which is universal in donation and implantation of organ transplants and may help activate antigen presentation and adaptive immune responses. Nonimmune and immune injury is additive. However, injury is probably not necessary for activating the immune response: some "ticking over" of the antigen presentation system may always be occurring.

1.1 Structure and Function of the Immune System and Some Molecules to Know

We cannot cover the molecular biology of all elements of adaptive and innate immunity (inflammation) in this chapter, and the reader is encouraged to have some familiarity with the development of the adaptive immune system; the lymphoid organs; the key antigen recognition molecules – T cell receptors, B cell receptors and immunoglobulins; the major histocompatibility complex proteins (in humans, the HLA complex), the cytokines and the chemokines; and the mechanisms of inflammation.

T cells are generated in the thymus from marrow precursors, rearranging their TCR genes, expressing TCRs, and undergoing positive and negative selection. B cells arise from marrow precursors in the bone marrow, rearranging their immunoglobulin light and heavy chain genes, and undergo negative selection. Mature T and B cells then populate the secondary lymphoid organs.

Organ transplantation between genetically non-identical humans leads to the activation of a large number of alloreactive clones of T and B lymphocytes that specifically recognize the mismatched donor alloantigens and can generate antigen-specific effector functions leading to the destruction of the transplant. Alloantigens are antigenic differences between individuals controlled by polymorphic gene differences. MHC alloantigens are of two classes – class I (specialized to engage CD8 T cells) and class II – specialized to engage CD4 T cells. All contain peptides in their groove between alpha-helices. Each can be "seen" by T cells in three ways: as intact donor molecules (direct) recognition); as peptides in host MHC molecules (indirect); or as intact donor molecules on islands on the membrane from donor cells that have been acquired by host cells (semi-direct"). Thus MHC alloantigens are peptide-MHC complexes that present non-self features, due to either non-self (donor) amino acid sequences in the MHC protein itself, non-self donor MHC peptides in MHC grooves, or both. B cell alloantigens (that will generate alloantibodies) are intact non-self MHC proteins; the peptide is usually not relevant.

The two cognate (i.e., antigen-specific) effector systems of the adaptive immune response generated during the alloimmune response are the effector T lymphocytes, which cause T cell-mediated rejection (TCMR) and IgG alloantibodies, which cause antibody-mediated rejection (ABMR). Under usual immunosuppressive regimens (Halloran 2004), clinical rejection episodes take characteristic TCMR and ABMR and mixed forms and are diagnosed by biopsies read by histology and molecular platforms. The possibility of NK cell recognition of "missing self" must also be considered within the syndrome of ABMR phenotypes (Callemeyn et al. 2021).

2 Three-Signal Model of the Alloimmune T Cell Response in the SLO

Alloimmune responses are initiated by activation of antigen-presenting cells (APCs) through innate immune recognition systems (Fig. 1). In the graft and surrounding tissues, dendritic cells of donor and host origin become activated and move to T cell areas of secondary lymphoid organs (SLO).

In the SLO, antigen-bearing dendritic cells engage alloantigen-reactive naive T cells and memory T cells (Fig. 1). While naive T cells are optimally triggered by dendritic cells in SLO (Lakkis et al. 2000; Zhou et al. 2003), previously stimulated or "antigen-experienced" memory cells may be activated by other cell types, such as graft endothelium (Biedermann and Pober 1998). This is an issue in clinical transplantation since human adults have large numbers of memory T cells activated previously by viral antigens that cross-react with alloantigens (Adams et al. 2003a) (heterologous memory (Adams et al. 2003b)). Some estimates indicate that many of the antigen-specific T cells reacting with donor antigens are memory T cells, not naïve T cells (Lombardi et al. 1990).

An antigen on the surface of dendritic cells that triggers T cells with cognate T cell receptors constitutes "signal 1," transduced through the CD3 complex. Dendritic cells provide costimulation, or "signal 2," delivered when CD80 and CD86 on the surface of dendritic cells engage CD28 on T cells. Memory T cells have less requirement for costimulation.

Signals 1 and 2 activate three signal-transduction pathways: the calciumcalcineurin pathway, the RAS-mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase pathway, and the nuclear factor-B pathway (Wang et al. 2004). These pathways activate transcription factors that trigger the expression of many new molecules, including interleukin-2, CD154, and CD25. Interleukin-2 and other cytokines (e.g., interleukin-15) activate the "target of rapamycin" pathway to provide "signal 3," the trigger for cell proliferation. Proliferation and differentiation lead to a large number of effector T cells.

B cells are activated when antigen engages their antigen receptors, usually in lymphoid follicles or in extrafollicular sites, such as red pulp of spleen (MacLennan et al. 2003), or possibly in the transplant (Sarwal et al. 2003), producing alloantibody against donor HLA antigens. However, follicular helper T cells are essential to the



Fig. 1 Steps in T cell-mediated rejection. Antigen-presenting cells (APCs) of host or donor origin migrate to secondary lymphoid organs. APCs present donor antigen to naive and central memory T cells. These T cells ordinarily circulate between lymphoid tissues, regulated by chemokine and sphingosine-1-phosphate (S-1-P) receptors (Mandala et al. 2002). T cells are activated and undergo clonal expansion and differentiation to express effector functions. Antigen triggers T-cell receptors (TCRs) (signal 1) and synapse formation. CD80 (B7-1) and CD86 (B7-2) on the APC engage CD28 on the T cell to provide signal 2. These signals activate three signal-transduction pathways – the calcium-calcineurin pathway, the mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase pathway, and the protein kinase C-nuclear factor-B (NF-B) pathway – which activate transcription factors nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT), activating protein 1 (AP-1), and NF-B, respectively. The result is expression of CD154 (which further activates APCs), interleukin-2 receptor chain (CD25), and interleukin-2. Receptors for a number of cytokines (interleukin-2, 4, 7, 15, and 21) share the common chain, which binds Janus kinase 3 (JAK3). Interleukin-2 and interleukin-15 deliver growth signals (signal 3) through the phosphoinositide-3-kinase (PI-3 K) pathway and the molecular-targetof-rapamycin (mTOR) pathway, which initiates the cell cycle. Antigen-experienced T cells home to and infiltrate the graft and engage the parenchyma to create typical rejection lesions such as tubulitis and, in more advanced rejection, endothelial arteritis. However, if the rejection does not destroy the

generation of effective B cell transformation into mature plasma cells producing high-affinity IgG that can engage donor endothelium and produce ABMR.

Thus, within days the immune response generates the effector mechanisms that can damage the organ and mediate allograft rejection, effector T cells, and alloantibody. In naïve recipients the first rejection to appear is TCMR. New TCMR and ABMR responses can be initiated later, especially during periods of underimmunosuppression.

3 Effectors, Lesions, and Molecular Phenotype of Rejection

Rejection is defined as tissue injury produced by the effector mechanisms of the adaptive alloimmune response, leading to deterioration in organ function. Rejection has many dimensions: clinical, immunologic, molecular, and histologic.

There are two types of rejection: T cell-mediated rejection (TCMR) and antibodymediated rejection (ABMR) (Fig. 2). TCMR, ABMR, and mixed rejection can be early or late, fulminant and rapid, or relatively indolent and slow. Increasingly new dimensions such as microarray or RNA sequencing analysis of genome-wide gene expression are being added.

T cells serve as the main effectors and regulators of the alloimmune response. Macrophages are possible effectors and aid in the removal of apoptotic cells. Theoretically, B cells and plasma cells could contribute to the production of alloantibodies within the graft but they are seen more often in TCMR and are not per se part of the criteria for ABMR. In ABMR, the high-affinity damaging IgG antibodies are probably made in SLO or the marrow.

3.1 T Cell-Mediated Rejection (TCMR)

Most rejection in clinical organ transplantation was previously TCMR, but effective ISDs have made TCMR later and less common, yet still important, e.g. in non-adherence. Cognate effector T cells that emerge from SLO infiltrate the graft and orchestrate an inflammatory response including recruitment of activated macrophages. Cognate effector T cells home to the graft by recognizing alloantigen on dendritic cell processes that emerge through the endothelium and guide the T cells through the capillary endothelium. In the interstitium they are then activated by dendritic cells to create the inflammatory environment that is the fundamental feature of TCMR (Halloran et al. 2016a), recruiting many other inflammatory cells:

Fig. 1 (continued) graft, adaptation occurs and is stabilized by immunosuppressive drugs. The photomicrographs of tubulitis and endothelial arteritis are taken from a mouse model in which these lesions are T cell-dependent but independent of perforin, granzymes, and antibody. IKK denotes inhibitor of nuclear factor-B kinase, CDK cyclin-dependent kinase, and MHC major histocompatibility complex. (Halloran, P. F. N Engl J Med 2004;351:2715–2729)



Fig. 2 (a) Tubulitis in T cell-mediated rejection (PAS, $40 \times$) (b) Endothelialitis in T cell-mediated rejection (PAS, $40 \times$)

non-cognate effector and memory T cells, macrophages, B cells, and plasma cells – the cellular infiltrate observed in TCMR biopsies. (The plasma cells seen in TCMR and damaged tissue generally are probably not fully mature and are not an important source of high-affinity alloantibody, which generally comes from mature bone marrow plasma cells.)

The diagnostic lesions of T cell-mediated rejection reflect mononuclear cells accumulating in the interstitium and in the cases of epithelial organs invading the epithelium, e.g. kidney tubules (tubulitis) and the intima of small arteries (arteritis) (Racusen et al. 1999). In the heart, the parenchyma manifests myocyte injury and necrosis. The molecular hallmark of all rejection is that the graft displays intense IFNG expression and IFNG-induced molecules such as CXCL9, CXCL10, and

CXCL11, accompanied in TCMR by many TCMR-selective transcripts expressed in effector T cells (e.g., IFNG), APCs, and macrophages (e.g., CXCL13 and ADAMDEC1), and checkpoint transcripts such as CTLA4. The parenchyma deteriorates with loss of the transcripts associated with normal function and expression of acute injury transcripts (Halloran et al. 2018; Venner et al. 2014; Venner et al. 2015; Loupy et al. 2017).

The recruitment of the other inflammatory cells into the graft across the microcirculation endothelium - diapedesis - is a result of the expression of chemokines and adhesion molecules by the endothelium of the graft. The steps are: rolling on selectins, engagement of chemokines, tight binding to adhesion molecules, then transendothelial migration. The endothelium of postcapillary venules serves as the entry point of recipient leukocytes from the bloodstream into the allograft. Endothelial cells are activated by proinflammatory cytokines and injury to express adhesion molecules and chemokines necessary for transendothelial migration. The recruitment of leukocytes is initiated by the release of chemokines by tubular cells, interstitial cells, endothelial cells, and infiltrating recipient cells within the allograft. T cells expressing the respective chemokine receptors extravasate through the endothelium and are guided by a chemokine gradient within the graft. The binding of chemokines to their receptors induces a conformational change in integrins, which are normally present on circulating leukocytes in an inactive state. Tight adhesion occurs when activated integrins bind their ligands on graft cells. The most common integrins present on lymphocytes are LFA-1 that binds ICAM-1 and -2, and VLA-4 that binds VCAM-1. Unfortunately, treating or preventing rejection by blocking adhesion has not been successful, likely due to redundancy among the multiple adhesion molecules and their ligands, and involvement of these mechanisms in many other types of inflammation.

An interesting but unexplained feature of rejection is that antigen-triggered effector T cells cross the donor endothelium without killing the endothelial cells. TCMR can smolder for days or weeks as an interstitial process, yet the graft remains viable. This could be related to T cell exhaustion.

3.1.1 Tissue Injury in TCMR

The main lesion for diagnosing kidney rejection in the Banff schema is tubulitis. E-cadherin on the basolateral membrane of the tubular epithelium of rejecting grafts may play a role in the development of tubulitis. Invasive lesions correlate with functional deterioration (Solez et al. 1993a, b) and may be relevant to the tubular atrophy that often follows rejection. TCMR can develop in mouse hosts lacking B cells and alloantibody (Jabs et al. 2003), and intense tubulitis is not a characteristic of human ABMR, although tubulitis is non-specific and can occur in ABMR and injury (Trpkov et al. 1996). In hearts, the corresponding lesion is myocyte injury and necrosis.

Alloimmune T cells may mediate parenchymal injury either through direct contact (cytotoxicity) or through contact-independent inflammatory mechanisms analogous to delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH). Infiltrating effector T cells display many cytotoxic molecules: enzymes in their granules – perforin (Prf1),

granzymes A and B (GzmA/B), and granulysin (GNLY) – as well as Fas ligand on their membranes (Robertson et al. 1996; Einecke et al. 2005). CTL could engage or even synapse with epithelial cells via specialized molecules to damage individual epithelial cells via cytotoxic mechanisms. The enzymes from stored granules released into the cytosol of target cells could initiate a cascade of events that leads to apoptosis, and engagement of Fas on target cells by FasL can cause apoptotic death of the target cell. However, TCMR is not dependent on granule-associated CTL mechanisms: it can develop in allografts rejecting in hosts lacking Prf1 or granzyme A (GzmA) and granzyme B (GzmB) (Halloran et al. 2004) or Fas ligand.

It has been suggested that the integrin CD103, by binding its ligand E-cadherin on epithelial cells, may permit CD8 T cells to engage the renal epithelium (Hadley et al. 1999; Robertson et al. 2001) and mediate invasion into tubular cells. However, mice deficient in CD103 develop tubulitis and deterioration similar to wild-type hosts, indicating that CD103 is not critical for TCMR.

The independence of the epithelial deterioration from cytotoxic mechanisms suggests that the interstitial inflammatory cells such as macrophages and effector T cells produce epithelial dedifferentiation by synergy among inflammatory molecules such as IFNG and TNF in a general inflammatory process called "delayed-type hypersensitivity" (DTH). Parenchymal deterioration in DTH is mediated by contactindependent mechanisms. APCs and macrophages are activated by effector T cells participate in TCMR through DTH mechanisms (Bogman et al. 1989), but the injury remains antigen-specific (Rosenberg and Singer 1992). Mechanisms directly altering the epithelium could include the release of soluble effector T cell or macrophage products (cytokines, superfamily members, reactive oxygen species, nitric oxide, eicosanoids, and enzymes). Additional effects may operate by changing the extracellular matrix (e.g., synthesis of hyaluronic acid) or the microcirculation. Tubulitis in kidney transplants may be a relatively late change in the epithelium, reflecting loss of epithelial integrity that permits entry of lymphocytes, which would explain the lack of requirement for cytotoxic mechanisms and the occurrence of tubulitis in atrophic tubules independent of rejection. The conditions for tubulitis may simply be interstitial infiltration and compromised epithelial integrity, and the diagnostic value of tubulitis may be as an indicator of this loss of epithelial integrity.

While our current belief is that TCMR is at least in part an interstitial inflammatory process mediated by effector T cells with cytotoxic activity but via delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) mechanism, it is also possible that the T cells sometimes augment this via their cytotoxic mechanisms. The epithelium deteriorates and loses its ability to exclude inflammatory cells, permitting T cells to enter to create tubulitis. PRF1, GZMA, GZMB, GNLY, and FAS-FAS ligand may be supplementary but are not essential in this model.

The intensity of TCMR correlates with the expression of checkpoint molecules (see below), indicating that T cell mechanisms are never activated without activation of inhibitory processes. This is because of the vast power of T cell effector mechanisms to do harm. TCMR also becomes rare as the years go by, suggesting that the clonal T cells eventually become exhausted (Halloran et al. 2015).

TCMR is "treatable" but is still a serious event for an organ transplant because of its ability to directly damage the parenchyma (nephrons, myocytes, etc.). TCMR on current immunosuppressive protocols usually occurs in one of four situations:

- 1. In the first 3–12 months, often due to failure to sustain target ISD levels or ill-advised attempts to "minimize" ISDs below recommended levels;
- Following ISD reduction associated with virus infections and other complications, where a TCMR-like process is common. Note that TCMR-like inflammation develops in some virus infections (e.g., polyomavirus infection in kidney transplants) and may be virus-immune or alloimmune (Halloran et al. 2021a);
- 3. In non-adherent patients;
- 4. During treatment of cancer with checkpoint inhibitors.

3.2 Antibody-Mediated Rejection

ABMR is now recognized as a major cause of loss of kidney and heart transplants (and possibly lung and liver transplants, although less is known about ABMR in these organs). ABMR is a major target for efforts to reduce transplant failure (Djamali et al. 2014; Einecke et al. 2009; Sellares et al. 2012).

Mechanism of ABMR. ABMR represents the effect of alloantibodies against donor antigens (donor-specific antibodies, DSA) binding to the graft microcirculation, leading to complement activation and margination of neutrophils, monocytes, and NK cells in the glomeruli and peritubular capillaries – glomerulitis and peritubular capillaritis – and endothelial injury (Halloran et al. 1990). The main antigenic targets of ABMR are MHC molecules, both class I and class II.

Alloantibodies against non-MHC proteins could potentially mediate ABMR but this has not been proven. Antibodies directed against self-proteins such as AT1R can be associated with graft injury (Dragun et al. 2005), but their role in ABMR is a matter of debate.

There is increasing recognition that ABMR often occurs in the absence of DSA recognized by current measurement platforms – see below.

3.3 Triggering of Host B Cell Clones with Cognate Receptors for Native Donor HLA Molecules

The B cell response to antigens generates germinal centers in lymph nodes as the B cells, helped by follicular helper T cells, undergo clonal expansion, class switching (IgM to IgG) and affinity maturation, leading to the production of plasma cells, which migrate to the bone marrow where they continue to produce antibody.

De novo IgG anti-HLA production requires triggering of host B cell clones with IgM receptors for donor HLA antigens to develop mature IgG-producing plasma cells producing anti-HLA IgG (Fig. 3). B cells in SLO engage the donor HLA



Fig. 3 Triggering of host B cell clones with antigen-specific receptors for donor HLA antigens to develop mature plasma cells producing anti-HLA IgG. B cells in SLO engage the donor HLA molecules and begin their triggering process, and express class II with donor HLA peptides. However, they require "help" from follicular helper T cells (TFH) that which recognize the donor HLA proteins as peptides in host class II molecules. The TFH are primed by host APC that have incorporated donor HLA antigen and expressed host class II with donor HLA peptides. The TFH then engage the B cells, which express the same host class II with donor HLA peptides, and provide help, permitting clonal expansion, affinity maturation, and generation of plasma cell precursors that eventually home to the bone marrow as mature plasma cells. Plasma cell maturation requires support from many molecules, including IL6

molecules and begin the triggering process, and express class II with donor HLA peptides. However, they require "help" from follicular helper T cells (TFH) that recognize the host class II molecules with donor HLA peptides. The TFH is primed by host APC that have non-specifically ingested donor HLA antigen and expressed host class II with donor HLA peptides. The TFH then engages B cells that express the same host class II with donor HLA peptides, and provides help, permitting clonal expansion, affinity maturation, and generation of plasma cell precursors that eventually home to the bone marrow as mature plasma cells. Plasma cell maturation requires support from many molecules, including IL6.

It is not known whether the long-term production of antibodies specific for donor antigens is maintained by long-lived plasma cells or by continuous generation of new memory B cells or both. Some late failing grafts near end-stage become "tertiary lymphoid organs" with organized lymphoid follicles (Colvin and Smith 2005). However, these late changes are agonal in near end-stage tissues and are never seen in early ABMR. High-affinity damaging IgG antibodies are probably produced by fully mature affinity matured bone marrow plasma cells.

3.4 Effector Mechanisms in ABMR

The potential effector functions of DSA against donor endothelium include direct effects (although this has not been demonstrated in vivo), complement activation, and recruitment of effector cells through engagement of Fc receptors (Colvin and Smith 2005; Lee et al. 2007). In general, IgG probably requires hexamer formation to activate complement (Lee et al. 2011) and possibly Fc receptors. Many IgG antibodies may be unable to form such hexamers, explaining why some apparent DSA may not produce injury.

Complement activation is often observed in ABMR but its actual role in most cases is questionable because blocking complement does not prevent the progression of ABMR (Bohmig et al. 2019). Complement-fixing DSA is more diagnostic for ABMR than non-complement fixing antibodies in kidney transplants (Loupy et al. 2013), but C4d deposition is not evident in many ABMR (Einecke et al. 2009; Sis et al. 2009; Haas 2011). Complement activation mediates injury by lysis or attracting inflammatory cells via chemoattractants C3a and C5a.

In severe cases of ABMR, glomerular capillary thrombosis can occur in ABMR, but thrombotic microangiopathy is very rare, and often due to other causes.

Leukocytes in the microcirculation in biopsies with ABMR (in kidneys, peritubular capillaritis or ptc-lesions and glomerulitis or g-lesions) are the main feature of ABMR, suggesting an effector role for these cells, but whether such cells are mediators of injury or are recruited by injury or both is difficult to establish. The strongest molecular associations point to NK cells. NK cells are a hallmark of ABMR, whether DSA-positive or DSA-negative. Activated NK cells produce IFNG and probably account for the IFNG effects in ABMR. NK cell transcripts such as KLRD1 are prominent of kidney and heart ABMR, and NK cells may be critical effectors of ABMR (Halloran et al. 2016a; Venner et al. 2015).

A possible mechanism of the microcirculation injury in ABMR is antibodydependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) through CD16a Fc gamma receptors on NK cells (Venner et al. 2015; Hidalgo et al. 2010). The principal Fc gamma receptor on human NK cells is CD16a (Fc γ RIIIa or FCGR3A), an activating receptor with signal-transducing mechanisms like the T cell receptor. Like effector T cell activation, CD16a triggers calcineurin and releases cytokines and cytotoxic molecules that induce injury and target cell apoptosis (Halloran et al. 2016a; Venner et al. 2015).

NK cells also have other activating and inhibitory receptors (Long et al. 2013), many with the ability to engage MHC class I, which may help them recognize "missing self" (Callemeyn et al. 2021). This raises the possibility of considering donor-recipient matching for NK receptors to avoid triggering NK recognition.

Studies of kidney and heart transplant biopsies provide strong support for the role of NK cells in ABMR syndromes (Parkes et al. 2017). These data support a model of ABMR inducing injury in the microcirculation endothelium, induced by donor-specific antibody or missing self mechanisms (e.g., CD16a activation of NK cells, triggering IFNG release and NK cell-mediated ADCC (Venner et al. 2015)).

Clinical presentations of ABMR. The dynamic range of ABMR is highly variable, from fulminant failure within hours (Patel and Terasaki 1969) to a relatively indolent course progressing over years (Sis et al. 2007) or even stable or burned out. ABMR is diagnosed by clinical (Halloran et al. 1990), immunologic (Terasaki 2003), and histologic criteria. The key kidney histology lesions in ABMR are microcirculation inflammation (peritubular capillaritis and/or glomerulitis lesions) and glomerular double contours (cg lesions). Hearts with ABMR have microcirculation inflammation but lack chronicity lesions for staging. ABMR can produce arteritis, like TCMR, although this is relatively uncommon. The Banff and ISHLT guidelines are empirically derived to achieve a reasonable trade-off between over- and underdiagnosis. Both recognize that DSA may not be demonstrable (Halloran et al. 2017).

New insights on the phenotypes of ABMR come from molecular assessment of ABMR phenotypes (Reeve et al. 2017; Venner et al. 2015). By molecular analysis, ABMR occupies a continuum of molecular space from early-stage to fully developed to late-stage (and even burned out) in the natural history of ABMR (Reeve et al. 2017). At least 25% of MMDx ABMR is DSA negative (Einecke et al. 2021).

3.5 Classification of ABMR

It is useful to characterize ABMR as

- 1. Hyperacute, mediated by very high levels of circulating DSA at transplantation;
- 2. Type 1 ABMR, mediated by re-emergence of a previously sensitized DSA due to memory, producing large amounts of DSA in the early post-transplant period;
- 3. Type 2 ABMR, mediated by the later appearance of ABMR independent of previous sensitization, often due to a documented de novo DSA. Of interest, type 2 has a poorer prognosis than type 1 (Aubert et al. 2017). Most ABMR now is type 2 with de novo DSA. Type 1 ABMR may do better because for unknown reasons the presensitized DSA response may eventually attenuate and disappear on immunosuppression, unlike most de novo DSA.

3.5.1 Hyperacute ABMR

This condition is prevented by crossmatching and is virtually never encountered unless a serious error is made in selecting donors. If recipients have been sensitized by previous transfusions, pregnancies, or transplants bearing donor MHC molecules, they may have high levels of pre-formed alloantibody against the donor. This can lead to disastrous hyperacute rejection, even on the operating table (Kissmeyer-Nielsen et al. 1966). Similar changes occur with incompatibility between donor and recipient at the ABO blood group locus if A- or B-antibodies are high-titer, analogous to incompatible blood transfusion. In these cases, the entire endothelium of the graft is injured, and the large vessels usually fail, leading to immediate complete failure of the graft.

The existence of pre-formed alloantibodies against HLA or AB antigens can be detected by crossmatching and ABO matching prior to transplantation to prevent hyperacute rejection. Effective crossmatching effectively eliminated such cases, except for catastrophic failures of the safety checks.

3.5.2 Early Acute ABMR in Sensitized Patients (Type 1)

Early ABMR in the days post-transplant reflects an anamnestic burst of donorspecific HLA antibody, classically associated with the triad of decreased renal function, the presence of circulating DSA, and histological evidence of active antibody-mediated tissue injury (microvascular inflammation) (Trpkov et al. 1996), and often with deposition of complement component 4d (C4d) in peritubular capillaries (Feucht 2003). (ABO incompatibility can cause very early ABMR if the levels of antibody are high but is usually well tolerated after the initial period, despite C4d staining.) This ABMR phenotype can also emerge in the next few weeks. Type 1 kidney ABMR presents as early-stage molecular features with ptc- and g-lesions, and progresses to fully developed molecular features (glomerular double contours) over the next year.

3.5.3 ABMR Apparently Independent of Pre-Transplant Sensitization (Type 2)

Type 2 ABMR, by far the commonest type of ABMR, presents as early-stage ABMR (EABMR) in its molecular features and ptc- and g-lesions. Like type 1 ABMR, type 2 progresses to fully developed ABMR (FABMR) with histologic glomerular double contours, usually after at least 12 months. However, EABMR often escapes detection and presents as FABMR.

Type 1 EABMR usually is observed in high-risk transplants. Type 2 EABMR starts to become common to become common at the end of the first year post-transplant, and new cases continue to appear indefinitely, with molecular findings: NK transcripts and IFNG-inducible transcripts associated with histologic ABMR-related lesions peritubular capillaritis and glomerulitis.

The features of type 1 and type 2 are identical at the FABMR stage, include NK transcripts, IFNG-inducible transcripts, and certain endothelial transcripts such as ROBO4, as well as the triad of histologic ABMR-related lesions: peritubular capillaritis, glomerular double contours). Double contours (duplication of the glomerular basement membrane or transplant glomerulopathy) are accompanied by lamination of the peritubular capillary basement membrane (Mauiyyedi et al. 2001; Regele et al. 2002; Vongwiwatana et al. 2004). These changes represent stages of progression of microcirculation changes after many months of ABMR (Lefaucheur et al. 2013; Cosio et al. 2008; Loupy et al. 2014). It would be useful to find such ABMR staging lesions in heart ABMR.

3.6 Late-Stage ABMR (LABMR)

FABMR often progresses to LABMR after several years, with atrophy-fibrosis and glomerular sclerosis. DSA may become negative, perhaps reflecting immune adaptations and long-term immunosuppression, or perhaps the natural history of

the antibody response. Moreover, new-onset EABMR becomes uncommon after 10 years, perhaps reflecting the adaptations in TFH.

3.7 Mixed Rejection

This phenotype is frequently seen in severe TCMR, often associated with non-adherence (Halloran et al. 2016b) and with intimal arteritis (v-lesions). A characteristic is a lack of afferent arteriolar hyalinosis due to inadequate exposure to calcineurin inhibitor ISDs (Einecke et al. 2017). A common presentation is severe TCMR followed by emergence of early-stage ABMR. With treatment of TCMR, and given the difficulty of treating ABMR, ABMR may then become the dominant long-term phenotype.

3.8 Sub-Threshold ABMR-Like Changes

We have recently found that mild ABMR-like changes exist in many biopsies that are currently diagnosed as no rejection, often but not always associated with DSA (Madill-Thomsen et al. 2021; Halloran et al. 2021b). At least in kidney transplants, the grafts with these changes are at risk of future deterioration.

3.9 DSA-Negative ABMR

ABMR molecular and histologic features can be found in kidneys and hearts in patients with no demonstrable DSA. In kidneys, the mean time of onset is somewhat earlier than DSA-positive ABMR, but the same genes are induced, e.g., NK transcripts and IFNG-induced transcripts although with moderately lower expression; the same histology microcirculation lesions are present; and both impair graft survival. Thus at least in kidneys, DSA-negative ABMR presents as an earlier and milder form of the same disease as DSA-positive ABMR.

The possible mechanisms operating in DSA-negative ABMR include:

- 1. Anti-HLA that is not detected by the usual platforms such as Luminex.
- 2. NK cell recognition of missing self HLA proteins such as HLAC.
- 3. Antibody against non HLA alloantigens.
- 4. Autoantibody.

3.10 Unsolved Issues in ABMR

It is clear that there are fundamental issues that need to be addressed in ABMR. What is the natural history of DSA and of ABMR? Can DSA and ABMR spontaneously disappear? What determines the pathogenicity of DSA? How can silent ABMR

phenotypes be detected in the clinic, and if they can, how should they be managed? What is the mechanism of DSA-negative ABMR, and if it is DSA that is not detectable by current tests, what is the target antigen, and how can we detect this antibody? Above all, there is a need for a safe and effective way of suppressing ABMR without putting patients at risk since current treatments are far from satisfactory.

4 Donor-Derived Cell-Free DNA (dd-cfDNA)

We do not have time for a detailed cover of dd-cfDNA; this subject has recently been reviewed (Kataria et al. 2021), and this is an active area for investigation as a blood screening test for rejection. ABMR and to a lesser extent TCMR and tissue injury release donor cfDNA, which has a short half-life and represents a potentially useful signal for monitoring the organ. The utility and cost-effectiveness of dd-cfDNA for monitoring organ transplant patients are under review (Puttarajappa et al. 2021).

5 Host-Graft Adaptation

Over many years, transplant patients on current ISD protocols develop reduced T cell responsiveness to donor antigens, although they still require immunosuppression. Clonal T cell responses to donor alloantigens, which are required both for generating effector T cells for TCMR and helper T cells for new DSA production to initiate ABMR, have constitutive controls that are activated from the first steps in the response. These controls are needed to avoid uncontrolled proliferation and to avoid destruction of host tissues if viruses cannot be cleared. Some are intrinsic to the cognate T cells clones, e.g., exhaustion. Others reflect those actions on these clones of regulatory cells such as Tregs. The term "host–graft adaptation" describes the decrease in both donor-specific responsiveness and the risk of rejection in the years after a successful transplantation maintained with immunosuppression (Starzl et al. 1963). Changes in the organ – a loss of donor dendritic cells ("passenger leukocytes") and resolution of injury – probably play little if any role. The crucial element is the change in the cognate clones: anergy or clonal exhaustion.

5.1 Immune Checkpoint Molecules

Exhaustion is a general characteristic of T cell responses in vivo when antigen persists (Schwartz 2003) and is mediated by immune checkpoints, which was the basis of the 2018 Nobel prize in medicine for J. P. Allison and T. Honjo. Immune checkpoint molecules represent surface molecules on T cells that engage ligands and act as brakes on the T cell system that are essential for induction of exhaustion and the maintenance of immune homeostasis. The suppressive functions of immune checkpoints usually depend on ligand-induced signaling. These receptors often use

mono-tyrosine signaling motifs, such as immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif (ITIM) and immunoreceptor tyrosine-based switch motif (ITSM), to deliver inhibitory signals. Inhibitory immunoreceptor-ligand combinations include PD1, CTLA4, and their ligands (He and Xu 2020).

CTLA4 is structurally related to CD28 and binds CD80/B7.1 and CD86/B7.2 with greater affinity and avidity than CD28, thus enabling it to outcompete CD28 for its ligands. CTLA4 transmits an inhibitory signal to T cells, thereby limiting T cell immune responses (Sansom 2000). PD-1 is expressed on antigen-activated T cells and upregulated in T cell exhaustion (Mumprecht et al. 2009). In the presence of its ligands (PD-L1/PD-L2) on the surface of APCs and peripheral tissue, PD-1 signaling results in decreased proliferation, IL-2 production, protein synthesis, and survival of T cells (Francisco et al. 2010), thereby suppressing T cell inflammatory activity. PD1 ligands are inducible by IFNG, helping them to control TCMR.

In addition to the CTLA4-B7 and PD1-PD1L mechanisms, other checkpoints could be relevant to transplantation, including BTLA, CD160, LAG3, TIGIT, CD244/2B4, and HAVCR2/TIM3. All of these genes show increased expression in TCMR.

As surface molecules, the activity of these checkpoints can be inhibited by blocking antibodies that prevent ligand-receptor engagement, and this forms the basis of successful anti-cancer therapy. Like organ allografts, cancer represents persistence of antigen and induces adaptations that limit effector T cell generation. The most successful immune checkpoint blockade therapy for cancers targets PD-1/PD-L1 and has been approved to treat a wide variety of cancers (Ribas and Wolchok 2018).

In transplant patients, immune checkpoint inhibition is a considerable risk for TCMR (Manohar et al. 2020; Abdel-Wahab et al. 2019). Although patients with long-term transplantation are less prone to acute rejection, there was no correlation between the rate and timing of checkpoint-inhibitor-induced allograft rejection and the time since transplantation in those patients treated with checkpoint inhibitors. Although spontaneous TCMR occurs only rarely beyond 10 years after transplantation, catastrophic TCMR can occur after checkpoint inhibition (Lipson et al. 2016). Transplant biopsies demonstrated an acute TCMR process in half of the patients who received checkpoint inhibitor therapy, even at 25 years after transplantation. ABMR is usually not induced by checkpoint inhibitors. These observations suggest that the PD-1 pathway (as well as other checkpoints) stabilizes the T cell system in transplant patients to long-term graft stability.

5.2 Regulatory T Cells

Regulatory T cells (Tregs) emerged as a mechanism in the control of autoimmunity (Sakaguchi et al. 2001; Kim et al. 2007; Lahl et al. 2007), and considerable interest has focused on their role in organ transplantation and their potential for cell-based therapy (Wood and Sakaguchi 2003; Fehervari and Sakaguchi 2005). Such studies often incorporate the transcript factor forkhead box P3 (FOXP3), a forkhead-winged

helix transcription factor important in the development and function of Tregs (Ziegler 2006; Walker et al. 2003; Yagi et al. 2004). Foxp3 knockout mice exhibit severe systemic autoimmune-like syndrome (Chikuma and Bluestone 2007; Sharma et al. 2007). Humans with mutations of FOXP3 manifest X-linked IPEX syndrome: immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, and enteropathy (Wildin and Freitas 2005). Thus FOXP3 is important in cells that regulate self-tolerance.

In human organ transplantation, the significance of FOXP3+ cells remains unclear. In transplant biopsies for cause, FOXP3 mRNA expression is not a feature of pristine transplants but transplants with rejection, inflammation, and injury (Bunnag et al. 2008). FOXP3 expression in kidney tissue is a feature of renal inflammation, which is never beneficial compared to the absence of inflammation, but within such inflammation FOXP3 positive Tregs may help stabilize the inflamed site. In addition, FOXP3 positive Treg cells may be stabilizing T cell responses in SLO, preventing effector T cell generation. FOXP3 positive Tregs probably contribute to the control of all immune responses, including alloimmune responses, by analogy with their ability to suppress autoimmunity (Sakaguchi 2004). But the importance of Tregs in the events in individual patients has not been demonstrated.

Note that some researchers propose to inject regulatory cells as "drugs" to help immunosuppress transplant patients (Miller et al. 2004), but their short half-life makes this very challenging and no benefits have been shown.

5.3 Transplant Tolerance

Tolerance is a state of non-responsiveness to specific antigens induced by previous exposure to those antigens in an immunocompetent host. Transplant tolerance would allow organ transplantation without ISDs and risks of infection and cancer if it could be induced safely and last indefinitely. Unfortunately, there is no current strategy that has been proven to induce durable safe long-term transplant tolerance for HLA antigen mismatched organ transplants.

6 Late Slow Deterioration of Organ Transplants

Much of late kidney and heart loss occurs after late slow deterioration of graft function, characterized by characteristic histologic and molecular changes and loss of GFR, usually with proteinuria. (The term chronic rejection is not useful and should be avoided. If TCMR or ABMR are present use those terms.) Kidney histology shows parenchymal atrophy, interstitial fibrosis, fibrous intimal thickening of arteries, and hyalinosis of afferent arterioles. MMDx shows transcripts associated with atrophy-fibrosis: transcripts for plasma cells and B cells (Einecke et al. 2008) and mast cells (Mengel et al. 2009), AKI molecules (Einecke et al. 2010), and loss of normal parenchymal transcripts (Venner et al. 2016). These are the features of irreversible parenchymal loss, the final common pathway of many diseases (Risdon

and Sloper 1968), and reflect the cumulative burden of injuries, perhaps superimposed on advancing organ aging.

Some late slow graft deterioration is due to late uncontrolled antibody responses, but recurrent primary disease can produce similar results.

Many late losses remind us of the need for life-long immunosuppression and surveillance of renal transplant recipients, and the risks of graft loss if we "minimize" immunosuppression. The contribution of non-adherence to graft loss is considerable (Sellares et al. 2012), often presenting as TCMR but evolving to ABMR if the TCMR is treated. Understanding, preventing, and managing underimmunosuppression and non-adherence remains a major unsolved problem in organ transplantation.

The problem of parenchymal loss and deterioration of function must be seen in the context of the natural history of the organ with aging, beyond transplantation. Some parenchymal loss (atrophy-fibrosis) often manifests in the first year due to the effects of donation-implantation injury after the early injury response has resolved, and is not progressive (Venner et al. 2016). But progression often reflects some new injury process such as rejection, infection, or primary diseases, or in kidney CNI toxicity (although CNI toxicity has been over-estimated in the past by reliance on hyalinosis, which can be due to donor age, glomerular global sclerosis (Einecke et al. 2017), or hypertension (Trpkov et al. 1996; Schneeberger et al. 1999; Racusen et al. 2002; Halloran 2002; Halloran et al. 1999; Bonsib et al. 2000; Solez et al. 1998). Parenchymal atrophy-fibrosis is not believed to be inherently progressive if the stress is terminated, e.g. withdrawal of CNIs if the cause is CNI toxicity, but more information is needed about how the parenchymal elements "remember" previous injuries, and whether there is a point of no return where progression becomes inevitable with no further insults.

7 Effects of Injury

Late allograft failure as a composite phenotype reflects the total burden of injury, including pretransplant factors, aging, and post-transplant immune and nonimmune injuries, plus limitations on organ homeostasis. Nonimmune stresses, such as brain death-related organ injury and warm and cold ischemia, and the stresses of preservation and implantation, have a direct effect on parenchyma and the circulation, acting as a challenge to homeostatic mechanisms.

In renal transplant populations, the probability of late graft loss is determined by five major groups of risk factors:

- 1. Organ "quality" (age, size, quality, and previous disease stresses, such as hypertension, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes, donor age);
- 2. Brain death;
- Preservation and implantation injury (cold preservation plus rewarming, reperfusion);

- 4. Alloimmune injury (rejection): in human population data this is represented by the degree of HLA mismatch, sensitization, immunosuppressive drugs, and rejection episodes;
- 5. New stresses in the recipient environment (infection, hypertension, recurrent disease, drug toxicity, and advancing aging).

7.1 Does Injury Evoke Rejection?

While nonimmune injury and rejection injury can be additive, the basic science behind the relationships between injury and rejection is incomplete, and cannot be modeled in rodents or young primates because these models lack donor aging. We previously postulated that tissue injury, by evoking inflammation (innate immunity activation), increases the probability of rejection (Halloran et al. 1997), but this remains unproven. Living donor kidneys have some advantage in graft survival compared to deceased donor kidneys despite extensive HLA mismatching because they lack the injury associated with brain death and cold storage (Terasaki et al. 1995), but they are still at risk of rejection. Two kidneys from one deceased donor show similar function at all times post-transplant (Gourishankar et al. 2003), but they are not paired for rejection, which is driven mainly by non-donor factors.

Injury evokes response-to-injury effects on the organ as complex as the immune response itself (Halloran et al. 2021c). Inflammation – macrophage infiltration – is the normal response to wounding and should not be considered undesirable. However, the effects of injury on the parenchyma itself are often overlooked because the study of inflammatory and adaptive immune response is a natural priority of transplantation scientists. Inflammation is our hammer, and all the world looks like a nail. But the transplant patient wants high-quality parenchyma, and the reduction of parenchymal stress – peri-transplant stress, surgical and cold stress, ischemia, drugs, and infections – should be a priority, as well as understanding how to help injured parenchyma recover from these wounding effects.

8 Summary

The course of an organ transplant reflects the previous history of the organ (e.g., age, hypertension), its burden of injuries and stresses in the peri-transplant and post-transplant period, its post-transplant experiences, its intrinsic limitations on repair, and homeostasis imposed by aging and previous injuries, and rejection. The pathologic changes of rejection can explain how rejection can be associated with permanent loss of the limiting elements in an organ transplant. This puts the course of an organ transplant into the same context as the general problem of repair and homeostasis of that organ in the original host. The most preventable stress is rejection and identifying and treating all uncontrolled alloimmune injury remains the key to long-term graft stability. But in the long-term, the focus must include parenchymal health and homeostasis, and promotion of recovery from injury without atrophy-fibrosis.

References

- Abdel-Wahab N, Safa H, Abudayyeh A, Johnson DH, Trinh VA, Zobniw CM et al (2019) Checkpoint inhibitor therapy for cancer in solid organ transplantation recipients: an institutional experience and a systematic review of the literature. J Immunother Cancer 7(1):106
- Adams AB, Williams MA, Jones TR, Shirasugi N, Durham MM, Kaech SM et al (2003a) Heterologous immunity provides a potent barrier to transplantation tolerance. J Clin Invest 111(12):1887–1895
- Adams AB, Pearson TC, Larsen CP (2003b) Heterologous immunity: an overlooked barrier to tolerance. Immunol Rev 196:147–160
- Aubert O, Loupy A, Hidalgo L, Duong van Huyen JP, Higgins S, Viglietti D et al (2017) Antibodymediated rejection due to preexisting versus de novo donor-specific antibodies in kidney allograft recipients. J Am Soc Nephrol 28(6):1912–1923
- Biedermann BC, Pober JS (1998) Human endothelial cells induce and regulate cytolytic T cell differentiation. J Immunol 161(9):4679–4687
- Bogman MJ, Dooper IM, van de Winkel JG, Tax WJ, Hoitsma AJ, Assmann KJ et al (1989) Diagnosis of renal allograft rejection by macrophage immunostaining with a CD14 monoclonal antibody, WT14. Lancet 2(8657):235–238
- Bohmig GA, Eskandary F, Doberer K, Halloran PF (2019) The therapeutic challenge of late antibody-mediated kidney allograft rejection. Transpl Int 32(8):775–788
- Bonsib SM, Abul-Ezz SR, Ahmad I, Young SM, Ellis EN, Schneider DL et al (2000) Acute rejection-associated tubular basement membrane defects and chronic allograft nephropathy. Kidney Int 58(5):2206–2214
- Bunnag S, Allanach K, Jhangri GS, Sis B, Einecke G, Mengel M et al (2008) FOXP3 expression in human kidney transplant biopsies is associated with rejection and time post transplant but not with favorable outcomes. Am J Transplant 8(7):1423–1433
- Callemeyn J, Senev A, Coemans M, Lerut E, Sprangers B, Kuypers D et al (2021) Missing selfinduced microvascular rejection of kidney allografts: a population-based study. J Am Soc Nephrol. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2020111558
- Chikuma S, Bluestone JA (2007) Expression of CTLA-4 and FOXP3 in cis protects from lethal lymphoproliferative disease. Eur J Immunol 37(5):1285–1289
- Collins AB, Schneeberger EE, Pascual MA, Saidman SL, Williams WW, Tolkoff-Rubin N et al (1999) Complement activation in acute humoral renal allograft rejection: diagnostic significance of C4d deposits in peritubular capillaries. J Am Soc Nephrol 10(10):2208–2214
- Colvin RB, Smith RN (2005) Antibody-mediated organ-allograft rejection. Nat Rev Immunol 5(10):807–817
- Cosio FG, Gloor JM, Sethi S, Stegall MD (2008) Transplant glomerulopathy. Am J Transplant 8(3): 492–496
- Djamali A, Kaufman DB, Ellis TM, Zhong W, Matas A, Samaniego M (2014) Diagnosis and management of antibody-mediated rejection: current status and novel approaches. Am J Transplant 14(2):255–271
- Dragun D, Muller DN, Brasen JH, Fritsche L, Nieminen-Kelha M, Dechend R et al (2005) Angiotensin II type 1-receptor activating antibodies in renal-allograft rejection. N Engl J Med 352(6):558–569
- Einecke G, Halloran PF (2007) Kidney transplantation the recipient immunobiology. In: Gruessner RWG, Benedetti E (eds) Living donor organ transplantation, 2nd edn. McGraw-Hill Education/Medical
- Einecke G, Melk A, Ramassar V, Zhu LF, Bleackley RC, Famulski KS et al (2005) Expression of CTL associated transcripts precedes the development of tubulitis in T-cell mediated kidney graft rejection. Am J Transplant 5(8):1827–1836
- Einecke G, Reeve J, Mengel M, Sis B, Bunnag S, Mueller TF et al (2008) Expression of B cell and immunoglobulin transcripts is a feature of inflammation in late allografts. Am J Transplant 8(7): 1434–1443

- Einecke G, Sis B, Reeve J, Mengel M, Campbell PM, Hidalgo LG et al (2009) Antibody-mediated microcirculation injury is the major cause of late kidney transplant failure. Am J Transplant 9(11):2520–2531
- Einecke G, Reeve J, Sis B, Mengel M, Hidalgo L, Famulski KS et al (2010) A molecular classifier for predicting future graft loss in late kidney transplant biopsies. J Clin Invest 120(6):1862–1872
- Einecke G, Reeve J, Halloran PF (2017) Hyalinosis lesions in renal transplant biopsies: timedependent complexity of interpretation. Am J Transplant 17(5):1346–1357
- Einecke G, Reeve J, Gupta G, Bohmig GA, Eskandary F, Bromberg JS et al (2021) Factors associated with kidney graft survival in pure antibody-mediated rejection at the time of indication biopsy: importance of parenchymal injury but not disease activity. Am J Transplant 21(4): 1391–1401
- Fehervari Z, Sakaguchi S (2005) CD4+ regulatory cells as a potential immunotherapy. Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci 360(1461):1647–1661
- Feucht HE (2003) Complement C4d in graft capillaries the missing link in the recognition of humoral alloreactivity. Am J Transplant 3(6):646–652
- Francisco LM, Sage PT, Sharpe AH (2010) The PD-1 pathway in tolerance and autoimmunity. Immunol Rev 236:219–242
- Gourishankar S, Jhangri GS, Cockfield SM, Halloran PF (2003) Donor tissue characteristics influence cadaver kidney transplant function and graft survival but not rejection. J Am Soc Nephrol 14(2):493–499
- Haas M (2011) C4d-negative antibody-mediated rejection in renal allografts: evidence for its existence and effect on graft survival. Clin Nephrol 75(4):271–278
- Hadley GA, Rostapshova EA, Gomolka DM, Taylor BM, Bartlett ST, Drachenberg CI et al (1999) Regulation of the epithelial cell-specific integrin, CD103, by human CD8+ cytolytic T lymphocytes. Transplantation 67(11):1418–1425
- Halloran PF (2002) Call for revolution: a new approach to describing allograft deterioration. Am J Transplant 2(3):195–200
- Halloran PF (2004) Immunosuppressive drugs for kidney transplantation. N Engl J Med 351(26): 2715–2729
- Halloran PF, Wadgymar A, Ritchie S, Falk J, Solez K, Srinivasa NS (1990) The significance of the anti-class I antibody response. I. Clinical and pathologic features of anti-class I-mediated rejection. Transplantation 49(1):85–91
- Halloran PF, Homik J, Goes N, Lui SL, Urmson J, Ramassar V et al (1997) The "injury response": a concept linking non-specific injury, acute rejection, and long term transplant outcomes. Transplant Proc 29:79–81
- Halloran PF, Melk A, Barth C (1999) Rethinking chronic allograft nephropathy: the concept of accelerated senescence. J Am Soc Nephrol 10(1):167–181
- Halloran PF, Urmson J, Ramassar V, Melk A, Zhu LF, Halloran BP et al (2004) Lesions of T-cellmediated kidney allograft rejection in mice do not require perforin or granzymes A and B. Am J Transplant 4(5):705–712
- Halloran PF, Chang J, Famulski K, Hidalgo LG, Salazar ID, Merino Lopez M et al (2015) Disappearance of T cell-mediated rejection despite continued antibody-mediated rejection in late kidney transplant recipients. J Am Soc Nephrol 26(7):1711–1720
- Halloran PF, Fa KS, Reeve J (2016a) Molecular assessment of disease states in kidney transplant biopsy samples. Nat Rev Nephrol 12(9):534–548
- Halloran PF, Merino Lopez M, Barreto PA (2016b) Identifying subphenotypes of antibodymediated rejection in kidney transplants. Am J Transplant 16(3):908–920
- Halloran PF, Famulski KS, Chang J (2017) A probabilistic approach to histologic diagnosis of antibody-mediated rejection in kidney transplant biopsies. Am J Transplant 17(1):129–139
- Halloran PF, Venner JM, Madill-Thomsen KS, Einecke G, Parkes MD, Hidalgo LG et al (2018) Review: the transcripts associated with organ allograft rejection. Am J Transplant 18(4): 785–795

- Halloran KM, Parkes MD, Chang J, Timofte IL, Snell GI, Westall GP et al (2019) Molecular assessment of rejection and injury in lung transplant biopsies. J Heart Lung Transplant 38(5): 504–513
- Halloran K, Parkes MD, Timofte IL, Snell GI, Westall GP, Hachem R et al (2020) Molecular phenotyping of rejection-related changes in mucosal biopsies from lung transplants. Am J Transplant 20(4):954–966
- Halloran PF, Madill-Thomsen KS, Bohmig GA, Myslak M, Gupta G, Kumar D et al (2021a) A two-fold approach to polyoma virus (BK) nephropathy in kidney transplants: distinguishing direct virus effects from cognate T cell-mediated inflammation. Transplantation. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/TP.000000000003884
- Halloran PF, Madill-Thomsen KS, Aliabadi-Zuckermann A, Cadeiras M, Crespo-Leiro M, DePasquale E et al (2021b) Many heart transplant biopsies currently diagnosed as no rejection have mild molecular antibody-mediated rejection-related changes. J Heart Lung Transplant. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2021.08.004
- Halloran PF, Bohmig GA, Bromberg JS, Budde K, Gupta G, Einecke G et al (2021c) Discovering novel injury features in kidney transplant biopsies associated with TCMR and donor aging. Am J Transplant 21(5):1725–1739
- He X, Xu C (2020) Immune checkpoint signaling and cancer immunotherapy. Cell Res 30(8): 660–669
- Hidalgo LG, Sis B, Sellares J, Campbell PM, Mengel M, Einecke G et al (2010) NK cell transcripts and NK cells in kidney biopsies from patients with donor-specific antibodies: evidence for NK cell involvement in antibody-mediated rejection. Am J Transplant 10(8):1812–1822
- Jabs WJ, Sedlmeyer A, Ramassar V, Hidalgo LG, Urmson J, Afrouzian M et al (2003) Heterogeneity in the evolution and mechanisms of the lesions of kidney allograft rejection in mice. Am J Transplant 3(12):1501–1509
- Kataria A, Kumar D, Gupta G (2021) Donor-derived cell-free DNA in solid-organ transplant diagnostics: indications, limitations, and future directions. Transplantation 105(6):1203–1211
- Kim JM, Rasmussen JP, Rudensky AY (2007) Regulatory T cells prevent catastrophic autoimmunity throughout the lifespan of mice. Nat Immunol 8(2):191–197
- Kissmeyer-Nielsen F, Olsen S, Petersen VP, Fjeldborg O (1966) Hyperacute rejection of kidney allografts, associated with pre-existing humoral antibodies against donor cells. Lancet 2(7465): 662–665
- Lahl K, Loddenkemper C, Drouin C, Freyer J, Arnason J, Eberl G et al (2007) Selective depletion of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells induces a scurfy-like disease. J Exp Med 204(1):57–63
- Lakkis FG, Arakelov A, Konieczny BT, Inoue Y (2000) Immunologic 'ignorance' of vascularized organ transplants in the absence of secondary lymphoid tissue. Nat Med 6(6):686–688
- Lee CY, Lotfi-Emran S, Erdinc M, Murata K, Velidedeoglu E, Fox-Talbot K et al (2007) The involvement of FcR mechanisms in antibody-mediated rejection. Transplantation 84(10): 1324–1334
- Lee EK, Kim HJ, Lee KJ, Lee HJ, Lee JS, Kim DG et al (2011) Inhibition of the proliferation and invasion of hepatocellular carcinoma cells by lipocalin 2 through blockade of JNK and PI3K/ Akt signaling. Int J Oncol 38(2):325–333
- Lefaucheur C, Loupy A, Vernerey D, Duong-Van-Huyen JP, Suberbielle C, Anglicheau D et al (2013) Antibody-mediated vascular rejection of kidney allografts: a population-based study. Lancet 381(9863):313–319
- Lipson EJ, Bagnasco SM, Moore J Jr, Jang S, Patel MJ, Zachary AA et al (2016) Tumor regression and allograft rejection after administration of anti-PD-1. N Engl J Med 374(9):896–898
- Lombardi G, Sidhu S, Daly M, Batchelor JR, Makgoba W, Lechler RI (1990) Are primary alloresponses truly primary? Int Immunol 2(1):9–13
- Long EO, Kim HS, Liu D, Peterson ME, Rajagopalan S (2013) Controlling natural killer cell responses: integration of signals for activation and inhibition. Annu Rev Immunol 31:227–258

- Loupy A, Lefaucheur C, Vernerey D, Prugger C, Duong van Huyen JP, Mooney N et al (2013) Complement-binding anti-HLA antibodies and kidney-allograft survival. N Engl J Med 369(13):1215–1226
- Loupy A, Lefaucheur C, Vernerey D, Chang J, Hidalgo LG, Beuscart T et al (2014) Molecular microscope strategy to improve risk stratification in early antibody-mediated kidney allograft rejection. J Am Soc Nephrol 25(10):2267–2277
- Loupy A, Duong Van Huyen JP, Hidalgo LG, Reeve J, Racape M, Venner J et al (2017) Gene expression profiling for the identification and classification of antibody-mediated heart rejection. Circulation 135(10):917–935
- MacLennan IC, Toellner KM, Cunningham AF, Serre K, Sze DM, Zuniga E et al (2003) Extrafollicular antibody responses. Immunol Rev 194:8–18
- Madill-Thomsen K, Abouljoud M, Bhati C, Ciszek M, Durlik M, Feng S et al (2020) The molecular diagnosis of rejection in liver transplant biopsies: first results of the INTERLIVER study. Am J Transplant 20(8):2156–2172
- Madill-Thomsen K, Boehmig G, Bromberg J, Einecke G, Eskandary F, Gupta G, Hidalgo LG et al (2021) Donor-specific antibody is associated with increased expression of rejection transcripts in renal transplant biopsies classified as no rejection. J Am Soc Nephrol 32(7). https://doi.org/ 10.1681/ASN.2021040433
- Mandala S, Hajdu R, Bergstrom J, Quackenbush E, Xie J, Milligan J et al (2002) Alteration of lymphocyte trafficking by sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor agonists. Science 296(5566): 346–349
- Manohar S, Thongprayoon C, Cheungpasitporn W, Markovic SN, Herrmann SM (2020) Systematic review of the safety of immune checkpoint inhibitors among kidney transplant patients. Kidney Int Rep 5(2):149–158
- Mauiyyedi S, Pelle PD, Saidman S, Collins AB, Pascual M, Tolkoff-Rubin NE et al (2001) Chronic humoral rejection: identification of antibody-mediated chronic renal allograft rejection by C4d deposits in peritubular capillaries. J Am Soc Nephrol 12(3):574–582
- Mengel M, Reeve J, Bunnag S, Einecke G, Sis B, Mueller T et al (2009) Molecular correlates of scarring in kidney transplants: the emergence of mast cell transcripts. Am J Transplant 9(1): 169–178
- Miller MJ, Hejazi AS, Wei SH, Cahalan MD, Parker I (2004) T cell repertoire scanning is promoted by dynamic dendritic cell behavior and random T cell motility in the lymph node. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101(4):998–1003
- Mumprecht S, Schurch C, Schwaller J, Solenthaler M, Ochsenbein AF (2009) Programmed death 1 signaling on chronic myeloid leukemia-specific T cells results in T-cell exhaustion and disease progression. Blood 114(8):1528–1536
- Parkes MD, Halloran PF, Hidalgo LG (2017) Evidence for CD16a-mediated NK cell stimulation in antibody-mediated kidney transplant rejection. Transplantation 101(4):e102–ee11
- Parkes MD, Aliabadi AZ, Cadeiras M, Crespo-Leiro MG, Deng M, Depasquale EC et al (2019) An integrated molecular diagnostic system for rejection and injury in heart transplant biopsies. J Heart Lung Transplant 38(6):636–646
- Patel R, Terasaki PI (1969) Significance of the positive crossmatch test in kidney transplantation. N Engl J Med 280(14):735–739
- Puttarajappa CM, Mehta RB, Roberts MS, Smith KJ, Hariharan S (2021) Economic analysis of screening for subclinical rejection in kidney transplantation using protocol biopsies and noninvasive biomarkers. Am J Transplant 21(1):186–197
- Racusen LC, Solez K, Colvin RB, Bonsib SM, Castro MC, Cavallo T et al (1999) The Banff 97 working classification of renal allograft pathology. Kidney Int 55(2):713–723
- Racusen LC, Solez K, Colvin R (2002) Fibrosis and atrophy in the renal allograft: interim report and new directions. Am J Transplant 2(3):203–206
- Reeve J, Bohmig GA, Eskandary F, Einecke G, Lefaucheur C, Loupy A et al (2017) Assessing rejection-related disease in kidney transplant biopsies based on archetypal analysis of molecular phenotypes. JCI Insight 2(12):e94197

- Regele H, Bohmig GA, Habicht A, Gollowitzer D, Schillinger M, Rockenschaub S et al (2002) Capillary deposition of complement split product C4d in renal allografts is associated with basement membrane injury in peritubular and glomerular capillaries: a contribution of humoral immunity to chronic allograft rejection. J Am Soc Nephrol 13(9):2371–2380
- Ribas A, Wolchok JD (2018) Cancer immunotherapy using checkpoint blockade. Science 359(6382):1350–1355
- Risdon RA, Sloper JC, De Warden HE (1968) Relationship between renal function and histological changes found in renal-biopsy specimens from patients with persistent glomerular nephritis. Lancet 2(7564):363
- Robertson H, Wheeler J, Kirby JA, Morley AR (1996) Renal allograft rejection--in situ demonstration of cytotoxic intratubular cells. Transplantation 61(10):1546–1549
- Robertson H, Wong WK, Talbot D, Burt AD, Kirby JA (2001) Tubulitis after renal transplantation: demonstration of an association between CD103+ T cells, transforming growth factor beta1 expression and rejection grade. Transplantation 71(2):306–313
- Rosenberg AS, Singer A (1992) Cellular basis of skin allograft rejection: an in vivo model of immune-mediated tissue destruction. Annu Rev Immunol 10:333–358
- Sakaguchi S (2004) Naturally arising CD4+ regulatory t cells for immunologic self-tolerance and negative control of immune responses. Annu Rev Immunol 22:531–562
- Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Shimizu J, Yamazaki S, Sakihama T, Itoh M et al (2001) Immunologic tolerance maintained by CD25+ CD4+ regulatory T cells: their common role in controlling autoimmunity, tumor immunity, and transplantation tolerance. Immunol Rev 182:18–32
- Sansom DM (2000) CD28, CTLA-4 and their ligands: who does what and to whom? Immunology 101(2):169–177
- Sarwal M, Chua MS, Kambham N, Hsieh SC, Satterwhite T, Masek M et al (2003) Molecular heterogeneity in acute renal allograft rejection identified by DNA microarray profiling. N Engl J Med 349(2):125–138
- Schwartz RH (2003) T cell anergy. Annu Rev Immunol 21:305-334
- Sellares J, De Freitas D, Mengel M, Reeve J, Einecke G, Sis B et al (2012) Understanding the causes of kidney transplant failure: the dominant role of antibody-mediated rejection and non-adherence. Am J Transplant 12(2):388–399
- Sharma R, Jarjour WN, Zheng L, Gaskin F, Fu SM, Ju ST (2007) Large functional repertoire of regulatory T-cell suppressible autoimmune T cells in scurfy mice. J Autoimmun 29(1):10–19
- Sis B, Campbell PM, Mueller T, Hunter C, Cockfield SM, Cruz J et al (2007) Transplant glomerulopathy, late antibody-mediated rejection and the ABCD tetrad in kidney allograft biopsies for cause. Am J Transplant 7(7):1743–1752
- Sis B, Jhangri GS, Bunnag S, Allanach K, Kaplan B, Halloran PF (2009) Endothelial gene expression in kidney transplants with alloantibody indicates antibody-mediated damage despite lack of C4d staining. Am J Transplant 9(10):2312–2323
- Solez K, Racusen LC, Marcussen N, Slatnik I, Keown P, Burdick JF et al (1993a) Morphology of ischemic acute renal failure, normal function, and cyclosporine toxicity in cyclosporine-treated renal allograft recipients. Kidney Int 43(5):1058–1067
- Solez K, Axelsen RA, Benediktsson H, Burdick JF, Cohen AH, Colvin RB et al (1993b) International standardization of criteria for the histologic diagnosis of renal allograft rejection: the Banff working classification of kidney transplant pathology. Kidney Int 44(2):411–422
- Solez K, Vincenti F, Filo RS (1998) Histopathologic findings from 2-year protocol biopsies from a U.S. multicenter kidney transplant trial comparing tacrolimus versus cyclosporine: a report of the FK506 kidney transplant study group. Transplantation 66(12):1736–1740
- Starzl TE, Marchioro TL, Waddell WR (1963) The reversal of rejection in human renal homografts with subsequent development of homograft tolerance. Surg Gynecol Obstet 117:385–395
- Terasaki PI (2003) Humoral theory of transplantation. Am J Transplant 3(6):665-673
- Terasaki PI, Cecka JM, Gjertson DW, Takemoto S (1995) High survival rates of kidney transplants from spousal and living unrelated donors. N Engl J Med 333(6):333–336

- Trpkov K, Campbell P, Pazderka F, Cockfield S, Solez K, Halloran PF (1996) Pathologic features of acute renal allograft rejection associated with donor-specific antibody, analysis using the Banff grading schema. Transplantation 61(11):1586–1592
- Venner JM, Famulski KS, Badr D, Hidalgo LG, Chang J, Halloran PF (2014) Molecular landscape of T cell-mediated rejection in human kidney transplants: prominence of CTLA4 and PD ligands. Am J Transplant 14(11):2565–2576
- Venner JM, Hidalgo LG, Famulski KS, Chang J, Halloran PF (2015) The molecular landscape of antibody-mediated kidney transplant rejection: evidence for NK involvement through CD16a fc receptors. Am J Transplant 15(5):1336–1348
- Venner JM, Famulski KS, Reeve J, Chang J, Halloran PF (2016) Relationships among injury, fibrosis, and time in human kidney transplants. JCI Insight 1(1):e85323
- Vongwiwatana A, Gourishankar S, Campbell PM, Solez K, Halloran PF (2004) Peritubular capillary changes and C4d deposits are associated with transplant glomerulopathy but not IgA nephropathy. Am J Transplant 4(1):124–129
- Walker MR, Kasprowicz DJ, Gersuk VH, Benard A, Van Landeghen M, Buckner JH et al (2003) Induction of FoxP3 and acquisition of T regulatory activity by stimulated human CD4+CD25-T cells. J Clin Invest 112(9):1437–1443
- Wang D, Matsumoto R, You Y, Che T, Lin XY, Gaffen SL et al (2004) CD3/CD28 costimulationinduced NF-kappaB activation is mediated by recruitment of protein kinase C-theta, Bcl10, and IkappaB kinase beta to the immunological synapse through CARMA1. Mol Cell Biol 24(1): 164–171
- Wildin RS, Freitas A (2005) IPEX and FOXP3: clinical and research perspectives. J Autoimmun 25 (Suppl):56–62
- Wood KJ, Sakaguchi S (2003) Regulatory T cells in transplantation tolerance. Nat Rev Immunol 3(3):199–210
- Yagi H, Nomura T, Nakamura K, Yamazaki S, Kitawaki T, Hori S et al (2004) Crucial role of FOXP3 in the development and function of human CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells. Int Immunol 16(11):1643–1656
- Zhou P, Hwang KW, Palucki D, Kim O, Newell KA, Fu YX et al (2003) Secondary lymphoid organs are important but not absolutely required for allograft responses. Am J Transplant 3(3): 259–266
- Ziegler SF (2006) FOXP3: of mice and men. Annu Rev Immunol 24:209-226



A Comprehensive Review of Calcineurin Inhibitors Used for Immunosuppression in Cardiac Transplantation

Lydia R. Engwenyu and Allen S. Anderson

Contents

1	History of Calcineurin Inhibitors	28
2	Mechanisms of Action	29
3	Medication Forms and Routes of Administration	29
4	Pharmacodynamics and Therapeutic Drug Monitoring	30
5	Interpersonal and Intrapersonal Variations in Drug Metabolism	31
6	Commonly Used Medications and Interactions with CNIs	32
7	Side Effects and Complications of Calcineurin Inhibitor Use	33
8	Renal	33
9	Cardiovascular	33
10	Neurologic	34
11	Endocrine and Metabolic	34
12	Gastrointestinal	35
13	Integumentary	35
14	Calcineurin Minimization	35
15	Conclusion	36
Refe	erences	36

L. R. Engwenyu (🖂) Audie Murphy VA Medical Center, San Antonio, TX, USA

Division of Cardiology, Department of Medicine, Joe R. and Teresa Long School of Medicine, University of Texas Health San Antonio, San Antonio, TX, USA e-mail: Lydia.Engwenyu@va.gov

A. S. Anderson (⊠) Division of Cardiology, Department of Medicine, Joe R. and Teresa Long School of Medicine, University of Texas Health San Antonio, San Antonio, TX, USA e-mail: Andersona4@uthscsa.edu

This is a U.S. government work and not under copyright protection in the U.S.; foreign copyright protection may apply 2021 H. J. Eisen (ed.), *Pharmacology of Immunosuppression*, Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 272, https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2021_549
Abstract

Calcineurin inhibitors (CNIs) have been the foundation of immunosuppression in solid organ transplantation since the 1980s. Cyclosporine A (CSA), the first in class, was identified as the metabolite of the soil fungus *Tolypocladium inflatum Gams* as part of a larger program of screening for naturally occurring fungal metabolites with biologic activity in the 1970s. Significant immunosuppressive effects were discovered and consequently CSA was trialed as an immunosuppressant in renal transplantation. This initial success led to its widespread study and adoption in solid organ transplantation. This novel agent yielded significant improvements in both 1 year and longer-term allograft and patient survival. Subsequently, a similar and more potent CNI, tacrolimus was developed. Today, it is the principal CNI used for prevention of allograft rejection. Like all other immunosuppressives, the benefits of CNIs are counterbalanced by side effects and complications resulting from drug toxicity. This chapter comprehensively reviews the clinical use of CNIs in cardiac transplantation.

Keywords

Calcineurin inhibitors · Complications of immunosuppression · Heart transplantation · Immunosuppression

1 History of Calcineurin Inhibitors

The introduction of cyclosporine as an approved medication to prevent transplant allograft rejection in 1980s, followed several years later by tacrolimus resulted in a new era of greater survival solid organ transplants with calcineurin inhibition. One-year heart transplant patient survival increased from around 60% to the mid 80% (Cheung and Menkis 1998; Cheng 2013). Both medications originate from the microbiome. Cyclosporine, the prototype, was a peptide isolated from the filamentous fungus *Tolypocladium inflatum* in Norway in the 1970s (Borel et al. 1994). Its immunosuppressant properties were discovered by J.F. Borel in 1976 and the FDA approved it for use for immunosuppression in solid organ transplantation in 1983. In 1987, tacrolimus was isolated as a macrolide antibiotic with immunosuppressive properties from the soil bacterium *Streptomyces tsukubaensis* by Tohru Kino in Japan (Hatanaka et al. 1988; Kino et al. 1987). It was approved for solid organ transplantation by the FDA in 1994. Since the late 1980s calcineurin based immunosuppression has been the standard for solid organ transplantation.

2 Mechanisms of Action

Despite differing microbiotic origins, cyclosporine and tacrolimus share similar mechanisms of action as calcineurin inhibitors. They both bind to immunophilins. Cyclosporine binds cyclophilins and tacrolimus (also known as FK-506) binds FK-binding proteins in the cytoplasm of cells (Matsuda and Koyasu 2000; Dumont et al. 1992). These immunophilins are present in almost all cells of the body, sparing the progenitor cells of the bone marrow, giving the medications a wide variety therapeutic and toxic potential. Once bound to their respective immunophilins, these complexes competitively bind to and inhibit the phosphatase calcineurin. Calcineurin inhibition results in reduced activity of the transcription factors, most significantly the nuclear factor of activated T cells (NF-AT), that are needed for cytokine gene transcription activation (Wuederrecht et al. 1993). Importantly, the transcription of interleukin-2 (IL-2) is impaired by calcineurin inhibition, resulting in suppression of both cell-mediated and antibody-mediated immune responses. Aside from the drug class nomenclature associated calcineurin inhibition, CNIs are also involved in the inhibition of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway responsible for T cell-mediated production of the proteins JNK and p38 (Matsuda and Koyasu 2003). JNK and p38 upregulate the transcription of IL-2 in the nucleus and thus IL-2 is inhibited by yet another different pathway (Clerk et al. 1999). It is also known that the cytokine TGF-B1, an inhibitor of IL-2 dependent T cell proliferation is increased in both cyclosporine and tacrolimus administration (Das and Levine 2008; Ahuja et al. 1995; Kwiek et al. 2008).

3 Medication Forms and Routes of Administration

There are several modes of administration available to choose from for calcineurin inhibition in solid organ transplantation that can be tailored to patient needs and preferences. Cyclosporine exists in oral, intravenous, and ophthalmic formulations. Tacrolimus exists in oral, intravenous, and topical formulations. There are both brand name and generic forms available for use. The ophthalmic formulation of cyclosporine and the topical formulation of tacrolimus are not for use in solid organ transplantation.

The oral formulation of cyclosporine is available in a nonmodified form that depends on bile for absorption (Sandimmune[®]) and also more commonly used microemulsion formulations that do not rely on bile salts for absorption and demonstrate increased area under the curve bioavailability (GENGRAF[®], Neoral[®]). Both nonmodified and modified forms are available in capsule and liquid form. The oral formulation of tacrolimus is available in both immediate release and extended release formulations designed for once a day administration. While there are studies demonstrating the safety and efficacy of extending release tacrolimus (Astagraf XL[®] and Envarsus XR[®]) regimens in cardiac transplantation, FDA approval has not yet been granted for this indication (González-Vílchez et al. 2018). Tacrolimus also has a sublingual formulation that can be used when the enteric route needs to be

bypassed in the cases of both poor absorption and rapid metabolism (Pennington and Park 2015). In cases when an oral route cannot be used, the unmodified version of cyclosporine can be given as a continuous intravenous infusion. Tacrolimus also has a preparation for parenteral administration. It is important to recognize that when switching between routes of administration and formulations, dose conversions are generally not one to one. A table of the typical dose ranges used in cardiac transplantation is listed below.

	Brand name	Oral capsule and liquid dosing	Sublingual dosing	Intravenous dosing
Cyclosporine				
Nonmodified, oil-based formulation	Sandimmune [®] (generics available)	4–8 mg/kg daily in two doses 12 h apart	N/A	1–2 mg/kg daily in two 2–6-h infusions or continuous infusion
Modified emulsion	Neoral [®] Gengraf [®] (generics available)	4–10 mg/kg daily in two doses 12 h apart	N/A	N/A
Tacrolimus				
Short-acting	Prograf [®] (generics available)	0.05–0.1 mg/ kg daily in two doses 12 h apart	0.025–0.5 mg/ kg daily in two doses 12 h apart	0.01–0.02 mg/kg daily in two doses or continuous infusion
Extended- release	Astagraf XL [®] Envarsus XR [®]	N/A	N/A	N/A

Standard cardiac transplant calcineurin inhibitor dosing regimens

N/A indicates that the formulation is either not available or not applicable to cardiac transplantation

4 Pharmacodynamics and Therapeutic Drug Monitoring

While initial dosing of CNIs may be estimated based upon patient weight, these drugs are all dosed to maintain specified therapeutic drug levels. The various CNI formulations have different pharmacokinetic parameters and are not interchangeable. The doses of both cyclosporine and tacrolimus should be measured using a 12-h trough or a 24-h trough in the case of the extended release preparation of tacrolimus. This trough is noted as the concentration at time 0 or C0. There is a consensus that monitoring cyclosporine levels 2 h after administration (C2) can measure levels that better correlate with graft outcomes (Levy et al. 2002). However, the logistics of this in the outpatient setting makes this method less feasible. In general levels of both cyclosporine and tacrolimus are maintained highest immediately post-transplant and then decreased over time. The goal is to maintain the lowest levels possible to minimize side effects while preventing rejection. Target drug levels are often individualized for patients to account for varying toxicities, renal dysfunction, rejection history, malignancies, and current infection status or risk of infections. In general there is a target cyclosporine trough of 275–375 ng/mL during the first six postoperative weeks, 200–350 ng/mL for weeks 6–12, and 150–300 ng/mL for months 3–6. Then a long-term maintenance goal of 150-250 ng/mL is targeted (Costanzo et al). For tacrolimus, the goal trough levels are typically 10–15 ng/mL in the first 3 months, with reduced target levels of 8–12 ng/mL in months 3–6, followed by a long-term maintenance goal of 5–10 ng/mL after 6 months (Costanzo et al. 2010).

5 Interpersonal and Intrapersonal Variations in Drug Metabolism

Individual patient differences exist in the amount of active medication per dosage and are accounted for by various factors. Differences in weight and body surface area can cause certain patients to require different doses. The generally low bioavailability of both cyclosporine and tacrolimus is related to poor gut absorption, degradation by enzymes in the GI tract, and first pass hepatic metabolism. Thus, malabsorptive conditions can prevent absorption which can affect levels of both drugs. In addition, there are genetic polymorphisms with some association to race that cause differences in the metabolism of calcineurin inhibitors. The amount of active medication after single dose has been noted to be less in Hispanic and African American subjects as compared to Caucasian subjects (Mancinelli et al. 2001). This variation has been traced to genetic polymorphisms in the CYP3A5 gene (Oetting et al. 2016). There are two alleles inherited from each parent that encode for each CYP450 enzyme. In addition, spontaneous mutations can occur. There are three different possibilities for inherited metabolism. If two wild type normal alleles are inherited, the individual will have a normal metabolism of the CNIs. If a wild type and a variant allele are inherited, the individual will have increased metabolism and will likely require a higher dosage of CNI to achieve therapeutic levels. If there are two variant alleles inherited, the individual may be an ultra-rapid metabolizer requiring even higher dosages of CNI or demonstrating an inability to maintain therapeutic CNI levels. These variations in metabolism can result in difficulties maintaining therapeutic CNI levels and make patient management challenging.

Some commonly available foods also affect levels of calcineurin inhibitors. For example, grapefruit contains furanocoumarins that are strong inhibitors of the cytochrome P-450 3A enzyme leading to decreased metabolism and increased and potentially toxic concentrations of cyclosporine and tacrolimus (Guo et al. 2000). Cyclosporine interacts with bile salts and thus a lipid rich meal can alter levels of the medication (Guan et al. 2011). As mentioned previously, both CNIs require absorption in the GI tract and thus medication preparations that coat the GI tract and prevention absorption can alter drug levels (Steeves et al. 1991). Another cause of intrapersonal variations in CNI metabolism are other medications which may be accelerators or inhibitors via interactions with the hepatic cytochrome 3A4 pathway.

Cyclosporine and tacrolimus also bind to the transporter, P-glycoprotein, making them susceptible to drug interaction from this pathway (Christians et al. 2005).

The effects of maternal ingestion of calcineurin inhibitors on the developing fetus and neonate also deserve consideration as women of childbearing age may become pregnant while taking calcineurin inhibitors that are needed for maintenance of a solid organ transplant. Due to the presence of the near ubiquitous immunophilins, both cyclosporine and tacrolimus cross the placenta and are transmitted in breast milk. Although long-term effects are not known, studies do show tolerability in gestation and a breast feeding (French et al. 2003).

6 Commonly Used Medications and Interactions with CNIs

The general management of post heart transplantation patients involves treating infections and utilizing infection prophylaxis. In addition, clinicians need to treat the cardiometabolic conditions associated with transplant and transplant immuno-suppression. Below is a table of the effect on CNI levels in medications of drug classes that are commonly considered for use in transplant patients. In the treatment of conditions not included here, it is important in general to know if a new medication that is being introduced is an inducer or inhibitor of the cytochromeP450 3A4 system (CYP3A4) or the P-glycoprotein (P-gp) systems. In addition to the table below, it is important to note instances in which cyclosporine and tacrolimus levels may not be specifically affected but the newly introduced medications are more toxic or less effective as in the case of statins and diabetic medications.

		Cyclosporine	Tacrolimus
Medication class	Mechanism	levels	levels
Antifungals			
Azoles	CYP3A4 and P-gp	1	1
Caspofungin	inhibition	1	1
	Unknown		
Antibiotics			
Nafcillin	CYP3A4 competition	Ļ	Ļ
Macrolides	CYP3A4 inhibition	\uparrow	1
Metronidazole	CYP3A4 inhibition	1	↑
Antihypertensives			
Diltiazem, verapamil	CYP3A4 inhibition	1	1

Agents affecting CNI levels in medication classes commonly used post cardiac transplantation

↑ indicates and increase in the CNI level and ↓indicates a decrease in levels

7 Side Effects and Complications of Calcineurin Inhibitor Use

The side effects and complications relate to the fact that the calcineurin inhibitors bind to cytoplasmic proteins that are present in most cells, excluding the bone marrow. While patients are spared the myelosuppressive effects seen in azathioprine, multisystem effects can be seen and need close monitoring. Infectious and malignancy complications throughout the body are unintended consequences of alternations of the body's immune defenses and should be screened for with use of all immunosuppressants, including calcineurin inhibitors. For the purposes of this book chapter and in clinical practice it is useful to categorize side effects by body systems. A review of systems can capture the side effects of these medications and concerns picked up during a review of symptoms can be addressed to potentially improve quality of life in transplanted patients.

8 Renal

Renal dysfunction is a particularly concerning complication of calcineurin inhibitor therapy. There is a risk of acute nephrotoxicity during initiation of CNIs in the postoperative period. This acute toxicity tends to be reversible. However, the chronic irreversible kidney disease that can develop as a result of long-term CNI use is considered a major downside. The negative effect on renal function is multifactorial and known to be related to damage to the renal arteries and arterioles, glomerulosclerosis, tubular atrophy, and interstitial fibrosis (Puschett et al. 1990). Generally, the clinical toxicity is based on a clinical assessment. However, a renal biopsy is the gold standard test to diagnose calcineurin-inhibitor-induced nephrotoxicity. Acute toxicity is characterized by necrosis and early hyalinosis of smooth muscle cells in the afferent arterioles, and isometric vacuolization of the proximal straight tubules. In chronic toxicity, medial smooth muscle cells in afferent arterioles are replaced by beaded hyaline deposits that bulge into the adventitia. There is also interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy (Liptak and Ivanyi 2006).

9 Cardiovascular

CNIs alter the vascular system via several different pathways. One that is most easily picked up clinically is the development of hypertension. CNIs induce hypertension by increasing sympathetic nerve activity, augmenting vascular tone, and altering kidney sodium transport (Hoorn et al. 2012). Long-term survival of the allograft places patients at risk for long-term consequences to the vasculature, notably cardiac allograft vasculopathy. Cardiac allograft vasculopathy differs from nontransplant related coronary disease in that it tends to be caused by accelerated intimal hyperplasia resulting in diffuse disease rather than focal stenosis or plaque rupture events. It is often a pernicious condition, especially in heart transplant patients who have denervation that prevents the sensation of chest pain. However, it is associated with

significant mortality. A review of the UNOS database found that around 6% of patients with CAV experience sudden cardiac death (Vakil et al. 2014). CNIs are not associated with the progression of cardiac allograft vasculopathy but they do not prevent progression like mTor inhibitors, and this may factor into decision making regarding their use.

10 Neurologic

Some general neurological toxicities associated with CNI use involve mental status changes, seizures, headaches, paresthesias, and most commonly tremor (Coe et al. 2020). Neuropathy is more frequent in a CNI immunosuppressive regimen as compared to a CNI free regimen and patient symptoms improve with withdrawal of CNI. This was found to be related to increases in nerve excitability parameters, suggestive of changes in nerve membrane depolarization (Arnold et al. 2013). A rare complication of is but important to be aware reversible posterior leukoencephalopathy syndrome (RPLS). It is also known as posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome (PRES). This is a diagnosis that requires both clinical and radiographic findings. Clinical symptoms are hypertension in combination with headache, altered mental status, seizures, and visual disturbances. Neuroimaging will show posterior-predominant vasogenic edema best captured by MRI because of the posterior location. RPLS can occur at any time. It is most likely to occur shortly after the initiation of CNI and is associated with supratherapeutic levels (Anghel et al. 2013). Risk factors for the development of calcineurin inhibitors-related neurotoxicity are conditions that affect myelin or alter the blood brain barrier such as the use of methylprednisolone, infections, arterial hypertension, fluid overload, and hypocholesterolemia (Senzolo et al. 2009). Screening for neurologic complications is an important part of post-transplant management and special consideration should be given to transplant recipients with preexisting neurologic conditions.

11 Endocrine and Metabolic

The CNI carries a risk for the development of diabetes mellitus which is more pronounced in patients that are taking tacrolimus in comparison with cyclosporine (Heisel et al. 2004). The new onset diabetes after transplant (NOAT) is multifactorial in origin. It is a result of both reduced insulin sensitivity and reduced insulin secretion by pancreatic cells (Chakkera and Mandarino 2013). There are also alterations in bone metabolism turnover seen with CNI, especially with cyclosporine that can contribute to the development of osteoporosis (Thiébaud et al. 1996). These effects are attenuated by concomitant steroid use. Alterations in lipid metabolism occur with calcineurin use that contributes to cardiovascular disease mentioned prior. CNIs, most commonly cyclosporine, can interfere with renal tubular excretion of uric acid and cause gout in some patients (Brigham et al. 2020).

12 Gastrointestinal

Some common side effects of the CNIs are nonspecific nausea, vomiting, diarrhea. At high levels, both cyclosporine and tacrolimus can cause cholestasis (Oto et al. 2010). However, tacrolimus has better GI handling producing superior outcomes in graft function in liver transplantation (McAlister et al. 2006). The gastrointestinal system may also be a site for post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder that is related to increase immunosuppresion (Stojanova et al. 2011).

13 Integumentary

Skin cancers are the most common type of malignancy in transplant recipients on immunosuppression with calcineurin inhibitors with squamous cell carcinoma being the most common type (Euvrard et al. 2003). It is believed that cancer is triggered by the production of TGF-B1 associated with CNI use and IL-2 levels are lower in patients with post-transplant skin cancers (Imko-Walczuk et al. 2016). Patients should be advised to avoid sun exposure, wear sunscreen, perform self-administered skin checks and have regular expert dermatologic evaluations. Gingival hyperplasia, especially in the presence of nifedipine, can occur with cyclosporine use (Dongari et al. 1993). Hair tends to be affected differently depending on the calcineurin inhibitor chosen. Hirsutism is more common with cyclosporine while alopecia is a more common finding associated with the use of tacrolimus (Yamamoto and Kato 1994).

14 Calcineurin Minimization

A goal in post-transplant therapy is to use the lowest effective dose to preserve graft function. This is the role of frequent laboratory monitoring of immunosuppressant drug levels to ensure patients are in a therapeutic window while avoiding supratherapeutic values more associated with toxicity. Aside from monitoring to ensure that levels are in a therapeutic range and using the lowest effective dose, there are strategies of CNI minimization. An early transplant strategy for CNI minimization is the delay of the initiation of CNI immediately post-transplant. This is facilitated using immunosuppression induction agents. Basiliximab and thymoglobulin are the most commonly used induction agents for this purpose and are associated with less renal dysfunction in the immediate postoperative period (Rosenberg et al. 2005; Cantarovich et al. 2004; Ekberg et al. 2009). Another strategy for CNI minimization involves the use of other immunosuppressive agents with differing mechanisms of action that allow for reduced CNI dosing and in some cases complete CNI withdrawal. Steroids, mycophenolate mofetil, and notably mTOR inhibitors have been utilized for this strategy.

15 Conclusion

The advances in heart transplantation along with concomitant immunosuppression, of which calcineurin inhibition has a major role, have provided a mechanism of increased survival in people with advanced heart failure. Special attention to CNI related drug interactions and CNI toxicity both acutely and chronically is important to assure successful management of the organ transplant recipient. The role of clinicians taking care of post-transplant patients on calcineurin inhibitors involves close drug monitoring, assessment for the known possible multisystemic effects, and adjustments as needed to obtain an appropriate balance between mitigating side effects and obtaining graft saving immunosuppression.

References

- Ahuja SS, Shrivastav S, Danielpour D, Balow JE, Boumpas DT (1995) Regulation of transforming growth-factor b1 and its receptor by cyclosporine in human T lymphocytes. Transplantation 60:718–723
- Anghel D, Tanasescu R, Campeanu A, Lupescu I, Podda G, Bajenaru O (2013) Neurotoxicity of immunosuppressive therapies in organ transplantation. Maedica (Bucur) 8(2):170–175
- Arnold R, Pussell BA, Pianta TJ, Lin CS, Kiernan MC, Krishnan AV (2013) Association between calcineurin inhibitor treatment and peripheral nerve dysfunction in renal transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 13(9):2426–2432
- Borel JF, Feurer C, Gubler HU, Stähelin H (1994) Biological effects of cyclosporin A: a new antilymphocytic agent. Agents Actions 43:179–186
- Brigham MD, Milgroom A, Lenco MO, Wang Z, Kent JD, LaMoreaux B, Johnson RJ, Mandell BF, Hadker N, Sanchez H, Francis K, Radeck LP, Miyasato G, Li JW (2020) Immunosuppressant use and gout in the prevalent solid organ transplantation population. Prog Transplant 30 (2):103–110
- Cantarovich M, Giannetti N, Barkun J, Cecere R (2004) Antithymocyte globulin induction allows a prolonged delay in the initiation of cyclosporine in heart transplant patients with postoperative renal dysfunction. Transplantation 78:779
- Chakkera HA, Mandarino LJ (2013) Calcineurin inhibition and new-onset diabetes mellitus after transplantation. Transplantation 95(5):647–652
- Cheng M (2013) Hartmann Stahelin (1925-2011) and the contested history of cyclosporin A. Clin Transpl 27:326–329
- Cheung A, Menkis AH (1998) Cyclosporine heart transplantation. Transplant Proc 30 (5):1881-1884
- Christians U, Schmitz V, Haschke M (2005) Functional interactions between P-glycoprotein and CYP3A in drug metabolism. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol 1(4):641–654
- Clerk A, Harrison JG, Long CS, Sugden PH (1999) Pro-inflammatory cytokines stimulate mitogenactivated protein kinase subfamilies, increase phosphorylation of c-Jun and ATF2 and upregulate c-Jun protein in neonatal rat ventricular myocytes. J Mol Cell Cardiol 31 (12):2087–2099
- Coe CL, Horst SN, Izzy MJ (2020) Neurologic toxicities associated with tumor necrosis factor inhibitors and calcineurin inhibitors. Neurol Clin 38(4):937–951
- Costanzo MR, Dipchand A, Starling R et al (2010) The International Society of Heart and Lung Transplantation guidelines for the care of heart transplant recipients. J Heart Lung Transplant 29:914

- Das L, Levine AD (2008) TGF-beta inhibits IL-2 production and promotes cell cycle arrest in TCR-activated effector/memory T cells in the presence of sustained TCR signal transduction. J Immunol 180(3):1490–1498
- Dongari A, McDonnell HT, Langlais RP (1993) Drug-induced gingival overgrowth. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 76:543
- Dumont FJ, Staruch MJ, Koprak SL, Siekierka JJ, Lin CS, Harrison R, Sewell T, Kindt VM, Beattie TR, Wyvratt M et al (1992) The immunosuppressive and toxic effects of FK-506 are mechanistically related: pharmacology of a novel antagonist of FK-506 and rapamycin. J Exp Med 176 (3):751–760
- Ekberg H, Bernasconi C, Tedesco-Silva H, Vítko S, Hugo C, Demirbas A, Acevedo RR, Grinyó J, Frei U, Vanrenterghem Y, Daloze P, Halloran P (2009) Calcineurin inhibitor minimization in the symphony study: observational results 3 years after transplantation. Am J Transplant 9 (8):1876–1885
- Euvrard S, Kanitakis J, Claudy A (2003) Skin cancers after organ transplantation. N Engl J Med 348 (17):1681–1691
- French AE, Soldin SJ, Soldin OP, Koren G (2003) Milk transfer and neonatal safety of tacrolimus. Ann Pharmacother 37(6):815–818
- González-Vílchez F, Lambert JL, Rangel D, Almenar L, de la Fuente JL, Palomo J, Díaz Molina B, Lage E, Sánchez Lázaro I, Vázquez de Prada JA (2018) Efficacy and safety of de novo and early use of extended-release tacrolimus in heart transplantation. Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed) 71 (1):18–25
- Guan P, Lu Y, Qi J, Niu M, Lian R, Hu F, Wu W (2011) Enhanced oral bioavailability of cyclosporineA by liposomes containing a bile salt. Int J Nanomedicine 6:965–674
- Guo LQ, Fukuda K, Ohta T, Yamazoe Y (2000) Role of furanocoumarin derivatives on grapefruit juice-mediated inhibition of human CYP3A activity. Drug Metab Dispos 28(7):766–771
- Hatanaka H, Iwami M, Kino T, Goto T, Okuhara M (1988) FR-900520 and FR-900523, novel immunosuppressants isolated from a Streptomyces. I. Taxonomy of the producing strain. J Antibiot 41(11):1586–1591
- Heisel O, Heisel R, Balshaw R, Keown P (2004) New onset diabetes mellitus in patients receiving calcineurin inhibitors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Transplant 4(4):583–595
- Hoorn EJ, Walsh SB, McCormick JA, Zietse R, Unwin RJ, Ellison DH (2012) Pathogenesis of calcineurin inhibitor-induced hypertension. J Nephrol 25(3):269–275
- Imko-Walczuk B, Piesiaków ML, Trzonkowski P, Pikuła M, Dębska-Ślizień A, Rutkowski B (2016) Associations of selected cytokines levels in organ transplant recipients without and with malignant skin neoplasms. Transplant Proc 48(5):1654–1659
- Kino T, Hatanaka H, Hashimoto M, Nishiyama M, Goto T, Okuhara M, Kohsaka M, Aoki H, Imanaka H (1987) FK-506, a novel immunosuppressant isolated from a Streptomyces. I. Fermentation, isolation, and physico-chemical and biological characteristics. J Antibiot 40(9):1249–1255
- Kwiek B, Peng WM, Allam JP, Langner A, Bieber T, Novak N (2008) Tacrolimus and TGF-beta act synergistically on the generation of Langerhans cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol 122 (1):126–132
- Levy G, Thervet E, Lake J, Uchida K, Consensus on Neoral C(2): Expert Review in Transplantation (CONCERT) Group (2002) Patient management by Neoral C(2) monitoring: an international consensus statement. Transplantation 73(9 Suppl):S12–S18
- Liptak P, Ivanyi B (2006) Primer: histopathology of calcineurin-inhibitor toxicity in renal allografts. Nat Clin Pract Nephrol 2(7):398–404
- Mancinelli LM, Frassetto L, Floren LC, Dressler D, Carrier S, Bekersky I, Benet LZ, Christians U (2001) The pharmacokinetics and metabolic disposition of tacrolimus: a comparison across ethnic groups. Clin Pharmacol Ther 69(1):24–31
- Matsuda S, Koyasu S (2000) Mechanisms of action of cyclosporine. Immunopharmacology 47 (2–3):119–125

- Matsuda S, Koyasu S (2003) Regulation of MAPK signaling pathways through immunophilinligand complex. Curr Top Med Chem 3(12):1358–1367
- McAlister VC, Haddad E, Renouf E, Malthaner RA, Kjaer MS, Gluud LL (2006) Cyclosporin versus tacrolimus as primary immunosuppressant after liver transplantation: a meta-analysis. Am J Transplant 6(7):1578–1585
- Oetting WS, Schladt DP, Guan W et al (2016) Genomewide association study of tacrolimus concentrations in African American kidney transplant recipients identifies multiple CYP3A5 alleles. Am J Transplant 16:574
- Oto T, Okazaki M, Takata K, Egi M, Yamane M, Toyooka S, Sano Y, Snell GI, Goto K, Miyoshi S (2010) Calcineurin inhibitor-related cholestasis complicating lung transplantation. Ann Thorac Surg 89(5):1664–1665
- Pennington CA, Park JM (2015) Sublingual tacrolimus as an alternative to oral administration for solid organ transplant recipients. Am J Health Syst Pharm 72:277
- Puschett JB, Greenberg A, Holley J et al (1990) The spectrum of ciclosporin nephrotoxicity. Am J Nephrol 10:296–309
- Rosenberg PB, Vriesendorp AE, Drazner MH et al (2005) Induction therapy with basiliximab allows delayed initiation of cyclosporine and preserves renal function after cardiac transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 24:1327
- Senzolo M, Ferronato C, Burra P (2009) Neurologic complications after solid organ transplantation. Transpl Int 22(3):269–278
- Steeves M, Abdallah HY, Venkataramanan R, Burckart GJ, Ptachcinski RJ, Abu-Elmagd K, Jain AK, Fung F, Todo S, Starzl TE (1991) In-vitro interaction of a novel immunosuppressant, FK 506, and antacids. J Pharm Pharmacol 43(8):574–577
- Stojanova J, Caillard S, Rousseau A, Marquet P (2011) Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD): pharmacological, virological and other determinants. Pharmacol Res 63(1):1–7
- Thiébaud D, Krieg MA, Gillard-Berguer D, Jacquet AF, Goy JJ, Burckhardt P (1996) Cyclosporine induces high bone turnover and may contribute to bone loss after heart transplantation. Eur J Clin Investig 26(7):549–555
- Vakil K, Taimeh Z, Sharma A et al (2014) Incidence, predictors, and temporal trends of sudden cardiac death after heart transplantation. Heart Rhythm 11:1684–1690
- Wuederrecht G, Lam E, Hung S et al (1993) The mechanism of action of FK-506 and cyclosporin a. Ann N Y Acad Sci 696:9
- Yamamoto S, Kato R (1994) Hair growth-stimulating effects of cyclosporin A and FK506, potent immunosuppressants. J Dermatol Sci 7(Suppl):S47–S54



Antiproliferatives and Transplantation

Robert Donovan, Howard Eisen, and Omaima Ali

Contents

1	Discovery	40
2	Mechanism of Action	41
	2.1 Azathioprine	41
	2.2 Mycophenolic Acid	42
3	Optimal Dose of Mycophenolic Acid	42
4	Enteric-Coated Mycophenolic Acid	42
5	Target Dose Monitoring of MMF	43
6	Side Effects	44
7	MMF and Azathioprine During Pregnancy	44
8	MMF vs Azathioprine	45
9	Clinical Trials	45
Re	eferences	50

Abstract

Antiproliferative agents include Mycophenolic acid and Azathioprine (which is less commonly used unless in certain conditions). They were initially identified for use in autoimmune and cancer research due to their role in disruption of cellular replication. They have now become the cornerstone of antirejection maintenance therapy in solid organ transplant. In this chapter we will describe the major times that lead to discovery, mechanisms of action, side effects, use during pregnancy and the major clinical trials.

R. Donovan · H. Eisen · O. Ali (🖂)

Pennsylvania State University College of Medicine- Hershey Medical Center, Hershey, PA, USA e-mail: oali@pennstatehealth.psu.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

H. J. Eisen (ed.), Pharmacology of Immunosuppression,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 272, https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2021_556

Keywords

Antiproliferatives · Azathioprine · Clinical trials · Discovery · Mechanism of action · Mycophenolic acid · Side effects

1 Discovery

The antiproliferative medications azathioprine and mycophenolic acid (MPA) were both first identified as part of research into autoimmune diseases and cancer signaling pathways in humans. Before the structure of DNA was elucidated, a research team led by Gertrude B. Elion and George H. Hitchings studied an extensive number of purine analogs in the hope that they could discover a compound that could interrupt cellular replication (Elion 1989). In 1951, this team first synthesized 6-mercaptopurine (6-MP) which was initially approved for use in the treatment of childhood leukemias (Elion et al. 1960).

Meanwhile, after several advances were made in understanding the immunologic basis of organ transplantation and rejection, a separate team led by Sir Roy Calne began to use 6-MP in experimental attempts at human kidney and heart transplants (Schwartz et al. 1958). Elion and Hitching later synthesized a metabolic derivative of 6-MP in 1957 named *BW 57-322*, later termed azathioprine (Elion 1989). In collaboration with Elion and Hitching, Calne began to use azathioprine in place of 6-MP due to its more favorable side-effect profile. In 1954, the first successful living kidney transplant between identical twins was performed in Boston by Joseph Murray and his team. This work contributed to receiving the Nobel Prize for Medicine later on. In 1962, Calne and his team utilized an immunosuppressive regimen of azathioprine and glucocorticoids to perform the first successful long-term kidney transplantations from non-related donors (Murray et al. 1963).

Mycophenolic acid (MPA) was first synthesized in the late nineteenth century by an Italian medical scientist Bartolomeo Gosio. Using samples collected from spoiled corn, he discovered the fungal species *Penicillium brevicompactum* which had considerable antibacterial activity. In 1896, he isolated the crystallized form of the compound which gave the fungus its antibacterial properties (Zhang and Demain 2005). His discovery was initially forgotten until two American scientists, C.L. Alsberg and O.M. Black, later synthesized the same compound in 1912, giving it the name mycophenolic acid (Regueira et al. 2011).

MPA was initially used for its antibacterial and antiviral effects, though its adverse side-effect profile led to its near abandonment in clinical use. This changed in the 1980s due to the research of South African geneticist Anthony Allison and his wife Elsie Eugui. Allison discovered the metabolic pathway of de novo guanine nucleotide biosynthesis, particularly the enzyme Inosine-5'-monophosphate dehydrogenase (IMPDH), which is partly responsible for immune rejection in organ transplantation.

In their search for a molecule that could block this pathway, the Allisons experimented with the neglected antibacterial agent MPA, which they found to have significant immunosuppressive activity in mice and strong inhibition of mitogenic stimulation of human lymphocytes (Bentley 2000). After working to synthesize variants with less toxicity and increased immunosuppressive effect, they went

on to demonstrate that MPA was useful in animal models of organ transplantation which was later extrapolated to humans in clinical trials (Bechstein et al. 1992; Taylor et al. 1994). MPA was then approved for use in kidney transplantation by the FDA in May of 1995 under the brand name CellCept[®].

2 Mechanism of Action

2.1 Azathioprine

Although azathioprine is no longer used routinely in solid organ transplantation protocols, it was one of the first immunosuppressive agents in the field. Currently use is limited to stable patients already on therapy, those intolerant to mycophenolate acid due to GI side effects, or female transplant recipients considering pregnancy.

Azathioprine is a purine analog prodrug, which is rapidly hydrolyzed to 6-mercaptopurine (6-MP) after administration. 6-MP is later converted by hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase (HGPRT) to various metabolites including active 6-thioguanine (6-thioGTP), which becomes incorporated into actively replicating DNA preventing the de novo pathway of purine synthesis (Maltzman and Koretzky 2003). More specifically, 6-thioGTP has been shown to prevent DNA synthesis in actively replicating T cells. Thiopurine S-methyltransferase (TPMT) methylates 6-MP into the inactive form 6-methylmercaptopurine (6-MMP) (Fig. 1).

Recently, the same compound has been shown to inhibit CD28, a co-stimulatory mediator essential for the signaling pathway required for T cell activation (Aarbakke et al. 1997). Related metabolites of azathioprine have also demonstrated inhibition of the enzyme Rac-1, which sets in motion a series of pathways that culminate with mitochondrial-driven T cell apoptosis (Poppe et al. 2006). In TPMT enzyme deficient patients, toxic levels of 6-thioGTP can accumulate leading to life-threatening myelosuppression. Hence TMPT genotyping is recommended prior to initiation of azathioprine (Relling et al. 2013).

HGPRT
AZA
$$\rightarrow$$
 6-MP \longrightarrow 6-TGN \rightarrow DNA incorporation
 \downarrow TMPT
6-MMP

Fig. 1 Pharmacokinetics of MMF. AZA Azathioprine, 6MP 6-Mercaptopurine, HGPRT Hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyltransferase, 6TGN 6-Thioguanine nucleotides, TMPT Thiopurine S-methyltransferase, 6-MMP 6-methylmercaptopurine

2.2 Mycophenolic Acid

MPA is a reversible inhibitor of Inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase IMPDH, a crucial enzyme in the de novo biosynthesis of guanine nucleotides. Mycophenolate mofetil (MMF, brand name CellCept[®]) undergoes rapid hydrolysis to the active form MPA after administration (Ransom 1995). The mean half-life of MPA in systemic circulation is approximately 17 h. MPA is mainly metabolized by the liver, undergoes glucuronidation to a pharmacologically inactive 7-O-glucuronide metabolite (MPAG) (major metabolite) and active metabolite MPA-acyl-glucuronide (AcMPAG) which is responsible for the GI toxic effects (Jeong and Kaplan 2007).

It undergoes enterohepatic circulation which contributes to approximately 35% of the MPA area under the curve (AUC). This leads to a secondary plasma peak after 6–12 h from administration. Cyclosporin inhibits this enterohepatic pathway for MPA lowering overall MPA plasma levels. MPA is eventually excreted through the kidneys (Jeong and Kaplan 2007) (Fig. 2).

While most cells in the human body can recover guanine nucleotides through salvage pathways, proliferating lymphocytes are entirely dependent upon the IMDPH pathway for purine synthesis and thus DNA replication (Ji et al. 2006). This partial selectivity for lymphocyte proliferation accounts for MPA's superior side-effect profile and efficacy when compared to azathioprine. MPA has been shown in in vivo experiments to block both T and B cell proliferation, and to down-regulate the expression of adhesion molecules on lymphocytes (Ensley et al. 1993).

3 Optimal Dose of Mycophenolic Acid

Clinical trials were conducted to assess optimal dosage, when comparing 2 g/day versus 3 g/day there was no additional benefit shown and a trend to more side effects with the higher dose, rendering 2 g/day as the standard of care. (Placebo-controlled study of mycophenolate mofetil combined with cyclosporin and corticosteroids for prevention of acute rejection. European Mycophenolate Mofetil Cooperative Study Group 1995).

4 Enteric-Coated Mycophenolic Acid

In an effort to reduce the gastrointestinal side effects of MMF, enteric-coated mycophenolate sodium (EC-MPS) was developed. This formulation allows for delayed release of MPA in the small intestine. Clinical trials showed similar safety profiles and efficacy including similar rates of biopsy proven rejection, graft loss,



Fig. 2 Pharmacokinetics of MMF. *MMF* Mycophenolate mofetil, *MPA* Mycophenolic acid, *MPAG* inactive 7-O-glucuronide metabolite, *AcMPAG* active metabolite MPA-acyl-glucuronide. From "Therapeutic Monitoring of Mycophenolate Mofetil" by Hyunyoung Jeong and Bruce Kaplan. CJASN January 2007, 2 (1) 184–191. Reprinted with permission

and death. However, gastrointestinal adverse events were also found to be similar (Salvadori et al. 2004).

5 Target Dose Monitoring of MMF

Clinical trials showed a strong association of MPA concentration with incidence of rejection and individual variation of MPA AUC and pre-dose concentration, which led some to advocate for target dose monitoring of MMF (Jeong and Kaplan 2007). However, subsequent prospective clinical trials showed no significant difference in

biopsy proven acute rejection and graft loss in the fixed dose of MMF compared to concentration controlled arm. Also elevated MPA levels could not be correlated to its toxic effects. With the similar outcomes and extra expenses, routine target dose monitoring has fallen out of favor (Byrne et al. 2011).

6 Side Effects

The relatively rapid cellular turnover in the gastrointestinal tract and bone marrow accounts for their particular susceptibility to the side effects of antiproliferative medications. The most substantial side effect of azathioprine is bone marrow suppression (anemia, thrombocytopenia, and leukopenia), which is why regular monitoring with complete blood counts is essential. Dose reduction may be helpful and improvement in the CBC can be seen as soon as 7–10 days after adjustment (Maltzman and Koretzky 2003). Pancreatitis and hepatotoxicity are less rare but more serious side effects reported with azathioprine (Aarbakke et al. 1997).

As mentioned previously, MPA is more specific for proliferating lymphocytes than azathioprine and as such bone marrow suppression is far less common (Bunnapradist and Ambühl 2008). GI upset, particularly nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea are the most common side effects associated with MPA and may lead to a decreased dosage in many patients. Some studies have shown that utilizing enteric-coated mycophenolate sodium instead of MMF may lead to less GI side effects and higher sustained doses overtime (Ortega et al. 2011).

7 MMF and Azathioprine During Pregnancy

Several prospective and large case series have suggested safety of azathioprine use during pregnancy without increase in malformations (Natekar et al. 2011). This remains one of the indications for use of azathioprine in heart transplantation.

In 2006 the national transplantation pregnancy registry NTPR reported increased risk of both miscarriages and birth defects and female transplant recipients using MPA during pregnancy. This did not appear to affect male recipients. In 2007 the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) issued a black box warning on the use of MPA during pregnancy. Pregnancy testing was also recommended immediately before initiation of MPA and at 8–10 days after use. In order to educate health providers in females receiving the truck with reproductive potentials, the FDA mandated a single shared risk evaluation and mitigation strategies (REMS) system in 2012 (Kim et al. 2013).

8 MMF vs Azathioprine

In the 1990s three pivotal trials compared MMF vs azathioprine based immunosuppression regimens, showing a reduction in incidence of acute rejection post renal transplantation from 40–45% to 20-25% (Placebo-controlled study of mycophenolate mofetil combined with cyclosporin and corticosteroids for prevention of acute rejection. European Mycophenolate Mofetil Cooperative Study Group 1995; A blinded, randomized clinical trial of mycophenolate mofetil for the prevention of acute rejection in cadaveric renal transplantation. The Tricontinental Mycophenolate Mofetil Renal Transplantation Study Group 1996; Sollinger 1995). A few years later the heart transplant community underwent its first large collaboration with a multicenter double-blind, active controlled trial randomizing 650 patients undergoing their first heart transplant to receive azathioprine vs MMF, in combination with cyclosporine and corticosteroids. There were significant reductions in one-year mortality, rejection with hemodynamic compromise and in treatable rejection episodes in the MMF cohort (Kobashigawa et al. 1998).

In an attempt to assess long-term effect of MMF on renal graft survival, the US renal transplant scientific registry was analyzed by Ojo et al. between October 1988 to June 1997 with a total of 66,774 renal transplant recipients, it showed at 4 years MMF reduced the relative risk of graft loss by 27% independent of incidence of acute rejection (Ojo et al. 2000). These trials have led to MMF being the cornerstone as an antiproliferative in solid organ transplant and its replacement of azathioprine.

9 Clinical Trials

Below are some highlighted clinical trials in solid organ transplant with MMF and/or azathioprine (Table 1):

In spite of the numerous clinical trials, there remains no single standardized immunosuppression regimen. Rather, they are individualized based on patient's characteristics, risk profiles, and underlying comorbidities and balancing the risks of over immunosuppression with the risk of rejection (Kobashigawa 2017).

Table 1 Major randomized cli	inical trials of antiprolifers	ttive medic:	ations in so	lid organ transplantati	uo	
			Follow-			
Study	Comparison	Patients	up (years)	Survival	Rejection	Notes
Kidney						
European Renal MMF Study group, 1995 (Placebo- controlled study of mycophenolate mofetil combined with cyclosporin and corticosteroids for prevention of acute rejection. European Mycophenolate Mofetil Cooperative Study Group 1995)	MMF 2G vs MMF 3G vs placebo (background of CSA + steroids)	491	0.5	No difference	Less with MMF at both doses (no difference between MMF doses)	
U.S. Renal MMF Study group, 1995 (Sollinger 1995)	MMF 2G vs MMF 3G vs AZA (background of CSA + steroids)	499	0.5	No difference	Less with MMF at both doses (no difference between MMF doses)	Use of antilymphocyte agents for rejection higher in AZA group
Tricontinental Renal MMF Study group, 1995 (A blinded, randomized clinical trial of mycophenolate mofetil for the prevention of acute rejection in cadaveric renal transplantation. The Tricontinental Mycophenolate Mofetil	MMF 2G vs MMF 3G vs AZA (background of CSA + steroids)	503	0.5	No difference	Less with MMF at both doses (no difference between MMF doses)	

Renal Transplantation Study Group 1996)						
Halloran, et al. (meta- analysis), 1997 (Halloran et al. 1997)	MMF 2G vs MMF 3G vs AZA or placebo (background of CSA + steroids)	1,493		No difference	Less with MMF at both doses (no difference between MMF doses)	No difference in graft survival between all groups
Shapiro et al. (1999)	TAC vs TAC + MMF (background of steroids)	206	1.5	No difference	Less with TAC + MMF group	
Johnson et al. (2000)	TAC + AZA vs TAC + MMF vs CSA + MMF	223	e	No difference	No difference (though trend towards lower rejection in TAC + MMF group)	CSA + MMF group with significantly worse renal function
Gonwa et al. (Prograf Study Group), 2003 (Gonwa et al. 2003)	TAC + MMF vs TAC + SRL	361	0.5	No difference	No difference	TAC + SRL group with significantly worse renal function
Hall et al. (the ERL B301 Study Group), 2004 (Salvadori et al. 2004)	EC-MPS vs MMF (background of Neoral + steroids)	423	-	No difference	No difference	Both safety profiles and GI adverse events were similar for both groups
MYSS, 2007 (Remuzzi et al. 2007) Heart	MMF + CSA vs AZA + CSA	248	Ś	No difference	No difference	
Kobashigawa et al. (1998)	MMF vs AZA	650	3	Higher with MMF	Less with MMF	Less CAV with MMF at 1 year, but more opportunistic infections
Eisen et al. (2003)	EVR 1.5G vs EVR 3G vs AZA (background of CSA + steroids)	634		No difference	No difference	EVR associated with less CAV but worse renal function
						(continued)

47

			Follow-			
	-	-	dn	-		
Study	Comparison	Patients	(years)	Survival	Rejection	Notes
Keogh et al. (2004)	AZA vs SRL	136	2	No difference	Less rejection with	SRL associated with less
					OKL at 0 monuns	CAV, WOISE TENAL IUNCUON more anemia AZA with
						more nausea and arrhythmia
Kobashigawa et al. (2006)	TAC/MMF vs	343		No difference	Less treatable	TAC/MMF associated with
	TAC/SRL vs				rejection in the TAC	better renal function,
	CSA/MMF				groups	TAC/SRL associated with
						impaired wound healing
TICTAC trial, 2011 (Baran	TAC vs TAC + MMF	150	1	No difference	No difference	No difference in CVA
et al. 2011)	(background of early					between groups
	steroids)					
Eisen et al. (2013)	MMF + standard	721	2	No difference	No difference	EVR with less CAV than
	CSA vs					MMF, though high-dose
	EVR + reduced-dose					EVR (3.0 mg) stopped
	CSA					prematurely due to
						increased mortality
SCHEDULE trial, 2016	MMF + CSA vs	115	3	No difference	More mild rejection in	EVR with less CAV but
(Andreassen et al. 2016)	EVR + reduced-dose				EVR-only group, but	more opportunistic
	CSA with early CSA				no difference at 1 year	infections
	withdrawal					
Liver						
Jain et al. (1998)	TAC vs TAC + MMF	200	1	No difference	No difference	Trend towards decreased
	(background of steroids)					rejection and nephrotoxicity
	Dura varia					Thomas Brown

Table 1 (continued)

		100	1 5		TAC AMAG and	
Aupp et al. (1999)	COA + MUNT VS TAC + MMF vs TAC (background of	170	C: 1	TAC + MUME and TAC group with higher survival	TAC # MUME and TAC group with lower rejection	
Eicohor of al (1000)	steroids)	62	-	No difference	I acc with MME	Dono momoni onamonion
LISCHEL EL 41. (2000)	(background of CSA + steroids)	6	-		TCSS MIIII MIMIL	less common with MMF
Wiesner et al. (2001)	MMF vs AZA	565	1	No difference	Less with MMF at	
	(background of CSA + steroids)				6 months, no difference at 1 year	
Lung						
McNeil et al. (2006)	MMF vs AZA	315	3	Significant 1 year	No difference	
	(background of			survival with		
	CSA + steroids)			MMF, not cignificant at		
				3 years		
Strueber et al. (2016)	MMF vs EVR	190	2	No difference	Less with EVR	High dropout rate reported
	(background of CSA + steroids)					in EVR group
Simultaneous pancreas/kidney						
Odorico et al. (1998)	AZA vs MMF	109	2	No difference	Less with MMF	Similar reduction in
	(background of					rejection rates for both
	CSA + steroids)					kidney and pancreas with MMF
Merion et al. (2000)	AZA vs MMF	150	0.5	No difference	No difference	
	(background of					
	CSA + steroids)					
AZA azathioprine, MMF mycol sirolimus, CAV cardiac allograf	phenolate mofetil, <i>EC-MF</i> ft vasculopathy, <i>sCr</i> serum	S enteric-c	oated myco	phenolate sodium, CS	A cyclosporine, EVR ever	olimus, TAC tacrolimus, SRL

References

- A blinded, randomized clinical trial of mycophenolate mofetil for the prevention of acute rejection in cadaveric renal transplantation. The Tricontinental Mycophenolate Mofetil Renal Transplantation Study Group (1996) Transplantation 61(7):1029–1037
- Aarbakke J, Janka-Schaub G, Elion GB (1997) Thiopurine biology and pharmacology. Trends Pharmacol Sci 18(1):3–7
- Andreassen AK, Andersson B, Gustafsson F, Eiskjaer H, Rådegran G, Gude E et al (2016) Everolimus initiation with early calcineurin inhibitor withdrawal in de novo heart transplant recipients: three-year results from the randomized SCHEDULE study. Am J Transplant 16 (4):1238–1247. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13588
- Baran DA, Zucker MJ, Arroyo LH, Camacho M, Goldschmidt ME, Nicholls SJ et al (2011) A prospective, randomized trial of single-drug versus dual-drug immunosuppression in heart transplantation: the tacrolimus in combination, tacrolimus alone compared (TICTAC) trial. Circ Heart Fail 4(2):129–137. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.110.958520
- Bechstein WO, Suzuki Y, Kawamura T, Jaffee B, Allison A, Hullett DA et al (1992) Low-dose combination therapy of DUP-785 and RS-61443 prolongs cardiac allograft survival in rats. Transpl Int 5(Suppl 1):S482–S483
- Bentley R (2000) Mycophenolic acid: a one hundred year odyssey from antibiotic to immunosuppressant. Chem Rev 100(10):3801–3826
- Bunnapradist S, Ambühl PM (2008) Impact of gastrointestinal-related side effects on mycophenolate mofetil dosing and potential therapeutic strategies. Clin Transpl 22 (6):815–821. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-0012.2008.00892.x
- Byrne R, Yost SE, Kaplan B (2011) Mycophenolate mofetil monitoring: is there evidence that it can improve outcomes? Clin Pharmacol Ther 90(2):204–206. https://doi.org/10.1038/clpt.2011.95
- Eisen HJ, Tuzcu EM, Dorent R, Kobashigawa J, Mancini D, Valantine-von Kaeppler HA et al (2003) Everolimus for the prevention of allograft rejection and vasculopathy in cardiactransplant recipients. N Engl J Med 349(9):847–858. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa022171
- Eisen HJ, Kobashigawa J, Starling RC, Pauly DF, Kfoury A, Ross H et al (2013) Everolimus versus mycophenolate mofetil in heart transplantation: a randomized, multicenter trial. Am J Transplant 13(5):1203–1216. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12181
- Elion GB (1989) The purine path to chemotherapy. Science 244(4900):41-47
- Elion GB, Callahan SW, Hitchings GH, Rundles RW (1960) The metabolism of 2-amino-6-[(1-methyl-4-nitro-5-imidazolyl)thio]purine (B.W. 57-323) in man. Cancer Chemother Rep 8:47–52
- Ensley RD, Bristow MR, Olsen SL, Taylor DO, Hammond EH, O'Connell JB et al (1993) The use of mycophenolate mofetil (RS-61443) in human heart transplant recipients. Transplantation 56 (1):75–82
- Fischer L, Sterneck M, Gahlemann CG, Malago M, Rogiers X, Broelsch CE (2000) A prospective study comparing safety and efficacy of mycophenolate mofetil versus azathioprine in primary liver transplant recipients. Transplant Proc 32(7):2125–2127. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0041-1345(00)01599-2
- Gonwa T, Mendez R, Yang HC, Weinstein S, Jensik S, Steinberg S et al (2003) Randomized trial of tacrolimus in combination with sirolimus or mycophenolate mofetil in kidney transplantation: results at 6 months. Transplantation 75(8):1213–1220. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.TP. 0000062837.99400.60
- Halloran P, Mathew T, Tomlanovich S, Groth C, Hooftman L, Barker C (1997) Mycophenolate mofetil in renal allograft recipients: a pooled efficacy analysis of three randomized, doubleblind, clinical studies in prevention of rejection. The International Mycophenolate Mofetil Renal Transplant Study Groups. Transplantation 63(1):39–47
- Jain AB, Hamad I, Rakela J, Dodson F, Kramer D, Demetris J et al (1998) A prospective randomized trial of tacrolimus and prednisone versus tacrolimus, prednisone, and

mycophenolate mofetil in primary adult liver transplant recipients: an interim report. Transplantation 66(10):1395–1398

- Jeong H, Kaplan B (2007) Therapeutic monitoring of mycophenolate mofetil. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2(1):184–191. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.02860806
- Ji Y, Gu J, Makhov AM, Griffith JD, Mitchell BS (2006) Regulation of the interaction of inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase with mycophenolic acid by GTP. J Biol Chem 281(1):206–212. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M507056200
- Johnson C, Ahsan N, Gonwa T, Halloran P, Stegall M, Hardy M et al (2000) Randomized trial of tacrolimus (Prograf) in combination with azathioprine or mycophenolate mofetil versus cyclosporine (Neoral) with mycophenolate mofetil after cadaveric kidney transplantation. Transplantation 69(5):834–841
- Keogh A, Richardson M, Ruygrok P, Spratt P, Galbraith A, O'Driscoll G et al (2004) Sirolimus in de novo heart transplant recipients reduces acute rejection and prevents coronary artery disease at 2 years: a randomized clinical trial. Circulation 110(17):2694–2700. https://doi.org/10.1161/ 01.CIR.0000136812.90177.94
- Kim M, Rostas S, Gabardi S (2013) Mycophenolate fetal toxicity and risk evaluation and mitigation strategies. Am J Transplant 13(6):1383–1389. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12238
- Klupp J, Glanemann M, Bechstein WO, Platz KP, Langrehr JM, Keck H et al (1999) Mycophenolate mofetil in combination with tacrolimus versus Neoral after liver transplantation. Transplant Proc 31(1–2):1113–1114
- Kobashigawa J (2017) Clinical trials in heart transplantation: the evolution of evidence in immunosuppression. J Heart Lung Transplant 36(12):1286–1290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun. 2017.10.009
- Kobashigawa J, Miller L, Renlund D, Mentzer R, Alderman E, Bourge R et al (1998) A randomized active-controlled trial of mycophenolate mofetil in heart transplant recipients. Mycophenolate Mofetil Investigators. Transplantation 66(4):507–515
- Kobashigawa JA, Miller LW, Russell SD, Ewald GA, Zucker MJ, Goldberg LR et al (2006) Tacrolimus with mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) or sirolimus vs. cyclosporine with MMF in cardiac transplant patients: 1-year report. Am J Transplant 6(6):1377–1386. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1600-6143.2006.01290.x
- Maltzman JS, Koretzky GA (2003) Azathioprine: old drug, new actions. J Clin Invest 111 (8):1122–1124. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI18384
- McNeil K, Glanville AR, Wahlers T, Knoop C, Speich R, Mamelok RD et al (2006) Comparison of mycophenolate mofetil and azathioprine for prevention of bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome in de novo lung transplant recipients. Transplantation 81(7):998–1003. https://doi.org/10.1097/01. tp.0000202755.33883.61
- Merion RM, Henry ML, Melzer JS, Sollinger HW, Sutherland DE, Taylor RJ (2000) Randomized, prospective trial of mycophenolate mofetil versus azathioprine for prevention of acute renal allograft rejection after simultaneous kidney-pancreas transplantation. Transplantation 70 (1):105–111
- Murray JE, Merrill JP, Harrison JH, Wilson RE, Dammin GJ (1963) Prolonged survival of humankidney homografts by immunosuppressive drug therapy. N Engl J Med 268:1315–1323. https:// doi.org/10.1056/NEJM196306132682401
- Natekar A, Pupco A, Bozzo P, Koren G (2011) Safety of azathioprine use during pregnancy. Can Fam Physician 57(12):1401–1402
- Odorico JS, Pirsch JD, Knechtle SJ, D'Alessandro AM, Sollinger HW (1998) A study comparing mycophenolate mofetil to azathioprine in simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation. Transplantation 66(12):1751–1759
- Ojo AO, Meier-Kriesche HU, Hanson JA, Leichtman AB, Cibrik D, Magee JC et al (2000) Mycophenolate mofetil reduces late renal allograft loss independent of acute rejection. Transplantation 69(11):2405–2409
- Ortega F, Sánchez-Fructuoso A, Cruzado JM, Gómez-Alamillo JC, Alarcón A, Pallardó L et al (2011) Gastrointestinal quality of life improvement of renal transplant recipients converted from

mycophenolate mofetil to enteric-coated mycophenolate sodium drugs or agents: mycophenolate mofetil and enteric-coated mycophenolate sodium. Transplantation 92 (4):426–432. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP.0b013e31822527ca

- Placebo-controlled study of mycophenolate mofetil combined with cyclosporin and corticosteroids for prevention of acute rejection. European Mycophenolate Mofetil Cooperative Study Group (1995) Lancet 345(8961):1321–1325
- Poppe D, Tiede I, Fritz G, Becker C, Bartsch B, Wirtz S et al (2006) Azathioprine suppresses ezrinradixin-moesin-dependent T cell-APC conjugation through inhibition of Vav guanosine exchange activity on Rac proteins. J Immunol 176(1):640–651
- Ransom JT (1995) Mechanism of action of mycophenolate mofetil. Ther Drug Monit 17 (6):681–684
- Regueira TB, Kildegaard KR, Hansen BG, Mortensen UH, Hertweck C, Nielsen J (2011) Molecular basis for mycophenolic acid biosynthesis in Penicillium brevicompactum. Appl Environ Microbiol 77(9):3035–3043. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03015-10
- Relling MV, Gardner EE, Sandborn WJ, Schmiegelow K, Pui CH, Yee SW et al (2013) Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation consortium guidelines for thiopurine methyltransferase genotype and thiopurine dosing: 2013 update. Clin Pharmacol Ther 93(4):324–325. https:// doi.org/10.1038/clpt.2013.4
- Remuzzi G, Cravedi P, Costantini M, Lesti M, Ganeva M, Gherardi G et al (2007) Mycophenolate mofetil versus azathioprine for prevention of chronic allograft dysfunction in renal transplantation: the MYSS follow-up randomized, controlled clinical trial. J Am Soc Nephrol 18 (6):1973–1985. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2006101153
- Salvadori M, Holzer H, de Mattos A, Sollinger H, Arns W, Oppenheimer F et al (2004) Entericcoated mycophenolate sodium is therapeutically equivalent to mycophenolate mofetil in de novo renal transplant patients. Am J Transplant 4(2):231–236
- Schwartz R, Stack J, Dameshek W (1958) Effect of 6-mercaptopurine on antibody production. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 99(1):164–167
- Shapiro R, Jordan ML, Scantlebury VP, Vivas C, Marsh JW, McCauley J et al (1999) A prospective, randomized trial of tacrolimus/prednisone versus tacrolimus/prednisone/mycophenolate mofetil in renal transplant recipients. Transplantation 67(3):411–415
- Sollinger HW (1995) Mycophenolate mofetil for the prevention of acute rejection in primary cadaveric renal allograft recipients. U.S. Renal Transplant Mycophenolate Mofetil Study Group. Transplantation 60(3):225–232
- Strueber M, Warnecke G, Fuge J, Simon AR, Zhang R, Welte T et al (2016) Everolimus versus mycophenolate mofetil de novo after lung transplantation: a prospective, randomized, openlabel trial. Am J Transplant 16(11):3171–3180. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13835
- Taylor DO, Ensley RD, Olsen SL, Dunn D, Renlund DG (1994) Mycophenolate mofetil (RS-61443): preclinical, clinical, and three-year experience in heart transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 13(4):571–582
- Wiesner R, Rabkin J, Klintmalm G, McDiarmid S, Langnas A, Punch J et al (2001) A randomized double-blind comparative study of mycophenolate mofetil and azathioprine in combination with cyclosporine and corticosteroids in primary liver transplant recipients. Liver Transpl 7 (5):442–450. https://doi.org/10.1053/jlts.2001.23356
- Zhang L, Demain AL (2005) Natural products: drug discovery and therapeutic medicine. Humana Press



Mechanistic Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) Inhibitors

Denise Wang and Howard J. Eisen

Contents

1	Intro	duction	54
2	Mech	nanism of Action	55
	2.1	mTOR	55
	2.2	Rapamycin	56
	2.3	Rapamycin Analogs	57
	2.4	Pharmacokinetics	57
3	Clini	cal Trials	57
	3.1	SMART Trial	58
	3.2	EXIST Trials	58
	3.3	BOLERO Trials	60
	3.4	RECORD Trials	61
4	Clini	cal Uses	62
	4.1	Kidney Transplantation	62
	4.2	Heart Transplantation	63
	4.3	Tuberous Sclerosis Complex	64
	4.4	Lymphangioleiomyomatosis	65
	4.5	Cancer	65
	4.6	Metabolic Diseases	66
	4.7	Adverse Reactions	66
5	Drug	Interactions	67
Re	ferenc	yes	68

D. Wang (🖂)

Mount Sinai Icahn School of Medicine, New York, NY, USA

H. J. Eisen

Pennsylvania State University College of Medicine/Milton S. Hershey Medical Center, Hershey, PA, USA

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

H. J. Eisen (ed.), Pharmacology of Immunosuppression,

Abstract

Mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitors are macrocyclic lactone antibiotics derived from *Streptomyces hygroscopicus* that prevent T lymphocyte activation and B cell differentiation. Unlike calcineurin inhibitors (CNIs) that inhibit cytokine production, mTOR inhibitors block the cytokine signal transduction to arrest cells in the G1 to S phase. This class of drugs is commonly used for post-transplantation and cancer management because of its immunosuppressive and antiproliferative properties, respectively. The potential uses of mTOR inhibitors are heavily explored because of their impact on cell growth and proliferation. However, mTOR inhibitors have a broad range of effects that can result in adverse reactions, but side effects can occur with other immunosuppressive agents as well. Thus, the performance of mTOR inhibitors is compared to the outcomes and adverse effects of other immunosuppressive drugs or the combination of other immunosuppressants and mTOR inhibitors. Because mTOR regulates many downstream pathways, mTOR inhibitors can affect these pathways to manage various diseases. Sirolimus (rapamycin) is approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to treat post-renal transplantation and lymphangioleiomyomatosis (LAM). Everolimus is approved by the FDA to treat postmenopausal advanced hormone receptor-positive, HER2-negative breast cancer in women, progressive neuroendocrine tumors of pancreatic origin (PNET), advanced renal cell carcinoma (RCC), renal angiomyolipoma (AML) and tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC), and subependymal giant cell astrocytoma (SEGA) associated with TSC as well as renal and liver transplantation. Temsirolimus is approved by the FDA to treat advanced RCC. Opportunities to use mTOR inhibitors as therapy for other transplantation, metabolic disease, and cancer management are being researched. mTOR inhibitors are often called proliferation signal inhibitors (PSIs) because of their effects on proliferation pathways.

Keywords

Cancer immunosuppression \cdot Graft rejection treatment \cdot Proliferation signal inhibitors \cdot Transplantation immunosuppression

1 Introduction

Induction therapy for kidney transplantation historically used high dose corticosteroids in combination with T cell-directed therapy, which included antibodies targeting thymocyte globulin, IL-2 receptor, CD3, and CD52. Such immunosuppressants are used to prevent acute rejection. Later, other agents were discovered for maintenance immunosuppression to extend the life of the graft. CNIs (tacrolimus, cyclosporine), antiproliferative agents (mycophenolate mofetil, azathioprine), and mTOR inhibitors (sirolimus and everolimus) are common classes of maintenance drugs. These immunosuppressants are considered more potent than

those that were previously used. Sirolimus (SRL) specifically is an advantageous immunosuppressant for post-kidney transplantation maintenance therapy because of its low nephrotoxicity (Sabbatini et al. 2000). It is metabolized by the liver and has a low impact on renal function. It is mainly excreted in feces (91%) and a minor amount excreted in urine (2.2%) (Product Information 2012, 2018). With such an advantage, therapies with mTOR inhibitors are compared to those without mTOR inhibitors in search of better morbidity and mortality outcomes for patients.

The success of mTOR inhibitors as immunosuppressants in kidney transplantation therapy led to the investigation of their use in other immunosuppressive therapies. They are used in other transplant therapies, like heart transplantation, and related comorbidities are evaluated. Studies focus on optimal outcomes with minimal immunosuppressants to limit the burden of drug interactions and adverse reactions. Research analyzed the results of the conversion from a CNI to SRL, combination of other immunosuppressants with mTOR inhibitors, mTOR inhibitors used in maintenance therapy, and comparison of mTOR inhibitors to other immunosuppressants on severity of side effects due to duration and dosage. These studies further the understanding of mTOR-dependent pathways, the mechanism of action of mTOR inhibitors, and other uses of mTOR inhibitors. Exploration of additional targets that complement the effects of mTOR inhibitors can synergistically improve outcomes.

The mTOR inhibitors branched out from transplantation therapies into other disciplines. They are used to prevent restenosis after coronary artery stent placements and used in tumor treatments of TSC, RCC, PNET, LAM, and breast cancer (Sehgal 2003; Product Information 2012, 2018). Most of these indications leverage the antiproliferative properties of mTOR inhibitors to regress tumors (Sehgal 2003). However, many of the tumors regrow after withdrawal of mTOR inhibitors, uncovering their cytostatic traits and leading to studies centered around the long-term effects of mTOR inhibitors (Bissler et al. 2013).

2 Mechanism of Action

2.1 mTOR

Mechanistic target of rapamycin is a threonine/serine protein kinase within the PIKK family. It has two major complexes, mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1) and mTOR complex 2 (mTORC2), with distinct functions to regulate cellular processes (Hara et al. 2002; Kim et al. 2002; Sarbassov et al. 2004). The mTORC1 receives signals from growth factors, energy, nutrients, and oxygen to modulate cell growth and proliferation (Kim et al. 2002). The mTORC2 receives signals to regulate cell survival and actin organization in the cytoskeleton (Laplante and Sabatini 2012). The system has multiple feedback loops for cell survival.

The mTORC1 is comprised of mammalian lethal with sec-13 protein 8 (mLST8), regulatory associated protein of TOR (raptor), DEP-domain containing mTOR interacting protein (DEPTOR), and proline-rick Akt substrate 40 kDa (PRAS40)

(Hara et al. 2002; Sarbassov et al. 2004). DEPTOR and raptor are regulatory components of mTORC1. When substrates eukaryotic elongation factor 4E-binding protein (4E-BP1) and S6 ribosomal protein kinase (S6K) are phosphorylated, translation is initiated to regulate important cellular functions, such as protein synthesis, lipid synthesis, nucleotide synthesis, glycolysis, and autophagy (Ma and Blenis 2009; Jewell and Guan 2013). For instance, activation of mTORC1 stimulates glycolysis, lipid synthesis, and glutamine metabolism through hypoxia-inducible factor alpha (HIF1 α) and c-Myc, sterol regulatory element binding protein (SREBP-1), and SIRT4 repression, respectively (Yecies and Manning 2011). Since mTORC1 is downstream in the PI3K/Akt pathway for tumor suppressors (PTEN, LKB1, TSC1/2, PI3K, Akt), its signaling changes can alter metabolic synthesis and turnover and autophagy repression (Laplante and Sabatini 2012; Jewell and Guan 2013). Disturbances to the regulation of the mTORC1 pathway have been associated with genetic disorders, uncontrolled cell growth, and aging and aging-related diseases (Johnson et al. 2013a).

The mTORC2 has mTOR rapamycin insensitive companion of mTOR (rictor), stress-activated protein kinase-interacting protein 1 (MSIN1), and mLST8. By activating Akt and SGK1, mTORC2 drives cell survival (Huang and Manning 2009). With the activation of PKC α , paxillin, and small GTPases (Rho and Rac), mTORC2 regulates actin organization of the cytoskeleton (Laplante and Sabatini 2012).

2.2 Rapamycin

Rapamycin binds FKBP-12, a cytosolic protein, to form a complex that interacts with mTOR to prevent cytokine (IL-2, IL-4, IL-15) signaling (Benjamin et al. 2011; Hardinger et al. 2004). Rapamycin preferentially inhibits mTORC1 initially, but it inhibits mTORC2 after long incubation in some cells (Huang and Manning 2009). Thus, its use in continuous immunosuppressive therapies usually results in inhibition of both mTORC1 and mTORC2. The treatment duration does not only affect rapamycin's differential inhibition between mTORC1 and mTORC2. Short-term treatment of rapamycin dephosphorylates 4E-BP1, but it phosphorylates 4E-BP1 if treatment lasts longer than 12 h (Choo et al. 2008). Rapamycin inhibits S6K of mTORC1, which removes the repression on autophagy (Jewell and Guan 2013). Yet, this block triggers a feedback loop. Decreased PI3K/Akt upstream signaling increases receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK), PI3K/Akt, and Ras-ERK activity that will increase PI3K/Akt pathway activity for cell survival (Benjamin et al. 2011). The combined effects of rapamycin on 4E-BP1 and S6K produce cap-dependent translation (Choo et al. 2008). The decreasing downstream signaling induces stress, reduces protein synthesis, and induces autophagy, while the increasing upstream signaling for cell survival results in the cytostatic, not cytotoxic, effects of rapamycin (Bissler et al. 2013). The poor efficacy of rapamycin comes from the phosphorylation of T37 and T47 of 4E-BP1 that are rapamycin resistant, the weak phosphorylation of T389 of S6K1 that is rapamycin sensitive, and the alteration of the substrate phosphorylation site that is sensitive to rapamycin and other mTORC1 signals (growth factors, nutrients) (Thoreen and Sabatini 2009). Such findings have led to closer examination of ATP-competitive mTOR inhibitors to block mTORC1 and mTORC2 to prevent PI3K/Akt activation in hopes of more potent and sustained effects of mTOR inhibitors (Benjamin et al. 2011).

2.3 Rapamycin Analogs

Temsirolimus and everolimus are rapamycin analogs (rapalogs) approved by the FDA. These sirolimus derivatives have similar mechanisms of action to rapamycin. However, everolimus preferentially inhibits mTORC1 without mTORC2 inhibition, while temsirolimus is a prodrug of sirolimus (Product Information 2012). Everolimus inhibits HIF-1 and reduces vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expressions that lead to reduced cell proliferation, angiogenesis, and glucose uptake (Product Information 2012). It prevents S6K1 from phosphorylating the activation domain 1 of the estrogen receptor, which has gotten everolimus FDA approval for treatment of postmenopausal advanced hormone receptor-positive, HER2-negative breast cancer in women (Product Information 2012). Similar to everolimus, temsirolimus reduces HIF-1, HIF-2 α , and VEGF (Product Information 2011).

2.4 Pharmacokinetics

Sirolimus reaches peak concentration (T_{max}) in 1 h in healthy subjects and 2 h in renal transplant patients (Product Information 2018). It has poor solubility and a low bioavailability of 14% with the oral solution (Product Information 2018). Sirolimus concentration is not immensely affected by food, except for grapefruit. Therefore, it is recommended to take sirolimus consistently at the same time daily. Since it is a substrate of CYP3A4 and P-gp, inhibitors and inducers of CYP3A4 and P-gp need to be taken with caution in combination with sirolimus. Co-administration of inhibitors or inducers of CYP3A4 and P-gp can change the concentration of sirolimus.

3 Clinical Trials

The mTOR inhibitors have clinical trials that established their appropriate indications. Some of the trials focus on expansion of their uses, while others compare their outcomes to those of other immunosuppressants. Specifically, several measure CNIs against mTOR inhibitors because they influence similar pathways.

3.1 SMART Trial

One of the more well-known trials is the SMART trial, a randomized trial that summarized the outcomes of early conversion from cyclosporin A (CsA) to SRL post-renal transplantation (Guba et al. 2010). The study identified 198 potential participants, but only 141 patients met the criteria. Most were excluded due to surgical/wound complications (n = 22) or unresolved rejection (n = 16). All 141 subjects received antithymocyte globulin-F (ATG) single-bolus induction, mycophenolate mofetil (MMF), and steroids. Participants either staved on CsA or converted to SRL within 10-24 days post-renal transplantation and were followed for a year. Of the 70 allocated to the treatment group, 69 were treated with SRL, MMF, and steroids. The SRL group had 44 complete the treatment, 25 discontinued the treatment, and 3 lost to follow-up. The control group had 71 allocated and received treatment of CsA, MMF, and steroids. The CsA group had 57 complete the treatment, 14 discontinued the treatment, and 2 lost to follow-up. The study found that S-creatinine and eGFR were better in the SRL group than the CsA group $(1.51 \pm 0.59 \text{ vs.} 1.87 \pm 0.98 \text{ mg/dL}$ and $64.5 \pm 25.2 \text{ vs.} 53.4 \pm 18.0 \text{ mL/min/}$ 1.73 m²). No statistical significance was found for patient survival, graft survival, and incidence of biopsy-proven acute rejection after conversion. Treatment discontinuation was significantly higher in SRL group and mainly related to adverse events (36.2% vs. 19.7%). The SRL group also had significantly more side effects of acne, aphthous, and temporary hyperlipidemia, but decreased cytomegalovirus viremia (7.3% vs. 28.2%). Thus, the SMART trial suggests that early conversion from CsA to SRL may improve renal function for patients at low-to-moderate immunological risk and acceptable adverse event rates. Further trials have been conducted to examine starting immunosuppression with mTOR inhibitors and without a CNI, or using mTOR inhibitors with or to replace other immunosuppressants of different targets.

3.2 EXIST Trials

The EXIST trials examine the outcomes of everolimus used for the treatment of TSC or TSC-associated effects. The EXIST-1 trial is a double-blind, randomized, controlled study analyzing the efficacy and safety of everolimus for the use of subependymal giant cell astrocytomas (SEGA) associated with TSC (Franz et al. 2013). It measured everolimus impact on SEGA-associated TSC, adverse events, and other associated findings. The 117 participants continued their TSC treatments and were randomly allocated to the treatment group that received everolimus (n = 78) or placebo group that received no additional treatment (n = 39) for SEGA-associated TSC. The everolimus group lost 1 to follow-up, 1 to discontinued treatment, and 1 to withdrawal of consent, while the placebo group lost 6 to disease progression, 8 to discontinued treatment, 1 to withdrawal of consent, and 1 to administrative problems. Of the 78 on everolimus, 27 (35%) had at least 50% reduction in SEGA volume versus no reduction in volume in the placebo group

(difference 35%, 95% CI 15–52; one-sided exact Cochran–Mantel–Haenszel test, p < 0.0001). MRI detected the reduction by 12 weeks, and such responses were seen for 63–255 days. Reductions in comorbid skin lesions and kidney tumors were observed in those on everolimus as well. Though some of those on everolimus experienced adverse events, such as mouth ulceration and stomatitis, none required discontinuation of treatment. EXIST-1 trial established the efficacy and safety of everolimus for treatment of SEGA associated with TSC, which prompted additional trials to examine using everolimus for managing other TSC-associated effects.

EXIST-2 trial analyzes the efficacy and safety of using everolimus to treat AML associated with TSC or sporadic lymphangioleiomyomatosis (sLAM) (Bissler et al. 2015). Of the 118 patients, 79 received everolimus and 39 received a placebo. Two patients on everolimus had to discontinue treatment due to adverse events, while 13 patients on placebo had to discontinue treatment due to disease progression (n = 9) or adverse events (n = 4). The most common adverse events for both groups were stomatitis, nasopharyngitis, and acne-like skin lesions. The AML response rate (reduction in total volume) was 42% (33 of 79 [95% CI 31–53%]) for everolimus and 0% (0 of 39 [0–9%]) for placebo (response rate difference 42% [24–58%]; one-sided Cochran-Mantel-Haenszel test p < 0.0001). Those on everolimus not only experienced AML shrinkage, but they did not experience hemorrhage that is common within such a patient population.

EXIST-3 trial studies the effects of everolimus of treatment-resistant focal-onset seizures associated with TSC (French et al. 2016). Patients were on 1–3 antiepileptic drugs and were stratified by age and randomized into three groups: low exposure of everolimus (3–7 ng/mL; n = 117), high exposure of everolimus (9–15 ng/mL; n = 130), and placebo (n = 119). The trial defined response rate as proportion of patients with >50% reduced seizure frequency. The placebo group had a response rate of 15.1% (95% CI 9.2–22.8; 18 patients); low exposure group had a response rate of 28.2% (95% CI 20.3–37.3; 33 patients; p = 0.0077); and high exposure group had a response rate of 40.0% (95% CI 31.5–49.0; 52 patients; p < 0001). The median percentage reduction in seizure frequency was 14.9% for placebo, 29.3% for low exposure (p = 00.28), and 39.6% for high exposure (p < 0.0001). There were more adverse events with higher doses of everolimus. Some were serious enough that patients had to discontinue treatment: 2% (n = 2) in the placebo group, 5% (n = 6) in the low exposure group, and 3% (n = 4) in the high exposure group. Additional reasons for discontinuing treatment included consent withdrawal (n = 1for placebo; n = 2 for low exposure; n = 1 for high exposure), lack of efficacy (n = 2for placebo; n = 2 for high exposure), and protocol deviation (n = 1 for high exposure).

The EXIST trials established efficacy and safety for everolimus for TSC-associated effects and examined the impact of varying dosages. They lead to the potential exploration of using mTOR inhibitors to manage symptoms or effects of other grievous illnesses.

3.3 BOLERO Trials

The BOLERO trials test the efficacy and safety of everolimus for the use of treating advanced breast cancer. The series of trials analyzes the effects of everolimus when combined with current treatment agents of breast cancer.

BOLERO-1 trial specifically examines the effects of adding everolimus to the treatment of postmenopausal women with HER2+ advanced breast cancer (Toi et al. 2017). It demonstrated the benefits of everolimus for this indication and further explored them for the Asian subpopulation. All patients received trastuzumab and paclitaxel. They were stratified by Asian and non-Asian and randomized 2:1 to have the addition of everolimus or placebo to this regimen. BOLERO-1 trial measured the progression-free survival (PFS), response rate, clinical benefit rate, and safety. Within the Asian, the everolimus (n = 198) and placebo (n = 105) arms were found to have similar median PFS (hazard ratio = 0.82; 95% CI 0.61–1.11), but everolimus (median PFS 25.46 months) prolonged the median PFS by 10.97 months when compared to placebo (median PFS 14.49 months) for patients with hormone receptor-negative (HR-) breast cancer (hazard ratio = 0.48; 95% CI 0.29–0.79). Thus, the PFS benefit for the Asian subset was seen for the HR-subgroup but not seen for the HER2+ subgroup. Everolimus had adverse events with the most serious ones being pneumonia, pneumonitis, and interstitial lung disease. Decreased neutrophil count and leukopenia had higher incidences in the Asian subgroup regardless of the arm they were randomized into when compared to the non-Asian subgroup. During the duration of the study, three deaths were within the Asian everolimus arm due to disease progression, pneumonia, or sepsis, while the non-Asian everolimus arm had 19 deaths. Compared to the placebo arm, no deaths were within the Asian subpopulation and two deaths were within the non-Asian population. The study found some differences between the Asian and non-Asian subsets, such as greater PFS benefit in the Asian subset using everolimus for those who were previously treated with taxane, had HR-disease, had disease relapse <24 months after diagnosis, or had no bone involvement. However, the Asian subset had a longer duration of all agents (trastuzumab, paclitaxel, and everolimus) and had everolimus at a lower dose than the non-Asian subset. Such outcomes resulted in further investigation of pairing everolimus to other breast cancer treatments.

BOLERO-2 trial examines the addition of everolimus to exemestane for the treatment of postmenopausal HR+ advanced breast cancer (Beaver and Park 2012). Similar to BOLERO-1 trial, BOLERO-2 trial is measuring the PFS and interaction to a current treatment of breast cancer. All patients received exemestane and were randomized 2:1 into the everolimus (n = 485) or placebo (n = 239) group. The median PFS was 6.9 months for the everolimus group versus 2.8 months for the placebo group (hazard ratio: 0.43; p < 0.001). The response rate for the everolimus and exemestane treatment was approximately 10%, which was similar to the results of single-agent temsirolimus and some single-agent multitargeted tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Though everolimus arm had more grade 3 and 4 adverse events than the placebo arm, the quality of life and Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) status did not have a significant difference between the two groups. Common

adverse events in the everolimus group included stomatitis, anemia, fatigue, and pneumonitis.

BOLERO-3 trial investigates the results of everolimus when used with trastuzumab and vinorelbine for HER2+, trastuzumab-resistant advanced breast cancer patients who previously received taxane treatment (André et al. 2014). The trial studied similar parameters to prior BOLERO trials with the additional assessment of whether everolimus can restore sensitivity to trastuzumab. All patients (n = 569) received trastuzumab and vinorelbine. They were randomized to add everolimus (n = 284) or a placebo (n = 285) and stratified for prior lapatinib therapy. The median PFS was 7.00 months and 5.78 months for everolimus (95% CI 6.74–8.18) and placebo (hazard ratio 0.78; 95% CI 0.65–0.95; p = 0.0067), respectively. Though the findings suggest that everolimus addition significantly prolongs PFS in HER2+, trastuzumab-resistant, taxane-pretreated advanced breast cancer patients, 42% (n = 117) had serious adverse events in the everolimus group compared to 20% (n = 55) in the placebo group. The most common adverse events were neutropenia, leukopenia, anemia, febrile neutropenia, stomatitis, and fatigue. Therefore, the benefits of using everolimus should be weighed against the potential risks.

3.4 RECORD Trials

An indication for mTOR inhibitors, such as temsirolimus and everolimus, is metastatic or advanced RCC. The RECORD trials focus on the use of everolimus for this indication and analyze its efficacy and safety.

The RECORD-1 trial tests the effects of everolimus in patients with metastatic RCC who still progressed with vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) therapy (Motzer et al. 2008). All the patients had metastatic RCC that progressed on sunitinib, sorafenib, or both and were randomized 2:1 to add everolimus (n = 272) or placebo (n = 138). The study measured PFS and planned to terminate after 290 progression events. Because of the significant difference in efficacy, the trial ended after 191 progression events; the 37% (n = 101) and 65% (n = 90) progressive events occurred in the everolimus and placebo groups (hazard ratio 0.30; 95% CI 0.22–0.40; p < 0.0001), respectively. The median PFS was 4.0 months (95% CI 3.7–5.5) for the everolimus arm and 1.9 months (95% CI 1.8–1.9) for the placebo arm. Adverse events were observed more frequently in the everolimus group, with the most common ones being stomatitis, rash, and fatigue. RECORD-1 trial demonstrated that everolimus can prolong PFS when compared to placebo and led to further studies on outcomes of everolimus in addition to other RCC treatment methods.

RECORD-2 trial compared everolimus and bevacizumab treatment against interferon α -2a and bevacizumab treatment for first-line therapy of metastatic RCC (Ravaud et al. 2015). Untreated patients were randomized 1:1 to receive everolimus and bevacizumab (n = 182) or interferon and bevacizumab (n = 183). The study found that the treatment results were comparable. The median PFS was 9.3 months for everolimus group versus 10 months for interferon group (p = 0.485). The median duration of exposures was also similar with 8.5 months for everolimus arm and 8.3 months for interferon arm. RECORD-2 trial showed similar adverse events, but with the addition of proteinuria (33% in everolimus and bevacizumab), 18.8% in interferon and bevacizumab). Such outcomes suggest that everolimus can potentially be an alternative to interferon in first-line therapy of metastatic RCC.

Everolimus was further tested against other first-line therapies in RECORD-3 trial, which compared using everolimus followed by sunitinib (n = 238) to using sunitinib followed by everolimus (n = 233) for metastatic RCC (Knox et al. 2017). The overall survival analysis showed that sunitinib followed by everolimus had better outcomes. The median duration of exposure was 5.6 months for everolimus and 8.3 months for sunitinib. The median overall survival was 22.4 and 29.5 months for everolimus followed by sunitinib and sunitinib followed by everolimus (hazard ratio: 1.1; 95% CI 0.9–1.4), respectively. For both arms, the most common reasons for inability to start second-line treatment were ineligibility associated with poor performance status or condition decline, death, and consent withdrawal. The study also found that elevated neutrophil lymphocyte rate and 12 soluble biomarkers were associated with poor overall survival regardless of the treatment sequence. Thus, future research may include stratifying these factors.

A RECORD-4 trial was done to test the efficacy and safety of second-line everolimus in Asian and non-Asian populations for metastatic RCC (Yang et al. 2018). Patients were previously on anti-VEGF or cytokine therapies. The PFS was similar between the Asian (74.5%; 95% CI 61.0–85.3) and non-Asian (74.7%; 95% CI 63.6–83.8) groups.

4 Clinical Uses

Mechanistic target of rapamycin inhibitors have a variety of uses given the pathways that they impact. Not only are they commonly used in transplantation and cancer regimens, but current research is also analyzing their potential for metabolic and neurological uses.

4.1 Kidney Transplantation

Kidney transplantation was the first indication for mTOR inhibitors, mainly for maintenance therapy to avoid rejection. They are generally combined with or replacing other classes of immunosuppressants, such as steroids, CsA, azathioprine (AZA), tacrolimus, and MMF. For instance, mTOR inhibitors are an alternative option for patients who have CNI toxicity or are noncompliant with therapy. The benefits of using mTOR inhibitors for kidney transplantation therapy include lower rates of cytomegalovirus (CMV) infection than other immunosuppressive agents and lower rates of non-melanoma skin cancer than CsA (Ghassemieh et al. 2013; Andrassy et al. 2012; Nashan et al. 2012; Euvrard et al. 2012). They can treat post-renal transplantation Kaposi sarcoma, refractory kidney transplant rejection,

and chronic renal allograft nephropathy (Stallone et al. 2005; Hong and Kahan 2001; Flechner et al. 2004). They help ease patients through steroid withdrawal to decrease glucocorticoid-induced morbidity (Matas et al. 2005). However, there are potential risks that accompany the use of mTOR inhibitors. A systematic review and metaanalysis study found that SRL was associated with greater mortality than non-SRL immunosuppressive regimens for kidney and pancreas-kidney transplantations (Knoll et al. 2014). Though they are associated with lower rates of non-melanoma skin cancer, they have not yet demonstrated the same results for melanoma (Knoll et al. 2014; Yanik et al. 2015; Lim et al. 2014). Sirolimus is associated with delayed allograft function, poor wound healing, adverse short-term effects, and increased lymphoceles (Product Information 2018). Thus, transplantation therapy needs to be tailored to each patient to balance the advantages and risks of the different immunosuppressants.

4.2 Heart Transplantation

Similar to kidney transplantation, heart transplantation uses mTOR inhibitors for maintenance immunosuppression. They are not generally used during the early posttransplantation period since using mTOR inhibitors within the first week posttransplantation has been associated with significant renal dysfunction (Kobashigawa et al. 2013; Eisen et al. 2003, 2013; Keogh et al. 2004). However, heart transplantation patients who convert early from a CNI to SRL seem to have increase survival, attenuated CAV progression, lower all-cause mortality, and fewer CAV-related events (Asleh et al. 2017). Furthermore, patients who develop renal dysfunction with CNIs improve after switching to an mTOR inhibitor (Gustafsson et al. 2007; Raichlin et al. 2007; Bestetti et al. 2006; Fernandez-Valls et al. 2005; Kushwaha et al. 2005; Hunt et al. 2005; Groetzner et al. 2004). Specifically, SRL had a lower proportion of biopsy-proven moderate to severe acute cellular rejection at 6 months when compared to AZA at both 3 mg/day (p = 0.027) and 5 mg/day (p = 0.013) (Keogh et al. 2004). Everolimus had similar performance to MMF for biopsy-proven acute cellular rejection, acute rejection with hemodynamic compromise, and graft loss (Eisen et al. 2013). Everolimus had superior results for reduced progression of intimal wall thickening of the coronary artery (Eisen et al. 2013). However, everolimus had more adverse events, such as pericardial effusions, than MMF (Eisen et al. 2013). Therefore, assessment of the relative risks of the patient is required to determine if everolimus is preferable.

An alternative approach to using everolimus is the early replacement CNI with everolimus as was accomplished in the SCHEDULE clinical trial (Arora et al. 2018). The authors in this Scandinavian randomized study showed that CNI could be replaced with everolimus from 7 to 11 weeks post-transplant with attenuation of cardiac allograft vasculopathy assessed by IVUS and with preservation and improvement in renal function in the everolimus group. The only down side appeared to be several patients in the everolimus group had several ISHLT Grade 2R rejections requiring addition of CNIs. However, this was a small minority of the everolimus patients.
A more recent clinical trial, the MANDELA trial, was a randomized, open label, parallel-group study in which renal function, efficacy defined as prevention of biopsy-proven rejection (BPAR), and safety were determined in 200 heart transplant patients (Barten et al. 2019). In the first 3–6 months post-transplant, patients received calcineurin inhibitors (CNI, either tacrolimus or cyclosporine), corticosteroids and either the mTOR inhibitor everolimus or mycophenolate mofetil (MMF). At 6 months, the patients were randomized to either a CNI-free regimen with everolimus and MMF or a low-dose CNI regimen with everolimus. Patients were then followed for an additional 18 months. At 18 months, renal function defined by GFR was improved in the CNI-free group vs. the reduced dose CNI/everolimus group. However, BPAR was significantly less frequent in the reduced dose CNI/everolimus group than in the CNI-free group. Renal function was acceptable and improved as the CNI dose was reduced in the reduced dose/CNI group.

The Mayo Clinic has developed a novel approach to the use of mTOR inhibitors by switching patients from CNI-based immunosuppression to CNI-free, mTOR inhibitor (sirolimus) at one 1–2 years post-transplant. They demonstrated that those switched at 1 year had a reduction in Cardiac Allograft Vasculopathy (CAV) progression defined by intravascular ultrasound and also demonstrated improved survival and reduced incidence of CAV-related events. In that pivotal study, 268 of 402 patients were converted from CNI to sirolimus and 235 had sequential IVUS to assess CAV progression. They were compared to 134 patients treated with CNI of whom 99 had sequential IVUS studies (Asleh et al. 2018; Eisen et al. 2018). One concerning signal from this group's research was that heart transplant patients who developed significant proteinuria after initiation of mTOR inhibitors had increased all-cause mortality and those with proteinuria had a higher incidence of hypertension, and had increased serum creatinines and decreased renal function as defined by eGFRs (Asleh et al. 2020).

4.3 Tuberous Sclerosis Complex

Since mTOR inhibitors have antiproliferative properties, they inhibit cell proliferation. Such a feature is helpful in regulating growth in TSC and is explored in the EXIST trials. TSC results from a loss of function mutation in the TSC genes, which results in release of mTORC1 inhibition (Menon and Manning 2008). Epilepsy, seizures, neurocognitive dysfunction, and autism associated with TSC improved with the administration of mTOR inhibitors (French et al. 2016; Bové et al. 2011). Through mTORC1 inhibition, they seem to have some neuroprotective properties, possibly from blocking the accumulation of misfolded and aggregated proteins driven by protein synthesis and defective autophagic degradation of mTORC1 activity (Bové et al. 2011). Neuroprotection was seen in mice in vivo models for neurodegenerative diseases, such as Alzheimer disease, Huntington disease, Parkinson disease, and spinocerebellar ataxia type 3 (Bové et al. 2011). Rapamycin improves spatial learning and memory impairments, but it worsens exploratory activity in mice (Neff et al. 2013). Rapamycin has also been shown to improve survival and attenuate Leigh syndrome in mice (Johnson et al. 2013b). Both SRL and everolimus have been shown to decrease AML volume associated with TSC, but the effects were temporary (Bissler et al. 2008, 2013). When SRL was discontinued, the tumors grew back to their original size, highlighting the cytostatic effects of mTOR inhibitors (Bissler et al. 2008). Research on long-term use of mTOR inhibitors for TSC-associated diseases can help evaluate if constant suppression of growth outweighs the risks associated with mTOR inhibitor therapy.

4.4 Lymphangioleiomyomatosis

LAM is a rare lung disease that arises from abnormal proliferation of smooth musclelike cells. Though LAM is considered a benign metastasis, it can cause cysts, an antiinflammatory response, and respiratory failure (Yu and Henske 2010). LAM tends to occur in women of reproductive age sporadically or associated with TSC. A randomized controlled trial placed patients on SRL (n = 46) or placebo (n = 43) and found forced expiratory volume in 1 s (FEV₁) improved with SRL (1 ± 2 mL/ month; p < 0.001) versus placebo (-12 ± 2 mL/month) (McCormack 2011). The SRL group also had improved forced vital capacity, functional residual capacity, serum vascular endothelial growth factor D, and quality of life and functional performance when compared to the placebo group. However, lung function started to deteriorate again after SRL was discontinued. Not only are long-term consequences of mTOR inhibitors use for the treatment of LAM is being examined, but therapies of ATP-competitive mTOR inhibitors or in combination with estrogen antagonists are also being pursued.

4.5 Cancer

Since mTOR inhibitors target pathways involved in cell growth and proliferation, the class is a potential option for cancer regimens. Even though they are used for some cancer indications, most studies find that they are not as effective as anticipated and are generally used in combination with other therapies. One theory on the limitation of mTOR inhibitors in cancer treatments hypothesizes that genetic variation can cause de novo resistance (Carew et al. 2011). Additionally, mTOR inhibitors display cytostatic, not cytotoxic, properties since other regulators can drive cell survival even when mTOR inhibitors are used (Bissler et al. 2013). Their modest efficacy stems from their inability to completely block mTORC1mediated signaling, which has multiple feedback loops and compensatory pathways that promote survival and growth (Thoreen and Sabatini 2009). They halt the growth of tumors, but do not permanently stop tumor growth. Thus, they specifically have been found to not be effective alone in major solid tumors. Research is currently being conducted on the effects of using mTOR inhibitors long term to prolong the cytostatic state. An alternative approach to overcome their lack of cytotoxic nature is to pair them with cytotoxic agents, such as various chemotherapies or hormonal therapies. The addition of mTOR inhibitors can lower the dosage of cytotoxic agents needed, which may reduce side effects. The BOLERO and RECORD trials are studies that have shown that this method is effective. Thus, mTOR inhibitors have been used with aromatase inhibitors, taxanes, and growth factor inhibitors. Studies are investigating the efficacy of combining mTOR inhibitors with other potential therapies as well. Dual inhibitors, those that inhibit mTORC1 and mTORC2, have demonstrated better results than selective inhibitors for cancer (Pallet and Legendre 2012). Though, dual inhibitors can dampen AKT's pro-survival function, they are also more toxic (Shor et al. 2009). The advantages of dual inhibitors may not outweigh the risks. Beyond the indications that the FDA has approved, EU has approved temsirolimus for neuroendocrine tumors, advanced and recurring endometrial cancer, and refractory mantle cell lymphoma. Trials for everolimus to be used for advanced gastric cancer, advanced hepatocellular carcinoma, and non-small cell lung cancer are underway. Ridaforolimus is a rapamycin analog that has shown promising results for advanced bone and soft-tissue sarcomas (Wander et al. 2011).

4.6 Metabolic Diseases

Though mTOR inhibitors are not used for metabolic diseases, there are studies that analyze their outcomes. Dysregulation of mTOR signaling has been found in metabolic diseases, such as diabetes and obesity (Laplante and Sabatini 2012). The findings for the use of mTOR inhibitors on metabolic syndromes have been contradictory. Acute administration of rapamycin improves insulin sensitivity by disrupting the S6K-mediated feedback loop (Krebs et al. 2007; Tremblay and Marette 2001). Mechanistic target of rapamycin inhibitors inhibit human adipocyte differentiation that protects against high fat diet-induced obesity in specific strains (Bell et al. 2000). Yet, patients on mTOR inhibitors experience worsened diabetes mellitus type 2, hyperglycemia, glucose intolerance in diet-induced obesity, hyperlipidemia, and insulin resistance (Product Information 2011, 2012, 2018). Duration of exposure and transient versus permanent effects may contribute to the different results.

4.7 Adverse Reactions

There are many side effects with using mTOR inhibitors since mTOR regulates many pathways. Some of the effects are temporary, permanent, or dose-related. Patients may develop thrombocytopenia, but studies have shown that it normalizes in approximately 2 weeks (Murgia et al. 1996). Leukopenia can develop and is not dose-dependent, but it is reversible with the discontinuation of mTOR inhibitors (Murgia et al. 1996). Hemolytic uremic syndrome and thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura are associated with the use of SRL with CsA more than other immunosuppressive regimens (Kaplan et al. 1998). Proteinuria and focal segmental glomerulosclerosis have been observed in patients on SRL with CsA (Letavernier

et al. 2005, 2007; Dittrich et al. 2004; Sennesael et al. 2005). Proteinuria is not detected after the SRL withdrawal (Letavernier et al. 2005). Because of its immunosuppressive qualities, patients should be monitored for fatigue, pallor, fever, infecbruising, and bleeding (Product Information 2011, 2012, 2018). tion. Hyperlipidemia and hypercholesterolemia are dose-dependent. Sirolimus and everolimus have been found to inhibit lipoprotein lipase (Kasiske et al. 2008; Kraemer et al. 1998). Long-term use of SRL is associated with new onset of diabetes (Sulanc et al. 2005; Johnston et al. 2008). Other gastrointestinal issues include nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, constipation, dyspepsia, non-herpes simplex virus mouth sores, and oral ulcers (Product Information 2011, 2012, 2018). These GI symptoms are alleviated with the discontinuation of mTOR inhibitors (Product Information 2011, 2012, 2018). Patients with hepatic impairment should use 1/3 of the recommended dosage of SRL and $\frac{1}{2}$ of the recommended dosage of everolimus (Product Information 2012, 2018), Peripheral edema does not always resolve with discontinuation of mTOR inhibitors (Product Information 2011, 2012, 2018). Other cutaneous adverse reactions include acne, scalp folliculitis, angioedema, impaired wound healing, and epistaxis (Product Information 2011, 2012, 2018). Patients recover from certain pulmonary complications, such as lymphocytic alveolitis and bronchiolitis obliterans organizing pneumonia, within 6 months of SRL discontinuation (Product Information 2018; Champion et al. 2006; Weiner et al. 2007). Liver transplantation patients are not recommended to use mTOR inhibitors because of increased risk of hepatic artery thrombosis and graft loss (Product Information 2018). When combined with a CNI, there is an increased risk of death with liver transplantation patients (Product Information 2018). Pericardial effusion is associated with sirolimus in cardiac and kidney transplantation (Product Information 2011, 2018; Steele et al. 2008).

5 Drug Interactions

Since mTOR inhibitors are metabolized by cytochrome P450, dosage adjustments are necessary for cytochrome P450 inducers and inhibitors (Product Information 2011, 2012, 2018). Inducers include antiepileptic drugs, rifampin, isoniazid, St. John's wort. Inhibitors include azole antifungals (ketoconazole), non-dihydropyridine calcium channel blockers (diltiazem), macrolide antibiotics, and grapefruit.

To achieve optimal immunosuppression, mTOR inhibitors are used with other immunosuppressants. When CsA and prednisone are used with SRL, the dosage of SRL needs to be closely monitored (Product Information 2018). Sirolimus at a concentration >15 ng/mL is associated with hypertriglyceridemia, thrombocytopenia, and leukopenia, while a concentration <5 ng/mL is associated with a higher likelihood of acute rejection in kidney transplantation. Also, side effects of CsA and SRL have an additive effect when they are used together. For instance, CsA with SRL therapy increases the mean serum creatinine concentration and decreases glomerular filtration rate. Renal function and proteinuria monitoring are needed.

Though mild proteinuria from using the combination of CsA and SRL can be treated with angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEI), the addition of ACEI with SRL increases the risk of angioedema. Thus, the combination is only recommended for rescue therapy or to reduce CsA toxicity with everolimus. Tacrolimus with SRL is also associated with decreased renal function. The combination of MMF and SRL is associated with anemia and cast nephropathy.

References

- Andrassy J et al (2012) Is cytomegalovirus prophylaxis dispensable in patients receiving an MTOR inhibitor–based immunosuppression? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Transp J 94 (12):1208–1217. https://doi.org/10.1097/tp.0b013e3182708e56
- André F et al (2014) Everolimus for women with trastuzumab-resistant, HER2-positive, advanced breast cancer (BOLERO-3): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 15(6):580–591. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1470-2045(14)70138-x
- Arora S, Andreassen AK, Karason K et al (2018) Effect of everolimus initiation and calcineurin inhibitor elimination on cardiac allograft vasculopathy in de novo heart transplant recipients. Circ Heart Fail 11(9):e004050
- Asleh R et al (2017) Sirolimus-based immunosuppression mitigates progression of cardiac allograft vasculopathy and improves cardiac outcomes after heart transplantation: a single center 15-year follow-up study. J Am Coll Cardiol 69(11):697. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0735-1097(17)34086-x
- Asleh R, Briasoulis A, Kremers WK et al (2018) Long-term sirolimus for primary immunosuppression in heart transplant recipients. J Am Coll Cardiol 71:636–650
- Asleh R, Alnsasra H, Lerman A et al (2020) Effects of mTOR inhibitor-related proteinuria on progression of cardiac allograft vasculopathy and outcomes among heart transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.16155
- Barten MJ, Hirt SW, Garbade J et al (2019) Comparing everolimus-based immunosuppression with reduction or withdrawal of calcineurin inhibitor reduction from six months after heart transplantation: the randomized MANDELA study. Am J Transplant 19(11):3006–3017. https://doi. org/10.1111/ajt.15361
- Beaver JA, Park BH (2012) The BOLERO-2 trial: the addition of everolimus to exemestane in the treatment of postmenopausal hormone receptor-positive advanced breast cancer. Future Oncol 8 (6):651–657. https://doi.org/10.2217/fon.12.49
- Bell A et al (2000) Rapamycin inhibits human adipocyte differentiation in primary culture. Obes Res 8(3):249–254. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2000.29
- Benjamin D et al (2011) Rapamycin passes the torch: a new generation of MTOR inhibitors. Nat Rev Drug Discov 10(11):868–880. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd3531
- Bestetti R et al (2006) Switch from calcineurin inhibitors to sirolimus-induced renal recovery in heart transplant recipients in the midterm follow-up. Transplantation 81(5):692–696. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.tp.0000177644.45192.a3
- Bissler JJ et al (2008) Sirolimus for angiomyolipoma in tuberous sclerosis complex or lymphangioleiomyomatosis. N Engl J Med 358(2):140–151. https://doi.org/10.1056/ nejmoa063564
- Bissler JJ et al (2013) Everolimus for angiomyolipoma associated with tuberous sclerosis complex or sporadic lymphangioleiomyomatosis (EXIST-2): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 381(9869):817–824. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12) 61767-x
- Bissler JJ et al (2015) Everolimus for renal angiomyolipoma in patients with tuberous sclerosis complex or sporadic lymphangioleiomyomatosis: extension of a randomized controlled trial. Nephrol Dial Transplant 31(1):111–119. https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfv249

- Bové J et al (2011) Fighting neurodegeneration with rapamycin: mechanistic insights. Nat Rev Neurosci 12(8):437–452. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3068
- Carew JS et al (2011) Mechanisms of MTOR inhibitor resistance in cancer therapy. Target Oncol 6 (1):17–27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11523-011-0167-8
- Champion L et al (2006) Brief communication: sirolimus-associated pneumonitis: 24 cases in renal transplant recipients. Ann Intern Med 144(7):505. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-144-7-200604040-00009
- Choo AY et al (2008) Rapamycin differentially inhibits S6Ks and 4E-BP1 to mediate cell-typespecific repression of MRNA translation. Proc Natl Acad Sci 105(45):17414–17419. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.0809136105
- Dittrich E et al (2004) Rapamycin-associated post-transplantation glomerulonephritis and its remission after reintroduction of calcineurin-inhibitor therapy. Transpl Int 17(4):215–220. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00147-004-0700-0
- Eisen HJ et al (2003) Everolimus for the prevention of allograft rejection and vasculopathy in cardiac-transplant recipients. N Engl J Med 349(9):847–858. https://doi.org/10.1056/ nejmoa022171
- Eisen HJ et al (2013) Everolimus versus mycophenolate mofetil in heart transplantation: a randomized, multicenter trial. Am J Transplant 13(5):1203–1216. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt. 12181
- Eisen HJ, Hasni SF, Wang D (2018) The return of the mTOR inhibitors: getting it right in patients after cardiac transplantation. J Am Coll Cardiol 71:651–653
- Euvrard S et al (2012) Sirolimus and secondary skin-cancer prevention in kidney transplantation. N Engl J Med 367(4):329–339. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa1204166
- Fernandez-Valls M et al (2005) Sirolimus as an alternative to anticalcineurin therapy in heart transplantation: experience of a single center. Transplant Proc 37(9):4021–4023. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.transproceed.2005.09.152
- Flechner SM et al (2004) De novo kidney transplantation without use of calcineurin inhibitors preserves renal structure and function at two years. Am J Transplant 4(11):1776–1785. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2004.00627.x
- Franz DN et al (2013) Efficacy and safety of everolimus for subependymal giant cell astrocytomas associated with tuberous sclerosis complex (EXIST-1): a multicentre, randomised, placebocontrolled phase 3 trial. Lancet 381(9861):125–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12) 61134-9
- French JA et al (2016) Adjunctive everolimus therapy for treatment-resistant focal-onset seizures associated with tuberous sclerosis (EXIST-3): a phase 3, randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled study. Lancet 388(10056):2153–2163. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(16) 31419-2
- Ghassemieh B et al (2013) Decreased incidence of cytomegalovirus infection with sirolimus in a post hoc randomized, multicenter study in lung transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 32 (7):701–706. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2013.04.010
- Groetzner J et al (2004) Renal recovery after conversion to a calcineurin inhibitor-free immunosuppression in late cardiac transplant recipients. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 25(3):333–341. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcts.2003.11.030
- Guba M et al (2010) Renal function, efficacy, and safety of sirolimus and mycophenolate mofetil after short-term calcineurin inhibitor-based quadruple therapy in de novo renal transplant patients: one-year analysis of a randomized multicenter trial. Transp J 90(2):175–183. https://doi.org/10.1097/tp.0b013e3181e11798
- Gustafsson F et al (2007) Sirolimus-based immunosuppression after cardiac transplantation: predictors of recovery from calcineurin inhibitor-induced renal dysfunction. J Heart Lung Transplant 26(10):998–1003. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2007.07.034
- Hara K et al (2002) Raptor, a binding partner of target of rapamycin (TOR), mediates TOR action. Cell 110(2):177–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(02)00833-4

- Hardinger KL et al (2004) Current and future immunosuppressive strategies in renal transplantation. Pharmacotherapy 24(9):1159–1176. https://doi.org/10.1592/phco.24.13.1159.38094
- Hong JC, Kahan BD (2001) Sirolimus rescue therapy for refractory rejection in renal transplantation1,2. Transplantation 71(11):1579–1584. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007890-200106150-00016
- Huang J, Manning BD (2009) A complex interplay between Akt, TSC2 and the two MTOR complexes. Biochem Soc Trans 37(1):217–222. https://doi.org/10.1042/bst0370217
- Hunt J et al (2005) Improvement of renal dysfunction by conversion from calcineurin inhibitors to sirolimus after heart transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 24(11):1863–1867. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2005.02.018
- Jewell JL, Guan K-L (2013) Nutrient signaling to MTOR and cell growth. Trends Biochem Sci 38 (5):233–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2013.01.004
- Johnson SC et al (2013a) MTOR is a key modulator of ageing and age-related disease. Nature 493 (7432):338–345. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11861
- Johnson SC et al (2013b) MTOR inhibition alleviates mitochondrial disease in a mouse model of leigh syndrome. Science 342(6165):1524–1528. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1244360
- Johnston O et al (2008) Sirolimus is associated with new-onset diabetes in kidney transplant recipients. J Am Soc Nephrol 19(7):1411–1418. https://doi.org/10.1681/asn.2007111202
- Kaplan B et al (1998) The effects of relative timing of Sirolimus and cyclosporine microemulsion formulation coadministration on the pharmacokinetics of each agent. Clin Pharmacol Ther 63 (1):48–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0009-9236(98)90120-5
- Kasiske BL et al (2008) Mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitor dyslipidemia in kidney transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 8(7):1384–1392. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2008. 02272.x
- Keogh A et al (2004) Sirolimus in de novo heart transplant recipients reduces acute rejection and prevents coronary artery disease at 2 years. Circulation 110(17):2694–2700. https://doi.org/10. 1161/01.cir.0000136812.90177.94
- Kim D-H et al (2002) MTOR interacts with raptor to form a nutrient-sensitive complex that signals to the cell growth machinery. Cell 110(2):163–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(02) 00808-5
- Knoll GA et al (2014) Effect of sirolimus on malignancy and survival after kidney transplantation: systematic review and meta-analysis of individual patient data. BMJ 349:g6679. https://doi.org/ 10.1136/bmj.g6679
- Knox JJ et al (2017) Final overall survival analysis for the phase II RECORD-3 study of first-line everolimus followed by sunitinib versus first-line sunitinib followed by everolimus in metastatic RCC. Ann Oncol 28(6):1339–1345. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdx075
- Kobashigawa JA et al (2013) Cardiac allograft vasculopathy by intravascular ultrasound in heart transplant patients. J Am Coll Cardiol HF 1(5):389–399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchf.2013.07. 002
- Kraemer FB et al (1998) Insulin regulates lipoprotein lipase activity in rat adipose cells via wortmannin- and rapamycin-sensitive pathways. Metabolism 47(5):555–559. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/s0026-0495(98)90239-6
- Krebs M et al (2007) The mammalian target of rapamycin pathway regulates nutrient-sensitive glucose uptake in man. Diabetes 56(6):1600–1607. https://doi.org/10.2337/db06-1016
- Kushwaha SS et al (2005) Sirolimus in cardiac transplantation: use as a primary immunosuppressant in calcineurin inhibitor–induced nephrotoxicity. J Heart Lung Transplant 24 (12):2129–2136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2005.08.015
- Laplante M, Sabatini DM (2012) MTOR signaling in growth control and disease. Cell 149 (2):274–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.017
- Letavernier E et al (2005) Proteinuria following a switch from calcineurin inhibitors to sirolimus. Transplantation 80(9):1198–1203. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.tp.0000185200.17589.74
- Letavernier E et al (2007) High sirolimus levels may induce focal segmental glomerulosclerosis de novo. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 2(2):326–333. https://doi.org/10.2215/cjn.03751106

- Lim WH et al (2014) A systematic review of conversion from calcineurin inhibitor to mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitors for maintenance immunosuppression in kidney transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 14(9):2106–2119. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12795
- Ma XM, Blenis J (2009) Molecular mechanisms of MTOR-mediated translational control. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10(5):307–318. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2672
- Matas AJ et al (2005) Prednisone-free maintenance immunosuppression-a 5-year experience. Am J Transplant 5(10):2473–2478. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2005.01051.x
- McCormack FX (2011) Efficacy and safety of sirolimus in lymphangioleiomyomatosis. N Engl J Med 365(3):271–272. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmc1106358
- Menon S, Manning BD (2008) Common corruption of the MTOR signaling network in human tumors. Oncogene 27(S2). https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2009.352
- Motzer RJ et al (2008) Efficacy of everolimus in advanced renal cell carcinoma: a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled phase III trial. Lancet 372(9637):449–456. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s0140-6736(08)61039-9
- Murgia MG et al (1996) The side effect profile of sirolimus: a phase I study in quiescent cyclosporine-prednisone-treated renal transplant patients. Kidney Int 49(1):209–216. https://doi.org/10.1038/ki.1996.28
- Nashan B et al (2012) Review of cytomegalovirus infection findings with mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitor-based immunosuppressive therapy in de novo renal transplant recipients. Transp J 93(11):1075–1085. https://doi.org/10.1097/tp.0b013e31824810e6
- Neff F et al (2013) Rapamycin extends murine lifespan but has limited effects on aging. J Clin Invest 123(8):3272–3291. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI67674
- Pallet N, Legendre C (2012) Adverse events associated with MTOR inhibitors. Expert Opin Drug Saf 12(2):177–186. https://doi.org/10.1517/14740338.2013.752814
- Product Information (2011) Torisel (temsirolimus) injection. Pfizer Inc., Wyeth Pharmaceuticals LLC, Philadelphia
- Product Information (2012) Afinitor (everolimus) tablets. Novartis Pharmaceutical Corporation, East Hanover
- Product Information (2018) Rapamune (sirolimus) oral solution and tablets. Pfizer Inc., Wyeth Pharmaceuticals LLC, Philadelphia
- Raichlin E et al (2007) Replacement of calcineurin-inhibitors with sirolimus as primary immunosuppression in stable cardiac transplant recipients. Transplantation 84(4):467–474. https://doi. org/10.1097/01.tp.0000276959.56959.69
- Ravaud A et al (2015) RECORD-2: phase II randomized study of everolimus and bevacizumab versus interferon α-2a and bevacizumab as first-line therapy in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma. Ann Oncol 26(7):1378–1384. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdv170
- Sabbatini M et al (2000) Acute effects of rapamycin on glomerular dynamics: a micropuncture study in the rat. Transplantation 69(9):1946–1949. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007890-200005150-00034
- Sarbassov DD et al (2004) Rictor, a novel binding partner of MTOR, defines a rapamycininsensitive and raptor-independent pathway that regulates the cytoskeleton. Curr Biol 14 (14):1296–1302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2004.06.054
- Sehgal SN (2003) Sirolimus: its discovery, biological properties, and mechanism of action. Transplant Proc 35(3):7S-14S. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0041-1345(03)00211-2
- Sennesael JJ et al (2005) Conversion from cyclosporine to sirolimus in stable renal transplant recipients. Transplantation 80(11):1578–1585. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.tp.0000184623. 35773.6a
- Shor B et al (2009) Targeting MTOR globally in cancer: thinking beyond rapamycin. Cell Cycle 8 (23):3831–3837. https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.8.23.10070
- Stallone G et al (2005) Sirolimus for Kaposi's sarcoma in renal-transplant recipients. N Engl J Med 352(13):1317–1323. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa042831
- Steele GH et al (2008) Pericardial effusion coincident with Sirolimus therapy: a review of Wyeth's safety database. Transplantation 85(4):645–647. https://doi.org/10.1097/tp.0b013e3181636061

- Sulanc E et al (2005) New-onset diabetes after kidney transplantation: an application of 2003 international guidelines. Transplantation 80(7):945–952. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.tp. 0000176482.63122.03
- Thoreen CC, Sabatini DM (2009) Rapamycin inhibits mTORC1, but not completely. Autophagy 5 (5):725–726. https://doi.org/10.4161/auto.5.5.8504
- Toi M et al (2017) Efficacy and safety of everolimus in combination with trastuzumab and paclitaxel in Asian patients with HER2 advanced breast cancer in BOLERO-1. Breast Cancer Res 19(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13058-017-0839-0
- Tremblay F, Marette A (2001) Amino acid and insulin signaling via the mTOR/p70 S6 kinase pathway. A negative feedback mechanism leading to insulin resistance in skeletal muscle cells. J Biol Chem 276(41):38052–38060. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M106703200
- Wander SA et al (2011) Next-generation MTOR inhibitors in clinical oncology: how pathway complexity informs therapeutic strategy. J Clin Investig 121(4):1231–1241. https://doi.org/10. 1172/jci44145
- Weiner SM et al (2007) Pneumonitis associated with sirolimus: clinical characteristics, risk factors and outcome a single-centre experience and review of the literature. Nephrol Dial Transplant 22 (12):3631–3637. https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfm420
- Yang L et al (2018) RECORD-4 multicenter phase 2 trial of second-line everolimus in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma: Asian versus non-Asian population subanalysis. BMC Cancer 18(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-018-4091-5
- Yanik EL et al (2015) Sirolimus effects on cancer incidence after kidney transplantation: a metaanalysis. Cancer Med 4(9):1448–1459. https://doi.org/10.1002/cam4.487
- Yecies JL, Manning BD (2011) Transcriptional control of cellular metabolism by MTOR signaling. Cancer Res 71(8):2815–2820. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.can-10-4158
- Yu J, Henske EP (2010) MTOR activation, lymphangiogenesis, and estrogen-mediated cell survival: the 'perfect storm' of pro-metastatic factors in LAM pathogenesis. Lymphat Res Biol 8 (1):43–49. https://doi.org/10.1089/lrb.2009.0020



Corticosteroids in Immunosuppression

Caroline Marzbani and Arvind Bhimaraj

Contents

1	Introduction	74
2	Historical Perspective	74
3	Mechanism of Action (Fig. 1)	75
4	Types of Glucocorticoids and Dose	77
5	Clinical Indications for Use in Solid Organ Transplant	77
	5.1 Intraoperative Steroids	77
	5.2 Maintenance Dosing and Steroid Withdrawal	78
	5.3 Treatment in Acute Rejections	79
6	Side Effects (Saag and Furst 2019)	79
7	Interactions of Glucocorticoids with Other Drugs (Liapi and Chrousos 1992)	82
8	Conclusion	82
Re	ferences	82

Abstract

Corticosteroids have been utilized as mainstay pharmacological intervention for successful organ transplantation since the beginning. Several challenges exist in establishing a balance between achieving a tolerant atmosphere in the host immune system while minimizing the long-term impact of steroids on the body. Corticosteroids are used early in all solid organ transplantation but there is wide variability across various organs and centers in the duration of use and protocols of planned steroid wean. The adverse event profile of steroids is exhaustive and across many organ systems.

C. Marzbani · A. Bhimaraj (🖂)

Department of Cardiology, Section of Advanced Heart Failure, Mechanical Support Devices and Cardiac Transplantation, Houston Methodist Hospital, Houston, TX, USA e-mail: abhimaraj@houstonmethodist.org

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

H. J. Eisen (ed.), *Pharmacology of Immunosuppression*, Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 272, https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2021_567

Keywords

Immunosuppression · Organ transplantation · Steroids

1 Introduction

Corticosteroids are a general term used to describe a group of steroid hormones released by the adrenal cortex and their synthetic analogues. They are further classified into glucocorticoids and mineralocorticoids based on their physiological actions.

The corticosteroids used in transplantation medicine are generally glucocorticoids and used for their immune-modulatory actions on the immune system of the host with an objective to mitigate and minimize rejection. Glucocorticoids are one of the most widely prescribed drugs in the world and the worldwide market for glucocorticoids is estimated to be worth more than USD 10 billion per year (Ramamoorthy and Cidlowski 2016). While steroids alone did not make solid organ transplantation possible, they have been a mainstay background therapy and were the first class of medications that were used to achieve the objective of transplanting between immune non-compatible individuals.

2 Historical Perspective

The discovery of cortisone was centered around treatment of inflammatory disease, especially rheumatoid arthritis, which had debilitating symptoms and consequences prior to such discovery. Philip Hensch and Edward Kendall are credited with the discovery of cortisone and along with the Polish chemist Tadeus Riechtein received the Nobel Prize in Medicine and Physiology in 1950. Philip Hench, as a physician at Mayo Clinic published a series of 30 cases where symptoms of rheumatoid arthritis were relieved with the onset of jaundice, in pregnancy, infection, and surgery (Hench 1938). With a postulation that a "substance X" is secreted naturally in these conditions, and a hunch that it is coming from the adrenal glands, he collaborated with Edward Kendall, a professor of physiology and chemistry who was already studying adrenal hormones. While early work in their collaborative effort and independent work of their Polish competitor Reichten did not succeed in isolation of Cortin, the gloom of World War-II and a supposition of a need of steroid hormones as an anti-stress compound made isolation of and production of Cortin a U.S government priority (Kendall 1971). A culmination of efforts of these physician scientists with involvement of Merck led to the production of Cortisone in 1948. While no specific clinical indication was evident at that time, an insisting patient at Mayo Clinic made Hensch and Kendall try the medication leading to a sensational improvement of symptoms followed by documentation of the anti-inflammatory properties of the substance. As the world witnessed the balance of beneficial and adverse events of cortisone in various scenarios, early work in kidney transplant in the 1960s revealed, validated, and propagated the ability of steroids to reverse acute rejection in living donor kidney transplant (Goodwin et al. 1962; Starzl and Marchioro 1963). A widespread use of corticosteroids as standard therapy for all kidney transplantation followed.

3 Mechanism of Action (Fig. 1)

Glucocorticoids manifest various immunomodulatory effects through genomic and non-genomic pathways. The genomic mechanism is mediated by binding to the intracellular glucocorticoid receptor (GR) which leads to conformational change in the ligand receptor complex followed by translocation of the complex into the nucleus. In the nucleus, this complex modulates the transcription of specific DNA sequences that lead to inhibition of the synthesis of almost all known inflammatory cytokines by blocking the function of transcription factors, such as nuclear factorkappa-B (NF-kB) and activator protein-1 (AP-1), two common proinflammatory mediators (Scheinman et al. 1995; Auphan et al. 1995; Rhen and Cidlowski 2005). The GR/Steroid complex also blocks the promoter site of interleukin (IL)-1-alpha and IL-1-beta (Zhang et al. 1997), promoting anti-inflammatory gene transcription of I-kappa-B-alpha, IL-1 receptor-II, lipocortin-1 (annexin 1), IL-10, alpha-2-macroglobulin, and secretory leukocyte-protease inhibitor (Scheinman et al. 1995; Auphan et al. 1995). Glucocorticoids also influence the post translational aspects of proinflammatory mechanisms by diminishing the stability of messenger RNA (mRNA) encoding IL-1, IL-2, IL-6, IL-8, tumor necrosis factor, and granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor (Tobler et al. 1992). The non-genomic actions of glucocorticoids involve physiochemical interactions with cytosolic GR or membrane-bound GR which unlike genomic effects do not require protein synthesis and occur within seconds to minutes of GR activation (Groeneweg et al. 2012).

Neutrophilia is common while using glucocorticoids as they increase their release from bone marrow and cause a reduction in expression of adhesion molecules on both leukocytes and endothelial cells. This is mediated by a decrease in synthesis and release of prostaglandin mediators of cell adhesion. In contrast, lymphocytes, eosinophils, mast cells, basophils, and dendritic cells decrease in number after administration of glucocorticoids. The total number of natural killer cells remains unchanged. A single dose of cortisol results in a 70% decrease in lymphocytes and a 90% decrease in monocytes, occurring 4–6 h after treatment and persisting for about 24 h. Cell numbers then rise 24–72 h after treatment (Pountain et al. 1993). The decrease in lymphocytes, monocytes, and eosinophils is due to redistribution of these cells rather than cell lysis, although certain types of activated T lymphocytes undergo glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis (Schwartzman and Cidlowski 1994). Glucocorticoids also reduce migration of monocytes and macrophages resulting in decreased tissue accumulation and slight increase in the blood level of these cells. The effect of steroids on monocyte and macrophage functions is variable. Macrophage phagocytosis and clearance of opsonized bacteria by the reticuloendothelial cells are diminished (Atkinson and Frank 1974). Expression of major



Fig. 1 Pictorial representation of mechanisms of action of glucocorticoids (GC). The GC (Red diamond shape) transverses the cell membrane to bind to the cytoplasmic GC receptor (GCR). This interaction frees the hsp-90 which is usually bound to GCR. The GC/GCR complex then is able to be transported into the nucleus where it impacts the transcription of various proteins through NFk-B inhibition and direct activation of the transcription of anti-inflammatory mRNA via glucocorticoid response element (GRE) which is a short sequence of DNA within the promoter of the gene

histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I) and chemokine secretions are not affected or may in fact be increased in the presence of glucocorticoids. In contrast, the expression of MHC class II and antigen presenting function are reduced (Gerrard et al. 1984). The circulatory levels of B and T lymphocytes are reduced by glucocorticoids mainly because of redistribution of these cells to the reticuloendothelial tissues and this effect is more pronounced on T cells than B cells. High doses of glucocorticoids inhibit immunoglobulin synthesis (Grayson et al. 1981) and decrease production of components of the complement system (Caren and Rosenberg 1966).

4 Types of Glucocorticoids and Dose

Glucocorticoids share the similar anti-inflammaory action and side effects. They differ in potency, duration, and mineralocorticoid activity. Prednisone is the most commonly used steroid. It is a prodrug and requires first-pass metabolism in order to be tranformed to the active metabolite, prednisolone. In patients with severe liver dysfunction prednisolone is preferred. Methylprednisolone differs in only a methyl group. Table 1 lists dose equivalents of the various glucocorticoids. Generally, in the context of solid organ transplant, for oral prednisolone, a low dose is considered up to 7.5 mg/d, medium dose >7.5 mg but <30 mg/d and high dose >30 mg but <100 mg/d, and very high dose is considered >100 mg/d. A pulse of methylprednisolone is considered between 250 and 1,000 mg/d for 1–3 days (Buttgereit et al. 2002).

5 Clinical Indications for Use in Solid Organ Transplant

5.1 Intraoperative Steroids

As an induction agent post solid organ transplant, steroids are used alone or along with other immunomodulatory agents intra-operation or immediately post-operation to initiate the process of adaptation or immunologic tolerance to the allograft. While

	Dose equivalent for glucocorticoid	Mineralocorticoid	Half
Type of steroid	potency	potency	life
Cortisone	25	0.8	8–12 h
Hydrocortisone	20	1	8–12 h
Fludrocortisone	N/A	125	8–12 h
Prednisolone	5	0.6	18-
			36 h
Prednisone	5	0.6	18-
			36 h
Methylprednisolone	4	0.6	18-
			36 h
Dexamethasone	0.75	0	36-
			72 h

 Table 1
 Glucocorticoid comparisons and dose equivalents for glucocorticoid potency (Schimmer and Funder 2011)

Table 2 Dose of	Induction with methylprednisolone	Dose
nisolone at the time of solid	Heart	1 g
organ transplant for differ-	Lung	1–1.5 g
ent organs	Kidney and pancreas	200–500 mg
	Liver	500 mg

steroids have been the mainstay of rejection prevention medications from the early days of transplantation, other potent induction agents like Thymoglobulin and IL-2 inhibitors have made steroids an adjunct treatment more than a primary induction strategy. The appropriate dose of intraoperative methylprednisolone has not been studied and various centers and organ programs use varying doses. Table 2 lists the dose of intraoperative methylprednisolone at our center. Typically, this intraoperative dose is followed by a gradual taper down to the maintenance dose over days to weeks depending on the dose started at and gradations of taper. Protocols range from starting at a high oral dose with a gradual long taper to others with an early transition to intravenous dosing followed by a higher decrement and faster wean down to maintenance dose. There are no studies comparing the various down titration regimens.

5.2 Maintenance Dosing and Steroid Withdrawal

The dose of steroids used to maintain immunological quiescence has decreased significantly from the advent of solid organ transplant: Most programs reach a maintenance dose of 5-10 mg of oral prednisone which is sometimes withdrawn completely after 6 months to 1 year after transplantation. While there has been a push towards steroid taper and wean in the context of minimizing long-term side effects of these medications, it is not clear if such a strategy makes a difference in the longterm outcomes for the graft or the patients across all organ groups. Also, it is not clear if the removal of the low dose of prednisone used in the current era mitigates the presumed side effects of prednisone in all patients while not increasing the risk on graft survival. While some centers tailor prednisone wean for those at lower immunological risk of rejection, some centers, more so in thoracic transplants, use steroids at the low maintenance dose for a lifetime (especially in lung transplants where rejection burden is high). While safety of steroid withdrawal has been established in many studies in all organs (Baran et al. 2011; Luan et al. 2009) especially in low rejection risk patients, the generalizability of such findings in individuals at a higher risk of rejection and a possibility of an unexpected trigger (like an infectious trigger) inciting acute rejection after achieving the so-called tolerant state off of steroids (Wang et al. 2010) have made universal adaptation of such strategy difficult. The strategy to withdraw maintenance steroids is also confounded by the fact that clinical studies have varied in the timing of withdrawal and concomitant immunosuppressant medications. Despite all these controversies there seems to be some general principles that govern this decision: (1) Most low risk profile patients can be safely weaned off corticosteroids; (2) Steroid withdrawal with a background therapy of tacrolimus is considered to be safer than cyclosporine or only an mTOR inhibitor; (3) Early weaning is recommended: while steroid weaning is done within weeks in kidney transplants most thoracic programs do so in 6 months to 1 year; (4) While surveillance studies have focused on cellular rejection, recent acceptance and surveillance methods for antibody mediated rejection have left unanswered questions of the risk of AMR during the wean and careful surveillance is recommended. In our experience, withdrawal of steroids in patients who have been on prednisone for years seems to predispose them to AMR than ACR. The most commonly used tapering regimen includes (Saag and Furst 2019).

- 5–10 mg/day every 1–2 weeks from an initial dose above 40 mg of prednisone or equivalent per day.
- 5 mg/day every 1–2 weeks at prednisone doses between 40 and 20 mg/day.
- 2.5 mg/day every 2–3 weeks at prednisone doses between 20 and 10 mg/day.
- 1 mg/day every 2-4 weeks at prednisone doses between 10 and 5 mg/day.
- 0.5 mg/day every 2–4 weeks at prednisone doses from 5 mg/day down. This can be achieved by alternating daily doses, e.g., 5 mg on day one and 4 mg on day two.

5.3 Treatment in Acute Rejections

Methylprednisolone is the mainstay of treatment for acute cellular rejection (ACR) and has been adapted for basic therapy for antibody mediated rejection (AMR). ACR without overt organ derangement can sometimes be managed with increasing the dose of oral prednisone (in our institution, pathological 2R ACR in heart transplant with no graft dysfunction or hemodynamic derangements is treated with 100 mg prednisone daily for 3 days followed by a taper) while any suggestion of organ dysfunction is treated with an administration of intravenous pulse steroids. AMR is usually treated with high dose steroids with 500–1,000 mg methylprednisolone for 3–5 days while other strategies of antibody removal and B-cell suppression are being implemented.

6 Side Effects (Saag and Furst 2019)

Chronic steroid use has many physiological implications involving various organ systems. Many transplant patients a have other risk factors and are taking medications which can compound such effects of steroids. Table 3 lists the impact

Organ system	Adverse effects
Skin	Skin atrophy, impaired wound healing, acne
General	Cushingoid appearance, weight gain
Eyes	Cataracts, glaucoma, exophthalmos, central serous chorioretinopathy
Cardiovascular	Fluid retention, hypertension, dyslipidemia, premature atherosclerotic disease, atrial fibrillation, atrial flutter
Nervous system	Stroke, pseudotumor cerebri, akathisia, psychosis, panic disorder, memory impairment, insomnia
Gastrointestinal	Gastritis, fatty liver, visceral perforation, pancreatitis
Bone and muscle	Osteoporosis, osteonecrosis, proximal myopathy
Endocrine	Hyperglycemia, secondary adrenal insufficiency
Infectious	Increased risk of bacterial, viral, and fungal infection

Table 3 Impact of steroids on various organ systems of the human body that contributes to adverse effects in the setting of chronic long-term use

of glucocorticoids on various organ systems. Low doses of glucocorticoids (e.g., prednisone <5 mg/day) are associated with fewer adverse effects (Pincus et al. 2011), hence efforts are made to reduce dosing on the long term. Most glucocorticoid toxicity is at least partially reversible over time with early dose reduction (or withdrawal), detection, and treatment of contributing co-factors (Saag and Furst 2019). Skin ecchymosis and purpura often affect the sun-exposed areas of the dorsum of the hand and forearm. Acne, skin atrophy, impaired wound healing are common. Cataracts are common even with lower doses of <5 mg/day and is typically bilateral with posterior subcapsular involvement. Studies in non-organ transplant population using chronic steroids have shown an increase in adverse cardiovascular outcomes including fluid retention (e.g. glucocorticoids with mineralocorticoid property), hypertension, increased risk of premature atherosclerotic disease, stroke, heart failure, atrial fibrillation, atrial flutter, dyslipidemia and all-cause mortality. Cardiovascular disease risk is dose-dependent (Wei et al. 2004). It is unclear if this is true in the transplant setting due to inability to do a well-designed study to eliminate the influence of confounders. Glucocorticoidinduced reduction in ACTH release contributes to dyslipidemia by downregulating LDL receptors (Berg and Nilsson-Ehle 1996). Gastrointestinal effects can include peptic ulcer disease, gastritis, fatty liver, visceral perforation, and pancreatitis. The combination of glucocorticoids and NSAIDs results in a synergistic increase in the incidence of gastrointestinal events by two to fourfold increase. American College of Rheumatology (ACR) Task Force osteoporosis guidelines suggest that all patients taking glucocorticoids (any dose with an anticipated duration of \geq 3 months) should maintain a total calcium intake of 1,000 to 1,200 mg/day and vitamin D intake of 600 to 800 international units/day through either diet and/or supplements to avoid osteonecrosis. Most studies have found that the risk of osteoporosis is low (<3%) in patients treated with doses of prednisone <15-20 mg/day (Jones and Mont 2019). If patients are on long-term steroids most centers screen on regular intervals with DEXA scan. Myopathy is uncommon and typically presents with painless proximal motor weakness in both the upper and lower extremities. Other confounding medications like statins also need to be reviewed as culprit medications for myopathy. Mood disorders and emotional lability are more common in patients with a family history of depression or alcoholism. Psychosis occurs at high doses of prednisone usually above 20 mg/day and for prolonged periods while akathisia can occur even at low doses. Hyperglycemia is probably the most common and obvious impact of systemic glucocorticoids causing a dose-dependent increase in the level of serum blood glucose but the development of de novo diabetes in a patient with initially normal glucose tolerance is uncommon (Olefsky and Kimmerling 1976a). Risk factors for new-onset hyperglycemia during glucocorticoid therapy are thought to be the same as those for other patients, including a family history of diabetes, increased age, obesity, and a history of gestational diabetes (Olefsky and Kimmerling 1976b). Secondary adrenal insufficiency due to long-term use of glucocorticoids is more likely to develop due to suppression of the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis in those who receive high doses (>20–30 mg prednisolone or equivalent) of systemic GCs for >3 weeks, those who develop Cushingoid features (Saag and Furst 2019) and those who have received an evening/bedtime dose of \geq 5 mg of prednisone for many weeks. These patients should be treated like any patient with secondary adrenal insufficiency and if weaning of steroids is indicated should undergo tapering regimens. If these patients undergo minor stress while being on glucocorticoid treatment, they might require dose increase by double for 1-2 days and for severe stress three to tenfold dosage increase for 2-3 days. If steroids are used for <2-3 weeks, the recovery is expected and hence considered low risk for HPA suppression. Steroids can be stopped without taper in this scenario. In patients with intermediate risk using tapering regimens or HPA function test in certain case scenarios (e.g. planned elective surgery) could be beneficial (Table 4).

Stress (medical/surgical)	Steroid stress dose	Taper after the stress resolves
Minor, e.g., mild febrile illness,	25 mg or 30–50 mg/m ² IV or PO	None
colonoscopy, <1 n anestnesia	nydrocortisone or equivalent	
Moderate, e.g., pneumonia, multiple	50 mg or 50–75 mg/m ² IV	Taper over 1–
tooth extraction	hydrocortisone or equivalent	2 days
Major, e.g., severe burn, sepsis,	100 mg or 100 mg/m ² IV	Taper over 1-
major surgery	hydrocortisone or equivalent	3 days

Table 4 Mineralocorticoid stress dose steroid dosing to be considered in situations of physiological stress

7 Interactions of Glucocorticoids with Other Drugs (Liapi and Chrousos 1992)

Glucocorticoids can cause severe hypokalemia once given with other drugs such as Amphotericin B, diuretics, and can increase Digoxin toxicity. Glucocorticoids can decrease the blood level of some of the medications such as aspirin, warfarin, insulin, oral hypoglycemic agents and increase the blood level of cyclophosphamide or cyclosporine (Liapi and Chrousos 1992). Plasma levels of glucocorticoids can be decreased by use of antacids, cholestyramine or increased by cyclosporine, itraconazole, oral contraceptives. (Liapi and Chrousos 1992; Foisy et al. 2008; Saberi et al. 2013) Due to lack of a commercially available serum level for corticosteroids, it is not practical to adjust dosing despite potential pharmacokinetic interactions.

8 Conclusion

Glucocorticoids remain to be widely used in organ transplantation from organ induction to maintenance of immune quiescence, and treatment of acute rejection episodes. While long-term exposure can cause many deleterious effects, they remain a very useful armamentarium in post-transplant setting. Future studies need to focus on alternate delivery mechanisms that can have more targeted impact on the immune system while avoiding systemic side effects. Also, efforts to minimize dose-duration exposure to steroids need to be consolidated for better consensus. It is important to understand this class of drugs in the context of their role, pharmacokinetic, pharmacodynamics, adverse effects and clinical applications in order to utilize them appropriately to maintain transplanted organ vitality while preserving the rest of the body from the long-term impact of these medications.

References

- Atkinson JP, Frank MM (1974) Complement-independent clearance of IgG-sensitized erythrocytes: inhibition by cortisone. Blood 44:629
- Auphan N, DiDonato JA, Rosette C et al (1995) Immunosuppression by glucocorticoids: inhibition of NF-kappa B activity through induction of I kappa B synthesis. Science 270:286
- Baran DA et al (2011) A prospective, randomized trial of single-drug versus dual-drug immunosuppression in heart transplantation the tacrolimus in combination, tacrolimus alone compared (TICTAC) trial. Circ Heart Fail 4:129–137
- Berg AL, Nilsson-Ehle P (1996) ACTH lowers serum lipids in steroid-treated hyperlipemic patients with kidney disease. Kidney Int 50:538
- Buttgereit F, da Silva JA, Boers M et al (2002) Standardized nomenclature for glucocorticoid treatment regimens: current questions and tentative answers in rheumatology. Ann Rheum Dis 61(8):718–722
- Caren LD, Rosenberg LT (1966) Steroids and serum complement in mice: influence of hydrocortisone, diethylstilbestrol, and testosterone. Science 152:782–783

- Foisy MM, Yakiwchuk EM, Chiu I, Singh AE (2008) Adrenal suppression and Cushing's syndrome secondary to an interaction between ritonavir and fluticasone: a review of the literature. HIV Med 9(6):389–396
- Gerrard TL, Cupps TR, Jurgensen CH, Fauci AS (1984) Hydrocortisone-mediated inhibition of monocyte antigen presentation: dissociation of inhibitory effect and expression of DR antigens. Cell Immunol 85:330
- Goodwin WE, Mims MM, Kaufman JJ (1962) Human renal transplantation. III. Technical problems encountered in six cases of kidney homotransplantation. Trans Am Assoc Genitourin Surg 54:116
- Grayson J, Dooley NJ, Koski IP, Blaese RM (1981) Immunoglobulin production induced in vitro by glucocorticoid hormones. T cell-dependent stimulation of immunoglobulin production without B cell proliferation in cultures of human peripheral lymphocytes. Clin Invest 68: 1539–1547
- Groeneweg FL, Karst H, de Kloet ER, Joels M (2012) Mineralocorticoid and glucocorticoid receptors at the neuronal membrane, regulators of nongenomic corticosteroid signaling. Mol Cell Endocrinol 350:299–309
- Hench PS (1938) Effect of spontaneous jaundice on rheumatoid (atrophic) arthirtis. Br Med J 2(4050):394
- Jones LC, Mont MA (2019) Uptodate
- Kendall EC (1971) Cortisone: memoirs of a hormone hunter. Charles Scribner's Sons, New York
- Liapi C, Chrousos GP (1992) Glucocorticoids. In: Jaffe SJ, Aranda JV (eds) Pediatric pharmacology, 2nd edn. WB Saunders, Philadelphia, pp 466–475
- Luan FL et al (2009) Steroid-free maintenance immunosuppression in kidney transplantation: is it time to consider it as a standard therapy. Kidney Int 76(8):825–830
- Olefsky JM, Kimmerling G (1976a) Effects of glucocorticoids on carbohydrate metabolism. Am J Med Sci 271:202
- Olefsky JM, Kimmerling G (1976b) Effects of glucocorticoids on carbohydrate metabolism. Am J Med Sci 271:202
- Pincus T et al (2011) Long-term prednisone in doses of less than 5 mg/day for treatment of rheumatoid arthritis: personal experience over 25 years. Clin Exp Rheumatol Incl Suppl 29(5):S130
- Pountain GD, Keogan MT, Hazleman BL, Brown DL (1993) Effect of single dose compared with three days' prednisolone treatment of healthy volunteers: contrasting effects on circulating lymphocyte subsets. J Clin Pathol 46:1089–1092
- Ramamoorthy S, Cidlowski JA (2016) Corticosteroids-mechanisms of action in health and disease. Rheum Dis Clin N Am 42(1):15–31
- Rhen T, Cidlowski JA (2005) Antiinflammatory action of glucocorticoids--new mechanisms for old drugs. N Engl J Med 353:1711
- Saag KG, Furst DE (2019) Major side effects of systemic glucocorticoids. Uptodate
- Saberi P, Phengrasamy T, Nguyen DP (2013) Inhaled corticosteroid use in HIV-positive individuals taking protease inhibitors: a review of pharmacokinetics, case reports and clinical management. HIV Med 14(9):519–529
- Scheinman RI, Cogswell PC, Lofquist AK, Baldwin AS Jr (1995) Role of transcriptional activation of I kappa B alpha in mediation of immunosuppression by glucocorticoids. Science 270:283
- Schimmer BP, Funder JW (2011) ACTH, adrenal steroids and pharmacology of the adrenal cortex. In: Brunton LL, Chabner BA, Knollmann BC (eds) Goodman and Gilman's the pharmacological basis of therapeutics, 12th edn. McGraw-Hill, New York
- Schwartzman RA, Cidlowski JA (1994) Glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis of lymphoid cells. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 105:347–354
- Starzl TE, Marchioro TL (1963) The reversal of rejection in human renal homografts with subsequent development of homograft tolerance. Surg Gynecol Obstet 117:385

- Tobler A, Meier R, Seitz M et al (1992) Glucocorticoids downregulate gene expression of GM-CSF, NAP-1/IL-8, and IL-6, but not of M-CSF in human fibroblasts. Blood 79:45
- Wang T, Ahmed EB, Chen L et al (2010) Infectionwith the intracellular bacterium, Listeria monocytogenes, overrides established tolerance in a mouse cardiac allograft model. Am J Transplant 10:1524–1533
- Wei L, MacDonald TM, Walker BR (2004) Taking glucocorticoids by prescription is associated with subsequent cardiovascular disease. Ann Intern Med 141:764
- Zhang G, Zhang L, Duff GW (1997) A negative regulatory region containing a glucocorticosteroid response element (nGRE) in the human interleukin-1beta gene. DNA Cell Biol 16:145



Induction Therapy and Therapeutic Antibodies

Andriana Nikolova and Jignesh K. Patel

Contents

1	Intro	luction	86
2	Induc	tion Therapies	89
	2.1	Antibodies (Table 1)	89
		2.1.1 Muromunab-OKT3	89
		2.1.2 Antithymocyte Globulins (ATG)	93
		2.1.3 IL-2 Blockade	94
		2.1.4 Outcomes on IL2RA vs ATG Induction Regimen	95
	2.2	Other Induction Therapies	97
		2.2.1 Alemtuzumab	97
		2.2.2 Costimulatory Blockade (Belatacept)	99
3	Strate	gies to Neutralize the Effect of Pre-Formed Antibodies	100
4	Mone	oclonal and Polyclonal Antibodies Outside Induction Therapy	101
	4.1	Prophylactic Therapy	102
	4.2	Intravenous Immunoglobulin (IVIg)	102
	4.3	Muromonab-OKT3	103
	4.4	Antithymocyte Globulins	103
	4.5	Alemtuzumab	104
	4.6	Interleukin-2 Receptor Antagonists	104
	4.7	Rituximab	105
	4.8	Obinutuzumab	106
	4.9	Tocilizumab	106
	4.10	Clazakizumab	107
	4.11	CD38 Antibodies	108
	4.12	Eculizumab	108
Re	ferenc	es	109

A. Nikolova · J. K. Patel (⊠) Smidt Cedars-Sinai Heart Institute, Los Angeles, CA, USA e-mail: Jignesh.patel@cshs.org

Abstract

Prevention of allograft rejection is one of the crucial goals in solid organ transplantation to ensure durability of the graft and is chiefly mediated by cellular and humoral pathways targeting cell surface alloantigens. The risk of rejection is highest in the first post-transplant year and wanes with time albeit the risk always exists and varies with the type of organ transplanted. Induction therapies refer to the use of high-intensity immunosuppression in the immediate post-operative period to mitigate the highest risk of rejection. This term encompasses chiefly the use of antibody therapies directed against one of the key pathways in T-cell activation or abrogating effects of circulating alloantibodies. These antibodies carry more potent immunomodulatory effect than maintenance immunosuppressive therapy alone and many of them lead to durable immune cell depletion. A variety of monoclonal and polyclonal antibodies have been utilized for use not only for induction therapy, but also for treatment of allograft rejection when it occurs and as components of desensitization therapy before and after transplantation to modulate circulating alloantibodies.

Keywords

 $Desensitization\ therapies\ \cdot\ Induction\ immunosuppression\ \cdot\ Rejection\ treatment\ \cdot\ Solid\ organ\ transplantation$

1 Introduction

Organ transplantation is one of the most remarkable medical achievements of the twentieth century, leading to the application of this life-saving procedure as the definitive therapy for many types of end-organ failure. Joseph E Murray performed the first successful renal transplant between identical twins in 1954 in Boston, followed by the first lung transplant by Dr. James Hardy in 1963, the first successful liver transplant by Dr. Thomas E. Starzl in 1967, the first heart transplant by Christian Barnard in 1967, and the first successful bone marrow transplant by E. Donnall Thomas in 1968 (Enderby and Keller 2015). Prevention of allograft rejection is one of the crucial goals in solid organ transplantation, ensuring the durability of the allograft. The ideal form of immunosuppression attains an equilibrium between inducing donor-specific tolerance, on the one hand, and preserving sufficient function of the immune defenses that protects the host from the dangers of infection and cancers, among other. The risk of rejection is highest in the first posttransplant year and wanes with time albeit the risk always exists. Furthermore, the rejection risk varies by types of organ transplanted. For example, the liver is considered an "immune-privileged organ" with accompanying lower rejection probability compared to many other solid organs. In fact, studies have shown that 20-60% of liver transplant recipients are able to achieve liver graft immune tolerance after immunosuppression withdrawal.



Fig. 1 T-cell and B-cell activation in allograft injury. T-cell activation is described by the 3-signal model. Signal 1 involves the T-cell receptor engagement of an antigen-MHC tandem. In addition to the MHC-allopeptide complex, a costimulatory signal, signal 2, is required for T-cell activation. T cells require cytokine signals to propagate a cascade of pro-survival and proliferation signals (Signal 3). Humoral response and antibody-mediated injury. The humoral response involves T-cell-dependent B-cell activation and formation of either memory B cells or high-affinity antibody-secreting plasma cells. Upon re-exposure to antigen, memory B cells proliferate and differentiate into plasma cells. Binding of donor-specific HLA antibody to the allograft endothelium causes injury through complement-dependent and-independent mechanisms. HLA antibody-antigen complexes trigger complement cascade activation and formation of the MAC, which causes endothelial-cell lysis and destruction. Complement factors are also chemotactic and cause vasodilation, mast-cell release. HLA antibody binding may directly recruit inflammatory cells via FcR adhesion. Desensitization treatments are shown in red with corresponding targets. FcR Fcreceptor, MAC membrane attack complex

The three arms of immunosuppression therapies are induction, maintenance, and treatment of rejection. Understanding the key mechanistic regulators involved in allograft rejection allows the design of therapies that intercept these deleterious for the allograft pathways (Fig. 1).

In evolutionary terms, the immune system has developed into a complex organization of cellular, antibody, and cytokine responses designed to protect the host against foreign pathogens while preventing injury to self. In transplantation, activation of these systems leads to injury and rejection of the allograft. Our understanding of the immune response has led to development of effective immunosuppressive regimens that have made solid organ transplantation possible and increasingly provided more effective tools to treat rejection when it occurs.

One such main target of suppressive pharmacotherapies is inhibiting T-cell activation and proliferation (Nankivell and Alexander 2010). This pathway is the key executioner of the immune system that ultimately leads to cell death and graft dysfunction. Mitchison was among the first to describe the cell-mediated features of allograft rejection. Immune responses against the donor organs also involve other mechanisms including humoral (antibody-mediated) as well as those mediated by other cell types. The antigens responsible for T-cell activation and subsequent rejection of genetically disparate tissues are of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC), which have evolved unprecedented genetic diversity (Halloran 2004). They are encoded by over 40 loci on the short arm of chromosome 6 and in humans, they are called human leukocyte antigens (HLA). The role of MHCs is to surveille their environment and present antigenic peptides to T cells. They are divided into two classes - Class I molecules are expressed on all nucleated cells and present peptides derived from intracellular sources (e.g., intracellular viruses, self-antigens, tumor antigens) to CD8 cells. Class II molecules are present only on antigen-presenting cells (APCs) such as dendritic cells, activated macrophages, and endothelial cells as well as B cells. The latter present extracellular antigens to CD4 cells (Iwasaki and Medzhitov 2010; Smyth et al. 2006). However, non-HLA antigens are also increasingly recognized to be involved in some forms of rejection.

T-cell activation is described by the 3-signal model (Ingulli 2010) (Fig. 1). Signal 1 involves the T-cell receptor engagement of an antigen-MHC tandem. As the allograft undergoes substantial ischemic injury during the process of donor death, organ procurement, and operative procedure, there is heightened presentation of donor antigens by passenger APCs (Chong and Alegre 2012). The host T cells recognize these complexes as foreign and trigger direct cytotoxic T-cell activation (Moreau et al. 2013). Alternatively, as an indirect mechanism host APCs surveille the milieu and present donor alloantigens coupled with recipient MHC class II molecules, stimulating helper CD4+ T cells (Smyth et al. 2006; Moreau et al. 2013). This pathway is thought to be more pertinent to the setting of chronic and late acute rejection as well as coronary allograft vasculopathy (Moreau et al. 2013). In human studies, onset of acute rejection in heart transplant recipients appears to be triggered by T-cell responses to a single dominant epitope on one alloantigen. However, in the setting of recurrent or chronic rejection, T-cell reactivity could be directed to other epitopes within the MHC molecule or other alloantigens on the graft. This process is called antigen spreading (Vanderlugt and Miller 2002).

In addition to the MHC-allopeptide complex, a costimulatory signal, signal 2, is required for T-cell activation (Brook et al. 2006). In fact, T cells become anergic when presented with signal-1 alone without costimulation. Costimulatory pathways include those mediated by the CD28 T-cell receptor binding to B7-1 (CD80) or B7-2 (CD86) on APCs (Brook et al. 2006). CD28 is constitutively expressed on 95% of CD4+ T cells and 50% of CD8+ T cells in humans (Smith et al. 2012). As a checkpoint inhibitor of T-cells also express costimulatory antigens which serve as checkpoint inhibitors of cell activation. One of the best characterized ones involves

the T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA4), a homologue of the CD28 molecule, which is induced on activated T cells. CTLA4 also binds to B7-1 and B7-2 and inhibits IL-2 production and cell cycle progression (Moreau et al. 2013).

Finally, it has been well recognized that T cells require cytokine signals (signal 3) to propagate a cascade of pro-survival and proliferation signals (Moreau et al. 2013; Mosser and Edwards 2008). In fact, during T-cell activation the calcineurin pathways is activated, leading to dephosphorylation of the cytoplasmic nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT), permitting its translocation to the nucleus, where it binds to the IL-2 promoter (Moreau et al. 2013). IL-2 expression is a key stimulator of T-cell proliferation and activation.

2 Induction Therapies

Induction therapies refer to the use of high-intensity immunosuppression in the immediate post-operative period to mitigate the highest risk of rejection. This term encompasses chiefly the use of antibody therapies directed against one of the key pathways in T-cell activation, described above. These antibodies carry more potent immunomodulatory effect than maintenance immunosuppressive therapy alone and many of them lead to durable immune cell depletion. The employment of these various induction strategies should be guided by the individual patient risk profile, weighing in the immune priming of the recipient as well as his risk of infection or experiencing other adverse effects of the therapy employed. However, despite our growing knowledge of the risk factors for rejection in the various solid organ transplant types, there is a marked lack of integrated risk stratification tools to help guide the use of induction therapies with their competing risks. Defining a model that incorporates the calculus of the individual's risk of rejection and infection would aid with the challenging task of personalizing immunosuppression and furthermore help to improve the design of clinical trials in transplantation (Cippa et al. 2015).

The use of antibody induction therapies is highly heterogeneous across solid organ types. According to the Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network and the Scientific Registry of Transplant Recipients (SRTR) Annual Data Report from 2019 (SRTR 2019), antibody induction therapy was employed in 91.9% of kidney (Hart et al. 2021), 90% of pancreas (Kandaswamy et al. 2021), 28% of liver (Kwong et al. 2021), 74.1% of intestinal (Horslen et al. 2021), 49% of heart (Colvin et al. 2021), and 78% of lung (Valapour et al. 2021) transplant recipients.

Below we describe the various induction regimen employed historically and in modern clinical practice with their mechanistic underpinnings and important side effect profile.

2.1 Antibodies (Table 1)

2.1.1 Muromunab-OKT3

Antibody therapies have entered clinical practice since the 1980s. They include Tcell-depleting and nondepleting agents and can be monoclonal or polyclonal

			-						
	Mechanism of				Infusion				
Drug	action	Approved indication	Dose	Administration	monitoring	Protocol	Premedication	Contra-indication	Toxicities
IVIg	- Neutralization of	- Primary humoral	1-2 g/kg IV	Low rate IV,	Standard	Total dose	Preventive	1	Infusion reactions,
	circulating	immunodeficiency	(max 80 kg)	4–6 h	monitoring	spread over	anticoagulation		renal impairment,
	antibodies	- Immune			including heart	2-4 days	therapy		thrombosis and
	- different effects	thrombocytopenic			rate and blood	Discuss			transfusion-related
	on B-cell	purpura			pressure (more	repeating			acute lung injury
	activation and	I			closely at the	infusions			
	maturation				beginning of	every			
					the infusion)	4 weeks			
ATG	Polyclonal	- Prpohylaxis and	1.5 mg/kg/d		Standard		Antihistamine,		Urinary tract infection,
	depletion of T	treatment of acute	IV x4-14d		monitoring		acetaminophen and		abdominal pain,
	(and B) cells via	rejection in kidney			including heart		methylprednisolone		hypertension, nausea,
	ADCC and CDC	transplant			rate and blood		100 mg IV 30 min		shortness of breath,
					pressure (more		before infusion		fever, headache,
					closely at the				anxiety, chills,
					beginning of				increased potassium,
					the infusion)				low counts of platelets
									and white blood cells
Alemtuzumab	Humanized rat	Treatment of B-cell	30 mg IVx1	IV infusion	Standard		Antihistamine,		Infection, profound
	monoclonal anti-	chronic lymphocytic		over 4 h	monitoring		acetaminophen, and		leukopenia
	CD52 antibody	leukemia			including heart		methylprednisolone		
	present on				rate and blood		before infusion		
	lymphocytes.				pressure (more				
	natural killer				closely at the				
	(NK) cells and				beginning of				
	macrophages				the infusion)				
Basiliximab	Non-depleting	Prophylaxis of acute	20 mg IV	IV bolus or	Standard	Infuse over	None	Risk of anaphylaxis	Infection, pain,
	anti-CD25	organ rejection in	day 0 and	diluted	monitoring	20–30 min		with history of prior	nausea, peripheral
	monoclonal	patients receiving	day 4 post		including heart			exposure to	edema, hypertension,
	antibody (IL2R	renal transplantation	transplant		rate and blood			basiliximab	anemia, headache,
	antagonist)				pressure				hyperkalemia,
					1				hypercholesterolemia,
									increase in serum
									creatinine,
									hypophosphatemia

 Table 1
 Antibody preparations utilized in solid organ transplantation

International letterinal discorders Intervent letterinal discorders Intervent letterinal discorder Intervent letterinal discorder<	uximab	CD20+ B cells depletion (CDC + ADCC)	– Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma – Chronic	Usually 375 mg/m ² IV	IV Begin with low rate 50 to	Careful monitoring, risk of severe	1 to 4 infusions 1 week	Antihistamine, acetaminophen, and methylprednisolone	1	Infusion-related reaction, mucocutaneous
zumbHumanizedRheumatoidstugkeIV over 1 hStandard1-6Tubenonoclonalartritis, giant cellmonthy, egainst solublearteritis, giant cellmonthy, maximalbound metheranddoes 800 mg, oppobound metherane, bound metherane, bound metherane, bound metherane, bound metherane, bound metherane, bound metherane, syndrome, rapidfrom nontroing trace and syndrome, rapidIV over 1 hfrom nontroing monthy, syndrome, rapidfrom nontroing trace and syndrome, rapidfrom nontroing trace and syndrome, rapidfrom nontroing syndrome, rapidfrom nontroing syndro			lymphocytic leukemia – Autoimmune disorders		100 mg/h and increase in the absence of infusion toxicity	reaction and tumor lysis syndrome	between each infusion	100 mg IV 30 min before infusion		reaction, HBV reactivation, progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy
umab Recombinant - PNH 900- IV infusion Standard - 1.200 mg Vaccinate patients Patients not Increditation humanized - aHUS 1.200 mg IV over 35 min monitoring at release of against vaccinate dagainst Neiss monoclonal - Generalized - arrevente rows: 35 min monitoring at release of against vaccinated against Neiss antibody - myasthenia gravis - - 900 mg on least 2 weeks before unless the risks of respin complement C5 Neuromyclitis optica - 900 mg on least 2 weeks before unless the risks of respin inhibitor spectrum disorder - 900 mg on least 2 weeks before unless the risks of respin inhibitor spectrum disorder - 1.200 mg neweky for - 1.200 mg neweks of infection	zumab	Humanized monoclonal against soluble and membrane- bound Interleukin- 6 receptor (IL-6R)	Rheumatoid arthritis, giant cell arteritis, polyarticular and systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis, cytokine release syndrome, rapid respiratory decompensation due to COVID-19	8 mg/kg monthly, maximal dose 800 mg, for 6 mo	IV over 1 h	Standard monitoring	1–6 infusions monthly			Tuberculosis, bacterial, invasive fungal, viral, and other opportunistic infections. Hepatic dysfunction, neutropenia, and thrombocytopenia
	umab	Recombinant humanized monoclonal antibody – complement C5 inhibitor	 PNH aHUS Generalized myasthenia gravis - Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder 	900- 1,200 mg IV	IV infusion over 35 min	Standard monitoring	 - 1,200 mg at release of cross-clamp - 900 mg on day 1, then weekly for 3 weeks - 1,200 mg at weeks 4, 6 	Vaccinate patients against N. meningitidis at least 2 weeks before the use eculizumab	Patients not vaccinated against N. meningtidis, unless the risks of delaying treatment outweigh the risks of meningococcal infection	Increased risk of Neisseria meningitidis infections, upper respiratory tract infection

(continued)
-
e
q
Ца

	Mechanism of				Infusion				
Drug	action	Approved indication	Dose	Administration	monitoring	Protocol	Premedication	Contra-indication	Toxicities
Belatacept	Humanized anti- CD28 (CTLA-4) antibody	Prophylaxis of organ rejection in adult patients receiving a kidney transplant	10 mg/kg IV initial, 5 mg/ kg maintenance monthly	IV infusion over 30 min	Standard monitoring	10 mg/kg IV day 1, 5, week 2, 4 then 5 mg/ kg monthly		EBV seroegative or unknown EBV status Liver transplant	PTLD, progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy, other infections, allograft rejection
Daratumumab	Fully human IgG1-kappa monoclonal antibody against CD38 on plasma cells	Multiple myeloma	Not established				Corticosteroids, antipyretics and antihistamines prior to infusion		Infusion reaction, neutropenia, thrombocytopenia

preparations. The first monoclonal antibody to be approved for clinical use in humans was OKT3, which is a T-cell depleting therapy (Post et al. 2005). OKT3 is a murine monoclonal IgG2a antibody that specifically reacts with the T-cell receptor-CD3 complex on the surface of circulating human T cells. It blocks T-cell proliferation and differentiation. Adverse effects were relatively common including development of cytokine release syndrome owing to its propensity to initially activate T cells, releasing TNF-a and IL-2, aseptic meningitis, intragraft thrombosis, seizures, pulmonary and increased risk of edema, post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease and infection related to overall augmented immunosuppression. Furthermore, as a non-human antibody, it elicits neutralizing anti-antibody response in 44–89% of patients who received it, depending on the population treated (Kimball et al. 1995). As such OKT3 is no longer used in clinical practice and has been replaced by chimeric and humanized monoclonal antibodies that allow compatibility for human use.

2.1.2 Antithymocyte Globulins (ATG)

Polyclonal T-cell depleting therapies with antithymocyte globulins (ATG) have emerged as potent immunomodulators used both as upfront induction therapies or for treatment of acute rejection (Bonnefoy-Berard et al. 1991). These preparations are purified immunoglobulins derived from horses (hATG) or rabbits (rATG) immunized with human thymocytes and contain antibodies against diverse antigen-combining sites and epitopes (Bonnefoy-Berard et al. 1991). RATG has supplanted hATG in clinical use due to its superior potency and tolerability.

Despite limited evidence from randomized clinical trials, ATGs have been widely used as induction agents in solid organ transplantation. ATG induces predominantly T lymphocyte depletion through antibody dependent cell cytotoxicity (ADCC), complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC), opsonization and activation of programmed cell death pathway via antibody-induced and cytokine mediated upregulation of CD178. ATG also attenuates T-cell activation by downregulation of the T-cell receptor/CD3 complex, CD2, CD4, CD5, CD6, and CD8 (Preville et al. 2001). Peripheral T-cell depletion appears to be targeted at naïve cells, relatively sparing memory and regulatory T cells (Ruzek et al. 2009). About half of the patients treated with rATG recover more than 50% of initial lymphocyte depletion has been observed in some patients.

ATG also appears to control B-cell pathways by reducing Th populations, including B-cell complement-mediated lysis by binding to cell surface proteins shared by B and T cells, and by binding to unique B-cell surface marker, resulting in interference with B-cell activation and induction of apoptosis. ATG also impairs thymopoiesis, thus leading to durable lymphopenia with >90% reduction in circulating T cells (Bonnefoy-Berard et al. 1991). Its effects last approximately 3 months for most patients, and in some, for over 1 year post administration.

Due to initial T-cell activation upon surface receptor binding, ATG can also cause cytokine release syndrome (Bonnefoy-Berard et al. 1991). In milder cases it presents as high-grade fever, chills, and possibly rigors during or shortly after infusion. In

severe cases pulmonary edema with cardio-respiratory depression and even death may occur (Enderby and Keller 2015). To minimize such reactions, it is administered as a slow infusion over 6-8 h with premedication with antipyretics, antihistamines, and corticosteroids. Serum sickness can occur in 5-10% of patients with symptoms of fever, rash, arthralgias, and myalgias, occurring 5–15 days post ATG therapy. Thrombocytopenia and leukopenia are one of its most frequent side effects, experienced by 14-30% of patients (Enderby and Keller 2015). Severe and prolonged lymphocytopenia may last over 1 year. Due to the significant lymphopenia, ATG's most serious complications include the heightened risks of infection and malignancy (Enderby and Keller 2015). Hence, prophylaxis against CMV and PCP are obligatory peri-ATG administration. Malignancies such as lymphoma and post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder (PTLD) are much more common with ATG than IL-2 blocking therapies (discussed below). Interestingly, in a retrospective registry analysis, polyclonal ATG use in renal transplantation was associated with higher cardiovascular mortality (Meier-Kriesche et al. 2002). Prolonged CD4 T lymphocyte depletion has been associated with progression of atherosclerosis and cardiovascular mortality (Ducloux et al. 2010).

2.1.3 IL-2 Blockade

In the 1990s, two nondepleting monoclonal anti-CD25 antibodies directed against the IL-2 receptor were introduced: basiliximab and daclizumab (production of the latter was later discontinued). As described above, IL-2 is a major growth factor for activated T lymphocytes. Moreover, T-cell proliferation is a central event leading to graft rejection. IL-2 receptor antagonists bind the Tac-chain component of the IL-2 receptor, which is expressed in only a small fraction of activated lymphocytes (Enderby and Keller 2015). Hence, anti-IL2R therapies can potentially provide a more targeted immunomodulation compared to its polyclonal T-cell depleting counterparts. Additionally, through DNA recombinant technology most of the murine portion of the antibody was replaced with human acid sequences (creating chimeric antibody in the case of basiliximab, or humanized antibody in the case of daclizumab), thus circumventing the problems with antigenicity and short half-life that presented a challenge with OKT-3 therapies (Enderby and Keller 2015).

Basiliximab is well tolerated with no significant clinical toxicities or cytokine release syndrome. In fact, in clinical trials rates of adverse effects observed in basiliximab treated patients have been comparable to those in the placebo group (Kahan et al. 1999). Conveniently, basiliximab has no significant interactions with other immunosuppressive therapies, is not associated with increased risks of infections or malignancy, and leads to stable blood counts with no associated cell depletion. Due to its safety profile, it has become the induction agent of choice in lower immunological risk SOT recipients. Adverse effects are generally mild and include infections, pain, nausea, peripheral edema, hypertension, anemia, headache, hyperkalemia, hypercholesterolemia, increase in serum creatinine, and hypophosphatemia.

2.1.4 Outcomes on IL2RA vs ATG Induction Regimen

IL2RA and ATG are the most commonly used induction regimen in all SOT. There is now growing evidence, largely based on observational studies, on their comparative effectiveness and inherent limitations.

Kidney Transplantation

The kidney transplant literature is leading the way in providing insights on the comparative effectiveness of various induction therapies. In the late 1990s-early 2000s, a notable meta-analysis of randomized trials compared induction strategy with IL2RA, ATG, and placebo in a low immunological risk cohort and demonstrated IL2RA leads to 1/3 lower rates of biopsy-proven rejection and graft loss at 1 year compared to placebo (Webster et al. 2010). ATG was not superior to IL2RA in this analysis but IL2RA had better safety profile. This study formed the basis for 2009 Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) guidelines for management of the kidney transplant recipients which advocated for the routine use of induction therapy with IL2RA as first-line therapy in all kidney transplant recipients (grade 1B) (Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes Transplant Work Group 2009). KDIGO recommended that lymphocyte-depleting agents be reserved for patients at high immunological risk (grade 2B) defined as high number of HLA mismatches, younger recipient age, older donor age, black ethnicity (in the USA), panel reactive antibodies >0%, presence of a donor-specific antibody, blood group incompatibility, delayed onset of graft function and cold ischemia time >24 h (Hellemans et al. 2017).

However, the studies that formed the basis for this recommendation were primarily based on pre-tacrolimus maintenance regimen no longer relevant to contemporaneous clinical practice. Since the implementation of the triple regimen tacrolimus, mycophenolate mofetil and corticosteroids as the standard maintenance immunosuppression therapy, there has been a significant reduction in 1-year rejection rates form ~50% in the 1990s to ~10–15% in the current era (Hellemans et al. 2017). In that context, analyses based on more recent data have repeatedly shown no clinically significant differences in graft survival in standard risk patients when IL2RA is used vs control (Gralla and Wiseman 2010). Some of the studies report statistically significant reduction in acute rejection rates of 1–4% without impact on long-term graft outcomes (Lim et al. 2010; Tanriover et al. 2015).

On the other hand, antibody induction therapy plays a clearly defined role in higher immunological risk patients. The evidence stems from two randomized controlled trials comparing IL2RA vs rATG induction. In the first trial, maintenance therapy consisted of CsA, mycophenolate mofetil, and steroids (Brennan et al. 2006). In that study, rATG induction reduced the rates and severity of rejection by nearly half both at 1- and 5-year follow-up (Brennan et al. 2006; Brennan and Schnitzler 2008). In the second study, background maintenance therapy reflected modern practices and consisted of tacrolimus, mycophenolate mofetil, and corticosteroids (Noel et al. 2009). The study also showed significantly lower incidence and severity of rejection with rATG vs IL2RA by nearly half both at 1- and 5-year follow-up (Brennan and Schnitzler 2008). Apart from the

clear benefit of ATG over IL2R in preventing rejection incidence, no randomized trials have shown a benefit in long-term graft- or patient survival with rATG compared with IL2RA. Certainly the big impact on rejection rates reduces resource utilization and hence warrants the higher costs with ATG use over IL2RA.

Liver Transplantation

As an immune-privileged organ, liver transplantation is associated with the lowest utilization of induction therapies. In fact, use of induction therapies in liver transplantation remains controversial (Moini et al. 2015). Calcineurin inhibitor induced nephrotoxicity presents a big hurdle to long-term morbidity-free survival in this patient population. In fact, up to 20% of liver transplant recipients develop chronic kidney disease by year 5 post-transplant and if end-stage renal disease with dependence on dialysis is achieved, patient mortality increases 4.5-fold (Post et al. 2005). As such, induction therapies have been studied as part of CNI sparing or delayed CNI initiation strategies. Multiple small randomized controlled trials studying the use of IL2RA as renal sparing strategy with delayed CNI introduction have shown no clinically significant difference in rejection rates (although some studies achieved statistical significance) and variable impact on renal function preservation (Post et al. 2005; Moini et al. 2015). Furthermore, studies to assess impact of ATG induction have been limited by small sample size and disparate study designs, precluding any definitive conclusion to be drawn regarding its benefit in the LT population.

Additionally, antibody induction therapy has been used in liver transplant recipients as a steroid sparing strategy. IL-2RA induction therapies have been associated with less frequent diabetes mellitus, less CMV infections, and higher glomerular filtration rate vs rates observed with corticosteroids induction therapy. Similarly, ATG induction has been applied successfully with no observation of more severe recurrence of hepatitis C infection. Furthermore, unlike in kidney transplant patients, there is insufficient evidence linking ATG use with heightened risk of PTLD (Bittermann et al. 2019).

Heart and Lung Transplantation

In heart and lung transplantation, there are no randomized placebo-controlled trials comparing induction strategies with IL2RA versus ATG versus standard triple therapy.

Only ~50% of heart transplant programs currently employ a strategy of induction therapies (Colvin et al. 2021). A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials and observational studies showed that use of any type of induction therapy did not reduce risk of moderate-to-severe rejection, all-cause death, infection, and cancer compared to no antibody induction therapy (Briasoulis et al. 2018). The use of IL2RA was associated with significantly higher risk of moderate-to-severe rejection when compared to ATG but similar risk of death, infections, and cancer. Another analysis by Ansari et al. based on data from the ISHLT registry demonstrated in a multivariable Cox model that basiliximab was associated with increased mortality over 3-year follow-up with HR 1.22 compared to ATG use (Ansari et al. 2015a, b). None of these analyses employ matching of patients for immunological risk. There is an

ongoing single-center prospective randomized study which is exploring the use of ATG induction vs placebo in a lower immunological risk cohort (defined as having PRA <25%) (NCT03292861).

There are only two multicenter, randomized studies comparing basiliximab to rATG on the background of maintenance therapy with cyclosporine, mycophenolate mofetil, and steroids. At a six-month follow-up, the basiliximab was equally protective against rejection as rATG (Carrier et al. 2007; Mattei et al. 2007). Basiliximab was better tolerated than ATG and there was a higher rate of infectious deaths in the rATG group (Carrier et al. 2007; Mattei et al. 2007). On the other hand, the rATG induction was associated with higher rates of CMV viremia (Carrier et al. 2007; Mattei et al. 2007).

Similarly, in lung transplantation, no large, prospective, randomized, placebocontrolled trials exist to compare the risks and benefits of induction therapy with IL2RA or ATG compared with conventional immunosuppression. Current evidence suggests that the induction therapy may be associated with better outcomes, although controversy exists. Induction therapy may be associated with better outcomes including reduced rates of acute rejection, bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome and possibly may improve graft survival (Scheffert and Raza 2014). In a single-center study use of basiliximab as a renal sparing strategy no difference was found in rates of acute rejection or chronic lung allograft dysfunction in those patients that received basiliximab vs those who did not, however more patients in the basiliximab group died at 1 year (Linder et al. 2021). ISHLT Registry Study of 3,970 adult lung transplant recipients suggest that IL2RA and ATG are each associated with a survival benefit following lung transplant. Those treated with IL2RA had better graft survival than those treated with ATG and those who did not receive induction (Hachem et al. 2008).

2.2 Other Induction Therapies

2.2.1 Alemtuzumab

Alemtuzumab is a humanized rat monoclonal antibody targeting the CD52 cell surface glycoprotein, which is present almost exclusively on lymphocytes as well as natural killer (NK) cells and macrophages (Vathsala et al. 2005). CD52 binding induces cell lysis and profound immune cell depletion. It has been shown that recovery of B cells occurs between 3 and 6 months and that of T cells – between 12 and 24 months after administration (Watson et al. 2005). The rationale for its use was to allow the application of steroid-free regimen. Additionally, upon lymphocyte reconstitution, there is a phenotypic shift in the T-cell population towards greater proportion of CD4⁺CD25^{high} cells and in the B cells – towards IgM-producing naïve B cells (Enderby and Keller 2015). This lymphocyte profile has been found to be similar to stable immunosuppression-free kidney recipients, hence postulating whether alemtuzumab could pave the way for immunological tolerance. To that end, alemtuzumab was tested in a randomized controlled trial and compared to basiliximab or thymoglobulin as an induction immunosuppressant as part of an

early steroid-withdrawal regimen in kidney transplant recipients (Hanaway et al. 2011). Alemtuzumab demonstrated lower rejection rates at 1 year when compared to conventional induction therapy with basiliximab or thymoglobulin in kidney transplant recipients. Alemtuzumab demonstrated superiority in rejection rates among low-risk immunologic risk patients compared to basiliximab, but similar rejection rates when compared to thymoglobulin in high-risk kidney transplant recipients. Similarly the 3C study in kidney transplant recipients examined the outcomes with alemtuzumab-based induction treatment (i.e., alemtuzumab followed by low-dose tacrolimus and mycophenolate without steroids) versus basiliximab-based induction treatment (basiliximab followed by standard-dose tacrolimus, mycophenolate, and prednisolone) (Group CSC et al. 2014). At 6 months follow-up the alemtuzumab group showed reduced risk of biopsy-proven acute rejection across broad range of patients. In a meta-analysis of four randomized controlled trials in renal transplantation, alemtuzumab induction appeared to decrease acute rejection at a cost of increased cytomegalovirus disease despite early steroid withdrawal in three of the studies. Patient-centered outcomes including reduced death or lower toxicity did not appear to be improved (Hill et al. 2017).

Unlike kidney transplant recipients, the data on alemtuzumab use in other SOT is limited. In liver transplantation alemtuzumab with minimization of maintenance immunosuppression using tacrolimus monotherapy was associated with comparable graft survival to patients receiving conventional therapy, although its use in patients with a history of hepatitis C was associated with higher rate of complication and death in one study (Marcos et al. 2004). Small single-center observational studies in HT recipients have shown lower rejection risk with its use compared to standard immunosuppression (Gale et al. 2019). In heart transplantation, induction therapy with alemtuzumab resulted in a similar 12-month survival compared to no induction, but a greater freedom from rejection despite lower calcineurin levels and without the use of steroids (Teuteberg et al. 2010). In a meta-analysis of observational studies in heart and lung transplant recipients, alemtuzumab use was associated with lower rejection rates when compared with conventional induction therapy agents (antithymocyte globulin, basiliximab, and tacrolimus) (Li et al. 2018).

In a randomized trial 60 patients undergoing lung transplantation were followed up for 2 years and assessed for renal function as the prespecified primary end-point. Secondary end points included survival, refractory or recurrent acute rejection, and freedom from bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome (BOS). The study demonstrated no difference in renal function between the two induction groups at 6 and 12 months post-transplant. Additionally, there were no differences noted in any of the secondary end points. Patients receiving alemtuzumab induction however experienced significantly less grade $\geq A2$ acute rejection within the first post-transplant year when compared to those receiving ATG (Jaksch et al. 2014). In a retrospective single-center analysis including 446 lung transplant recipients, of which 52% received alemtuzumab, 11% received ATG, and 37% received no induction therapy, the alemtuzumab group had the lowest rate of chronic kidney insufficiency and infection in the first year (Benazzo et al. 2019). Improved survival and low rates of ACR, lymphocytic bronchiolitis, and chronic lung allograft dysfunction (CLAD) were found in the group receiving any induction therapy. Retrospective UNOS Registry Study in 6117 lung transplant recipients demonstrates longer median survival for alemtuzumab and basiliximab versus no induction. Recipients of alemtuzumab had a lower incidence of BOS at 5 years (Furuya et al. 2016). There is however concern that these potent lymphocyte-depleting agents may reduce regulatory cell populations important in tolerance and lower maintenance immuno-suppressive regimens commonly used with alemtuzumab may result in increased rates of late rejection (Todd and Palmer 2014).

Common major adverse effects include leukopenia which can last several months, anemia, thrombocytopenia, and infusion-related reactions.

2.2.2 Costimulatory Blockade (Belatacept)

The costimulation pathway is critical for T-cell activation. CD28 is a crucial costimulatory molecule required for T-cell activation, and CTLA-4, its homologue, attenuates T-cell activation. Both CD28 and CTLA-4 bind to CD80 and CD86 that are found on antigen-presenting cells. Inhibition of CD80/86 receptors with a highaffinity molecule blocks costimulation and inhibits T-cell activation (Enderby and Keller 2015). Belatacept is a fusion protein composed of the human IgG constant domain linked to the modified extracellular moiety of cytotoxic T-lymphocyteassociated antigen 4, a homolog of CD28. Belatacept binds to CD80 and CD86 on antigen-presenting cell and inhibits CD28-mediated T-cell costimulation which is essential for T-cell activation and graft rejection. Belatacept was approved by the US FDA in 2011 for use in combination with basiliximab, mycophenolate mofetil, and corticosteroids for rejection prophylaxis in adult renal transplant recipients who are EBV seropositive (Enderby and Keller 2015; Masson et al. 2014). The premise behind introducing belatacept early post kidney transplantation was to delay or spare CNI use thus minimizing toxicities commonly associated with these agents, including nephrotoxicity, hyperglycemia, hypertension, among others (Masson et al. 2014). In the Belatacept Evaluation of Nephroprotection and Efficacy as First-line Immunosuppression Trial (BENEFIT), a 3-year, randomized, active-controlled, parallel group, multicenter phase 3 trial and the BENEFIT-EXT trial of recipients of extended criteria donors, use of de novo belatacept was associated with improved renal preservation, comparable graft and patient survival, with preservation of renal function maintained long-term (Vincenti et al. 2010a, b; Durrbach et al. 2010). In the kidney transplant population, belatacept has been shown to reduce incidence of de novo DSA formation and to improve long-term renal function and graft survival (Masson et al. 2014; Vincenti et al. 2016; Bray et al. 2018a, b). However, the rates and severity of acute cellular rejection are higher compared with cyclosporine-based regimen and they usually occur in the first 3 months post transplant (Bray et al. 2018b). Importantly, however, the increased rate of early rejection has not been shown to negatively impact 7-year patient or graft survival (Vincenti 2016). Additionally, based on 7-year outcomes data belatacept has been shown to have comparable safety profile to traditional immunosuppressive regimen (Vincenti 2016).

Subsequently, the multicenter, randomized Belatacept Early Steroid Withdrawal Trial (BEST) was conducted exploring the feasibility for simultaneous CNI
avoidance and early corticosteroid withdrawal in kidney transplant recipients (Kaufman et al. 2021). The study tested 3 comparator groups – alemtuzumab/ belatacept, rATG/belatacept, or rATG/tacrolimus. At 2 years follow-up, there were no significant differences in the primary composite end-point of rates of death, graft loss, or eGFR <45 mL/min/1.73 m² among groups. However, a significantly greater proportion of tacrolimus-treated patients had an eGFR <45 mL/min/1.73 m². The proportion of corticosteroid-free patients at month 24 was similar across the groups (Kumar et al. 2017).

Drawing on the success of belatacept in kidney transplantation, a phase II study was conducted in de novo adult liver transplant recipients comparing 2 treatment doses of belatacept in combination with mycophenolate mofetil to a tacrolimusbased regimen (Klintmalm et al. 2014). Patients were more than 2 years post-LT at the time. At 12 months, belatacept treated patients had higher rates of acute rejection as compared with the control group and in two of three belatacept groups there were higher rates of death due to infection and graft loss relative to the standard-of-care tacrolimus and MMF control group. The glomerular filtration rate (GFR) was better in the belatacept group as compared with the tacrolimus group. The trial was terminated early due to the rate of adverse outcomes seen in the belatacept group (Klintmalm et al. 2014). Belatacept is therefore not recommended in liver transplantation. Concerns for PTLD also have led to a black box warning against its use in Epstein-Barr seronegative recipients.

There is less data for efficacy of belatacept as part of induction therapy in other solid organ transplantation. Currently, there is an ongoing pilot clinical study to determine the safety of belatacept in de novo heart transplant recipients (NCT04477629). It seeks to enroll 10 primary heart transplant recipients, EBV seropositive, who will receive belatacept in addition to mycophenolate mofetil, corticosteroids, along with tacrolimus tapering regimen over the 9 months post OHT. Another study seeks to assess efficacy of belatacept in improving renal function in heart transplant recipients with renal dysfunction at 3 months post transplant in conjunction with CNI withdrawal (NCT04180085).

3 Strategies to Neutralize the Effect of Pre-Formed Antibodies

The deleterious role of pre-formed donor specific antibodies (DSAs) has been well established. Strategies to reduce their impact on post-transplant outcomes have been piloted in the kidney transplant recipients. Various combinations of therapies have been applied in this setting. Therapeutic plasma exchange (TPE) entails the physical removal of circulating alloantibodies but its effect is short-lived with rebound uprise of antibody production after cessation (Valenzuela and Reed 2017). Hence, it is combined with other more durable therapies. Intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) is a pooled preparation of immunoglobulins with pleotropic targets (Valenzuela and Reed 2017). IVIG inhibits activation of innate immune cells, neutralizes complement, modulates B- and plasma cells, enhances Treg function, induces apoptosis of

activated effector T cells, and downregulates production of inflammatory cytokines (Valenzuela and Reed 2017). Rituximab is a chimeric anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody which directly inhibits B-cell proliferation, induces apoptosis, and reduces the production of antibodies (Valenzuela and Reed 2017).

Loupy et al. compared two induction strategies in kidney transplant recipients with pre-formed DSAs: group 1 received standard triple therapy with addition of four high-dose IVIG infusions and group 2 received the same dose of IVIG with additional rituximab and PP (Loupy et al. 2010). At 1 year post-transplant, group 2 was characterized by lower rate of transplant glomerulopathy, lower rate of chronic AMR, and better glomerular filtration rate (Loupy et al. 2010). A retrospective study of highly sensitized kidney transplant recipients (crossmatch positive or DSA positive) treated with IVIG and rituximab induction therapy demonstrated higher rates of AMR in sensitized recipients compared to low-risk kidney transplant controls, but similar patient or graft survival at 6-year follow-up (Kahwaji et al. 2016). In another study, the combination of rituximab with rATG induction therapy in highly sensitized patients (mean class I panel reactive antibodies (PRA) > 80%) exhibited better graft survival at 5 years compared to rATG induction therapy alone (Laftavi et al. 2015). A study of HLA-incompatible recipients (mean cPRA = 80%, repeat HLA mismatches (80%), CDC positive, FCXM positive, or DSA positive) found that rituximab induction had no effect on AMR rates or 5-year alllograft survival compared to patients transplanted without rituximab (Jackson et al. 2015). Despite the observed acceptable outcomes with rituximab use, it is not widely used due to safety concerns, such as susceptibility to bacterial infections, post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD), hypogammaglobulinemia, and progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML) (Jackson et al. 2015).

In the field of cardiac transplantation, data on IVIG use are more limited and originate from observational data alone. When used in combination with TPE, IVIG has been reported to reduce the incidence of rejection after transplantation across a positive crossmatch (Leech et al. 2006; Pisani et al. 1999). There is paucity of evidence for use of the above antibody-directed strategies in other solid organ transplantation. Moreover, in liver transplantation donor HLA typing and hence, pre-formed DSA identification is not routinely performed.

4 Monoclonal and Polyclonal Antibodies Outside Induction Therapy

In transplantation, activation of both innate and adaptive immune systems leads to injury and rejection of the allograft, although the latter plays a predominant role through both initial injury and establishment of a memory response which allows a rapid, targeted, and robust response to antigenic re-exposure. Both cellular and humoral mechanisms form critical components of allograft rejection and are important therapeutic targets. Alloantigens (HLA Class I and II molecules) derived from the graft are presented to naïve T cells which mature to Th helper cells in the germinal centers of regional lymph nodes and spleen of the recipient.

Dendritic cells, which act as sentinels in the peripheral tissues, recognize and pick up alloantigens, process them, and present them to T cells. Antigen presentation occurs in conjunction with HLA class I molecules to CD 8+ cytotoxic T cells and with HLA class II molecules to CD4+ Th cells and occurs in combination with costimulatory molecules (B7 and CD40). Donor antigen-presenting cells may also directly present antigens to T cells. T cells of appropriate specificity respond to the antigen, which causes either direct cytotoxicity (CD8+ T cells) (acute cellular rejection (ACR)) or secretion of cytokines (Th cells) that will stimulate B lymphocyte response or recruit other inflammatory cells. B cells provide humoral immunity by secreting antibodies specific for the pathogen or antigen. Th cell activation occurs through production of a number of cytokines including IL6 and IL21. Alloantibody then migrates to the graft and initiates injury through complement activation, antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) or direct interaction of antibody with cell surface antigens with resultant antibody-mediated rejection (AMR).

The development of polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies has provided an armamentarium for both prevention and treatment of allograft rejection (Fig. 1). These therapies have targeted specific critical points in the immune cascade. Many agents have been developed for treatment of autoimmune or other diseases and have been adapted in the transplant arena with variable degrees of success. Therapeutic windows are variable with many antibody preparations associated with toxicity and importantly efficacy tends to be highly variable and, in many cases, limited. Clinical use of these agents is further hampered by lack of clinical trials.

4.1 Prophylactic Therapy

Antibody preparations have been widely used for prevention of hyperacute or acute rejection at transplant, historically with the hope of inducing graft tolerance, hence the misnomer "induction therapy" (see above). Over the years, several preparations have had a varying degree of popularity, with some now only of historical interest. The majority of these have been potent cytolytic therapies focused on abrogating the cellular response to the implanted allograft. However, as use of induction therapy is not universal especially for certain organs, there has been limited randomized clinical data to suggest incremental efficacy with this approach.

4.2 Intravenous Immunoglobulin (IVIg)

IVIg are commercial preparations of immune globulin that consists of intact IgG molecules pooled from the plasma of thousands of healthy blood donors. IVIg has multiple and complex immune effects. These include neutralization of circulating antibodies, inhibition of B-cell activation and maturation through upregulation of inhibitory B-cell Fc γ RIIB, inhibition of B-cell growth factors, and cross-linking B-cell receptor and Fc γ RIIB, which reduce antigen presentation activity and induce B-cell apoptosis (Chih and Patel 2016). Most of IVIg products are approved for the

treatment of primary humoral immunodeficiency and immune thrombocytopenic purpura.

In a randomized clinical trial in sensitized patients awaiting renal transplantation, repeated infusions of IVIg significantly reduced PRA and improved transplant rates compared to placebo (Jordan et al. 2004). In another randomized trial a significant survival benefit was demonstrated in HLA-sensitized patients who underwent desensitization (pretransplant and perioperative plasma exchange with IVIg) prior to living kidney transplant when compared to sensitized patients who waited for a compatible organ without desensitization (Montgomery et al. 2011). Multiple observational studies reported variable efficacy of IVIg \pm plasmapheresis in reducing pretransplant sensitization (Shehata et al. 2010).

Early studies demonstrated that IVIg and plasmapheresis decreased PRA and shortened the waiting time on the list for sensitized heart transplant candidates (Leech et al. 2006; Pisani et al. 1999; John et al. 1999, 2001). True efficacy of IVIg is difficult to quantify due to the variability in sensitization of treated patients, inherent variability in IVIg polyclonal preparations and frequent use of concurrent therapies (see below).

IVIg is usually well tolerated although various adverse effects have been reported. Infusion reactions may occur, minimized with corticosteroid, antihistamine, and analgesic prophylaxis. Renal impairment has been described with sucrose containing preparations, as have thrombosis and transfusion-related acute lung injury. Hemolytic anemia is caused by the presence of blood group antibodies, namely, anti-A, anti-B in IVIG products, and is an under-recognized complication of IVIg therapy.

4.3 Muromonab-OKT3

Muromonab is mostly of historical interest as it is no longer clinically available. Clinical data are limited with no survival benefit compared to other treatments, although its use facilitated delayed calcineurin inhibitor therapy in renal and hepatic transplant recipients with lower rejection rates. With respect to use in steroid resistant rejection in renal transplantation, muromonab appeared equivalent or less effective at preventing graft loss compared to ATG (see below) but the latter was better tolerated (Mariat et al. 1998; Kainz et al. 2010).

4.4 Antithymocyte Globulins

While ATG has been used for steroid resistant and recurrent rejection following renal transplantation, no prospective data on using ATG in acute antibody-mediated rejection is available. In a small retrospective study of seven patients developing early acute AMR, use of pulse steroids, ATG and plasma exchange resulted in improvement in graft function (Shah et al. 2004). Given the absence of effectiveness of ATG on plasma cells and AMR rates as high as 40% in desensitized patients

despite ATG induction, the use of ATG in the treatment of AMR is limited to being part of combination therapy. The use of ATG has been associated with increased risk of opportunistic infections and malignancy (Malvezzi et al. 2015).

In a retrospective single-center analysis of treatment of corticosteroid resistant acute cellular rejection after liver transplantation, use of ATG in 20 recipients was associated with resolution of biopsy confirmed rejection in 90% of cases with excellent short-term outcomes. However, some liver transplant recipients failed to respond, and 3-year survival was reduced, even in those who responded to antithymocyte globulin (Palmer et al. 2018).

4.5 Alemtuzumab

With regard to the use of alemtuzumab for acute rejection, the most extensive reported experience is in renal transplantation (van der Zwan et al. 2020). Outcomes of patients treated with alemtuzumab for acute kidney allograft rejection were compared with that of patients treated with rabbit ATG for acute rejection. Outcomes of 116 alemtuzumab-treated patients were compared with those of 108 propensity score matched patients treated with rATG for acute rejection. Patient and allograft survival following treatment with either regimen were not different. Infection-free survival after alemtuzumab treatment was superior compared with that of rATG-treated patients and infusion-related adverse events occurred less frequently after alemtuzumab treatment.

Alemtuzumab has been used in treatment of acute rejection in lung transplantation refractory to corticosteroids and ATG and for treatment of bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome (BOS) (Reams et al. 2007). In 12 patients with refractory acute rejection, use of alemtuzumab resulted in significant improvement in histological rejection scores. At 2 years, freedom from BOS was observed in 65% of patients. In ten patients treated with alemtuzumab for BOS, although there was no statistically significant change in forced expiratory volume in 1 s (FEV1) before and after alemtuzumab treatment, stabilization or improvement in BOS grade occurred in 70% of patients. Patient survival 2 years after alemtuzumab for BOS was 69%. With an aggressive infection prophylaxis protocol, despite a dramatic decline in CD4 counts in alemtuzumab-treated patients, only one patient developed a lethal infection.

4.6 Interleukin-2 Receptor Antagonists

Most experience with these agents is with their use as induction agents for the prevention of rejection where CD25 blockade may be more effective prior to production of IL2 following T-cell activation in the rejection cascade. In renal transplantation, while it appears effective in preventing rejection in low-risk patients, in an early randomized study of patients at high risk for rejection or delayed graft function, ATG was found to be superior to basiliximab in reducing the incidence and

severity of acute rejection but not the incidence of delayed graft function (Brennan et al. 2006). In a retrospective analysis, an increased incidence of acute rejection was observed in low-risk renal transplant recipients with PRA >10% (Pereira et al. 2016). While evidence of use of basiliximab in heart transplantation is sparse, in one systematic review, there appeared to be no benefit of its use with respect to survival or reduction in acute rejection, with some studies showing superiority of ATG over basiliximab in the prevention of acute rejection (Moller et al. 2008).

4.7 Rituximab

Rituximab is a genetically engineered chimeric murine/human monoclonal IgG1 kappa antibody directed against the CD20 antigen, which is a surface antigen present on B cells. Therefore, it acts by depleting normal as well as pathogenic B cells while sparing plasma cells and hematopoietic stem cells as they do not express the CD20 surface antigen. In the USA, it is approved for the treatment of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, and rheumatoid arthritis. Rituximab mediates B-cell lysis through ADCC and CDC. Treatment is generally well tolerated although infusion-related reactions may occur, manageable with acetaminophen, antihistamine, and corticosteroid premedication or by slowing the infusion rate.

Rituximab in solid organ transplantation has been mainly used as part of a desensitization strategy, for attempting empiric management of AMR and treatment of post-transplant CD20 positive lymphoproliferative disease. Patients sensitized to HLA antigens have a longer time to transplantation, increased wait-list mortality and greater risk of rejection after transplantation. Rituximab has been used in various settings to decrease circulating HLA antibodies in highly sensitized patients to facilitate transplantation. In renal transplantation, the use of rituximab in combination with intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) in 20 highly sensitized patients awaiting transplantation resulted in a decrease in mean PRA (77 \pm 19% to $44 \pm 30\%$), resulting in a significantly decreased mean time to transplant (from 144 ± 89 months to 5 ± 6 months in 16 of 20 patients transplanted) with excellent 1 year patient and graft survival (94% and 100%, respectively) (Vo et al. 2008). In a larger study of 207 patients from the same group, use of rituximab and IVIG for desensitization in patients with DSA or PRA $\geq 80\%$ led to a transplant rate of 71%, 95%, and 87.5% patient and graft survival, respectively, 22% with AMR and 5.5% with allograft loss due to AMR (Vo et al. 2013). The use of rituximab and IVIG in conjunction with the 26S proteasome inhibitor bortezomib which targets plasma cells in 19 patients awaiting renal transplantation was shown to increase transplant rate to 42% compared to 23% for untreated controls, increasing the probability of deceased donor kidney transplantation (hazard ratio [HR], 46.9; 95% confidence interval [CI], 4.5-634.2; P = 0.004) (Jeong et al. 2016).

Rituximab has also been used at the time of transplantation for highly sensitized patients in the setting of positive cytotoxic or flow cytometric crossmatch, positive DSA but negative crossmatch and in patients with high PRA. Efficacy of therapy is difficult to discern as various concomitant therapies including plasmapheresis and

induction regimens were used. In one meta-analysis of 589 highly sensitized patients awaiting renal transplantation, rituximab induction (n = 312) pretransplant lead to significantly fewer AMR episodes and higher 1-year graft survival rates (Zhao et al. 2014). However, in a randomized, double blind, placebo-controlled study of 280 patients randomized to a single-dose rituximab or placebo during transplant surgery with standard triple immunosuppression, the biopsy-proven acute rejection rate at 6 months was similar in the two groups (van den Hoogen et al. 2015).

In heart transplantation, data on the use of rituximab is limited. In a retrospective single-center analysis of 21 patients with PRA > 10%, plasmapheresis was variably utilized with IVIG and with or without rituximab. These treated patients were compared with untreated patients with PRA > 10% (N = 74) or patients with PRA < 10% (N = 428). Treatment resulted in a decrease in mean PRA from 71% to 31% with all patients able to proceed to transplantation. Desensitization therapy was associated with higher rates of AMR but not ACR at 1-year but comparable 5-year survival, freedom from cardiac allograft vasculopathy and non-fata major adverse cardiac events and treated infection compared to the other two groups (Kobashigawa et al. 2011). However, the CTOT-11 randomized trial raised concerns about the use of rituximab in heart transplantation. Rituximab as an induction therapy in non-sensitized patients was associated with a marked and unexpected increase in cardiac allograft vasculopathy progression as assessed by intravascular ultrasound compared to placebo (Starling et al. 2019). Potential mechanisms for this observed effect may relate to elimination of regulatory B cells.

4.8 Obinutuzumab

Obinutuzumab is a fully humanized genetically engineered CD-20 directed monoclonal antibody targeting B-cell lysis predominantly through ADCC, directly activating death signaling pathways and but also through activation of the complement cascade. Obinutuzumab induces increased B-cell depletion relative to rituximab and may therefore be more effective for desensitization. In an initial phase 1 study of the safety, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics of obinutuzumab in 20 highly sensitized patients with end-stage renal disease, obinutuzumab plus IVIG resulted in profound peripheral B-cell depletion and also appeared to reduce B-cell populations in retroperitoneal lymph nodes. However, reductions in anti-HLA antibodies, number of unacceptable antigens, and cPRA score were limited and not clinically meaningful for most patients (Redfield et al. 2019).

4.9 Tocilizumab

Tocilizumab is a humanized monoclonal antibody that targets both soluble and membrane-bound forms of the Interleukin-6 receptor (IL-6R). IL-6 is a major cytokine which functions as a master regulator of inflammation. It plays a fundamental role in the development, maturation, and activation of not only T cells but also B cells and plasma cells (Tanaka and Kishimoto 2014; Jordan et al. 2017). It promotes Th2 cell differentiation and the development of a humoral immune response. Diseases have been associated with excessive IL-6 production and are generally characterized by unregulated antibody production and autoimmunity (Hunter and Jones 2015). Clinically, tocilizumab is approved for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, giant cell arteritis, polyarticular and systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis, cytokine release syndrome and has recently been recommended for use in certain hospitalized patients with rapid respiratory decompensation due to COVID-19.

IL-6 is a major cytokine upregulated during allograft rejection and a mediator of allograft injury (Jordan et al. 2020). In conjunction with costimulation signal blockade, its inhibition increased allograft tolerance by limiting the differentiation of effector cells and by promoting the migration of Tregs into the grafts (Zhao et al. 2012). IL-6R blockade resulted in decreased antibody production by both splenic and bone marrow plasma cells including anti-HLA antibodies (Jordan et al. 2017).

Initial experience in renal transplantation appears promising. Ten broadly sensitized patients awaiting kidney transplant refractory to IVIg and rituximab were treated with IVIg and tocilizumab in an open label single-arm phase I/II clinical trial. DSA strength was significantly reduced not only at transplant but also at 12 months after transplantation (Vo et al. 2015). In a study of 36 kidney transplant recipients with chronic active AMR and transplant glomerulopathy refractory to conventional therapy treated with tocilizumab, an improvement in the histological features of chronic AMR and a modest decline in the MFI of immunodominant DSA beginning at 24 months after the initiation of the therapy were observed (Choi et al. 2017).

Experience with tocilizumab in thoracic organ transplantation is evolving. A randomized multicenter clinical trial is ongoing to evaluate the use of tocilizumab induction versus placebo with standard triple immunosuppressive regimen in low immunological risk heart transplant recipients (NCT03644667).

In autoimmune disorders, use of tocilizumab has been associated with an increased risk of serious infections, including tuberculosis, bacterial, invasive fungal, viral, and other opportunistic infections. Hepatic dysfunction including late serious hepatic injury and hematologic toxicities with neutropenia and thrombocytopenia have also been described.

4.10 Clazakizumab

Clazakizumab is an investigational aglycosylated humanized rabbit monoclonal antibody against the IL-6 molecule. A recent phase 2 randomized clinical trial of the drug in late AMR following renal transplantation in 20 patients suggests a potentially beneficial effect of clazakizumab on AMR activity and progression but the trial was withdrawn due to a 25% incidence of serious infectious events (Doberer et al. 2021).

4.11 CD38 Antibodies

As alloantibody-producing plasma cells express CD38 at a higher level than other CD38+ hematopoietic cells, antibodies targeting the CD38 molecule appear an attractive choice for management of solid organ transplant recipients with allosensitization.

CD38 antibodies induce a profound depletion of CD38+ plasma cells and represent important therapies for the treatment of multiple myeloma. Daratumumab is a fully human IgG1-kappa monoclonal antibody which has multiple effects including Fc-dependent immune-effector mechanisms (ADCC and CDC) and direct effects including induction of apoptosis, as well as inhibition of CD38 ectoenzyme function, which may lead to disruption of the PCs niche. These effects are associated with profound and sustained CD38+ cells depletion, mostly plasma cells and NK cells. Isatuximab is a chimeric IgG1-kappa anti-CD38 antibody which has stronger direct effects than daratumumab but lower ability to induce Fc-dependent immune-effector mechanisms. Currently, only few case reports have been published regarding the use of CD38 antibodies for desensitization in patients awaiting transplantation or for treatment of ABMR (Joher et al. 2021).

4.12 Eculizumab

Eculizumab is a recombinant humanized monoclonal antibody which blocks activation of terminal complement components. It binds specifically to the terminal complement protein C5, inhibiting its cleavage into C5a and C5b, thereby preventing the release of the inflammatory mediator C5a and the formation of the membrane attack complex (C5b-9).

As stated above, complement-dependent pathways play a key role in the AMR-induced acute allograft injuries. Theoretically, inhibition of the terminal complement pathway may have several advantages over the proximal inhibition, chiefly, preservation of the main immune-protective functions of the complement cascade.

Eculizumab is approved for the treatment of paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria, atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome, generalized myasthenia gravis with antiacetylcholine receptor antibody positive, and neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder with anti-aquaporin-4 antibody positive.

Eculizumab has been evaluated in the prevention of AMR and graft loss in B-cell positive flow crossmatch kidney transplant recipients from living donors (Stegall et al. 2011). Biopsy-proven AMR in the first 3 months post-transplant in 26 highly sensitized recipients receiving eculizumab post-transplant was compared to a historical control group of 51 sensitized patients treated with a similar plasma exchange-based protocol without eculizumab. The incidence of AMR was 7.7% in the eculizumab group compared to 41.2% in the control group (p = 0.0031). On 1-year protocol biopsy, transplant glomerulopathy was found to be present in 6.7% eculizumab-treated recipients and in 35.7% of control patients (p = 0.044).

However, beyond 1 year eculizumab did not appear to prevent transplant glomerulopathy in patients with persistently high B-cell flow crossmatch (Cornell et al. 2015). In a single-arm open label trial, 80 patients transplanted with pre-formed DSA were treated with a 9-week eculizumab course with acceptable outcomes. Observed treatment failure rate (8.8%) was significantly lower than expected for standard care (40%; P < 0.001). At 36 months, graft and patient survival rates were 83.4% and 91.5%, respectively) (Glotz et al. 2019).

Our group recently reported a first non-randomized, open label, single-arm prospective trial of eculizumab in high immunological risk heart transplantation. The main inclusion criteria were pretransplant $PRA \ge 70\%$ and high level of DSA at transplant. Terminal complement inhibition was well tolerated and associated with favorable outcomes. No patient experienced hemodynamic compromise or graft dysfunction during the first-year post-transplant. When comparing eculizumab-treated patients with plasmapheresis-IVIg treated patients at equivalent immunological risk, eculizumab was associated with a dramatically decrease in the risk of biopsy-proven AMR (Patel et al. 2021). The use of eculizumab after lung transplantation is limited to case reports of rescue therapy for severe AMR.

The use of eculizumab is associated with an increased risk of Neisseria meningitidis infections. A vaccination against N. meningitidis at least 15 days before starting therapy is required. Where this is not possible, prophylactic antibiotics should be administered until 2 weeks after completion of therapy. There have been anecdotal reports of the use of eculizumab for the treatment of AMR following renal, lung, and heart transplantation (Kittleson et al. 2021; Tan et al. 2019; Yelken et al. 2015).

References

- Ansari D, Lund LH, Stehlik J, Andersson B, Hoglund P, Edwards L et al (2015a) Induction with anti-thymocyte globulin in heart transplantation is associated with better long-term survival compared with basiliximab. J Heart Lung Transplant 34(10):1283–1291. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.healun.2015.04.001
- Ansari D, Hoglund P, Andersson B, Nilsson J (2015b) Comparison of basiliximab and antithymocyte globulin as induction therapy in pediatric heart transplantation: a survival analysis. J Am Heart Assoc 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.115.002790
- Benazzo A, Schwarz S, Muckenhuber M, Schweiger T, Murakozy G, Moser B et al (2019) Alemtuzumab induction combined with reduced maintenance immunosuppression is associated with improved outcomes after lung transplantation: a single Centre experience. PLoS One 14(1): e0210443. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0210443
- Bittermann T, Hubbard RA, Lewis JD, Goldberg DS (2019) The use of induction therapy in liver transplantation is highly variable and is associated with posttransplant outcomes. Am J Transplant 19(12):3319–3327. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.15513
- Bonnefoy-Berard N, Vincent C, Revillard JP (1991) Antibodies against functional leukocyte surface molecules in polyclonal antilymphocyte and antithymocyte globulins. Transplantation 51(3):669–673. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007890-199103000-00024
- Bray RA, Gebel HM, Townsend R, Roberts ME, Polinsky M, Yang L et al (2018a) De novo donorspecific antibodies in belatacept-treated vs cyclosporine-treated kidney-transplant recipients:

Post hoc analyses of the randomized phase III BENEFIT and BENEFIT-EXT studies. Am J Transplant 18(7):1783–1789. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.14721

- Bray RA, Gebel HM, Townsend R, Roberts ME, Polinsky M, Yang L et al (2018b) Posttransplant reduction in preexisting donor-specific antibody levels after belatacept- versus cyclosporinebased immunosuppression: Post hoc analyses of BENEFIT and BENEFIT-EXT. Am J Transplant 18(7):1774–1782. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.14738
- Brennan DC, Schnitzler MA (2008) Long-term results of rabbit antithymocyte globulin and basiliximab induction. N Engl J Med 359(16):1736–1738. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMc0805714
- Brennan DC, Daller JA, Lake KD, Cibrik D, Del Castillo D, Thymoglobulin Induction Study Group (2006) Rabbit antithymocyte globulin versus basiliximab in renal transplantation. N Engl J Med 355(19):1967–1977. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa060068
- Briasoulis A, Inampudi C, Pala M, Asleh R, Alvarez P, Bhama J (2018) Induction immunosuppressive therapy in cardiac transplantation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Heart Fail Rev 23(5):641–649. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10741-018-9691-2
- Brook MO, Wood KJ, Jones ND (2006) The impact of memory T cells on rejection and the induction of tolerance. Transplantation 82(1):1–9. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.tp.0000226082. 17507.da
- Carrier M, Leblanc MH, Perrault LP, White M, Doyle D, Beaudoin D et al (2007) Basiliximab and rabbit anti-thymocyte globulin for prophylaxis of acute rejection after heart transplantation: a non-inferiority trial. J Heart Lung Transplant 26(3):258–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun. 2007.01.006
- Chih S, Patel J (2016) Desensitization strategies in adult heart transplantation-will persistence pay off? J Heart Lung Transplant 35(8):962–972. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2016.03.021
- Choi J, Aubert O, Vo A, Loupy A, Haas M, Puliyanda D et al (2017) Assessment of tocilizumab (anti-interleukin-6 receptor monoclonal) as a potential treatment for chronic antibody-mediated rejection and transplant glomerulopathy in HLA-sensitized renal allograft recipients. Am J Transplant 17(9):2381–2389. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.14228
- Chong AS, Alegre ML (2012) The impact of infection and tissue damage in solid-organ transplantation. Nat Rev Immunol 12(6):459–471. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3215
- Cippa PE, Schiesser M, Ekberg H, van Gelder T, Mueller NJ, Cao CA et al (2015) Risk stratification for rejection and infection after kidney transplantation. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 10(12): 2213–2220. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.01790215
- Colvin M, Smith JM, Ahn Y, Skeans MA, Messick E, Goff R et al (2021) OPTN/SRTR 2019 annual data report: heart. Am J Transplant 21(Suppl 2):356–440. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt. 16492
- Cornell LD, Schinstock CA, Gandhi MJ, Kremers WK, Stegall MD (2015) Positive crossmatch kidney transplant recipients treated with eculizumab: outcomes beyond 1 year. Am J Transplant 15(5):1293–1302. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13168
- Doberer K, Duerr M, Halloran PF, Eskandary F, Budde K, Regele H et al (2021) A randomized clinical trial of anti-IL-6 antibody clazakizumab in late antibody-mediated kidney transplant rejection. J Am Soc Nephrol 32(3):708–722. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2020071106
- Ducloux D, Courivaud C, Bamoulid J, Vivet B, Chabroux A, Deschamps M et al (2010) Prolonged CD4 T cell lymphopenia increases morbidity and mortality after renal transplantation. J Am Soc Nephrol 21(5):868–875. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2009090976
- Durrbach A, Pestana JM, Pearson T, Vincenti F, Garcia VD, Campistol J et al (2010) A phase III study of belatacept versus cyclosporine in kidney transplants from extended criteria donors (BENEFIT-EXT study). Am J Transplant 10(3):547–557. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143. 2010.03016.x
- Enderby C, Keller CA (2015) An overview of immunosuppression in solid organ transplantation. Am J Manag Care 21(1 Suppl):s12–s23
- Furuya Y, Jayarajan SN, Taghavi S, Cordova FC, Patel N, Shiose A et al (2016) The impact of alemtuzumab and basiliximab induction on patient survival and time to bronchiolitis obliterans

syndrome in double lung transplantation recipients. Am J Transplant 16(8):2334–2341. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13739

- Gale SE, Ravichandran B, Ton VK, Pham S, Reed BN (2019) Alemtuzumab induction versus conventional immunosuppression in heart transplant recipients. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther 24(5):435–441. https://doi.org/10.1177/1074248419841635
- Glotz D, Russ G, Rostaing L, Legendre C, Tufveson G, Chadban S et al (2019) Safety and efficacy of eculizumab for the prevention of antibody-mediated rejection after deceased-donor kidney transplantation in patients with preformed donor-specific antibodies. Am J Transplant 19(10): 2865–2875. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.15397
- Gralla J, Wiseman AC (2010) The impact of IL2ra induction therapy in kidney transplantation using tacrolimus- and mycophenolate-based immunosuppression. Transplantation 90(6):639–644. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP.0b013e3181ea6788
- Group CSC, Haynes R, Harden P, Judge P, Blackwell L, Emberson J et al (2014) Alemtuzumabbased induction treatment versus basiliximab-based induction treatment in kidney transplantation (the 3C study): a randomised trial. Lancet 384(9955):1684–1690. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(14)61095-3
- Hachem RR, Edwards LB, Yusen RD, Chakinala MM, Alexander Patterson G, Trulock EP (2008) The impact of induction on survival after lung transplantation: an analysis of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation Registry. Clin Transpl 22(5):603–608. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1399-0012.2008.00831.x
- Halloran PF (2004) Immunosuppressive drugs for kidney transplantation. N Engl J Med 351(26): 2715–2729. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra033540
- Hanaway MJ, Woodle ES, Mulgaonkar S, Peddi VR, Kaufman DB, First MR et al (2011) Alemtuzumab induction in renal transplantation. N Engl J Med 364(20):1909–1919. https:// doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1009546
- Hart A, Lentine KL, Smith JM, Miller JM, Skeans MA, Prentice M et al (2021) OPTN/SRTR 2019 annual data report: kidney. Am J Transplant 21(Suppl 2):21–137. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt. 16502
- Hellemans R, Bosmans JL, Abramowicz D (2017) Induction therapy for kidney transplant recipients: do we still need anti-IL2 receptor monoclonal antibodies? Am J Transplant 17(1): 22–27. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13884
- Hill P, Cross NB, Barnett AN, Palmer SC, Webster AC (2017) Polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies for induction therapy in kidney transplant recipients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (1):CD004759. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD004759.pub2
- Horslen SP, Smith JM, Ahn Y, Skeans MA, Cafarella M, Noreen SM et al (2021) OPTN/SRTR 2019 annual data report: intestine. Am J Transplant 21(Suppl 2):316–355. https://doi.org/10. 1111/ajt.16498
- Hunter CA, Jones SA (2015) IL-6 as a keystone cytokine in health and disease. Nat Immunol 16(5): 448–457. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.3153
- Ingulli E (2010) Mechanism of cellular rejection in transplantation. Pediatr Nephrol 25(1):61–74. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00467-008-1020-x
- Iwasaki A, Medzhitov R (2010) Regulation of adaptive immunity by the innate immune system. Science 327(5963):291–295. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1183021
- Jackson AM, Kraus ES, Orandi BJ, Segev DL, Montgomery RA, Zachary AA (2015) A closer look at rituximab induction on HLA antibody rebound following HLA-incompatible kidney transplantation. Kidney Int 87(2):409–416. https://doi.org/10.1038/ki.2014.261
- Jaksch P, Ankersmit J, Scheed A, Kocher A, Murakozy G, Klepetko W et al (2014) Alemtuzumab in lung transplantation: an open-label, randomized, prospective single center study. Am J Transplant 14(8):1839–1845. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12824
- Jeong JC, Jambaldorj E, Kwon HY, Kim MG, Im HJ, Jeon HJ et al (2016) Desensitization using bortezomib and high-dose immunoglobulin increases rate of deceased donor kidney transplantation. Medicine (Baltimore) 95(5):e2635. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.0000000002635

- Joher N, Matignon M, Grimbert P (2021) HLA desensitization in solid organ transplantation: anti-CD38 to across the immunological barriers. Front Immunol 12:688301. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fimmu.2021.688301
- John R, Lietz K, Burke E, Ankersmit J, Mancini D, Suciu-Foca N et al (1999) Intravenous immunoglobulin reduces anti-HLA alloreactivity and shortens waiting time to cardiac transplantation in highly sensitized left ventricular assist device recipients. Circulation 100(19 Suppl):II229–II235. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.cir.100.suppl_2.ii-229
- John R, Lietz K, Burke E, Schuster M, Yen E, Naka Y et al (2001) Intravenous immunoglobulin therapy in highly sensitized cardiac allograft recipients facilitates transplantation across donor specific IGG positive cross matches. J Heart Lung Transplant 20(2):213. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s1053-2498(00)00463-0
- Jordan SC, Tyan D, Stablein D, McIntosh M, Rose S, Vo A et al (2004) Evaluation of intravenous immunoglobulin as an agent to lower allosensitization and improve transplantation in highly sensitized adult patients with end-stage renal disease: report of the NIH IG02 trial. J Am Soc Nephrol 15(12):3256–3262. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ASN.0000145878.92906.9F
- Jordan SC, Choi J, Kim I, Wu G, Toyoda M, Shin B et al (2017) Interleukin-6, a cytokine critical to mediation of inflammation, autoimmunity and allograft rejection: therapeutic implications of IL-6 receptor blockade. Transplantation 101(1):32–44. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP. 000000000001452
- Jordan SC, Ammerman N, Choi J, Kumar S, Huang E, Toyoda M et al (2020) Interleukin-6: an important mediator of allograft injury. Transplantation 104(12):2497–2506. https://doi.org/10. 1097/TP.000000000003249
- Kahan BD, Rajagopalan PR, Hall M (1999) Reduction of the occurrence of acute cellular rejection among renal allograft recipients treated with basiliximab, a chimeric anti-interleukin-2-receptor monoclonal antibody. United States Simulect Renal Study Group. Transplantation 67(2): 276–284. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007890-199901270-00016
- Kahwaji J, Jordan SC, Najjar R, Wongsaroj P, Choi J, Peng A et al (2016) Six-year outcomes in broadly HLA-sensitized living donor transplant recipients desensitized with intravenous immunoglobulin and rituximab. Transpl Int 29(12):1276–1285. https://doi.org/10.1111/tri.12832
- Kainz A, Korbely R, Soleiman A, Mayer B, Oberbauer R (2010) Antithymocyte globulin use for treatment of biopsy confirmed acute rejection is associated with prolonged renal allograft survival. Transpl Int 23(1):64–70. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-2277.2009.00950.x
- Kandaswamy R, Stock PG, Miller J, Skeans MA, White J, Wainright J et al (2021) OPTN/SRTR 2019 annual data report: pancreas. Am J Transplant 21(Suppl 2):138–207. https://doi.org/10. 1111/ajt.16496
- Kaufman DB, Woodle ES, Shields AR, Leone J, Matas A, Wiseman A et al (2021) Belatacept for simultaneous calcineurin inhibitor and chronic corticosteroid immunosuppression avoidance: two-year results of a prospective, randomized multicenter trial. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 16(9): 1387–1397. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.13100820
- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes Transplant Work Group (2009) KDIGO clinical practice guideline for the care of kidney transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 9(Suppl 3):S1– S155. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2009.02834.x
- Kimball JA, Norman DJ, Shield CF, Schroeder TJ, Lisi P, Garovoy M et al (1995) The OKT3 antibody response study: a multicentre study of human anti-mouse antibody (HAMA) production following OKT3 use in solid organ transplantation. Transpl Immunol 3(3):212–221. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0966-3274(95)80027-1
- Kittleson MM, Patel N, Chang DH, Kransdorf EP, Kobashigawa JA, Patel JK (2021) Eculizumab for antibody-mediated rejection in heart transplantation: a case-control study. Clin Transpl. https://doi.org/10.1111/ctr.14454
- Klintmalm GB, Feng S, Lake JR, Vargas HE, Wekerle T, Agnes S et al (2014) Belatacept-based immunosuppression in de novo liver transplant recipients: 1-year experience from a phase II randomized study. Am J Transplant 14(8):1817–1827. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12810

- Kobashigawa JA, Patel JK, Kittleson MM, Kawano MA, Kiyosaki KK, Davis SN et al (2011) The long-term outcome of treated sensitized patients who undergo heart transplantation. Clin Transpl 25(1):E61–E67. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-0012.2010.01334.x
- Kumar D, LeCorchick S, Gupta G (2017) Belatacept as an alternative to calcineurin inhibitors in patients with solid organ transplants. Front Med (Lausanne) 4:60. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed. 2017.00060
- Kwong AJ, Kim WR, Lake JR, Smith JM, Schladt DP, Skeans MA et al (2021) OPTN/SRTR 2019 annual data report: liver. Am J Transplant 21(Suppl 2):208–315. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt. 16494
- Laftavi MR, Pankewycz O, Feng L, Said M, Patel S (2015) Combined induction therapy with rabbit antithymocyte globulin and rituximab in highly sensitized renal recipients. Immunol Investig 44(4):373–384. https://doi.org/10.3109/08820139.2015.1014097
- Leech SH, Lopez-Cepero M, LeFor WM, DiChiara L, Weston M, Furukawa S et al (2006) Management of the sensitized cardiac recipient: the use of plasmapheresis and intravenous immunoglobulin. Clin Transpl 20(4):476–484. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-0012.2006. 00509.x
- Li KHC, Ho JCS, Recaldin B, Gong M, Ho J, Li G et al (2018) Acute cellular rejection and infection rates in alemtuzumab vs traditional induction therapy agents for lung and heart transplantation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Transplant Proc 50(10):3723–3731. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.transproceed.2018.08.044
- Lim WH, Chadban SJ, Campbell S, Dent H, Russ GR, McDonald SP (2010) Interleukin-2 receptor antibody does not reduce rejection risk in low immunological risk or tacrolimus-treated intermediate immunological risk renal transplant recipients. Nephrology (Carlton) 15(3):368–376. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1797.2009.01259.x
- Linder KA, Kauffman CA, Patel TS, Fitzgerald LJ, Richards BJ, Miceli MH (2021) Evaluation of targeted versus universal prophylaxis for the prevention of invasive fungal infections following lung transplantation. Transpl Infect Dis 23(1):e13448. https://doi.org/10.1111/tid.13448
- Loupy A, Suberbielle-Boissel C, Zuber J, Anglicheau D, Timsit MO, Martinez F et al (2010) Combined posttransplant prophylactic IVIg/anti-CD 20/plasmapheresis in kidney recipients with preformed donor-specific antibodies: a pilot study. Transplantation 89(11):1403–1410. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP.0b013e3181da1cc3
- Malvezzi P, Jouve T, Rostaing L (2015) Induction by anti-thymocyte globulins in kidney transplantation: a review of the literature and current usage. J Nephropathol 4(4):110–115. https:// doi.org/10.12860/jnp.2015.21
- Marcos A, Eghtesad B, Fung JJ, Fontes P, Patel K, Devera M et al (2004) Use of alemtuzumab and tacrolimus monotherapy for cadaveric liver transplantation: with particular reference to hepatitis C virus. Transplantation 78(7):966–971. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.tp.0000142674.78268.01
- Mariat C, Alamartine E, Diab N, de Filippis JP, Laurent B, Berthoux F (1998) A randomized prospective study comparing low-dose OKT3 to low-dose ATG for the treatment of acute steroid-resistant rejection episodes in kidney transplant recipients. Transpl Int 11(3):231–236. https://doi.org/10.1007/s001470050133
- Masson P, Henderson L, Chapman JR, Craig JC, Webster AC (2014) Belatacept for kidney transplant recipients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (11):CD010699. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 14651858.CD010699.pub2
- Mattei MF, Redonnet M, Gandjbakhch I, Bandini AM, Billes A, Epailly E et al (2007) Lower risk of infectious deaths in cardiac transplant patients receiving basiliximab versus anti-thymocyte globulin as induction therapy. J Heart Lung Transplant 26(7):693–699. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.healun.2007.05.002
- Meier-Kriesche HU, Arndorfer JA, Kaplan B (2002) Association of antibody induction with shortand long-term cause-specific mortality in renal transplant recipients. J Am Soc Nephrol 13(3): 769–772. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.V133769
- Moini M, Schilsky ML, Tichy EM (2015) Review on immunosuppression in liver transplantation. World J Hepatol 7(10):1355–1368. https://doi.org/10.4254/wjh.v7.i10.1355

- Moller CH, Gustafsson F, Gluud C, Steinbruchel DA (2008) Interleukin-2 receptor antagonists as induction therapy after heart transplantation: systematic review with meta-analysis of randomized trials. J Heart Lung Transplant 27(8):835–842. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun. 2008.05.013
- Montgomery RA, Lonze BE, King KE, Kraus ES, Kucirka LM, Locke JE et al (2011) Desensitization in HLA-incompatible kidney recipients and survival. N Engl J Med 365(4):318–326. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1012376
- Moreau A, Varey E, Anegon I, Cuturi MC (2013) Effector mechanisms of rejection. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 3(11). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a015461
- Mosser DM, Edwards JP (2008) Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. Nat Rev Immunol 8(12):958–969. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2448
- Nankivell BJ, Alexander SI (2010) Rejection of the kidney allograft. N Engl J Med 363(15): 1451–1462. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra0902927
- Noel C, Abramowicz D, Durand D, Mourad G, Lang P, Kessler M et al (2009) Daclizumab versus antithymocyte globulin in high-immunological-risk renal transplant recipients. J Am Soc Nephrol 20(6):1385–1392. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2008101037
- Palmer WC, Taner CB, Keaveny AP, Nakhleh RE, Nguyen JH, Rosser BG Jr (2018) Antithymocyte globulin use for corticosteroid nonresponsive rejection after liver transplantation. Transplant Proc 50(10):3606–3614. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2018.09.001
- Patel JK, Coutance G, Loupy A, Dilibero D, Hamilton M, Kittleson M et al (2021) Complement inhibition for prevention of antibody-mediated rejection in immunologically high-risk heart allograft recipients. Am J Transplant 21(7):2479–2488. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.16420
- Pereira M, Guerra J, Neves M, Goncalves J, Santana A, Nascimento C et al (2016) Predictive factors of acute rejection in low immunologic risk kidney transplant recipients receiving basiliximab. Transplant Proc 48(7):2280–2283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2016. 06.022
- Pisani BA, Mullen GM, Malinowska K, Lawless CE, Mendez J, Silver MA et al (1999) Plasmapheresis with intravenous immunoglobulin G is effective in patients with elevated panel reactive antibody prior to cardiac transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 18(7):701–706. https://doi. org/10.1016/s1053-2498(99)00022-4
- Post DJ, Douglas DD, Mulligan DC (2005) Immunosuppression in liver transplantation. Liver Transpl 11(11):1307–1314. https://doi.org/10.1002/lt.20614
- Preville X, Flacher M, LeMauff B, Beauchard S, Davelu P, Tiollier J et al (2001) Mechanisms involved in antithymocyte globulin immunosuppressive activity in a nonhuman primate model. Transplantation 71(3):460–468. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007890-200102150-00021
- Reams BD, Musselwhite LW, Zaas DW, Steele MP, Garantziotis S, Eu PC et al (2007) Alemtuzumab in the treatment of refractory acute rejection and bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome after human lung transplantation. Am J Transplant 7(12):2802–2808. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1600-6143.2007.02000.x
- Redfield RR, Jordan SC, Busque S, Vincenti F, Woodle ES, Desai N et al (2019) Safety, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamic activity of obinutuzumab, a type 2 anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody for the desensitization of candidates for renal transplant. Am J Transplant 19(11):3035–3045. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.15514
- Ruzek MC, Neff KS, Luong M, Smith KA, Culm-Merdek K, Richards SM et al (2009) In vivo characterization of rabbit anti-mouse thymocyte globulin: a surrogate for rabbit anti-human thymocyte globulin. Transplantation 88(2):170–179. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP. 0b013e3181abc061
- Scheffert JL, Raza K (2014) Immunosuppression in lung transplantation. J Thorac Dis 6(8): 1039–1053. https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2014.04.23
- Shah A, Nadasdy T, Arend L, Brennan J, Leong N, Coppage M et al (2004) Treatment of C4d-positive acute humoral rejection with plasmapheresis and rabbit polyclonal antithymocyte globulin. Transplantation 77(9):1399–1405. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.tp.0000122187. 76518.bc

- Shehata N, Palda VA, Meyer RM, Blydt-Hansen TD, Campbell P, Cardella C et al (2010) The use of immunoglobulin therapy for patients undergoing solid organ transplantation: an evidencebased practice guideline. Transfus Med Rev 24(Suppl 1):S7–S27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tmrv.2009.09.010
- Smith C, Miles JJ, Khanna R (2012) Advances in direct T-cell alloreactivity: function, avidity, biophysics and structure. Am J Transplant 12(1):15–26. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143. 2011.03863.x
- Smyth LA, Herrera OB, Golshayan D, Lombardi G, Lechler RI (2006) A novel pathway of antigen presentation by dendritic and endothelial cells: implications for allorecognition and infectious diseases. Transplantation 82(1 Suppl):S15–S18. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.tp.0000231347. 06149.ca
- SRTR (2019) Annual data report. Scientific Registry of Transplant Recipients 2019. http://srtr. transplant.hrsa.gov/annual_reports/Default.aspx. Accessed 16 Sep 2021
- Starling RC, Armstrong B, Bridges ND, Eisen H, Givertz MM, Kfoury AG et al (2019) Accelerated allograft vasculopathy with rituximab after cardiac transplantation. J Am Coll Cardiol 74(1): 36–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2019.04.056
- Stegall MD, Diwan T, Raghavaiah S, Cornell LD, Burns J, Dean PG et al (2011) Terminal complement inhibition decreases antibody-mediated rejection in sensitized renal transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 11(11):2405–2413. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011. 03757.x
- Tan EK, Bentall A, Dean PG, Shaheen MF, Stegall MD, Schinstock CA (2019) Use of eculizumab for active antibody-mediated rejection that occurs early post-kidney transplantation: a consecutive series of 15 cases. Transplantation 103(11):2397–2404. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP. 00000000002639
- Tanaka T, Kishimoto T (2014) The biology and medical implications of interleukin-6. Cancer Immunol Res 2(4):288–294. https://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0022
- Tanriover B, Zhang S, MacConmara M, Gao A, Sandikci B, Ayvaci MU et al (2015) Induction therapies in live donor kidney transplantation on tacrolimus and mycophenolate with or without steroid maintenance. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 10(6):1041–1049. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN. 08710814
- Teuteberg JJ, Shullo MA, Zomak R, Toyoda Y, McNamara DM, Bermudez C et al (2010) Alemtuzumab induction prior to cardiac transplantation with lower intensity maintenance immunosuppression: one-year outcomes. Am J Transplant 10(2):382–388. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1600-6143.2009.02856.x
- Todd JL, Palmer SM (2014) Alemtuzumab induction in lung transplantation: time to move on? Am J Transplant 14(8):1721–1722. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12825
- Valapour M, Lehr CJ, Skeans MA, Smith JM, Miller E, Goff R et al (2021) OPTN/SRTR 2019 annual data report: lung. Am J Transplant 21(Suppl 2):441–520. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt. 16495
- Valenzuela NM, Reed EF (2017) Antibody-mediated rejection across solid organ transplants: manifestations, mechanisms, and therapies. J Clin Invest 127(7):2492–2504. https://doi.org/ 10.1172/JCI90597
- van den Hoogen MW, Kamburova EG, Baas MC, Steenbergen EJ, Florquin S, Koenen HJPM et al (2015) Rituximab as induction therapy after renal transplantation: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of efficacy and safety. Am J Transplant 15(2):407–416. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/ajt.13052
- van der Zwan M, Clahsen-Van Groningen MC, van den Hoogen MWF, Kho MML, Roodnat JI, Mauff KAL et al (2020) Comparison of alemtuzumab and anti-thymocyte globulin treatment for acute kidney allograft rejection. Front Immunol 11:1332. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020. 01332
- Vanderlugt CL, Miller SD (2002) Epitope spreading in immune-mediated diseases: implications for immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol 2(2):85–95. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri724

- Vathsala A, Ona ET, Tan SY, Suresh S, Lou HX, Casasola CB et al (2005) Randomized trial of alemtuzumab for prevention of graft rejection and preservation of renal function after kidney transplantation. Transplantation 80(6):765–774. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.tp.0000166921. 14670.33
- Vincenti F (2016) Belatacept and long-term outcomes in kidney transplantation. N Engl J Med 374(26):2600–2601. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc1602859
- Vincenti F, Charpentier B, Vanrenterghem Y, Rostaing L, Bresnahan B, Darji P et al (2010a) A phase III study of belatacept-based immunosuppression regimens versus cyclosporine in renal transplant recipients (BENEFIT study). Am J Transplant 10(3):535–546. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1600-6143.2009.03005.x
- Vincenti F, Blancho G, Durrbach A, Friend P, Grinyo J, Halloran PF et al (2010b) Five-year safety and efficacy of belatacept in renal transplantation. J Am Soc Nephrol 21(9):1587–1596. https:// doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2009111109
- Vincenti F, Rostaing L, Grinyo J, Rice K, Steinberg S, Gaite L et al (2016) Belatacept and long-term outcomes in kidney transplantation. N Engl J Med 374(4):333–343. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1506027
- Vo AA, Lukovsky M, Toyoda M, Wang J, Reinsmoen NL, Lai CH et al (2008) Rituximab and intravenous immune globulin for desensitization during renal transplantation. N Engl J Med 359(3):242–251. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0707894
- Vo AA, Petrozzino J, Yeung K, Sinha A, Kahwaji J, Peng A et al (2013) Efficacy, outcomes, and cost-effectiveness of desensitization using IVIG and rituximab. Transplantation 95(6):852–858. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP.0b013e3182802f88
- Vo AA, Choi J, Kim I, Louie S, Cisneros K, Kahwaji J et al (2015) A phase I/II trial of the interleukin-6 receptor-specific humanized monoclonal (tocilizumab) + intravenous immunoglobulin in difficult to desensitize patients. Transplantation 99(11):2356–2363. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/TP.000000000000741
- Watson CJ, Bradley JA, Friend PJ, Firth J, Taylor CJ, Bradley JR et al (2005) Alemtuzumab (CAMPATH 1H) induction therapy in cadaveric kidney transplantation--efficacy and safety at five years. Am J Transplant 5(6):1347–1353. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2005. 00822.x
- Webster AC, Ruster LP, McGee R, Matheson SL, Higgins GY, Willis NS et al (2010) Interleukin 2 receptor antagonists for kidney transplant recipients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (1): CD003897. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD003897.pub3
- Yelken B, Arpali E, Gorcin S, Kocak B, Karatas C, Demiralp E et al (2015) Eculizumab for treatment of refractory antibody-mediated rejection in kidney transplant patients: a single-Center experience. Transplant Proc 47(6):1754–1759. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed. 2015.06.029
- Zhao X, Boenisch O, Yeung M, Mfarrej B, Yang S, Turka LA et al (2012) Critical role of proinflammatory cytokine IL-6 in allograft rejection and tolerance. Am J Transplant 12(1): 90–101. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011.03770.x
- Zhao YG, Shi BY, Qian YY, Bai HW, Xiao L, He XY (2014) Clinical efficacy of rituximab for acute rejection in kidney transplantation: a meta-analysis. Int Urol Nephrol 46(6):1225–1230. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11255-013-0599-4



Immunosuppression and Heart Transplantation

Nilay Sutaria, Lynne Sylvia, and David DeNofrio

Contents

1	Introduction	118
2	Maintenance Immunosuppression	118
3	Corticosteroid Weaning Protocols	125
4	Induction Immunotherapy	126
5	Immunosuppression in Selected Patient Populations	127
	5.1 Patients with CNI-Related Renal Toxicity	127
	5.2 Patients with Evidence of Cardiac Allograft Vasculopathy (CAV)	129
	5.3 Patients with History of Medication Nonadherence	131
	5.4 Patients with the Development of Cancer	133
6	Summary	134
Re	eferences	134

Abstract

Since the first human heart transplant in 1967, immense advancements have been made in the field of immunosuppression. This chapter provides an in-depth analysis of the use of immunosuppressive agents in heart transplant recipients. Evidence regarding maintenance immunosuppressive regimens, the efficacy of induction immunosuppression and corticosteroid weaning, as well as the use of distinct immunosuppression regimens within select patient populations is summarized. This chapter helps elucidate the data regarding contemporary protocols in cardiac transplantation.

N. Sutaria · L. Sylvia · D. DeNofrio (🖂)

Cardiovascular Center, Tufts Medical Center, Boston, MA, USA e-mail: ddenofrio@tuftsmedicalcenter.org

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

H. J. Eisen (ed.), *Pharmacology of Immunosuppression*, Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 272, https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2021_552

Keywords

Azathioprine · Calcineurin inhibitors · Cancer · Cardiac · Corticosteroid · Cyclosporine · Everolimus · Heart · Immune · Immunosuppression · Induction · Maintenance · mTOR inhibitors · Mycophenolate · Orthotopic · Prednisone · Rejection · Sirolimus · Steroid · Tacrolimus · Transplant · Vasculopathy

1 Introduction

It has been over 50 years since Dr. Christiaan Barnard performed the first heart transplant on December 3, 1967 in Cape Town, South Africa (Brink and Hassoulas 2009). Although the recipient was treated with immunosuppressive medications available at the time to avoid allograft rejection, the patient ultimately died a few weeks later from pneumonia. Following this landmark case, additional early attempts at heart transplantation were hindered by both limited surgical techniques, and more importantly, the lack of ideal immunosuppressive medications. With the introduction of cyclosporine in the 1980s, cardiac transplantation success rates increased dramatically making transplant a more viable treatment option for patients with end-stage heart failure, and as a result, the number of transplants performed worldwide grew dramatically. Since that time, new immunosuppressive drugs and strategies have continued to improve short and long-term outcomes for patients undergoing heart transplantation. In 2018, there were 3,408 heart transplant procedures performed in the USA and in the current era, patients have an expected median survival rate of over 13 years with an ever increasing number of patients surviving beyond 20 years (UNOS Transplant Trends 2019; Lund et al. 2017). This chapter will review the key evidence behind contemporary immunosuppression management of cardiac transplant recipients and discuss specific immunosuppressive strategies in special post-transplant populations.

2 Maintenance Immunosuppression

Immunosuppression has evolved dramatically over the last 50 years since the initial cardiac transplant procedures were attempted. In the 1970s and early 1980s, immunosuppressive regimens consisted of induction therapy with antithymocyte globulin (ATG) and intravenous methylprednisolone followed by maintenance therapy with oral prednisone and azathioprine. Survival rates were approximately 49% at 1 year and 23% at 5 years (Griepp et al. 1976). The availability of cyclosporine in the 1980s further revolutionized immune suppression and improved survival rates at 1 year by 20–25% (Myers et al. 1988). By the 1990s, maintenance regimens were primarily composed of oral cyclosporine, azathioprine, and corticosteroids. The goal of this "triple drug" immunosuppressive regimen was to minimize dose and toxicity of each drug while at the same time inhibiting multiple pathways involved in T-cell activation. Further advances were made in the



Fig. 1 ISHLT Registry of Adult Heart Transplants. Maintenance immunosuppression at time of 1 year (Follow-ups: January 2009 to June 2017). https://ishltregistries.org/registries/slides.asp

mid-1990s when both mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) and tacrolimus were approved for use in cardiac transplantation. These agents have now supplanted both cyclosporine and azathioprine in primary maintenance regimens due to improved survival rates and reduced rates of adverse side effects including cytopenias. As a result of this improved regimen, 1-year survival rates in the USA have increased to approximately 90% (Baran et al. 2007). More recently, introduction of the proliferation signal inhibitors, sirolimus and everolimus, has changed the landscape of immunosuppression and provided additional combination regimens that can be utilized in special patient populations to inhibit the development/progression of cardiac allograft vasculopathy (CAV), renal toxicity, and cancers.

Contemporary immunosuppression regimens in cardiac transplant now consist of tacrolimus, MMF, and corticosteroids (Fig. 1). Many programs attempt to wean corticosteroids within the first year as long as there is no significant rejection or other indications to limit its withdrawal. The rationale for corticosteroid weaning is to minimize the long-term side effects of chronic steroid administration which include the development of diabetes, Cushingoid body habitus, osteoporosis, and cataracts. The most recent data from the ISHLT Registry suggest that despite these attempts, approximately 80% of patients are still on some dose of corticosteroid at 1 year following transplant. This triple-drug regimen has shown to be extremely effective in multiple clinical trials demonstrating less rejection and graft failure at 1 year. Nonetheless, immunosuppression in transplant is a double-edged sword and there needs to be a balance between the level of immunosuppression and toxicity from these agents. Therefore, immunosuppression should always be individualized to take into account the patient's risk profile and comorbidities. For example, a patient with gastrointestinal side effects from MMF may benefit from a change to azathioprine, although less immunosuppressive, in order to avoid significant toxicity. Another



Fig. 2 Proportions of patients receiving mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) or azathioprine (AZA) surviving and not requiring retransplantation at 12. Twenty-four and thirty-six months post-transplant (treated patient population) (Eisen et al. 2005)

example would be a patient with significant renal dysfunction who may benefit from a calcineurin-free immunosuppressive regimen in order to avoid progression of their renal disease.

The introduction of MMF as a new immunosuppressive antimetabolite marked an important event in the 1990s. The heart transplant community conducted a large multicenter randomized trial comparing MMF to azathioprine (Kobashigawa et al. 1998). This double-blind, active-control trial enrolled 650 patients undergoing their first heart transplant procedure. Patients were randomized after transplantation to receive either MMF (3,000 mg/day) or azathioprine (1.5-3 mg/kg/day) in addition to cyclosporine and corticosteroids. While the intent-to-treat analysis was similar between both groups, treated-patient demonstrated a 45% reduction in 1-year mortality (6.2% versus 11.4%, p = 0.31) and a reduction in the number of patients with any treated rejection (65.7% versus 73.7%; p = 0.026) in favor of MMF. Of note, opportunistic infections, mostly herpes simplex infections, were more common in the MMF group (53% versus 43.6%; p = 0.025). The 36-month results of this trial were later published and continued to demonstrate a reduction in mortality in the MMF treated patients (Fig. 2) (Eisen et al. 2005). Interestingly, no significant differences between MMF and azathioprine treated patients were observed in mean maximal intimal thickness or quantitative coronary angiographic measurements of transplant coronary vasculopathy. This trial served as pivotal data supporting the immunosuppressive superiority of MMF over azathioprine in heart transplantation.

Another important milestone in the field of immunosuppression was the introduction of tacrolimus, which quickly supplanted the use of cyclosporine once studies highlighting its benefits were conducted. Initially, two small multicenter trials were conducted comparing tacrolimus to cyclosporine. In the European Heart Transplantation Pilot Study, 82 patients were randomized to treatment with either tacrolimus or cyclosporine-based therapy. Although this study only had a small number of patients enrolled, no significant differences were found in survival or freedom of rejection rates. In this study, tacrolimus appeared to possess an advantage with regard to a reduced requirement for antihypertensive therapy (59% versus 87.5%, p = 0.025) (Reichart et al. 1998). Taylor et al. published a small US experience of 85 patients randomized to receive cyclosporine- or tacrolimus-based regimens. Similar to the European trial, there was no difference in rejection at 1 year between the two groups (Taylor et al. 1999). Furthermore, tacrolimus therapy was associated with less hypertension and hyperlipidemia. No difference was noted in renal function between the two groups. Following these initial trials, several other studies were conducted examining the safety and effectiveness of a tacrolimus-based compared to cyclosporine-based regimens. A summary of these studies and findings is highlighted in Table 1.

Grimm et al. and Kobashigawa et al. published the largest of these studies in 2006 (Grimm et al. 2006; Kobashigawa et al. 2006a). Grimm et al. randomized 314 heart transplant recipients following antibody induction therapy to receive either tacrolimus or cyclosporine in combination with azathioprine and corticosteroids. The primary end point, incidence of first biopsy-proven acute rejection at 6 months (ISHLT >1B), was 54% for tacrolimus treated patients and 66.4% for cyclosporine treated patients (p = 0.029). Survival rates were 92.9% for tacrolimus and 89.8% for cyclosporine at 18 months. Differences were noted between tacrolimus and cyclosporine treated patients with regard to relevant adverse events such as new-onset diabetes (20.3% versus 10.5%), hypertension (65.6% versus 77.7%), and dyslipidemia (28.7% versus 40.1%). In addition, there were no differences appreciated in infection rates and renal function at 18 months (Grimm et al. 2006). Kobashigawa et al. randomized 343 heart transplant recipients to receive corticosteroids and either tacrolimus/sirolimus, tacrolimus/MMF, or cyclosporine/ MMF immunosuppression. The primary endpoint of rejection (ISHLT >3A) or rejection with hemodynamic compromise demonstrated lower events in the tacrolimus/MMF group when compared to the cyclosporine/MMF group at 1 year (23.4% versus 36.8%; p = 0.29). Secondary end-points looking at renal function, triglyceride levels, fungal infections, and wound healing favored tacrolimus/MMF as the more advantageous immunosuppressive regimen compared to tacrolimus/ sirolimus or cyclosporine/MMF (Kobashigawa et al. 2006a). These larger randomized trials substantiated the initial findings seen in the European and US experience and have solidified tacrolimus-MMF-corticosteroids as the primary

Table 1 Studies com	paring tacroli	mus-based regim	ens to cyclosporine-based regimens	
	Type of	Number of		
Study	study	patients	Immunosuppressive regimens	Pertinent findings with regard to tacrolimus
(Grimm et al.	RCT	314	Tacrolimus vs. Cyclosporine + Azathioprine	- Lower likelihood of rejection at 6 months
2006)			and Steroids	- Lower likelihood of new-onset diabetes,
				dyslipidemia, hypertension
(Kobashigawa	RCT	343	Tacrolimus + Sirolimus	- Lower risk of rejection at 1 year
et al. 2006a)			Tacrolimus + MMF	- Improved triglyceride profile and renal function
			Cyclosporine + MMF	
			(in addition to steroids)	
(Kobashigawa	RCT	67	Tacrolimus vs. Cyclosporine + Azathioprine	- No difference in rejection at 5 years
et al. 2006b)			and Steroids	- Lower incidence of hypertriglyceridemia,
				hypertension, renal dysfunction
(Taylor et al. 1999)	RCT	85	Tacrolimus vs. Cyclosporine + Azathioprine	- No difference in rejection
			and Steroids	- Lower incidence of hypertension, hyperlipidemia
(Meiser et al. 1998)	RCT	73	Tacrolimus vs. Cyclosporine + Azathioprine	- No difference in rejection
			and Steroids	- Lower incidence of hypertension
(Reichart et al.	RCT	82	Tacrolimus vs. Cyclosporine + Azathioprine	- No difference in rejection
1998)			and Steroids	- Lower incidence of hypertension
(Rinaldi et al.	RCT	25	Tacrolimus vs. Cyclosporine + Azathioprine	- Lower risk of rejection
1997)			and Steroids	- Lower incidence of hypertension



Fig. 3 ISHLT Registry of Adult Heart Transplants. Maintenance immunosuppression drug combinations at time of 1 year follow-up (Follow-ups: January 2009 to June 2017). https://ishltregistries.org/registries/slides.asp

triple-drug immunosuppressive regimen currently used by most centers worldwide (Fig. 3).

Given the success of tacrolimus-based regimens, additional trials were performed to evaluate the feasibility of tacrolimus monotherapy in cardiac transplantation. The most important of these trials was the TICTAC trial, which compared tacrolimus monotherapy to tacrolimus and MMF combination therapy (Baran et al. 2007, 2011). This trial included 150 patients who received tacrolimus, MMF, and oral steroids for the first 2 weeks post-transplant. Patients were then randomized to the MONO arm, where MMF therapy was discontinued at 14–28 days, or the COMBO arm, where MMF therapy was maintained. Freedom from Rejection (>2R rejection) was reported in 85% at 6 months and 85.9 at 12 months for the MONO arm and 94.4% at 6 months and 93% at 12 months for the COMBO arm; p = 0.16. Freedom from CAV (96% at 5 years for both groups; p = 0.34) and all-cause mortality (87.2%) at 5 years for the MONO arm and 90.6% at 5 years for the COMBO arm; p = 0.19) were both comparable between the two groups. While the trial was underpowered to detect a difference in all-cause mortality, incidence of rejection or incidence of CAV, the overall rates of allograft rejection and CAV were low in both arms. Although very intriguing, these results need to be tempered by the fact that this was a small sample size of only 150 patients. Future data examining monotherapy with tacrolimus need to be conducted before this regimen can be considered a mainstay immunosuppressive strategy for heart transplant recipients.

Additional advancements in the field of immunosuppression were made with the advent and use of the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitors, also known as proliferation signal inhibitors (PSI). The two most studied drugs in this



Fig. 4 Baseline to 12-Month Mean Change in Maximal Intimal Thickness (Panel A), Intimal Area (Panel B), Intimal Volume (Panel C) and Intimal Index (Panel D) in Patients Receiving Everolimus versus Azathioprine in combination with Cyclosporine and Corticosteroids (Eisen et al. 2003)

class are sirolimus and everolimus. One of the first major trials by Keogh et al. involving this class of medications compared sirolimus to azathioprine. This study randomized 136 patients in a 1:1:1 fashion to sirolimus 3 mg/day, sirolimus 5 mg/ day, or azathioprine in combination with cyclosporine and steroids (Keogh et al. 2004). The study demonstrated a reduced rate of significant rejection with use of sirolimus. At 6 months, the proportion of patients with grade 3A or greater rejection was 32.4% for sirolimus 3 mg/day (p = 0.027), 32.8% for sirolimus 5 mg/day (p = 0.013), and 56.8% for azathioprine. The study also showed a reduced rate of CAV at 6 months and 2 years in the sirolimus group. A subsequent study by Eisen et al. randomized 634 patients to 1.5 mg of everolimus per day, 3 mg of everolimus per day or 1–3 mg of azathioprine per kilogram of body weight per day in combination with cyclosporine, corticosteroids, and statins (Eisen et al. 2003). The primary efficacy end point was a composite of death, graft loss or retransplantation, loss to follow-up, biopsy-proved acute rejection of grade 3A, or rejection with hemodynamic compromise. The percentage of patients that reached the primary efficacy endpoint was smaller for the 3 mg everolimus (27%, p < 0.001) and the 1.5 mg everolimus (36.4%, p = 0.03) groups when compared to patients receiving azathioprine (46.7%). In a subgroup of patients in the study receiving intravascular ultrasonography, there was a significant reduction in the development of CAV (Fig. 4). A later study evaluated everolimus in comparison with MMF with regard to survival and rejection rates. Eisen et al. randomized 721 patients to everolimus 1.5 mg or 3.0 mg with reduced-dose cyclosporine or MMF with standard-dose cyclosporine, both in combination with steroids (Eisen et al. 2013). At 12 months, there was no significant difference in the composite primary endpoint of biopsy-proven acute rejection, acute rejection associated with hemodynamic compromise, graft loss/ retransplant/ death, or loss to follow-up (35.1% in the everolimus group vs. 33.6% in the MMF group). Patients receiving everolimus, however, demonstrated a significant reduction in the rate of CAV compared to those receiving MMF (12-month increase in wall thickness 0.03 mm in everolimus group and 0.07 mm in the MMF group; p < 0.001). Patients receiving everolimus were noted to have a higher risk of pericardial effusion, leukopenia, anemia, and hypotension when compared to MMF. In addition, the 3 mg everolimus arm of the trial was terminated prematurely due to higher mortality.

3 Corticosteroid Weaning Protocols

Corticosteroids have been an important component of immunosuppressive regimens used in cardiac transplant recipients from the initial transplants in the late 1960s through the early 2010s. Nonetheless, given the notable adverse effects associated with prolonged corticosteroid use, investigators aimed to determine whether or not steroid-weaning and/or steroid-free regimens were feasible in heart transplant recipients. One of the first studies was conducted as early as 1985 comparing steroid weaning to low-dose steroid maintenance in a small cohort of patients (Renlund et al. 1987). This study demonstrated successful weaning of steroids after transplantation with a low cumulative incidence of rejection in that group. More importantly, the study showed that patients deemed at low risk for rejection tolerated early with-drawal (within 4 months) without any long-term consequences. This paved the way for further, larger trials involving steroid weaning.

Kobashigawa et al. conducted a similar-sized trial with a more regimented weaning protocol in patients at least 6 months following transplantation (Kobashigawa et al. 1992). In this trial, patients were monitored with endomyocardial biopsies with results guiding the weaning process. Approximately 80% of the enrolled subjects were weaned off steroids without significant rejection. Rejection episodes in subjects were largely attributable to nonadherence. A subsequent study by Olivari et al. demonstrated that steroid weaning by 6 months post-transplant was associated with no significant difference in survival, allograft function, or CAV (Olivari et al. 1995). Importantly, subjects who underwent steroid weaning were at significantly higher risk of experiencing acute rejection. A more recent study by Teuteberg et al. demonstrated that steroid withdrawal by 1 year posttransplant was feasible without increasing mortality, rejection, or CAV (Teuteberg et al. 2008). More importantly, this study compared slow steroid weaning to faster tapering and found no difference in acute rejection rates between these two methods. An additional retrospective trial investigating steroid withdrawal within 2 months post-transplant also revealed a lower risk of short- and long-term mortality and allograft rejection in the group of patients who successfully underwent weaning of steroids (Taylor et al. 1996). This again highlights the opportunity to try to target low-risk patients undergoing cardiac transplant that benefit from early steroid weaning.

Given the data behind steroid weaning, current International Society of Heart and Lung Transplantation guidelines recommend early steroid weaning, low-dose steroid maintenance, or steroid avoidance as acceptable therapeutic approaches (Costanzo et al. 2010). The aforementioned studies conclude similar benefits and adverse consequences of steroid-free and steroid-withdrawal protocols: (1) good mid- and long-term graft/patient survival, (2) higher incidence of acute rejection in steroid-free approaches, (3) variable incidence of infection episodes, (4) lower serum cholesterol levels, (5) possibly lower hypertension rate, (6) amelioration of weight control, and (7) slightly lower risk of diabetes and bone loss. Given these recommendations and benefits, most institution-based protocols call for standard dose reductions in steroid therapy over the first 6 months post-transplant guided by endomyocardial biopsy results.

4 Induction Immunotherapy

Induction immunotherapy (IT) has been used to provide high-intensity immunosuppression in the early post-transplant period. The two most commonly utilized agents are the interleukin-2 receptor antagonists (IL2RA) and polyclonal ATG. Currently, approximately 50% of cardiac transplant programs routinely utilize induction immunosuppression, with 30% of programs utilizing IL2RA and 20% preferring ATG. The utility of induction therapy lies in the ability to delay initiation of nephrotoxic calcineurin inhibitor-based therapy in patients with renal insufficiency in the immediate post-transplant period as well as facilitation of early steroid weaning posttransplant (Cai and Terasaki 2010). Furthermore, patients at high risk for rejection such as those with preformed antibodies or highly sensitized patients and African-American individuals may derive benefit from induction therapy (Higgins et al. 2005). To date, however, studies comparing induction therapy with no induction therapy have shown no difference in efficacy.

A recent systematic review of the Cochrane Database sought to examine the effects of induction therapy versus no induction therapy and IL2RA therapy versus ATG therapy with regard to all-cause mortality, moderate-to-severe rejection, infection, and malignancy (Briasoulis et al. 2018). Included in the analysis were eight randomized-controlled trials and three observational case–control trials with a total of 1,105 patients. When comparing IT to no IT, there were no significant differences in all-cause mortality, moderate-to-severe rejection, infection, or malignancy. When comparing IL2RA therapy to ATG therapy, there were no significant differences in all-cause mortality, infection or malignancy; however, there was a notable increase in moderate-to-severe rejection in patients who received IL2RA compared to those who received ATG. These differences were primarily driven by the case–control studies, which showed a difference, while the randomized-controlled trials showed no difference in rejection rates between these two agents.

5 Immunosuppression in Selected Patient Populations

5.1 Patients with CNI-Related Renal Toxicity

Discontinuation or dose reduction of a CNI may be warranted in patients with progressive or persistent renal dysfunction. Immunosuppressive strategies for these patients include replacement of the CNI with an mTOR inhibitor (everolimus or sirolimus) or the combined use of low-dose CNI with mTOR inhibitor therapy. The beneficial effects of these strategies on renal function may be time dependent. Gude et al. showed improved GFR in patients switched to everolimus within a mean of 5.5 months of transplant compared to no improvement in a group of long-term survivors converted to everolimus at a mean of 96 months post-transplant (Gude et al. 2010). These findings, albeit demonstrated in a small patient population, suggest that the potential for renal recovery is limited following long-term CNI exposure.

The SCHEDULE trial was the first to examine the effects of early CNI withdrawal on renal function in de novo transplant patients (Andreassen et al. 2014). In this multicenter trial, 115 patients were randomized to receive MMF and corticosteroids with either conventional cyclosporine or low-dose everolimus (target level of 3-6 ng/mL) combined with low-dose cyclosporine. At 7-11 weeks posttransplant, the latter group was switched to full dose everolimus (target level 6-10 ng/mL) with removal of cyclosporine. At 1 year, mean creatinine clearance was greater in the everolimus group compared to the cyclosporine group $(79.8 \pm 17.7 \text{ mL/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2 \text{ versus } 61.5 \pm 19.6 \text{ mL/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2 (p < 0.001).$ Follow-up studies by the SCHEDULE investigators in a subset of the study group revealed prolonged benefits of everolimus on renal function. At 3 years, the mean difference in measured GFR between the treatment groups was 18.3 mL/min/ 1.73 m^2 (77.4 \pm 20.2 mL/min/1.73 m² versus 59.2 \pm 17.4 mL/min/1.73 m²; p < 0.001), favoring everolimus (Fig. 5) (Andreassen et al. 2016; Nelson et al. 2017). At 5–7 years post-transplant, the mean measured GFR continued to favor everolimus (74.7 mL/min versus 62.4 mL/min) (Gustafsson et al. 2020).

Despite the observed benefits on measured GFR, mTORi therapy has been associated with the development or worsening of proteinuria. This adverse effect may be explained by the effects of mTORi on vascular endothelial growth factor resulting in increased cell membrane permeability and focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. The SCHEDULE investigators examined the development of albuminuria, a dose-related adverse effect of everolimus, in association with measured GFR at 12 and 36 months post-transplant (Nelson et al. 2017). In a relatively small subset of 66 patients, median GFR was significantly higher in the everolimus group at both 1 and 3 years post-transplant. Median urine albumin/ creatinine concentration (UACR) was also significantly higher at 1 year in the everolimus group; however, there was no correlation between log UACR and measured GFR at 1 and 3 years (r = -0.01 and r = 0.15, respectively). These preliminary data derived from a small subset of patients raised questions about the clinical significance of moderate proteinuria associated with everolimus therapy.



Fig. 5 Mean measured GFR before transplant and at 7–11 weeks and 36 months after transplant in patients on Calcineurin Inhibitors versus Everolimus in the SCHEDULE Study (Andreassen et al. 2016)

Most recently, investigators from the Mayo Clinic described a subset of 137 patients who were switched to sirolimus (plus antimetabolite) within a median of 1 (IQR 0.55–2.3) year post-transplant and had 24-h measurements of urine protein at time of conversion and 1 year post mTORi conversion (Asleh et al. 2020). A total of 36 patients (26%) had significant increases in urine protein from a median baseline of 235.5 (IQR 122, 460.3) mg/24 h to 1265.5 (744, 1861) mg/24 h at 1 year. Compared to the 101 patients without proteinuria, patients with proteinuria had higher baseline 24-h urine protein (235.5 versus 120.0 mg/24 h; p = 0.004), serum creatinine (1.8 ± 0.83 versus 1.4 ± 0.41 mg/dL; p = 0.002), and lower eGFR (48.8 ± 24.4 versus 63.9 ± 28.1 mL/min/1.73 m²; p = 0.005). At a median follow-up of 8.6 (IQR 6–12.4) years, patients with proteinuria also had higher adjusted all-cause mortality (HR 3.8, 95% CI 1.4–1.9, p = 0.01). As such, the development or worsening of proteinuria within the first year of mTOR1 therapy has been described as a warning sign or harbinger of negative outcomes (Eisen 2020).

Current literature on the renal effects of mTOR inhibitory therapy, used in place of or in combination with low-dose CNI therapy in both de novo and maintenance heart transplant recipients, has been summarized by Fine and Kushwaha (Fine 2016). Comparison of published studies is hindered by a number of factors including differences in the enrolled patients (de novo or maintenance), the extent of renal impairment at baseline, measurements of renal function, CNI and mTOR inhibitor dosing methods, target serum concentrations of both the CNI and mTOR inhibitor, and the timing of follow-up assessment (6 months to 5 years). Although studies have shown varied results between CNI and mTOR inhibitor-based regimens, the weight of the published evidence suggests that a CNI-sparing regimen with replacement by an mTOR inhibitor prevents further decline in renal function. Of note, these benefits must be balanced against the high risk of adverse reactions to mTOR inhibitors, particularly in de novo patients, including impaired wound healing, pericardial effusion, pleural effusion, and proteinuria. Discontinuation rates of mTOR inhibitor therapy, ranging from 20%-50% in clinical trials, were largely attributed to the occurrence of dose-related adverse effects including the long-term complications of stomatitis and mucocutaneous ulcers, interstitial pneumonitis, and dyslipidemia (Fine 2016). In the recently published EVERHEART study, the cumulative incidence of a safety endpoint (defined on the basis of wound healing delays, effusions needing drainage, and renal insufficiency) was compared in de novo transplant patients receiving immediate everolimus (within 144 h post heart transplant) and delayed everolimus (at 4-6 weeks post-transplant) with reduced dose cyclosporine (Potena et al. 2018). The safety endpoint was more prevalent in the immediate everolimus group (44.9%) compared to the delayed group (32.6%), supporting a safety benefit to delayed introduction of everolimus in de novo heart transplant patients. The primary driver for this difference in safety outcomes was a higher rate of pericardial effusion in the immediate everolimus group (33.7% versus 19.6%, p = 0.04); the rates of wound healing delays, pleural effusion, and renal insufficiency were comparable between the two groups.

5.2 Patients with Evidence of Cardiac Allograft Vasculopathy (CAV)

Early rapid intimal thickening is predictive of CAV-related adverse events and reduced survival in heart transplant recipients. Incorporation of statins into the post-transplant medication regimen has resulted in a lower incidence of CAV. In a landmark study, initiation of pravastatin within 1-2 weeks of transplant at a dose of 20 mg/day, titrated to 40 mg/day after 1 month, resulted in better survival (94%) versus 78%; p = 0.025) and a lower incidence of CAV as determined by angiography at 1 year compared to a control group (Kobashigawa et al. 1995). In terms of immunosuppression, early conversion to everolimus or sirolimus, agents with antiproliferative and antifibrotic properties, has also been shown to limit CAV progression. Similar to studies describing the renal benefits of mTOR inhibitor therapy, studies of allograft vasculopathy support that the timing of mTOR inhibitor initiation influences the extent of benefit on CAV progression. As mentioned previously, Eisen et al. randomized patients within the first 72 h of transplant to everolimus (1.5 mg/day or 3 mg/day) or azathioprine (1-3 mg/kg/day), in combination with oral cyclosporine and corticosteroids. All patients also received statins. At 1 year, the incidence of vasculopathy in both everolimus dosing groups was significantly lower than that of the azathioprine group (Fig. 3). In contrast, in the NOCTET trial, 111 heart transplant recipients were randomized to receive either everolimus combined with low-dose CNI or standard CNI regimen at a mean of 5.8 years posttransplant (Arora et al. 2011). At 1 year, no significant difference was observed between the two groups in CAV progression as determined on the basis of changes in maximal intimal thickness.

Early conversion to an everolimus- or sirolimus-based regimen has consistently been associated with decreased CAV progression as determined on the basis of intravascular ultrasound studies (IVUS) for extent of plaque volume, maximal intimal thickness, and plaque index (plaque volume-to-vessel volume ratio). In the SCHEDULE trial, the incidence of CAV associated with early everolimus initiation was $50\% \pm 7.4\%$ in 1 year versus $64.6\% \pm 6.9\%$ (p = 0.003) in the patients receiving a conventional cyclosporine regimen (Andreassen et al. 2014). These benefits were sustained at 36 months in a smaller subset of patients (Arora et al. 2018). Of note, everolimus's beneficial effects were observed only in those patients without underlying donor disease. Limitations of this follow-up study were the small cohort of patients with donor disease and the restricted imaging of the left ascending artery as the surrogate marker for all potential CAV.

Earlier studies comparing mycophenolate- and azathioprine-based regimens revealed significantly less progression in intimal thickening at 1 year in the mycophenolate-treated patients (Kobashigawa et al. 2006c). In a subset of the RAD001 A2310 study, mycophenolate 3 g/day plus standard-dose cyclosporine was compared to everolimus 1.5 mg/day plus reduced-dose cyclosporine in the prevention of CAV in de novo heart transplant recipients (Kobashigawa et al. 2013). In the 189 patients with evaluable IVUS data, the average change in maximal intimal thickness was significantly less at 1 year in the everolimus group (0.03 mm versus 0.07 mm, p < 0.001). Moreover, the incidence of CAV was 12.5% in the everolimus group versus 26.7% in the mycophenolate group (p = 0.018). Despite evidence to support that everolimus increases serum lipid concentrations, everolimus was shown in this study to decrease the progression of intimal thickening regardless of lipid levels. A lower frequency of CMV infection at 1 year in the everolimus group (8.2% versus 20.5%; p < 0.001) may have also contributed to the observed CAV benefit (Kobashigawa et al. 2013).

In the largest follow-up study to date, Asleh et al. employed a cohort of 402 heart transplant recipients to examine the long-term effectiveness of early conversion to a sirolimus-based regimen on CAV progression and outcomes (Asleh et al. 2018). Patients were converted to sirolimus (n = 235) due to impaired renal function, CAV detected on annual coronary angiography, or intolerance to CNI-related side effects. Conversion occurred at a median of 1.1 years (interquartile range: 0.6–3 years) after heart transplant, and doses were adjusted to maintain a target sirolimus level of 10–14 ng/mL. The comparative group (n = 99) were patients maintained on a CNI-based regimen (cyclosporine or tacrolimus). Patients in both the CNI and sirolimus groups also received an antimetabolite and corticosteroid. At a mean follow-up of 8.9 years from heart transplant, progression in plaque volume and plaque index was significantly lower in the sirolimus group compared to those treated with the conventional CNI-based regimen. Both all-cause mortality and CAV-related events were lower in the sirolimus-treated group (hazard ratio 0.47 [95%CI 0.31–0.7] and 0.35 [95%CI 0.21–0.59]), respectively. A subset analysis also supported more

Before converting a patient to mTOR inhibitor therapy to lower CAV progression, consideration must be given to the aforementioned adverse effects associated with this drug class and the potential for drug discontinuation due to drug intolerance. In addition, comparative rates of rejection between mTor inhibitor and CNI-based regimens need to be considered. In the SCHEDULE follow-up trial, 41% of patients (n = 15) in the everolimus group had grade 2R or greater rejection at 36 months compared to 13% (n = 5) in the cyclosporine group (p = 0.01) (Arora et al. 2018). In the long-term study by Asleh et al., no significant difference was found in the incidence of hemodynamically significant rejection between the sirolimus and CNI groups (5.6% versus 9.1%; p = 0.23), respectively (Asleh et al. 2018).

5.3 Patients with History of Medication Nonadherence

Lack of adherence with the immunosuppressive regimen is a contributor to late rejection and graft loss in heart transplant recipients. Conversion to a once-daily extended release formulation of tacrolimus is a potential strategy to simply the immunosuppressive regimen. The pharmacokinetic profile of a once-daily extended release tacrolimus formulation (Astagraf XL) has been shown to be comparable to that of the twice-daily immediate release formulation in stable heart transplant recipients. Alloway et al. compared the steady state area under the curve (AUC_{0-24}) and the minimum (trough) concentration (C_{min}) achieved with the immediate and extended release formulation in 85 heart transplant recipients (81% male, 93% white, and ≥ 6 months after transplant) (Alloway et al. 2011). In this prospective, single arm pharmacokinetic study, patients were maintained on twice-daily tacrolimus for 2 weeks, then converted to once-daily tacrolimus on a 1:1 (mg/mg) total daily dose basis. Doses were adjusted during the 5-week study to maintain whole blood tacrolimus concentrations of 5-15 ng/mL. In the 42 (52.9%) patients who completed the five 24-h pharmacokinetic profiles, steady state AUC₀₋₂₄ and C_{min} were found to be comparable with the formulations. The mean AUC $_{0-24}$ ratio for tacrolimus once daily to twice daily was 90%, supporting a 10% lower exposure of tacrolimus with the once-daily formulation. Approximately one third of patients required dose adjustments following conversion to the once-daily formulation, the majority being dose escalations to maintain the target tacrolimus trough concentration. Mean \pm SD values for serum creatinine, creatinine clearance, and plasma glucose did not differ significantly between the study phases, and there were no reported incidences of acute rejection, graft loss, or death.

Subsequent studies have been performed to identify the optimal tacrolimus dose for conversion to Astagraf XL and to assess the safety of such conversion. In 75 stable heart transplant patients, a 25% increase in dose was employed upon conversion to the Astagraf XL (Marzoa-Rivas et al. 2010). In the first 3 months following conversion, 31% of patients did not require a dosage adjustment to maintain the target serum trough concentrations. In 68% of patients, tacrolimus concentrations remained within the target range throughout the 3 months. No significant changes were observed in blood pressure, or in plasma glucose, creatinine, and lipid concentrations following conversion to the once-daily formulation. As noted by these authors, strict monitoring of tacrolimus trough concentrations is advised during the initial months following formulation conversion to identify those patients who will require dosage adjustments.

The safety of formulation conversion has also been studied with a focus on rates of acute rejection and infection. In a retrospective study of 467 stable heart transplant patients converted to Astagraf XL, the infection rate was similar pre- and postconversion (9.2/100 patient-years versus 10.6/100 patient-years) (Gonzalez-Vilchez et al. 2019). Six months post-conversion, five patients (1.1%) met the primary outcome of an episode of acute rejection defined by clinical suspicion, echocardiogram, or biopsy results. This study employed a 10% higher dose upon conversion to the once-daily formulation. At 2 years post-conversion, the drop-out rate was 7.1% and largely attributed to undisclosed adverse effects. Most recently, Gonzalez-Vilchez studied Astagraf XL as de novo therapy (n = 94) compared to initiation of standard release tacrolimus (n = 42) and early conversion from standard to Astagraf XL (n = 44) (Gonzalez-Vilchez et al. 2018). Early conversion occurred within 6 months of heart transplant (mean 4.2 ± 1.4 month). Similar rates of acute rejection, infection, and CMV infection/disease were found in the three treatment groups. The 1 year rejection rate, the primary outcome, was 1.05 (95%CI 0.51-1.54), 1.39 (95%CI, 1.00-1.78), and 1.11 (95%CI, 0.58-1.65) episodes per patient-years in the standard release, de novo, and early conversion groups, respectively. Of note, induction therapy with basiliximab, daclizumab, or OKT3 was used in 84.4% of these recipients. No significant differences were observed between the daily doses and trough tacrolimus concentrations between the groups. Limitations of this study were its retrospective design and the restricted study period of the first year post transplantation.

Use of an extended release tacrolimus formulation in heart transplant recipients is not recommended per ISHLT guidelines. Two different extended release formulations, Astagraf XL and Envarsus XR, have been approved for use following kidney transplant, and only Astagraf XL has been studied thus far in the heart transplant recipient. A phase II open label study of Envarsus XL in heart transplant recipients is currently underway with results anticipated in 2022 (ClinicalTrials.gov 2019). Of note, the pharmacokinetics of the two available extended release formulations (i.e., oral bioavailability, Tmax and Cmax) are different such that these formulations are not interchangeable. In studies of Astagraf XL, the optimal dose for conversion from the immediate to the extended release formulation was not determined; a 10–25% higher dose may be needed to facilitate maintenance of the target trough concentration. A good correlation was shown between the AUC_{0-24} and the C_{min} for both Astagraf XL (r = 0.94) and the standard formulation (r = 0.91) (Marzoa-Rivas et al. 2010). These findings support use of the same therapeutic monitoring methods for both formulations (i.e., trough serum concentrations) with the same targeted trough concentrations. In stable heart transplant patients with history of medication nonadherence, conversion to an extended release formulation is at the discretion of the prescriber. Strict therapeutic drug monitoring is recommended thereafter to ensure maintenance of target whole blood trough tacrolimus concentrations.

5.4 Patients with the Development of Cancer

Despite the improvement in survival after heart transplantation due to advancements in immunosuppressive therapy, long-term use of immunosuppression has been shown to increase the risk of malignancy. Reduced immune surveillance, drug specific properties of CNIs and the proliferation of oncogenic viruses are believed to contribute to this increased risk (Guba et al. 2004; Hojo et al. 1999). Recent data from Youn et al. examining the trends in the development of new malignancies after heart transplantation revealed 10% of patients developed cancers between 1 and 5 years after transplantation (Youn et al. 2018). The most common malignancies found were skin cancer, prostate cancer, lung cancer, and post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders. When looking at the trends over a 5-year period between 2000–2005 versus a time period between 2006–2011 there was an increase in de novo skin cancer (6.4–8.4%; p < 0001) and non-skin solid cancer (4% versus 4.5%; p = 0.004) and no change in the incidence of lymphoproliferative disorders (1% versus 0.9%; p = 0.118). Importantly, survival of patients after malignancy development was much worse than for those patients without malignancy for all cancer types including skin cancer. This is consistent with prior data from the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation Registry supporting malignancy as the leading cause of death among long-term heart transplant survivors (Lund et al. 2014).

In direct contrast to the tumor promoting properties of calcineurin inhibitors, the mTOR inhibitors sirolimus and everolimus have been shown to have antineoplastic properties (Geissler et al. 2008). A study by Kaufman et al. in kidney transplant recipients examined the effect of maintenance immunosuppressive regimens on the development of new malignancies (Kaufman et al. 2005). The incidence rates of patients with any de novo post-transplant malignancy were 0.60% with sirolimus/ everolimus alone, 0.60% with sirolimus/everolimus plus cyclosporine/tacrolimus, and 1.81% with cyclosporine/tacrolimus (p < 0.0001). These data suggest that mTOR inhibitors have a protective effect on the development of de novo posttransplant malignancies. More recently a multicenter, randomized open-labeled trial by Euvrard et al. assigned kidney transplant recipients who were taking a CNI and had at least one cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma to either sirolimus as a substitute for the CNI or continued initial treatment (Euvrad et al. 2012). The primary end point was survival free of squamous cell carcinoma at 2 years follow-up. A significant reduction in new squamous cell carcinomas was observed in the sirolimus group when compared to the CNI group (22% versus 39%; p = 0.02). Of note, in the sirolimus group, 23% of patient discontinued the drug because of adverse events. These results support that switching from a CNI to sirolimus, if tolerated, has an antitumor effect in transplant recipients with a history of previous skin cancers. The data for heart transplantation is more limited regarding the use of mTOR inhibitors to diminish tumor development. Wang et al. retrospectively analyzed 454 heart transplant patients who received either MMF or everolimus. During a median follow-up period of 69 months, malignancy was diagnosed in a total of 27 patients receiving MMF (n = 23) or everolimus (n = 4). There was a significant difference in risk between these two groups (9.91% vs. 1.80%; p = 0.001). The most common malignancies were non-Hodgkin lymphoma, skin malignancy, and lung squamous cell carcinoma. The 2-year overall survival after malignancy was 50% in the everolimus group and 47% in the MMF group. One major limitation in this study was the small number of patients with malignancy despite a long follow-up period (Wang et al. 2016). Based on these and other data, most programs attempt to switch patients who develop post-transplant malignancies from a CNI to an mTOR inhibitor-based regimen.

6 Summary

Immunosuppression in heart transplantation has evolved significantly since the initial concept of immunosuppression arose. At the present time, several observations can be made from the multitude of trials that have been conducted in this field. Induction immunosuppression has not shown overall benefit versus no induction therapy, but select patient populations may benefit from its use (e.g., highly allogeneic individuals, younger patients, patients with renal dysfunction). Corticosteroid weaning has been shown to be safe within the first 6 months posttransplant and helps mitigate the risks associated with long-term steroid therapy. Maintenance immunosuppression regimens consisting of tacrolimus and mycophenolate have shown the highest level of efficacy as well as the most tolerable adverse effect profile in the general heart transplant recipient population. However, studies comparing the use of the newer proliferation signal inhibitors (sirolimus and everolimus) have shown benefit in special patient populations such as those with chronic renal dysfunction and accelerated CAV. Important areas warranting further investigation are the use of proliferation signal inhibitors in patients who develop cancer post-transplant and the use of extended release preparations of tacrolimus to improve medication adherence and tolerability. Further advances in this field will serve to maintain/improve rejection rates while reducing the risk of adverse effects as currently experienced with contemporary immunosuppression regimens.

References

Alloway R, Vanhaecke J, Yonan N, White M, Haddad H, Rabago G et al (2011) Pharmacokinetics in stable heart transplant recipients after conversion from twice daily to once daily tacrolimus formulations. JHLT 30:1003–1010

- Andreassen A, Andersson B, Gustafsson F et al (2014) Everolimus initiation and early calcineurin inhibitor withdrawal in heart transplant recipients: a randomized trial. Am J Transplant 14:1828–1838
- Andreassen A, Andersson B et al (2016) Everolimus initiation with early calcineurin inhibitor withdrawal in de novo heart transplant recipients. Three-year results from the randomized SCHEDULE trial. Am J Transplant 16:1238–1247
- Arora S, Ueland T, Wennerblom B, Sigurdadottir V, Eiskjaer H, Botker HE et al (2011) Effect of everolimus introduction on cardiac allograft vasculopathy – results of a randomized multicenter trial. Transplantation 92:235–243
- Arora S, Andreassen AK, Karason K, Gustafsson F, Eiskjaer H, Botker HE et al (2018) Effect of everolimus initiation and calcineurin inhibitor elimination on cardiac allograft vasculopathy in de novo heart transplant recipients: three year results of a Scandinavian randomized trial. Circ Heart Fail 11:e004050
- Asleh R, Briasoulis A, Kremers W, Adigun R, Boilson BA, Pereira NL et al (2018) Long-term sirolimus for primary immunosuppression in heart transplant recipients. J Am Coll Cardiol 71:636–650
- Asleh R, Alnsasra H, Lerman A et al (2020) Effects of mTOR inhibitor-related proteinuria on progression of cardiac allograft vasculopathy and outcomes among heart transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 21(2):626–635
- Baran DA, Zucker MJ, Arroyo LH et al (2007) Randomized trial of tacrolimus monotherapy: tacrolimus in combination, tacrolimus alone compared (the TICTAC trial). J Heart Lung Transplant 26(10):992–997
- Baran DA, Zucker MJ, Arroyo LH et al (2011) A prospective, randomized trial of single-drug versus dual-drug immunosuppression in heart transplantation: the tacrolimus in combination, tacrolimus alone compared (TICTAC) trial. Circ Heart Fail 4(2):129–137
- Briasoulis A, Inampudi C, Pala M, Asleh R, Alvarez P, Bhama J (2018) Induction immunosuppressive therapy in cardiac transplantation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Heart Fail Rev 23 (5):641–649
- Brink JG, Hassoulas J (2009) The first human heart transplant and further advances in cardiac transplantation at Groote Schuur Hospital and the University of Cape Town with reference to: the operation. A human cardiac transplant: an interim report of a successful operation performed at Groote Schuur Hospital, Cape Town. Cardiovasc J Afr 20(1):31–35
- Cai J, Terasaki PI (2010) Induction immunosuppression improves long-term graft and patient outcome in organ transplantation: an analysis of united network for organ sharing registry data. Transplantation 90(12):1511–1515
- ClinicalTrials.gov (2019). https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03373227. Accessed 9 Oct 2019
- Costanzo MR, Dipchand A, Starling R et al (2010) Guidelines for the care of heart transplant recipients. J Heart Lung Transplant 29:914
- Eisen H (2020) CAVEAT mTOR: You've heard about the benefits of using mTOR inhibitors, here are some of the risks. Am J Transplant 21:449–450
- Eisen HJ et al (2003) Everolimus for the prevention of allograft rejection and vasculopathy in cardiac transplant recipients. N Engl J Med 349:847–858
- Eisen HJ, Kobashigawa J, Keogh A et al (2005) Three-year results of a randomized, double-blind, controlled trial of mycophenolate mofetil versus azathioprine in cardiac transplant recipients. J Heart Lung Transplant 24(5):517–525
- Eisen HJ, Kobashigawa J, Starling RC et al (2013) Everolimus versus mycophenolate mofetil in heart transplantation: a randomized, multicenter trial. Am J Transplant 13(5):1203–1216
- Euvrad S et al (2012) Sirolimus and secondary skin-cancer prevention in kidney transplantation. N Engl J Med 367:329–339
- Fine NM, Kushwaha SS (2016) Recent advances in mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitor use in heart and lung transplantation. Transplantation 100:2558–2568
- Geissler EK, Schlitt HJ, Thomas G (2008) mTOR, cancer and transplantation. Am J Transplant 8:2212–2218
- Gonzalez-Vilchez F, Lambert JL, Rangel D, Almenar L, de la Fuente JL, Palomo J et al (2018) Efficacy and safety of de novo and early use of extended-release tacrolomus in heart transplantation. Rev Esp Cardiol 71:18–25
- Gonzalez-Vilchez F, Delgado JF, Palomo J, Mirabet S, Diaz-Molina B, Almerar L et al (2019) Conversion from immediate-release tacrolimus to prolonged-release tacrolimus in stable heart transplant patients: a retrospective study. Trans Proc 51(6):1994–2001. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.transproceed.2019.04.028
- Griepp RB, Stinson EB, Bieber CP et al (1976) Human heart transplantation: current status. Ann Thorac Surg 22:171–175
- Grimm M, Rinaldi M, Yonan NA et al (2006) Superior prevention of acute rejection by tacrolimus vs. cyclosporine in heart transplant recipients--a large European trial. Am J Transplant 6(6):1387–1397
- Guba M, Graeb C, Jauch KW, Geissler EK (2004) Pro and anti-cancer effects of immunosuppressive agents used in organ transplantation. Transplantation 77:1777
- Gude E, Gullestad L, Arora S, Simonsen S, Hoel I, Hartmann A et al (2010) Benefit of early conversion form CNI-based immunosuppression in heart transplantation. JHLT 29:641–647
- Gustafsson F, Andreassen AK, Andersson B et al (2020) Everolimus initiation with early calcineurin inhibitor withdrawl in de novo heart transplant recipients: long term follow-up from the randomized SCHEDULE study. Transplantation 104(1):154–164
- Higgins R, Kirklin JK, Brown RN, Rayburn BK, Wagoner L, Oren R, Miller L, Flattery M, Bourge RC (2005) Cardiac transplant research database (CTRD). To induce or not to induce: do patients at greatest risk for fatal rejection benefit from cytolytic induction therapy? J Heart Lung Transplant 24(4):392–400
- Hojo M, Morimito T, Maluccio M et al (1999) Cyclosporine induces cancer progression by a cellautonomous mechanism. Nature 397:530–534
- Kaufman HM et al (2005) Maintenance immunosuppression with target-of-rapamycin inhibitors is associated with a reduced incidence of de novo malignancies. Transplantation 80:883–889
- Keogh A, Richardson M, Ruygrok P et al (2004) Sirolimus in de novo heart transplant recipients reduces acute rejection and prevents coronary artery disease at 2 years: a randomized clinical trial. Circulation 110(17):2694–2700
- Kobashigawa JA, Stevenson LW, Brownfield ED et al (1992) Initial success of steroid weaning late after heart transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 11(2 Pt 2):428–430
- Kobashigawa JA, Katznelson S, Laks H, Johnson JA, Yeatman L, Wang XM et al (1995) Effect of pravastatin on outcomes after cardiac transplantation. New Engl J Med 333:621–627
- Kobashigawa J, Miller L, Renlund D et al (1998) A randomized active-controlled trial of mycophenolate mofetil in heart transplant recipients. Transplantation 66:507–515
- Kobashigawa JA, Miller LW, Russell SD et al (2006a) Tacrolimus with mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) or sirolimus vs. cyclosporine with MMF in cardiac transplant patients: 1-year report. Am J Transplant 6(6):1377–1386
- Kobashigawa JA, Patel J, Furukawa H et al (2006b) Five-year results of a randomized, single-center study of tacrolimus vs microemulsion cyclosporine in heart transplant patients. J Heart Lung Transplant 25(4):434–439
- Kobashigawa JA, Tobis JM, Mentzer RM, Valantine HA, Bourge RC, Mehra MR et al (2006c) Mycophenolate mofetil reduces intimal thickness by intravascular ultrasound after heart transplant: reanalysis of the multicenter trial. Am J Transplant 6:993–997
- Kobashigawa JA, Pauly DF, Starling RC, Eisen H, Ross H, Wang SS et al (2013) Cardiac allograft vasculopathy by intravascular ultrasound in heart transplant patients: substudy from the everolimus versus mycophenolate randomized multicenter trial. J Am Coll Cardiol HF 1:390–399
- Lund LH, Edwards LB, Kucheryavaya AY et al (2014) The registry of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation: thirty-first official adult heart transplant reportd2014: focus theme: retransplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 33:996–1008

- Lund L et al (2017) The registry of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation: thirty-fourth adult heart transplantation report – 2017. Focus theme: allograft ischemic time. J Heart Lung Transplant 36:19037–19046
- Marzoa-Rivas R, Paniagua-Martin MJ, Barge-Caballero E, Pedrosa del Moral V, Barge-Caballero-G, Grille-Cancela Z et al (2010) Conversion of heart transplant patients from standard to sustained-release tacrolimus requires a doseage increase. Transplant Proc 42:2994–2996
- Meiser BM, Uberfuhr P, Fuchs A et al (1998) Single-center randomized trial comparing tacrolimus (FK506) and cyclosporine in the prevention of acute myocardial rejection. J Heart Lung Transplant 17(8):782–788
- Myers BD, Sibley R, Newton L et al (1988) The long-term course of cyclosporine-associated chronic nephropathy. Kidney Int 33:590–600
- Nelson LM, Andreassen AK, Andersson B, Gude E, Eiskjaer H, Radegran G et al (2017) Effect of calcineurin inhibitor-free, everolimus-based immunosuppressive regimen on albuminuria and glomerular filtration rate after heart transplantation. Transplantation 101:2793–2800
- Olivari MT, Jessen ME, Baldwin BJ et al (1995) Triple-drug immunosuppression with steroid discontinuation by six months after heart transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 14(1 Pt 1):127–135
- Potena L, Pellegrini C, Grigioni F, Amarelli C, Livi U, Maccherini M et al (2018) Optimizing the safety profile of everolimus by delayed initiation in de novo heart transplant recipients: results of the prospective randomized study EVERHEART. Transplantation 102:493–501
- Reichart B, Meiser B, Viganò M et al (1998) European multicenter tacrolimus (FK506) heart pilot study: one-year results—European tacrolimus multicenter heart study group. J Heart Lung Transplant 17:775–781
- Renlund DG, O'connell JB, Gilbert EM, Watson FS, Bristow MR (1987) Feasibility of discontinuation of corticosteroid maintenance therapy in heart transplantation. J Heart Transplant 6 (2):71–78
- Rinaldi M, Pellegrini C, Martinelli L et al (1997) FK506 effectiveness in reducing acute rejection after heart transplantation: a prospective randomized study. J Heart Lung Transplant 16 (10):1001–1010
- Taylor DO, Bristow MR, O'connell JB et al (1996) Improved long-term survival after heart transplantation predicted by successful early withdrawal from maintenance corticosteroid therapy. J Heart Lung Transplant 15(10):1039–1046
- Taylor DO, Barr ML, Radovancevic B et al (1999) A randomized, multicenter comparison of tacrolimus and cyclosporine immunosuppressive regimens in cardiac transplantation: decreased hyperlipidemia and hypertension with tacrolimus. J Heart Lung Transplant 18:336–345
- Teuteberg JJ, Shullo M, Zomak R, Mcnamara D, Mccurry K, Kormos RL (2008) Aggressive steroid weaning after cardiac transplantation is possible without the additional risk of significant rejection. Clin Transpl 22(6):730–737
- UNOS Transplant Trends (2019). https://unos.org/data/transplant-trends/. Accessed 20 Aug 2019
- Wang YJ, Chi NH, Chou NK et al (2016) Malignancy after heart transplantation under everolimus versus mycophenolate mofetil immunosuppression. Transplant Proc 48(3):969–973
- Youn JC, Stehlik J et al (2018) Temporal trends of de novo malignancy development after heart transplantation. JACC 71:40–49



Immunosuppression in Lung Transplantation

Joelle Nelson, Elisabeth Kincaide, Jamie Schulte, Reed Hall, and Deborah Jo Levine

Contents

1	Histo	ory of Immunosuppression in Lung Transplantation	140
2	Indu	ction Immunosuppression in Lung Transplantation	141
	2.1	Anti-thymocyte Globulin	141
	2.2	Alemtuzumab	142
	2.3	Basiliximab	142
	2.4	Considerations for Induction Immunosuppression in Lung Transplantation	142
3	Mair	ntenance Immunosuppression in Lung Transplantation	144
	3.1	Calcineurin Inhibitors	144
	3.2	DNA Synthesis Inhibitors	148
	3.3	Corticosteroids	149
	3.4	mTOR Inhibitors	150
	3.5	Belatacept	151
4	Resc	cue Immunosuppression for Lung Transplantation	152
	4.1	Acute Cellular Rejection	152

J. Nelson · E. Kincaide · R. Hall

Department of Pharmacotherapy and Pharmacy Services, University Health, San Antonio, TX, USA

Pharmacotherapy Education and Research Center, The University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio, San Antonio, TX, USA

Pharmacotherapy Division, College of Pharmacy, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, USA

J. Schulte

Department of Pharmacy Services, Thomas Jefferson University Hospital, Philadelphia, PA, USA

D. J. Levine (⊠) Division of Critical Care Medicine, Department of Medicine, The University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio, San Antonio, TX, USA e-mail: levinedj@uthscsa.edu

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

H. J. Eisen (ed.), *Pharmacology of Immunosuppression*, Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 272, https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2021_548

	4.2	Antibody-Mediated Rejection	154
	4.3	Chronic Lung Allograft Dysfunction	155
5	Sum	mary	157
Re	feren	ces	158

Abstract

Immunosuppression in lung transplantation is an area devoid of robust clinical data. This chapter will review the history of immunosuppression in lung transplantation. Additionally, it will evaluate the three classes of induction, maintenance, and rescue immunosuppression in detail. Induction immunosuppression in lung transplantation aims to decrease incidence of lung allograft rejection, however infectious risk must be considered when determining if induction is appropriate and which agent is most favorable. Similar to other solid organ transplant patient populations, a multi-drug approach is commonly prescribed for maintenance immunosuppression to minimize single agent drug toxicities. Emphasis of this review is placed on key medication considerations will be reviewed per drug class given available literature. Finally, acute cellular, antibody mediated, and chronic rejection are reviewed.

Keywords

CLAD · Immunosuppression · Lung transplant

1 History of Immunosuppression in Lung Transplantation

Therapeutic advances have enabled longer allograft and patient survival following lung transplantation, with prevention of allograft recognition via immune suppression integral to success. However, lung transplantation still has worse short- and long-term outcomes compared to other solid organ groups with 5-year patient survival being 59.2% (Valapour et al. 2021). The frequency and severity of rejection episodes have been shown to be associated with increased risk of chronic lung allograft dysfunction (CLAD), in the form of bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome (BOS), and restrictive allograft dysfunction (RAS). These in turn impact survival (Estenne et al. 2002). Although evaluation of therapeutic immunosuppressive agents in lung transplantation recipients is growing, there are currently immunosuppressants FDA-approved in lung transplantation. While necessity and data support the off-label use of various immunosuppression drugs in lung transplantation, payer-recognized drug compendia are often not up to date with clinical practice leading to difficulty in medication access in this vulnerable patient population (Lushin et al. 2021).

An increasing number of maintenance immunosuppressive agents have been introduced since the first lung transplantation procedure in 1963. Early experience was revolutionized by the approval of cyclosporine in the 1980s and its addition to the standard regimen of azathioprine and corticosteroids. Tacrolimus replaced cyclosporine in the 1990s as a more potent inhibitor of T cell proliferation and is now recognized as the primary immunosuppressive cornerstone (Panchabhai et al. 2018). Mycophenolic acid formulations were approved in the early 2000s and have generally replaced azathioprine as the antimetabolite of choice. Mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitors (mTOR), sirolimus, was approved in the late 1990s and everolimus in 2010 for rejection prophylaxis. The co-stimulation blocker, belatacept, was the most recently introduced option in 2011. Despite advancements in immunosuppression, rejection and survival rates after lung transplantation remain suboptimal (Valapour et al. 2021).

2 Induction Immunosuppression in Lung Transplantation

Induction therapy in transplantation is intense immunosuppression, administered peri-operatively, with the goal to prevent acute rejection within the early post-transplant period. Therapies used are antibody preparations targeted at T-lymphocytes and are either lymphocyte depleting or non-depleting. The use of induction has also been recognized as a method to minimize maintenance immuno-suppression, thereby limiting adverse effects associated with lifelong therapy. While the use of induction in lung transplantation has increased over the past 10 years, the clinical efficacy and the optimal agent remain debated.

2.1 Anti-thymocyte Globulin

Anti-thymocyte globulins are polyclonal anti-human IgG antibody preparations targeted at human thymocytes and lead to modulation of T cell activation and depletion from circulation via complement-dependent lysis and activation induced apoptosis (Thymoglobulin Package Insert 2017; Wiseman 2016). Anti-thymocyte globulin is derived from either rabbit (rATG, Thymoglobulin[®]) or horse (eATG, ATGAM[®]), but only rATG is approved for rejection prophylaxis in renal transplant recipients. Neither preparation is approved in lung transplant recipients. Dosing strategies for anti-thymocyte globulin are weight-based and vary by formulation. Administered as an intravenous infusion, rATG is dosed 1–1.5 mg/kg daily for 4–7 days, while eATG is 10–15 mg/kg/dose for 4–7 days (Thymoglobulin Package Insert 2017; ATGAM Package Insert 2021). In clinical practice, rATG is preferred over eATG as studies in kidney transplant recipients demonstrated significantly less rejection (Brennan et al. 1999). Both formulations can cause infusion-related reactions (fevers, chills, rigors, and arthralgia). Thus, premedication with corticosteroids, acetaminophen, and/or an antihistamine is recommended (Thymoglobulin Package Insert 2017). Leukopenia and thrombocytopenia may occur, with manufacturer suggested dosing adjustments based on the severity available for guidance.

2.2 Alemtuzumab

Alemtuzumab (Campath-1H[®]) is a humanized rat monoclonal antibody that targets CD52, which is present on T- and B-lymphocytes, as well as other cells of the innate immune pathway. It causes depletion of T cells via multiple proposed mechanisms including prevention of T cell co-stimulation as well as complement and antibody-dependent cytotoxicity (Wiseman 2016; van der Zwan et al. 2018). Use of alemtuzumab as induction in all solid organ transplantation is off label. Alemtuzumab is administered intravenously as a single dose of 30 mg at time of transplantation. Infusion-related reactions are possible, with premedication recommended. Given alemtuzumab's disposition to cause profound depletion of immune cells, cytopenia can be an adverse effect of its use (Campath Package Insert 2020).

2.3 Basiliximab

Basiliximab (Simulect[®]) is a murine/human chimeric monoclonal antibody that acts as antagonist of the interleukin-2 (IL-2) receptor alpha chain on activated T cells, limiting the signal for their proliferation and contribution to allograft rejection (Wiseman 2016). Daclizumab (Zinbryta[®]) has been utilized in studies of lung transplantation recipients, but was withdrawn from the US market in 2018 (US Food and Drug Administration 2018). Basiliximab, a non-lymphocyte-depleting induction agent, is administered via 20 mg intravenous infusion on postoperative day zero and four. Hypersensitivity reactions are rare, and other severe adverse related effects are similar to placebo (Simulect Package Insert 2014).

2.4 Considerations for Induction Immunosuppression in Lung Transplantation

When selecting an induction agent for lung transplantation, it should be noted that not all induction is created equal. Lymphocyte-depleting therapies, such as anti-thymocyte globulins and alemtuzumab, are highly immunosuppressive. They cause extended lymphocyte depletion ranging from 6 to 12 months depending on the cell-line (Thymoglobulin Package Insert 2017; Campath Package Insert 2020). Due to basiliximab's non-lymphocyte depleting nature its duration of action is limited to the time it saturates the IL-2 receptor, which ranges from approximately 1–2 months (Simulect Package Insert 2014).

Available data has found induction immunosuppression reduces incidence of acute cellular rejection (ACR) following lung transplantation. However, data are confounding and the impact on BOS and long-term outcomes is less apparent. Early, small retrospective studies comparing no induction to daclizumab or basiliximab showed a trend towards less rejection with use (Garrity Jr. et al. 2001; Borro et al. 2005a). A prospective study of 44 recipients evaluating the use of rATG compared to

no induction demonstrated significantly less episodes of grade >2 rejection within 6 months of transplant with rATG, without impact on eight-year graft survival (Hartwig et al. 2008). Additionally, a descriptive analysis of a randomized trial of 221 recipients did not show a difference in efficacy failure at 12 months between ATG and placebo (Snell et al. 2014).

Comparative studies of outcomes with use of IL-2RA versus ATG have also shown conflicting results. Multiple retrospective analyses have shown a lower incidence of rejection in those receiving ATG, but this has not consistently been demonstrated in RCTs (Hachem et al. 2005; Lischke et al. 2007). Concerns about risk of infections with T-cell depleting therapies have also been explored. In a small retrospective study, cytomegalovirus (CMV) was more common with rATG, particularly in CMV seronegative recipients (Clinckart et al. 2009). A prospective controlled study also found a higher rate of infections at 1 year post-transplant with T-cell depleting induction agents compared to daclizumab (Brock et al. 2001). While infection is of particular concern in cystic fibrosis (CF), some data support a survival benefit with use of induction in CF patients undergoing lung transplantation (Jaksch et al. 2013; Kirkby et al. 2015).

The use of alemtuzumab has been investigated in a small number of lung transplant studies. In an open-label, randomized study of alemtuzumab with reduced dose maintenance immunosuppression compared to rATG, a lower rate of grade ≥ 2 or higher rejection was observed with alemtuzumab (Jaksch et al. 2014). A similar trend of less rejection at 6 months was noted in those receiving alemtuzumab compared to daclizumab (McCurry et al. 2005) and a cohort who had received basiliximab (Whited et al. 2015). A retrospective analysis that investigated long-term outcomes in 336 lung transplantation recipients found greater five-year freedom from patient and allograft survival, cellular rejection, and BOS in those who received alemtuzumab relative to rATG, daclizumab, or no induction (Shyu et al. 2011).

Larger scale registry-based data have also described variable evidence. A retrospective cohort study of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation (ISHLT) registry of almost 4,000 lung transplantation recipients evaluated outcomes based on type of induction. Four-year allograft survival was higher in those who received IL2-RA based induction (64%), compared to ATG (60%) or no induction (57%). Although induction immunosuppression had less cellular rejection early post-transplant, treatment for infection was higher (Hachem et al. 2008). The latest SRTR data reports one-year acute rejection rates of 15.1% in those who received IL-2RA, compared with 18.9% in those who received lymphocytedepleting agents and 17.8% in those with no induction (Valapour et al. 2021). A Cochrane review that analyzed mortality, acute rejection, and adverse events in six randomized-controlled trials with 278 patients found no clear benefit or harm among use of various induction immunosuppression agents when compared to no induction (Penninga et al. 2013a).

The approach to use of induction immunosuppression in lung transplantation remains heterogeneous. Use may decrease the incidence of acute rejection, but its impact on long-term outcomes of BOS and allograft survival are less clear. Consensus on the strategy has not been reached and the approach is varied among transplant institutions. Despite this, >80% of transplant centers internationally use induction immunosuppressive at the time of transplant (Chambers et al. 2019). As of 2018, IL-2RA was used in 69% of adult lung transplantation recipients with no induction was given in 22% of cases followed by T-cell depleting therapies (9%) (Valapour et al. 2018, 2021). Concerns regarding impact of T-cell targeted therapies on infectious and malignant outcomes after lung transplantation may drive clinical decisions regarding induction and patient-specific factors should be considered.

3 Maintenance Immunosuppression in Lung Transplantation

Maintenance immunosuppression is the chronic therapy patients take indefinitely to consistently suppress their immune system, thus limiting the development of acute and chronic rejection. Immunosuppression weighs efficacy for prevention of rejection against risk of infection, malignancy, and medication toxicities. However, given the complex nature of lung transplant recipients, emphasis should be made on considering patient-specific factors when deciding maintenance immunosuppression. Although the optimal immunosuppression therapy in lung transplantation is not defined, it is a multi-drug approach to preserve allograft function while minimizing medication toxicities. The most common initial maintenance immunosuppression regimen used in lung transplantation in the USA is tacrolimus, mycophenolate mofetil, and corticosteroids being used in >80% of recipients (Valapour et al. 2021). Class options include calcineurin inhibitors, DNA synthesis inhibitors, mTOR inhibitors, corticosteroids, and a co-stimulation inhibitor.

3.1 Calcineurin Inhibitors

Calcineurin inhibitors exert their activity on CD4+ T cells by preventing translocation of nuclear factor of activated T-lymphocyte (NFAT) through the nuclear membrane to its site of action. This prevents the transcription of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-2, 3, 4 as well as TNF- α and IFN- γ . The overall effect results in the inhibition of T cell activation and proliferation. Notably, calcineurin inhibitors bind to different immunophilins. Cyclosporine binds to cyclophilin whereas tacrolimus binds to FK-binding protein-12 (Shibasaki et al. 2002).

Calcineurin inhibitors have a variety of side effects (Table 1). Notably, these agents can cause dose-dependent nephrotoxicity through vasoconstriction of the afferent and efferent arterioles leading to decreased renal blood flow and GFR (Textor et al. 1993). Nephrotoxic adverse effects manifest as oliguria, increases in serum creatinine, and electrolyte abnormalities. Chronic calcineurin inhibitor exposure can lead to irreversible kidney damage and acute kidney injury early after transplantation and is associated with an increased risk of chronic renal failure development (50% at 1 year and 70% at 5 years) (Paradela de la Morena et al. 2010). Also notable are their neurotoxic adverse effects. These symptoms are

									Mood/					
	Cytopenia	Nephrotoxicity	Neurotoxicity	Hypertension	Hyperglycemia	Hyperlipidemia	Gastrointestinal	Dermatologic	Mentation	Hepatotoxicity	Hirsutism	Osteoporosis	Edema	Ocular
Cyclosporine	x	X	X	X		X				x	x			
Tacrolimus	x	x	Х	Х	x					X				
Mycophenolic	×						X							
acids														
Azathioprine	x						x							
Corticosteroids				Х	x	x	x	X	x		x	Х	x	х
Sirolimus	x	a				x	x	X						
Everolimus	x	8				x	x	x					x	
Belatacept	×						x						x	

osuppression	
immune	
naintenance	_
of 1	L
effects	
adverse	_
uouu	
Con	
-	
Table	

146

Inhibitors (increase immunosuppression	Inducers (decrease immunosuppression
exposure)	exposure)
Macrolides	Anti-epileptics
Erythromycin	Fosphenytoin
Clarithromycin	Phenytoin
Azole antifungals	Carbamazepine
Ketoconazole	Rifamycins
Voriconazole	Rifampin
Posaconazole	Rifabutin
Isavuconazole	Barbiturates
Itraconazole	Phenobarbital
Fluconazole	Primidone
Non-dihydropyridine calcium channel blockers	Pentobarbital
Verapamil	Herbal
Diltiazem	St. John's Wort
Protease inhibitors and boosters	
Ritonavir	
Cobicistat	
Other antiarrhythmics	
Amiodarone	
Dronedarone	
Grapefruit juice	

 Table 2
 Common effectors of CYP 3A4

associated with the peak exposure of the medication, often manifesting 1–2 h after ingestion. They include bilateral tremor, headache, stutter, neuropathy, and seizure in severe cases. In rare situations, posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome (PRES) may occur through endothelial injury that causes subcortical vasogenic brain edema. Also common are metabolic adverse effects including hyperglycemia and hypertension (Mayer et al. 1997). Hyperglycemia is caused by islet cell toxicity. Hypertension is caused by sodium and subsequent water retention. Hyperlipidemia is only associated with cyclosporine, is dose dependent, and is thought to occur through the inhibition of LDL cholesterol binding to the LDL receptor resulting in a decline in LDL clearance (Agarwal and Prasad 2016).

As calcineurin inhibitors are predominantly metabolized through CYP 3A4, numerous drug interactions exist. CYP 3A4 inducers will increase metabolism of agent to inactive metabolites, thus decreasing levels whereas inhibitors will have the opposite effect. A full list of CYP 3A4 inducers and inhibitors can be found in Table 2. Interestingly, cyclosporine is a weak inhibitor of CYP 3A4 and can also inhibit metabolism of weaker substrate such as HMG-COA reductase inhibitors. Thereby, increasing medication exposures increases the risk for myopathy. Specifically, simvastatin, pitavastatin, and fluvastatin should avoid being given concomitantly with cyclosporine given the effect of the drug interaction (Gengraf Package Insert 2021; Sandimmune Package Insert 2020).

The earliest calcineurin inhibitor, cyclosporine has two formulations: modified (Neoral[®] or Gengraf[®]) and USP (Sandimmune[®]). Dosage formulations are not interchangeable as the original USP formulation is made in a castor oil base,

exhibiting poor oral bioavailability of $\sim 30\%$ and high intra-patient variability in absorption due to its dependence on bile acid salts (Sandimmune Package Insert 2020). The newer, modified formulation is a microemulsion resulting in increased bioavailability and decreased intra-patient variability in absorption (Kahan et al. 1995). Given the benefits with the modified formulation, USP formulation is no longer commonly used in clinical practice.

Starting doses of oral cyclosporine range from 4 to 9 mg/kg/dose and it is dosed every 12 h. If a patient is unable to tolerate oral medication, cyclosporine can be given intravenously although this route is associated with adverse events and is challenging to monitor. If a patient is transitioned from IV: PO the dose should be decreased to 1/3 of the oral daily dose (IBM Micromedex[®] DRUGDEX[®] (electronic version)) n.d.). Food decreases the modified formulation's AUC by 13%, so patients should be educated to consistently take medications with or without food (Gengraf Package Insert 2021). There are two limited sampling strategies that can be used for cyclosporine therapeutic drug monitoring. 12-h troughs of cyclosporine (modified) had a strong correlation to AUC (Kahan et al. 1995). Two-hour peak concentration of cyclosporine is the most accurate representation of AUC and associated with clinical outcomes. (Knight and Morris 2007) However, they are challenging to obtain in clinical practice given a small 10–15 min "window of opportunity" before and after the two-hour time point of which a drawn sample will be accurate (Levy et al. 2002; Saint-Marcoux et al. 2003).

The more commonly used calcineurin inhibitor, tacrolimus, has immediaterelease (Prograf[®]) and extended-release formulations (Astagraf[®] and Envarsus[®]). Dosage formulations are not interchangeable as LCP-tacrolimus (Envarsus[®]) has an increased exposure, as well as a delayed and blunted peak (Tremblay et al. 2017). Starting doses of oral tacrolimus are 0.05–0.2 mg/kg/dose and the immediate-release formulation is dosed every 12 h (Astagraf XL Package Insert 2019; Envarsus XR Package Insert 2018; Prograf Package Insert 2018). If a patient is unable to tolerate oral medication, immediate-release tacrolimus can be administered sublingually by opening the capsule and administering the capsule contents under the patient's tongue. PPE should be used if opening capsules (Doligalski et al. 2014). The conversion from PO:SL immediate-release tacrolimus ranges from 2:1 to 1:1, especially in the lung transplantation patient population (Doligalski et al. 2014; Al Sagheer and Enderby 2019). If a patient cannot take sublingual medication, an intravenous formulation exists but should be used as a last resort. Dose conversion from PO:IV is 3:1 and it should be run as a continuous 24-h infusion instead of intermittently given lower incidence of neuro- and nephrotoxicity (Abu-Elmagd et al. 1991). Food also decreases overall medication exposure by $\sim 25\%$ so patients should be educated to consistently take medications with or without food (Bekersky et al. 2001). 12-h troughs levels have been well correlated to overall AUC (Prograf Package Insert 2018). Cystic fibrosis patients have higher clearance of tacrolimus and may warrant higher doses and closer therapeutic drug monitoring (Knoop et al. 2005).

The best available evidence in lung transplantation has found tacrolimus to be associated with decreased rates of BOS, acute rejection, and allograft survival when compared to either cyclosporine formulation. These benefits need to be weighed with the significantly higher rates of diabetes (Treede et al. 2001; Keenan et al. 1995). A meta-analysis was able to confirm that tacrolimus has significantly lower rates of acute rejection but was unable to find significance with rates of BOS and allograft survival. Rate of diabetes was also significantly higher while rates of renal dysfunction, hypertension, and infections did not significantly differ (Fan et al. 2009). The largest systematic review to date found tacrolimus-treated patients to have significantly lower rates of BOS while rates of acute rejection, mortality, infections and adverse effects did not differ significantly (Penninga et al. 2013b).

3.2 DNA Synthesis Inhibitors

These agents prevent lymphocyte proliferation in different ways. Mycophenolic acid formulations inhibit inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase, inhibiting de novo purine synthesis. By preventing the production of these nucleotides, mycophenolic acid disproportionately affects lymphocyte proliferation as they do not have the salvage pathway to create guanosine like other cell lines do (Allison and Eugui 1996). Azathioprine works by incorporating its metabolites, 6-thioguanine, 6-methyl-MP, and 6-thiouric acid, into DNA subsequently blocking synthesis. Lastly, the disruption of both the de novo and salvage pathways of nucleic acid synthesis conveys a more extensive and severe adverse effect profile (Imuran Package Insert 2018).

Two formulations of mycophenolic acid exist, the pro-drug (mycophenolate mofetil, CellCept[®]) and the enteric-coated formulation (mycophenolate sodium, Myfortic[®]). Of note, 720 mg of mycophenolate sodium is equivalent to 1,000 mg of mycophenolate mofetil. Mycophenolate mofetil has solid and liquid oral formulations as well as an intravenous option. Mycophenolate sodium only has enteric-coated tablets available. In patients unable to tolerate oral formulations, intravenous mycophenolate mofetil can be used and dose adjustment is 1:1 (IBM Micromedex[®] DRUGDEX[®] (electronic version) n.d.).

As these agents affect cell lines with rapid turnover, mycophenolic acid and azathioprine are commonly associated with gastrointestinal adverse effects such as nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea. Effects are thought to be dose related and associated with the glucuronidated metabolite that requires renal clearance. If possible, lower doses of all agents or thrice daily dosing of mycophenolate mofetil can be tried to assist with adverse effects. Mycophenolate sodium was originally formulated with the thought to help with gastrointestinal adverse effects, but rates were non-inferior to mycophenolate mofetil when studied (Behrend and Braun 2005). These agents also cause myelosuppression which may require dose decreases. Lastly, mycophenolic acid is teratogenic. Thus, any female of childbearing potential is required to be enrolled in the mycophenolate Risk Evaluation Mitigation Strategy program (Kim et al. 2013). Azathioprine has also been known to cause alopecia, pancreatitis, and hepatotoxicity (Imuran Package Insert 2018).

Anything that competes with tubular secretion (i.e., acyclovir) of the glucuronidated metabolite will cause retention leading to increased enterohepatic recirculation and subsequent increased medication exposure. Cyclosporine also inhibits MDR transport protein, preventing enterohepatic recirculation of mycophenolic acid, thus decreasing AUC exposure by ~30% (Cox and Ensom 2003). Also, co-administration of aluminum and magnesium- containing medications can cause an overall decreased absorption of mycophenolic acid, however clinical relevance is not yet known (IBM Micromedex[®] DRUGDEX[®] (electronic version) n.d.). Azathioprine is converted by xanthine oxidase to 6-thiouric acid to be renally eliminated. Thus, xanthine oxidase inhibitors such as allopurinol and febuxostat increase azathioprine exposure. Azathioprine doses should be decreased 50–75% if a xanthine oxidase inhibitor is used (Imuran Package Insert 2018).

Mycophenolate mofetil is dosed at 1,000 mg twice daily in patient whereas mycophenolate sodium is 720 mg oral twice daily. Plasma concentrations of mycophenolic acid can be measured, although clinical utility is unknown given cost and lack of correlation with clinical adverse effects. Mycophenolic acid AUCs <30 mcg/mL/h have been correlated with increased rates of rejection whereas levels >60 mcg/mL/h have been linked to increased leukopenia (Shaw et al. 2001; Oellerich et al. 2000). Although less frequently used in clinical practice, azathioprine is an alternative option to mycophenolic acid. Azathioprine is dosed 3–5 mg/kg daily (Imuran Package Insert 2018). Thiopurine *S*-methyltransferase (TPMT) activity can affect drug exposure and subsequent myelosuppression. Approximately 10% of the population has a polymorphism in TPMT leading to low level activity. However, routine monitoring for the TPMT polymorphism in transplantation is not currently recommended due to lack of data.

Either mycophenolate mofetil or azathioprine can be used in combination with tacrolimus or cyclosporine. Acute rejection, BOS, and patient survival were not significantly different with cyclosporine in combination with mycophenolate mofetil versus tacrolimus in combination with azathioprine in the setting of corticosteroids and IL-2 receptor antagonist induction (Glanville et al. 2015; McNeil et al. 2006; Palmer et al. 2001). However, mycophenolate mofetil may be associated with less acute rejection as compared to azathioprine in lung transplant recipients (Speich et al. 2010). Patients who do not tolerate mycophenolate mofetil may subsequently tolerate azathioprine and vice versa. Leukopenia requiring dose reduction is similar between agents but drug discontinuation for gastrointestinal adverse effects is more common with mycophenolate mofetil.

3.3 Corticosteroids

Corticosteroids have global immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory effects by binding to glucocorticoid receptor and causing decreased production of pro-inflammatory and immune activating cytokines by interfering with gene transcription. Corticosteroids also inhibit lymphokines and cause sequestration of T-lymphocytes in the reticuloendothelial system (Barshes et al. 2004; Frey and Frey 1990).

The most common adverse effects are metabolic including hypertension and hyperglycemia. Corticosteroids can have neurologic effects including insomnia, mood changes, irritability, mania, and even hallucinations at high doses, depression if prolonged exposure, and anxiety. They can also cause increased appetite, weight gain, edema due to mineralocorticoid fluid retention, bruising, acne, delayed wound healing, and hirsutism. Prolonged exposure can increase risk of osteoporosis, avascular necrosis of the femoral head, glaucoma, cataracts, and esophagitis (Barshes et al. 2004). Current maintenance immunosuppressive strategies seek to limit or remove corticosteroids from the multi-drug regimen although available data does not favor corticosteroid withdrawal at this time given mixed findings (Borro et al. 2005b; Shitrit et al. 2005).

A multitude of corticosteroid formulations exist including intravenous methylprednisolone, dexamethasone, and hydrocortisone as well as oral prednisone, prednisolone, hydrocortisone, and dexamethasone. Dosage formulations are not equivalent and have varying glucocorticoid and mineralocorticoid potency. Choice of agent and dosing regimens vary by institution, but generally involve high-dose intravenous formulations (usually methylprednisolone 500–1,000 mg daily) in the intra- and peri-operative period that are gradually tapered to a low-dose oral formulation (usually prednisone). Low-dose oral formulations are usually continued indefinitely although some data are supportive of withdrawal in stable patients many years post-transplantation (Borro et al. 2005b).

3.4 mTOR Inhibitors

These agents inhibit cellular response to cytokines (specifically, IL-2, 4, and 15) preventing progression of the cell cycle from G1 to S phase. The overall result is an inhibition of T cell proliferation (Rapamune Package Insert 2021). The most common adverse effect is myelotoxicity and is dose dependent. Specifically, leukopenia and thrombocytopenia have been associated with sirolimus trough concentrations >15 ng/mL (Kahan et al. 2000). Also notable, these agents commonly cause dyslipidemia. Often, medical be used management can to address hypertriglyceridemia or hyperlipidemia. Since these agents inhibit fibroblast growth factors paramount in tissue repair, they have been associated with delayed wound healing. These agents are also associated with aphthous ulcers, thought to be caused by their inhibition of epithelial growth factors. Both agents are linked to enhanced nephrotoxicity if co-administered with calcineurin inhibitors (Wiseman et al. 2013). A rare but serious adverse effect of sirolimus reported in the literature is interstitial pneumonitis that presents as low-grade fever, dyspnea on exertion, fatigue, and dry cough. It is reversed by stopping the offending agent (Weiner et al. 2007). These agents should be avoided in the immediate post-transplant setting given rare but serious anastomotic airway dehiscence (King-Biggs et al. 2003). Everolimus has been associated with peripheral edema, constipation, and urinary tract infections (Zortress Package Insert 2021).

Similarly, to calcineurin inhibitors, mTOR inhibitors are predominantly metabolized through CYP 3A4. Thus, CYP 3A4 inducers will also increase metabolism of agent to inactive metabolites and thereby decrease levels. Whereas inhibitors will also have the opposite effect (Rapamune Package Insert 2021; Zortress Package Insert 2021). Please refer to Table 2 for all relevant inducers and inhibitors.

Sirolimus has only liquid and solid dosage forms. They are interchangeable with one another. Given its long half-life, it is recommended to load sirolimus with 6 mg followed by 2–5 mg daily dose. Food decreases sirolimus absorption by ~25% so patients should be educated to consistently take medications with or without food. Troughs are routinely used to guarantee efficacy while minimizing toxicity. Everolimus has dosage options for oncologic (Afinitor[®]) and solid organ transplant (Zortress[®]) indications, so it is paramount to confirm correct formulation given the 10-fold difference in recommended dosing. Everolimus has only solid dosage forms commercially available although liquid formulations can be compounded. A standard dose of 0.75 mg twice daily is recommended. Troughs can also be used for therapeutic drug monitoring.

Everolimus or sirolimus can be used in place of DNA synthesis inhibitors and is associated with less cytomegalovirus infection and progression to BOS (Glanville et al. 2015; Bhorade et al. 2011; Strueber et al. 2016; Sacher et al. 2014). mTOR inhibitors may not be as well tolerated, as there has been a high incidence of withdrawal (up to 64%) in studies due to drug related adverse events including impaired wound healing, thrombotic microangiopathy, and venous thromboembolism (Bhorade et al. 2011). mTOR inhibitors can also be used as a replacement to or in combination with low-dose calcineurin inhibitors for stable recipients experiencing renal dysfunction (Gottlieb et al. 2019; Gullestad et al. 2016; Roman et al. 2011). However, risks of acute rejection and adverse effects need to be balanced with minimization of calcineurin inhibitor associated nephrotoxicity.

3.5 Belatacept

By binding to CD 80 and 86, belatacept blocks co-stimulation of T-lymphocytes which are integral to the development of rejection via the afferent limb of the adaptive immune system. Inhibition prevents T-lymphocyte proliferation and production of interleukin-2, interleukin-4, interferon- γ , and TNF- α . Belatacept is available as an IV infusion that can be given peripherally over 30 min. Dosing is based on actual body weight and stays the same unless there is >10% change from baseline weight (Nulojix Package Insert 2014). The optimal dosing for belatacept in lung transplantation has not been well defined. Available literature has investigated FDA-labeled dosing of 10 mg/kg on days 1, 5, 15, 29, 45, and 59, followed by 5 mg/kg monthly thereafter as well as alternative dosing strategies including 5 mg/kg every 2 weeks for the first six doses followed by 5 mg/kg monthly as well as 10 mg/

kg on day 0, 4, 14, and 28 followed by 10 mg/kg monthly (Benninger 2021; Hui et al. 2014; Iasella et al. 2018; Timofte et al. 2016).

Side effects are generally mild and include anemia, gastrointestinal adverse effects, urinary tract infection, edema, and pyrexia, leukopenia, and potassium abnormalities. CNS PTLD, PML, and other CNS infections were more frequently observed in association with a higher cumulative and more frequent dosing regimen compared to what is FDA approved. Also, PTLD rates were higher in EBV seronegative individuals. Thus, use in EBV seronegative individuals is contraindicated (Nulojix Package Insert 2014).

In lung transplantation, data for use are currently limited. It includes a case report of a 56-year-old male bilateral lung transplant recipient with HUS, attributed to both tacrolimus and sirolimus, who was converted to belatacept, mycophenolate, and prednisone. The patient had no ACR at 6 months post-conversion (Hui et al. 2014). A case series of eight recipients with renal dysfunction on their existing calcineurin inhibitor-based regimen had belatacept added to their regimen a median of 1.5 years post-transplant to allow for temporary discontinuation or withdrawal of calcineurin inhibitors. One patient had mild ACR and patients' FEV₁ remained stable 6 months post-conversion (Timofte et al. 2016). Similar results were observed in a case series of nine lung transplantation recipients who underwent conversion. This study additionally found a statistically significant increase in mean eGFR after conversion to belatacept (Iasella et al. 2018). In the largest evaluation to date, 85 recipients were prospectively evaluated after conversion from CNI to belatacept within 1 year posttransplant. Renal function remained stable throughout conversion and a statistically significant increase in FEV₁ was observed. Belatacept was discontinued in 33% of patients evaluated, mostly due to infectious complications (Benninger 2021). A pilot randomized-controlled trial is currently underway to evaluate de novo belatacept use with CNI withdrawal compared to standard of care immunosuppression after lung transplantation (Hachem 2018–2021).

4 Rescue Immunosuppression for Lung Transplantation

4.1 Acute Cellular Rejection

Approximately 16% of lung transplantation recipients will experience ACR within the first year of transplantation, with higher rates in younger patients <50 years of age (Valapour et al. 2021). Symptoms of ACR are relatively nonspecific (cough, low grade fever, FEV₁ decline, pleural effusion, and hypoxemia). Because of this, most lung transplantation centers in the USA employ protocol surveillance bronchoscopies with transbronchial biopsies early post-transplant, but practice may vary. Additional bronchoscopies may be requested if there is a clinical suspicion of allograft rejection and may be valuable to rule out other post-transplant complications (i.e., infection). ISHLT provided pathologic grading for pulmonary allograft acute rejection as seen in Table 3 (Stewart et al. 2007).

_			Duration of
Treatment	Effect	Onset of treatment	treatment
Immunoadsorption	Reduction/clearance of DSA	Immediate	Few weeks
Plasmapheresis	Reduction/clearance of DSA	Immediate	Few weeks
Intravenous immunoglobulin	Decrease DSA complement binding	Days	3–4 weeks
Anti-CD20 antibodies	Reduction of DSA by depleting plasma cell progenitors	Immediate B-cell depletion Months for DSA reduction	Months
Proteasome inhibitors	Reduction of DSA by depleting plasma cells	Immediate plasma cell depletion	Months
Complement inhibitors	Decrease DSA complement binding	Days	Weeks

Table 3 Adopted from Roux et al. (2019)

The gold standard of care for treatment of ACR is pulse glucocorticoids, despite limited studies there is a lack of evidence to elucidate the optimal duration and dose of corticosteroids (Yousef 2014). Depending on the severity of rejection, the dose ranges from 1 mg/kg oral prednisone up to 10–15 mg/kg intravenous methylprednisolone for higher grade rejections. After corticosteroid pulse therapy is complete, an oral prednisone taper is typically employed with a reduction in dose every 3-7 days, until the baseline maintenance dose (\sim 5–10 mg/day) is achieved and continued indefinitely. Adverse effects associated with acute, high-dose corticosteroids may include hyperglycemia, insomnia, mood changes, mania, esophagitis, and edema. In addition to corticosteroid therapy, augmentation of current maintenance immunosuppression may be clinically indicated (Ensor et al. 2018; Sarahrudi et al. 2004). Additionally, optimizing maintenance immunosuppression, addressing nonadherence, and assessing for noncompliance are paramount to mitigate further recurrence of ACR.

Follow-up transbronchial biopsy, imaging, and pulmonary function tests are often done to confirm treatment effectiveness and ensure absence of rejection progression a few weeks post therapy. (Clelland et al. 1990) For higher grade and/or refractory ACR there is no reported consensus of therapy. However, lymphocyte-depleting therapies including rATG or alemtuzumab can be considered in well-selected patients (Ensor et al. 2017a; Reams et al. 2002). With lymphocyte-depleting therapies, addition of antiviral and antifungal prophylactic coverage is encouraged. The frequency and severity of ACR occurrences post-transplantation increase the risk for CLAD. Therefore, institutional protocols on frequent ACR assessment, especially early post-transplant, should be in place (Burton et al. 2007; Heng et al. 1998).

4.2 Antibody-Mediated Rejection

AMR in lung transplantation is an evolving and difficult to manage disease state. AMR results in increased morbidity, mortality, and health care cost (Levine et al. 2016). Furthermore, the diagnosis of AMR is evolving and currently consists of clinical or subclinical rejection with varying degrees of certainty and severity (Fig. 1) (Levine et al. 2016). The true incidence of AMR is still being elucidated, and the creation of recent guidelines will shed light on the actual impact of this disease in lung transplantation. AMR is mediated through recipient antibody recognition of donor HLA, and activation of the immune system, such as complement, and other non-complement-dependent pathways of cellular injury (Levine et al. 2016). Revealing the exact mechanisms of cellular injury secondary to antibody-mediated immune activation is a rapidly advancing and every-changing topic within transplantation.

Robust, randomized-controlled trials on AMR treatment are lacking, and much of the data published is prior to consensus guidelines, which makes comparing diagnostic criteria, treatment options, and clinical outcomes difficult. The paucity of data in this patient population extends to treatment of AMR, which remains inconsistent across institutions. Because AMR is a result of the efferent limb of the adaptive immune system being activated secondary to circulating anti-donor antibody, treatment modalities employed are multimodal and focus on removal of anti-donor antibody (Table 3). Treatment mainstays usually include removal and neutralization of antibody through plasmapheresis (PP) and IV immunoglobulin (IVIG) (Levine et al. 2016; Ensor et al. 2017b; Kulkarni et al. 2015; Muller et al. 2018; Neuhaus et al. 2021). IVIG can be administered after and/or between PP sessions. Doses are weight based and range from 100 to 1,000 mg/kg/dose. Additional drugs for immunomodulation targeting further upstream within the adaptive immune system



Fig. 1 AMR diagnostic grouping (adopted from Levine et al. 2016)

are often also utilized in combination with IVIG + PP. They include corticosteroids, B-cell depletion with rituximab, targeting plasma cells through proteasome inhibition with bortezomib or carfilzomib, and terminal complement (C5) blockade with eculizumab (Ensor et al. 2017b; Kulkarni et al. 2015; Muller et al. 2018; Neuhaus et al. 2021; Bery and Hachem 2020; Pham et al. 2021). After acute treatment of AMR, additive therapy with ECP has shown promise for chronic management of DSA, and clinical stabilization, but like other therapies it has not been rigorously studied (Benazzo et al. 2020).

Outcomes for AMR treatment vary greatly, and no single treatment regimen has proven to be superior to another. One of the more common regimens for AMR, Rituximab + IVIG + PP, has shown varying antibody responses with patients still often progressing to CLAD and BOS (Otani et al. 2014). Neuhaus et al. employed varying regimens with mixed outcomes. Of 51 patients approximately half received Rituximab + IVIG + PP, other patients received IVIG-based therapy with or without other immunomodulatory medications and PP. Following treatment nearly one-quarter of the patients progressed to allograft failure (Neuhaus et al. 2021).

Ensor et al. evaluated carfilzomib, a non-reversible proteasome inhibitor targeting plasma cells for the treatment of AMR in 14 lung recipients. Primary outcome of this study was to assess differences in those that lost C1q binding affinity after treatment (responders) vs. those that maintained C1q binding affinity (non-responders). Overall, 10 of 14 patients responded to carfilzomib-based therapy. Although the responders to therapy had less progression to BOS, 50% (7/14) of patients ultimately died of BOS, or RAS, greater than 120 days post-carfilzomib therapy (Ensor et al. 2017b).

These data highlight the difficulty of AMR recognition, diagnosis, and treatment post-transplantation. Within this population, the lack of data results in difficultly standardizing treatments and targeted outcomes. Randomized-controlled trials are needed in order to establish gold-standard treatment regimens and improve clinical outcomes with AMR in lung transplantation.

4.3 Chronic Lung Allograft Dysfunction

Despite numerous advancements in lung transplantation and a clear survival benefit in those with end stage lung disease, CLAD is the leading cause of long-term mortality post-transplant. Approximately 50% of lung transplantation recipients will develop CLAD by 5 years post-transplant. Median survival after lung transplantation is 6 years, with CLAD being the major barrier (Valapour et al. 2021; Verleden et al. 2019). The diagnostic criteria of CLAD are substantial (\geq 20%) and persistent (>3 months) decline in FEV₁ from baseline, after alternative diagnoses have been excluded, including ACR, disease recurrence, anastomosis stenosis, and infection (Verleden et al. 2019). CLAD can be further classified into the following phenotypes: BOS, RAS, mixed, or undefined. BOS is the predominant phenotype accounting for approximately 70% of CLAD and is characterized by airflow obstruction, whereas RAS accounts for ~30% and manifests as airflow restriction (Verleden et al. 2019). Mixed CLAD demonstrates characteristics of both. Depending on the phenotype, responses to therapy may vary.

CLAD management focuses on an attenuation of decline in allograft dysfunction. Mitigating CLAD risk factors and optimization of maintenance immunosuppression is key in preventing subsequent pulmonary decline. CLAD risk factors include ACR; antibody mediated rejection (AMR); gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD); and some viral, bacterial, and fungal infections. Therefore, post-transplant emphasis should be placed on continuous adherence assessments, frequent FEV₁ monitoring with prompt investigation upon decline, donor specific antibody testing, and employment of appropriate opportunistic/fungal infection prophylaxis and treatment. In patients with documented GERD, fundoplication may be beneficial in delaying pulmonary decline. Escalation of maintenance immunosuppression should be balanced with preventing over-immunosuppression and subsequent infection since both rejection and infection episodes can lead to subsequent decline in pulmonary function (Meyer et al. 2014).

Non-pharmacologic therapies, particularly with BOS, include extracorporeal photopheresis (ECP) and total lymphoid irradiation (TLI). Although data are limited, ECP has a better-established role in the BOS phenotype compared to RAS where an attenuation in the decline of FEV₁ and stabilization of pulmonary function have been observed (Vazirani et al. 2021; Verleden et al. 2009). TLI may reduce allograft decline in those with BOS phenotype who are rapidly deteriorating without response to other therapies. It can also potentially serve as a bridge to re-transplantation (Lebeer et al. 2020).

Pharmacologic treatment options are limited for CLAD management. There are currently no pharmacotherapies with FDA-labeled indications for the treatment of CLAD. Majority of pharmacologic treatment options have been trialed in patients with BOS. Azithromycin, a macrolide antibiotic, possesses immunomodulatory effects that can play a role in lowering neutrophils and cytokines in inflammatory airways diseases. Practice varies on timing of azithromycin initiation which includes either azithromycin prophylaxis (AP) employed shortly after lung transplantation or azithromycin therapy initiated at CLAD diagnosis. ISHLT consensus advises trialing a course of azithromycin for at least 8 weeks following a new diagnosis of CLAD (Verleden et al. 2019). AP has shown improved survival and baseline lung allograft dysfunction, albeit with mixed evidence on reduction in CLAD development rates (without differences in phenotypes observed) (Li et al. 2020; Ruttens et al. 2016; Vos et al. 2011). Evidence of azithromycin therapy in CLAD supports improvement/ normalization in FEV₁, with a survival benefit more pronounced with early CLAD-BOS stages (Corris et al. 2015; Gerhardt et al. 2003; Jain et al. 2010; Verleden and Dupont 2004). Additionally, clinical benefit appears to be superior in a subset of patients with high levels of neutrophils found on bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) (Vos et al. 2011). Patient-specific factors should be investigated before initiating azithromycin therapy, including untreated non-tuberculosis mycobacterium infection, as it would be prudent to avoid macrolide monotherapy to prevent antimicrobial resistance. Other side effects of azithromycin to assess alongside patientspecific factors include prolonged QT, ototoxicity, and liver injury.

Additional CLAD salvage/investigational therapies include montelukast, alemtuzumab, aerosolized cyclosporine, and anti-fibrotic agents. Montelukast, a leukotriene inhibitor, may slow decline, especially in early stages of BOS. However, there is limited evidence on impact of progression and overall survival (Verleden et al. 2011; Vos et al. 2019). Salvage therapy with alemtuzumab has been trialed for refractory BOS. Transient benefit in pulmonary function has been observed (Ensor et al. 2017a). Monoclonal antibody therapy needs to be well balanced with the risks of over-immunosuppression, most notably infection. A reduction in maintenance immunosuppression (specifically, removal of a DNA synthesis inhibitor) and reinitiating antiviral and antifungal prophylaxis post alemtuzumab therapy has been employed in practice. A report of possible CLAD-RAS phenotype revealed resolution of interstitial and alveolar septal fibrosis, however long-term follow-up needs to confirm these findings (Kohno et al. 2011). Antifibrotic agents, such as pirfenidone and nintedanib, are under investigation with small studies/case reports revealing attenuation of decline in lung function in CLAD-RAS. Unfortunately benefit may be limited by gastrointestinal adverse effects (Vos et al. 2013, 2018; Suhling et al. 2016).

In well-selected patients, re-transplantation may be the only treatment option available for the advanced CLAD. Pulmonary and extra-pulmonary risk factors for CLAD should be closely monitored and continuously assessed post-transplant. Since several pharmacologic therapies have demonstrated their greatest impact in early stages of CLAD, it is prudent that a timely diagnosis is made to further drive appropriate management. As CLAD remains the largest barrier to long-term survival post-transplant, concerted efforts should be placed on honing optimal management and development of efficacious pharmacotherapy strategies.

5 Summary

Given advancements in immunosuppression, a multitude of agents, and paucity of high-quality data, treatment is optimized and individualized to each recipient, based on each center's experience and protocols. Unfortunately, even with these advancements medication access is often limited by the lack of FDA-approval and compendia recognition for use of these agents in lung transplantation. Assessing outcomes for these agents are further complicated by heterogeneity of data, as well as short allograft lifespan. Also, definitions for rejection and CLAD have changed over time creating a challenge when comparing literature. Given that large randomized-controlled trials of immunosuppressive drugs in lung transplantation are lacking, much of the practices are extrapolated from abdominal transplantation and are often institution specific. Because of this, institutional collaboration and networking is of high importance and will continue to drive optimal immunosuppression regimens until higher quality data are available.

References

- Abu-Elmagd KM, Fung J, Draviam R et al (1991) Four-hour versus 24-hour intravenous infusion of FK 506 in liver transplantation. Transplant Proc 23(6):2767–2770
- Agarwal A, Prasad GVR (2016) Post-transplant dyslipidemia: mechanisms, diagnosis and management. World J Transplant 6(1):125. https://doi.org/10.5500/wjt.v6.i1.125
- Al Sagheer T, Enderby CY (2019) Determining the conversion ratios for oral versus sublingual administration of tacrolimus in solid organ transplant recipients. Clin Transpl 33(10):e13727. https://doi.org/10.1111/ctr.13727
- Allison AC, Eugui EM (1996) Purine metabolism and immunosuppressive effects of mycophenolate mofetil (MMF). Clin Transpl 10(1 Pt 2):77–84
- Astagraf XL Package Insert (2019) Astellas, Northbrook
- ATGAM Package Insert (2021) Pfizer, New York
- Barshes NR, Goodpastor SE, Goss JA (2004) Pharmacologic immunosuppression. Front Biosci 9:411–420. https://doi.org/10.2741/1249
- Behrend M, Braun F (2005) Enteric-coated mycophenolate sodium: tolerability profile compared with mycophenolate mofetil. Drugs 65(8):1037–1050. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003495-200565080-00001
- Bekersky I, Dressler D, Mekki QA (2001) Effect of low- and high-fat meals on tacrolimus absorption following 5 mg single oral doses to healthy human subjects. J Clin Pharmacol 41 (2):176–182. https://doi.org/10.1177/00912700122009999
- Benazzo A, Worel N, Schwarz S et al (2020) Outcome of extracorporeal photopheresis as an add-on therapy for antibody-mediated rejection in lung transplant recipients. Transfus Med Hemother 47(3):205–213. https://doi.org/10.1159/000508170
- Benninger L (2021) Does belatacept provide a safe renal sparing immunosuppression in lung transplant recipients? A single-center experience. Abstract. J Heart Lung Transplant 40 (4 Suppl):S77–S78
- Bery AI, Hachem RR (2020) Antibody-mediated rejection after lung transplantation. Ann Transl Med 8(6):411. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2019.11.86
- Bhorade S, Ahya VN, Baz MA et al (2011) Comparison of sirolimus with azathioprine in a tacrolimus-based immunosuppressive regimen in lung transplantation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 183(3):379–387. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.201005-0775OC
- Borro JM, De la Torre M, Míguelez C, Fernandez R, Gonzalez D, Lemos C (2005a) Comparative study of basiliximab treatment in lung transplantation. Transplant Proc 37(9):3996–3998. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2005.09.192
- Borro JM, Sole A, De la Torre M, Pastor A, Tarazona V (2005b) Steroid withdrawal in lung transplant recipients. Transplant Proc 37(9):3991–3993. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed. 2005.09.190
- Brennan DC, Flavin K, Lowell JA et al (1999) A randomized, double-blinded comparison of Thymoglobulin versus Atgam for induction immunosuppressive therapy in adult renal transplant recipients. Transplantation 67(7):1011–1018. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007890-199904150-00013
- Brock MV, Borja MC, Ferber L et al (2001) Induction therapy in lung transplantation: a prospective, controlled clinical trial comparing OKT3, anti-thymocyte globulin, and daclizumab. J Heart Lung Transplant 20(12):1282–1290. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1053-2498(01)00356-4
- Burton CM, Carlsen J, Mortensen J, Andersen CB, Milman N, Iversen M (2007) Long-term survival after lung transplantation depends on development and severity of bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome. J Heart Lung Transplant 26(7):681–686. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. healun.2007.04.004

Campath Package Insert (2020) Genzyme, New York

Chambers DC, Cherikh WS, Harhay MO et al (2019) The International Thoracic Organ Transplant Registry of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation: thirty-sixth adult lung and heart-lung transplantation Report-2019; focus theme: donor and recipient size match. J Heart Lung Transplant 38(10):1042–1055. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2019.08.001

- Clelland CA, Higenbottam TW, Stewart S, Scott JP, Wallwork J (1990) The histological changes in transbronchial biopsy after treatment of acute lung rejection in heart-lung transplants. J Pathol 161(2):105–112. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.1711610204
- Clinckart F, Bulpa P, Jamart J, Eucher P, Delaunois L, Evrard P (2009) Basiliximab as an alternative to antithymocyte globulin for early immunosuppression in lung transplantation. Transplant Proc 41(2):607–609. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2008.12.028
- Corris PA, Ryan VA, Small T et al (2015) A randomised controlled trial of azithromycin therapy in bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome (BOS) post lung transplantation. Thorax 70(5):442–450. https://doi.org/10.1136/thoraxjnl-2014-205998
- Cox VC, Ensom MH (2003) Mycophenolate mofetil for solid organ transplantation: does the evidence support the need for clinical pharmacokinetic monitoring? Ther Drug Monit 25 (2):137–157. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007691-200304000-00003
- Doligalski CT, Liu EC, Sammons CM, Silverman A, Logan AT (2014) Sublingual administration of tacrolimus: current trends and available evidence. Pharmacotherapy 34(11):1209–1219. https://doi.org/10.1002/phar.1492
- Ensor CR, Rihtarchik LC, Morrell MR et al (2017a) Rescue alemtuzumab for refractory acute cellular rejection and bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome after lung transplantation. Clin Transplant 31(4). https://doi.org/10.1111/ctr.12899
- Ensor CR, Yousem SA, Marrari M et al (2017b) Proteasome inhibitor carfilzomib-based therapy for antibody-mediated rejection of the pulmonary allograft: use and short-term findings. Am J Transplant 17(5):1380–1388. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.14222
- Ensor CR, Iasella CJ, Harrigan KM et al (2018) Increasing tacrolimus time-in-therapeutic range is associated with superior one-year outcomes in lung transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 18 (6):1527–1533. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.14723
- Envarsus XR Package Insert (2018) Veloxis, Cary
- Estenne M, Maurer JR, Boehler A et al (2002) Bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome 2001: an update of the diagnostic criteria. J Heart Lung Transplant 21(3):297–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1053-2498(02)00398-4
- Fan Y, Xiao YB, Weng YG (2009) Tacrolimus versus cyclosporine for adult lung transplant recipients: a meta-analysis. Transplant Proc 41(5):1821–1824. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. transproceed.2008.11.016
- Frey BM, Frey FJ (1990) Clinical pharmacokinetics of prednisone and prednisolone. Clin Pharmacokinet 19(2):126–146. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003088-199019020-00003
- Garrity ER Jr, Villanueva J, Bhorade SM, Husain AN, Vigneswaran WT (2001) Low rate of acute lung allograft rejection after the use of daclizumab, an interleukin 2 receptor antibody. Transplantation 71(6):773–777. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007890-200103270-00015
- Gengraf Package Insert (2021) AbbVie, Lake Bluff
- Gerhardt SG, McDyer JF, Girgis RE, Conte JV, Yang SC, Orens JB (2003) Maintenance azithromycin therapy for bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome: results of a pilot study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 168(1):121–125. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.200212-1424BC
- Glanville AR, Aboyoun C, Klepetko W et al (2015) Three-year results of an investigator-driven multicenter, international, randomized open-label de novo trial to prevent BOS after lung transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 34(1):16–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2014. 06.001
- Gottlieb J, Neurohr C, Muller-Quernheim J et al (2019) A randomized trial of everolimus-based quadruple therapy vs standard triple therapy early after lung transplantation. Am J Transplant 19 (6):1759–1769. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.15251
- Gullestad L, Eiskjaer H, Gustafsson F et al (2016) Long-term outcomes of thoracic transplant recipients following conversion to everolimus with reduced calcineurin inhibitor in a multicenter, open-label, randomized trial. Transpl Int 29(7):819–829. https://doi.org/10.1111/tri.12783

- Hachem RR (2018–2021) Belatacept pilot study in lung transplantation immunosuppression in lung transplantation. Identifier NCT03388008
- Hachem RR, Chakinala MM, Yusen RD et al (2005) A comparison of basiliximab and antithymocyte globulin as induction agents after lung transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 24 (9):1320–1326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2004.09.002
- Hachem RR, Edwards LB, Yusen RD, Chakinala MM, Alexander Patterson G, Trulock EP (2008) The impact of induction on survival after lung transplantation: an analysis of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation Registry. Clin Transpl 22(5):603–608. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1399-0012.2008.00831.x
- Hartwig MG, Snyder LD, Appel JZ 3rd et al (2008) Rabbit anti-thymocyte globulin induction therapy does not prolong survival after lung transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 27 (5):547–553. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2008.01.022
- Heng D, Sharples LD, McNeil K, Stewart S, Wreghitt T, Wallwork J (1998) Bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome: incidence, natural history, prognosis, and risk factors. J Heart Lung Transplant 17 (12):1255–1263
- Hui C, Kern R, Wojciechowski D et al (2014) Belatacept for maintenance immunosuppression in lung transplantation. J Investig Med High Impact Case Rep 2(3):2324709614546866. https:// doi.org/10.1177/2324709614546866
- Iasella CJ, Winstead RJ, Moore CA et al (2018) Maintenance belatacept-based immunosuppression in lung transplantation recipients who failed calcineurin inhibitors. Transplantation 102 (1):171–177. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP.00000000001873
- IBM Micromedex[®] DRUGDEX[®] (electronic version) (n.d.) IBM Watson Health, Greenwood Village, Colorado, USA. Available at: https://www.micromedexsolutions.com/. Accessed 13 June 2021
- Imuran Package Insert (2018) Sebela, Roswell
- Jain R, Hachem RR, Morrell MR et al (2010) Azithromycin is associated with increased survival in lung transplant recipients with bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome. J Heart Lung Transplant 29 (5):531–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2009.12.003
- Jaksch P, Wiedemann D, Augustin V et al (2013) Antithymocyte globulin induction therapy improves survival in lung transplantation for cystic fibrosis. Transpl Int 26(1):34–41. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-2277.2012.01570.x
- Jaksch P, Ankersmit J, Scheed A et al (2014) Alemtuzumab in lung transplantation: an open-label, randomized, prospective single center study. Am J Transplant 14(8):1839–1845. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/ajt.12824
- Kahan BD, Dunn J, Fitts C et al (1995) Reduced inter- and intrasubject variability in cyclosporine pharmacokinetics in renal transplant recipients treated with a microemulsion formulation in conjunction with fasting, low-fat meals, or high-fat meals. Transplantation 59(4):505–511
- Kahan BD, Napoli KL, Kelly PA et al (2000) Therapeutic drug monitoring of sirolimus: correlations with efficacy and toxicity. Clin Transpl 14(2):97–109. https://doi.org/10.1034/j. 1399-0012.2000.140201.x
- Keenan RJ, Konishi H, Kawai A et al (1995) Clinical trial of tacrolimus versus cyclosporine in lung transplantation. Ann Thorac Surg 60(3):580–584.; discussion 584–585. https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0003-4975(95)00407-c
- Kim M, Rostas S, Gabardi S (2013) Mycophenolate fetal toxicity and risk evaluation and mitigation strategies. Am J Transplant 13(6):1383–1389. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12238
- King-Biggs MB, Dunitz JM, Park SJ, Kay Savik S, Hertz MI (2003) Airway anastomotic dehiscence associated with use of sirolimus immediately after lung transplantation. Transplantation 75(9):1437–1443. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.tp.0000064083.02120.2c
- Kirkby S, Whitson BA, Wehr AM, Lehman AM, Higgins RS, Hayes D Jr (2015) Survival benefit of induction immunosuppression in cystic fibrosis lung transplant recipients. J Cyst Fibros 14 (1):104–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcf.2014.05.010
- Knight SR, Morris PJ (2007) The clinical benefits of cyclosporine C2-level monitoring: a systematic review. Transplantation 12:1525–1535

- Knoop C, Thiry P, Saint-Marcoux F, Rousseau A, Marquet P, Estenne M (2005) Tacrolimus pharmacokinetics and dose monitoring after lung transplantation for cystic fibrosis and other conditions. Am J Transplant 5(6):1477–1482. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2005. 00870.x
- Kohno M, Perch M, Andersen E, Carlsen J, Andersen CB, Iversen M (2011) Treatment of intractable interstitial lung injury with alemtuzumab after lung transplantation. Transplant Proc 43(5):1868–1870. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2011.02.007
- Kulkarni HS, Bemiss BC, Hachem RR (2015) Antibody-mediated rejection in lung transplantation. Curr Transplant Rep 2(4):316–323. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40472-015-0074-5
- Lebeer M, Kaes J, Lambrech M et al (2020) Total lymphoid irradiation in progressive bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome after lung transplantation: a single-center experience and review of literature. Transpl Int 33(2):216–228. https://doi.org/10.1111/tri.13544
- Levine DJ, Glanville AR, Aboyoun C et al (2016) Antibody-mediated rejection of the lung: a consensus report of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 35(4):397–406. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2016.01.1223
- Levy G, Thervet E, Lake J, Uchida K (2002) Patient management by Neoral C(2) monitoring: an international consensus statement. Transplantation 73(9 Suppl):S12–S18. https://doi.org/10. 1097/00007890-200205151-00003
- Li D, Duan Q, Weinkauf J et al (2020) Azithromycin prophylaxis after lung transplantation is associated with improved overall survival. J Heart Lung Transplant 39(12):1426–1434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2020.09.006
- Lischke R, Simonek J, Davidová R et al (2007) Induction therapy in lung transplantation: initial single-center experience comparing daclizumab and antithymocyte globulin. Transplant Proc 39 (1):205–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2006.10.030
- Lushin EN, McDermott JK, Truax C et al (2021) A multicenter case series documenting Medicare part D plan denials of immunosuppressant drug coverage for organ transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 21(2):889–896. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.16321
- Mayer AD, Dmitrewski J, Squifflet JP et al (1997) Multicenter randomized trial comparing tacrolimus (FK506) and cyclosporine in the prevention of renal allograft rejection: a report of the European Tacrolimus Multicenter Renal Study Group. Transplantation 64(3):436–443. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007890-199708150-00012
- McCurry KR, Iacono A, Zeevi A et al (2005) Early outcomes in human lung transplantation with thymoglobulin or Campath-1H for recipient pretreatment followed by posttransplant tacrolimus near-monotherapy. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 130(2):528–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcvs. 2004.09.040
- McNeil K, Glanville AR, Wahlers T et al (2006) Comparison of mycophenolate mofetil and azathioprine for prevention of bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome in de novo lung transplant recipients. Transplantation 81(7):998–1003. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.tp.0000202755. 33883.61
- Meyer KC, Raghu G, Verleden GM et al (2014) An international ISHLT/ATS/ERS clinical practice guideline: diagnosis and management of bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome. Eur Respir J 44 (6):1479–1503. https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.00107514
- Muller YD, Aubert JD, Vionnet J et al (2018) Acute antibody-mediated rejection 1 week after lung transplantation successfully treated with Eculizumab, intravenous immunoglobulins, and rituximab. Transplantation 102(6):e301–e303. https://doi.org/10.1097/tp.00000000002165
- Neuhaus K, Hohlfelder B, Bollinger J, Haug M 3rd, Torbic H (2021) Antibody-mediated rejection management following lung transplantation. Ann Pharmacother:10600280211012410. https:// doi.org/10.1177/10600280211012410
- Nulojix Package Insert (2014) Bristol-Myers Squibb, Princeton
- Oellerich M, Shipkova M, Schütz E et al (2000) Pharmacokinetic and metabolic investigations of mycophenolic acid in pediatric patients after renal transplantation: implications for therapeutic drug monitoring. German Study Group on Mycophenolate Mofetil therapy in pediatric renal

transplant recipients. Ther Drug Monit 22(1):20-26. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007691-200002000-00004

- Otani S, Davis AK, Cantwell L et al (2014) Evolving experience of treating antibody-mediated rejection following lung transplantation. Transpl Immunol 31(2):75–80. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.trim.2014.06.004
- Palmer SM, Baz MA, Sanders L et al (2001) Results of a randomized, prospective, multicenter trial of mycophenolate mofetil versus azathioprine in the prevention of acute lung allograft rejection. Transplantation 71(12):1772–1776. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007890-200106270-00012
- Panchabhai TS, Chaddha U, McCurry KR, Bremner RM, Mehta AC (2018) Historical perspectives of lung transplantation: connecting the dots. J Thorac Dis 10(7):4516–4531
- Paradela de la Morena M, De La Torre Bravos M, Prado RF et al (2010) Chronic kidney disease after lung transplantation: incidence, risk factors, and treatment. Transplant Proc 42 (8):3217–3219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2010.05.064
- Penninga L, Møller CH, Penninga EI, Iversen M, Gluud C, Steinbrüchel DA (2013a) Antibody induction therapy for lung transplant recipients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013(11): Cd008927. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD008927.pub2
- Penninga L, Penninga EI, Moller CH, Iversen M, Steinbruchel DA, Gluud C (2013b) Tacrolimus versus cyclosporin as primary immunosuppression for lung transplant recipients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 5:CD008817. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD008817.pub2
- Pham C, Pierce BJ, Nguyen DT, Graviss EA, Huang HJ (2021) Assessment of carfilzomib treatment response in lung transplant recipients with antibody-mediated rejection. Transplant Direct 7(4):e680. https://doi.org/10.1097/txd.000000000001131
- Prograf Package Insert (2018) Astellas, Northbrook
- Rapamune Package Insert (2021) Pfizer, Philadelphia
- Reams BD, Davis RD, Curl J, Palmer SM (2002) Treatment of refractory acute rejection in a lung transplant recipient with campath 1H. Transplantation 74(6):903–904. https://doi.org/10.1097/ 00007890-200209270-00034
- Roman A, Ussetti P, Zurbano F et al (2011) A retrospective 12-month study of conversion to everolimus in lung transplant recipients. Transplant Proc 43(7):2693–2698. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.transproceed.2011.06.028
- Roux A, Levine DJ, Zeevi A et al (2019) Banff lung report: current knowledge and future research perspectives for diagnosis and treatment of pulmonary antibody-mediated rejection (AMR). Am J Transplant 19(1):21–31. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.14990
- Ruttens D, Verleden SE, Vandermeulen E et al (2016) Prophylactic azithromycin therapy after lung transplantation: post hoc analysis of a randomized controlled trial. Am J Transplant 16 (1):254–261. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13417
- Sacher VY, Fertel D, Srivastava K et al (2014) Effects of prophylactic use of sirolimus on bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome development in lung transplant recipients. Ann Thorac Surg 97(1):268–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2013.07.072
- Saint-Marcoux F, Rousseau A, Le Meur Y et al (2003) Influence of sampling-time error on cyclosporine measurements nominally at 2 hours after administration. Clin Chem 49 (5):813–815. https://doi.org/10.1373/49.5.813
- Sandimmune Package Insert (2020) Novartis, East Hanover
- Sarahrudi K, Estenne M, Corris P et al (2004) International experience with conversion from cyclosporine to tacrolimus for acute and chronic lung allograft rejection. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 127(4):1126–1132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcvs.2003.11.009
- Shaw LM, Holt DW, Oellerich M, Meiser B, van Gelder T (2001) Current issues in therapeutic drug monitoring of mycophenolic acid: report of a roundtable discussion. Ther Drug Monit 23 (4):305–315. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007691-200108000-00001
- Shibasaki F, Hallin U, Uchino H (2002) Calcineurin as a multifunctional regulator. J Biochem 131 (1):1–15. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.jbchem.a003063

- Shitrit D, Bendayan D, Sulkes J, Bar-Gil Shitrit A, Huerta M, Kramer MR (2005) Successful steroid withdrawal in lung transplant recipients: result of a pilot study. Respir Med 99(5):596–601. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rmed.2004.09.023
- Shyu S, Dew MA, Pilewski JM et al (2011) Five-year outcomes with alemtuzumab induction after lung transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 30(7):743–754. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun. 2011.01.714
- Simulect Package Insert (2014) Novartis, Basel
- Snell GI, Westall GP, Levvey BJ et al (2014) A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter study of rabbit ATG in the prophylaxis of acute rejection in lung transplantation. Am J Transplant 14(5):1191–1198. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12663
- Speich R, Schneider S, Hofer M et al (2010) Mycophenolate mofetil reduces alveolar inflammation, acute rejection and graft loss due to bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome after lung transplantation. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 23(5):445–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pupt.2010.04.004
- Stewart S, Fishbein MC, Snell GI et al (2007) Revision of the 1996 working formulation for the standardization of nomenclature in the diagnosis of lung rejection. J Heart Lung Transplant 26 (12):1229–1242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2007.10.017
- Strueber M, Warnecke G, Fuge J et al (2016) Everolimus versus mycophenolate mofetil de novo after lung transplantation: a prospective, randomized, open-label trial. Am J Transplant 16 (11):3171–3180. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13835
- Suhling H, Bollmann B, Gottlieb J (2016) Nintedanib in restrictive chronic lung allograft dysfunction after lung transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 35(7):939–940. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.healun.2016.01.1220
- Textor SC, Wiesner R, Wilson DJ et al (1993) Systemic and renal hemodynamic differences between FK506 and cyclosporine in liver transplant recipients. Transplantation 55 (6):1332–1339. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007890-199306000-00023
- Thymoglobulin Package Insert (2017) Genzyme, Cambridge
- Timofte I, Terrin M, Barr E et al (2016) Belatacept for renal rescue in lung transplant patients. Transpl Int 29(4):453–463. https://doi.org/10.1111/tri.12731
- Treede H, Klepetko W, Reichenspurner H et al (2001) Tacrolimus versus cyclosporine after lung transplantation: a prospective, open, randomized two-center trial comparing two different immunosuppressive protocols. J Heart Lung Transplant 20(5):511–517. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s1053-2498(01)00244-3
- Tremblay S, Nigro V, Weinberg J, Woodle ES, Alloway RR (2017) A steady-state head-to-head pharmacokinetic comparison of all FK-506 (Tacrolimus) formulations (ASTCOFF): an openlabel, prospective, randomized, two-arm, three-period crossover study. Am J Transplant 17 (2):432–442. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13935
- US Food and Drug Administration (2018) FDA working with manufacturers to withdraw Zinbryta from the market in the United States
- Valapour M, Lehr CJ, Skeans MA et al (2018) OPTN/SRTR 2016 annual data report: lung. Am J Transplant 18(Suppl 1):363–433. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.14562
- Valapour M, Lehr CJ, Skeans MA et al (2021) OPTN/SRTR 2019 annual data report: lung. Am J Transplant 21(Suppl 2):441–520. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.16495
- van der Zwan M, Baan CC, van Gelder T, Hesselink DA (2018) Review of the clinical pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of Alemtuzumab and its use in kidney transplantation. Clin Pharmacokinet 57(2):191–207. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40262-017-0573-x
- Vazirani J, Routledge D, Snell GI et al (2021) Outcomes following extracorporeal photopheresis for chronic lung allograft dysfunction following lung transplantation: a single-center experience. Transplant Proc 53(1):296–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2020.09.003
- Verleden GM, Dupont LJ (2004) Azithromycin therapy for patients with bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome after lung transplantation. Transplantation 77(9):1465–1467. https://doi.org/10.1097/ 01.tp.0000122412.80864.43

- Verleden GM, Lievens Y, Dupont LJ et al (2009) Efficacy of total lymphoid irradiation in azithromycin nonresponsive chronic allograft rejection after lung transplantation. Transplant Proc 41(5):1816–1820. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2009.03.070
- Verleden GM, Verleden SE, Vos R et al (2011) Montelukast for bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome after lung transplantation: a pilot study. Transpl Int 24(7):651–656. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1432-2277.2011.01248.x
- Verleden GM, Glanville AR, Lease ED et al (2019) Chronic lung allograft dysfunction: definition, diagnostic criteria, and approaches to treatment-A consensus report from the pulmonary council of the ISHLT. J Heart Lung Transplant 38(5):493–503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2019. 03.009
- Vos R, Vanaudenaerde BM, Verleden SE et al (2011) A randomised controlled trial of azithromycin to prevent chronic rejection after lung transplantation. Eur Respir J 37(1):164–172. https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.00068310
- Vos R, Verleden SE, Ruttens D et al (2013) Pirfenidone: a potential new therapy for restrictive allograft syndrome? Am J Transplant 13(11):3035–3040. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12474
- Vos R, Wuyts WA, Gheysens O et al (2018) Pirfenidone in restrictive allograft syndrome after lung transplantation: a case series. Am J Transplant 18(12):3045–3059. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt. 15019
- Vos R, Eynde RV, Ruttens D et al (2019) Montelukast in chronic lung allograft dysfunction after lung transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 38(5):516–527. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun. 2018.11.014
- Weiner SM, Sellin L, Vonend O et al (2007) Pneumonitis associated with sirolimus: clinical characteristics, risk factors and outcome – a single-centre experience and review of the literature. Nephrol Dial Transplant 22(12):3631–3637. https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfm420
- Whited LK, Latran MJ, Hashmi ZA et al (2015) Evaluation of Alemtuzumab versus Basiliximab induction: a retrospective cohort study in lung transplant recipients. Transplantation 99 (10):2190–2195. https://doi.org/10.1097/tp.000000000000687
- Wiseman AC (2016) Immunosuppressive medications. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 11(2):332–343. https://doi.org/10.2215/cjn.08570814
- Wiseman AC, McCague K, Kim Y, Geissler F, Cooper M (2013) The effect of everolimus versus mycophenolate upon proteinuria following kidney transplant and relationship to graft outcomes. Am J Transplant 13(2):442–449. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2012.04334.x
- Yousef ICF (2014) Efficacy of corticosteroids in the treatment of acute cellular rejection in lung transplant patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 201(A5124)
- Zortress Package Insert (2021) Novartis, East Hanover



Immunosuppression and Kidney Transplantation

Jeanne Kamal and Alden Doyle

Contents

1	Intro	duction .		166
	1.1	Brief Hi	story	166
	1.2	Current	Practices	167
	1.3	Alloimn	nune Reaction Targets	168
2	Indu	ction The	rapy	168
	2.1	T-Cell D	Depleting Agents	169
		2.1.1 N	Monoclonal Antibodies	169
		2.1.2 F	Polyclonal Anti-thymocyte Globulin	169
		2.1.3 A	Alemtuzumab	170
	2.2	Interleuk	kin 2 Receptor Antagonists	171
3	Main	tenance 7	Therapy	171
	3.1	Calcineu	Irin Inhibitors	171
		3.1.1 N	Mechanism of Action	172
		3.1.2 I	Dose and Administration	172
		3.1.3 N	Metabolism and Drug–Drug Interaction	172
		3.1.4 A	Adverse Events	173
	3.2	Antimet	abolites	174
		3.2.1 N	Mycophenolic Acid	174
		3.2.2 A	Azathioprine	174
	3.3	mTOR I	Inhibitors: Everolimus and Sirolimus	175
	3.4	Corticos	steroids	175
	3.5	Belatace	pt	176
4	Antil	ody Med	diated Rejection	176
Re	ferenc	es		177

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 272, https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2021_546

J. Kamal \cdot A. Doyle (\boxtimes)

Division of Nephrology, University of Virginia School of Medicine, Charlottesville, VA, USA e-mail: jk2kd@virginia.edu; AD3NB@hscmail.mcc.virginia.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

H. J. Eisen (ed.), Pharmacology of Immunosuppression,

Abstract

Immunosuppression is complex, fraught with on-target and off-target adverse effects, and hard to get right but is the key to successful allotransplantation. Herein, we review the key immunosuppressive agent classes used for kidney transplant, highlighting mechanisms of action and typical clinical use.

Keywords

Antibody mediation rejection \cdot Calcineurin inhibitors \cdot Immunosuppression \cdot Induction therapy \cdot Kidney transplantation \cdot Rejection \cdot T-cell depleting agents \cdot Transplant protocols

1 Introduction

The first successful kidney transplant was pioneered in 1954 by Joseph Murray at Harvard, a living donor transplantation between identical twins. Subsequently, it was the development and initiation of immunosuppressive medications that made organ transplantation between genetically dissimilar individuals possible. Multiple therapeutic options have emerged since, because of our better understanding of the immune response mechanisms that led to lower rejection rates, and better graft and patient survival in kidney transplantation.

1.1 Brief History

Among the first immunosuppressive strategies used was total body radiation. Along the same period, the anti-inflammatory properties of cortisone in patients with rheumatoid arthritis were discovered (Hench et al. 1949). Thereafter, prednisone was routinely combined with azathioprine which was introduced in early 1960s (Calne et al. 1962; Murray et al. 1963; Zukoski et al. 1960). In the 1970s, anti-thymocyte (ATG) globulin and antilymphocyte globulin (ALG), polyclonal antibody preparations were introduced and a typical kidney transplant immunosuppression protocol consisted of an induction regimen with ALG with prednisone and azathioprine being used for maintenance immunosuppression (Fig. 1).

Cyclosporine A, an extracted compound of the fungus *Tolypocladium inflatum* (Köhler and Milstein 1975), was discovered in the early 1980s. This groundbreaking discovery revolutionized kidney transplant outcomes with a 30 to 40% reduction in rejection rates, and >80% graft survival at 1 year (Zand 2005). This dramatic benefit was easy to recognize considering the poor outcomes prior to its introduction. Cyclosporine was coupled with prednisone and oftentimes azathioprine was being added to constitute the "triple therapy." Major advancements to follow were the introduction of tacrolimus into liver transplantation and later to kidney transplant (Pirsch et al. 1997) as an alternative to cyclosporine and mycophenolate mofetil



Fig. 1 The development of more potent immunosuppression medications over the years leads to lower rejection rates and subsequently better graft survival (Zand 2005)

which was superior to azathioprine with lower rejection episodes when used with cyclosporine and prednisone (Knight et al. 2009). Another key development was the introduction of the first monoclonal antibody (mAb) to be used in clinical medicine, OKT3 in 1985. It was being used for steroid-resistant rejections and occasionally as an induction agent. Of similar use, basiliximab and daclizumab two humanized monoclonal II-2 inhibitors receptor antagonists (IL2-RA) were later introduced.

Sirolimus was introduced in 1999 as mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway inhibitor, a new class of medications with antineoplastic properties (Shimobayashi and Hall 2014) in addition to immunosuppressive potential. The last major medication that gained FDA approval in 2011 was belatacept, which works through competitive costimulation blockade (Larsen et al. 2005).

1.2 Current Practices

With the multiplicity of immunosuppressive agents and the rapid advances in kidney transplant immunosuppression, a wide variety of treatment protocols and clinical practices are adopted at different transplant centers throughout the USA.

According to the organ procurement and transplantation network, scientific registry of transplant recipients data report, T-cell depleting agents remain the most common induction agent in 2018 used in 75% of cases. Twenty percent of kidney transplant used IL2-RA as induction agent and the remaining 5% didn't use any (Hart et al. 2020).

In regard to maintenance immunosuppression, tacrolimus and mycophenolate mofetil based regimen constitutes the major regimen used. Approximately 30% are steroid free regimens, a stable proportion over the past years. Ten percent of cases are non-calcineurin based regimens, mainly belatacept based. (Hart et al. 2020).

1.3 Alloimmune Reaction Targets

The understanding of the different mechanisms of the immune response, including B- and T-cell development, activation and proliferation, cytokine signaling, and complement activation contributed to the advancement of new therapeutics and vice versa. The target of the immunosuppressive agents can be divided based on the stage of the immune reaction. "Signal 1" is activated when an antigen (recipient HLA peptides) on the surface of antigen presenting cell (APC) (most commonly dendritic cell) triggers T cells via the CD3 complex. Costimulation or "signal 2" constitutes the interaction of CD80 and CD 86 (B7) on the surface of APC and CD28 on T cells. Both signal 1 and 2 are necessary to activate three signal transduction pathways: the calcium-calcineurin pathway, the RAS-mitogen activated protein (MAP) kinase pathway, and the nuclear factor-kb pathway (Wang et al. 2004). Transcription factors that trigger IL2, CD 25 (IL2 a subunit), and CD145 expression are then activated. IL 2 subsequently activates the target of mTOR pathway which constitutes "signal 3," the trigger for cell proliferation. Nucleotide synthesis, another target for immunosuppressive medications, is also required for lymphocyte proliferation and the mobilization of effector T cells. B cells are engaged when an alloantigen interacts with their antigen receptor in secondary lymphoid tissues, the lymphoid follicles or the red pulp of spleen, for example (MacLennan et al. 2003), or the kidney allograft itself (Sarwal et al. 2003) producing antibodies against the HLA antigens. The main agents of kidney allograft rejection are effector T cells and anti-HLA alloantibodies. In general, immunosuppression can be achieved by depleting lymphocytes, blocking their response pathways, slowing down the production and neutralizing the effect of alloantibodies.

This chapter will be divided into three sections according to the clinical use of each immunosuppressive medication. Immunosuppressive agents used for induction and maintenance immunosuppression, and rejection treatment (mainly antibody mediated rejection) with focus on those that are currently used in kidney transplantation will be reviewed.

2 Induction Therapy

Induction regimens are part of the immunosuppression protocols in over 80% of kidney transplant centers in the USA. The use of induction agents reduces the rate of acute rejection and subsequently improves short-term graft survival, however, there is no prospective data clearly demonstrating a superior outcome in long-term graft survival. Induction therapy seems to be clinically indicated in early steroid with-drawal protocols where maintenance immunosuppression is being minimized. Induction therapy is warranted in high immunologic risk individuals (high calculated panel of reactive antibody (cPRA), positive cross match transplants, positive donor specific anti-HLA antibodies (DSA), prior transplant recipients, recipient of black race) and those whom a delayed graft function is expected because of donor characteristics or high cold ischemia time.

Induction agents are divided into T-cell depleting agents – monoclonal and polyclonal anti-thymocyte globulins (ATG) and alemtuzumab and non-T-cell depleting – interleukin 2 receptor antagonist (IL2RA). In addition to their use as induction agents, T-cell depleting agents are used to treat T-cell mediated rejection.

IL2RA use is limited to kidney transplant recipients with low immunologic risk as ATG has been shown to be more effective in preventing acute rejection in the high-risk group (Brennan et al. 2006). Whereas, alemtuzumab had similar outcomes compared to ATG and was superior to IL2RA (Hanaway et al. 2011).

2.1 T-Cell Depleting Agents

2.1.1 Monoclonal Antibodies

Monoclonal antibody muromonab-CD3 (OKT3): OKT3 is the first mAbs approved by the FDA for use in humans in 1986 for prevention of rejection in kidney, heart, and liver transplant (OMTS Group 1985). It is an anti-T-cell receptor (TCR) antagonist that targets the CD3 subunit of the TCR complex inhibiting the first point of antigen presentation (targeting signal 1). It is a murine antibody, thus results in significant side effects related to its mitogenicity which are potentially fatal firstdose reactions. In efforts to minimize its mitogenicity, humanized forms of anti-TCR mAbs that target other subunits (Larsen et al. 2005; Hart et al. 2020; Wang et al. 2004) have been developed but their production has been on hold given ongoing safety and efficacy concerns.

2.1.2 Polyclonal Anti-thymocyte Globulin

Therapeutic antilymphocyte polyclonal antibodies are produced by immunizing with human thymocytes either horses (eATG (equine), ATGAM) or rabbits (Thymoglobulin-Genzyme), or immunizing rabbits with lymphocytes from a Jurkat cell leukemia line (Fresenius antithymocyte globulin [ATG]). Two forms of rabbit anti-thymocyte globulin (rATG) are available depending on the cell type used for rabbit immunization, thymoglobulin (Genzyme) which is available in the USA and anti-T-lymphocyte immune globulin (ATG-Fresenius) used in Europe. In small head-to-head trials, thymoglobulin was superior to ATG-Fresenius in regard to both efficacy and side effects (Gharekhani et al. 2013). rATG is the primarily used antilymphocyte in clinical practice whereas ATGAM, although available, is not widely used partly because it is less potent.

Rabbit Anti-Thymocyte Globulin

Specialized rabbits are immunized with thymocytes or activated human T cells and the resultant IgG fraction of the sera is purified to remove irrelevant antibody materials. These antibodies are polyclonal as directed against multiple thymocyte antigens. Its mode of action is not fully characterized, but rATG antibodies are predominantly anti-T lymphocytes and will cause T-cell depletion via complement-dependent cytotoxicity and T-cell activation-induced apoptosis (Zand et al. 2005) or can be cleared by the reticuloendothelial system. Since some antigens are shared

among T cells and other immune cells, rATG exhibits some activity against B cells, monocytes, and to a lesser neutrophils. Most importantly, rATG causes a sustained expansion of regulatory T cells which maintain immune balance and prevent acute rejection.

Dose and Administration: rATG is administered at 1.5 mg/kg doses with a cumulative dose ranging between 3–6 mg/kg depending on recipient characteristics and center practice. It is more effective when used in the operating room prior to anastomosis of the graft. Allergic reactions are prevented by administering premedication consisting of steroids and diphenhydramine. It is administered through a central vein over 4–8 h. When using a peripheral vein, it might be associated with vein thrombosis or thrombophlebitis which can be prevented by adding heparin and hydrocortisone to the infusion.

Adverse Reactions: The side effects associated with rATG administration are chills, fever, and arthralgia, commonly seen with polyclonal antibody preparations. Serum sickness is seen but rarely, because the continued immunosuppression reduces immune complex formation and deposition. Cytokine release syndrome (with pulmonary edema and hypotension) is the most worrisome. Anaphylaxis can be seen, especially with patients with prior history of rabbit sensitivity.

Leukopenia, a direct consequence of T-cell depleting therapy, and thrombocytopenia are seen. The subsequent dose is usually halved or held with a platelet count of 50,000 to 75,000 cells/mL or a white blood cell count of 2,000 to 3,000 cells/mL.

Cytomegalovirus (CMV) infection is a late manifestation of rATG use. This is usually prevented by the use of CMV prophylaxis with valganciclovir for 3– 9 months (depending on donor and recipient serostatus and rATG dose) after administration especially in high-risk populations (donor with CMV positive serostatus and recipients with negative serostatus). Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder, particularly EBV related lymphoma is an infrequent but grave consequence.

2.1.3 Alemtuzumab

Alemtuzumab (Campath 1H) is a humanized mAb, DNA-derived directed against CD52, a cell surface glycoprotein of unclear physiologic significance, present on both B- and T-cell lymphoid cell line. It was initially approved for the treatment of refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia (Alinari et al. 2007) and reintroduced in 2012 as a treatment for multiple sclerosis (Freedman et al. 2013). The use of Alemtuzumab in kidney transplantation as an induction agent is "off-label." It is administered as a single dose of 30 mg intraoperatively and has fewer infusion-related reactions as a humanized antibody. Its ease of administration and fewer side effects coupled with a comparable efficacy make it an attractive alternative to ATG. Alemtuzumab induces a significant, durable T-cell depletion up to 6–12 months after administration. The infectious and malignancy risks are similar to other T-cell depleting agents.

2.2 Interleukin 2 Receptor Antagonists

Once T lymphocytes become activated in response to signal 1 and signal 2, they express CD25, the α -subunit of the IL2 receptor. Subsequently, IL-2 will lead to the intracellular signaling and proliferation of T cells. Basiliximab (Simulect) and daclizumab (Zenapax) are anti-CD25 monoclonal antibodies targeted against the α -subunit that will prevent T-cell proliferation. Daclizumab is no longer in production for clinical kidney transplantation. Basiliximab reduces the risk of acute rejection in patients with lower immunologic risk. Although it originates as a murine monoclonal antibody, 75% of it has been replaced by human IgG, thus it is well tolerated and does not induce a first-dose reaction. Basiliximab half-life is prolonged (longer than 7 days) as it doesn't induce antimurine antibodies and is given as an intravenous dose of 20 mg twice. The first intraoperatively and the second 4 days after. IL2 R sites are usually saturated for 30–45 days.

3 Maintenance Therapy

Long-term immunosuppression regimens have changed significantly over the last decades and the number of agents available significantly increased. The aim of maintenance immunosuppression goes beyond the prevention of acute rejection, to the minimization of total immunosuppression and management of chronic allograft rejection and nephropathy. The results of the symphony trial where three major agents were compared cyclosporine, tacrolimus and sirolimus still govern our clinical practice to this day (Ekberg et al. 2007). Tacrolimus was shown to be superior to cyclosporine and sirolimus. Thus, it is the first-line agent in most transplant center protocols. It is generally coupled with mycophenolate which has substituted azathioprine given its superior outcome (Knight et al. 2009). Belatacept, a costimulatory blockade agent, is an alternative for calcineurin-inhibitor based regimens with promising outcomes (Vincenti et al. 2016).

3.1 Calcineurin Inhibitors

Calcineurin inhibitors (CNIs) remain the cornerstone of immunosuppression regimen used in most transplant centers for the past 30 years. The two main calcineurin inhibitors used are cyclosporine and tacrolimus. An investigational drug, voclosporin has been recently studied in lupus nephritis (Arriens et al. 2020). Cyclosporine and tacrolimus are similar not only in regard to their mechanism of action, but also in their clinical efficacy and adverse event profile. Nonetheless, they are biochemically distinct and have discrete differences.

They are both isolated from fungus species. Cyclosporine is an 11-amino acid cyclic polypeptide extracted from *Tolypocladium inflatum* (Köhler and Milstein 1975). Tacrolimus is a macrolide antibiotic compound isolated from *Streptomyces*

tsukubaensis. Its name is still oftentimes substituted by its laboratory designation FK506.

3.1.1 Mechanism of Action

CNIs inhibit the immune response by targeting signal 1. A calcineurin-dependent pathway is triggered after the initial binding of the APC to the TCR, that is necessary for initial gene transcription and subsequently additional T-cell activation. When CNIs are administered, cyclophilin in cyclosporine and tacrolimus-binding protein (FKBP) in tacrolimus bind to their cytoplasmic receptor proteins which in turn bind to calcineurin and inhibit its function. Calcineurin is a phosphatase which dephosphorylates nuclear regulatory proteins, particularly nuclear factor of activated T cells in the setting of immune response, facilitating their entry to the nucleus. CNIs thus inhibit calcineurin-dependent gene transcription including several critical cytokine genes (IL-2, IL-4, Interferon- γ , and tumor necrosis factor- α) and downstream lymphocyte proliferation.

They are unique when compared to their predecessors as they selectively inhibit the immune response. At a therapeutic level, the calcineurin activity is reduced by 50%; this allows for a degree of immune responsiveness to maintain appropriate host defense.

3.1.2 Dose and Administration

Cyclosporine: The original, non-modified form, oil-based Sandimmune has a great variability in absorption and has been substituted by the microemulsion, Neoral/ Gengraf. Both are available in 25 mg and 100 mg capsules that are administered twice daily. Intravenous form is administered twice daily in a 4-h infusion. The conversion from po form is 3:1.

Initial dose is 9 mg/kg/day adjusted according to the target level which varies according to the different stages of transplant. A peak-level 2 h after dosing is the most accurate and consistent. It correlates better with drug exposure than a 12 h trough level, although the latter is more often used for convenience.

Tacrolimus: The immediate release (IR) preparation Prograf is available in 0.5 mg, 1 mg, and 5 mg capsules typically administered twice a day. IV formulations are available and the conversion is equal to one-third to one-fourth of the oral dose. It is less commonly used, as tacrolimus can be given sublingually when a po route is unavailable. Newer long-acting preparations are available – ER-tacrolimus (Astagraf) in 0.5, 1, and 5 mg capsules and LCP-tacrolimus (Envarsus) in 0.75, 1, and 4 mg tablets. These once-daily formulations improve medication compliance. LCP-tacrolimus requires 30% reduction from prograf dose as it has better bioavailability along with a decreased peak level (Budde et al. 2014; Tremblay et al. 2017). IR-tacrolimus is typically started at 0.05–0.1 mg/kg/day adjusted by 12 h trough level.

3.1.3 Metabolism and Drug–Drug Interaction

Cyclosporine and tacrolimus are both metabolized via cytochrome P450 (CYP) 3A4 and 3A5 in the liver, small intestine, and in the kidney to lesser extent.
P-glycoprotein (P-gp), an efflux pump that transports substances across the intracellular and extracellular membranes is also involved in CNIs metabolism. P-gp is found in hepatocytes, distal and proximal renal tubular cells, intestinal epithelium, and the luminal surface of capillary endothelial cells in the brain. In the gut, P-gp reduces the bioavailability of CNIs as they are repeatedly taken up and transported out of enterocytes. Polymorphisms in P-gp and CYP3A5 cause significant interpersonal drug level variability by affecting drug absorption, metabolism and distribution. This variability potentially influences drug efficacy and toxicity as it will affect its concentration at target sites. CYP3A5*1 allele (Kuehl et al. 2001) found predominantly in individuals of African descent encodes for a CYP3A5 enzyme that is associated with rapid metabolism of CNIs and subsequently lead to increased dose requirements as opposed to individuals who carry CYP3A5 *3/*3 alleles (Barbarino et al. 2013) that encode for a non-functional CYP3A5 protein and thus have reduced dose requirements.

Any drug that impacts CYPA3A4/5 or P-gp activity has a potential interaction with CNIs. Inducers of CYP3A activity will decrease CNIs concentration. These are anti-tuberculous drugs – rifampin and rifabutin; anticonvulsants – barbiturates, phenytoin, and carbamazepine; antibiotics – nafcillin; herbal preparation – St. John's wort; corticosteroids – tacrolimus level may increase by 25% after steroid discontinuation. CYP3A inhibitors increase CNI concentration. Drugs that raise CNIs levels are – non-dihydropyridine calcium channel blockers – diltiazem and verapamil; antifungals, all azole derivatives – ketoconazole, fluconazole, itraconazole, voriconazole, and isavuconazole; macrolide antibiotics – erythromycin and clarithromycin; antiretroviral therapy, mainly protease inhibitors – ritonavir; food – grapefruit juice. CYP3A inhibitors are occasionally added to boost CNI levels when a therapeutic level is not achieved despite using high CNI doses. Aside from medications, diarrhea and bowel inflammation significantly increase CNI levels due to decreased P-gp and CYP3A4 function in enterocytes.

3.1.4 Adverse Events

Kidney Related – Calcineurin Inhibitor Nephrotoxicity: CNI use may lead to significant nephrotoxicity. Acute CNI toxicity occurs early after kidney transplant and is often reversible with dose reduction (Thölking et al. 2017). There are three major acute nephrotoxicity manifestations: vascular vasoconstriction, tubulopathy, and thrombotic microangiopathy (TMA). CNIs cause endothelial cell injury and afferent arteriole vasoconstriction mediated by the production of vasoconstrictors such as endothelin, activation of renin-angiotensin II system, and inhibition of vasodilators such as nitric oxide and cyclooxygenase-2 (Naesens et al. 2009). This vascular effect is reversible and manifest as hypertension and decreased glomerular filtration rate. CNIs may lead to acute tubular damage, whose mechanism is not completely understood but could be related to direct toxicity affecting the endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria (Pallet et al. 2008). A rare but more severe complication is thrombotic microangiopathy attributed to endothelial injury, causing platelet aggregation and activation of the coagulation cascade (Ponticelli 2007). Electrolytes disturbances are commonly encountered, similar to what is seen in Gordon

syndrome- pseudohypoaldosteronism with hypertension, metabolic acidosis and hyperkalemia even with normal kidney function. Chronic CNI nephrotoxicity occurs several months post-transplant due to cumulative and persistent vascular damage. Clinically, it manifests as hypertension, worsening kidney function and proteinuria and histologically by hyaline arteriolopathy, stripped tubulointerstitial scarring, and glomerulosclerosis (Nankivell et al. 2016).

Non-renal: Some manifestations differ among tacrolimus and cyclosporine particularly cosmetic complications. Cyclosporine is associated with hypertrichosis, and gingival hyperplasia whereas tacrolimus causes hair loss and alopecia. Metabolic complications include hyperlipidemia, more often seen with cyclosporine and post-transplant glucose intolerance and new-onset diabetes more so with tacrolimus which is toxic to the pancreatic islet cells. Neurotoxicity ranging from tremor, dysesthesias, headache is common and is level related.

3.2 Antimetabolites

3.2.1 Mycophenolic Acid

Mycophenolic acid (MPA) is a fermentation product of several Penicillium species. It is the active compound of the prodrug mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) (CellCept) that was introduced to kidney transplantation in 1995. It is available in 250 mg capsules and 500 mg tablets and the typical dose is 1 g twice daily. Myfortic is an enteric-coated form of MPA that became available in 2004 in two formulations 180 mg (equivalent to 250 mg of MMF) and 360 mg tablets. MPA is an inhibitor of the enzyme inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase (IMPDH), the rate limiting enzyme critical for de novo purine synthesis and thus DNA synthesis in T and B cells. Lymphocytes rely on de novo DNA synthesis more than other cell types that have a salvage pathway for guanosine nucleotide synthesis from guanine. It has been demonstrated that MPA blocks the proliferation of T and B lymphocytes and subsequently inhibits antibody formation and generation of cytotoxic T cells (Danovitch 2005). Primary side effects are gastrointestinal and hematopoietic. Diarrhea occurs in one-third of patients along with nausea, dyspepsia, and vomiting in up to 20% of patients. GI side effects are more frequently encountered with dosage >1 g twice daily. Hematopoietic side effects include leukopenia, anemia, and thrombocytopenia despite being specific to lymphocytes. These are seen at a similar rate to azathioprine. MPA is teratogenic and should be discontinued six weeks prior to planned pregnancy and substituted to azathioprine.

3.2.2 Azathioprine

Azathioprine (AZA) (Imuran) is an antimetabolite, an analog of the early immunosuppressant, 6-mercaptopurine. This metabolite acts as a purine analog that interferes with de novo purine and subsequently, DNA and RNA synthesis inhibiting gene replication and T-cell activation (Elion 1989). Its regular dose when used in conjunction with a CNI is 1–2 mg/kg. AZA is a bone marrow suppressant thus its hematologic side effects (anemia, thrombocytopenia, and leukopenia). Its concomitant use with xanthine oxidase inhibitors (allopurinol and febuxostat) slows 6-mercaptopurine elimination and exacerbates these side effects (Berns et al. 1972). AZA is safe with pregnancy unlike MPA (Sifontis et al. 2006).

3.3 mTOR Inhibitors: Everolimus and Sirolimus

Clinically available mTOR inhibitors are sirolimus and everolimus. Sirolimus (Rapamune) is a macrolide antibiotic produced by Streptomyces hygroscopicus and is structurally related to tacrolimus, available in 0.5, 1, or 5 mg tablet. Everolimus (Zortress) is a derivative of sirolimus with different pharmacokinetics, available in 0.25, 0.5, and 0.75 mg tablets. The mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway constitutes signal 3 of the immune response and will lead to cell cycle progression from G1 to S and proliferation in response to cytokine stimulation (mainly IL-2). mTOR inhibitors bind to FKBP (the same cytoplasm-binding protein that binds tacrolimus) and the complex engages with mTOR, a regulatory kinase, and inhibits its actions causing reduced cytokine-dependent cellular proliferation. mTOR signaling is ubiquitous, and not exclusive to lymphocytes and has been described in monocytes, dendritic cells, natural killer cells, as well nonhematopoietic cells (endothelial cells, fibroblasts, hepatocytes, and smooth muscle cells) (Ferrer et al. 2011). In addition to its immunosuppressive effects, the inhibition of mTOR will lead to anti-proliferative, antiviral, anti-inflammatory, and antitumor effects (Peddi et al. 2013).

Similar to CNIs, mTOR inhibitors have nephrotoxic side effects. In addition to mTOR kinase, mTOR inhibitors also target the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Guba et al. 2002; Knoll et al. 2014) inhibiting its activity, causing podocyte damage and eventually proteinuria and nephrotic syndrome (Diekmann et al. 2012). Other nephrotoxic effects include focal segmental glomerulosclerosis, TMA, acute tubular injury, and atypical casts (when combined with tacrolimus) (Smith et al. 2003). mTOR inhibitors prevent wound healing so should be avoided in fresh transplant recipients and be switched to CNIs 6 weeks prior to major surgery or immediately postoperatively for emergent surgery. Other side effects include edema, hypertension, gastrointestinal side effects – mouth ulcers, diarrhea, hyperlipidemia (hypercholesterolemia and hypertriglyceridemia), hyperglycemia, and cytopenia (mainly thrombocytopenia and anemia).

3.4 Corticosteroids

Corticosteroids, one of the first immunosuppression medications used, still play a central role in kidney transplantation. Steroid avoidance or withdrawal protocols have been developed, and when steroids are used, their dose is small, typically equivalent to prednisone 5 mg daily. Steroid receptor is expressed on most mammalian cells and modulates a multitude of cellular functions. Corticosteroids diffuse intracellularly and bind to their cytoplasmic receptor, the complex translocates to the nucleus where it binds to DNA sequences – glucocorticoid response element (GRE), responsible for cytokine gene transcription, and blocking its action. It also inhibits other cytokine transcription factors such as nuclear factor-Kb (Rhen and Cidlowski 2005). As a result, the expression of IL-1, IL-2, IL-3, IL-6, TNF-a, and IFN-g is inhibited with the downstream result of T-cell depletion, inhibition of Th1 differentiation, induction of apoptosis, and macrophage dysfunction.

3.5 Belatacept

Belatacept (Nulojix) is a costimulatory blockade agent targeting signal 2 of the immune response. After TCR binding, optimal T-cell activation requires a costimulation signal conferred by the interaction of CD80/86 on APC and CD28 on T cell. After an effective T-cell response, cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA4) competitively binds CD80/86 and downregulates the cell activity. Belatacept is a human fusion protein containing CTLA4 linked to Fc domain of human IgG1. Belatacept was demonstrated to be noninferior to cyclosporine in terms of patient and graft survival and has the potential to replace CNI-based immunosuppressive protocols. Belatacept is available as an intravenous formulation. When administered de novo at time of transplant, it is given at a dose of 10 mg/ kg on day 1, 5, 15, 28, 56 and then at 5 mg/kg q 28 days (Adams et al. 2017). Despite a higher risk of rejection, patients on belatacept have higher GFR, graft, and allograft outcomes and appear to develop fewer de novo DSA antibodies (Vincenti et al. 2016). It is well tolerated with few metabolic complications. EBV naïve patients are at risk for post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder, thus its use is restricted to patients with positive EBV serology.

4 Antibody Mediated Rejection

Antibody mediated rejection (AMR) is a severe form of rejection resistant to standard treatment with immunosuppressant medications. Post-transplant AMR, chronic active AMR (CAAMR), and transplant glomerulopathy (TG) remain a significant problem in kidney transplantation leading to long-term graft failure. Will briefly discuss the therapeutic approaches used for the treatment of AMR.

- 1. *Intravenous Ig (IVIG)*: an IgG rich Ig extract pooled from thousand donors. IVIG immunosuppressive mechanisms are broad, including the direct binding to antibodies, superantigens and pathogens, inhibition of complement fixation, and stimulation of FcR-induced anti-inflammatory pathways.
- *Rituximab*: a chimeric mAb against CD20 that is expressed on pre-B and mature B cells but not differentiated plasma cells leading to B-cell depletion via complement-dependent cytotoxicity, growth arrest, and apoptosis (Pescovitz 2006). Humanized (Ocrelizumab) and fully humanized (ofatumumab) anti-CD20 mAbs are available for clinical use.

- 3. *Anti-Plasma Cell Therapies*: Daratumumab is an anti-CD38 mAb, as CD38 is expressed on plasma cells. Bortezomib and Carfilzomib are proteasome inhibitors.
- Tocilizumab: mAb directed at IL-6 receptor that induces a significant reduction of B-cell hyperreactivity with promising results in CAAMR.
- 5. *Eculizumab*: C5 inhibitor that prevents cleavage of C5 to C5a and C5ba and the formation of the membrane attack complex C5b-9.
- 6. Newer Agents: a number of agents that target different aspects of the B-cell and complement-mediated aspects of the immune response are coming online soon that have generated considerable excitement within the transplant community. It is felt that combinations of agents may prove more effective at managing acute and chronic antibody mediated alloimmune responses than currently available agents, which remain disappointing. IdeS-IgG-degrading enzyme derived from Streptococcus pyogenes (Imlifidase), an endopeptidase, cleaves human IgG into F (ab')₂ and Fc fragments inhibiting complement-dependent cytotoxicity and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity permitted transplant between HLA-incompatible individuals by cleaving donor specific antibodies (DSA). Clazakizumab is an immunoglobulin G1 (IgG1) mAb aimed at the IL-6 ligand which is being currently studied for the use in CAAMR along with evidence of TG on kidney biopsy. Anti-C1s (BIVV009) is a novel investigational drug being examined to be used in the setting of C4d+ and C1q+ DSA. Similarly, C1 esterase inhibitor has been shown to prevent TG when used as an adjunct to AMR therapy when compared to placebo (Montgomery et al. 2016).

References

- Adams A, Goldstein J, Garrett C, Zhang R, Patzer R, Newell K et al (2017) Belatacept combined with transient calcineurin inhibitor therapy prevents rejection and promotes improved long-term renal allograft function. Am J Transplant 17(11):2922–2936
- Alinari L, Lapalombella R, Andritsos L, Baiocchi R, Lin T, Byrd J (2007) Alemtuzumab (Campath-1H) in the treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Oncogene 26(25):3644–3653
- Arriens C, Polyakova S, Adzerikho I, Randhawa S, Solomons N (2020) OP0277 Aurora phase 3 study demonstrates voclosporin statistical superiority over standard of care in lupus nephritis (LN). BMJ Publishing Group
- Barbarino JM, Staatz CE, Venkataramanan R, Klein TE, Altman RB (2013) PharmGKB summary: cyclosporine and tacrolimus pathways. Pharmacogenet Genomics 23(10):563
- Berns A, Rubenfeld S, Rymzo WT, Calabro JJ (1972) Hazard of combining allopurinol and thiopurine. N Engl J Med 286(13):730–731
- Brennan DC, Daller JA, Lake KD, Cibrik D, Del Castillo D (2006) Rabbit antithymocyte globulin versus basiliximab in renal transplantation. N Engl J Med 355(19):1967–1977
- Budde K, Bunnapradist S, Grinyo J, Ciechanowski K, Denny J, Silva H et al (2014) Novel oncedaily extended-release tacrolimus (LCPT) versus twice-daily tacrolimus in de novo kidney transplants: one-year results of phase III, double-blind, randomized trial. Am J Transplant 14 (12):2796–2806
- Calne R, Alexandre G, Murray J (1962) A study of the effects of drugs in prolonging survival of homologous renal transplants in dogs. Ann N Y Acad Sci 99(3):743–761

- Danovitch GM (2005) Mycophenolate mofetil: a decade of clinical experience. Transplantation 80 (2 Suppl):S272–S274
- Diekmann F, Andrés A, Oppenheimer F (2012) mTOR inhibitor–associated proteinuria in kidney transplant recipients. Transplant Rev 26(1):27–29
- Ekberg H, Tedesco-Silva H, Demirbas A, Vítko Š, Nashan B, Gürkan A et al (2007) Reduced exposure to calcineurin inhibitors in renal transplantation. N Engl J Med 357(25):2562–2575
- Elion GB (1989) The purine path to chemotherapy. Science 244(4900):41–47
- Ferrer IR, Araki K, Ford ML (2011) Paradoxical aspects of rapamycin immunobiology in transplantation. Am J Transplant 11(4):654–659
- Freedman MS, Kaplan JM, Markovic-Plese S (2013) Insights into the mechanisms of the therapeutic efficacy of alemtuzumab in multiple sclerosis. J Clin Cell Immunol 4(4):1000152
- Gharekhani A, Entezari-Maleki T, Dashti-Khavidaki S, Khalili H (2013) A review on comparing two commonly used rabbit anti-thymocyte globulins as induction therapy in solid organ transplantation. Expert Opin Biol Ther 13(9):1299–1313
- Guba M, von Breitenbuch P, Steinbauer M, Koehl G, Flegel S, Hornung M et al (2002) Rapamycin inhibits primary and metastatic tumor growth by antiangiogenesis: involvement of vascular endothelial growth factor. Nat Med 8(2):128–135
- Hanaway MJ, Woodle ES, Mulgaonkar S, Peddi VR, Kaufman DB, First MR et al (2011) Alemtuzumab induction in renal transplantation. N Engl J Med 364(20):1909–1919
- Hart A, Smith J, Skeans M, Gustafson S, Wilk A, Castro S et al (2020) OPTN/SRTR 2018 annual data report: kidney. Am J Transplant 20:20–130
- Hench PS, Kendall EC, Slocumb CH, Polley HF (1949) The effect of a hormone of the adrenal cortex (17-hydroxy-11-dehydrocorticosterone: compound E) and of pituitary adrenocortical hormone in arthritis: preliminary report. Ann Rheum Dis 8(2):97–104
- Knight SR, Russell NK, Barcena L, Morris PJ (2009) Mycophenolate mofetil decreases acute rejection and may improve graft survival in renal transplant recipients when compared with azathioprine: a systematic review. Transplantation 87(6):785–794
- Knoll GA, Kokolo MB, Mallick R, Beck A, Buenaventura CD, Ducharme R et al (2014) Effect of sirolimus on malignancy and survival after kidney transplantation: systematic review and metaanalysis of individual patient data. BMJ 349:g6679
- Köhler G, Milstein C (1975) Continuous cultures of fused cells secreting antibody of predefined specificity. Nature 256(5517):495–497
- Kuehl P, Zhang J, Lin Y, Lamba J, Assem M, Schuetz J et al (2001) Sequence diversity in CYP3A promoters and characterization of the genetic basis of polymorphic CYP3A5 expression. Nat Genet 27(4):383–391
- Larsen CP, Pearson TC, Adams AB, Tso P, Shirasugi N, StrobertM E et al (2005) Rational development of LEA29Y (belatacept), a high-affinity variant of CTLA4-Ig with potent immunosuppressive properties. Am J Transplant 5(3):443–453
- MacLennan IC, Toellner KM, Cunningham AF, Serre K, Sze DMY, Zúñiga E et al (2003) Extrafollicular antibody responses. Immunol Rev 194(1):8–18
- Montgomery R, Orandi B, Racusen L, Jackson A, Garonzik-Wang J, Shah T et al (2016) Plasmaderived C1 esterase inhibitor for acute antibody-mediated rejection following kidney transplantation: results of a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled pilot study. Am J Transplant 16 (12):3468–3478
- Murray JE, Merrill JP, Harrison JH, Wilson RE, Dammin GJ (1963) Prolonged survival of humankidney homografts by immunosuppressive drug therapy. N Engl J Med 268(24):1315–1323
- Naesens M, Kuypers DR, Sarwal M (2009) Calcineurin inhibitor nephrotoxicity. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 4(2):481–508
- Nankivell BJ, P'Ng CH, O'Connell PJ, Chapman JR (2016) Calcineurin inhibitor nephrotoxicity through the lens of longitudinal histology: comparison of cyclosporine and tacrolimus eras. Transplantation 100(8):1723–1731
- OMTS Group (1985) A randomized clinical trial of OKT3 monoclonal antibody for acute rejection of cadaveric renal transplants. N Engl J Med 313(6):337–342

- Pallet N, Rabant M, Xu-Dubois Y-C, LeCorre D, Mucchielli M-H, Imbeaud S et al (2008) Response of human renal tubular cells to cyclosporine and sirolimus: a toxicogenomic study. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 229(2):184–196
- Peddi VR, Wiseman A, Chavin K, Slakey D (2013) Review of combination therapy with mTOR inhibitors and tacrolimus minimization after transplantation. Transplant Rev 27(4):97–107
- Pescovitz M (2006) Rituximab, an anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody: history and mechanism of action. Am J Transplant 6(5p1):859–866
- Pirsch JD, Miller J, Deierhoi MH, Vincenti F, Filo RS (1997) A comparison of tacrolimus (fk506) and cyclosporine for immunosuppression after cadaveric renal transplantation1. Transplantation 63(7):977–983
- Ponticelli C (2007) De novo thrombotic microangiopathy. An underrated complication of renal transplantation. Clin Nephrol 67(6):335–340
- Rhen T, Cidlowski JA (2005) Antiinflammatory action of glucocorticoids--new mechanisms for old drugs. N Engl J Med 353(16):1711–1723
- Sarwal M, Chua M-S, Kambham N, Hsieh S-C, Satterwhite T, Masek M et al (2003) Molecular heterogeneity in acute renal allograft rejection identified by DNA microarray profiling. N Engl J Med 349(2):125–138
- Shimobayashi M, Hall MN (2014) Making new contacts: the mTOR network in metabolism and signalling crosstalk. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 15(3):155–162
- Sifontis NM, Coscia LA, Constantinescu S, Lavelanet AF, Moritz MJ, Armenti VT (2006) Pregnancy outcomes in solid organ transplant recipients with exposure to mycophenolate mofetil or sirolimus. Transplantation 82(12):1698–1702
- Smith KD, Wrenshall LE, Nicosia RF, Pichler R, Marsh CL, Alpers CE et al (2003) Delayed graft function and cast nephropathy associated with tacrolimus plus rapamycin use. J Am Soc Nephrol 14(4):1037–1045
- Thölking G, Gerth HU, Schuette-Nuetgen K, Reuter S (2017) Influence of tacrolimus metabolism rate on renal function after solid organ transplantation. World J Transplant 7(1):26
- Tremblay S, Nigro V, Weinberg J, Woodle E, Alloway R (2017) A steady-state head-to-head pharmacokinetic comparison of all FK-506 (tacrolimus) formulations (ASTCOFF): an openlabel, prospective, randomized, two-arm, three-period crossover study. Am J Transplant 17 (2):432–442
- Vincenti F, Rostaing L, Grinyo J, Rice K, Steinberg S, Gaite L et al (2016) Belatacept and long-term outcomes in kidney transplantation. N Engl J Med 374(4):333–343
- Wang D, Matsumoto R, You Y, Che T, Lin X-Y, Gaffen SL et al (2004) CD3/CD28 costimulationinduced NF-κB activation is mediated by recruitment of protein kinase C-θ, Bcl10, and IκB kinase β to the immunological synapse through CARMA1. Mol Cell Biol 24(1):164–171
- Zand MS (2005) Immunosuppression and immune monitoring after renal transplantation. Semin Dial 18(6):511–519
- Zand MS, Vo T, Huggins J, Felgar R, Liesveld J, Pellegrin T et al (2005) Polyclonal rabbit antithymocyte globulin triggers B-cell and plasma cell apoptosis by multiple pathways. Transplantation 79(11):1507–1515
- Zukoski CF, Lee H, Hume DM (1960) The prolongation of functional survival of canine renal homografts by 6-mercaptopurine. Surg Forum 11:470–472



Immunosuppression in Rheumatologic and Auto-immune Disease

Arundathi Jayatilleke

Contents

1	Intro	Introduction			
2	Rheumatologic Diseases				
	2.1	Rheumatoid Arthritis		183	
		2.1.1 Conv	ventional Synthetic DMARDs	183	
		2.1.2 Biolo	ogic DMARDs	185	
		2.1.3 tsDM	IARDs	189	
	2.2	2 Seronegative Spondyloarthritis		190	
		2.2.1 csDN	IARDs	191	
		2.2.2 bDM	ARDs	191	
		2.2.3 Targe	eted Synthetic DMARDs	193	
	2.3	Systemic Lu	pus Erythematosus	194	
		2.3.1 csDN	ARDs	194	
		2.3.2 bDM	ARDs	196	
	2.4	Autoinflamn	natory Disorders	197	
		2.4.1 Colcl	hicine	197	
		2.4.2 IL-1	Inhibitors	198	
	2.5	Systemic Va	sculitis	198	
3	Cond	lusions		199	
Re	eferences				

Abstract

Many rheumatologic diseases are thought to originate in dysregulation of the immune system; lupus nephritis, for example, involves humoral immunity, while autoinflammatory diseases such as familial Mediterranean fever are caused by

A. Jayatilleke (🖂)

Temple University Lewis Katz School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, USA e-mail: Arundathi.Jayatilleke@tuhs.temple.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

H. J. Eisen (ed.), Pharmacology of Immunosuppression,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 272, https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2021_551

defects in innate immunity. Of note, this dysregulation may involve both upregulation of immune system components and aspects of immunodeficiency. Treatment of rheumatologic diseases thus requires a familiarity with a variety of immunosuppressive medications and their effects on immune system function.

In many rheumatologic conditions, due to an incompletely elucidated mechanism of disease, immunosuppression is relatively broad in contrast to agents used, for example, in treatment of transplant rejection. Multiple immunosuppressive drugs may also be used in succession or in combination. As such, an understanding of the mechanisms and targets of immunosuppressive drugs is essential to appreciating their utility and potential adverse effects. Because of the overlap between therapies used in rheumatologic as well as other inflammatory disorders, some of these medications are discussed in other disease processes (e.g., Immunosuppression for inflammatory bowel disease) or in greater detail in other chapters of this textbook (corticosteroids, mTOR inhibitors, antiproliferative agents).

Keywords

Autoimmune · Autoinflammatory · Biologics · DMARDs · Immunosuppressants · Lupus · Rheumatoid arthritis · Rheumatology · Vasculitis

1 Introduction

Many rheumatologic diseases are thought to originate in dysregulation of the immune system; lupus nephritis, for example, involves humoral immunity, while autoinflammatory diseases such as familial Mediterranean fever are caused by defects in innate immunity. Of note, this dysregulation may involve both upregulation of immune system components and aspects of immunodeficiency. Treatment of rheumatologic diseases thus requires a familiarity with a variety of immunosuppressive medications and their effects on immune system function.

In many rheumatologic conditions, due to an incompletely elucidated mechanism of disease, immunosuppression is relatively broad in contrast to agents used, for example, in treatment of transplant rejection. Multiple immunosuppressive drugs may also be used in succession or in combination. As such, an understanding of the mechanisms and targets of immunosuppressive drugs is essential to appreciating their utility and potential adverse effects. Because of the overlap between therapies used in rheumatologic as well as other inflammatory disorders, some of these medications are discussed in other disease processes (e.g., Immunosuppression for inflammatory bowel disease) or in greater detail in other chapters of this textbook (corticosteroids, mTOR inhibitors, antiproliferative agents).

2 Rheumatologic Diseases

The rheumatologic diseases covered in this chapter are not a comprehensive list, but are illustrative of the variety of immunosuppressive agents commonly used as well as the current understanding of disease pathophysiology. As such, some rheumatologic conditions in which unique immunomodulatory therapy is not a mainstay of treatment such as systemic sclerosis and Sjogren's syndrome) are not touched upon, and rheumatoid arthritis, in which many immunosuppressive treatments can be potentially used, receives the most attention. Conditions such as small and large vessel vasculitis, inflammatory myositis, and Sjogren's syndrome, in which immunosuppressive treatments overlap with other disorders, are not separately addressed here.

2.1 Rheumatoid Arthritis

Rheumatoid arthritis (Karie et al. 2008) is a chronic inflammatory arthritis characterized by synovitis, formation of a proliferative synovial pannus, and cartilage and bone degradation mediated by activated fibroblast-like synovicytes (FLS) and osteoclasts, respectively (Bartok and Firestein 2010). The resulting joint inflammation leads to pain and disability. RA is commonly associated with positive rheumatoid factor and anti-citrullinated peptide antibodies and is thought to be caused by tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α)-driven activation of endothelial cells and osteoclasts and production of other inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-1 and IL-6 (Feldmann and Maini 2003; Thompson et al. 2016).

Currently, immunosuppression is the mainstay of RA treatment, with patients taking conventional disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs), biologic DMARDs (monoclonal antibodies and receptor constructs), targeted synthetic DMARDs (tsDMARDs such as Janus-kinase, or JAK, inhibitors), or a combination of these drugs.

Conventional synthetic DMARDs (csDMARDs) used in RA include immunosuppressive medication such as methotrexate (MTX), leflunomide, and azathioprine as well as non-immunosuppressive treatments such as sulfasalazine and hydroxychloroquine (HCQ). Older treatments including penicillamine and gold salts are no longer commonly used due to side effects and availability of more effective therapy.

2.1.1 Conventional Synthetic DMARDs

Though several oral DMARDs are commonly referred to as "antiproliferative," some of these agents may be effective in RA for reasons other than their effect on inflammatory cell proliferation. Low-dose oral MTX (in contrast to high doses used as chemotherapy) is used as first-line therapy in rheumatoid arthritis. Although it is well known as a folate antagonist, inhibiting purine and pyrimidine synthesis and thus cell proliferation (Jolivet et al. 1983), it also has anti-inflammatory effects that may be more essential to its efficacy in rheumatoid arthritis (Cronstein and

Sitkovsky 2017), as exogenous folic acid supplementation does not decrease methotrexate's efficacy in RA (Friedman and Cronstein 2019). Specifically, methotrexate increases release of the anti-inflammatory mediator, adenosine, which may in turn lead to reduction of pro-inflammatory cytokines, inhibition of osteoclast formation, and transition of M1 to M2 macrophages (Cronstein and Sitkovsky 2017).

Methotrexate has several important toxicities that require monitoring, especially in the setting of other conditions or medications that can affect these systems, including pulmonary disease ("methotrexate lung") and liver disease. While it does not cause direct renal toxicity, it is primarily excreted via the kidneys; impairment of renal function beyond chronic kidney disease stage 3 requires dose adjustment (Karie et al. 2008). Common adverse effects of methotrexate therapy include nausea, hair loss, and stomatitis. Routine testing of liver enzymes (for transaminitis) and blood counts (for cytopenias) is essential in long-term use of low-dose oral methotrexate; abnormalities in these tests may require temporary cessation of the medication and/or dose adjustment.

Leflunomide is another commonly used DMARD in RA. Its active metabolite, A77 1726, inhibits the enzyme dihydroorotate dehydrogenase, which is necessary for the rate-limiting step in lymphocyte pyrimidine synthesis; thus, it is thought to lymphocyte proliferation (Breedveld and Dayer 2000) and downstream effects thereof. As with methotrexate, use of leflunomide requires regular monitoring of blood counts and liver enzymes.

Sulfasalazine and azathioprine have more limited efficacy in RA treatment. Unlike methotrexate and leflunomide, however, they are considered relatively safe in pregnancy. Studies of sulfasalazine in RA are limited, but have shown improvement in patients' RA symptoms and markers of inflammation (McConkey et al. 1978; Pullar et al. 1983). Sulfasalazine is metabolized to sulfapyridine and 5-aminosalicylic acid in the large intestine; both sulfasalazine and its metabolites may have immunomodulatory properties in RA, though 5-ASA remains in the large intestine (Das and Dubin 1976). Its exact mechanism of action is as yet unknown, but proposed mechanisms include inhibition of leukotriene production, reduction of free radical generation, decreased T-cell activation, and decreased angiogenesis (Smedegard and Bjork 1995). Interestingly, sulfapyridine inhibits dihydropteroate, which is essential for folate synthesis; it may, like methotrexate, act as a folate antagonist.

Azathioprine is less commonly used in RA than other DMARDs, and also less frequently used in combination therapy due to side effects such as leukopenia. Azathioprine inhibits purine synthesis and reduces lymphocyte proliferation. Its clinical efficacy has been demonstrated in limited studies (Goebel et al. 1976) but its potential adverse effects as well as the availability of more robust RA treatment limit its use. Some people have a defect in the activity of thiopurine methyltransferase, the enzyme responsible for breaking down azathioprine, and are at risk for cytopenias (Marra et al. 2002). It is currently also used in the treatment of SLE.

HCQ, initially developed as an anti-malarial drug, also has some efficacy in RA, and is discussed in further detail later in this chapter regarding its role in the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE).

2.1.2 Biologic DMARDs

Biologic DMARDs (bDMARDs), so named because they are synthesized in living systems, include medications often used in the treatment of patients with rheumatoid arthritis who do not respond to traditional csDMARD therapy. The bDMARDs target specific immune system pathways and their mechanisms of action are more fully understood. The bDMARDs used in RA are monoclonal antibodies or derivatives thereof; as such, they are large molecules that can trigger a host immune response to the drug, and some patients may develop antibodies against bDMARDs that can decrease their efficacy (Wolbink et al. 2006). Currently available bDMARDs in RA include TNF- α inhibitors, IL-6 inhibitors, IL-1 inhibitors, CTLA4 antagonists, and anti-CD20 agents.

Tumor Necrosis Factor- α Inhibitors (TNFi)

TNF- α is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that has been implicated in the pathogenesis of several autoimmune and inflammatory disorders ranging from inflammatory bowel disease and psoriasis to rheumatoid arthritis and other inflammatory arthritides. TNF- α has a variety of biological effects including promoting proliferation and differentiation of inflammatory cells. Its signaling appears to represent a common inflammatory pathway for this heterogeneous group of diseases, thus providing a target for therapy.

TNFi medications were the first bDMARDs used for RA and represented a significant step forward in terms of medication efficacy compared with csDMARDs. Several different TNFi are commercially available at the time of writing, including etanercept (soluble decoy TNF- α receptor, given subcutaneously); adalimumab (fully human anti-TNF- α antibody, given subcutaneously); infliximab (partially humanized TNF- α antibody, given intravenously); golimumab (fully human anti-TNF- α antibody, given subcutaneously); and certolizumab (PEGylated Fab fragment of humanized anti-TNF- α antibody, given subcutaneously); and certolizumab (PEGylated Fab fragment of humanized biosimilar counterparts. TNFi work by binding to circulating TNF- α (adalimumab, infliximab, golimumab, certolizumab) or acting as a decoy receptor to block TNF- α 's binding sites (etanercept), thus preventing the downstream pro-inflammatory signaling of the cytokine.

TNFi are monoclonal antibodies; because they are large proteins with limited membrane permeability, they are administered parenterally. Of the intravenous TNFi formations, infliximab has an elimination half-life of 8–10 days and is given via weight-based dosing of 3–10 mg/kg every 4–8 weeks, while golimumab has an elimination half-life of 12–14 days and is given via a set weight-based dosing of 2 mg/kg every 8 weeks. Of the subcutaneous TNFi formulations, etanercept has an elimination half-life of 3–5.5 days and is given using a set dose of 50 mg weekly, adalimumab has an elimination half-life of 10–20 days and is given as a 40 mg dose weekly or every other week, golimumab has an elimination half-life of 14 days and

is given using a set dose of, and certolizumab has an elimination half-life of 14 days and is given as 200 mg every 2 weeks or 400 mg every 4 weeks. Certolizumab is also different from other TNFi in that it is PEGylated and lacks an Fc domain, the latter of which is responsible for its inability to cross the placenta in pregnant patients (Mariette et al. 2018).

Several placebo-controlled trials demonstrate the efficacy of TNFi therapy in RA, with improvement in standardized clinical measures such as number of tender and swollen joints. Several studies have demonstrated the efficacy of TNFi in patients with RA: etanercept (Moreland et al. 1997; Weinblatt et al. 1999), infliximab (Maini et al. 1998), adalimumab (Weinblatt et al. 2003), certolizumab pegol (Keystone et al. 2008), and golimumab (Smolen et al. 2009). Differences between individual TNFi in terms of efficacy are difficult to assess as very few head-to-head trials in RA exist, but evidence from one head-to-head trial of adalimumab and certolizumab pegol as well as network meta-analyses of different TNFi in RA suggests that their efficacy is similar in terms of symptoms and reducing joint changes seen on X-ray (Smolen et al. 2016; Singh et al. 2017; Murray et al. 2018).

Due to the crucial role of TNF- α in host defense, TNFi as a class share potential side effects of increased infections including minor infections, serious infections and sepsis, and opportunistic infections, including reactivation of latent tuberculosis infection (LTBI) (Bongartz et al. 2006). Thus, screening for LTBI and attention to vaccination for prevention of infections is essential. Other toxicities associated with TNFi include increased risk of demyelinating polyneuropathy and exacerbation of heart failure, limiting use in patients with prior history of these conditions.

Decreased immune surveillance is also a concern in terms of potential risk of malignancy; TNFi currently have a black box warning due to a potentially increased risk of malignancy observed in clinical studies (Bongartz et al. 2006). However, some registry data have suggested that TNFi are associated with a lower incidence of malignancy (Silva-Fernandez et al. 2016) and other studies have not shown an increase in recurrence of malignancy in RA patients who are treated with TNFi (Raaschou et al. 2018; Dixon et al. 2010). Thus, in certain circumstances including close monitoring in conjunction with an oncologist, TNFi may be safe to use even in patients with a history of prior malignancy.

IL-6 Inhibitors

IL-6 is a pleiotropic cytokine involved in host defense and inflammation; after binding to either the soluble or membrane-bound IL-6 receptor, IL-6 also binds the transmembrane protein, glycoprotein (gp) 130 and transduces a signal via the JAK-STAT pathway (Heinrich et al. 2003; Hennigan and Kavanaugh 2008). Via its effects on the liver, it induces the acute phase response in host defense. IL-6 may contribute to autoimmunity through B-cell modulation and Th17 cell differentiation (Li et al. 2015) and also plays a role in angiogenesis by inducing intracellular adhesion molecules (Nakahara et al. 2003). Excess IL-6 production may, like TNF- α , also activate osteoclasts and contribute to pannus formation and bone and cartilage degradation (Hennigan and Kavanaugh 2008).

Tocilizumab and sarilumab are monoclonal antibodies targeting the IL-6 receptor; they bind both the soluble and membrane-bound forms of the receptor. For RA, tocilizumab is given as a subcutaneous injection of 162 mg weekly or every other week or as an intravenous infusion given via weight-based dosing of 4 mg/kg or 8 mg/kg; patients weighing 100 kg are recommended to receive a flat dose of 800 mg every 4 weeks. Sarilumab is given subcutaneously at a standard dose of 200 mg every other week; this dose may be reduced to 150 mg every other week for any treatment-related laboratory abnormalities.

Both medications are effective in RA patients who do not respond or have a contraindication to methotrexate therapy (Maini et al. 2006; Huizinga et al. 2014); a head-to-head trial for safety and efficacy is currently underway (Emery et al. 2019). In addition to their use in RA, IL-6 inhibitors have also been found to be effective for the treatment of giant cell arteritis (Stone et al. 2017). Siltuximab, which neutralizes IL-6 directly, has not been approved for use in patients with rheumatoid arthritis.

Inhibition of IL-6 has many potential physiologic consequences; thus, the use of anti-IL-6 therapy requires careful monitoring for adverse effects. Infection is among the most common adverse effects; as with TNFi, patients receiving IL-6 inhibitor therapy should be screened for LTBI. In addition, patients taking IL-6 inhibitors should be monitored for gastrointestinal side effects due to the rare incidence of gastrointestinal perforation; it is contraindicated in patients with a history of diverticulitis. Anti-IL-6 therapy also is associated with reversible increases in total cholesterol, increases in liver enzymes, and leukopenia and thus requires regular monitoring of these parameters.

IL-1 Inhibitors

IL-1b is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that is cleaved from its inactive form, Pro-IL-1b, by a multi-protein complex known as the inflammasome. IL-1b, on binding to its receptor, signals via the NK and p38 MAPK pathways to promote expression of other pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-6 (O'Neill 2008). Its levels are increased in active rheumatoid arthritis (Eastgate et al. 1988); strong evidence for its involvement in the pathogenesis of inflammatory disorders is provided by the syndrome of inflammation of the skin, bones, and joints that occurs in children with a deficiency of the endogenous IL-1 receptor antagonist and improves with IL-1 inhibition (Aksentijevich et al. 2009). Anakinra (a non-glycosylated form of the human IL-1 receptor that competitively inhibits binding of IL-1 α and/or IL-1 β) is the only IL-1 antagonist approved for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Given that it is less effective than TNFi (Nixon et al. 2007) and is given as a daily subcutaneous injection, it is not widely used for RA. Canakinumab and rilonacept are IL-1 inhibitors used in other inflammatory disorders and are addressed later in this chapter.

Of the IL-1 inhibitors, anakinra has the shortest elimination half-life of 6 h and is given subcutaneously daily in the treatment of RA, allowing for rapid discontinuation if necessary. Treatment with IL-1 inhibitors, as with other cytokine-blocking therapies, raises a concern for impairment of the innate immune response against pathogens. While URTIs are common with anakinra, opportunistic infections such as *M. tuberculosis* reactivation are less frequent than with TNFi (Bresnihan et al. 1998). Reversible neutropenia has also been reported (Perrin et al. 2014).

Co-stimulatory Blockade

The CD28:CD80/86 co-stimulatory signal is important to the activation of T cells by antigen-presenting cells and initiation of the T-cell response. Binding of cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen-4 (CTLA-4) to this receptor, on the other hand, provides an endogenous inhibitory signal that prevents T-cell activation in the adaptive immune response and potentially decreases the inflammatory response in T-cell mediated autoimmune diseases (Alegre et al. 2001). Interestingly, polymorphisms in CTLA-4 have been reported to be associated with autoimmune diseases, including rheumatoid arthritis, in some populations (Lei et al. 2005). This mechanism for suppression of T-cell activation was exploited in the development of the CTLA-4 immunoglobulin fusion protein, abatacept (Salomon and Bluestone 2001).

Abatacept is a fusion protein comprising the extracellular portion of CTLA-4 and the Fc portion of IgG1; by binding CD80 and CD86 on antigen-presenting cells, it blocks the binding of CD28 on T cells and blocks the co-stimulatory signal. Abatacept has been proven effective in rheumatoid arthritis in patients who have not responded to methotrexate (Kremer et al. 2005) or TNFi (Genovese et al. 2005).

The incidence rate of serious infections observed with abatacept treatment is on the lower end compared with other biologics used in RA (Maxwell and Singh 2010), which may be related to its downstream action of inhibiting T-cell activation rather than blocking cytokine production. Overall, the incidence of serious infections observed in a pooled safety analysis was higher than placebo, but those of opportunistic infections such as *M. tuberculosis* were low (Schiff 2011). Malignancy rates for lung cancer and lymphoma were comparable to the baseline rate observed in patients with RA.

B-Cell Antagonists

The contribution of B cells to RA pathogenesis is not completely understood; plasma cells and B cells are found in RA synovium, but the connection between B cells and joint damage has not been fully elucidated and likely involves a combination of B-cell activation, cytokine production, antigen presentation, and antibody production. Interactions between B cells and T cells or other cell types within the synovium also are likely to be contributory (Fox et al. 2010).

Rituximab is a chimeric mouse/human monoclonal antibody against the CD20 protein found on the surface of some B cells, including pre-B cells and mature B cells. The effects of rituximab on CD20+ B cells are thought to involve direct, complement-dependent, and antibody-dependent cytotoxicity (Taylor and Lindorfer 2008) with rapid depletion of peripheral B cells though not mature plasma cells (Leandro 2013). The exact mechanism of rituximab's efficacy in RA is not fully elucidated. Despite its lack of effect on mature plasma cells, rituximab may cause a decrease in autoantibody production by plasmablasts (Leandro 2013), which has been associated with decreased immunoglobulin production in a subset of RA

patients (van Vollenhoven et al. 2015). Rituximab may also lead to depletion of B cells in the synovium (Teng et al. 2007).

The efficacy of rituximab in patients with RA who have not had an adequate response to TNFi or DMARD therapy has been demonstrated in multiple clinical trials (Cohen et al. 2006; Emery et al. 2006). Analysis of pooled registry data suggests that seropositivity for anti-CCP antibodies is associated with a better response to rituximab (Chatzidionysiou et al. 2011), though whether this is mechanistically linked with B-cell function is unknown. Rituximab has also shown efficacy in the treatment of ANCA-associated vasculitis (Stone et al. 2010).

In RA, rituximab is generally given in two doses intravenously every 6 months; of note, the recovery of the peripheral CD20+ B-cell population takes about 6–9 months (Leandro et al. 2006; Roll et al. 2006) As noted above, a subset of patients treated with rituximab develop hypogammaglobulinemia (De La Torre et al. 2012). Due to these factors, several safety considerations should be noted. Infections, including JC virus and *M. tuberculosis*, are relatively rare, but some patients who develop hypogammaglobulinemia after rituximab seem to have a higher risk of infection (Winthrop et al. 2018). Increased risk of malignancy has not been observed in long-term studies of rituximab treatment compared to expected rates in unexposed patients (Winthrop et al. 2018; Boleto et al. 2018).

2.1.3 tsDMARDs

TsDMARDs are small molecules that interfere with intracellular signaling and cytokine production. Currently available tsDMARDs used in the treatment of RA are inhibitors of JAK isotypes, though inhibitors of SYK are also being studied.

JAK Inhibitors

JAKs are intracellular enzymes that transduce signals from certain membrane receptors binding to ligand. They then form homo- or heterodimers which autophosphorylate, then phosphorylate other intracellular proteins, including signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) DNA binding proteins. This signal transduction is involved in many physiologic processes, including the function and signaling of hormones, growth factors, and cytokines (Choy 2019). There are four JAK isotypes in humans: JAK1, JAK2, JAK3, and tyrosine kinase 2 (O'Shea et al. 2015). JAK inhibitors are small molecules that inhibit the JAK-STAT pathway and thereby reduce downstream cytokine production (Jamilloux et al. 2019); different JAK inhibitors likely decrease the signaling of multiple different cytokines. Complete inhibition of JAK isotypes is detrimental because of their widespread effects; prior studies in humans and animals have shown that mutations or deficiency of JAK isotypes may be lethal or lead to immunodeficiency (Thomis et al. 1995; Macchi et al. 1995; Parganas et al. 1998; Rodig et al. 1998). Instead, the JAK inhibitors used in RA reversibly inhibit signaling and cytokine function (Choy 2019).

Baricitinib, tofacitinib, and upadacitinib are currently available for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis; other JAK inhibitors are under investigation. All three are oral and have shorter elimination half-lives than the monoclonal antibody bDMARDs, ranging from 3 to 16 h (Taylor 2019). The JAK inhibitors have different

specificities for JAK isotypes: tofacitinib targets JAK1 and JAK3, baricitinib targets JAK1, JAK2, and, to a lesser extent, Tyk2, and upadacitinib is selective against JAK1 (Parmentier et al. 2018; Clark et al. 2014). RCTs have demonstrated that all three are effective in patients with RA with an inadequate response to TNFi and methotrexate: tofacitinib (Fleischmann et al. 2012); baricitinib (Genovese et al. 2016a, b; Dougados et al. 2017); upadacitinib (Kremer et al. 2016). A network meta-analysis of all three JAK inhibitors did not identify statistically significant differences in efficacy for patients with RA, though upadacitinib had a numerically higher efficacy with respect to clinical symptoms and achievement of remission.

In addition to monitoring for infection due to concerns regarding suppression of normal immune system responses, JAK inhibitors share risks for specific complications during therapy, including reactivation of herpes zoster (Winthrop 2017); vaccination to prevent herpes zoster is recommended. Use of JAK inhibitors also may be associated with increased risk of thrombosis. A safety review of postmarketing adverse event reports suggested an increase in risk of pulmonary thrombosis though not pulmonary embolism of deep venous thrombosis with tofacitinib (Verden et al. 2018); whether this is higher than the baseline rate of thrombosis in RA patients is not yet known, so cautious monitoring is advisable.

2.2 Seronegative Spondyloarthritis

Seronegative spondyloarthritis (SpA), so named because the rheumatoid factor is negative, is a term referring to group of diseases loosely linked by shared clinical characteristics of inflammatory back pain, sacroiliitis, asymmetric, oligoarticular joint inflammation, enthesitis, ocular inflammation, inflammation of the gastrointes-tinal tract, and rashes; some of them are associated with the human leukocyte antigen B27 (HLA-B27) allele. They include ankylosing spondylitis (AS), reactive arthritis, psoriatic arthritis (PsA), arthritis associated with inflammatory bowel disease, and other diseases such as uveitis. The term SpA is used here to refer to the group, unless otherwise noted in order to discuss disease-based differences in treatments.

AS is a prototypical SpA in which the subchondral bone marrow at margins of the vertebrae become replaced by granulation-tissue and then forms syndesmophytes (Bleil et al. 2016). As this ossification progresses, the vertebrae become fused, leading to the typical appearance of "bamboo spine" on X-ray. PsA can also cause bony ankylosis but is most prominently associated with enthesitis, dactylitis, and the scaly red rash known as psoriasis. Other types of SpA can also present with similar peripheral arthritis or axial symptoms.

While a discussion of the pathogenesis of each of these disorders separately is beyond the scope of this chapter, possible mechanisms of the classes of medications used in their treatment are reviewed; many of these medications overlap with those used in the treatment of RA.

2.2.1 csDMARDs

For SpA associated with joint and lower back pain, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are used for symptomatic relief; beyond this, methotrexate and sulfasalazine, reviewed previously in this chapter in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, are used for peripheral joint pain and inflammation (Taylor 2019). Methotrexate is commonly used for psoriasis and joint symptoms in PsA (Mease et al. 2019), but has not been found to be effective for AS, including peripheral arthritis and enthesitis (Chen et al. 2006).

2.2.2 bDMARDs

Typically, bDMARDs are the mainstays of therapy for SpA due to inconsistencies in patients' responses to csDMARDs, used to improve skin and joint symptoms in PsA as well as pain and function in AS with approximately comparable efficacy (Deodhar et al. 2020; Ruyssen-Witrand et al. 2020). TNFi are most commonly used, while IL-1 and IL-6 inhibitors have not proven particularly effective. All five of the TNFi reviewed above in the treatment of RA are also used in SpA; their mechanism of action is similar in terms of inhibiting downstream signaling of TNF- α , which, as in RA, promotes osteoclastogenesis and formation of erosions. In addition, in SpA, differentiation and propagation of helper T cells along Th1 and Th17 cell lineages lead to the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including TNF- α ; the cytokines involved in this process provide additional targets for therapy.

IL-17 Inhibitors

Th17 cells produce IL-22 as well as the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-17A and IL-17F, which are thought to be involved in recruitment of neutrophils and macrophages as well as promotion of bony destruction via matrix metalloproteinases. The currently available IL-17 inhibitors used for treatment of SpA include secukinumab, a human IgG1 monoclonal antibody that binds to IL-17A, brodalumab, a human IgG2 monoclonal antibody that binds to the IL-17 receptor-A (IL-17R), and ixekizumab, a humanized IgG4 monoclonal antibody that binds to that binds to IL-17A. Bimekizumab, an IgG1k humanized monoclonal antibody that binds to that binds to IL-17A and IL-17F, is approved for the treatment of psoriasis and is under investigation for ankylosing spondylitis and psoriatic arthritis.

Several randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials have demonstrated the efficacy of IL-17 inhibitors in the treatment of SpA. Secukinumab has efficacy for joint and skin symptoms in PsA as well as axial symptoms in AS (Mease et al. 2015; McInnes et al. 2015; Baeten et al. 2015). Similarly, ixekizumab is also useful for the treatment of PsA and AS. Head-to-head studies demonstrated its superiority compared to adalimumab (Mease et al. 2020) in PSA and comparability to adalimumab in AS (van der Heijde et al. 2018). Brodalumab has been shown to be effective in clinical trials in the treatment of psoriatic arthritis (Mease et al. 2014); studies are ongoing in AS 24918373 (Wei et al. 2019).

All three IL-17 inhibitors are given via subcutaneous injection using a loading dose phase followed by maintenance therapy. Secukinumab is given as a

maintenance dose of 150 mg dose every month, but can be increased to 300 mg every month for patients with moderate to severe psoriasis (Mease et al. 2018).

Adverse effects of IL-17 inhibitors, as with other bDMARDs, include infections, including respiratory infections such as nasopharyngitis. A slight increase in fungal infections with different *Candida* species has been seen throughout clinical trials with IL-17 inhibitors, perhaps due to the prominent role that IL-17 plays in mucocutaneous immunity; *Candida* infections were reported in 4.0%, 1.7%, and 3.3% of patients treated with brodalumab, secukinumab, and ixekizumab, respectively, compared to 0.3%, 2.3% and 0.8% of patients who received placebo, ustekinumab, or etanercept, respectively (Saunte et al. 2017). As such, patients receiving IL-17 inhibitors should be monitored for fungal infection.

Another non-infectious adverse event purported to be associated with IL-17 inhibitor therapy is inflammatory bowel disease; published clinical trials reported exacerbations of gastrointestinal symptoms in patients treated for Crohn's disease with secukinumab (Hueber et al. 2012). However, a pooled analysis of trials of secukinumab for psoriasis, PsA, and AS showed low numbers of inflammatory bowel disease events and no increase over time with continued exposure (Schreiber et al. 2019).

Due to six reported suicides in the clinical trials of brodalumab (31024633), an association between IL-17 inhibitors and suicide has been proposed, but has not been seen with secukinumab or ixekizumab or borne out in a long-term study of brodalumab (Lebwohl et al. 2019). Interestingly, Th17 cells and IL-17 can have both pro-tumor and anti-tumor effects (Murugaiyan and Saha 2009) and the effects of IL-17 inhibitors on malignancy are not known.

IL-12/23 Inhibitors

IL-23 acts upstream of IL-17 by promoting Th17 cell differentiation and release of IL-17; IL-12, on the other hand, promotes Th1 differentiation and release of TNF-a. Therapies targeting IL-12 and IL-23 are effective in the treatment of PsA but not AS, suggesting a difference in the pathogenesis of these two types of SpA.

Ustekinumab, a monoclonal antibody against common p40 subunit of IL-12 and IL-23, is effective in PsA (23769296, 24482301), with improvement in both skin and joint symptoms as well as progression of damage seen on X-ray. IL-23-specific agents targeting the p19 subunit unique to IL-23 have also been investigated as treatment for PsA. At the time of writing, two of these, guselkumab and risankizumab, are FDA-approved for its treatment. Because of their relatively recent introduction as therapeutic agents, the comparative of IL-23 inhibitors compared to other treatments for PsA have not been established.

Of these bDMARDs targeting the IL-12/23 axis, risankizumab and tildrakizumab are humanized IgG1 and IgG1 k constructs, while guselkumab and ustekinumab are fully human monoclonal antibodies. All four agents are given after a loading phase at weeks 0–4 followed by maintenance therapy every 8–12 weeks.

Pooled safety data in psoriasis suggests that IL-23 inhibitors are comparable to other biologics in terms of safety, with an increase in nasopharyngitis (Bai et al.

2019), while ustekinumab is associated with fewer serious infections than IL-17 inhibitors and TNFi.

2.2.3 Targeted Synthetic DMARDs

JAKi

JAKi were reviewed previously in this chapter in treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, but have also shown promise in the treatment of SpA, possibly due to similar inhibition of cytokine pathways involved in inflammation. Tofacitinib has improved skin and joint symptoms in clinical trials of psoriatic arthritis patients who have previously had inadequate relief of symptoms with methotrexate or TNFi (Gladman et al. 2017; Mease et al. 2017). In addition, upadacitinib was studied in patients with AS who did not have improvement with NSAID; preliminary data showed evidence of improved symptoms at 3 months (van der Heijde et al. 2019).

Phosphodiesterase 4 Inhibitors

Phosphodiesterase 4 inhibitors catalyze the degradation of cyclic adenosine monophosphate, which in turn acts to regulate intracellular signaling in a variety of pathways, including downstream production of pro-inflammatory cytokines. PDE4 mRNA has been found to be elevated in patients with psoriasis compared to healthy controls, and apremilast, a PDE4 inhibitor, reduced production of such as TNF-a, interferon (IFN)-g, and IL-17 and increased production of the anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 in vitro (Schafer et al. 2016).

Apremilast has been shown to have efficacy in patients with PsA in several clinical trials, for both psoriasis and arthritis and in patients who had not previously been treated as well as those who had not had improvement with csDMARDs and bDMARDs (Kavanaugh et al. 2014; Wells et al. 2018). Its efficacy in PsA is thought to be lower than that of most bDMARDs (Ruyssen-Witrand et al. 2020), and so it is generally attempted in patients with PsA who have contraindications or who have not yet progressed to bDMARD therapy. PDE4 inhibitors have also been investigated in other immune-mediated conditions such as SLE and RA without success thus far; apremilast was studied for the treatment of ankylosing spondylitis but did not show any improvement in axial symptoms (Pathan et al. 2013).

Apremilast is given orally, most commonly twice daily; its elimination half-life is 6–9 h. Although trials have reported an increase in minor infections, pooled safety data have shown low rates of serious infections (Crowley et al. 2017). Its most common side effects include diarrhea and nausea (24595547). Because of increased reports of depression with apremilast use compared to placebo in clinical trials, caution is advised in treating patients with mood disorders; however, a cohort study comparing apremilast to other therapies for PsA found that users of apremilast had similar rates depression and slightly higher rates of anxiety (Vasilakis-Scaramozza et al. 2020).

2.3 Systemic Lupus Erythematosus

SLE is an autoimmune disease with protean manifestations including some similar to RA and SpA (arthritis, bowel inflammation, and uveitis) and many others that are unique (malar rash, alopecia, and glomerulonephritis). SLE is characterized by serologic abnormalities such as autoantibody production (particularly anti-double stranded DNA) and low complement levels, as well as leukopenia, anemia, and thrombocytopenia. The pathogenesis of SLE is as yet unknown; as with the other autoimmune diseases discussed in this chapter, it likely involves defects of multiple arms of the immune system.

The medications used in the treatment of SLE may provide some insights as to its pathogenesis. Many immunomodulatory medications used off-label for the management of lupus symptoms are also used in other conditions. In contrast to the extensive progress made in the treatment of RA through the advent of bDMARDs in the 1990s and 2000s, belimumab, as the first biologic approved for SLE in 2011, was also the first medication approved by the FDA for SLE since 1955, when hydroxychloroquine and corticosteroids were approved.

Although SLE has many manifestations, the next section focuses mostly on agents used for patients' cutaneous and musculoskeletal symptoms as well as renal involvement, i.e. lupus nephritis.

2.3.1 csDMARDs

The mainstay of therapy for SLE is the anti-malarial HCQ, mentioned previously as it is also used in the treatment of RA. Similarly, methotrexate and azathioprine, discussed above in the treatment of RA, are used mostly for the cutaneous and articular symptoms of SLE and sometimes for organ system involvement. Other antiproliferative agents and calcineurin inhibitors are discussed elsewhere in this textbook in their roles in conditions such as malignancy and prevention of transplant rejection.

Anti-malarial Agents

Initially developed as an anti-malarial drug, HCQ has not proven to be immunosuppressive per se; in fact, its mechanism of action in autoimmune conditions is not well understood. HCQ and other anti-malarial agents are thought to increase lysosomal pH (Fox 1993), potentially interfering with autoantigen presentation, as well as inhibit Toll-like receptor 9 signaling (Kuznik et al. 2011), thereby decreasing dendritic cell activation and T-cell-derived inflammation. While its use in the treatment of COVID-19 has been controversial in part due to the frequency of adverse effects such as prolongation of the QT interval (Mercuro et al. 2020), it is generally well tolerated in the treatment of autoimmune disease, with common side effects including nausea and skin discoloration. Retinal toxicity is infrequent with doses of HCQ < 5 mg/kg/day, but cumulative dose is a risk factor (Melles and Marmor 2014), and regular ophthalmologic screening including visual field examination is recommended for patients on HCQ. Other anti-malarial agents such as chloroquine and quinacrine are also used, primarily for chronic and subacute cutaneous lupus erythematosus; while retinopathy is reported with chloroquine use as well, it is not frequently seen with quinacrine (Mittal et al. 2018).

Cyclophosphamide

Cyclophosphamide (CYC) is an alkylating agent and potent immunosuppressant; in rheumatic disease, it is used primarily in severe manifestations of SLE and vasculitis, including small vessel vasculitis. It can be administered both orally as a daily dose and intravenously every 2–4 weeks, and is rapidly absorbed and metabolized into active alkylating compounds in the liver (Takada et al. 2001). It is postulated to work via induction of DNA damage as well as reduction in T- and B- lymphocyte number and function (3259286).

For lupus nephritis, CYC is usually given intravenously in the context of induction therapy before switching to a different medication for maintenance, approximately 500–1,000 mg/m² in monthly or biweekly regimens. Different dosing protocols have been tried in order to reduce cumulative exposure to CYC (Austin 3rd et al. 1986; Houssiau et al. 2002), with comparable short- and long-term results (Houssiau et al. 2002, 2010). Limiting toxicities include cytopenias, such that blood counts should be monitored during therapy in order to adjust CYC dose, as well as gastrointestinal side effects, gonadal toxicity, increased risk of infection, and hemorrhagic cystitis with a possible link to bladder cancer (Monach et al. 2010). The latter adverse effect has led some to suggest the use of mesna or intravenous hydration in conjunction with CYC therapy, though evidence is lacking (Monach et al. 2010).

Mycophenolate Mofetil

In contrast to HCQ and other agents used for non-organ-threatening manifestations of SLE, mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) is frequently used in SLE for renal manifestations, i.e. lupus nephritis. MMF is a prodrug of mycophenolic acid; both are used in clinical practice, though MMF is more common. Mycophenolic acid reduces T- and B-cell proliferation by inhibiting inosine-5'-monophosphate dehydrogenase (IMPDH) in lymphocytes, thus decreasing guanosine nucleoside synthesis (Allison and Eugui 2000) and decreasing T-cell mediated immunity as well as antibody production. This antiproliferative effect has also been harnessed for the prevention of renal allograft rejection. In addition, MMF interferes with the expression and glycosylation of adhesion molecules that facilitate recruitment of monocytes and lymphocytes to areas of inflammation (Allison 2005).

MMF's efficacy has been studied in induction of remission in lupus nephritis and shown to be comparable to IV CYC in terms of response rates (Appel et al. 2009; Ginzler et al. 2005) while for maintenance therapy, MMF was found to be superior to azathioprine (Dooley et al. 2011). For both indications, MMF is generally used orally at 2–3 g daily in divided doses. Dosing is sometimes limited by its side effects, including diarrhea and leukopenia, and an increase in viral infections has also been reported with MMF use (Appel et al. 2009).

Calcineurin Inhibitors

Calcineurin inhibitors (CNI) have long been used in the treatment of SLE and lupus nephritis; they inhibit T-cell activation via inhibition of signal transduction by calcineurin, a calcium- and calmodulin-dependent phosphatase, and also have an antiproteinuric effect (Mok 2017). They have a limited therapeutic window due to toxicities of hypertension, dyslipidemia, hyperglycemia, nephrotoxicity, and neuro-toxicity (tremors) (Mok 2017) and require monitoring of serum drug levels.

Tacrolimus and cyclosporine are older CNI; of the two, tacrolimus has been more frequently used in SLE due to its more favorable side effect profile. While tacrolimus has shown promise alone and in combination in induction therapy of lupus nephritis, studies are limited by outcomes studied and short duration of follow-up (Bao et al. 2008; Mok et al. 2016). Voclosporin is a newer CNI with reportedly fewer metabolic side effects than cyclosporine or tacrolimus in renal transplant recipients (Busque et al. 2011); though studies in lupus nephritis have not yet been published, preliminary data suggest that it is effective in remission induction (Arriens et al. 2020).

2.3.2 bDMARDs

Belimumab

B-cell activating factor (BAFF), otherwise known as B-lymphocyte stimulator (BLyS), is a member of the TNF superfamily of cytokines and promotes B-cell survival and maturation (Shin et al. 2018). It is thought to be involved in SLE by promoting the survival of autoreactive B cells and subsequent autoantibody production; BAFF levels are elevated in patients with SLE and correlate to autoantibody titers (Cheema et al. 2001; Zhang et al. 2001). Belimumab is a human monoclonal IgG1-lambda antibody against the soluble form of BAFF; it has been shown to be effective in nonrenal SLE based on improvement in disease activity indices as well as in complement and autoantibody levels (Stohl et al. 2012; Furie et al. 2011). Belimumab is also being evaluated for lupus nephritis due to a finding of reduced renal flares on post hoc analysis compared to placebo. Other BAFF inhibitors have been studied for SLE, but none are commonly used in practice; atacicept was not found to be more effective than placebo in prevention of lupus flares (Isenberg et al. 2015).

Belimumab is used either intravenously every month or subcutaneously every week. Like the other biologics discussed in this chapter, its use in clinical trials was associated with an increase in headache, nausea, and minor infections (Merrill et al. 2012). More deaths were reported in clinical trials with belimumab use compared to placebo, as well as more episodes of depression. Though the mechanism for these changes is unknown, caution is advised for patients with a history of depression.

Anifrolumab

Type I IFN has long been thought to be involved in the pathogenesis of SLE, although until recently it has not been successfully targeted in therapeutic trials. Indirect evidence supports the role of type I IFN and the innate immune system (along with, as discussed above, B cells and humoral immunity) in SLE: differential

methylation of genes induced by type I IFN has been noted in people with SLE (Coit et al. 2013) and genetic variants causing increased type I IFN activity are a risk factor for developing SLE (Niewold et al. 2007). Anifrolumab is a fully human IgG1 monoclonal antibody against IFN-a receptor 1; it blocks IFN signaling as well as autoamplification of IFN production (Riggs et al. 2018).

Anifrolumab, given intravenously once a month, has been studied in nonrenal SLE with mixed, though promising, results in terms of improvement in disease activity and reduction of steroid dose (Morand et al. 2020) and is under investigation for lupus nephritis. As it is a relatively new bDMARD, little is known about its long-term safety, but it use in clinical trials is associated with increased frequency of herpes zoster and bronchitis (Morand et al. 2020).

2.4 Autoinflammatory Disorders

In contrast to autoimmune disorders such as SLE and RA in which both mediators of both innate and adaptive immunity promote inflammation, autoinflammatory disorders primarily involve dysregulation of the innate immune system. Prototypical autoinflammatory disorders include monogenic periodic fever syndromes such as familial Mediterranean fever (FMF), periodic fever with aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, and cervical adenopathy syndrome (PFAPA), and TNF- α -receptor-associated periodic fever syndrome (TRAPS), as well as multifactorial pyogenic diseases such as systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis (SJIA) and Behçet's disease. Crystal-induced arthropathies such as gout have also sometimes been included in this categorization. This group of disorders is linked by common symptoms of fever, inflammatory arthritis, dermo-hypodermitis, and in some cases gastrointestinal symptoms such as abdominal pain and diarrhea. Most are relatively rare; SJIA, which is discussed in more detail, has an incidence of 0.4–0.8 per 100,000 (Gurion et al. 2012).

Generally, autoinflammatory disorders are not associated with detectable autoantibodies or autoreactive T cells, but rather macrophage- and monocyte-driven tissue inflammation and damage (Hedrich 2016). Pattern recognition receptors can recognize these (host) damage-associated molecular patterns. In particular, activation of the Nod-like receptor (NLR) through mutations in NLR genes in different autoinflammatory disorders can lead to production of innate pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β ; these in turn are potential targets in the treatment of these diseases (Doria et al. 2012).

2.4.1 Colchicine

Colchicine has long been known to bind to tubulins and block the polymerization and formation of microtubules. It has additional effects on the immune system, including inhibition of the function of neutrophils, macrophages, and the NALP3 inflammasome. The mechanism of colchicine's suppression of the NALP3 inflammasome and innate immune responses is not fully understood, but may also be related to the inflammasome's dependence on microtubule formation. Colchicine's therapeutic window is narrow due to its common side effects; at prophylactic daily doses used in periodic fever syndromes as well as acute doses used in gout, it can cause gastrointestinal upset and diarrhea (Moreira et al. 2017). Use of colchicine can also cause myelosuppression with cytopenias; as it is metabolized by cytochrome P450 3A4 (CYP3A4) and excreted via the P-glycoprotein (P-gp) transport system, caution must be used in patients with renal or hepatic impairment, especially with concurrent use of CYP 3A4 inhibitors or P-gp inhibitors (Leung et al. 2015).

2.4.2 IL-1 Inhibitors

Though other treatments, including some of the bDMARDs and csDMARDs discussed earlier in the treatment of RA are used for juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA), the management of sJIA and other autoinflammatory disorders is slightly different, commonly relying on glucocorticoids and IL-1 inhibition. Anakinra, also used in the treatment of RA, canakinumab (a human monoclonal anti-IL-1 β antibody), and rilonacept (a human IL-1R1/IL-1R accessory protein fused to the Fc portion of IgG1) are potent targeted inhibitors of IL-1 α and/or IL-1 β signaling. All are given subcutaneously; elimination half-lives are significantly longer for canakinumab (26 days) and rilonacept (7 days) compared to anakinra (4–6 h), and thus they are administered at monthly or weekly intervals respectively, compared to daily with anakinra (Jesus and Goldbach-Mansky 2014).

Given the relative rarity of these illnesses and their predominance in children, the breadth of clinical trials of IL-1 inhibitors in autoinflammatory disorders is limited. In SJIA, anakinra (Quartier et al. 2011), rilonacept (Lovell et al. 2013; Ilowite et al. 2014), and canakinumab (Ruperto et al. 2012) have been shown to improve joint symptoms in clinical trials as well as reduce fever and allow for tapering of glucocorticoid dose. The latter effect is especially important due to its implications in ameliorating steroid-induced growth reduction in children.

The main associated adverse effects with IL-1 inhibitors are injection site reactions, particularly in the use of daily injections of anakinra (Kaiser et al. 2012), as well as an increase in non-serious infections. Thus far, adverse effects in the pediatric population do not seem to be markedly different from those in the adults.

2.5 Systemic Vasculitis

Systemic vasculitis is a broad and complex category of rheumatic diseases; some types of vasculitis are primary while others are related to other conditions such as RA or SLE. Treatments for systemic vasculitis are thus variable based on the underlying condition and its manifestations; broader categorization is thus difficult. Methotrexate, for example, is frequently used in the treatment of ANCA-associated vasculitis confined to the upper respiratory tract, while CYC and rituximab are used in severe organ-threatening ANCA vasculitis (Stone et al. 2010). MMF is used for organ-threatening vasculitis including glomerulonephritis secondary to lupus, as reviewed earlier. Tocilizumab is used in the treatment of giant cell arteritis (Stone et al. 2017), which otherwise is commonly treated with glucocorticoids. These agents are addressed extensively earlier in this chapter and will not be treated separately here.

3 Conclusions

The treatment of rheumatologic conditions goes hand in hand with understanding of immunology and pharmacology. People with rheumatic diseases may experience symptoms and side effects from a combination of autoimmunity, inflammation, and immunodeficiency, in addition to which immunosuppressive therapy adds a layer of complexity. We are beginning to understand the ways in which rheumatic diseases and their treatments may increase patients' risk of developing malignancies, bacterial, viral, and fungal infections, and cardiovascular complications, as discussed with respect to medication side effects in this chapter. In reality, much more information from safety analyses needs to be evaluated to understand these nuances over the long term.

Consideration must also be given to the fact that people with rheumatic diseases often live with conditions and may be treated with medications over the course of months to decades. Some medications may lose efficacy over the course of years of therapy; monoclonal antibodies can provoke the development of human antichimeric or human anti-human antibodies (HACAs and HAHAs, respectively), requiring an increase in dose or a change in medication. Rheumatic disease patients, including children, elderly persons, and people of reproductive age, may take medications throughout their lifespan; not only must we understand long-term risks and safety profiles, but also how therapeutic choices and their consequences may change during different stages of the life cycle.

While our understanding of the pathogenesis of rheumatologic conditions is not yet complete, the advent of immunomodulatory and immunosuppressive medications has represented a breakthrough for people with rheumatic diseases in terms of improving their symptoms and quality of life. A variety of monoclonal antibodies and small molecule synthetic agents with new targets are being studied in RA and SLE/lupus nephritis; whether their use translates to better understanding of disease pathogenesis remains to be seen. That many people have conditions that are "refractory" to the therapies reviewed above challenges the scientific community to continue to explore and develop new therapies in order to provide more treatment options for patients and further insight into their conditions.

References

Aksentijevich I, Masters SL, Ferguson PJ, Dancey P, Frenkel J, van Royen-Kerkhoff A et al (2009) An autoinflammatory disease with deficiency of the interleukin-1-receptor antagonist. N Engl J Med 360(23):2426–2437

Alegre ML, Frauwirth KA, Thompson CB (2001) T-cell regulation by CD28 and CTLA-4. Nat Rev Immunol 1(3):220–228

Allison AC (2005) Mechanisms of action of mycophenolate mofetil. Lupus 14(Suppl 1):s2-s8

- Allison AC, Eugui EM (2000) Mycophenolate mofetil and its mechanisms of action. Immunopharmacology 47(2–3):85–118
- Appel GB, Contreras G, Dooley MA, Ginzler EM, Isenberg D, Jayne D et al (2009) Mycophenolate mofetil versus cyclophosphamide for induction treatment of lupus nephritis. J Am Soc Nephrol 20(5):1103–1112
- Arriens C, Polyakova S, Adzerikho I, Randhawa S, Solomons N (2020) OP0277 aurora phase 3 study demonstrates voclosporin statistical superiority over standard of care in lupus nephritis (LN). Ann Rheum Dis 79(Suppl 1):172–173
- Austin HA 3rd, Klippel JH, Balow JE, le Riche NG, Steinberg AD, Plotz PH et al (1986) Therapy of lupus nephritis. Controlled trial of prednisone and cytotoxic drugs. N Engl J Med 314 (10):614–619
- Baeten D, Sieper J, Braun J, Baraliakos X, Dougados M, Emery P et al (2015) Secukinumab, an interleukin-17A inhibitor, in ankylosing spondylitis. N Engl J Med 373(26):2534–2548
- Bai F, Li GG, Liu Q, Niu X, Li R, Ma H (2019) Short-term efficacy and safety of IL-17, IL-12/23, and IL-23 inhibitors Brodalumab, Secukinumab, Ixekizumab, Ustekinumab, Guselkumab, Tildrakizumab, and Risankizumab for the treatment of moderate to severe plaque psoriasis: a systematic review and network meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Immunol Res 2019:2546161
- Bao H, Liu ZH, Xie HL, Hu WX, Zhang HT, Li LS (2008) Successful treatment of class V+IV lupus nephritis with multitarget therapy. J Am Soc Nephrol 19(10):2001–2010
- Bartok B, Firestein GS (2010) Fibroblast-like synoviocytes: key effector cells in rheumatoid arthritis. Immunol Rev 233(1):233–255
- Bleil J, Maier R, Hempfing A, Sieper J, Appel H, Syrbe U (2016) Granulation tissue eroding the subchondral bone also promotes new bone formation in ankylosing spondylitis. Arthritis Rheumatol 68(10):2456–2465
- Boleto G, Avouac J, Wipff J, Forien M, Dougados M, Roux C et al (2018) Predictors of hypogammaglobulinemia during rituximab maintenance therapy in rheumatoid arthritis: a 12-year longitudinal multi-center study. Semin Arthritis Rheum 48(2):149–154
- Bongartz T, Sutton AJ, Sweeting MJ, Buchan I, Matteson EL, Montori V (2006) Anti-TNF antibody therapy in rheumatoid arthritis and the risk of serious infections and malignancies: systematic review and meta-analysis of rare harmful effects in randomized controlled trials. JAMA 295(19):2275–2285
- Breedveld FC, Dayer JM (2000) Leflunomide: mode of action in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 59(11):841–849
- Bresnihan B, Alvaro-Gracia JM, Cobby M, Doherty M, Domljan Z, Emery P et al (1998) Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with recombinant human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. Arthritis Rheum 41(12):2196–2204
- Busque S, Cantarovich M, Mulgaonkar S, Gaston R, Gaber AO, Mayo PR et al (2011) The PROMISE study: a phase 2b multicenter study of voclosporin (ISA247) versus tacrolimus in de novo kidney transplantation. Am J Transplant 11(12):2675–2684
- Chatzidionysiou K, Lie E, Nasonov E, Lukina G, Hetland ML, Tarp U et al (2011) Highest clinical effectiveness of rituximab in autoantibody-positive patients with rheumatoid arthritis and in those for whom no more than one previous TNF antagonist has failed: pooled data from 10 European registries. Ann Rheum Dis 70(9):1575–1580
- Cheema GS, Roschke V, Hilbert DM, Stohl W (2001) Elevated serum B lymphocyte stimulator levels in patients with systemic immune-based rheumatic diseases. Arthritis Rheum 44 (6):1313–1319
- Chen J, Liu C, Lin J (2006) Methotrexate for ankylosing spondylitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 4:CD004524
- Choy EH (2019) Clinical significance of Janus kinase inhibitor selectivity. Rheumatology (Oxford) 58(6):953–962
- Clark JD, Flanagan ME, Telliez JB (2014) Discovery and development of Janus kinase (JAK) inhibitors for inflammatory diseases. J Med Chem 57(12):5023–5038

- Cohen SB, Emery P, Greenwald MW, Dougados M, Furie RA, Genovese MC et al (2006) Rituximab for rheumatoid arthritis refractory to anti-tumor necrosis factor therapy: results of a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase III trial evaluating primary efficacy and safety at twenty-four weeks. Arthritis Rheum 54(9):2793–2806
- Coit P, Jeffries M, Altorok N, Dozmorov MG, Koelsch KA, Wren JD et al (2013) Genome-wide DNA methylation study suggests epigenetic accessibility and transcriptional poising of interferon-regulated genes in naive CD4+ T cells from lupus patients. J Autoimmun 43:78–84
- Cronstein BN, Sitkovsky M (2017) Adenosine and adenosine receptors in the pathogenesis and treatment of rheumatic diseases. Nat Rev Rheumatol 13(1):41–51
- Crowley J, Thaci D, Joly P, Peris K, Papp KA, Goncalves J et al (2017) Long-term safety and tolerability of apremilast in patients with psoriasis: pooled safety analysis for ≥156 weeks from 2 phase 3, randomized, controlled trials (ESTEEM 1 and 2). J Am Acad Dermatol 77 (2):310–317 e1
- Das KM, Dubin R (1976) Clinical pharmacokinetics of sulphasalazine. Clin Pharmacokinet 1 (6):406–425
- De La Torre I, Leandro MJ, Valor L, Becerra E, Edwards JC, Cambridge G (2012) Total serum immunoglobulin levels in patients with RA after multiple B-cell depletion cycles based on rituximab: relationship with B-cell kinetics. Rheumatology (Oxford) 51(5):833–840
- Deodhar A, Chakravarty SD, Cameron C, Peterson S, Hensman R, Fogarty S et al (2020) A systematic review and network meta-analysis of current and investigational treatments for active ankylosing spondylitis. Clin Rheumatol 39(8):2307–2315
- Dixon WG, Watson KD, Lunt M, Mercer LK, Hyrich KL, Symmons DP et al (2010) Influence of anti-tumor necrosis factor therapy on cancer incidence in patients with rheumatoid arthritis who have had a prior malignancy: results from the British Society for Rheumatology Biologics Register. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 62(6):755–763
- Dooley MA, Jayne D, Ginzler EM, Isenberg D, Olsen NJ, Wofsy D et al (2011) Mycophenolate versus azathioprine as maintenance therapy for lupus nephritis. N Engl J Med 365 (20):1886–1895
- Doria A, Zen M, Bettio S, Gatto M, Bassi N, Nalotto L et al (2012) Autoinflammation and autoimmunity: bridging the divide. Autoimmun Rev 12(1):22–30
- Dougados M, van der Heijde D, Chen YC, Greenwald M, Drescher E, Liu J et al (2017) Baricitinib in patients with inadequate response or intolerance to conventional synthetic DMARDs: results from the RA-BUILD study. Ann Rheum Dis 76(1):88–95
- Eastgate JA, Symons JA, Wood NC, Grinlinton FM, di Giovine FS, Duff GW (1988) Correlation of plasma interleukin 1 levels with disease activity in rheumatoid arthritis. Lancet 2 (8613):706–709
- Emery P, Fleischmann R, Filipowicz-Sosnowska A, Schechtman J, Szczepanski L, Kavanaugh A et al (2006) The efficacy and safety of rituximab in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis despite methotrexate treatment: results of a phase IIB randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled, dose-ranging trial. Arthritis Rheum 54(5):1390–1400
- Emery P, Rondon J, Parrino J, Lin Y, Pena-Rossi C, van Hoogstraten H et al (2019) Safety and tolerability of subcutaneous sarilumab and intravenous tocilizumab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 58(5):849–858
- Feldmann M, Maini RN (2003) Lasker clinical medical research award. TNF defined as a therapeutic target for rheumatoid arthritis and other autoimmune diseases. Nat Med 9(10):1245–1250
- Fleischmann R, Kremer J, Cush J, Schulze-Koops H, Connell CA, Bradley JD et al (2012) Placebocontrolled trial of tofacitinib monotherapy in rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med 367 (6):495–507
- Fox RI (1993) Mechanism of action of hydroxychloroquine as an antirheumatic drug. Semin Arthritis Rheum 23(2 Suppl 1):82–91
- Fox DA, Gizinski A, Morgan R, Lundy SK (2010) Cell-cell interactions in rheumatoid arthritis synovium. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 36(2):311–323

- Friedman B, Cronstein B (2019) Methotrexate mechanism in treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Joint Bone Spine 86(3):301–307
- Furie R, Petri M, Zamani O, Cervera R, Wallace DJ, Tegzova D et al (2011) A phase III, randomized, placebo-controlled study of belimumab, a monoclonal antibody that inhibits B lymphocyte stimulator, in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 63 (12):3918–3930
- Genovese MC, Becker JC, Schiff M, Luggen M, Sherrer Y, Kremer J et al (2005) Abatacept for rheumatoid arthritis refractory to tumor necrosis factor alpha inhibition. N Engl J Med 353 (11):1114–1123
- Genovese MC, Kremer J, Zamani O, Ludivico C, Krogulec M, Xie L et al (2016a) Baricitinib in patients with refractory rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med 374(13):1243–1252
- Genovese MC, Smolen JS, Weinblatt ME, Burmester GR, Meerwein S, Camp HS et al (2016b) Efficacy and safety of ABT-494, a selective JAK-1 inhibitor, in a phase IIb study in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and an inadequate response to methotrexate. Arthritis Rheumatol 68 (12):2857–2866
- Ginzler EM, Dooley MA, Aranow C, Kim MY, Buyon J, Merrill JT et al (2005) Mycophenolate mofetil or intravenous cyclophosphamide for lupus nephritis. N Engl J Med 353(21):2219–2228
- Gladman D, Rigby W, Azevedo VF, Behrens F, Blanco R, Kaszuba A et al (2017) Tofacitinib for psoriatic arthritis in patients with an inadequate response to TNF inhibitors. N Engl J Med 377 (16):1525–1536
- Goebel KM, Janzen R, Joseph K, Borngen U (1976) Disparity between clinical and immune responses in a controlled trial of azathioprine in rheumatoid arthritis. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 09 (5–6):405–410
- Gurion R, Lehman TJ, Moorthy LN (2012) Systemic arthritis in children: a review of clinical presentation and treatment. Int J Inflam 2012:271569
- Hedrich CM (2016) Shaping the spectrum from autoinflammation to autoimmunity. Clin Immunol 165:21–28
- Heinrich PC, Behrmann I, Haan S, Hermanns HM, Muller-Newen G, Schaper F (2003) Principles of interleukin (IL)-6-type cytokine signalling and its regulation. Biochem J 374(Pt 1):1–20
- Hennigan S, Kavanaugh A (2008) Interleukin-6 inhibitors in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Ther Clin Risk Manag 4(4):767–775
- Houssiau FA, Vasconcelos C, D'Cruz D, Sebastiani GD, Garrido Ed Ede R, Danieli MG et al (2002) immunosuppressive therapy in lupus nephritis: the euro-lupus nephritis trial, a randomized trial of low-dose versus high-dose intravenous cyclophosphamide. Arthritis Rheum 46(8):2121–2131
- Houssiau FA, Vasconcelos C, D'Cruz D, Sebastiani GD, de Ramon Garrido E, Danieli MG et al (2010) The 10-year follow-up data of the euro-lupus nephritis trial comparing low-dose and high-dose intravenous cyclophosphamide. Ann Rheum Dis 69(1):61–64
- Hueber W, Sands BE, Lewitzky S, Vandemeulebroecke M, Reinisch W, Higgins PD et al (2012) Secukinumab, a human anti-IL-17A monoclonal antibody, for moderate to severe Crohn's disease: unexpected results of a randomised, double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Gut 61 (12):1693–1700
- Huizinga TW, Fleischmann RM, Jasson M, Radin AR, van Adelsberg J, Fiore S et al (2014) Sarilumab, a fully human monoclonal antibody against IL-6Ralpha in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and an inadequate response to methotrexate: efficacy and safety results from the randomised SARIL-RA-MOBILITY part A trial. Ann Rheum Dis 73(9):1626–1634
- Ilowite NT, Prather K, Lokhnygina Y, Schanberg LE, Elder M, Milojevic D et al (2014) Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of the efficacy and safety of rilonacept in the treatment of systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheumatol 66(9):2570–2579
- Isenberg D, Gordon C, Licu D, Copt S, Rossi CP, Wofsy D (2015) Efficacy and safety of atacicept for prevention of flares in patients with moderate-to-severe systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE): 52-week data (APRIL-SLE randomised trial). Ann Rheum Dis 74(11):2006–2015

- Jamilloux Y, El Jammal T, Vuitton L, Gerfaud-Valentin M, Kerever S, Seve P (2019) JAK inhibitors for the treatment of autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. Autoimmun Rev 18 (11):102390
- Jesus AA, Goldbach-Mansky R (2014) IL-1 blockade in autoinflammatory syndromes. Annu Rev Med 65:223–244
- Jolivet J, Cowan KH, Curt GA, Clendeninn NJ, Chabner BA (1983) The pharmacology and clinical use of methotrexate. N Engl J Med 309(18):1094–1104
- Kaiser C, Knight A, Nordstrom D, Pettersson T, Fransson J, Florin-Robertsson E et al (2012) Injection-site reactions upon Kineret (anakinra) administration: experiences and explanations. Rheumatol Int 32(2):295–299
- Karie S, Gandjbakhch F, Janus N, Launay-Vacher V, Rozenberg S, Mai Ba CU et al (2008) Kidney disease in RA patients: prevalence and implication on RA-related drugs management: the MATRIX study. Rheumatology (Oxford) 47(3):350–354
- Kavanaugh A, Mease PJ, Gomez-Reino JJ, Adebajo AO, Wollenhaupt J, Gladman DD et al (2014) Treatment of psoriatic arthritis in a phase 3 randomised, placebo-controlled trial with apremilast, an oral phosphodiesterase 4 inhibitor. Ann Rheum Dis 73(6):1020–1026
- Keystone E, Heijde D, Mason D Jr, Landewe R, Vollenhoven RV, Combe B et al (2008) Certolizumab pegol plus methotrexate is significantly more effective than placebo plus methotrexate in active rheumatoid arthritis: findings of a fifty-two-week, phase III, multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group study. Arthritis Rheum 58 (11):3319–3329
- Kremer JM, Dougados M, Emery P, Durez P, Sibilia J, Shergy W et al (2005) Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with the selective costimulation modulator abatacept: twelve-month results of a phase iib, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Arthritis Rheum 52 (8):2263–2271
- Kremer JM, Emery P, Camp HS, Friedman A, Wang L, Othman AA et al (2016) A phase IIb study of ABT-494, a selective JAK-1 inhibitor, in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and an inadequate response to anti-tumor necrosis factor therapy. Arthritis Rheumatol 68(12):2867–2877
- Kuznik A, Bencina M, Svajger U, Jeras M, Rozman B, Jerala R (2011) Mechanism of endosomal TLR inhibition by antimalarial drugs and imidazoquinolines. J Immunol 186(8):4794–4804
- Leandro MJ (2013) B-cell subpopulations in humans and their differential susceptibility to depletion with anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies. Arthritis Res Ther 15(Suppl 1):S3
- Leandro MJ, Cambridge G, Ehrenstein MR, Edwards JC (2006) Reconstitution of peripheral blood B cells after depletion with rituximab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 54 (2):613–620
- Lebwohl MG, Blauvelt A, Menter A, Papp KA, Guenthner S, Pillai R et al (2019) Efficacy, safety, and patient-reported outcomes in patients with moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis treated with Brodalumab for 5 years in a long-term, open-label, phase II study. Am J Clin Dermatol 20 (6):863–871
- Lei C, Dongqing Z, Yeqing S, Oaks MK, Lishan C, Jianzhong J et al (2005) Association of the CTLA-4 gene with rheumatoid arthritis in Chinese Han population. Eur J Hum Genet 13 (7):823–828
- Leung YY, Yao Hui LL, Kraus VB (2015) Colchicine update on mechanisms of action and therapeutic uses. Semin Arthritis Rheum 45(3):341–350
- Li R, Rezk A, Healy LM, Muirhead G, Prat A, Gommerman JL et al (2015) Cytokine-defined B cell responses as therapeutic targets in multiple sclerosis. Front Immunol 6:626
- Lovell DJ, Giannini EH, Reiff AO, Kimura Y, Li S, Hashkes PJ et al (2013) Long-term safety and efficacy of rilonacept in patients with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 65 (9):2486–2496
- Macchi P, Villa A, Giliani S, Sacco MG, Frattini A, Porta F et al (1995) Mutations of Jak-3 gene in patients with autosomal severe combined immune deficiency (SCID). Nature 377(6544):65–68
- Maini RN, Breedveld FC, Kalden JR, Smolen JS, Davis D, Macfarlane JD et al (1998) Therapeutic efficacy of multiple intravenous infusions of anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha monoclonal

antibody combined with low-dose weekly methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 41(9):1552–1563

- Maini RN, Taylor PC, Szechinski J, Pavelka K, Broll J, Balint G et al (2006) Double-blind randomized controlled clinical trial of the interleukin-6 receptor antagonist, tocilizumab, in European patients with rheumatoid arthritis who had an incomplete response to methotrexate. Arthritis Rheum 54(9):2817–2829
- Mariette X, Forger F, Abraham B, Flynn AD, Molto A, Flipo RM et al (2018) Lack of placental transfer of certolizumab pegol during pregnancy: results from CRIB, a prospective, postmarketing, pharmacokinetic study. Ann Rheum Dis 77(2):228–233
- Marra CA, Esdaile JM, Anis AH (2002) Practical pharmacogenetics: the cost effectiveness of screening for thiopurine s-methyltransferase polymorphisms in patients with rheumatological conditions treated with azathioprine. J Rheumatol 29(12):2507–2512
- Maxwell LJ, Singh JA (2010) Abatacept for rheumatoid arthritis: a cochrane systematic review. J Rheumatol 37(2):234–245
- McConkey B, Amos RS, Butler EP, Crockson RA, Crockson AP, Walsh L (1978) Salazopyrin in rheumatoid arthritis. Agents Actions 43(3–4):202–205
- McInnes IB, Mease PJ, Kirkham B, Kavanaugh A, Ritchlin CT, Rahman P et al (2015) Secukinumab, a human anti-interleukin-17A monoclonal antibody, in patients with psoriatic arthritis (FUTURE 2): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet 386 (9999):1137–1146
- Mease PJ, Genovese MC, Greenwald MW, Ritchlin CT, Beaulieu AD, Deodhar A et al (2014) Brodalumab, an anti-IL17RA monoclonal antibody, in psoriatic arthritis. N Engl J Med 370 (24):2295–2306
- Mease PJ, McInnes IB, Kirkham B, Kavanaugh A, Rahman P, van der Heijde D et al (2015) Secukinumab inhibition of interleukin-17A in patients with psoriatic arthritis. N Engl J Med 373 (14):1329–1339
- Mease P, Hall S, FitzGerald O, van der Heijde D, Merola JF, Avila-Zapata F et al (2017) Tofacitinib or adalimumab versus placebo for psoriatic arthritis. N Engl J Med 377(16):1537–1550
- Mease P, van der Heijde D, Landewe R, Mpofu S, Rahman P, Tahir H et al (2018) Secukinumab improves active psoriatic arthritis symptoms and inhibits radiographic progression: primary results from the randomised, double-blind, phase III FUTURE 5 study. Ann Rheum Dis 77 (6):890–897
- Mease PJ, Gladman DD, Collier DH, Ritchlin CT, Helliwell PS, Liu L et al (2019) Etanercept and methotrexate as monotherapy or in combination for psoriatic arthritis: primary results from a randomized, controlled phase III trial. Arthritis Rheumatol 71(7):1112–1124
- Mease PJ, Smolen JS, Behrens F, Nash P, Liu Leage S, Li L et al (2020) A head-to-head comparison of the efficacy and safety of ixekizumab and adalimumab in biological-naive patients with active psoriatic arthritis: 24-week results of a randomised, open-label, blinded-assessor trial. Ann Rheum Dis 79(1):123–131
- Melles RB, Marmor MF (2014) The risk of toxic retinopathy in patients on long-term hydroxychloroquine therapy. JAMA Ophthalmol 132(12):1453–1460
- Mercuro NJ, Yen CF, Shim DJ, Maher TR, McCoy CM, Zimetbaum PJ et al (2020) Risk of QT interval prolongation associated with use of hydroxychloroquine with or without concomitant azithromycin among hospitalized patients testing positive for coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). JAMA Cardiol:e201834
- Merrill JT, Ginzler EM, Wallace DJ, McKay JD, Lisse JR, Aranow C et al (2012) Long-term safety profile of belimumab plus standard therapy in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 64(10):3364–3373
- Mittal L, Zhang L, Feng R, Werth VP (2018) Antimalarial drug toxicities in patients with cutaneous lupus and dermatomyositis: a retrospective cohort study. J Am Acad Dermatol 78(1):100–106 e1
- Mok CC (2017) Calcineurin inhibitors in systemic lupus erythematosus. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 31(3):429–438

- Mok CC, Ying KY, Yim CW, Siu YP, Tong KH, To CH et al (2016) Tacrolimus versus mycophenolate mofetil for induction therapy of lupus nephritis: a randomised controlled trial and long-term follow-up. Ann Rheum Dis 75(1):30–36
- Monach PA, Arnold LM, Merkel PA (2010) Incidence and prevention of bladder toxicity from cyclophosphamide in the treatment of rheumatic diseases: a data-driven review. Arthritis Rheum 62(1):9–21
- Morand EF, Furie R, Tanaka Y, Bruce IN, Askanase AD, Richez C et al (2020) Trial of anifrolumab in active systemic lupus erythematosus. N Engl J Med 382(3):211–221
- Moreira A, Torres B, Peruzzo J, Mota A, Eyerich K, Ring J (2017) Skin symptoms as diagnostic clue for autoinflammatory diseases. An Bras Dermatol 92(1):72–80
- Moreland LW, Baumgartner SW, Schiff MH, Tindall EA, Fleischmann RM, Weaver AL et al (1997) Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with a recombinant human tumor necrosis factor receptor (p75)-fc fusion protein. N Engl J Med 337(3):141–147
- Murray E, Ellis A, Butylkova Y, Skup M, Kalabic J, Garg V (2018) Systematic review and network meta-analysis: effect of biologics on radiographic progression in rheumatoid arthritis. J Comp Eff Res 7(10):959–974
- Murugaiyan G, Saha B (2009) Protumor vs antitumor functions of IL-17. J Immunol 183 (7):4169-4175
- Nakahara H, Song J, Sugimoto M, Hagihara K, Kishimoto T, Yoshizaki K et al (2003) Antiinterleukin-6 receptor antibody therapy reduces vascular endothelial growth factor production in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 48(6):1521–1529
- Niewold TB, Hua J, Lehman TJ, Harley JB, Crow MK (2007) High serum IFN-alpha activity is a heritable risk factor for systemic lupus erythematosus. Genes Immun 8(6):492–502
- Nixon R, Bansback N, Brennan A (2007) The efficacy of inhibiting tumour necrosis factor alpha and interleukin 1 in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a meta-analysis and adjusted indirect comparisons. Rheumatology (Oxford) 46(7):1140–1147
- O'Neill LA (2008) The interleukin-1 receptor/toll-like receptor superfamily: 10 years of progress. Immunol Rev 226:10–18
- O'Shea JJ, Schwartz DM, Villarino AV, Gadina M, McInnes IB, Laurence A (2015) The JAK-STAT pathway: impact on human disease and therapeutic intervention. Annu Rev Med 66:311–328
- Parganas E, Wang D, Stravopodis D, Topham DJ, Marine JC, Teglund S et al (1998) Jak2 is essential for signaling through a variety of cytokine receptors. Cell 93(3):385–395
- Parmentier JM, Voss J, Graff C, Schwartz A, Argiriadi M, Friedman M et al (2018) In vitro and in vivo characterization of the JAK1 selectivity of upadacitinib (ABT-494). BMC Rheumatol 2:23
- Pathan E, Abraham S, Van Rossen E, Withrington R, Keat A, Charles PJ et al (2013) Efficacy and safety of apremilast, an oral phosphodiesterase 4 inhibitor, in ankylosing spondylitis. Ann Rheum Dis 72(9):1475–1480
- Perrin F, Neel A, Graveleau J, Ruellan AL, Masseau A, Hamidou M (2014) Two cases of anakinrainduced neutropenia during auto-inflammatory diseases: drug reintroduction can be successful. Presse Med 43(3):319–321
- Pullar T, Hunter JA, Capell HA (1983) Sulphasalazine in rheumatoid arthritis: a double blind comparison of sulphasalazine with placebo and sodium aurothiomalate. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 287(6399):1102–1104
- Quartier P, Allantaz F, Cimaz R, Pillet P, Messiaen C, Bardin C et al (2011) A multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial with the interleukin-1 receptor antagonist anakinra in patients with systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis (ANAJIS trial). Ann Rheum Dis 70(5):747–754
- Raaschou P, Soderling J, Turesson C, Askling J, Group AS (2018) Tumor necrosis factor inhibitors and cancer recurrence in Swedish patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a nationwide populationbased cohort study. Ann Intern Med 169(5):291–299

- Riggs JM, Hanna RN, Rajan B, Zerrouki K, Karnell JL, Sagar D et al (2018) Characterisation of anifrolumab, a fully human anti-interferon receptor antagonist antibody for the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus Sci Med 5(1):e000261
- Rodig SJ, Meraz MA, White JM, Lampe PA, Riley JK, Arthur CD et al (1998) Disruption of the Jak1 gene demonstrates obligatory and nonredundant roles of the Jaks in cytokine-induced biologic responses. Cell 93(3):373–383
- Roll P, Palanichamy A, Kneitz C, Dorner T, Tony HP (2006) Regeneration of B cell subsets after transient B cell depletion using anti-CD20 antibodies in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 54(8):2377–2386
- Ruperto N, Quartier P, Wulffraat N, Woo P, Ravelli A, Mouy R et al (2012) A phase II, multicenter, open-label study evaluating dosing and preliminary safety and efficacy of canakinumab in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis with active systemic features. Arthritis Rheum 64 (2):557–567
- Ruyssen-Witrand A, Perry R, Watkins C, Braileanu G, Kumar G, Kiri S et al (2020) Efficacy and safety of biologics in psoriatic arthritis: a systematic literature review and network metaanalysis. RMD Open:6(1)
- Salomon B, Bluestone JA (2001) Complexities of CD28/B7: CTLA-4 costimulatory pathways in autoimmunity and transplantation. Annu Rev Immunol 19:225–252
- Saunte DM, Mrowietz U, Puig L, Zachariae C (2017) Candida infections in patients with psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis treated with interleukin-17 inhibitors and their practical management. Br J Dermatol 177(1):47–62
- Schafer PH, Truzzi F, Parton A, Wu L, Kosek J, Zhang LH et al (2016) Phosphodiesterase 4 in inflammatory diseases: effects of apremilast in psoriatic blood and in dermal myofibroblasts through the PDE4/CD271 complex. Cell Signal 28(7):753–763
- Schiff M (2011) Abatacept treatment for rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 50 (3):437-449
- Schreiber S, Colombel JF, Feagan BG, Reich K, Deodhar AA, McInnes IB et al (2019) Incidence rates of inflammatory bowel disease in patients with psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis treated with secukinumab: a retrospective analysis of pooled data from 21 clinical trials. Ann Rheum Dis 78(4):473–479
- Shin W, Lee HT, Lim H, Lee SH, Son JY, Lee JU et al (2018) BAFF-neutralizing interaction of belimumab related to its therapeutic efficacy for treating systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Commun 9(1):1200
- Silva-Fernandez L, Lunt M, Kearsley-Fleet L, Watson KD, Dixon WG, Symmons DP et al (2016) The incidence of cancer in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and a prior malignancy who receive TNF inhibitors or rituximab: results from the British Society for Rheumatology Biologics Register-Rheumatoid Arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 55(11):2033–2039
- Singh JA, Hossain A, Mudano AS, Tanjong Ghogomu E, Suarez-Almazor ME, Buchbinder R et al (2017) Biologics or tofacitinib for people with rheumatoid arthritis naive to methotrexate: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 5:CD012657
- Smedegard G, Bjork J (1995) Sulphasalazine: mechanism of action in rheumatoid arthritis. Br J Rheumatol 34(Suppl 2):7–15
- Smolen JS, Kay J, Doyle MK, Landewe R, Matteson EL, Wollenhaupt J et al (2009) Golimumab in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis after treatment with tumour necrosis factor alpha inhibitors (GO-AFTER study): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase III trial. Lancet 374(9685):210–221
- Smolen JS, Burmester GR, Combe B, Curtis JR, Hall S, Haraoui B et al (2016) Head-to-head comparison of certolizumab pegol versus adalimumab in rheumatoid arthritis: 2-year efficacy and safety results from the randomised EXXELERATE study. Lancet 388(10061):2763–2774
- Stohl W, Hiepe F, Latinis KM, Thomas M, Scheinberg MA, Clarke A et al (2012) Belimumab reduces autoantibodies, normalizes low complement levels, and reduces select B cell populations in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 64(7):2328–2337

- Stone JH, Merkel PA, Spiera R, Seo P, Langford CA, Hoffman GS et al (2010) Rituximab versus cyclophosphamide for ANCA-associated vasculitis. N Engl J Med 363(3):221–232
- Stone JH, Tuckwell K, Dimonaco S, Klearman M, Aringer M, Blockmans D et al (2017) Trial of tocilizumab in giant-cell arteritis. N Engl J Med 377(4):317–328
- Takada K, Illei GG, Boumpas DT (2001) Cyclophosphamide for the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus 10(3):154–161
- Taylor PC (2019) Clinical efficacy of launched JAK inhibitors in rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 58(Suppl 1):i17–i26
- Taylor RP, Lindorfer MA (2008) Immunotherapeutic mechanisms of anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies. Curr Opin Immunol 20(4):444–449
- Teng YK, Levarht EW, Hashemi M, Bajema IM, Toes RE, Huizinga TW et al (2007) Immunohistochemical analysis as a means to predict responsiveness to rituximab treatment. Arthritis Rheum 56(12):3909–3918
- Thomis DC, Gurniak CB, Tivol E, Sharpe AH, Berg LJ (1995) Defects in B lymphocyte maturation and T lymphocyte activation in mice lacking Jak3. Science 270(5237):794–797
- Thompson C, Davies R, Choy E (2016) Anti cytokine therapy in chronic inflammatory arthritis. Cytokine 86:92–99
- van der Heijde D, Cheng-Chung Wei J, Dougados M, Mease P, Deodhar A, Maksymowych WP et al (2018) Ixekizumab, an interleukin-17A antagonist in the treatment of ankylosing spondylitis or radiographic axial spondyloarthritis in patients previously untreated with biological disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (COAST-V): 16 week results of a phase 3 randomised, double-blind, active-controlled and placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 392(10163):2441–2451
- van der Heijde D, Song IH, Pangan AL, Deodhar A, van den Bosch F, Maksymowych WP et al (2019) Efficacy and safety of upadacitinib in patients with active ankylosing spondylitis (SELECT-AXIS 1): a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2/3 trial. Lancet 394(10214):2108–2117
- van Vollenhoven RF, Fleischmann RM, Furst DE, Lacey S, Lehane PB (2015) Longterm safety of rituximab: final report of the rheumatoid arthritis global clinical trial program over 11 years. J Rheumatol 42(10):1761–1766
- Vasilakis-Scaramozza C, Persson R, Hagberg KW, Jick S (2020) The risk of treated anxiety and treated depression among patients with psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis treated with apremilast compared to biologics, DMARDs and corticosteroids: a cohort study in the United States MarketScan database. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 34(8):1755–1763
- Verden A, Dimbil M, Kyle R, Overstreet B, Hoffman KB (2018) Analysis of spontaneous postmarket case reports submitted to the FDA regarding thromboembolic adverse events and JAK inhibitors. Drug Saf 41(4):357–361
- Wei JC-C, Kim T-H, Kishimoto M, Morishige T, Ogusu N, Kobayashi S (2019) OP0234 efficacy and safety of brodalumab, an anti-interleukin-17 receptor a monoclonal antibody, in patients with axial spondyloarthritis: a 16 week results of a phase 3, multicenter, randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled study. Ann Rheum Dis 78(Suppl 2):195–195
- Weinblatt ME, Kremer JM, Bankhurst AD, Bulpitt KJ, Fleischmann RM, Fox RI et al (1999) A trial of etanercept, a recombinant tumor necrosis factor receptor:Fc fusion protein, in patients with rheumatoid arthritis receiving methotrexate. N Engl J Med 340(4):253–259
- Weinblatt ME, Keystone EC, Furst DE, Moreland LW, Weisman MH, Birbara CA et al (2003) Adalimumab, a fully human anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha monoclonal antibody, for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis in patients taking concomitant methotrexate: the ARMADA trial. Arthritis Rheum 48(1):35–45
- Wells AF, Edwards CJ, Kivitz AJ, Bird P, Nguyen D, Paris M et al (2018) Apremilast monotherapy in DMARD-naive psoriatic arthritis patients: results of the randomized, placebo-controlled PALACE 4 trial. Rheumatology (Oxford) 57(7):1253–1263

- Winthrop KL (2017) The emerging safety profile of JAK inhibitors in rheumatic disease. Nat Rev Rheumatol 13(5):320
- Winthrop KL, Saag K, Cascino MD, Pei J, John A, Jahreis A et al (2018) Long-term safety of rituximab in rheumatoid arthritis: analysis from the SUNSTONE registry. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)
- Wolbink GJ, Vis M, Lems W, Voskuyl AE, de Groot E, Nurmohamed MT et al (2006) Development of antiinfliximab antibodies and relationship to clinical response in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 54(3):711–715
- Zhang J, Roschke V, Baker KP, Wang Z, Alarcon GS, Fessler BJ et al (2001) Cutting edge: a role for B lymphocyte stimulator in systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol 166(1):6–10



Immune Suppression in Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation

Thomas F. Michniacki, Sung Won Choi, and Daniel C. Peltier

Contents

1	Introduction			
2	Clinical Features of aGVHD			
3	Influence of Donor Graft, MHC Matching, and Conditioning on aGVHD			
4	Chronic GVHD			
5	Immunobiology of aGVHD	215		
	5.1 Tissue Injury and Inflammation from Pre-transplant Conditioning (aGVHD Trigg	ers		
	and Sensors)	216		
	5.2 Stimulation, Differentiation, and Proliferation of Effector T Cells (aGVHD			
	Mediators)	217		
	5.3 Tissue Damage by Effectors and Inflammatory Cytokines (aGVHD Effectors			
	and Amplifiers)	219		
	5.4 Tissue Repair and Anti-inflammatory Mechanisms (aGVHD Modulators)	219		
6	GVHD Prophylaxis	227		
	6.1 Calcineurin Inhibitors	227		
	6.2 Mycophenolate Mofetil	228		
	6.3 Methotrexate	228		
	6.4 Sirolimus	228		
	6.5 Anti-Thymocyte Globulin	229		
	6.6 Cyclophosphamide	229		
	6.7 Experimental Therapies	229		
7	Acute GVHD Treatment	230		
	7.1 Corticosteroids	230		

T. F. Michniacki

S. W. Choi $(\boxtimes) \cdot D$. C. Peltier (\boxtimes)

e-mail: sungchoi@med.umich.edu; peltierd@med.umich.edu

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 272, https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2021_544

Division of Hematology/Oncology, Department of Pediatrics, Blood and Marrow Transplantation Program, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

Division of Hematology/Oncology, Department of Pediatrics, Blood and Marrow Transplantation Program, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

University of Michigan Rogel Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

H. J. Eisen (ed.), Pharmacology of Immunosuppression,
	7.2	Ruxolitinib	230
	7.3	Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF)-Inhibitors	231
	7.4	Alemtuzumab	231
	7.5	Pentostatin	231
	7.6	Interleukin-2 Receptor (CD25-Alpha) Antibodies	232
	7.7	Brentuximab	232
	7.8	Tocilizumab	232
	7.9	Vedolizumab	232
	7.10	Additional Immunosuppression Medications for Non-GVHD Indications	233
	7.11	Rituximab	233
	7.12	Bortezomib	234
	7.13	Eculizumab	234
8	Concl	usions	234
Re	References 2		

Abstract

Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (allo-HSCT) is a curative treatment for high-risk hematologic disorders. There are multiple immunemediated complications following allo-HSCT that are prevented and/or treated by immunosuppressive agents. Principal among these immune-mediated complications is acute graft-versus-host disease (aGVHD), which occurs when the new donor immune system targets host tissue antigens. The immunobiology of aGVHD is complex and involves all aspects of the immune system. Due to the risk of aGVHD, immunosuppressive aGVHD prophylaxis is required for nearly all allogeneic HSCT recipients. Despite prophylaxis, aGVHD remains a major cause of nonrelapse mortality. Here, we discuss the clinical features of aGVHD, the immunobiology of aGVHD, the immunosuppressive therapies used to prevent and treat aGVHD, how to mitigate the side effects of these immunosuppressive therapies, and what additional immune-mediated post-allo-HSCT complications are also treated with immunosuppression.

Keywords

Acute graft-versus-host disease \cdot Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation \cdot Immune suppression

1 Introduction

Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) is a curative modality for high-risk malignancies, hematologic disorders, immunologic disorders, and metabolic disorders (Hołowiecki 2008). Fundamentally, HSCT results in a complete or partial replacement of the hematopoietic system. The procedure is performed by first conditioning the recipient with chemotherapy and/or total body irradiation followed by the infusion of donor HSCs. Conditioning serves to make physical space in the recipient bone marrow for the new HSC graft and to suppress the recipient's immune

system to prevent graft rejection. Following stem cell engraftment, the donor graft repopulates the hematopoietic and immunologic compartments.

There are two main categories of HSCT: autologous and allogeneic. In autologous HSCT, the hematopoietic compartment is rescued with a cryopreserved autologous HSC product harvested from the recipient prior to conditioning. Autologous HSCT is typically used to reconstitute hematopoiesis following consolidative, highdose, myeloablative chemotherapy regimens for lymphomas and various solid tumors thereby overcoming the hematopoietic dose-limiting toxicity of these consolidative regimens.

In contrast to autologous HSCT, the stem cell graft in allogeneic HSCT is derived from a different person than the recipient, which makes allogeneic HSCT useful for treating hematologic, immunologic, and metabolic disorders. Because the graft donor and recipient are different people in allogeneic HSCT, polymorphic antigens will differ between the donor and recipient. These polymorphic antigens are recognized by donor allogeneic T cells, which are the primary drivers of alloimmunity. Alloimmune reactions are beneficial when the donor alloimmune response is directed against polymorphic antigens present on tumor cells. This antitumor response is termed the graft-versus-tumor (GVT) effect and represents one of the first immunologic therapies for cancer. However, alloimmune reactions can also be directed against polymorphic allogeneic antigens present on host tissues resulting in acute graft-versus-host disease (aGVHD). These activated allogenic antigen-responsive T cells then drive the immune-mediated damage of the main aGVHD target organs in the recipient, namely the skin, liver, and gastrointestinal (GI) tract (Ferrara et al. 2009). Due to the risk of aGVHD, nearly all allogeneic HSCT recipients receive aGVHD prophylaxis with immunosuppressive therapies. Despite prophylaxis, aGVHD occurs in 30–50% of patients and remains a major lifethreatening complication of allogeneic HSCT (Ferrara et al. 2009). Herein, we discuss the pathophysiology of aGVHD, the immunosuppressive therapies used to prevent and treat aGVHD, and how best to mitigate the myriad off-target and on-target side effects of these therapies, including infection and relapse.

2 Clinical Features of aGVHD

The main organs affected by aGVHD are the skin, liver, and GI tract. In rare instances, the lungs, central nervous system, and retinas are also affected (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a). Acute GVHD typically manifests within the first 100 days after transplantation; however, it can occur later (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a). The risk of aGVHD is increased by HLA-mismatched grafts, advanced age of the recipient or donor, male recipients of female donors, unmanipulated peripheral blood stem cell grafts relative to bone marrow or umbilical cord blood grafts, and with myeloablative conditioning regimens relative to reduced intensity regimens (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a; Jagasia et al. 2012; Flowers et al. 2011; Hahn et al. 2008).

The skin is typically the first organ affected by aGVHD (Ferrara et al. 2009). Signs of skin aGVHD include an erythematous maculo-papular rash that can

advance to blisters and ulceration (Ferrara et al. 2009; Zeiser and Blazar 2017a). Early skin aGVHD has a predilection for the palms, soles, ears, neck, and dorsal surfaces of the extremities and malar regions (Ferrara et al. 2009; Zeiser and Blazar 2017a). Histology of skin aGVHD typically reveals apoptosis at the basal membrane of the epidermal layer, dyskeratosis, exocytosis of lymphocytes, satellite lymphocytes adjacent to dyskeratotic epidermal keratinocytes, and perivascular lymphocytic infiltration in the dermis (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a). These histopathological findings often overlap with those of drug reactions and infectious etiologies, thereby limiting the usefulness of skin biopsy for the diagnosis of cutaneous aGVHD (Haimes et al. 2019; Zhou et al. 2000). Upper GI aGVHD typically manifests with nausea, weight loss, and anorexia (Ferrara et al. 2009; Zeiser and Blazar 2017a). Patchy ulcerations and flattening of surface epithelium are typically seen on histopathology (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a). Lower GI aGVHD manifests as watery and/or bloody diarrhea with or without crampy abdominal pain (Ferrara et al. 2009; Zeiser and Blazar 2017a). Apoptotic bodies and abscesses in the epithelial crypts are diagnostic on histopathology of endoscopic biopsies (Ferrara et al. 2009; Zeiser and Blazar 2017a). Liver aGVHD clinically manifests with elevated total bilirubin with or without jaundice (Ferrara et al. 2009; Zeiser and Blazar 2017a). Pathology is notable for lymphocytic infiltration near port veins and bile ducts with bile duct loss occurring in advanced lesions (Ferrara et al. 2009; Zeiser and Blazar 2017a).

The severity of aGVHD is staged within each of the primary target organs: skin, liver, and gut (Glucksberg et al. 1974; Przepiorka et al. 1995). These stages are then combined into an overall grade (Glucksberg et al. 1974; Przepiorka et al. 1995). The skin is staged from 0 to 4 based on the percent of body surface area involvement (stage 0, no rash; stage 1, rash <25% body surface area (BSA); stage 2, 25–50% BSA; stage 3, generalized erythroderma or rash >50% BSA; stage 4, generalized erythroderma plus bullous formation and desquamation >5% BSA). Liver GVHD is staged based on the serum total bilirubin level (stage 0, <2 mg/dL; stage 1, 2–3 mg/dL; stage 2, 3.1–6 mg/dL; stage 3, 6.1–15 mg/dL; stage 4, >15 mg/dL). The GI tract is staged based on the volume of stool output per day in adults (patients \geq 50 kg in weight), or stool output per kilogram bodyweight in children (stage 0, <500 mL/day or <30 mL/kg; stage 3, >1,500 mL/day or >90 mL/kg; stage 4, severe abdominal pain with or without ileus, or grossly bloody stool, regardless of stool volume). Isolated acute upper GI GVHD confirmed by upper GI biopsy is considered stage 1.

The Glucksberg Scale is the most widely used system for grading aGVHD and reflects the fact that the GI tract is the target organ most associated with nonrelapse mortality (Przepiorka et al. 1995; MacMillan et al. 2020). Mild, grade I acute GVHD, consists of stage 1 or 2 skin involvement without liver or GI involvement. Moderate, grade II GVHD, consists of stage 3 skin involvement or stage 1 liver or GI involvement. Grade III, severe, acute GVHD consists of stage 0–3 skin, with stage 2–3 liver or GI involvement. Finally, grade IV, very severe and life-threatening acute GVHD, consists of stage 4 skin, liver or GI involvement. Acute GVHD occurs in 30–50% of all allogeneic HSCT recipients and is severe (grade III-IV) in approximately 15% (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a). While the Glucksberg Scale is widely

employed clinically, recent studies have found that it does not optimally predict outcomes. Newer algorithms using clinical criteria or biomarkers are showing promise and are being explored as potentially useful early parameters to intervene upon in order to improve treatment response and survival in high-risk aGVHD (MacMillan et al. 2020; Levine et al. 2015; Hartwell et al. 2017; Major-Monfried et al. 2018; Gergoudis et al. 2020).

3 Influence of Donor Graft, MHC Matching, and Conditioning on aGVHD

Acute GVHD is understood as a donor allogeneic T cell-dependent response to disparate histocompatibility antigens in an immunocompromised host. The recipient must be immunocompromised, typically as a result of conditioning, or the host immune system will prevent the donor allogeneic T cells from engrafting and responding to these disparate antigens. Genetic polymorphisms between the donor and recipient are responsible for these disparate antigens, of which the histocompatibility antigens are the most influential. Histocompatibility antigens are designated as either major (MHC) or minor (miHA) based on their degree of immunogenicity. The MHC complex, also referred to as the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) system in humans, is located on the short arm of chromosome 6. MHC class I antigens (HLA-A, -B, and -C) are expressed on the surface of nearly all nucleated cells and mainly present endogenous peptide antigens to CD8 cytotoxic T cells. MHC class II antigens (HLA-DR, -DQ, and -DP) are mainly expressed on the surface of hematopoietic professional antigen presenting cells (B cells, monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells). However, many other hematopoietic-derived, epithelial, endothelial, and stromal cell populations can also express MHC class II, especially under inflammatory conditions (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a; Hill et al. 2021). MHC class II molecules present mainly exogenous peptide antigens to CD4 T cells. In contrast to MHC molecules, miHAs are polymorphic peptides bound to and presented by MHC molecules. They are generally ubiquitously expressed, but can differ in their tissue expression (Summers et al. 2020). This difference in expression among tissues may be one of the reasons why aGVHD predominantly involves the skin, liver, and gut. Some miHAs are also selectively expressed in the hematopoietic system and may be more potent targets of graft-versus-tumor rather than graftversus-host responses (Summers et al. 2020). Minor histocompatibility antigen mismatches are most relevant to clinical aGVHD because the majority of clinical allogeneic transplants are MHC-matched.

The risk of acute GVHD is directly related to the degree of histocompatibility antigen mismatch (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a). For this reason, the optimal HSC donor is an MHC-matched related donor (MRD). Related donor grafts presumably have better outcomes in part due to less miHA mismatches. Unfortunately, aGVHD still occurs in 40% of patients who receive fully-matched grafts and immunosuppressive prophylaxis (Ferrara et al. 2009).

Most centers define an MHC-matched graft as one that is matched at the allelic level for HLA-A, -B, -C, and -DRB1 with minor clinical benefit for allelic matching at HLA-DO, HLA-DP, and DR3/4/5 (Dehn et al. 2019). The minimal amount of MHC matching varies based on the HSC source. For bone marrow and peripheral blood-derived grafts, 8/8 matches are ideal, but 7/8-mismatched grafts can be used when better matched donors are unavailable (Dehn et al. 2019). However, aGVHD and mortality are increased with mismatched donors compared to matched donors, and the aGVHD prophylaxis for these donors is typically more immune suppressive (Jagasia et al. 2012; Flowers et al. 2011; Loiseau et al. 2007). Engraftment of umbilical cord blood HSCs is routinely achieved with greater than or equal to a 4/6 match (HLA-A, -B, -DR) using antigen-level matching for HLA-A and -B and allelic matching at HLA-DR, but mortality is lower when two or greater allelic mismatches are present within HLA-A, -B, -C, or -DR. (Dehn et al. 2019; Eapen et al. 2011; Eapen et al. 2017) Haploidentical donor grafts, as their name implies, can successfully engraft when the donor and recipient are half-matched. Acute GVHD prophylaxis for haploidentical donor transplantation typically employs post-transplant cyclophosphamide (PTCy) in addition to calcineurin-based regimens used for MRD transplantation (McCurdy and Luznik 2019).

The primary sources for donor stem cell grafts are the bone marrow and peripheral blood. Apheresis is used to harvest peripheral blood stem cell (PBSC) grafts following stem cell mobilization using hematopoietic growth factors such as granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF). Hematopoietic stem cells can also be obtained from umbilical cord blood (Ballen et al. 2013).

The T cell content of an HSC graft directly correlates with the risk of aGVHD. Peripheral blood-derived grafts carry the greatest T cell load followed by bone marrow and then umbilical cord blood grafts (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a; Flowers et al. 2011; Gooptu and Koreth 2020). Typically, HSC grafts are infused without altering their immune cell content. However, many approaches are being explored to reduce the T cell load of HSC grafts prior to infusion. These include positive selection of CD34⁺ stem cells, depletion of $\alpha\beta$ T cells, and depletion of naïve T cells, which are naïve to their cognate antigen and are more potent inducers of aGVHD relative to antigen-experienced memory T cells (Gooptu and Koreth 2020). One benefit of these approaches is that they often require less immunosuppressive aGVHD prophylaxis. However, because alloimmune T cell-mediate GVT and aGVHD are closely linked, relapse rates are often higher with T cell-depleted grafts (Gooptu and Koreth 2020). T cells are also critical for engraftment and immune recovery; therefore, T cell-depleted grafts often have higher rates of graft failure and infections (Gooptu and Koreth 2020).

Prior to administration of the HSC graft, recipients typically receive conditioning therapy to eradicate their malignancy and promote HSC engraftment. The intensity of conditioning regimens varies based on each patient's disease type, disease status, overall health and donor stem cell source (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a; Jagasia et al. 2012). Full intensity, myeloablative conditioning regimens are typically associated with a greater risk of aGVHD (Jagasia et al. 2012; Nakasone et al. 2015). This is thought to be due to greater tissue injury from these full intensity regimens. The

tissue injury causes the release of danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) that then activate antigen presenting cells resulting in the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and the robust activation of allogeneic T cells (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a).

4 Chronic GVHD

Chronic GVHD (cGVHD) is a significant risk factor for nonrelapse mortality in patients two years or greater post allo-HSCT (Zeiser and Blazar 2017b). It is classically defined as occurring >100 days post-HSCT; however, it can occur earlier and present as an overlap syndrome with features of both acute and chronic GVHD. Chronic GVHD occurs in 30-70% of allo-HSCT recipients. It can arise de novo (i.e., in the absence of any prior aGVHD); however, it more commonly arises progressively (i.e., aGVHD transitions into cGVHD) or following a period of quiescent aGVHD (i.e., prior aGVHD resolves and then cGVHD develops) (Ferrara et al. 2009). Virtually every organ system can be affected by cGVHD, which resembles an "autoimmune syndrome" (Zeiser and Blazar 2017b; Saidu et al. 2020). Common manifestations include lichen planus-like skin lesions, sclerosis, myositis, fasciitis, vulvo-vaginitis, bronchiolitis obliterans (BO), sicca syndrome, and damage of the gastrointestinal tract and liver (Ferrara et al. 2009; Zeiser and Blazar 2017b; Saidu et al. 2020). Diagnosis, staging, and response grading of cGVHD are based on the National Institutes of Health Consensus Criteria (Lee et al. 2015; Jagasia et al. 2015). Risk factors include prior aGVHD, HLA-mismatched grafts, peripheral blood stem cell grafts relative to bone marrow grafts, older age of the recipient or donor, and transplantation of female grafts into male recipients (Flowers et al. 2011).

The immunobiology of cGVHD is complex and distinct from that of aGVHD. Briefly, it can be conceptualized in three phases: (1) inflammation causing tissue damage, (2) chronic inflammation leading to thymic injury as well as B and T cell dysregulation, and (3) tissue repair and often debilitating fibrosis (Hill et al. 2021; Zeiser and Blazar 2017b). A more detailed description of cGVHD immunobiology and management with immune suppression is outside the scope of this review. However, aGVHD is one of the greatest risk factors for cGVHD, and the immunosuppressive agents used to prevent and treat cGVHD often overlap with aGVHD (Zeiser and Blazar 2017b; Saidu et al. 2020; Grube et al. 2016). Therefore, we will point out those immunosuppressive agents used for both acute and chronic GVHD.

5 Immunobiology of aGVHD

The pathophysiology of aGVHD comprises a donor allogeneic T cell-dependent response to disparate histocompatibility antigens that results in the induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines and cellular effectors that damage target organs. Conceptually, it can be thought of as a destructive, unchecked immune response to foreign antigens. Acute GVHD pathogenesis consists of three phases. In phase I,

tissue injury from conditioning therapy causes inflammatory cytokine production and activation of APCs. In phase II, donor allogeneic CD4 and CD8 T cells recognize alloantigens, become activated, expand, and differentiate into effector T cells. In phase II, effector T cells and additional inflammatory mononuclear subsets traffic to aGVHD target organs and cause direct cell-mediated or indirect inflammatory cytokine-mediated tissue damage (Antin and Ferrara 1992). Similar to an immune response to a pathogen, the immunobiology of aGVHD consists of triggers, sensors, mediators, effectors, amplifiers, and modulators (Reddy 2012). While these frameworks are useful to conceptualize aGVHD pathophysiology, it is important to understand that aGVHD is a complicated systemic process with still many unknowns. Furthermore, a majority of aGVHD pathophysiology is based on murine studies. Therefore, it is worth noting that these studies are limited by differences in genetic heterogeneity, basic physiology, immune responses, microbiomes, environmental exposures, and HSCT procedures between laboratory mice and humans. Nonetheless, the rich understanding of aGVHD pathophysiology in murine models is the foundation of many immunosuppressive therapies for aGVHD prevention and treatment.

5.1 Tissue Injury and Inflammation from Pre-transplant Conditioning (aGVHD Triggers and Sensors)

Tissue damage from conditioning is the earliest trigger of aGVHD. Damaged tissues release endogenous DAMPs, including uric acid and adenosine triphosphate (ATP) (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a; Wilhelm et al. 2010; Jankovic et al. 2013). In the gut, damaged epithelium allows for the translocation of exogenous PAMPs, such as lipopolysaccharide (bacterial component), CpG oligodeoxynucleotides (viral DNA), and α-mannan (fungal component) (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a). Alarmin molecules (IL-1a, IL-33, and HMGB1) are also released. DAMPs, PAMPs, and alarmins are then recognized by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) (e.g., NOD-like receptors and Toll-like receptors) and alarmin receptors in host tissues (Hill et al. 2021). Ligand-bound PRRs and alarmin receptors initiate signaling pathways (e.g., NF-KB) that activate cytokine (e.g., TNFa, IL-1β, IL-6, IL-33, IL-12, IL-23, type I IFNs) and chemokine (e.g., CCL5) production (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a; Hill et al. 2021; Hill and Koyama 2020). These inflammatory cytokines and chemokines recruit myeloid cells including monocytes and neutrophils, which cause further tissue damage, particularly in the GI tract, through their production of reactive oxygen species (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a; Hill et al. 2021; Hill and Koyama 2020).

APCs are the main sensors of aGVHD. The inflammatory environment created by the conditioning regimen activates host APCs (e.g., dendritic cells and macrophages) (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a; Hill et al. 2021). Activated APCs increase allo-antigen presentation, upregulate co-stimulatory molecules, and secrete inflammatory cytokines (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a; Hill et al. 2021). In this way, activated APCs provide the primary, secondary, and tertiary signals needed for the activation of

donor allogeneic T cells, which are the primary mediators of aGVHD. Host APCs, particularly dendritic cells (DCs), are thought to be the most potent activators of allo-T cells early post-transplant. However, donor APCs in general and donor CD103⁺ DCs specifically migrate to lymphoid tissues where they also activate allo-reactive T cells that potentiate aGVHD (Hill et al. 2021; Koyama et al. 2015). Allogeneic antigens are also presented by non-hematopoietic host tissues (Koyama et al. 2011; Koyama et al. 2019; Toubai et al. 2012). For example, damage from conditioning induces IL-12 secretion from intestinal macrophages that then drives the production of IFN- γ from intestinal lymphocytes. IFN- γ then enhances MHC-II expression on intestinal epithelial cells thereby promoting CD4 T cell-mediated aGVHD (Koyama et al. 2019).

5.2 Stimulation, Differentiation, and Proliferation of Effector T Cells (aGVHD Mediators)

Donor allo-reactive T cells are the primary mediators of aGVHD. Upon infusion, they enter a lymphopenic, inflamed host, which promotes their profound proliferation (Hill et al. 2021). In murine models, naïve (CD62L⁺ CD45RA⁺ CCR7⁺) T cells (i.e., antigen-inexperienced) are far more likely to cause aGVHD than memory T-cells (Hill et al. 2021; Chen et al. 2007). However, human recipients of naïve T cell-depleted grafts still develop aGVHD (Gooptu and Koreth 2020; Bleakley et al. 2015). Proliferating naïve T cells then traffic to lymph nodes where they become activated by disparate histocompatibility antigens on APCs. APCs also provide important secondary activation signals to these T cells through co-stimulatory molecules. Co-stimulatory pathways such as CD28, ICOS, OX40, and 4-1BB lower T cell activation thresholds, augment cytokine production, inhibit apoptosis, and support effector T cell metabolism (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a). Similarly, the Notch ligand DLL4 expressed on non-hematopoietic stromal cells also promotes allogeneic T cell-driven aGVHD (Hill and Koyama 2020; Chung et al. 2017).

Signal transduction downstream of the T cell receptor and co-stimulatory receptors starts with receptor-proximal phosphorylation of signaling molecules (Gaud et al. 2018; Huse 2009). This then promotes the activation of phospholipase C which hydrolyzes phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate (PIP₂) to yield diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol trisphosphate (IP₃). DAG recruits a number of downstream signaling molecules including protein kinase C- θ (PKC θ) that results in the activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade and culminates in the activation of the transcription factor AP-1. PKC θ also induces a signaling pathway leading to the activation of the transcription factor NF- κ B. Meanwhile, IP₃ causes calcium channels to open thereby raising the cytoplasmic calcium concentration. This promotes the activation of the transcription factor nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT). The end result of TCR signal transduction is the activation of a number of the transcription factors NFAT, AP-1, and NF- κ B that induce the expression of a number of

genes that promote the activation and proliferation of T cells including IL-2 (Gaud et al. 2018; Huse 2009).

Effector CD4 and CD8 T cells differentiate into helper (Th) and cytotoxic (Tc) subsets characterized by the cytokines they produce and the expression of subset-specific transcription factors (Hill et al. 2021; Fu et al. 2014). The inflammatory cytokine milieu present post-HSCT generally polarizes CD4 helper and CD8 cytotoxic T cells toward the inflammatory Th1/Th17 and Tc1/Tc17 subsets, respectively (Hill et al. 2021; Fu et al. 2014). Th1/Tc1 polarization is promoted by high levels of IL-12 and IFN-y, and Th17/Tc17 polarization is promoted by high levels of IL-6 in combination with TGFB. IL-6 also inhibits the induction of Tregs. In contrast to IL-12 and IFNy, IL-4 levels, which support Th2/Tc differentiation, are generally minimally elevated post allogeneic HSCT. Th1/Tc1 are characterized by the production of the inflammatory cytokines IL-2, IFN- γ and TNF- α whereas Th17/Tc17 produce IL-17 and IL-21 (Hill et al. 2021; Fu et al. 2014). Th1/Tc17 and Tc1/Tc17 cells promote aGVHD. By contrast, Th2/Tc2 (secrete IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13) and Tregs (secrete IL-10 and TGFβ) ameliorate aGVHD (Hill et al. 2021; Fu et al. 2014). However, exceptions to these generalizations exist at least in part due to contextual differences among models. For example, IFN- γ is a characteristic cytokine of Th1 cells, and it is cytotoxic to intestinal epithelial cells (Takashima et al. 2019). Despite this, its absence in donor T cells is protective when mice are conditioned with low-dose irradiation and detrimental when conditioned with high-dose irradiation (Welniak et al. 2000). This discrepancy was shown to be due in part to IFN- γ 's ability to protect against Th2-mediated lung damage (Hill et al. 2021; Fu et al. 2014). Nevertheless, donor T cells deficient for the Th1-specific transcription factor, T-bet, caused less severe aGVHD (Fu et al. 2015). In addition to model-dependent effects of T cell differentiation on aGVHD, the polarization of helper T cell subsets is reciprocally regulated. Disrupting this regulation in model systems skews helper T cell polarization, cytokine production, and T cell migration such that different organs are targeted depending on which helper T cell differentiation pathway is blocked (Yi et al. 2009).

Helper T cell subsets differentially express chemokine receptors that govern their trafficking to target tissues (Fu et al. 2014). Th1 cells express CCR5 and CXCR3, which aids their trafficking to the gut and liver, respectively (Fu et al. 2014). Th17 cells express CCR6 promoting trafficking to the skin, and Th2 cells express CCR4 allowing them to traffic to the lungs (Fu et al. 2014). This differential expression of chemokine receptors on inflammatory T cell subsets may contribute to the gut, liver, and skin being the primary aGVHD target organs. As a further example of how T cell trafficking influences aGVHD, colon-derived donor DCs migrate to mesenteric lymph nodes where they active donor T cells and imprint them with gut-homing expression of $\alpha4\beta7$ integrin (Koyama et al. 2015). This leads to the migration of allogeneic T cells into the GI tract where they cause fulminant disease (Koyama et al. 2015).

5.3 Tissue Damage by Effectors and Inflammatory Cytokines (aGVHD Effectors and Amplifiers)

The effector phase leading to GVHD target organ damage is mediated by inflammatory monocytes, cytolytic cellular effectors (e.g., CD8 and CD4 T cells), inflammatory cytotoxic cytokines (e.g., IL-1 β , TNF α , IFN- γ), and reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a; Hill et al. 2021). GVHD organ damage caused by these effector mechanisms is further amplified by a vicious cycle of tissue damage, inflammation, recruitment of cellular effectors and secretion of cytotoxic cytokines (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a; Hill et al. 2021).

CD4 and CD8 T cells are the main cellular effectors of aGVHD. They are typically donor in origin, but recent evidence suggests that recipient tissue resident memory T cells may also cause tissue damage (Divito et al. 2020; Strobl et al. 2020). T cells typically kill target cells via contact-dependent mechanisms including activation of perforin-granzyme, Fas-FasL (CD95-CD95L), or TNFR-TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) pathways (Du and Cao 2018; Shlomchik 2007). Perforin and granzyme are stored in the cytotoxic granules of cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) and are secreted upon recognition of target cells. Perforin forms pores in target cells through which granzyme passes. Granzyme then induces apoptotic death in target cells by releasing mitochondrial cytochrome C. Fas clustering on the surface of target cells is induced by binding to FasL on T cells, resulting in the formation of a death-inducing signal complex and the triggering of apoptosis on target cells (Du and Cao 2018). Other CTL killing mechanisms involve TNF death ligand receptor-triggered apoptosis by activation of the TNF/TNFR, TRAIL, TNF-related weak inducer of apoptosis (TWEAK), and lymphotoxin β (LTB)/ LIGHT pathway (Reddy 2012).

Inflammatory pathways do not require cell–cell contact to kill target cells. Instead, target cell damage is caused by cytotoxic cytokines (TNF α and IFN γ) and ROS released by allogeneic T cells and inflammatory monocytes, respectively (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a; Schwab et al. 2014). It is important to note that both the cell-mediated and inflammatory cytotoxic cytokine-mediated effector pathways are important for GVL effects as well as negative feedback on inflammatory components driving aGVHD (Hill et al. 2021; Du and Cao 2018). Therefore, the utility of therapeutically targeting aGVHD effector mechanisms is uncertain.

5.4 Tissue Repair and Anti-inflammatory Mechanisms (aGVHD Modulators)

There are many immune cell-related and non-immune cell-related mechanisms that modulate aGVHD pathophysiology and contribute to tissue repair. For instance, activated allogeneic T cells express not only co-stimulatory receptors but also co-inhibitory receptors that attenuate allo-T cell responses and suppress aGVHD such as CTLA-4, PD-1, BTLA, LIGHT, LAG3, TIGIT and VISTA (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a; Hill et al. 2021). In addition, many cytokines secreted by activated T

cells (e.g., IFNy, IL-12, IL-22, IL-10, TGF β , and IL-2) have both pro- and antiaGVHD affects depending on the context and model system (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a; Hill et al. 2021; Hill and Koyama 2020). APCs also have dual effects on aGVHD that vary by context and the subset examined. As an example, both host and donor DCs promote aGVHD whereas host CD8⁺ DCs and donor pre-plasmacytoid DCs inhibit aGVHD (Yu et al. 2019). Furthermore, the ability of dendritic cells to promote inflammatory or tolerogenic immune responses can be modified. For instance, co-transplantation of ex vivo-derived regulatory DCs inhibits aGVHD in murine models (Sato et al. 2003). One promising way of promoting a tolerogenic DC phenotype in vivo is to administer histone deacetylase inhibitors (HDACi), which improve aGVHD in both pre-clinical and clinical studies (Li et al. 2020; Choi and Reddy 2011).

Similar to DCs, macrophages are an APC that also regulates aGVHD in complex ways (Hong et al. 2020). Blocking their recruitment to target organs inhibits aGVHD, and the anti-aGVHD activity of corticosteroids appears to be in part due to the inhibition of macrophages (Nishiwaki et al. 2014; Cheng et al. 2015). However, other studies have shown that host macrophages attenuate aGVHD in murine models (Nieves et al. 2017; Hashimoto et al. 2011). The influence of inflammatory M1 macrophages relative to anti-inflammatory M2 macrophage gene signature in colon biopsies from steroid-refractory aGVHD patients (Holtan et al. 2019). By contrast, G-CSF-mobilized HSCT grafts with higher levels of M2 macrophages were associated with less subsequent aGVHD (Wen et al. 2019).

A subset of monocytic and granulocytic myeloid cells, termed myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSC), are highly immune suppressive (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a; Voermans and Hazenberg 2020). Adoptively transferred MDSCs promoted tolerogenic Th2 and Treg responses thereby suppressing murine aGVHD (Voermans and Hazenberg 2020; Ghansah et al. 2004; Vendramin et al. 2014; Fan et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2019; Highfill et al. 2010; Zhang et al. 2019). However, MDSCs can lose their suppressor function by inflammasome activation when in pro-inflammatory environments (Koehn et al. 2015; Koehn et al. 2019). Due to this, repeat MDSC infusion is often required to control aGVHD in murine models.

Mesenchymal stromal cells (MSC) may also be useful for the treatment of aGVHD. MSCs are typically derived from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, or adipose tissue. They express CD73, CD90, and CD105 and lack expression of CD34, CD45, CD14, CD11b, CD79a, CD19, and HLA-DR. (Voermans and Hazenberg 2020; Cheung et al. 2020) They are further defined by their ability to adhere to tissue culture plates and differentiate into osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondroblasts. MSCs express little if any MHC-I or MHC-II allowing them to be administered across HLA barriers. These cells possess immunosuppressive capabilities in inflammatory environments via a variety of mechanisms including apoptotic death of the MSCs by host immune cells. The apoptotic MSCs are then phagocytosed which promotes the secretion of anti-inflammatory mediators that regulate both innate and adaptive immune cells. Due to their limited survival in the host, multiple infusions are required (Voermans and Hazenberg 2020; Cheung

et al. 2020). A number of small heterogeneous studies showed variable responses of steroid-refractory aGVHD (SR-aGVHD) to MSC therapy (Voermans and Hazenberg 2020; Cheung et al. 2020). One multicenter, randomized controlled trial did not meet its primary endpoint of improved durable complete remission (Kebriaei et al. 2020). However, overall responses were significantly higher in pediatric and high-risk patients. MSC efficacy in pediatric SR-aGVHD was also shown in a prospective, single-arm, phase 3 study (Kurtzberg et al. 2020). Importantly, MSCs are safe and well tolerated (Voermans and Hazenberg 2020; Cheung et al. 2020). Despite clinical trials showing inconsistent results, they are increasingly being used for aGVHD especially in the steroid-refractory setting.

Regulatory T cells are classically defined as CD4⁺ FOXP3⁺ CD25⁺ cells with immunosuppressive capacity. CD8⁺ and FOXP3⁻ regulatory T cell subsets have also been described, but the role of CD4⁺ FOXP3⁺ CD25⁺ Tregs is far more established in aGVHD (Hill et al. 2021). CD4⁺ FOXP3⁺ CD25⁺ Tregs arise directly following thymic maturation or are induced in the periphery from CD4 T cells (Mancusi et al. 2019). Acute GVHD is associated with deficient Treg reconstitution and reduced Treg function in pre-clinical and clinical studies (Mancusi et al. 2019; Elias and Rudensky 2019). Enhancing or adoptively transferring donor Tregs in pre-clinical models increases the ability of Tregs to suppress conventional allogeneic T cells and prevent or mitigate aGVHD (Mancusi et al. 2019; Elias and Rudensky 2019; Taylor et al. 2002; Nguyen et al. 2007). In early-phase clinical trials, adoptive transfer of Tregs appears safe and effective for aGVHD prevention without causing greater leukemia relapse (Meyer et al. 2019; Di Ianni et al. 2011; Martelli et al. 2014; Brunstein et al. 2016). The ability of Tregs to treat clinic aGVHD remains to be determined (Trzonkowski et al. 2009). Major limitations of adoptive Treg therapy include that their ex vivo expansion is challenging and that they often convert to non-regulatory conventional T cells in inflammatory environments (Hill et al. 2021; Mancusi et al. 2019; Elias and Rudensky 2019). Therefore, another approach has been to enhance Treg recovery and activity in vivo by taking advantage of their increased IL-2 receptor expression and relative heightened dependence on IL-2 for survival compared to conventional T cells. Consistent with this, low-dose IL-2 therapy preferentially expanded Tregs relative to conventional T cells and mitigated chronic GVHD in a phase 1 clinical trial (Koreth et al. 2011; Matsuoka et al. 2013). Calcineurin inhibitors (CNIs), which are commonly used for aGVHD prophylaxis, inhibit IL-2 production and may hinder Treg recovery post-HSCT (Zeiser et al. 2006). However, the mTOR inhibitor, rapamycin, has less of an effect on IL-2 production, and when combined with low-dose IL-2, it expanded Tregs in vivo (Zeiser et al. 2006; Whitehouse et al. 2017; Furlan et al. 2020).

Alpha-1-antitrypsin (AAT) is a serine protease inhibitor produced by the liver and is lost through the GI tract especially with GI aGVHD (Rodriguez-Otero et al. 2012). In murine models, AAT administration was effective at preventing and treating aGVHD (Tawara et al. 2012; Marcondes et al. 2014). The anti-aGVHD mechanism of AAT is not clear, but may involve promoting Treg recovery and altering inflammatory cytokine production (Tawara et al. 2012; Marcondes et al. 2012; Marcondes et al. 2014; Magenau

et al. 2018). A phase 2 clinical trial showed promising responses in steroid-refractory acute GVHD (Magenau et al. 2018).

B cells are lymphoid cells best known for their production of antibodies and their ability to present antigens. The role of B cells in aGVHD is nuanced. B cell depletion prior to HSCT in mice and humans inhibited aGVHD (Kebriaei et al. 2020; Shimabukuro-Vornhagen et al. 2009; Schultz et al. 1995; Kamble et al. 2006; Ratanatharathorn et al. 2009; Khouri et al. 2008; Shimoni et al. 2003; Christopeit et al. 2009). Human HSCT grafts with high numbers of B lymphocytes correlated with an increased incidence of aGVHD (Iori et al. 2008). In contrast to these studies suggesting that B cells aggravate aGVHD, studies in mice also showed that B cells inhibit aGVHD by producing the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 (Weber et al. 2014). Co-transfer of regulatory B cells also attenuated murine aGVHD (Hill et al. 2021; Hu et al. 2017). In humans, grafts with a high content of B cell progenitors are associated with less aGVHD (Michonneau et al. 2009). Altogether, these studies suggest that B cells likely modulate aGVHD in a context and subset-dependent manner.

NK cells are innate lymphoid cells with important antitumor and antimicrobial properties. They are the first donor lymphoid cell to recover post-HSCT (Simonetta et al. 2017). Their effect on aGVHD is also variable and likely depends on incompletely understood contextual factors. Early studies in mice and humans suggested that NK cells promoted aGVHD (Simonetta et al. 2017; Acevedo et al. 1991; Roy et al. 1993; Guillén et al. 1986). However, subsequent studies suggested that NK cells regulated alloimmune T cells via direct cytotoxic mechanisms resulting in less aGVHD (Simonetta et al. 2017; Murphy et al. 1992; Ruggeri et al. 2002; Olson et al. 2010). By contrast, recent studies also suggest activated NK cells administered at later time points post-HSCT may augment aGVHD via inflammatory cytokine-mediated indirect activation of alloimmune T cells (Simonetta et al. 2017; Xun et al. 1995; Xun et al. 1993; Cooley et al. 2005; Shah et al. 2015). Nonetheless, most clinical studies of adoptively transferred NK cells did not increase the incidence of aGVHD (Simonetta et al. 2017; Passweg et al. 2004; Choi et al. 2014a; Jaiswal et al. 2017).

Invariant natural killer cells (iNKT) are CD3⁺, CD4⁺, or CD4⁻ cells that express NK cell markers and an invariant $\alpha\beta$ TCR. Invariant NKT cells respond to lipid molecules presented by the non-polymorphic MHC-I-like CD1d molecule (Voermans and Hazenberg 2020). When activated, these cells promote tolerance by secreting IL-4 and IL-13 (Voermans and Hazenberg 2020; Andrlová et al. 2020). Human grafts with high iNKT cells numbers are associated with a lower incidence of aGVHD (Chaidos et al. 2012). In mice, iNKT cells protected against aGVHD (Voermans and Hazenberg 2020; Andrlová et al. 2012); Schneidawind et al. 2015). In humans, the iNKT agonist RGI-2001 decreased the incidence of aGVHD (Chen et al. 2017a). These data overall suggest that targeting iNKT cells may be a promising approach for preventing aGVHD.

Mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells express a semi-variant TCR that recognizes microbial vitamin B biosynthesis intermediates presented by the monomorphic MHC-I-related molecule, MR1 (Andrlová et al. 2020). Mouse studies show that recipient MAIT cells reduce GI aGVHD by promoting intestinal barrier function in an IL-17-dependent manner (Varelias et al. 2018). The association of MAIT cell reconstitution and clinical aGVHD is variable and requires further study (Voermans and Hazenberg 2020; Bhattacharyya et al. 2018; Ben Youssef et al. 2018; Kawaguchi et al. 2018).

Gamma-delta (γ/δ)T cells are unconventional T cells activated by phosphoantigens (Andrlová et al. 2020). Their role in aGVHD is uncertain. Murine models demonstrated that both host and recipient γ/δ T cells exacerbated aGVHD (Blazar et al. 1996; Maeda et al. 2005). However, the clinical evidence for human γ/δ T cells exacerbating aGVHD is variable (Andrlová et al. 2020). Consistent with a minimal contribution of human γ/δ T cells to aGVHD, α/β T cell-depleted grafts, which are enriched in γ/δ T cells, are well tolerated (Locatelli et al. 2017; de Witte et al. 2021).

Innate lymphoid cells (ILC) lack rearranged antigen receptors and share a common progenitor with NK cells. ILCs are classified into ILC1, ILC2, and ILC3 subsets that possess cytokine repertoires similar to that of Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells (Voermans and Hazenberg 2020; Shao et al. 2019). Secretion of IL-22 by recipient ILC3 cells protected intestinal stem cells from allogeneic T cell-mediated damage and ameliorated aGVHD in mice (Hanash et al. 2012). Transfer of donor ILC2 cells treated established murine aGVHD by activating anti-inflammatory MDSCs in an IL-13-dependent manner (Bruce et al. 2017). Delayed ILC reconstitution in humans has also been associated with a higher risk for aGVHD (Munneke et al. 2014). A clear role for ILC1 cells in the pathogenesis of aGVHD has not yet been determined.

The gut microbiome is critical for the homeostasis of the digestive and immune systems. Growing evidence indicates that dysregulation of the gut microbiome following allogeneic HSCT worsens aGVHD (Zeiser and Blazar 2017a; Hill et al. 2021; Rafei and Jeng 2020). Microbiome dysbiosis occurs following allo-HSCT due to broad-spectrum antibiotic use, conditioning therapy, and changes in host nutrition secondary to mucositis, nausea, and vomiting from the conditioning therapy (Rafei and Jeng 2020). This dysbiosis can skew microbial populations and their metabolites. For instance, the short chain fatty acid microbial metabolite butyrate is reduced in murine models of aGVHD (Mathewson et al. 2016). Supplementation with butyrate or butyrate-producing bacteria ameliorated GI aGVHD by protecting intestinal epithelial cells from allo-T cell-mediated damage (Mathewson et al. 2016). Indole metabolites derived from microbial metabolism of tryptophan also protected mice from GI aGVHD via a type I IFN-dependent mechanism (Swimm et al. 2018). In addition to microbial metabolites, prebiotics such as lactose have also been shown to promote aGVHD by driving the outgrowth of aGVHD-associated *Enterococcus* (Stein-Thoeringer et al. 2019). Host factors secreted into the intestinal lumen, such as defensing and regenerating proteins, also mitigate acute GI GVHD by protecting the intestinal epithelium from bacterial translocation and decreasing crypt apoptosis



Fig. 1 Immune suppressive therapies for aGVHD prevention and treatment. *Ac* Acetylated, *APC* Antigen presenting cell, *ATG* Anti-thymocyte globulin, *CaN* Calcineurin, *CNI* Calcineurin inhibitor, *GR* Glucocorticoid receptor, *HDAC* Histone deacetylase, *JAK* Janus kinase, *MHC* Major histocompatibility complex, *MMF* Mycophenolate mofetil, *MSC* Mesenchymal stromal cell, *mTOR* Mammalian target of rapamycin, *MTX* Methotrexate, *NFAT* Nuclear factor of activated T cells, *PTCy* Post-transplantation cyclophosphamide, *Treg* Regulatory helper T cell. This image was made using BioRender

(Zeiser and Blazar 2017a; Zhao et al. 2018). The Wnt agonist, R-spondin-1, augments this process by protecting intestinal stem cells from aGVHD and expanding Paneth cells, which are then able to secrete more antimicrobial defensins (Hayase et al. 2017; Takashima et al. 2011).

In summary, the immunobiology of aGVHD is complex and involves essentially all aspects of the immune system. Allo-reactive T cells are central to aGVHD pathophysiology and have been the main target of both treatment and prophylactic immune suppressive agents for aGVHD over the last 30 years. With greater mechanistic understanding of aGVHD immunobiology, additional therapeutic agents have been and continue to be developed. In the following sections, the immune suppressive strategies used to prevent and treat aGVHD (Fig. 1) and additional immune dysregulation conditions associated with hematopoietic stem cell transplantation are described (Table 1).

	Mechanism of	Primary	
Drug	action	indication	Notable adverse effects
Tacrolimus/ cyclosporine (CSA)	Calcineurin inhibition	GVHD prophylaxis	Hypomagnesemia (tacrolimus), renal dysfunction, hypertension, PRES, TMA, gingival hyperplasia (CSA), hirsutism (CSA), viral infections
Mycophenolate mofetil	Inhibiting the enzyme inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase	GVHD prophylaxis	JC virus-associated progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy, viral infections, hypertension, peripheral edema, hyperglycemia, cytopenias, nephrotoxicity, liver injury
Methotrexate	Dihydrofolate reductase suppression	GVHD prophylaxis	Nephrotoxicity, cytopenias, gastrointestinal issues, oral mucositis: leucovorin rescue imperative
Sirolimus	Mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibition	GVHD prophylaxis	Hypertriglyceridemia, impaired wound healing, renal impairment, oral ulcers, gastrointestinal complaints, increased risk of infections
Anti-thymocyte globulin	T lymphocyte destruction	GVHD prophylaxis	Serum sickness, infusion reaction, viral reactivation
Cyclophosphamide	Alkylating agent resulting in T cell modifications	GVHD prophylaxis	Cardiotoxicity, myelosuppression, nephrotoxicity, hemorrhagic cystitis, nausea/vomiting
Vorinostat	Histone deacetylase inhibitor	GVHD prophylaxis	Hepatic injury, electrolyte abnormalities, risk for bacterial infections, cardiac arrhythmias (QTc prolongation), mucositis
Abatacept	CTLA-4 analog	GVHD prophylaxis	Viral infections, hypersensitivity reaction, headaches, nausea
Maraviroc	CCR5 blockade	GVHD prophylaxis	Dizziness, hepatotoxicity, risk of infections, hypersensitivity, skin rash, vomiting, fever
Sitagliptin	Inhibition of dipeptidyl peptidase 4 (DPP-4)	GVHD prophylaxis	Hypoglycemia, rash, acute pancreatitis, liver toxicity, nephrotoxicity

 Table 1
 Immune suppressive therapies for various hematopoietic stem cell transplantation indications

(continued)

Drug	Mechanism of action	Primary indication	Notable adverse effects
Prednisone/ methylprednisolone, budesonide/ beclomethasone	Corticosteroids (systemic/enteral)	GVHD treatment	Opportunistic infections including pneumocystis, hyperglycemia, hypertension, hepatic cirrhosis, avascular necrosis
Ruxolitinib	JAK1/2 inhibition	GVHD treatment	Cytopenias (thrombocytopenia, anemia), hepatic toxicity, increased infectious risk, elevated serum cholesterol, hypertriglyceridemia
Infliximab, etanercept	Tumor necrosis factor inhibitors	GVHD treatment, treatment of IPS	Infusion reactions (acute and delayed), opportunistic infections, hepatic toxicity, anemia, abdominal pain, rash
Alemtuzumab	anti-CD52	GVHD treatment	Prolonged significant lymphopenia, high infection risk, infusion reaction, thyroid disease, cytopenias, autoimmune hepatitis, skin rash, fever
Pentostatin	Purine analog	GVHD treatment	Infections, lymphopenia, pulmonary dysfunction, gastrointestinal complaints, central nervous system toxicity, rash, hepatitis, fatigue, fever
Basiliximab, daclizumab	Interleukin- 2 Receptor (CD25- alpha) antibodies	GVHD prophylaxis/ treatment	Viral infections, hypertension, hyperglycemia, electrolyte abnormalities, hepatic toxicity, rash
Brentuximab	anti-CD30	GVHD treatment	Acute pancreatitis, neuropathy, hyperglycemia, infusion- related reactions, neutropenia, hepatotoxicity
Tocilizumab	Interleukin-6 receptor monoclonal antibody	GVHD treatment	Respiratory tract and cutaneous infections, neutropenia, mycobacterium reactivation, increased serum cholesterol, transaminitis, infusion- related reactions, hypertension

Table 1 (continued)

(continued)

Drug	Mechanism of action	Primary indication	Notable adverse effects
Vedolizumab	Inhibition of mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule-1 (MAdCAM-1) and alpha4beta7 integrin interaction	Gastrointestinal GVHD treatment	<i>C. difficile</i> disease, infusion-related reactions, headache, arthralgias
Rituximab	anti-CD20	Post-transplant immune- mediated cytopenias, EBV viremia, GVHD prevention	Hypogammaglobulinemia, B cell lymphopenia, infusion-related hypersensitivity, fever, hepatitis B reactivation
Bortezomib	Proteasome inhibitor	Post-transplant immune- mediated cytopenias	Peripheral neuropathy, posterior reversible leukoencephalopathy syndrome, hepatotoxicity, cardiac dysfunction, herpes zoster reactivation, gastrointestinal issues
Eculizumab	Inactivation of terminal complement component CD5	Treatment of TMA	Significant risk for meningococcal disease and encapsulated organisms (antimicrobial prophylaxis required), hypertension/ tachycardia, headache, hypokalemia, rash, diarrhea/nausea/vomiting, anemia/leukopenia, fever, renal insufficiency

Table 1 (continued)

GVHD Graft-versus-host disease, *PRES* Posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome, *TMA* Thrombotic microangiopathy, *CTLA-4* Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen-4, *CCR5* C-C Chemokine receptor type 5, *IPS* Idiopathic pneumonia syndrome

6 GVHD Prophylaxis

6.1 Calcineurin Inhibitors

Primary GVHD prophylaxis revolves around the usage of CNIs, most prominently tacrolimus and cyclosporine (Choi et al. 2010; Gatza et al. 2020). Calcineurin inhibitors primarily prevent GVHD by blocking allogeneic T cell proliferation and IL-2 production (Chinen and Shearer 2010; Heidt et al. 2010; Choi and Reddy 2014). They are associated with electrolyte abnormalities (hypomagnesemia notably with tacrolimus), nephrotoxicity, and hypertension. Close therapeutic drug

monitoring to ensure target trough levels can lessen many of these adverse risks. Gingival hyperplasia and hirsutism may additionally be seen with cyclosporine usage. Of note, tacrolimus and cyclosporine appear to also be associated with the serious post-transplant conditions of thrombotic microangiopathy (TMA) and posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome (PRES). Given an increased risk of viral infections with their usage, Epstein-Barr virus-associated post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease may be observed with CNIs. Despite the mentioned risks and necessity for close monitoring, CNIs are overall well tolerated and have been a cornerstone of aGVHD prophylaxis for decades.

6.2 Mycophenolate Mofetil

Concurrent usage of CNIs and mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) in the prevention of GVHD continues to be explored. Most studies to date have evaluated MMF usage in non-myeloablative and reduced intensity conditioning regimens (Choi and Reddy 2014; Ruutu et al. 2014). By inhibiting the enzyme inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase (IMPDH), which lymphocytes particularly rely on for purine synthesis, mycophenolate acts by reducing lymphocyte proliferation (Gatza et al. 2020; Cuny et al. 2017). Infectious risks with MMF include JC virus-associated progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML), disseminated CMV or EBV, and reactivation of hepatitis B or C. Adverse drug reactions include peripheral edema, hypertension, hyperglycemia, nausea/vomiting, drug-related cytopenias, nephrotoxicity, and hepatic injury.

6.3 Methotrexate

Low-dose intravenous methotrexate plus a CNI has also shown efficacy in the prevention of GVHD. Methotrexate impedes T cell activation by inhibiting dihydrofolate reductase resulting in impairment of lymphocyte DNA synthesis and repair. Dosing ranges from $10-15 \text{ mg/m}^2$ on days +1, +3, +6, and +11 following allogeneic transplantation (Choi et al. 2010; Nash et al. 1996). Leucovorin rescue is additionally administered in an effort to reduce toxicity to the kidneys, gastrointestinal tract, and oral mucosa. However, such adverse effects are much less commonly seen than with anti-neoplastic high-dose methotrexate regimens. Leucovorin prevents these toxicities by displacing methotrexate from binding sites allowing cells to once again proceed with RNA and DNA synthesis.

6.4 Sirolimus

Sirolimus acts via suppression of the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway leading to reduced IL-2 production and resultant blockage of T cell growth and proliferation. The agent has typically been used in combination with tacrolimus

and methotrexate for the prevention of GVHD (Choi and Reddy 2014). Initial studies showed promise with the therapy, but later trials appeared to reveal a possible increased risk of veno-occlusive disease (VOD) and thrombotic microangiopathy (TMA) in those receiving sirolimus (Pulsipher et al. 2014). Further studies are needed and are undergoing to fully understand the potential benefit of the agent in prevention of GVHD. Additional toxicities include hypertriglyceridemia, impaired wound healing, renal impairment, oral ulcers, and gastrointestinal complaints, including loose stools.

6.5 Anti-Thymocyte Globulin

Polyclonal immunoglobulins targeting human T lymphocytes, e.g., anti-thymocyte globulin (ATG) therapy, may be beneficial in the prevention of acute and chronic GVHD, but a strong survival benefit has not been observed (Arai et al. 2017). When administered prior to donor cell infusion, they assist in reducing graft rejection, while the GVHD-related benefits are seen with delivery post-donor cell infusion. Adverse events to be aware of include risk for anaphylaxis, serum sickness with fever, and viral reactivation, including EBV and CMV.

6.6 Cyclophosphamide

Post-transplant cyclophosphamide (PTCy) on days +3 and +4 has been found to reduce the incidence of acute and chronic GVHD through possible reduction of alloreactive T cells with additional effects on regulatory T cells (Gatza et al. 2020; Choi and Reddy 2014; Wachsmuth et al. 2019; Kanakry et al. 2013). This alkylating agent is now widely used and considered well tolerated even in the setting of additional calcineurin inhibition or MMF administration. The risk of hemorrhagic cystitis is reduced with aggressive intravenous hydration preceding, during and post-drug administration. Cardiotoxicity, myelosuppression, nephrotoxicity, and nausea/ vomiting may also be observed.

6.7 Experimental Therapies

A potential promising new GVHD preventative agent is the histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitor, vorinostat. Lower doses of the drug appear to positively alter the balance of helper and regulatory T cells, reduce IL-6 and IL-12 production, and control dendritic cell activity (Holtan and Weisdorf 2017). Initial trials demonstrated efficacy and safety when vorinostat was paired with MMF and tacrolimus (Choi et al. 2014b). Side effects include hepatic toxicity, electrolyte abnormalities, QTc prolongation, mucositis, and an elevated risk of bacterial infection.

An analog of CTLA-4, Abatacept, inhibits T cell activation by blocking the co-stimulatory signal delivered between antigen presenting cells and T lymphocytes.

Additional studies are needed, but early results, particularly with non-hematologic transplant indications, have shown a benefit (Khandelwal et al. 2021; Ngwube et al. 2020). Infection risk is potentially less than other therapies, but remains present, especially when concurrent immunosuppressive therapy is used.

Alternative immunosuppressive/immune-modulatory mechanisms that have shown some benefit in the prevention of GVHD include CCR5 blockade via Marviroc (Moy et al. 2017) and inhibition of dipeptidyl peptidase 4 (DPP-4) by Sitagliptin (Farag et al. 2021; Martin 2021).

7 Acute GVHD Treatment

7.1 Corticosteroids

Systemic corticosteroids (starting at 1-2 mg/kg/day) are the backbone of therapy for acute GVHD grade II or higher as well as for those suffering from moderate to severe chronic GVHD. Once symptoms stabilize or improve, corticosteroids are then weaned slowly as tolerated (Gatza et al. 2020). Enteral corticosteroids, such as budesonide and beclomethasone, can be used in the setting of acute GI GVHD. The immunosuppressive effects of high-dose systemic and aberrantly absorbed local corticosteroids are numerous and include impaired antibody production, reduced T cell proliferation, increased proapoptotic lymphocyte activity, and alterations in leukocyte chemotaxis & anergy. Long-term exposure increases the risk of various opportunistic organisms, including DNA viruses (CMV, adenovirus, EBV and HHV-6), molds, and Pneumocystis jiroveci (Youssef et al. 2016). Pneumocystis prophylaxis with pentamidine (inhaled or intravenous) or sulfamethoxazoletrimethoprim (following full hematologic count recovery) is thus imperative. Mold prophylaxis, such as micafungin, posaconazole, or voriconazole, may reduce the risk of serious disseminated fungemia. Hypertension, especially in the setting of additional calcineurin inhibitor usage, may necessitate treatment. Drug-induced hyperglycemia, metabolic syndrome, and hepatic cirrhosis can be seen. Finally, significant musculoskeletal side effects, including muscle atrophy and avascular necrosis, as well as psychological effects, such as irritability and insomnia, are observed with prolonged usage.

7.2 Ruxolitinib

In those with steroid-resistant GVHD, there is growing evidence that the JAK1/2 inhibitor, ruxolitinib, is superior to additional second-line agents with good tolerance and excellent response rates (Zeiser et al. 2020). Down-regulation of the JAK-STAT pathway leads to reduced inflammatory cytokine production and subsequent inhibition of CD4 T cells, DCs, and NK cells. Following drug initiation, cytopenias (most prominently thrombocytopenia and anemia), transaminitis, and elevations in cholesterol/triglycerides may be seen. Infectious risks include viral

reactivation, bacteremia, and fungal disease (Zeiser et al. 2020; Maschmeyer et al. 2019).

7.3 Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF)-Inhibitors

Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) inhibitors, such as infliximab and etanercept, reduce the response to TNF α , which is an inflammatory cytokine associated with aGVHD (Salomon et al. 2018; Holler et al. 1990). Etanercept in addition to corticosteroid therapy may be effective for treating acute and chronic GVHD (Levine et al. 2008; Chiang et al. 2002). Acute and delayed infusion reactions can be seen with delayed reactions manifesting similarly to serum sickness. TNF inhibition is associated with an increased risk of opportunistic fungal, bacterial, and mycobacterial infections. Hepatitis and zoster reactivations may additionally occur (Henrickson et al. 2016).

7.4 Alemtuzumab

Severe steroid-refractory aGVHD may necessitate treatment with the CD52 targeting agent, Alemtuzumab (Schnitzler et al. 2009). While often effective in improving aGVHD, alemtuzumab causes prolonged, profound lymphopenia that places the patient at an elevated risk of systemic bacterial and fungal infections, including aspergillosis. Worsening of underlying viral illnesses or viral reactivation may additionally be seen. Infusion-related reactions and thyroid disease are possible adverse reactions. Alemtuzumab has also been trialed as a GVHD preventative therapy prior to allogeneic transplantation. Prophylactic alemtuzumab reduced GVHD incidence and severity, but this was at the expense of increased rates of graft failure, delayed immune reconstitution, and increased rates of relapse. More favorable outcomes were observed when incorporated into non-malignant disease conditioning regimens (Gatza et al. 2020).

7.5 Pentostatin

The purine analog, pentostatin, may be effective for steroid-refractory aGVHD by inhibiting T cell proliferation (Bolaños-Meade et al. 2005). Just as with other immunosuppressive medications, pentostatin is associated with an increased risk for infection. With regard to cytopenias, pentostatin is primarily associated with lymphopenia. Renal, hepatic, and neurologic toxicities are possible, especially with high doses. Pulmonary dysfunction can be severe but occurs most often with concurrent use of fludarabine, thus dual therapy with these medications during conditioning is not recommended.

7.6 Interleukin-2 Receptor (CD25-Alpha) Antibodies

The cytokine interleukin-2 (IL-2) plays an important role in stimulating pro-inflammatory T lymphocyte pathways and thus blockage of the IL-2 receptor via basiliximab or daclizumab can be effective in the prevention of GVHD. Trials testing these agents for treatment of acute GVHD were less promising (Gatza et al. 2020; Ross and Cantrell 2018). Overall, infectious complications were lower for these agents compared to other lymphocyte-targeting therapies, but an elevated risk of viral infections still appears to be present (Henrickson et al. 2016).

7.7 Brentuximab

Brentuximab, an anti-CD30 antibody, which is predominantly used in the treatment of classical Hodgkin lymphoma, showed a 24% partial response and 15% complete response rate in steroid-refractory acute GVHD (Chen et al. 2017b). Neutropenia is often observed with frequent dosing (weekly). Acute pancreatitis, neuropathy, hyperglycemia, infusion-related reactions, and hepatotoxicity may be seen. Despite targeting CD30-positive T lymphocytes, immunologic consequences (besides the mentioned neutropenia) appear to be less significant than those seen with other lymphocyte-targeting drugs (Maschmeyer et al. 2019).

7.8 Tocilizumab

In those experiencing cytokine release syndrome as a result of chimeric antigen receptor T cell (CAR-T) therapy, the IL-6 receptor directed monoclonal antibody, Tocilizumab, can be extremely effective in reducing severe systemic inflammation (Si and Teachey 2020). Early phase clinical studies showed promise in prevention of GVHD and treatment of acute and chronic GVHD (Drobyski et al. 2011; Kennedy et al. 2014). However, a recent phase III randomized double blind clinical trial reported nonsignificant trends toward reduced incidence of grade II-IV acute GVHD in recipients of HLA-matched unrelated donors, but no improvements in long-term survival (Kennedy et al. 2021). The drug appears to be associated with elevated rates of respiratory tract and cutaneous infections, in addition to therapy-induced neutropenia and mycobacterium reactivation (Henrickson et al. 2016). Non-immunologic/hematologic adverse drug events include increased serum cholesterol levels, transaminitis, infusion-related reactions, and hypertension.

7.9 Vedolizumab

Vedolizomab is a monoclonal antibody that works by blocking $\alpha 4\beta 7$ integrin on T cells, thereby decreasing T cell trafficking to the gastrointestinal tract. Further efficacy and safety data regarding vedolizumab are needed, but the drug may be

particularly helpful in those suffering from severe gastrointestinal aGVHD (Fløisand et al. 2019). Given its GI-specific mechanism of action, vedolizumab appears to not have a significant association with serious opportunistic infections; although, *Clostridium difficile* disease may be seen (Ng et al. 2018).

7.10 Additional Immunosuppression Medications for Non-GVHD Indications

Further immunosuppressive therapies may be used to treat additional post-HSCT complications, including immune-mediated cytopenias, thrombotic microangiopathy, and idiopathic pneumonia syndrome.

Cytopenias that develop post-autologous or allogeneic HSCT due to varying types of immune dysregulation are associated with significant morbidity or morality. All cell lines may be affected. Other than blood product transfusions, immunosuppressive agents may be utilized. Corticosteroids and intravenous immunoglobulins may be inadequate requiring the use of second-line agents, including drugs targeting T cell dysfunction and B cell-driven antibody production (Michniacki et al. 2019).

Thrombocytopenia and microangiopathic hemolytic anemia secondary to endothelial damage from excessive complement system activation can lead to posttransplant thrombotic microangiopathy. Treatment with blockade of the terminal complement component C5 via eculizumab has been shown to be efficacious (Obut et al. 2016).

As noted above, TNF inhibition may be used in those with steroid-refractory GVHD. Additionally, etanercept and infliximab have shown benefit in those with idiopathic pneumonia syndrome (IPS) (Thompson et al. 2017; Panoskaltsis-Mortari et al. 2011). IPS typically presents within the first 100 days post-transplant as diffuse alveolar injury without apparent respiratory tract infection. Without treatment, the condition has a high mortality rate.

7.11 Rituximab

The anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody, Rituximab, targets B lymphocytes and has been utilized for various hematopoietic stem cell transplantation related indications, including to treat immune-mediated post-transplant cytopenias (Michniacki et al. 2019), and in an attempt to reduce chronic GVHD incidence by suppressing allogeneic donor B cell immunity (Arai et al. 2012). Given the propensity for EBV to target B lymphocytes, rituximab is also used to treat post-transplant EBV viremia/reactivation (Poppiti et al. 2016). Transient hypogammaglobulinemia may occur in patients following treatment. In addition, a small subset of patients may have persistent B cell lymphopenia resulting in prolonged hypogammaglobulinemia. Hepatitis B reactivation and progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy have rarely been described (Henrickson et al. 2016). Fever and infusion-related hypersensitivity

may occur but can be prevented with pre-infusion acetaminophen, diphenhydramine, and/or corticosteroid administration.

7.12 Bortezomib

The powerful proteasome inhibitor, Bortezomib, should be considered in treatmentresistant post-transplant immune-mediated cytopenias. By targeting plasma cells, the drug reduces production of antibodies directed against hematologic cells (Michniacki et al. 2019). Those receiving bortezomib should be monitored closely for peripheral neuropathy, posterior reversible leukoencephalopathy syndrome, hepatotoxicity, cardiac dysfunction, herpes zoster reactivation, and gastrointestinal issues, including diarrhea and vomiting.

7.13 Eculizumab

Inactivation of the terminal complement component CD5 by eculizumab can lead to a drastic improvement in patients suffering from post-transplant TMA (Obut et al. 2016). With complement suppression, the drug greatly increases the risk of meningococcal disease. Those receiving Eculizumab are thus recommended to receive immunizations targeting all serotypes of meningococcus prior to drug administration; although, this may not be feasible in the post-transplant setting. Routine antibacterial prophylaxis against encapsulated organisms is also administered to patients while receiving eculizumab (Henrickson et al. 2016).

8 Conclusions

Immune suppression is used in allo-HSCT to prevent graft rejection, prevent GVHD, treat GVHD, and treat a number of other post-HSCT immune-related complications. Many of these approaches are based on the rich knowledge of aGVHD immunobiology worked out in murine models and tested in clinical trials. The primary immune suppression strategy used for GVHD prophylaxis remains CNI-based, but newer promising approaches including PTCy, co-stimulatory receptor blockade, and HDAC inhibition may soon also become standard of care. The primary immune suppressive treatment for GVHD remains corticosteroids, but JAK inhibition with ruxolitinib is emerging as the preferred second-line therapy. As with all immune suppressive therapies, patients must be closely monitored for on- and off-target side effects. These side effects need to be balanced with the need to treat the underlying disorder. Much remains to be learned about the complex immunobiology of aGVHD, SR-aGVHD, and cGVHD. Advances in these areas will yield more effective and less toxic therapies in the future.

Acknowledgements D.P. is currently supported by a St. Baldrick's Foundation Hope from Harper Fellowship and a Hyundai Hope on Wheels Young Investigator and S.W.C. is currently supported by NHLBI grant R01HL146354, NCI grant R01CA249211, and NHLBI grant K24HL156896.

References

- Acevedo A et al (1991) Identification of natural killer (NK) cells in lesions of human cutaneous graft-versus-host disease: expression of a novel NK-associated surface antigen (Kp43) in mononuclear infiltrates. J Invest Dermatol 97:659–666
- Andrlová H, van den Brink MRM, Markey KA (2020) An unconventional view of T cell reconstitution after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. Front Oncol 10:608923
- Antin JH, Ferrara JL (1992) Cytokine dysregulation and acute graft-versus-host disease. Blood 80:2964–2968
- Arai S et al (2012) Prophylactic rituximab after allogeneic transplantation decreases B-cell alloimmunity with low chronic GVHD incidence. Blood 119:6145–6154
- Arai Y, Jo T, Matsui H, Kondo T, Takaori-Kondo A (2017) Efficacy of antithymocyte globulin for allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Leuk Lymphoma 58:1840–1848
- Ballen KK, Gluckman E, Broxmeyer HE (2013) Umbilical cord blood transplantation: the first 25 years and beyond. Blood 122:491–498
- Ben Youssef G et al (2018) Ontogeny of human mucosal-associated invariant T cells and related T cell subsets. J Exp Med 215:459–479
- Bhattacharyya A et al (2018) Graft-derived reconstitution of mucosal-associated invariant T cells after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 24:242–251
- Blazar BR et al (1996) Lethal murine graft-versus-host disease induced by donor gamma/delta expressing T cells with specificity for host nonclassical major histocompatibility complex class Ib antigens. Blood 87:827–837
- Bleakley M et al (2015) Outcomes of acute leukemia patients transplanted with naive T celldepleted stem cell grafts. J Clin Invest 125:2677–2689
- Bolaños-Meade J et al (2005) Pentostatin in steroid-refractory acute graft-versus-host disease. J Clin Oncol 23:2661–2668
- Bruce DW et al (2017) Type 2 innate lymphoid cells treat and prevent acute gastrointestinal graftversus-host disease. J Clin Invest 127:1813–1825
- Brunstein CG et al (2016) Umbilical cord blood-derived T regulatory cells to prevent GVHD: kinetics, toxicity profile, and clinical effect. Blood 127:1044–1051
- Chaidos A et al (2012) Graft invariant natural killer T-cell dose predicts risk of acute graft-versushost disease in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Blood 119:5030–5036
- Chen BJ et al (2007) Inability of memory T cells to induce graft-versus-host disease is a result of an abortive alloresponse. Blood 109:3115–3123
- Chen Y-B et al (2017a) Increased Foxp3+Helios+ regulatory T cells and decreased acute graftversus-host disease after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation in patients receiving sirolimus and RGI-2001, an activator of invariant natural killer T cells. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 23:625–634
- Chen Y-B et al (2017b) Phase 1 multicenter trial of brentuximab vedotin for steroid-refractory acute graft-versus-host disease. Blood 129:3256–3261
- Cheng Q et al (2015) The S1P1 receptor-selective agonist CYM-5442 reduces the severity of acute GVHD by inhibiting macrophage recruitment. Cell Mol Immunol 12:681–691
- Cheung TS et al (2020) Mesenchymal stromal cells for graft versus host disease: mechanism-based biomarkers. Front Immunol 11:1338
- Chiang K-Y, Abhyankar S, Bridges K, Godder K, Henslee-Downey JP (2002) Recombinant human tumor necrosis factor receptor fusion protein as complementary treatment for chronic graftversus-host disease. Transplantation 73:665–667

- Chinen J, Shearer WT (2010) Secondary immunodeficiencies, including HIV infection. J Allergy Clin Immunol 125:S195–S203
- Choi S, Reddy P (2011) HDAC inhibition and graft versus host disease. Mol Med Camb Mass 17:404–416
- Choi SW, Reddy P (2014) Current and emerging strategies for the prevention of graft versus host disease. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 11:536–547
- Choi SW, Levine JE, Ferrara JLM (2010) Pathogenesis and management of graft versus host disease. Immunol Allergy Clin N Am 30:75–101
- Choi I et al (2014a) Donor-derived natural killer cells infused after human leukocyte antigenhaploidentical hematopoietic cell transplantation: a dose-escalation study. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 20:696–704
- Choi SW et al (2014b) Vorinostat plus tacrolimus and mycophenolate to prevent graft-versus-host disease after related-donor reduced-intensity conditioning allogeneic haemopoietic stem-cell transplantation: a phase 1/2 trial. Lancet Oncol 15:87–95
- Christopeit M et al (2009) Rituximab reduces the incidence of acute graft-versus-host disease. Blood 113:3130–3131
- Chung J et al (2017) Fibroblastic niches prime T cell alloimmunity through delta-like notch ligands. J Clin Invest 127:1574–1588
- Cooley S et al (2005) KIR reconstitution is altered by T cells in the graft and correlates with clinical outcomes after unrelated donor transplantation. Blood 106:4370–4376
- Cuny GD, Suebsuwong C, Ray SS (2017) Inosine-5'-monophosphate dehydrogenase (IMPDH) inhibitors: a patent and scientific literature review (2002-2016). Expert Opin Ther Pat 27:677–690
- de Witte MA et al (2021) $\alpha\beta$ T-cell graft depletion for allogeneic HSCT in adults with hematological malignancies. Blood Adv 5:240–249
- Dehn J et al (2019) Selection of unrelated donors and cord blood units for hematopoietic cell transplantation: guidelines from the NMDP/CIBMTR. Blood 134:924–934
- Di Ianni M et al (2011) Tregs prevent GVHD and promote immune reconstitution in HLA-haploidentical transplantation. Blood 117:3921–3928
- Divito SJ et al (2020) Peripheral host T cells survive hematopoietic stem cell transplantation and promote graft-versus-host disease. J Clin Invest 130:4624–4636
- Drobyski WR et al (2011) Tocilizumab for the treatment of steroid refractory graft-versus-host disease. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 17:1862–1868
- Du W, Cao X (2018) Cytotoxic pathways in allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. Front Immunol 9:2979
- Eapen M et al (2011) Effect of donor-recipient HLA matching at HLA A, B, C, and DRB1 on outcomes after umbilical-cord blood transplantation for leukaemia and myelodysplastic syndrome: a retrospective analysis. Lancet Oncol 12:1214–1221
- Eapen M et al (2017) Allele-level HLA matching for umbilical cord blood transplantation for non-malignant diseases in children: a retrospective analysis. Lancet Haematol. 4:e325–e333
- Elias S, Rudensky AY (2019) Therapeutic use of regulatory T cells for graft-versus-host disease. Br J Haematol 187:25–38
- Fan Q et al (2017) Superior GVHD-free, relapse-free survival for G-BM to G-PBSC grafts is associated with higher MDSCs content in allografting for patients with acute leukemia. J Hematol Oncol 10:135
- Farag SS et al (2021) Dipeptidyl peptidase 4 inhibition for prophylaxis of acute graft-versus-host disease. N Engl J Med 384:11–19
- Ferrara JLM, Levine JE, Reddy P, Holler E (2009) Graft-versus-host disease. Lancet Lond Engl 373:1550–1561
- Fløisand Y et al (2019) Safety and effectiveness of vedolizumab in patients with steroid-refractory gastrointestinal acute graft-versus-host disease: a retrospective record review. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 25:720–727

- Flowers MED et al (2011) Comparative analysis of risk factors for acute graft-versus-host disease and for chronic graft-versus-host disease according to National Institutes of Health consensus criteria. Blood 117:3214–3219
- Fu J, Heinrichs J, Yu X-Z (2014) Helper T-cell differentiation in graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Arch Immunol Ther Exp 62:277–301
- Fu J et al (2015) T-bet is critical for the development of acute graft-versus-host disease through controlling T-cell differentiation and function. J Immunol 194:388–397
- Furlan SN et al (2020) IL-2 enhances ex vivo–expanded regulatory T-cell persistence after adoptive transfer. Blood Adv 4:1594–1605
- Gatza E, Reddy P, Choi SW (2020) Prevention and treatment of acute graft-versus-host disease in children, adolescents, and young adults. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 26:e101–e112
- Gaud G, Lesourne R, Love PE (2018) Regulatory mechanisms in T cell receptor signalling. Nat Rev Immunol 18:485–497
- Gergoudis SC et al (2020) Biomarker-guided preemption of steroid-refractory graft-versus-host disease with α -1-antitrypsin. Blood Adv 4:6098–6105
- Ghansah T et al (2004) Expansion of myeloid suppressor cells in SHIP-deficient mice represses allogeneic T cell responses. J Immunol 173:7324–7330
- Glucksberg H et al (1974) Clinical manifestations of graft-versus-host disease in human recipients of marrow from HL-A-matched sibling donors. Transplantation 18:295–304
- Gooptu M, Koreth J (2020) Translational and clinical advances in acute graft-versus-host disease. Haematologica 105:2550–2560
- Grube M et al (2016) Risk factors and outcome of chronic graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic stem cell transplantation-results from a single-center observational study. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 22:1781–1791
- Guillén FJ et al (1986) Acute cutaneous graft-versus-host disease to minor histocompatibility antigens in a murine model. Evidence that large granular lymphocytes are effector cells in the immune response. Lab Investig J Tech Methods Pathol 55:35–42
- Hahn T et al (2008) Risk factors for acute graft-versus-host disease after human leukocyte antigenidentical sibling transplants for adults with leukemia. J Clin Oncol 26:5728–5734
- Haimes H et al (2019) Impact of skin biopsy on the management of acute graft-versus-host disease in a pediatric population. Pediatr Dermatol 36:455–459
- Hanash AM et al (2012) Interleukin-22 protects intestinal stem cells from immune-mediated tissue damage and regulates sensitivity to graft versus host disease. Immunity 37:339–350
- Hartwell MJ et al (2017) An early-biomarker algorithm predicts lethal graft-versus-host disease and survival. JCI Insight 2:e89798
- Hashimoto D et al (2011) Pretransplant CSF-1 therapy expands recipient macrophages and ameliorates GVHD after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. J Exp Med 208:1069–1082
- Hayase E et al (2017) R-Spondin1 expands Paneth cells and prevents dysbiosis induced by graftversus-host disease. J Exp Med 214:3507–3518
- Heidt S et al (2010) Calcineurin inhibitors affect B cell antibody responses indirectly by interfering with T cell help. Clin Exp Immunol 159:199–207
- Henrickson SE, Ruffner MA, Kwan M (2016) Unintended immunological consequences of biologic therapy. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 16:46
- Highfill SL et al (2010) Bone marrow myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) inhibit graftversus-host disease (GVHD) via an arginase-1-dependent mechanism that is up-regulated by interleukin-13. Blood 116:5738–5747
- Hill GR, Koyama M (2020) Cytokines and costimulation in acute graft-versus-host disease. Blood 136:418–428
- Hill GR, Betts BC, Tkachev V, Kean LS, Blazar BR (2021) Current concepts and advances in graftversus-host disease immunology. Annu Rev Immunol 39:19–49
- Holler E et al (1990) Increased serum levels of tumor necrosis factor alpha precede major complications of bone marrow transplantation. Blood 75:1011–1016

- Hołowiecki J (2008) Indications for hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Pol Arch Med Wewn 118:658–663
- Holtan SG, Weisdorf DJ (2017) Vorinostat is victorious in GVHD prevention. Blood 130:1690-1691
- Holtan SG et al (2019) Stress responses, M2 macrophages, and a distinct microbial signature in fatal intestinal acute graft-versus-host disease. JCI Insight 5:e129762
- Hong Y-Q, Wan B, Li X-F (2020) Macrophage regulation of graft-vs-host disease. World J Clin Cases 8:1793–1805
- Hu Y et al (2017) Regulatory B cells promote graft-versus-host disease prevention and maintain graft-versus-leukemia activity following allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Onco Targets Ther 6:e1284721
- Huse M (2009) The T-cell-receptor signaling network. J Cell Sci 122:1269-1273
- Iori AP et al (2008) B-cell concentration in the apheretic product predicts acute graft-versus-host disease and treatment-related mortality of allogeneic peripheral blood stem cell transplantation. Transplantation 85:386–390
- Jagasia M et al (2012) Risk factors for acute GVHD and survival after hematopoietic cell transplantation. Blood 119:296–307
- Jagasia MH et al (2015) National Institutes of Health consensus development project on criteria for clinical trials in chronic graft-versus-host disease: I. the 2014 diagnosis and staging working group report. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 21:389–401.e1
- Jaiswal SR et al (2017) CD56-enriched donor cell infusion after post-transplantation cyclophosphamide for haploidentical transplantation of advanced myeloid malignancies is associated with prompt reconstitution of mature natural killer cells and regulatory T cells with reduced incidence of acute graft versus host disease: a pilot study. Cytotherapy 19:531–542
- Jankovic D et al (2013) The Nlrp3 inflammasome regulates acute graft-versus-host disease. J Exp Med 210:1899–1910
- Kamble R, Oholendt M, Carrum G (2006) Rituximab responsive refractory acute graft-versus-host disease. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 12:1201–1202
- Kanakry CG et al (2013) Aldehyde dehydrogenase expression drives human regulatory T cell resistance to posttransplantation cyclophosphamide. Sci Transl Med 5:211ra157
- Kawaguchi K et al (2018) Influence of post-transplant mucosal-associated invariant T cell recovery on the development of acute graft-versus-host disease in allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Int J Hematol 108:66–75
- Kebriaei P et al (2020) A phase 3 randomized study of remestemcel-L versus placebo added to second-line therapy in patients with steroid-refractory acute graft-versus-host disease. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 26:835–844
- Kennedy GA et al (2014) Addition of interleukin-6 inhibition with tocilizumab to standard graftversus-host disease prophylaxis after allogeneic stem-cell transplantation: a phase 1/2 trial. Lancet Oncol 15:1451–1459
- Kennedy GA et al (2021) A phase 3 double-blind study of the addition of tocilizumab vs placebo to cyclosporin/methotrexate GVHD prophylaxis. Blood 137:1970–1979
- Khandelwal P et al (2021) Graft-versus-host disease prophylaxis with abatacept reduces severe acute graft-versus-host disease in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplant for beta-thalassemia major with busulfan, fludarabine, and thiotepa. Transplantation 105:891–896
- Khouri IF et al (2008) Eight-year experience with allogeneic stem cell transplantation for relapsed follicular lymphoma after nonmyeloablative conditioning with fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab. Blood 111:5530–5536
- Koehn BH et al (2015) GVHD-associated, inflammasome-mediated loss of function in adoptively transferred myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Blood 126:1621–1628
- Koehn BH et al (2019) Danger-associated extracellular ATP counters MDSC therapeutic efficacy in acute GVHD. Blood 134:1670–1682
- Koreth J et al (2011) Interleukin-2 and regulatory T cells in graft-versus-host disease. N Engl J Med 365:2055–2066

- Koyama M et al (2011) Recipient nonhematopoietic antigen-presenting cells are sufficient to induce lethal acute graft-versus-host disease. Nat Med 18:135–142
- Koyama M et al (2015) Donor colonic CD103+ dendritic cells determine the severity of acute graftversus-host disease. J Exp Med 212:1303–1321
- Koyama M et al (2019) MHC class II antigen presentation by the intestinal epithelium initiates graft-versus-host disease and is influenced by the microbiota. Immunity 51:885–898.e7
- Kurtzberg J et al (2020) A phase 3, single-arm, prospective study of remestemcel-L, ex vivo cultureexpanded adult human mesenchymal stromal cells for the treatment of pediatric patients who failed to respond to steroid treatment for acute graft-versus-host disease. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 26:845–854
- Lee SJ et al (2015) Measuring therapeutic response in chronic graft-versus-host disease. National Institutes of Health consensus development project on criteria for clinical trials in chronic graftversus-host disease: IV. The 2014 response criteria working group report. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 21:984–999
- Levine JE et al (2008) Etanercept plus methylprednisolone as initial therapy for acute graft-versushost disease. Blood 111:2470–2475
- Levine JE et al (2015) A prognostic score for acute graft-versus-host disease based on biomarkers: a multicentre study. Lancet Haematol 2:e21–e29
- Li A, Abraham C, Wang Y, Zhang Y (2020) New insights into the basic biology of acute graftversus-host-disease. Haematologica 105:2540–2549
- Locatelli F et al (2017) Outcome of children with acute leukemia given HLA-haploidentical HSCT after $\alpha\beta$ T-cell and B-cell depletion. Blood 130:677–685
- Loiseau P et al (2007) HLA association with hematopoietic stem cell transplantation outcome: the number of mismatches at HLA-A, -B, -C, -DRB1, or -DQB1 is strongly associated with overall survival. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 13:965–974
- MacMillan ML et al (2020) Validation of Minnesota acute graft-versus-host disease risk score. Haematologica 105:519–524
- Maeda Y et al (2005) Critical role of host gammadelta T cells in experimental acute graft-versushost disease. Blood 106:749–755
- Magenau JM et al (2018) α 1-Antitrypsin infusion for treatment of steroid-resistant acute graftversus-host disease. Blood 131:1372–1379
- Major-Monfried H et al (2018) MAGIC biomarkers predict long-term outcomes for steroid-resistant acute GVHD. Blood 131:2846–2855
- Mancusi A, Piccinelli S, Velardi A, Pierini A (2019) CD4+FOXP3+ regulatory T cell therapies in HLA haploidentical hematopoietic transplantation. Front Immunol 10:2901
- Marcondes AM et al (2014) α -1-antitrypsin (AAT)-modified donor cells suppress GVHD but enhance the GVL effect: a role for mitochondrial bioenergetics. Blood 124:2881–2891
- Martelli MF et al (2014) HLA-haploidentical transplantation with regulatory and conventional T-cell adoptive immunotherapy prevents acute leukemia relapse. Blood 124:638–644
- Martin PJ (2021) Sitagliptin to prevent acute graft-versus-host disease. N Engl J Med 384:70-71
- Maschmeyer G et al (2019) Infections associated with immunotherapeutic and molecular targeted agents in hematology and oncology. A position paper by the European conference on infections in leukemia (ECIL). Leukemia 33:844–862
- Mathewson ND et al (2016) Gut microbiome-derived metabolites modulate intestinal epithelial cell damage and mitigate graft-versus-host disease. Nat Immunol 17:505–513
- Matsuoka K et al (2013) Low-dose interleukin-2 therapy restores regulatory T cell homeostasis in patients with chronic graft-versus-host disease. Sci Transl Med 5:179ra43
- McCurdy SR, Luznik L (2019) How we perform haploidentical stem cell transplantation with posttransplant cyclophosphamide. Hematol Am Soc Hematol Educ Program 2019:513–521
- Meyer EH et al (2019) Transplantation of donor grafts with defined ratio of conventional and regulatory T cells in HLA-matched recipients. JCI Insight 4:e127244

- Michniacki TF, Ebens CL, Choi SW (2019) Immune-mediated cytopenias after hematopoietic cell transplantation: pathophysiology, clinical manifestations, diagnosis, and treatment strategies. Curr Oncol Rep 21:87
- Michonneau D et al (2009) Influence of bone marrow graft B lymphocyte subsets on outcome after HLA-identical sibling transplants. Br J Haematol 145:107–114
- Moy RH et al (2017) Clinical and immunologic impact of CCR5 blockade in graft-versus-host disease prophylaxis. Blood 129:906–916
- Munneke JM et al (2014) Activated innate lymphoid cells are associated with a reduced susceptibility to graft-versus-host disease. Blood 124:812–821
- Murphy WJ, Bennett M, Kumar V, Longo DL (1992) Donor-type activated natural killer cells promote marrow engraftment and B cell development during allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. J Immunol 148:2953–2960
- Nakasone H et al (2015) Impact of conditioning intensity and TBI on acute GVHD after hematopoietic cell transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 50:559–565
- Nash RA et al (1996) FK506 in combination with methotrexate for the prevention of graft-versushost disease after marrow transplantation from matched unrelated donors. Blood 88:3634–3641
- Ng SC et al (2018) Low frequency of opportunistic infections in patients receiving vedolizumab in clinical trials and post-marketing setting. Inflamm Bowel Dis 24:2431–2441
- Nguyen VH et al (2007) In vivo dynamics of regulatory T-cell trafficking and survival predict effective strategies to control graft-versus-host disease following allogeneic transplantation. Blood 109:2649–2656
- Ngwube A et al (2020) Abatacept is effective as GVHD prophylaxis in unrelated donor stem cell transplantation for children with severe sickle cell disease. Blood Adv 4:3894–3899
- Nieves EC et al (2017) STAT3 expression in host myeloid cells controls GVHD severity. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 23:1622–1630
- Nishiwaki S et al (2014) Dexamethasone palmitate ameliorates macrophages-rich graft-versus-host disease by inhibiting macrophage functions. PLoS One 9:e96252
- Obut F, Kasinath V, Abdi R (2016) Post-bone marrow transplant thrombotic microangiopathy. Bone Marrow Transplant 51:891–897
- Olson JA et al (2010) NK cells mediate reduction of GVHD by inhibiting activated, alloreactive T cells while retaining GVT effects. Blood 115:4293–4301
- Panoskaltsis-Mortari A et al (2011) An official American Thoracic Society research statement: noninfectious lung injury after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: idiopathic pneumonia syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 183:1262–1279
- Passweg JR et al (2004) Purified donor NK-lymphocyte infusion to consolidate engraftment after haploidentical stem cell transplantation. Leukemia 18:1835–1838
- Poppiti K, Lin A, Adel NG, Hilden P, Castro-Malaspina H (2016) Outcomes of rituximab for EBV viremia/post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease in CD34+ selected allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Blood 128:4623–4623
- Przepiorka D et al (1995) 1994 consensus conference on acute GVHD grading. Bone Marrow Transplant 15:825-828
- Pulsipher MA et al (2014) The addition of sirolimus to tacrolimus/methotrexate GVHD prophylaxis in children with ALL: a phase 3 children's oncology group/pediatric blood and marrow transplant consortium trial. Blood 123:2017–2025
- Rafei H, Jenq RR (2020) Microbiome-intestine cross talk during acute graft-versus-host disease. Blood 136:401–409
- Ratanatharathorn V et al (2009) Prior rituximab correlates with less acute graft-versus-host disease and better survival in B-cell lymphoma patients who received allogeneic peripheral blood stem cell transplantation (PBSCT). Br J Haematol 145:816–824
- Reddy P (2012) GVHD prevention: an ounce is better than a pound. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 18:S17–S26
- Rodriguez-Otero P et al (2012) Fecal calprotectin and alpha-1 antitrypsin predict severity and response to corticosteroids in gastrointestinal graft-versus-host disease. Blood 119:5909–5917

- Ross SH, Cantrell DA (2018) Signaling and function of interleukin-2 in T lymphocytes. Annu Rev Immunol 36:411–433
- Roy J, Platt JL, Weisdorf DJ (1993) The immunopathology of upper gastrointestinal acute graftversus-host disease. Lymphoid cells and endothelial adhesion molecules. Transplantation 55:572–578
- Ruggeri L et al (2002) Effectiveness of donor natural killer cell alloreactivity in mismatched hematopoietic transplants. Science 295:2097–2100
- Ruutu T et al (2014) Prophylaxis and treatment of GVHD: EBMT-ELN working group recommendations for a standardized practice. Bone Marrow Transplant 49:168–173
- Saidu NEB et al (2020) New approaches for the treatment of chronic graft-versus-host disease: current status and future directions. Front Immunol 11:578314
- Salomon BL et al (2018) Tumor necrosis factor α and regulatory T cells in oncoimmunology. Front Immunol 9:444
- Sato K, Yamashita N, Yamashita N, Baba M, Matsuyama T (2003) Regulatory dendritic cells protect mice from murine acute graft-versus-host disease and leukemia relapse. Immunity 18:367–379
- Schneidawind D et al (2014) CD4+ invariant natural killer T cells protect from murine GVHD lethality through expansion of donor CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ regulatory T cells. Blood 124:3320–3328
- Schneidawind D et al (2015) Third-party CD4+ invariant natural killer T cells protect from murine GVHD lethality. Blood 125:3491–3500
- Schnitzler M, Hasskarl J, Egger M, Bertz H, Finke J (2009) Successful treatment of severe acute intestinal graft-versus-host resistant to systemic and topical steroids with alemtuzumab. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 15:910–918
- Schultz KR, Paquet J, Bader S, HayGlass KT (1995) Requirement for B cells in T cell priming to minor histocompatibility antigens and development of graft-versus-host disease. Bone Marrow Transplant 16:289–295
- Schwab L et al (2014) Neutrophil granulocytes recruited upon translocation of intestinal bacteria enhance graft-versus-host disease via tissue damage. Nat Med 20:648–654
- Shah NN et al (2015) Acute GVHD in patients receiving IL-15/4-1BBL activated NK cells following T-cell-depleted stem cell transplantation. Blood 125:784–792
- Shao L et al (2019) An essential role of innate lymphoid cells in the pathophysiology of graft-vs.host disease. Front Immunol 10:1233
- Shimabukuro-Vornhagen A, Hallek MJ, Storb RF, von Bergwelt-Baildon MS (2009) The role of B cells in the pathogenesis of graft-versus-host disease. Blood 114:4919–4927
- Shimoni A et al (2003) Rituximab reduces relapse risk after allogeneic and autologous stem cell transplantation in patients with high-risk aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Br J Haematol 122:457–464
- Shlomchik WD (2007) Graft-versus-host disease. Nat Rev Immunol 7:340-352
- Si S, Teachey DT (2020) Spotlight on tocilizumab in the treatment of CAR-T-cell-induced cytokine release syndrome: clinical evidence to date. Ther Clin Risk Manag 16:705–714
- Simonetta F, Alvarez M, Negrin RS (2017) Natural killer cells in graft-versus-host-disease after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. Front Immunol 8:465
- Stein-Thoeringer CK et al (2019) Lactose drives Enterococcus expansion to promote graft-versushost disease. Science 366:1143–1149
- Strobl J et al (2020) Long-term skin-resident memory T cells proliferate in situ and are involved in human graft-versus-host disease. Sci Transl Med 12:eabb7028
- Summers C, Sheth VS, Bleakley M (2020) Minor histocompatibility antigen-specific T cells. Front Pediatr 8:284
- Swimm A et al (2018) Indoles derived from intestinal microbiota act via type I interferon signaling to limit graft-versus-host disease. Blood 132:2506–2519
- Takashima S et al (2011) The Wnt agonist R-spondin1 regulates systemic graft-versus-host disease by protecting intestinal stem cells. J Exp Med 208:285–294

- Takashima S et al (2019) T cell-derived interferon-γ programs stem cell death in immune-mediated intestinal damage. Sci Immunol 4:eaay8556
- Tawara I et al (2012) Alpha-1-antitrypsin monotherapy reduces graft-versus-host disease after experimental allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:564–569
- Taylor PA, Lees CJ, Blazar BR (2002) The infusion of ex vivo activated and expanded CD4(+) CD25(+) immune regulatory cells inhibits graft-versus-host disease lethality. Blood 99:3493–3499
- Thompson J et al (2017) Etanercept and corticosteroid therapy for the treatment of late-onset idiopathic pneumonia syndrome. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 23:1955–1960
- Toubai T et al (2012) Induction of acute GVHD by sex-mismatched H-Y antigens in the absence of functional radiosensitive host hematopoietic–derived antigen-presenting cells. Blood 119:3844–3853
- Trzonkowski P et al (2009) First-in-man clinical results of the treatment of patients with graft versus host disease with human ex vivo expanded CD4+CD25+CD127- T regulatory cells. Clin Immunol 133:22–26
- Varelias A et al (2018) Recipient mucosal-associated invariant T cells control GVHD within the colon. J Clin Invest 128:1919–1936
- Vendramin A et al (2014) Graft monocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cell content predicts the risk of acute graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic transplantation of granulocyte colonystimulating factor-mobilized peripheral blood stem cells. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 20:2049–2055
- Voermans C, Hazenberg MD (2020) Cellular therapies for graft-versus-host disease: a tale of tissue repair and tolerance. Blood 136:410–417
- Wachsmuth LP et al (2019) Post-transplantation cyclophosphamide prevents graft-versus-host disease by inducing alloreactive T cell dysfunction and suppression. J Clin Invest 129:2357–2373
- Wang K et al (2019) Early myeloid-derived suppressor cells (HLA-DR-/lowCD33+CD16-) expanded by granulocyte colony-stimulating factor prevent acute graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) in humanized mouse and might contribute to lower GVHD in patients post allo-HSCT. J Hematol Oncol 12:31
- Weber M et al (2014) Donor and host B cell-derived IL-10 contributes to suppression of graftversus-host disease. Eur J Immunol 44:1857–1865
- Welniak LA, Blazar BR, Anver MR, Wiltrout RH, Murphy WJ (2000) Opposing roles of interferongamma on CD4+ T cell-mediated graft-versus-host disease: effects of conditioning. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 6:604–612
- Wen Q et al (2019) G-CSF-induced macrophage polarization and mobilization may prevent acute graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 54:1419–1433
- Whitehouse G et al (2017) IL-2 therapy restores regulatory T-cell dysfunction induced by calcineurin inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci 114:7083–7088
- Wilhelm K et al (2010) Graft-versus-host disease is enhanced by extracellular ATP activating P2X7R. Nat Med 16:1434–1438
- Xun C, Brown SA, Jennings CD, Henslee-Downey PJ, Thompson JS (1993) Acute graft-versushost-like disease induced by transplantation of human activated natural killer cells into SCID mice. Transplantation 56:409–417
- Xun CQ, Thompson JS, Jennings CD, Brown SA (1995) The effect of human IL-2-activated natural killer and T cells on graft-versus-host disease and graft-versus-leukemia in SCID mice bearing human leukemic cells. Transplantation 60:821–827
- Yi T et al (2009) Reciprocal differentiation and tissue-specific pathogenesis of Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells in graft-versus-host disease. Blood 114:3101–3112
- Youssef J, Novosad S, Winthrop K (2016) Infection risk and safety of corticosteroid use. Rheum Dis Clin N Am 42:157–176

- Yu H, Tian Y, Wang Y, Mineishi S, Zhang Y (2019) Dendritic cell regulation of graft-vs.-host disease: immunostimulation and tolerance. Front Immunol 10:93
- Zeiser R, Blazar BR (2017a) Acute graft-versus-host disease biologic process, prevention, and therapy. N Engl J Med 377:2167–2179
- Zeiser R, Blazar BR (2017b) Pathophysiology of chronic graft-versus-host disease and therapeutic targets. N Engl J Med 377:2565–2579
- Zeiser R et al (2006) Inhibition of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T-cell function by calcineurindependent interleukin-2 production. Blood 108:390–399
- Zeiser R et al (2020) Ruxolitinib for glucocorticoid-refractory acute graft-versus-host disease. N Engl J Med 382:1800–1810
- Zhang J et al (2019) The mechanistic study behind suppression of GVHD while retaining GVL activities by myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Leukemia 33:2078–2089
- Zhao D et al (2018) Survival signal REG3α prevents crypt apoptosis to control acute gastrointestinal graft-versus-host disease. J Clin Invest 128:4970–4979
- Zhou Y, Barnett MJ, Rivers JK (2000) Clinical significance of skin biopsies in the diagnosis and management of graft-vs-host disease in early postallogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Arch Dermatol 136:717–721



Immunosuppression in Multiple Sclerosis and Other Neurologic Disorders

Kaitlyn Koenig Thompson and Stella E. Tsirka

Contents

2 Current Strategies to Promote Immunosuppression in Multiple Sclerosis 24 2.1 Pleiotropic Immunosuppressants 24 2.2 Drugs Interfering with DNA Synthesis/Repair 25 2.3 Reagents That Sequester Peripheral Leukocytes 25 2.4 Reagents Depleting Immune Cells 25 3 Looking Ahead: The Future of Immunosuppressive Therapies for Multiple Sclerosis 25 3.1 Targeting B Cells 25 3.2 Stem Cell Therapies 25 4.1 Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorders 25 4.2 Myasthenia Gravis 25 4.3 Guillain-Barré Syndrome 25 5 Conclusion 25 7 References 25	1	Introduction		
2.1Pleiotropic Immunosuppressants242.2Drugs Interfering with DNA Synthesis/Repair252.3Reagents That Sequester Peripheral Leukocytes252.4Reagents Depleting Immune Cells253Looking Ahead: The Future of Immunosuppressive Therapies for Multiple Sclerosis253.1Targeting B Cells253.2Stem Cell Therapies254Immunosuppressants for Other Neurologic Disorders254.1Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorders254.2Myasthenia Gravis254.3Guillain-Barré Syndrome255Conclusion25References25	2	Current Strategies to Promote Immunosuppression in Multiple Sclerosis		
2.2Drugs Interfering with DNA Synthesis/Repair252.3Reagents That Sequester Peripheral Leukocytes252.4Reagents Depleting Immune Cells253Looking Ahead: The Future of Immunosuppressive Therapies for Multiple Sclerosis253.1Targeting B Cells253.2Stem Cell Therapies254Immunosuppressants for Other Neurologic Disorders254.1Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorders254.2Myasthenia Gravis254.3Guillain-Barré Syndrome255Conclusion25References25		2.1 Pleiotropic Immunosuppressants	248	
2.3 Reagents That Sequester Peripheral Leukocytes252.4 Reagents Depleting Immune Cells253 Looking Ahead: The Future of Immunosuppressive Therapies for Multiple Sclerosis253.1 Targeting B Cells253.2 Stem Cell Therapies254 Immunosuppressants for Other Neurologic Disorders254.1 Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorders254.2 Myasthenia Gravis254.3 Guillain-Barré Syndrome255 Conclusion25References25		2.2 Drugs Interfering with DNA Synthesis/Repair	250	
2.4 Reagents Depleting Immune Cells253 Looking Ahead: The Future of Immunosuppressive Therapies for Multiple Sclerosis253.1 Targeting B Cells253.2 Stem Cell Therapies254 Immunosuppressants for Other Neurologic Disorders254.1 Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorders254.2 Myasthenia Gravis254.3 Guillain-Barré Syndrome255 Conclusion25References25		2.3 Reagents That Sequester Peripheral Leukocytes	251	
3 Looking Ahead: The Future of Immunosuppressive Therapies for Multiple Sclerosis 25 3.1 Targeting B Cells 25 3.2 Stem Cell Therapies 25 4 Immunosuppressants for Other Neurologic Disorders 25 4.1 Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorders 25 4.2 Myasthenia Gravis 25 4.3 Guillain-Barré Syndrome 25 5 Conclusion 25 References 25		2.4 Reagents Depleting Immune Cells	252	
3.1 Targeting B Cells253.2 Stem Cell Therapies254 Immunosuppressants for Other Neurologic Disorders254.1 Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorders254.2 Myasthenia Gravis254.3 Guillain-Barré Syndrome255 Conclusion25References25	3	Looking Ahead: The Future of Immunosuppressive Therapies for Multiple Sclerosis	252	
3.2Stem Cell Therapies254Immunosuppressants for Other Neurologic Disorders254.1Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorders254.2Myasthenia Gravis254.3Guillain-Barré Syndrome255Conclusion25References25		3.1 Targeting B Cells	253	
4 Immunosuppressants for Other Neurologic Disorders 25 4.1 Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorders 25 4.2 Myasthenia Gravis 25 4.3 Guillain-Barré Syndrome 25 5 Conclusion 25 References 25		3.2 Stem Cell Therapies	254	
4.1Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorders254.2Myasthenia Gravis254.3Guillain-Barré Syndrome255Conclusion25References25	4	Immunosuppressants for Other Neurologic Disorders	255	
4.2Myasthenia Gravis254.3Guillain-Barré Syndrome255Conclusion25References25		4.1 Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorders	255	
4.3 Guillain-Barré Syndrome 25 5 Conclusion 25 References 25		4.2 Myasthenia Gravis	256	
5 Conclusion		4.3 Guillain-Barré Syndrome	257	
References	5	Conclusion	258	
	Re	References		

Abstract

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an autoimmune disease of the central nervous system (CNS) characterized by peripheral immune cell infiltration into the brain and spinal cord, demyelination, glial cell activation, and neuronal damage. Currently there is no cure for MS, however, available disease-modifying agents minimize inflammation in the CNS by various mechanisms. Approved drugs lessen severity of the disease and delay disease progression, however, they are still suboptimal as patients experience adverse effects and varying efficacies. Additionally, there is only one disease-modifying therapy available for the more debilitating,

K. K. Thompson · S. E. Tsirka (🖂)

Department of Pharmacological Sciences, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY, USA e-mail: styliani-anna.tsirka@stonybrook.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

H. J. Eisen (ed.), Pharmacology of Immunosuppression,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 272, https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2021_545

progressive form of MS. This chapter focuses on the presently-available therapeutics and, importantly, the future directions of MS therapy based on preclinical studies and early clinical trials. Immunosuppression in other neurological disorders including neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders, myasthenia gravis, and Guillain-Barré syndrome is also discussed.

Keywords

Autoimmunity · Disease-modifying therapies · Guillain-Barré syndrome · Immunosuppression · Multiple sclerosis · Myasthenia gravis · Neuromyelitis optica

1 Introduction

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic, demyelinating autoimmune disease of the central nervous system (CNS), affecting approximately 2.5 million people worldwide (Reich et al. 2018; Trapp and Nave 2008). The condition affects females more often than males (Reich et al. 2018; Dendrou et al. 2015) and though the etiology is still poorly understood, it is thought that both genetic and environmental factors play a causative role in the development of MS (Reich et al. 2018; Hauser and Oksenberg 2006). Clinical symptoms of the disease include disturbances in motor function, vision, and speech, fatigue, acute/chronic pain, and in severe cases, paralysis and cognitive impairment. Symptoms are caused by multifocal lesions in the brain and spinal cord that consist of inflammation, demyelination, blood-brain barrier (BBB) breakdown, peripheral immune cell infiltration, reactive gliosis, loss of oligodendrocytes, and axonal degeneration (Dutta and Trapp 2011; Trapp and Nave 2008).

MS is a heterogeneous condition consisting of different presentations and varying disease courses. Despite this, MS has been broadly categorized into subtypes: approximately 85% of patients are diagnosed with relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS) where symptomatic flare-ups, or relapses, are followed by periods of varying degrees of recovery. In majority of RRMS cases (~80%), patients progress to experience gradual worsening of relapses and fewer periods of recovery, termed secondary progressive MS (SPMS). A smaller fraction of patients experience progressing symptoms from the time of disease onset, a pattern recognized as primary progressive MS (PPMS). And yet another small subset of patients experience benign MS, where relapses are mild compared to RRMS and SPMS does not develop (Trapp and Nave 2008; Ransohoff et al. 2015; Hemmer et al. 2002).

As expected by the heterogeneity of its presentation and various forms, MS is defined by pathological alterations involving numerous cells types, both immune and non-immune. The primary pathological hallmarks of MS are areas of demyelination (referred to as "plaques" or "lesions") in the white and gray matter of the brain and/or spinal cord. Demyelination is mediated by both innate and adaptive immune cells. Though the CNS is normally considered an "immune-privileged" site due to
the multicellular vascular blood-brain barrier (BBB), disruption of the BBB is apparent in all clinical subtypes of MS. This disruption allows peripheral immune cells to infiltrate the brain/spinal cord tissue.

T and B lymphocytes seem to be selectively recruited to the CNS by myelin autoantigens in MS and various hypotheses exist as to what triggers this recruitment. A CNS *intrinsic* model hypothesizes that events within the CNS result in the release of autoantigens into the periphery. On the other hand, an *extrinsic* model suggests that a peripheral insult, such as a system infection, leads to an aberrant immune response against myelin (Thompson et al. 2018).

Historically, MS has been considered a primarily T-cell-mediated disease with both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells present in MS lesions. CD4+ T helper cells typically predominate in acute lesions, whereas CD8+ cytotoxic T cells are found in chronic plaques (Chitnis 2007). B cells, on the other hand, are only recently becoming recognized as drivers of MS pathology. B cells produce antibodies that recognize various myelin epitopes and can also serve as antigen-presenting cells (APCs), communicating with T cells (Sospedra 2018). B cells can polarize T helper cells by secreting cytokines. Specifically, B-cell production of interleukin-6 (IL-6) seems to drive the autoimmune process by inhibiting the conversion of conventional T cells into regulatory T cells (Tregs) which are capable of immune suppression (Korn et al. 2008).

Cells of the innate immune system also infiltrate the CNS. Studies in MS animal models have implicated blood-derived monocytes as drivers of MS pathology, though it has been difficult to dissect their roles compared to the CNS resident innate immune cells, microglia. Both cells have been characterized to possess both harmful and beneficial functions as they can both secrete inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, but they can also produce growth factors and phagocytose myelin debris, a major obstacle to remyelination (Kotter et al. 2006). Studies on MS brain samples have shown that activated microglia in plaque regions express high levels of major histocompatibility complex class II (MHC II) molecules, suggestive of increased and active antigen presentation, stimulating the adaptive immune system and worsening the disease process (Boyle and McGeer 1990; Zhang et al. 2011; Raivich and Banati 2004). Other studies in animal models have suggested that the infiltrating monocyte-derived macrophages are the main drivers of pathology (Ajami et al. 2011; Yamasaki et al. 2014).

Although MS is probably the most well-recognized autoimmune disease of the CNS, there are several other neurological conditions with an autoimmune component, requiring pharmacological immunosuppression. Here, we discuss both current strategies to dampen the autoimmune response in MS as well as other neurological conditions, including neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders (NMOSD), myasthenia gravis (MG), and Guillain-Barré syndrome. Importantly, we highlight potential future immunosuppressive therapies that may further improve the clinical treatment of MS.

2 Current Strategies to Promote Immunosuppression in Multiple Sclerosis

Therapeutic management of MS currently relies on immunomodulation to dampen the autoimmune response occurring in the CNS. Available disease-modifying therapies (DMTs) can be sorted into broad classifications based upon their mechanism of immunosuppression: (1) pleiotropic immunomodulators, (2) drugs interfering with DNA synthesis and repair, (3) reagents that sequester peripheral leukocytes, and (4) reagents that deplete immune cells. There are also non-DMTs that are commonly used to control relapses in RRMS. Corticosteroids, such as highdose intravenous methylprednisolone, are the first line of treatment for acute symptomatic exacerbations. A recent study reported that oral administration of high-dose methylprednisolone was similar in efficacy and safety compared to the intravenous route (Le Page et al. 2015). Orally administered medications are favorable not only for patient convenience, but also because phobia of needles, impaired dexterity, and reactions at injection sites often result in poor patient compliance (Mohr et al. 2001). In this section, we will discuss currently approved DMTs based upon their mechanisms of immune suppression (Fig. 1).

2.1 Pleiotropic Immunosuppressants

The first DMT, recombinant interferon- β (IFN- β), is a pleiotropic drug and remains a leading therapeutic option for RRMS since its approval by the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 1993. Its availability to patients marked a significant milestone in MS therapy as it was the first time the disease was viewed as treatable (Ransohoff et al. 2015). Different forms of the drug are now available including IFN-B1b (Betaseron, Betaferon, Extavia) and IFN-B1a (Avonex, Rebif, Plegridy), though IFN- β 1b was the first to be studied and approved. In the first multicenter study of 372 RRMS patients, IFN-B1b was shown to reduce annual relapse rate by ~30% (Paty and Li 1993). Recently, an 11-year clinical study showed that early treatment with IFN-β1b in patients with clinically isolated syndrome (CIS; suggestive of a first MS attack) resulted in long-term benefits (Hartung et al. 2019). The recombinant cytokine binds the heterodimeric, multi-subunit IFN-ß receptor (IFNAR1 and IFNAR2), resulting in Janus Activated Kinase-Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription (JAK-STAT) signaling and its pleiotropic effects are the result of transcriptional effects on hundreds of genes (Hojati et al. 2016). The most prominent immunosuppressive actions of IFN-ß include inhibition of T-cell activation through decreased expression of MHCII and co-stimulatory molecules, increased apoptosis of autoreactive T cells, and reduction in the stimulatory capacity of B cells (Dhib-Jalbut and Marks 2010). A cytokine shift has also been observed upon IFN-β treatment, inhibiting Th1 pro-inflammatory cytokines and promoting release of Th2 anti-inflammatory cytokines (Ersoy et al. 2005).

There are patients, however, who do not respond well to IFN- β and exhibit either severe side effects or no improvement in disease activity. Another pharmacological





option became available in 1997 with the approval of glatiramer acetate (GA; Copaxone), a synthetic copolymer of amino acids analogous to an epitope of myelin basic protein (MBP). Interestingly, GA was discovered when Teitelbaum and colleagues sought to produce a synthetic antigen capable of inducing experimental encephalomyelitis (EAE), the primary autoimmune animal model of MS. Surprisingly, rather than inducing disease, GA protected against EAE induction (Teitelbaum et al. 1971). In clinical trials, GA reduced the relapse rate and was relatively well-tolerated in humans (Johnson et al. 1995; Comi et al. 2009). It also displayed comparable efficacy to IFN- β formulations. A major mechanism of action of GA is the induction of apoptosis in CD4+ T cells, and a recent study in RRMS patients suggests that this is a biomarker of optimal treatment response (Boziki et al. 2019). GA was shown to increase the number of anti-inflammatory monocytes and immunosuppressive Tregs, maintaining these effects over a decade of GA administration (Spadaro et al. 2017).

Dimethyl fumarate (DMF, Tecfidera), another pleiotropic drug, was approved as a first-line treatment for RRMS in 2013. DMF activates the transcription factor, nuclear factor (erythroid-derived 2)-like 2 (Nrf2), which is responsible for maintaining cellular redox homeostasis. When transported to the nucleus, Nrf2 induces expression of antioxidants and detoxifying enzymes (Ma 2013). DMF also modulates Nrf2-independent pathways. For instance, the agent suppresses NF- κ B signaling, resulting in the reduction of inflammatory cytokines and induction of Th2, anti-inflammatory phenotypes (Gillard et al. 2015). Importantly, a recent study reported persistent changes in both the innate and adaptive immune system in MS patients after 12 months of DMF treatment, observing a decrease in effector memory T cells, memory B cells, and expression of antigen presentation molecules (Montes Diaz et al. 2018).

2.2 Drugs Interfering with DNA Synthesis/Repair

Mitoxantrone (Novantrone) was initially approved as an antineoplastic agent as it globally disrupts DNA synthesis through inhibition of type II topoisomerase (Shenkenberg and Von Hoff 1986). Mitoxantrone is generally immunosuppressive, and is only prescribed in cases of rapidly worsening MS. Although a multicenter study of patients with severe and worsening RRMS or progressive MS showed that mitoxantrone did reduce progression of disability (Hartung et al. 2002), its use in MS has dramatically decreased due to severe side effects, such as cardiac toxicity and acute leukemia (Capobianco et al. 2008), and the approval of less dangerous medications.

Teriflunomide (Aubagio) is an oral inhibitor of dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH), a mitochondrial enzyme necessary for de novo pyrimidine synthesis. Inhibition of this enzyme limits availability of pyrimidines in proliferating T and B cells, reducing the number of autoreactive lymphocytes available to cross the BBB (Claussen and Korn 2012). Three large phase III trials showed that 7–14 mg of teriflunomide decreased annual relapse rates and MRI disease activity, which

resulted in the approval of the drug in 2004 (O'Connor et al. 2011). A more recent 9-year follow-up study showed that long-term treatment remains efficacious and is well-tolerated in patients (O'Connor et al. 2016).

Cladribine (Mavenclad), a synthetic chlorinated deoxyadenosine analog, is the most recent drug approved by the FDA for MS. Cladribine is taken up by cells, and undergoes several phosphorylation steps to produce the active compound, 2-chlorodeoxyadenosis 5'-triphosphate (2-CdATP). 5'-nucleotidases in most cells degrade 2-CdATP, however, lymphocytes have lower levels of these enzymes and higher levels of deoxycytidine kinase (DCK), the enzyme responsible for cladribine phosphorylation. This ultimately results in intracellular accumulation of 2-CdATP selectively in lymphocytes, and the active compound becomes incorporated into DNA, leading to strand breaks and cell death (Leist and Weissert 2011; Baker et al. 2019). In comparison with monoclonal antibodies that deplete B cells, such as ocrelizumab and rituximab, cladribine's mode of action results in a more gradual depletion (Montalban et al. 2017; Baker et al. 2019). A recent study showed that after 20 days of oral treatment, CD19+ B cells and CD8+ T cells return to baseline levels, and patients maintain no clinical or MRI disease activity. Further, monocyte and neutrophil numbers remain intact resulting in less risk of opportunistic infections (Comi et al. 2019).

2.3 Reagents That Sequester Peripheral Leukocytes

Fingolimod (FTY720; Gilenya), which reduces CNS inflammation by limiting lymphocytes in the periphery, was the first oral medication for RRMS patients. Approved by the FDA in 2010, fingolimod is a sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) receptor antagonist that prevents T- and B-cell egress from lymph nodes, reducing the number of autoreactive lymphocytes in the CNS. A phase III study reported that oral treatment with fingolimod for 12 months was superior to intramuscular IFN- β 1a in terms of annualized relapse rate and MRI disease activity (Cohen et al. 2010).

Natalizumab (Tysabri) is a humanized monoclonal antibody against the α 4 subunit of the very late antigen 4 (VLA4) integrin expressed on leukocytes. Blockage of this cell adhesion protein functions to prevent lymphocyte migration into the CNS as it blocks interaction with vascular-cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1) on vascular endothelial cells in the brain and spinal cord (Ransahoff 2007). Natalizumab was studied as both a monotherapy and an IFN- β therapy. Both phase III clinical trials took place over the course of 2 years and included only RRMS patients. As a monotherapy, natalizumab reduced relapse rate and gadolinium-enhancing lesions on MRI at year 2 by 92% (Polman et al. 2006). When natalizumab was administered to patients on IFN- β , who had at least one relapse during the past year of treatment, the combination of the drugs was observed to be significantly more effective than interferon alone (Rudick et al. 2006). The use of natalizumab is limited by the occurrence of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML), a fatal brain infection, and current studies are

attempting to establish biomarkers to predict the risk of PML in MS patients (Schwab et al. 2013, 2016).

2.4 Reagents Depleting Immune Cells

Ocrelizumab (Ocrevus) is an anti-CD20 antibody, acting to deplete CD20expressing B cells. The approval of this agent was groundbreaking in the field of MS therapeutics as it was the first drug to show efficacy for patients with PPMS (Mulero et al. 2018). A phase III placebo-controlled trial of 732 PPMS patients reported that those receiving ocrelizumab displayed lower rates of progression (assessed clinically and by MRI) compared to the placebo group (Montalban et al. 2017). The remarkable results of the anti-CD20 therapy have renewed interest in the role of B cells in MS pathology, as MS has historically been considered a primarily T-cell-mediated disease.

Alemtuzumab (Lemtrada), a humanized monoclonal antibody targeting CD52 on lymphocytes, monocytes, granulocytes, and natural killer (NK) cells induces rapid lymphopenia through antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC). Clinical studies showed that infusion of alemtuzumab decreased annualized relapse rate, reduced disability progression, and reduced MRI disease activity. Further, it was observed to be superior to IFN- β 1a therapy (Coles et al. 2012; Cohen et al. 2012). The most common adverse effect is secondary autoimmunity, most typically involving the thyroid gland. A long-term follow-up study confirmed that alemtuzumab stabilizes disease in patients with highly active RRMS (Tuohy et al. 2015).

Daclizumab (Zinbryta) is a humanized monoclonal antibody against the CD25 subunit of the interleukin-2 (IL-2) receptor, highly expressed on activated T cells. This results in functional impairment of the T cells. Daclizumab treatment results in a decrease in circulating CD4+ and CD8+ T cells and expansion of CD56^{bright} natural killer (NK) cells, which is considered an immunoregulatory NK cell population due to cytokine profiles and expansion during states of immune tolerance (Bielekova et al. 2006). Daclizumab approved in 2016 is prescribed only to patients who are refractory to at least two first-line treatments (Baldassari and Rose 2017). Interestingly, a phase II study that added daclizumab therapy on to IFN- β treatment found that the combination may more effectively reduce disease activity compared to IFN- β alone (Wynn et al. 2010).

3 Looking Ahead: The Future of Immunosuppressive Therapies for Multiple Sclerosis

Though there has been truly amazing progress in the field of MS therapeutics over the past decade, the limitations of currently available agents justify continued research efforts to improve treatment options for patients. Available immunotherapies are variable in their efficacies, often produce adverse effects, and ultimately are unable to prevent disease progression. Although there is an abundance of preclinical, and some clinical, focus on addressing these limitations by studying agents capable of promoting remyelination and repair, here, we will focus solely on innovative approaches to improve therapies that modulate the immune system in MS.

3.1 Targeting B Cells

Recently, B cells have gained attention as an exciting and potentially more effective therapeutic target in various subtypes of MS due to the success of ocrelizumab, and other B-cell-targeted antibodies in clinical trials (namely, rituximab and ofatumumab). Other agents that modulate B cells by various mechanisms are likely to enter the clinic and be approved in the coming years.

Early clinical studies have reported positive results in RRMS patients treated with Bruton's tyrosine kinase (BTK) inhibitors. BTK, a non-receptor tyrosine kinase, regulates B-cell function, playing a central role in B-cell receptor (BCR) signaling. BTK signaling pathways also modulates myeloid cells. BTK inhibitors have been available in recent years for the treatment of B-cell leukemias/lymphomas (Liang et al. 2018). Now, newer and more selective inhibitors have been developed and are currently being investigated in not only B-cell malignancies, but also in autoimmune settings, such as rheumatoid arthritis and MS (Zhang et al. 2018). A phase II clinical trial reported that after 24 weeks of once daily oral treatment with 75-mg of the BTK inhibitor, evobrutinib, RRMS patients displayed decreased gadolinium-enhancing lesions on T_1 -weighted MRI compared to patients receiving placebo (Montalban et al. 2019). A phase III study has been posted to compare evobrutinib's effectiveness to the current first-line treatment, IFN- β 1a (NCT04032171).

Another B-cell-directed therapeutic target under investigation is B-cell-activated factor (BAFF). BAFF is a member of the tumor necrosis factor family which promotes B-cell development and survival. It has been observed to be elevated in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of MS patients (Ragheb et al. 2011) as well as accumulate in inflammatory demyelinating brain lesions (Krumbholz et al. 2005). A humanized recombinant fusion protein, Atacicept, was developed to block both BAFF and a proliferation-inducing ligand (APRIL), which is also involved in B-cell differentiation and maturation signaling. After preclinical work showing a decrease in mature B cells (Gross et al. 2001), a phase II trial also showed that Atacicept treatment did reduce serum immunoglobulin and number of circulating mature B cells in RRMS patients, however, there was an unexpected increase in relapses. The cellular and symptomatic effects did revert to that of the placebo group after discontinuation of the drug, illustrating reversibility of the mechanism (Kappos et al. 2014). VAY736, a humanized monoclonal antibody against one of the receptors for BAFF (BAFF-R) has also been evaluated in RRMS patients in a phase II trial, however, results are not yet posted (NCT02038049).

3.2 Stem Cell Therapies

Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) are the primary stem cell population of the bone marrow, capable of giving rise to all types of blood cells. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) has long been used as a method to treat hematological malignancies, but only in the early 1990s was it considered for use in MS patients after pivotal preclinical studies (Karussis et al. 1992, 1993). It is important to note that stem cell transplant is a high-risk procedure with aggressive immunoablation to extinguish pathogenic immune cells and "reset" the immune system with only HSCs. Typically, a patient's own HSCs are employed (autologous HSCT; aHSCT) (Karussis and Petrou 2018).

A multicenter phase II trial showed that aHSCT in MS patients with poor prognosis (both RRMS and SPMS subtypes) led to long-lasting remission in the majority of patients with no DMT regimen. Further, there was significant neurological improvement as the rate of brain atrophy decreased to that of healthy aging controls (Atkins et al. 2016). A larger-scale study also reported that approximately half of the patients undergoing HSCT did not exhibit neurological progression 5 years post-transplant. Successful outcomes were associated with younger age, an RRMS subtype, and fewer previous immunotherapies (Muraro et al. 2017). Though small, a recent study in Sweden showed that five out of ten patients exhibited sustained remission 10 years after aHSCT, and the investigators suggested that MS was "resolved" (characterized by normalized intrathecal IgG production and CSF neurofilament light levels) in three out of the five patients (Tolf et al. 2019). Though exciting results continue to be obtained, the risks of the procedure remain a concern and thus, development of new, safer protocols is required to consider this a standard therapy.

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are another cell therapy currently explored for severe cases of MS. MSCs are stromal precursor cells which, in the bone marrow, function to support hematopoiesis and display highly anti-inflammatory properties, inhibiting lymphocyte and APC function and modulating T-regulatory cells (Karampera et al. 2003; Corcione et al. 2006; Di Ianni et al. 2008; Beyth et al. 2005). In preclinical studies using the EAE model, MSC transplant therapy is reported to not only be anti-inflammatory, but also neuroprotective, supporting remyelination of damaged axons (Kassis et al. 2008; Zappia et al. 2005). In clinical studies of MS patients, bone marrow-derived MSC administration was observed to be generally well-tolerated, but small sample sizes limited conclusions concerning efficacy of the treatment (Yamout et al. 2010; Bonab et al. 2012). Recently, the Mesenchymal Stem cells for Multiple Sclerosis (MESEMS) study group published their protocol for a larger-scale phase I/II study that aims to evaluate the safety and activity of intravenous autologous bone marrow-derived MSCs in patients with RRMS, SPMS, and PPMS (Uccelli et al. 2019). Additionally, studies have evaluated the safety and efficacy MSC-derived neural progenitors, which were shown to be neurotrophic and immunoregulatory. A phase I trial of MSC-derived neural progenitors administered intrathecally to patients with progressive MS showed that the treatment was well-tolerated with only minor adverse events occurring. Further, evidence of clinical disability trended towards improvement following treatment (Harris et al. 2018).

4 Immunosuppressants for Other Neurologic Disorders

4.1 Neuromyelitis Optica Spectrum Disorders

Neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders (NMOSD) is a group of relapsing neuroinflammatory diseases distinct from MS in its pathophysiology and thus, the approach to immunosuppression also differs (though there are some commonalities). Progression is rare in NMOSD, but relapses are very severe and characterized by complete vision loss and/or extreme motor/sensory dysfunctions as a result of inflammatory lesions formation in the spinal cord (Wingerchuk and Weinshenker 2003). NMOSD is typically distinguished from other CNS autoimmune disorders by the presence of an IgG autoantibody against the water channel, aquaporin 4 (AQP4) (Papadopoulos and Verkman 2012), though not all patients are anti-AQP4 positive. First-line therapy for acute relapse of NMOSD is comprised of corticosteroid treatment (typically high-dose intravenous methylprednisolone). Plasma exchange is the next option for progressive or refractory conditions (Kleiter et al. 2018). NMOSD relapses are disabling with patients rarely experiencing full recovery, therefore, at least 5 years of maintenance immunotherapy is standard, with the intent of preventing relapses and accumulation of disability (Patterson and Goglin 2017).

Chronic low-dose corticosteroids are one option to prevent NMOSD attacks, usually in combination with another immunosuppressive. However, long-term use of corticosteroids often results in adverse effects such as hyperglycemia, hypertension, and osteoporosis (Kleiter and Gold 2016). Azathioprine, a purine antagonist that acts to inhibit DNA synthesis, has been found to be effective in long-term treatment of NMOSD (either with or without prednisone), more so than steroid therapy alone (Costanzi et al. 2011; Mandler et al. 1998; Bichuetti et al. 2010). Another option is mycophenolate mofetil, a drug that is indicated for psoriasis and renal transplant rejection, but is also often employed in NMOSD as well. Mycophenolate mofetil is a prodrug, the active metabolite being mycophenolic acid, which inhibits lymphocyte proliferation by preventing guanosine nucleotide biosynthesis (Mealy et al. 2014; Jacob et al. 2009). Mitoxantrone, previously discussed above as a therapeutic option for MS, has also been observed to be beneficial, reducing the annualized relapse rate in the first year of treatment in patients with highly relapsing NMOSD (Kim et al. 2011b). Interestingly the firstline therapy for MS, IFN-B, as well as the DMTs natalizumab and fingolimod, exacerbate NMOSD (Shimizu et al. 2008; Kleiter et al. 2012; Min et al. 2012).

B-cell depletion has become an obvious therapeutic strategy due to the presence of AQP4 autoantibodies in majority of NMOSD patients. Cree et al. showed that six out of eight patients were relapse-free after one year of treatment with rituximab, an anti-CD20 antibody (Cree et al. 2005). Other studies have confirmed the safety and efficacy of rituximab treatment with a modified protocol; rather than the standard fixed maintenance therapy with rituximab every 6 months, the investigators only retreated with rituximab after determining whether the frequency of CD27+ memory B cells in peripheral blood of NMOSD patients exceeded 0.05% for the initial 2 years of treatment, and 0.1% thereafter. They observed a reduction in relapse rate and improvement of disability (Kim et al. 2011a, 2013). A more recent report assessed long-term (>7 years) treatment of NMOSD patients with the aforementioned treatment regimen. It was concluded that this long-term, modified approach was beneficial as no patients experienced serious side effects, there was a 97% reduction in annualized relapse rate compared to fixed treatment, memory B-cell population remained low, and unnecessary treatments with rituximab were avoided through the monitoring protocol (Kim et al. 2019).

Stem cell therapies are also under investigation for the treatment of severe, refractory NMOSD. A small study of two patients reported disappearance of anti-AQP4 antibodies, reduction of spinal cord lesions, and clinical remission 3-years post-allogeneic HSCT. Interestingly, the patients from this study had previously undergone aHSCT, indicating that allogeneic stem cell transplant may be more effective than autologous (Greco et al. 2014). A phase II/III trial is currently recruiting NMOSD patients to test an aggressive, investigational aHSCT procedure after conditioning with rituximab, cyclophosphamide, and antithymocyte globulin, a rabbit polyclonal antibody to deplete lymphocytes (NCT03829566).

4.2 Myasthenia Gravis

Myasthenia gravis (MG) is an autoimmune disease of the neuromuscular junction in which autoantibodies interfere with nerve-muscle communication. Patients typically test positive for anti-acetylcholine receptor (AChR) antibodies. Of those who are negative for AChR autoantibodies, ~40% will harbor antibodies for muscle-specific tyrosine kinase (MuSK) (Tandan et al. 2017). Autoimmune disruption in nerve-muscle conduction manifests as muscle fatigue and weakness in MG patients. As with MS and NMOSD, the initial treatment is typically corticosteroids to suppress inflammation; however, long-term use is limited by adverse effects (Gotterer and Li 2016) and most patients do require long-term immunosuppression to remain in remission.

Both azathioprine and mycophenolate mofetil are commonly prescribed to MG patients, as well as NMOSD, as previously discussed. An important 1998 randomized, double-blind trial compared prednisolone alone with prednisolone plus azathioprine in MG patients. Here, they found that the addition of azathioprine to corticosteroid treatment was able to reduce the maintenance dose of prednisolone, reduce side effects, and reduce relapses over the course of 3 years (Palace et al. 1998). Mycophenolate mofetil was first reported to be rapidly effective in a case study of a 26-year-old MG patient whose symptoms were previously difficult to manage with other immunosuppressants (Hauser et al. 1998). A few years after the publication of this case report, a retrospective study reported efficacy, but a more delayed onset of action of mycophenolate mofetil in MG patients. The investigators

believe that since mycophenolate mofetil inhibits purine synthesis (preventing proliferation of lymphocytes), it does not kill pre-existing autoreactive lymphocytes, thus, the gradual death of the activated cells prior to treatment is what shows initial symptomatic improvement (Chaudhry et al. 2001).

Cyclosporine and tacrolimus (FK506), both calcineurin inhibitors which inhibit T-cell function by blocking the synthesis of interleukin-2 (IL-2) and interferon, are also often administered in MG cases as long-term immunosuppressants, allowing tapering/discontinuation of corticosteroids. However, cyclosporine use is often discontinued due to adverse effects, most often nephrotoxicity, that occur over time (Ciafaloni et al. 2000). Although tacrolimus is more well-tolerated in comparison with cyclosporine, there are still incidences of side effects (Nagaishi et al. 2008; Minami et al. 2011).

Eculizumab was recently approved by the FDA for MG after a phase III trial (REGAIN) that showed that, though the agent didn't significantly improve the primary endpoint of MG-"Activities of Daily Living" Score, it did decrease exacerbations, need for rescue therapy, and hospital admissions. Eculizumab is a monoclonal antibody against the complement protein, C5, preventing formation of the terminal complement complex, C5b-9 (Howard et al. 2017).

Expectedly rituximab, as an off-label therapy, has also been observed to benefit patients with MG by depleting B cells and thus, decreasing levels of autoantibodies. A recent systematic retrospective analysis of the safety and efficacy of rituximab in MG patients reported that the agent was safe and effective for both AChR- and MuSK-positive MG patients, with a more robust response evident in the MuSK subset. Though, this study was unable to conclude what an optimal rituximab treatment regimen was comprised of due to the limitations associated with the reviewed case reports (Tandan et al. 2017). Another recent retrospective study assessed the long-term efficacy and safety of repeated treatments with low-dose rituximab in patients with severe, refractory MG. Here, it was reported that the repeated low-dose treatments, as guided by circulating CD19+ B-cell repopulation, was an effective therapy for difficult-to-manage MG (Choi et al. 2019). Further, a large nationwide study in Austria reported rituximab to be safe, rapidly efficacious, and provide the greatest benefits in MuSK-positive MG patients (Topakian et al. 2019). Rituximab is not without limitations, however, as severe adverse events, notably the development of PML, can occur.

4.3 Guillain-Barré Syndrome

Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS) is an acute autoimmune disease resulting in demyelination of the peripheral nerves. It is characterized by immunoglobulin and complement-mediated attack on axons, as well as T cell and macrophage infiltration of peripheral nerves. Autoantibodies against gangliosides are often present in the serum of GBS patients and bind to Schwann cell surfaces, nodes of Ranvier, and peripheral axons (Ang et al. 2004). Patients experience rapid (on the scale of weeks), progressive weakness of the limbs, most often bilaterally, and with or without involvement of respiratory muscles. It is believed that GBS is caused by infection, which induces an aberrant immune response against the peripheral nerves (Hughes and Cornblath 2005). In particular, there is an abundance of evidence drawing an association between *Campylobacter jejuni* infection and the development of GBS (Ang et al. 2004). Though the majority of patients improve without immunotherapy, it is believed that early immunosuppression can reduce disease severity and facilitate a quick recovery. Plasma exchange was the first therapy to show efficacy in a 1985 randomized trial (Group 1985) and is now considered the gold standard treatment (Hughes and Cornblath 2005), with randomized clinical trials and large-scale studies supporting its use (Chevret et al. 2017). There have been a number of clinical studies showing that intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) is effective as well (Hughes et al. 2014; Van der Meche 1992). In contrast to the previously discussed neuroinflammatory diseases, corticosteroids are ineffective in GBS (Hughes et al. 2016). Unfortunately, treatments to completely prevent (or reverse) lingering disability are still lacking, and the development of improved therapies is critical.

5 Conclusion

This review highlights current as well as potential up-and-coming immunosuppressive strategies for neurologic conditions. The past decade has been truly remarkable in availability of novel immunomodulatory options for patients with MS and other neuroinflammatory diseases. Though a number of drugs are now approved for MS, there is still a critical need for the characterization and development of agents that are capable of suppressing the immune system while limiting adverse effects. Further, the largest unmet need in the field of MS therapeutics is modulating the immune system to halt or, more ideally, reverse disease progression. Additionally, as evident by the more limited therapies available for NMOSD, MG, and GBS, these conditions are all in need of more therapeutic options for patients who experience severe, refractory disease. Overall, however, current immunosuppressive regimens have enabled the treatment of these disabling neurologic autoimmune diseases, in most cases slowing progression and improving the patients' quality of life. There is no doubt these strategies will continue to be refined, and new immunosuppressive approaches will be available in the future to enhance outcomes for these patients.

Acknowledgements We thank the members of the Tsirka lab for their support and helpful discussions. This work was supported by NIH IRACDA K12GM102779.

References

- Ajami B, Bennett JL, Krieger C, McNagny KM, Rossi FM (2011) Infiltrating monocytes trigger EAE progression, but do not contribute to the resident microglia pool. Nat Neurosci 14 (9):1142–1149. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2887
- Ang CW, Jacobs BC, Laman JD (2004) The Guillain-Barre syndrome: a true case of molecular mimicry. Trends Immunol 25(2):61–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2003.12.004

- Atkins HL, Bowman M, Allan D, Anstee G, Arnold DL, Bar-Or A, Bence-Bruckler I, Birch P, Bredeson C, Chen J, Fergusson D, Halpenny M, Hamelin L, Huebsch L, Hutton B, Laneuville P, Lapierre Y, Lee H, Martin L, McDiarmid S, O'Connor P, Ramsay T, Sabloff M, Walker L, Freedman MS (2016) Immunoablation and autologous haemopoietic stem-cell transplantation for aggressive multiple sclerosis: a multicentre single-group phase 2 trial. Lancet 388(10044):576–585. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(16)30169-6
- Baker D, Pryce G, Herrod SS, Schmierer K (2019) Potential mechanisms of action related to the efficacy and safety of cladribine. Mult Scler Relat Disord 30:176–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. msard.2019.02.018
- Baldassari LE, Rose JW (2017) Daclizumab: development, clinical trials, and practical aspects of use in multiple sclerosis. Neurotherapeutics 14(4):842–858. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-017-0553-8
- Beyth S, Borovsky Z, Mevorach D, Liebergall M, Gazit Z, Aslan H, Galun E, Rachmilewitz J (2005) Human mesenchymal stem cells alter antigen-presenting cell maturation and induce T-cell unresponsiveness. Blood 105(5):2214–2219
- Bichuetti DB, Lobato de Oliveira EM, Oliveira DM, de Souza NA, Gabbai AA (2010) Neuromyelitis optica treatment: analysis of 36 patients. Arch Neurol 67(9):1131–1136
- Bielekova B, Catalfamo M, Reichert-Scrivner S, Packer A, Cerna M, Waldmann TA, McFarland H, Henkart PA, Martin R (2006) Regulatory CD56bright natural killer cells mediate immunomodulatory effects of IL-2Ra-targeted therapy (daclizumab) in multiple sclerosis. PNAS 103 (15):5941–5946
- Bonab MM, Sahraian MA, Aghhsaie A, Karvigh SA, Hosseinian SM, Nikbin B, Lotfi J, Khorramnia S, Motamed MR, Togha M, Harirchian MH, Moghadam NB, Alikhani K, Yadegari S, Jafarian S, Gheini MR (2012) Autologous mesenchymal stem cell therapy in progressive multiple sclerosis: an open label study. Curr Stem Cell Res Ther 7:407–414
- Boyle EA, McGeer PL (1990) Cellular immune response in multiple sclerosis plaques. Am J Pathol 137(3):575–584
- Boziki M, Lagoudaki R, Melo P, Kanidou F, Bakirtzis C, Nikolaidis I, Grigoriadou E, Afrantou T, Tatsi T, Matsi S, Grigoriadis N (2019) Induction of apoptosis in CD4(+) T-cells is linked with optimal treatment response in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis treated with Glatiramer acetate. J Neurol Sci 401:43–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2019.03.030
- Capobianco M, Malucchi S, Ulisciani S, Fava C, Cambrin GR, Avonto L, Saglio G, Bertolotto A (2008) Acute myeloid leukemia induced by mitoxantrone treatment for aggressive multiple sclerosis. Neurol Sci 29(3):185–187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-008-0934-1
- Chaudhry V, Cornblat DR, Griffin JW, O'Brien R, Drachman DB (2001) Mycophenolate mofetil: a safe and promising immunosuppressant in neuromuscular diseases. Neurology 56:94–96
- Chevret S, Hughes RA, Annane D (2017) Plasma exchange for Guillain-Barre syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2:CD001798. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD001798.pub3
- Chitnis T (2007) The role of CD4 T cells in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. Int Rev Neurobiol 79:43–72
- Choi K, Hong YH, Ahn SH, Baek SH, Kim JS, Shin JY, Sung JJ (2019) Repeated low-dose rituximab treatment based on the assessment of circulating B cells in patients with refractory myasthenia gravis. Ther Adv Neurol Disord 12:1756286419871187. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1756286419871187
- Ciafaloni E, Nirjaleshwar K, Nikhar K, Massey JM, Sanders DB (2000) Restrospective analysis of the use of cyclosporine in myasthenia gravis. Neurology 55(3):448–450
- Claussen MC, Korn T (2012) Immune mechanisms of new therapeutic strategies in MS: teriflunomide. Clin Immunol 142(1):49–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2011.02.011
- Cohen JA, Barkhof F, Comi G, Hartung H-P, Khatri BO, Montalban X, Pelletier J, Capra R, Gallo P, Izquierdo G, Tiel-Wilck K, de Vera A, Jin J, Stites T, Wu S, Aradhye S, Kappos L (2010) Oral fingolimod or intramuscular interferon for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 362(5):402–415

- Cohen JA, Coles AJ, Arnold DL, Confavreux C, Fox EJ, Hartung H-P, Havrdova E, Selmaj KW, Weiner HL, Fisher E, Brinar VV, Giovannoni G, Stojanovic M, Ertik BI, Lake SL, Margolin DH, Panzara MA, Compston DAS (2012) Alemtuzumab versus interferon beta 1a as first-line treatment for patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a randomised controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet 380(9856):1819–1828. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)61769-3
- Coles AJ, Twyman CL, Arnold DL, Cohen JA, Confavreux C, Fox EJ, Hartung H-P, Havrdova E, Selmaj KW, Weiner HL, Miller T, Fisher E, Sandbrink R, Lake SL, Margolin DH, Oyuela P, Panzara MA, Compston DAS (2012) Alemtuzumab for patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis after disease-modifying therapy: a randomised controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet 380 (9856):1829–1839. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)61768-1
- Comi G, Martinelli V, Rodegher M, Bajenaru O, Carra A, Elovaara I, Fazekas F, Hartung HP, Hillert J, King J, Komoly S, Lubetzki C, Montalban X, Myhr KM, Raavnborg M, Young C, Filippi M (2009) Effect of glatiramer acetate on conversion to clinically definite multiple sclerosis in patients with clinically isolated syndrome (PreCISe study): a randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 274:1503–1511. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-
- Comi G, Cook S, Giovannoni G, Rieckmann P, Sorensen PS, Vermersch P, Galazka A, Nolting A, Hicking C, Dangond F (2019) Effect of cladribine tablets on lymphocyte reduction and repopulation dynamics in patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler Relat Disord 29:168–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2019.01.038
- Corcione A, Benvenuto F, Ferretti E, Giunti D, Cappiello V, Cazzanti F, Risso M, Gualandi F, Mancardi GL, Pistoia V, Uccelli A (2006) Human mesenchymal stem cells modulate B-cell functions. Blood 107(1):367–372
- Costanzi C, Matiello M, Lucchinetti CF, Weinshenker BG, Pittock SJ, Mandrekar J, Thapa P, McKeon A (2011) Azathioprine: tolerability, efficacy, and predictors of benefit in neuromyelitis optica. Neurology 77:659–666
- Cree BAC, Lamb S, Morgan K, Chen A, Waubant E, Genain C (2005) An open label study of the effects of rituximab in neuromyelitis optica. Neurology 64(7):1270–1272
- Dendrou CA, Fugger L, Friese MA (2015) Immunopathology of multiple sclerosis. Nat Rev Immunol 15(9):545–558. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3871
- Dhib-Jalbut S, Marks S (2010) Interferon-beta mechanisms of action in multiple sclerosis. Neurology 74:S17–S24
- Di Ianni M, Del Papa B, De Ioanni M, Moretti L, Bonifacio E, Cecchini D, Sportoletti P, Falzetti F, Tabilio A (2008) Mesenchymal cells recruit and regulate T regulatory cells. Exp Hematol 36 (3):309–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2007.11.007
- Dutta R, Trapp BD (2011) Mechanisms of neuronal dysfunction and degeneration in multiple sclerosis. Prog Neurobiol 93(1):1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2010.09.005
- Ersoy E, Kus CNS, Sener U, Coker I, Zorlu Y (2005) The effects of interferong-beta on interleukin-10 in multiple sclerosis patients. Eur J Neurol 12:208–211
- Gillard GO, Collette B, Anderson J, Chao J, Scannevin RH, Huss DJ, Fontenot JD (2015) DMF, but not other fumarates, inhibits NF-kappaB activity in vitro in an Nrf2-independent manner. J Neuroimmunol 283:74–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2015.04.006
- Gotterer L, Li Y (2016) Maintenance immunosuppression in myasthenia gravis. J Neurol Sci 369:294–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2016.08.057
- Greco R, Bondanza A, Vago L, Moiola L, Rossi P, Furlan R, Martino G, Radaelli M, Martinelli V, Carbone MR, Stanghellini MTL, Assanelli M, Bernardi M, Corti C, Peccatori J, Bonini C, Vezzulli P, Falini A, Ciceri F, Comi G (2014) Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for neuromyelitis optica. Ann Neurol 75:447–453. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana
- Gross JA, Dillon SR, Mudri S, Johnston J, Littau A, Roque R, Rixon M, Schou O, Foley KP, Haugen H, McMillen S, Waggie K, Schreckhise RW, Shoemaker K, Vu T, Moore M, Grossman A, Clegg CH (2001) TACI-Ig neutralizes molecules critical for B cell development and autoimmune disease: impaired B cell maturation in mice lacking BLyS. Immunity 15:289–302

- Group TG-BSS (1985) Plasmaphresis and acute Guillain-Barre syndrome. Neurology 35 (8):1096–1104
- Harris VK, Stark J, Vyshkina T, Blackshear L, Joo G, Stefanova V, Sara G, Sadiq SA (2018) Phase I trial of intrathecal mesenchymal stem cell-derived neural progenitors in progressive multiple sclerosis. EBioMedicine 29:23–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.02.002
- Hartung H-P, Gonsette R, Konig N, Kwiecinski H, Guseo A, Morrissey SP, Krapf H, Zwingers T (2002) Mitoxantrone in progressive multiple sclerosis: a placebo-controlled, double-blind, randomised, multicentre trial. Lancet 360(9350):2018–2025. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(02)12023-x
- Hartung HP, Graf J, Kremer D (2019) Long-term follow-up of multiple sclerosis studies and outcomes from early treatment of clinically isolated syndrome in the BENEFIT 11 study. J Neurol. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-018-09169-w
- Hauser SL, Oksenberg JR (2006) The neurobiology of multiple sclerosis: genes, inflammation, and neurodegeneration. Neuron 52(1):61–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.09.011
- Hauser RA, Malek AR, Rosen R (1998) Successful treatment of a patient with severe refractory myasthenia gravis using mycophenolate mofetil. Neurology 51:912–913
- Hemmer B, Archelos JJ, Hartung HP (2002) New concepts in the immunopathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. Nat Rev Neurosci 3(4):291–301. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn784
- Hojati Z, Kay M, Dehghanian F (2016) Mechanism of action of interferon beta in treatment of multiple sclerosis. In: Multiple sclerosis. Academic Press, pp 365–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/ b978-0-12-800763-1.00015-4
- Howard JF, Utsugisawa K, Benatar M, Murai H, Barohn RJ, Illa I, Jacob S, Vissing J, Burns TM, Kissel JT, Muppidi S, Nowak RJ, O'Brien F, Wang JJ, Mantegazza R (2017) Safety and efficacy of eculizumab in anti-acetylcholine receptor antibody-positive refractory generalised myasthenia gravis (REGAIN): a phase 3, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicentre study. Lancet Neurol 16(12):976–986
- Hughes RAC, Cornblath DR (2005) Guillain-Barré syndrome. Lancet 366(9497):1653–1666. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(05)67665-9
- Hughes RA, Swan AV, van Doorn PA (2014) Intravenous immunoglobulin for Guillain-Barre syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 9:CD002063. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858. CD002063.pub6
- Hughes RA, Brassington R, Gunn AA, van Doorn PA (2016) Corticosteroids for Guillain-Barre syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 10:CD001446. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858. CD001446.pub5
- Jacob A, Matiello M, Weinshenker BG, Wingerchuk DM, Lucchinetti C, Shuster E, Carter J, Keegan BM, Kaantarci OH, Pittock SJ (2009) Treatment of neuromyelitis optica with mycophenolate mofetil - retrospective analysis of 24 patients. Arch Neurol 66(9):1128–1133
- Johnson K, Brooks BR, Cohen JA, Ford CC, Goldstein J, Lisak RP, Myers LW, Panitch HS, Rose JW, Schiffer RB (1995) Copolymer 1 reduces relapse rate and improves disability in relapsingremitting multiple sclerosis: results of a phase III multicenter, double-blind placebo-controlled trial. The Copolymer 1 Multiple Sclerosis Study Group. Neurology 45(7):1268–1276
- Kappos L, Hartung H-P, Freedman MS, Boyko A, Radü EW, Mikol DD, Lamarine M, Hyvert Y, Freudensprung U, Plitz T, van Beek J (2014) Atacicept in multiple sclerosis (ATAMS): a randomised, placebo-controlled, double-blind, phase 2 trial. Lancet Neurol 13(4):353–363. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1474-4422(14)70028-6
- Karampera M, Glennie S, Dyson J, Scott D, Laylor R, Simpson E, Dazzi F (2003) Bone marrow mesencyhmal stem cells inhibit the response of naive and memory antigen-specific T cells to their cognate peptide. Blood 101:3722–3729. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2002-07-
- Karussis D, Petrou P (2018) Immune reconstitution therapy (IRT) in multiple sclerosis: the rationale. Immunol Res 66(6):642–648. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12026-018-9032-5
- Karussis DM, Slavin S, Lehmann D, Mizrachi-Koll R, Abramsky O, Ben-Nun A (1992) Prevention of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and induction of tolerance with acute immunosuppression followed by syngeneic bone marrow transplantation? J Immunol 148:1693–1698

- Karussis DM, Vourka-Karussis U, Lehmann D, Ovadia H, Mizrachi-Koll R, Ben-Nun A, Abramsky O, Slavin S (1993) Prevention and reversal of adoptively transferred, chronic relapsing experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis with a single high dose cytoreductive treatment followed by syngeneic bone marrow transplantation. J Clin Invest 92(2):765–772. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI116648
- Kassis I, Grigoriadis N, Gowda-Kurkalli B, Mizrachi-Kol R, Ben-Hur T, Slavin S, Abramsky O, Karussis D (2008) Neuroprotection and immunomodulation with mesenchymal stem cells in chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Arch Neurol 65(6):753–761
- Kim SH, Kim W, Li XF, Jung IJ, Kim HJ (2011a) Repeated treatment with rituximab based on the assessment of peripheral circulating memory B cells in patients with relapsing neuromyelitis optica over 2 years. Arch Neurol 68(11):1412–1420. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneurol.2011. 154
- Kim SH, Kim W, Park MS, Sohn EH, Li XF, Kim HJ (2011b) Efficacy and safety of mitoxantrone in patients with highly relapsing neuromyelitis optica. Arch Neurol 68(4):473–479. https://doi. org/10.1001/archneurol.2010.322
- Kim SH, Huh SY, Lee SJ, Joung A, Kim HJ (2013) A 5-year follow-up of rituximab treatment in patients with neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. JAMA Neurol 70(9):1110–1117. https:// doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.3071
- Kim SH, Kim Y, Kim G, Park NY, Jang HM, Shin HJ, Hyun JW, Kim HJ (2019) Less frequent rituximab retreatment maintains remission of neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder, following long-term rituximab treatment. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 90(4):486–487. https://doi.org/ 10.1136/jnnp-2018-318465
- Kleiter I, Gold R (2016) Present and future therapies in neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. Neurotherapeutics 13(1):70–83. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-015-0400-8
- Kleiter I, Hellwig K, Berthele A, Kumpfel T, Linker RA, Hartung H-P, Paul F, Aktas O (2012) Failure of natalizumab to prevent relapses in neuromyelitis optica. Arch Neurol 69(2):239–245
- Kleiter I, Gahlen A, Borisow N, Fischer K, Wernecke KD, Hellwig K, Pache F, Ruprecht K, Havla J, Kumpfel T, Aktas O, Hartung HP, Ringelstein M, Geis C, Kleinschnitz C, Berthele A, Hemmer B, Angstwurm K, Stellmann JP, Schuster S, Stangel M, Lauda F, Tumani H, Mayer C, Krumbholz M, Zeltner L, Ziemann U, Linker R, Schwab M, Marziniak M, Then Bergh F, Hofstadt-van Oy U, Neuhaus O, Zettl UK, Faiss J, Wildemann B, Paul F, Jarius S, Trebst C, Nemos (2018) Apheresis therapies for NMOSD attacks: a retrospective study of 207 therapeutic interventions. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm 5(6):e504. https://doi.org/10.1212/NXI. 000000000000504
- Korn T, Mitsdoerffer M, Croxford AL, Awasthi A, Dardalhon VA, Galileos G, Vollmar P, Stritesky GL, Kaplan MH, Waisman A, Kuchroo VK, Oukka M (2008) IL-6 controls Th17 immunity in vivo by inhibitin the conversion of conventional T cells into Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. PNAS 105(47):18460–18465
- Kotter MR, Li WW, Zhao C, Franklin RJ (2006) Myelin impairs CNS remyelination by inhibiting oligodendrocyte precursor cell differentiation. J Neurosci 26(1):328–332. https://doi.org/10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.2615-05.2006
- Krumbholz M, Theil D, Derfuss T, Rosenwald A, Schrader F, Monoranu CM, Kalled SL, Hess DM, Serafini B, Aloisi F, Wekerle H, Hohlfeld R, Meinl E (2005) BAFF is produced by astrocytes and up-regulated in multiple sclerosis lesions and primary central nervous system lymphoma. J Exp Med 201(2):195–200. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20041674
- Le Page E, Veillard D, Laplaud DA, Hamonic S, Wardi R, Lebrun C, Zagnoli F, Wiertlewski S, Deburghgraeve V, Coustans M, Edan G (2015) Oral versus intravenous high-dose methylprednisolone for treatment of relapses in patients with multiple sclerosis (COPOUSEP): a randomised, controlled, double-blind, non-inferiority trial. Lancet 386(9997):974–981. https:// doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(15)61137-0
- Leist TP, Weissert R (2011) Cladribine: mode of action and implications for treatment of multiple sclerosis. Clin Neuropharmacol 34(1):28–35. https://doi.org/10.1097/WNF.0b013e318204cd90

- Liang C, Tian D, Ren X, Ding S, Jia M, Xin M, Thareja S (2018) The development of Bruton's tyrosine kinase (BTK) inhibitors from 2012 to 2017: a mini-review. Eur J Med Chem 151:315–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2018.03.062
- Ma Q (2013) Role of Nrf2 in oxidative stress and toxicity. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 53 (1):401–426. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-pharmtox-011112-140320
- Mandler RN, Ahmed W, Dencof JE (1998) Devic's neuromyelitis optica: a prospective study of seven patients treated with prednisone and azathioprine. Neurology 51:1219–1220
- Mealy MA, Wingerchuk DM, Palace J, Greenberg BM, Levy M (2014) Comparison of relapse and treatment failure rates among patients with neuromyelitis optica: multicenter study of treatment efficacy. JAMA Neurol 71(3):324–330. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.5699
- Min JH, Kim BJ, Lee KH (2012) Development of extensive brain lesions following fingolimod (FTY720) treatment in a patient with neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder. Mult Scler 18:113–115
- Minami N, Fujiki N, Doi S, Shima K, Niino M, Kikuchi S, Sasaki H (2011) Five-year follow-up with low-dose tacrolimus in patients with myasthenia gravis. J Neurol Sci 300(1–2):59–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2010.09.033
- Mohr DC, Boudewyn AC, Likosky W, Levine E, Goodkin DE (2001) Injectible medication for the treatment of multiple sclerosis: the influence of self-efficacy expectations and injection anxiety on adherence and ability to self-inject. Ann Behav Med 23(2):125–132
- Montalban X, Hauser SL, Kappos L, Arnold DL, Bar-Or A, Comi G, de Seze J, Giovannoni G, Hartung HP, Hemmer B, Lublin F, Rammohan KW, Selmaj K, Traboulsee A, Sauter A, Masterman D, Fontoura P, Belachew S, Garren H, Mairon N, Chin P, Wolinsky JS, Investigators OC (2017) Ocrelizumab versus placebo in primary progressive multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 376(3):209–220. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1606468
- Montalban X, Arnold DL, Weber MS, Staikov I, Piasecka-Stryczynska K, Willmer J, Martin EC, Dangond F, Syed S, Wolinsky JS, Evobrutinib Phase 2 Study Group (2019) Placebo-controlled trial of an oral BTK inhibitor in multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 380(25):2406–2417. https:// doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1901981
- Montes Diaz G, Fraussen J, Van Wijmeersch B, Hupperts R, Somers V (2018) Dimethyl fumarate induces a persistent change in the composition of the innate and adaptive immune system in multiple sclerosis patients. Sci Rep 8(1):8194. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-26519-w
- Mulero P, Midaglia L, Montalban X (2018) Ocrelizumab: a new milestone in multiple sclerosis therapy. Ther Adv Neurol Disord 11:1756286418773025. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1756286418773025
- Muraro PA, Pasquini M, Atkins HL, Bowen JD, Farge D, Fassas A, Freedman MS, Georges GE, Gualandi F, Hamerschlak N, Havrdova E, Kimiskidis VK, Kozak T, Mancardi GL, Massacesi L, Moraes DA, Nash RA, Pavletic S, Ouyang J, Rovira M, Saiz A, Simoes B, Trneny M, Zhu L, Badoglio M, Zhong X, Sormani MP, Saccardi R, Multiple Sclerosis-Autologous Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation Long-term Outcomes Study Group (2017) Long-term outcomes after autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for multiple sclerosis. JAMA Neurol 74(4):459–469. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2016.5867
- Nagaishi A, Yukitake M, Kuroda Y (2008) Long-term treatment of steroid-dependent myasthenia gravis patients with low-dose tacrolimus. Intern Med 47(8):731–736. https://doi.org/10.2169/ internalmedicine.47.0513
- O'Connor P, Wolinsky JS, Confavreaux C, Comi G, Kappos L, Olsson TP, Benzerdjeb H, Truffinet P, Wang L, Miller A, Freedman MS (2011) Randomized trial of oral teriflunomid for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 365:1203–1303
- O'Connor P, Comi G, Freedman MS, Miller AE, Kappos L, Bouchard J-P, Lebrun-Frenay C, Mares J, Benamor J, Thangavelu K, Liang J, Truffinet P, Lawson VJ, Wolinsky JS (2016) Longterm safety and efficacy of teriflunomide: nine-year follow-up of the randomized TEMSO study. Neurology 86:920–930
- Palace J, Newsom-Davis J, Lecky B (1998) A randomized double-blind trial of prednisolone alone or with azathioprine in myasthenia gravis. Neurology 50(6):1778–1783

- Papadopoulos MC, Verkman AS (2012) Aquaporin 4 and neuromyelitis optica. Lancet Neurol 11 (6):535–544. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1474-4422(12)70133-3
- Patterson SL, Goglin SE (2017) Neuromyelitis Optica. Rheum Dis Clin N Am 43(4):579–591. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rdc.2017.06.007
- Paty DW, Li DKB (1993) Interferon beta-1b is effective in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Neurology 43(4):662
- Polman CH, O'Connor PW, Havrdova E, Hutchinson M, Kappos L, Miller DH, Phillips JT, Lublin FD, Giovannoni G, Wajgt A, Toal M, Lynn F, Panzara MA, Sandrock AW (2006) A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of natalizumab for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 354:899–910
- Ragheb S, Li Y, Simon KM, VanHaerents S, Galimberti D, De Riz M, Fenoglio C, Scarpini E, Lisak R (2011) Multiple sclerosis: BAFF and CXCL13 in cerebrospinal fluid. Mult Scler J 17 (7):819–829
- Raivich G, Banati R (2004) Brain microglia and blood-derived macrophages: molecular profiles and functional roles in multiple sclerosis and animal models of autoimmune demyelinating disease. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 46(3):261–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2004.06. 006
- Ransahoff RM (2007) Natalizumab for multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 356:2262-2269
- Ransohoff RM, Hafler DA, Lucchinetti CF (2015) Multiple sclerosis-a quiet revolution. Nat Rev Neurol 11(3):134–142. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2015.14
- Reich DS, Lucchinetti CF, Calabresi PA (2018) Multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 378(2):169–180. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1401483
- Rudick RA, Stuart WH, Calabresi PA, Confavreaux C, Galetta SL, Radu E-W, Lublin FD, Weinstock-Guttman B, Wynn DR, Lynn F, Panzara MA, Sandrock AW (2006) Natalizumab plus interferon beta-1a for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 354:911–923
- Schwab N, Schneider-Hohendorf T, Posevitz V, Breuer J, Gobel K, Windhagen S, Brochet B, Vermersch P, Lebrun-Frenay C, Posevitz-Fejfar A, Capra R, Imberti L, Straeten V, Haas J, Wildemann B, Havla J, Kumpfel T, Meinl I, Niessen K, Kleinschnitz C, Warnke C, Buck D, Gold R, Kieseier BC, Meuth SG, Foley J, Chan A, Brassat D, Windel H (2013) L-selection is a possible biomarker for PML risk in natalizumab-treated MS patients. Neurology 81:865–871
- Schwab N, Schneider-Hohendorf T, Pignolet B, Spadaro M, Gorlich D, Meinl I, Windhagen S, Tackenberg B, Breuer J, Canto E, Kumpfel T, Hohlfeld R, Siffrin V, Luessi F, Posevitz-Fejfar A, Montalban X, Meuth SG, Gold R, Du Pasquier RA, Kleinschnitz C, Jacobi A, Comabella M, Bertolotto A, Brassat D, Wiendl H (2016) PML risk stratification using anti-JCV antibody index and L-selectin. Mult Scler 22(8):1048–1060
- Shenkenberg TD, Von Hoff DD (1986) Mitoxantrone: a new anticancer drug with significant clinical activity. Ann Intern Med 105:67–81
- Shimizu Y, Yokoyama K, Misu T, Takahashi T, Fujihara K, Kikuchi S, Itoyama Y, Iwata M (2008) Development of extensive brain lesions following interferon beta therapy in relapsing neuromyelitis optica and longitudinally extensive myelitis. J Neurol 255(2):305–307. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00415-007-0730-5
- Sospedra M (2018) B cells in multiple sclerosis. Curr Opin Neurol 31(3):256–262. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/WCO.0000000000563
- Spadaro M, Montarolo F, Perga S, Martire S, Brescia F, Malucchi S, Bertolotto A (2017) Biological activity of glatiramer acetate on Treg and anti-inflammatory monocytes persists for more than 10 years in responder multiple sclerosis patients. Clin Immunol 181:83–88. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.clim.2017.06.006
- Tandan R, Hehir MK 2nd, Waheed W, Howard DB (2017) Rituximab treatment of myasthenia gravis: a systematic review. Muscle Nerve 56(2):185–196. https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.25597
- Teitelbaum D, Meshhorer A, Hirshfeld T, Arnon R, Sela M (1971) Suppression of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis by a synthetic polypeptide. Eur J Immunol 1:242–248
- Thompson AJ, Baranzini SE, Geurts J, Hemmer B, Ciccarelli O (2018) Multiple sclerosis. Lancet 391(10130):1622–1636. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(18)30481-1

- Tolf A, Fagius J, Carlson K, Akerfeldt T, Granberg T, Larsson EM, Burman J (2019) Sustained remission in multiple sclerosis after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Acta Neurol Scand 140(5):320–327. https://doi.org/10.1111/ane.13147
- Topakian R, Zimprich F, Iglseder S, Embacher N, Guger M, Stieglbauer K, Langenscheidt D, Rath J, Quasthoff S, Simschitz P, Wanschitz J, Windisch D, Muller P, Oel D, Schustereder G, Einsiedler S, Eggers C, Loscher W (2019) High efficacy of rituximab for myasthenia gravis: a comprehensive nationwide study in Austria. J Neurol 266(3):699–706
- Trapp BD, Nave KA (2008) Multiple sclerosis: an immune or neurodegenerative disorder? Annu Rev Neurosci 31:247–269. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.30.051606.094313
- Tuohy O, Costelloe L, Hill-Cawthorne G, Bjornson I, Harding K, Robertson N, May K, Button T, Azzopardi L, Kousin-Ezewu O, Fahey MT, Jones J, Compston DA, Coles A (2015) Alemtuzumab treatment of multiple sclerosis: long-term safety and efficacy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 86(2):208–215. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2014-307721
- Uccelli A, Laroni A, Brundin L, Clanet M, Fernandez O, Nabavi SM, Muraro PA, Oliveri RS, Radue EW, Sellner J, Soelberg Sorensen P, Sormani MP, Wuerfel JT, Battaglia MA, Freedman MS, MESEMS Study Group (2019) MEsenchymal StEm cells for Multiple Sclerosis (MESEMS): a randomized, double blind, cross-over phase I/II clinical trial with autologous mesenchymal stem cells for the therapy of multiple sclerosis. Trials 20(1):263. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s13063-019-3346-z
- Van der Meche FGA, Schmitz PIM, The Dutch Guillain-Barre Study Group (1992) A randomized trial comparing intravenous immune globulin and plasma exchange in Guillain-Barre syndrome. N Engl J Med 326:1123–1129
- Wingerchuk DMW, Weinshenker BG (2003) Neuromyelitis optica: clinical predictors of a relapsing course and survival. Neurology 60:848–853
- Wynn D, Kaufman M, Montalban X, Vollmer T, Simon J, Elkins J, O'Neill G, Neyer L, Sheridan J, Wang C, Fong A, Rose JW (2010) Daclizumab in active relapsing multiple sclerosis (CHOICE study): a phase 2, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, add-on trial with interferon beta. Lancet Neurol 9:381–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-
- Yamasaki R, Lu H, Butovsky O, Ohno N, Rietsch AM, Cialic R, Wu PM, Doykan CE, Lin J, Cotleur AC, Kidd G, Zorlu MM, Sun N, Hu W, Liu L, Lee J-C, Taylor SE, Uehlein L, Dixon D, Gu J, Floruta CM, Zhu M, Charo IF, Weiner HL, Ransohoff RM (2014) Differential roles of microglia and monocytes in the inflamed central nervous system. J Exp Med 211(8):1533–1549. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20132477
- Yamout B, Hourani R, Salti H, Barada W, El-Hajj T, Al-Kutoubi A, Herlopian A, Baz EK, Mahfouz R, Khalil-Hamdan R, Kreidieh NM, El-Sabban M, Bazarbachi A (2010) Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in patients with multiple sclerosis: a pilot study. J Neuroimmunol 227(1–2):185–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2010.07.013
- Zappia E, Casazza S, Pedemonte E, Benvenuto F, Bonanni I, Gerdoni E, Giunti D, Ceravolo A, Cazzanti F, Frassoni F, Mancardi G, Uccelli A (2005) Mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis inducing T-cell anergy. Blood 106(5):1755–1761. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2005-04-1496
- Zhang Z, Zhang ZY, Schittenhelm J, Wu Y, Meyermann R, Schluesener HJ (2011) Parenchymal accumulation of CD163+ macrophages/microglia in multiple sclerosis brains. J Neuroimmunol 237(1–2):73–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2011.06.006
- Zhang Z, Zhang D, Liu Y, Yang D, Ran F, Wang ML, Zhao G (2018) Targeting Bruton's tyrosine kinase for the treatment of B cell associated malignancies and autoimmune diseases: preclinical and clinical developments of small molecule inhibitors. Arch Pharm (Weinheim) 351(7): e1700369. https://doi.org/10.1002/ardp.201700369



Novel Immunosuppression in Solid Organ Transplantation

Prasad Konda, Reshma Golamari, and Howard J. Eisen

Contents

1	Introduction	268			
	1.1 Monoclonal Antibodies	270			
2	Basiliximab	270			
3	Daclizumab	271			
4	Campath-1 H/Alemtuzumab	272			
5	Rituximab	272			
6	CTLA-4-Ig/Belatacept	273			
7	Calcineurin Inhibitors (Cyclosporine and Tacrolimus)	274			
	7.1 Cyclosporine (CSA) and Tacrolimus (TAC)	274			
8	Proliferation Signal Inhibitors/Mammalian Target of Rapamycin Inhibitors	275			
	8.1 Everolimus	275			
9	Sirolimus	276			
10	Bortezomib	277			
11	Eculizumab	278			
12	IVIG	278			
13	Other	278			
Refe	References				

Abstract

Solid organ transplantation and survival has improved tremendously in the last few decades, much of the success has been attributed to the advancements in immunosuppression. While steroids are being replaced and much of the

P. Konda \cdot H. J. Eisen (\boxtimes)

e-mail: heisen@pennstatehealth.psu.edu

R. Golamari

Heart and Vascular Institute, Pennsylvania State University/Milton S. Hershey Medical Center, Hershey, PA, USA

Department of Hospital Medicine, Pennsylvania State University/Milton S. Hershey Medical Center, Hershey, PA, USA

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2022

H. J. Eisen (ed.), *Pharmacology of Immunosuppression*, Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 272, https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2021_569

immunosuppressive strategies focus on steroid free regimens, novel agents have introduced in the induction, maintenance, and treatment of acute rejection phase. MTOR inhibitors have helped with the renal sparing side effect from the calcineurin inhibitors, newer agents such as rituximab have decreased the incidence of donor-specific antibodies which led to decreased incidence of acute rejection reactions. In this chapter we discuss the newer therapies directed specifically for solid organ transplantation.

Keywords

Heart transplantation · Immunosuppression

1 Introduction

Heart transplantation is the gold standard treatment for end stage heart failure. The survival rates have progressively improved the last few years with the introduction to the evolving immunosuppressive medications to the point the 5-year survival rate is 69% (Lund et al. 2014). The success is primarily due to the various classes of medications being used for either induction or maintenance therapies. After any transplant, the recipient takes immunosuppressive medications throughout the length of their lifetime and is monitored for rejection with cardiac biopsies and laboratory blood checks. The risk of rejection always remains, alongside of heightened infectious risks, malignancies, and post-lymphoproliferative disorders.

After the first heart transplant in 1967, heart transplant lost its enigma owing to graft rejection and infection (Barnard 1967). When immunosuppression was first introduced, it was non-specific and broad, included mercaptopurines and corticosteroids (Mueller 2004). Azathioprine was introduced before steroids in the 1950s. Then came corticosteroids are an innate part of the immunosuppressive therapies after solid organ transplant, both in the induction and the maintenance phases in the 1960s. Anti-lymphocyte sera were introduced in the 1970s dominated in the use of induction therapy. Mercaptopurines such as azathioprine were the cornerstone of immunosuppression in the 1980s. After the introduction of calcineurin inhibitors i.e., tacrolimus and cyclosporine, they remained mainstay maintenance therapy since the 1980s. We then saw the emergence of newer medications like mycophenolate mofetil in the 2000s alongside of Sirolimus (Vera et al. 2017). The monoclonal antibodies were introduced later part of the decade with the latest being Belatacept which was FDA approved in 2011 for kidney transplantation. It was later also used after heart transplantation, although many patients in those studies were multi-organ transplant recipients (Launay et al. 2020). The biggest challenge for immunosuppression is to mitigate the harm in inducing malignancies and opportunistic infections, while providing adequate host-graft tolerance.

Induction therapy is controversial in heart transplantation. It is beneficial in patients who are at an increased risk of death from rejection and for patients with

Table 1 Classes of	1	Steroids	
immunosuppressants stud-	2	Antimetabolites	Azathioprine
transplantation			Mycophenolate mofetil
F			Mycophenolic acid
	3	Polyclonal antibodies	Antilymphocyte globulin
			Antithymocyte globulin
			Muromonab (OKT3)
	4	Monoclonal antibodies	Daclizumab
			Basiliximab
			Campath-1 H
			Rituximab
			CTLA-4-Ig
	5	Calcineurin inhibitors	Cyclosporine
			Tacrolimus
	6	Proliferation signal inhibitors	Sirolimus
			Everolimus
	7	Lymphocyte modulation	FTY720
	9	Other	IVIG
			Bortezomib
			Eculizumab

low risk of rejection, it causes more harm. For patients with long-term VAD support, African-American ethnicity and extensive HLA matching most likely benefit from induction therapy (Higgins et al. 2005). Not all cardiac transplants receive induction therapy, only 50% of them do. Early graft transplant reduced the frequency and severity of early graft rejection (Delgado et al. 2011). The treatment for induction therapy includes monoclonal antibodies or polyclonal antibodies combined with a calcineurin inhibitor drug. Minnesota antilymphocyte globulin (MALG) which is a polyclonal antibody was used in an experimental fashion even though it was not FDA approved in the 1980–1990s (Collins et al. 1996). Thymoglobulin was approved for widespread use in 1999, was derived from rabbit serum (Mahmud et al. 2010), and soon became the most popular agent used for induction therapy. The monoclonal antibodies which are new target the CD proteins on the T or B cells, especially CD3, CD25 and CD52 (Mahmud et al. 2010). UNOS registry studied patients from 1987 to 2012, and they saw that around 46% of patients among 8,216 were induced. Of the induced agents, 55% were IL-2Rab, 4% alemtuzumab, and 40% ALG/ATG/thymoglobulin (Whitson et al. 2015). Induction therapy should be highly individualized and needs a well-designed protocol. The types of immunosuppressants and the types of rejection reactions are outlined in Table 1 and Fig. 1.

Sensitization is seen around 10% of the heart transplants, the risk increases with the presence of an LVAD. Sensitization was defined as the incidence of panel reactive antibody (PRA) $\geq 10\%$ with ≥ 1 a strong positive antibody. De-sensitization is defined as $\geq 25\%$ reduction of fluorescence intensity $\geq 90\%$ of



Fig. 1 Types of rejection

strong positive antibodies on follow-up PRA testing (Edwards et al. 2019). The newer regimens were introduced or studied to decrease in the intensity of sensitization.

The risk of acute rejection and allograft loss is greatest in the first three months after transplant. So it is inevitable for immunosuppression to be highest at this time and tapered to a maintenance level 6–12 months after (Tönshoff 2020). Most transplant centers use three drugs for continued immunosuppression. More than 80% patients are on two calcineurin inhibitors (Mudge Gilbert 2007). CAV affects 50% of heart transplant recipients after 5 years of transplant.

The newer immunosuppressants are monoclonal antibodies, calcineurin inhibitors, and other medications (Costanzo 2001). We chose to review the newer immunosuppressant medications for the heart transplant patients.

1.1 Monoclonal Antibodies

OKT3 is a murine antibody which acts against CD3 complex which binds to T cells. It increased the rate of infections, so newer agents like IL2 receptor antibodies and anti-thymocyte globulin have been the corner stone of induction therapy lately. Using the anti-IL2 antibodies effectively reduces the frequency and severity of early graft rejection, allows delay in calcineurin inhibitors introduction, and also does not have an increased incidence of infections (Delgado et al. 2011).

2 Basiliximab

The two commonly used anti-IL2 antibodies are: daclizumab and basiliximab. Basiliximab (BAS) is a monoclonal antibody that is chimeric against IL2 and has low immune response. Therefore it does not elicit a strong immune response (Delgado et al. 2011). SIMCOR registry showed that BAS had less incidence of fever, acute pulmonary edema, hypotension when compared to OKT3. Biopsyproven cellular rejection was not significantly different (39.6% of basiliximab vs 40.4% of OKT3, p = 0.87) between the groups (Segovia et al. 2006). BAS was deemed to be safer and better tolerated than OKT3. Aguero et al. compared IL2 antagonists, cyclosporine, mycophenolate, and steroids among other regimens and

proved a strong association with that group with survival (Aguero et al. 2008). BAS can also confer renal protection if patients have a higher pre-operative creatinine value up to 6 months post-transplant when tested in seven patients with renal dysfunction (Delgado et al. 2005). When BAS was compared with ATG retrospectively, there was no difference between acute rejection and delayed graft rejection between the two groups, it had lower incidence of lung infection as well as reduction in cell counts (Wang et al. 2012). Forty-three patients who received BAS had a two-year survival rate of 92.86%, no severe adverse events and no rejection were observed (Chou et al. 2008). Mattei et al. reported that BAS had a composite safety end-point significantly lower than ATG (50.0% vs 78.6%, p = 0.01), and death due to infections was also less in the basiliximab group (Mattei et al. 2007). Acute rejection episodes were similar in both groups. BAS also reduced delayed graft function (DAF) when compared to other drugs in patients with high risk allografts (Fernandez Rivera et al. 2005). Induction therapy with BAS was associated with reduced growth of the intima of the vessel, thereby preventing cardiac allograft vasculopathy during the first year after transplantation (Wang et al. 2015).

The usual dose is 20 mg. It was also studied with a lower dose 10 mg in 17 patients which showed similar efficacy and safety. By the 2-week assessment post-transplant in these patients, there were no deaths, graft failures, or acute cellular rejections for patients ISHLT grade $\geq 2R$ (Kittipibul et al. 2017).

However, there was conflicting evidence of literature where using BAS was associated with increased risk of mortality. Patients from ISHLT registry from 2000 to 2013 were studied and no induction therapy had an improved overall mortality when compared to using BAS adjustment HR = 1.11 (95% CI, 1.04–1.19). BAS also had higher risk of graft failure when compared to no induction therapy (Nozohoor et al. 2020). Where BAS was studied head to head with ATG in pediatric and adult patients, use of basiliximab was associated with all-cause mortality (HR, 1.27; 95% CI, 1.02–1.57; P = 0.030) (Ansari et al. 2015a, b).

3 Daclizumab

Daclizumab has shown to reduce the rate of rejection, however, when combined with cytolytic therapy, it had increased mortality (Hershberger et al. 2009; Petrikovits et al. 2005). It was also studied against anti-thymocyte globulin (ATG) for induction therapy and it performed equivalent to ATG in terms of rejection, infection, malignancy (Mullen et al. 2014). When Daclizumab was tested against OKT3, no differences in rejection rate and no subject had severe acute rejection within the first 180 days (Chin et al. 2005; Cuppoletti et al. 2005). Daclizumab when tested against no induction did not result in increased mortality and was beneficial leading to a lower incidence of AR (Kobashigawa et al. 2005). Daclizumab induction therapy reduced the incidence of acute rejection episodes during the first two posttransplant months in HT patients (Petrikovits et al. 2005)

Two doses of Daclizumab were as efficacious as five doses in preventing rejection while maintaining the same benefit of survival in 81 patients (Ortiz et al. 2006). Some studies have shown that using daclizumab may lead to increased incidence of grade 1 rejections, leading to increased costs (Carlsen et al. 2005). Daclizumab was tested against BAS and no differences were observed in survival or the incidence of rejection (Martin et al. 2015). Interestingly, survival was worse in patients not receiving induction therapy. In 2009, Daclizumab was discontinued from the market.

4 Campath-1 H/Alemtuzumab

Alemtuzumab is a humanized monoclonal antibody against anti-CD52 antibody which acts against mature lymphocytes inducing immunosuppression in patients with heart transplant. It has been studied fairly decently over the last few years. Alemtuzumab was studied against ATG, BAS, and had lower acute rejection rates and lower chances of infection in comparison, however these findings were based off observational studies (Li et al. 2018). When compared to thymoglobulin, the cancerfree survival did not differ in Alemtuzumab (Chivukula et al. 2014). Among 56 patients who were compared between Alemtuzumab and standard induction therapy, grade ≥ 2 rejection at 12 months was not different between alemtuzumab and standard therapy, due to the similar rates between antibody mediated reactions (76.9% vs 96.2%, P = 0.077). Rates of cellular reaction were lower as well and alemtuzumab had better renal recovery rates (Gale et al. 2019). This medication also studied in patients with LVADs who develop antibodies, a case series done in three patients who underwent plasmapheresis and were treated with Alemtuzumab allowed for transplantation in these sensitized crossmatch patients (Lick et al. 2008). Induction therapy with Alemtuzumab results in a similar 12-month survival, but a greater freedom from rejection (84.5% versus 51.6%) despite lower calcineurin levels and without the use of steroids (Teuteberg et al. 2010).

5 Rituximab

Rituximab is a chimeric monoclonal antibody against CD20, the main function is to deplete B cells. It prevents the development of new antibodies, rather than removal of the pre-existing antibodies. It was widely used as an immunosuppressant in hematopoietic B cell lymphomas, was also studied as an induction agent in cardiac transplantation. For cardiac patients, it plays crucial role in de-sensitizing patients along with IVIG, plasmapheresis, and bortezomib. In 523 study population, 95 patients had panel reactive antibodies for >10%, of which 21 patients were treated with plasmapheresis, intravenous gamma globulin, and rituximab. This led to the decrease in circulating antibody level from a mean of 70.5 to 30.2% (Kobashigawa et al. 2011). When studied, it associated with reduced vascular reaction by evidence of improvement of LVEF in eight patients (Garrett et al. 2005). It was also associated with improved survival in cardiac allograft AMR in 13 patients as opposed to 20 patients that did not receive it (Ravichandran et al. 2013). Its ability as salvage therapy for refractory AMR was limited to several case

reports identified in the literature (Baran et al. 2004). It is used to treat complications such as lymphoproliferative disorder after cardiac transplant successfully and shown some evidence to treat humoral rejections (Aranda et al. 2002).

On the contrary, in a randomized controlled trial, among the 163 patients who received rituximab 1,000 mg on days 0 and 12 post-transplantation, there was no mean change in atheroma volume indicating that it did not reduce the CAV progression but instead enhanced it leading to accelerated progress during the first year. There were no differences in mortality as noted in the study (Starling et al. 2019). When studied for late AMR in 20 patients, 45% patients received rituximab, patients ended up having poor prognosis, such as early death, recurrence, or persistence of AMR and fulminant CAV (Coutance et al. 2015).

6 CTLA-4-Ig/Belatacept

Belatacept is a high-affinity CTLA4Ig used as prophylaxis for graft rejection in adults receiving a renal transplant, its use was later extended to heart transplantation and is being used as a maintenance regimen in selected cases. It interferes with the binding of the CD28 on T cells & B7 ligands on antigen presenting cells, suppresses the T-lymphocyte co-stimulation leading to immune tolerance. It was widely tested in animal models and some observational, retrospective studies in humans (Chen et al. 2015). Forty patients were started on Belatacept at some point (within 3 months and after) after heart transplant which delays post-operative kidney failure, stabilizes renal function (Launay et al. 2020). Belatacept along with proteasome inhibition therapy in four patients reduced HLA I and II antibodies as well as sustained suppression of donor specific antibodies (Alishetti et al. 2020). It is easier to monitor than calcineurin inhibitor-based regimens (since no therapeutic drug monitoring is required), although it carries a risk of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder (PTLD) (Martin et al. 2013). Short-term treatment with CTLA-4 Ig induced modest prolongation of cardiac allograft survival, they prolonged survival >100 days if combined with PMN depleting antibodies (Tarek et al. 2005). Few case reports described where Belatacept was successfully used and it reversed renal failure in a patient with combined heart, liver, and kidney transplant (Kumar et al. 2018). It was used as a maintenance regimen in lone heart transplants as well but the evidence is limited to case reports alone. In a 26-year-old female, Belatacept was initiated on top of tacrolimus and sirolimus, no rejection episodes were detected (Enderby et al. 2014).

7 Calcineurin Inhibitors (Cyclosporine and Tacrolimus)

7.1 Cyclosporine (CSA) and Tacrolimus (TAC)

Cyclosporine inhibits the enzyme calcineurin in T cells, leading to prevention of differentiation of T cells (Söderlund and Rådegran 2015). Tacrolimus acts similarly by suppressing T cell activation, subsequently inhibiting IL2 activation. In a metaanalysis of 885 patients comparing CSA to TAC, there were no statistical differences in one-year mortality rates, however, risk of rejection was lower with TAC at 6 months and 1 year (Ye et al. 2009). Tacrolimus group had a significant increase in the risk of diabetes mellitus. Both groups had equal rates of incidence of malignancy or renal failure requiring dialysis. Cyclosporine also resulted in more weight gain in 101 patients when tested against tacrolimus (López-Vilella et al. 2015).

TAC is superior to CSA when studied for intimal thickening, vascular remodeling, and microvascular endothelial function (Petrakopoulou et al. 2006). Cyclosporine was largely replaced by tacrolimus (TAC) in regards to reduction of side effects such as hypertension, hyperlipidemia, gingival hyperplasia and when microemulsion CSA mortality was compared with tacrolimus, it resulted in lower mortality and less acute severe biopsy-proven rejection in a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials among 952 patients (Penninga et al. 2010). This study also showed that both CNI are equally nephrotoxic as opposed to the earlier belief that tacrolimus causes less incidence of renal failure. The nephrotoxicity prompted the use of mycophenolate mofetil or mTOR inhibitors in the recent times (Bennett 1996). Some authors have also combined CSA with Everolimus, which maintained the same rejection rates with a reduced dosage of CSA and trough levels and stable kidney function (Schweiger et al. 2006). CSA nephrotoxicity improved after the dose reduction along with MMF when tested in 34 patients. The other arm in the study was a combination of Everolimus with reduced dose CSA, however, the renal benefit was limited to patients without baseline proteinuria (Potena et al. 2012). Of note, reducing the dose of tacrolimus did not prevent or result in superior long-term renal function after 8 years when compared to doing the full dose (Guethoff et al. 2015). In 49 patients, there were no differences in intimal proliferation between CSA and TAC or in the development of CAV in the maintenance treatment with MMF and steroids after 1 year of HT (Sánchez-Lázaro et al. 2010).

In NOCTET (heart and lung) trial, where the study group was Everolimus and reduced dose CNI with standard dosing, it showed that among patients with pre-existing advanced renal failure (n = 194), the study group showed improved renal function. Improvement was limited to patients with <4.6 years transplant time (Arora et al. 2012). SCHEDULE trial studied 115 patients with heart transplant and randomized them into Everolimus with complete cyclosporine withdrawal 7–11 weeks after transplant vs standard immunosuppression. The Everolimus group (n = 37) had significantly reduced CAV progression as compared with the cyclosporine group (n = 39) at 1 and 3 years (Arora et al. 2015, 2018). Some of these patients included patients with moderate kidney disease. ACR was slightly more

frequent in the study group as compared with the control group. Systolic blood pressure also lowers when compared to the CNI based regimen, most pronounced in the patients allocated to Everolimus (Andreassen et al. 2019).

One of the major side effects as noted above with calcineurin inhibitors are its adverse effects on kidney function. As we know that 10% of heart transplant patients develop ESRD by year 5, leading to a greater mortality risk. In some cases, risks outweigh benefits with CNIs especially with the evolvement of newer immunosuppressants.

8 Proliferation Signal Inhibitors/Mammalian Target of Rapamycin Inhibitors

8.1 Everolimus

Via blockade of mTOR pathway, Everolimus and Sirolimus inhibit proliferation of fibroblasts and smooth muscle cells which play an important role in development of CAV (Jennings et al. 2018). However, only small percentage of HT patients receive mTOR inhibitors due to the high incidence of side effects and acute cellular rejection (Eisen et al. 2013). Everolimus when tested against azathioprine in 634 patients showed that the incidence of vasculopathy was significantly lower in the Everolimus group when compared to azathioprine, lower incidence of cytomegalovirus infections and higher incidence of bacterial infection were higher in the Everolimus group. Serum creatinine was also higher in the Everolimus group (Eisen et al. 2003).

Everolimus with reduced dose CSA was tested against MMF with standard dose CSA. Everolimus was noninferior to MMF when it came to acute rejection, acute rejection associated with hemodynamic compromise, graft loss/re-transplant, death (Eisen et al. 2013). Non-fatal adverse events were more common with Everolimus in that study.

Everolimus was also tested against MMF in 553 patients and IVUS was performed after 1 year and it showed a reduced incidence of CAV in the Everolimus group (Kobashigawa et al. 2013a). An open label study of 176 patients randomized to either receive MMF or Everolimus showed non-inferiority in terms of renal function and had equivalent efficacy at 1 year post-transplant (Lehmkuhl et al. 2009). Everolimus also performed similarly in terms of survival when compared to MMF in randomized controlled trial at 1 and 5 years when treated with CSA and steroid (Wang et al. 2010). Everolimus with low dose CNI followed by CNI free therapy maintained better long-term renal function and significantly reduced CAV when compared to the standard CNI treatment after 5–6 years of the transplant. This was done as a follow-up study after SCHEDULE study (Gustafsson et al. 2020).

In an RCT of 181 patients, patients receiving delayed Everolimus (4–6 weeks) with MMF as a bridge appeared to provide early safety benefit because of lower clinical significant side effects when compared to immediate Everolimus use (<144 h). They both had same efficacy (Potena et al. 2018). Everolimus with low dose CNI followed by CNI free therapy (after 7–11 weeks) with standard dosing in

115 patients tested head to head, the Everolimus group maintained better long-term renal function and significantly reduced CAV (Andreassen et al. 2014).

Fifty-eight patients whose immunosuppressant regimen was converted from CNIs to Everolimus were followed for almost 2 years. Mean creatinine clearance increased in the Everolimus group and mean blood pressure lowered. Adverse effects were more in the Everolimus group, however, they resolved without any intervention (Engelen et al. 2011). CNI based side effects such as peripheral edema, tremor, hirsutism also improved with Everolimus in most patients after CNIs were removed (Stypmann et al. 2011).

In a study of 108 heart transplant patients, CSA plus Everolimus vs CSA plus MMF vs tacrolimus plus MMF, no difference in mortality was noted. The Everolimus plus CSA group showed a significantly less efficacy failure when compared to CSA plus MMF or tacrolimus plus MMF (Wang et al. 2008). Everolimus 1.5 or 3 mg was tested against azathioprine and they were followed for 24 months, Everolimus had a reduced incidence of acute rejection and limited the allograft vasculopathy (Viganò et al. 2007). Another study which looked at various Everolimus doses showed that unlike CSA, increasing Everolimus doses was not related to higher rate of renal dysfunction. Biopsy proven acute rejection was reduced in Everolimus trough levels \geq 3 ng/mL (Starling et al. 2004).

Everolimus is also associated with lower incidence of CMV infection when compared to azathioprine and MMF (Kobashigawa et al. 2013b; Viganò et al. 2010).

9 Sirolimus

Sirolimus inhibits the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) and reduces the cardiac allograft vasculopathy (CAV). Sirolimus has anti-proliferative and antimigratory actions. Using sirolimus ≥ 3 years after transplantation, the burden of intravascular ultrasound based CAV was substantially reduced. Treatment with azathioprine or mycophenolate mofetil did not affect the results. Moreover, renal function improved in the sirolimus group (Eugenia et al. 2007). Another study was done by Mancini et al. where sirolimus was tested against the current immunosuppression. In that study, three patients reached primary end-point which was slowed disease progression versus 14 patients in the control group (P < 0.001) (Donna et al. 2003). In a randomized controlled study of 57 cardiac transplant patients with mild to moderate renal insufficiency, converting from CNIs to sirolimus improved renal function. This finding was better observed in patients without diabetes (Zuckermann et al. 2014). Four hundred and two heart transplant patients treated either with CNI or conversion from CNI to sirolimus underwent an analysis of the effect of these strategies on the development and progression of cardiac allograft vasculopathy. The progression of plaque volume and plaque index was decreased with sirolimus when compared to CNI. All-cause mortality was lower after a follow-up of 8.9 years along with lower incidence of CAV with sirolimus when compared to CNIs (Rabea et al. 2018). Sirolimus was directly compared with azathioprine in combination with cyclosporine and steroids. There was significant absence of progression of medial

proliferation in patients with sirolimus which continued at 2 years. These findings favored the use of sirolimus as compared to azathioprine (Anne et al. 2004). Sirolimus also inhibits adverse ventricular remodeling, decreased LV mass and LV mass index (Kushwaha et al. 2008).

Sirolimus when converted to from CNIs improved renal function in cardiac transplant patients with renal impairment, however, rates of acute rejection were higher in the Sirolimus group, in a total of 116 patients. Sirolimus was associated with diarrhea, infection, and rash (Zuckermann et al. 2012). In 45 patients who had CNIs removed from their regimen and substituted with Sirolimus, outcomes showed that IVUS demonstrated reduced plaque progression in the sirolimus group, if conversion occurred in <2 years after transplant. Five-year survival was improved with Sirolimus and that group had freedom from cardiac related events (Yan et al. 2012).

Sirolimus also has anti-tumor angiogenesis properties, there has been evidence to reduce skin and non-skin malignancies 5 years after renal transplant when compared to cyclosporine (Campistol et al. 2006; Guba et al. 2002).

Patients with Sirolimus have a high incidence of side effects, around 70% of patients had an incidence of a side effect according to one study over a period of 10 years. They recommended maintaining levels at a lower end (Thibodeau et al. 2013).

10 Bortezomib

Bortezomib is a proteasome inhibitor which has a proapoptotic effect on plasma cells, thereby decreasing antibody production in patients awaiting a heart transplant. Around 20% of patients receiving a heart transplant are sensitized. It was studied in renal transplants more widely than in HT (Everly et al. 2012). Use of this medication decreased the mean panel reactive antibodies from 62% to 35%, just after one dose in six of the seven patients studied (Patel et al. 2011). For 30 patients awaiting a heart transplant according to a study done by Patel et al., one cycle of plasmapheresis and Bortezomib was used to de-sensitize, it reduces the HLA antibody burden in a majority of sensitized patients. If the 22 patients that underwent transplantation, the 1 year survival rate was 100%, freedom from ATR was 73.9% (Patel et al. 2015a). Bortezomib was also used in patients who developed AMR. This in conjunction with IVIG, rituximab, plasmapheresis helped treat AMR successfully (Ludwig et al. 2020). Khuu et al. also described a case series of nine patients with AMR who were given Bortezomib after failing conventional therapies, of which eight patients improved significantly in DSA and/or negative biopsy. Class 1 antibodies responded better than class II, median duration of antibody response was 76 days after 1–2 cycles of Bortezomib. Sixty-day survival in these patients was 100% (Khuu et al. 2015).

11 Eculizumab

Eculizumab is an anti-C5 monoclonal antibody which inhibits C5 cleavage and prevents the formation of C5-9 membrane attack complex and its downstream effects. It was earlier studied in kidney transplant in 26 patients and the incidence of AMR was low in the Eculizumab group when compared to the control group (Stegall et al. 2011). It was tested in the pediatric population more widely than adult population (Thrush et al. 2016). In a pilot study, eculizumab when administered to nine patients in addition to ATG, steroids, MMF, and TAC showed that survival rate at 12 months was 88%, AMR freedom rate was 75%, and ACR 100% (Patel et al. 2015b). Among 20 patients treated with Eculizumab with nine infusions for 2 months post-transplant, survival at 1 year was 90% with no deaths resulting from AMR (Patel et al. 2021).

12 IVIG

Intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) is a pooled IgG extracted from the plasma of thousands of donors. It works via different mechanisms to decrease the circulating antibody burden. It inhibits complement deposition, activation of macrophages, and possible neutralization of cytokines (Ballow 2011). IVIG was routinely used as a part of de-sensitization protocol along with rituximab or some other agents. Some authors noticed a dose-dependent response to IVIG (Edwards et al. 2019). IVIG use is associated with decreased mortality in patients with heart transplant especially if associated with hypogammaglobulinemia (Bourassa-Blanchette et al. 2019). Serious adverse effects occur in <5% of patients. IVIG was better studied in kidneys when compared to the HT. Fifty-five LVAD patients were either treated with IVIG or plasmapheresis, the authors noticed that use of IVIG caused a mean reduction of HLA class 1 antibodies by 33%, almost nearing non-sensitized patients, waiting times for HT were reduced proving that IVIG is a safe and effective modality (John et al. 1999). It is also used to treat AMR however, no RCTs are available.

13 Other

Carfilzomib (CFZ) was used in two patients who were highly sensitized, two rounds of CFZ decreased PRA to 51% in one patient and one had no donor-specific antibodies (Sacha et al. 2014). FTY720 was studied in animal models of heart transplant since it reduced peripheral lymphocytes (Wang et al. 2003).

References

- Aguero J, Almenar L, Martínez-Dolz L, Moro JA, Rueda J, Raso R et al (2008) Influence of immunosuppressive regimens on short-term morbidity and mortality in heart transplantation. Clin Transpl 22(1):98–106. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1399-0012.200 7.00751.x
- Alishetti S, Farr M, Jennings D, Serban G, Uriel N, Sayer G et al (2020) Desensitizing highly sensitized heart transplant candidates with the combination of belatacept and proteasome inhibition. Am J Transplant 20(12):3620–3630
- Andreassen AK, Andersson B, Gustafsson F, Eiskjaer H, Radegran G, Gude E et al (2014) Everolimus initiation and early calcineurin inhibitor withdrawal in heart transplant recipients: a randomized trial. Am J Transplant 14(8):1828–1838
- Andreassen AK, Broch K, Eiskjær H, Karason K, Gude E, Mølbak D et al (2019) Blood pressure in de novo heart transplant recipients treated with everolimus compared with a cyclosporine-based regimen: results from the randomized SCHEDULE trial. Transplantation 103(4):781–788
- Anne K, Meroula R, Peter R, Phillip S, Andrew G, Gerry O'D et al (2004) Sirolimus in De Novo heart transplant recipients reduces acute rejection and prevents coronary artery disease at 2 years. Circulation 110(17):2694–2700. https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/01. CIR.0000136812.90177.94
- Ansari D, Höglund P, Andersson B, Nilsson J (2015a) Comparison of basiliximab and antithymocyte globulin as induction therapy in Pediatric heart transplantation: a survival analysis. J Am Heart Assoc 5(1):e002790
- Ansari D, Lund LH, Stehlik J, Andersson B, Höglund P, Edwards L et al (2015b) Induction with anti-thymocyte globulin in heart transplantation is associated with better long-term survival compared with basiliximab. J Heart Lung Transplant 34(10):1283–1291
- Aranda JM, Scornik JC, Normann SJ, Lottenberg R, Schofield RS, Pauly DF et al (2002) Anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody (rituximab) therapy for acute cardiac humoral rejection: a case report. Transplantation 73(6):907–910
- Arora S, Gude E, Sigurdardottir V, Mortensen SA, Eiskjær H, Riise G et al (2012) Improvement in renal function after everolimus introduction and calcineurin inhibitor reduction in maintenance thoracic transplant recipients: the significance of baseline glomerular filtration rate. J Heart Lung Transplant 31(3):259–265. https://www.jhltonline.org/article/S1053-2498(11)01259-9/abstract
- Arora S, Andreassen AK, Andersson B, Gustafsson F, Eiskjaer H, Bøtker HE et al (2015) The effect of Everolimus initiation and calcineurin inhibitor elimination on cardiac allograft vasculopathy in De novo recipients: one-year results of a Scandinavian randomized trial. Am J Transplant 15(7):1967–1975
- Arora S, Andreassen AK, Karason K, Gustafsson F, Eiskjær H, Bøtker HE et al (2018) Effect of Everolimus initiation and calcineurin inhibitor elimination on cardiac allograft vasculopathy in De Novo heart transplant recipients. Circ Heart Fail 11(9):e004050
- Ballow M (2011) The IgG molecule as a biological immune response modifier: mechanisms of action of intravenous immune serum globulin in autoimmune and inflammatory disorders. J Allergy Clin Immunol 127(2):315–23; quiz 324–5
- Baran DA, Lubitz S, Alvi S, Fallon JT, Kaplan S, Galin I et al (2004) Refractory humoral cardiac allograft rejection successfully treated with a single dose of rituximab. Transplant Proc 36(10): 3164–3166
- Barnard CN (1967) The operation. A human cardiac transplant: an interim report of a successful operation performed at Groote Schuur Hospital, Cape Town. South Afr Med J Suid-Afr Tydskr Vir Geneeskd 41(48):1271–1274
- Bennett WM (1996) Insights into chronic cyclosporine nephrotoxicity. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther 34(11):515–519
- Bourassa-Blanchette S, Patel V, Knoll GA, Hutton B, Fergusson N, Bennett A et al (2019) Clinical outcomes of polyvalent immunoglobulin use in solid organ transplant recipients: a systematic

review and meta-analysis – part II: non-kidney transplant. Clin Transpl 33(7):e13625. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/ctr.13625

- Campistol JM, Eris J, Oberbauer R, Friend P, Hutchison B, Morales JM et al (2006) Sirolimus therapy after early cyclosporine withdrawal reduces the risk for cancer in adult renal transplantation. J Am Soc Nephrol 17(2):581–589. https://jasn.asnjournals.org/content/17/2/581
- Carlsen J, Johansen M, Boesgaard S, Andersen CB, Arendrup H, Aldershvilet J et al (2005) Induction therapy after cardiac transplantation: a comparison of anti-thymocyte globulin and daclizumab in the prevention of acute rejection. J Heart Lung Transplant 24(3):296–302. https:// www.jhltonline.org/article/S1053-2498(04)00088-9/abstract
- Chen J, Wang Q, Yin D, Vu V, Sciammas R, Chong AS (2015) Cutting edge: CTLA-4Ig inhibits memory B cell responses and promotes allograft survival in sensitized recipients. J Immunol 195(9):4069–4073
- Chin C, Pittson S, Luikart H, Bernstein D, Robbins R, Reitz B et al (2005) Induction therapy for pediatric and adult heart transplantation: comparison between OKT3 and daclizumab. Transplantation 80(4):477–481
- Chivukula S, Shullo MA, Kormos RL, Bermudez CA, McNamara DM, Teuteberg JJ (2014) Cancer-free survival following alemtuzumab induction in heart transplantation. Transplant Proc 46(5):1481–1488
- Chou NK, Wang SS, Chen YS, Yu HY, Chi NH, Wang CH et al (2008) Induction immunosuppression with basiliximab in heart transplantation. Transplant Proc 40(8):2623–2625
- Collins WA, Humphreys RM, Davis MB, Ibele WE, Dworkin M, Kinsey J et al (1996) The crime of saving lives: the FDA, John Najarian, and Minnesota ALG. Arch Surg 131(4):451–452
- Costanzo MR (2001) New immunosuppressive drugs in heart transplantation. Curr Control Trials Cardiovasc Med 2(1):45–53. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC59653/
- Coutance G, Ouldamar S, Rouvier P, Saheb S, Suberbielle C, Bréchot N et al (2015) Late antibodymediated rejection after heart transplantation: mortality, graft function, and fulminant cardiac allograft vasculopathy. J Heart Lung Transplant 34(8):1050–1057
- Cuppoletti A, Perez-Villa F, Vallejos I, Roig E (2005) Experience with single-dose daclizumab in the prevention of acute rejection in heart transplantation. Transplant Proc 37(9):4036–4038
- Delgado DH, Miriuka SG, Cusimano RJ, Feindel C, Rao V, Ross HJ (2005) Use of basiliximab and cyclosporine in heart transplant patients with pre-operative renal dysfunction. J Heart Lung Transplant 24(2):166–169
- Delgado JF, Vaqueriza D, Sánchez V, Escribano P, Ruiz-Cano MJ, Renes E et al (2011) Induction treatment with monoclonal antibodies for heart transplantation. Transplant Rev 25(1):21–26. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0955470X10000728
- Donna M, Sean P, Daniel B, John LM, Silviu I, Elizabeth B et al (2003) Use of rapamycin slows progression of cardiac transplantation vasculopathy. Circulation 108(1):48–53. https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/full/10.1161/01.CIR.0000070421.38604.2B
- Edwards JJ, Seliktar N, White R, Heron SD, Lin K, Rossano J et al (2019) Impact and predictors of positive response to desensitization in Pediatric heart transplant candidates. J Heart Lung Transplant 38(11):1206–1213. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6827717/
- Eisen HJ, Tuzcu EM, Dorent R, Kobashigawa J, Mancini D, Valantine-von Kaeppler HA et al (2003) Everolimus for the prevention of allograft rejection and vasculopathy in cardiactransplant recipients. N Engl J Med 349(9):847–858. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa022171
- Eisen HJ, Kobashigawa J, Starling RC, Pauly DF, Kfoury A, Ross H et al (2013) Everolimus versus mycophenolate mofetil in heart transplantation: a randomized, multicenter trial. Am J Transplant 13(5):1203–1216. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/ajt.12181
- Enderby CY, Habib P, Patel PC, Yip DS, Orum S, Hosenpud JD (2014) Belatacept maintenance in a heart transplant recipient. Transplantation 98(7):e74. https://journals.lww.com/transplantjournal/Fulltext/2014/10150/Belatacept_Maintenance_in_a_Heart_Transplant.21. aspx

- Engelen MA, Amler S, Welp H, Vahlhaus C, Gunia S, Sindermann JR et al (2011) Prospective study of everolimus with calcineurin inhibitor-free immunosuppression in maintenance heart transplant patients: results at 2 years. Transplantation 91(10):1159–1165
- Eugenia R, Jang-Ho B, Zain K, Edwards BS, Kremers WK, Clavell AL et al (2007) Conversion to sirolimus as primary immunosuppression attenuates the progression of allograft vasculopathy after cardiac transplantation. Circulation 116(23):2726–2733. https://www.ahajournals.org/ doi/10.1161/circulationaha.107.692996
- Everly MJ, Terasaki PI, Trivedi HL (2012) Durability of antibody removal following proteasome inhibitor-based therapy. Transplantation 93(6):572–577. https://journals.lww.com/ transplantjournal/Fulltext/2012/03270/Durability_of_Antibody_Removal_Following.2.aspx
- Fernandez Rivera C, Alonso Hernandez A, Villaverde Verdejo P, Oliver García J, Valdés Cañedo F (2005) Basiliximab (Simulect) in renal transplantation with high risk for delayed graft function. Transplant Proc 37(3):1435–1437
- Gale SE, Ravichandran B, Ton V-K, Pham S, Reed BN (2019) Alemtuzumab induction versus conventional immunosuppression in heart transplant recipients. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther 24(5):435–441
- Garrett HE, Duvall-Seaman D, Helsley B, Groshart K (2005) Treatment of vascular rejection with rituximab in cardiac transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 24(9):1337–1342
- Guba M, von Breitenbuch P, Steinbauer M, Koehl G, Flegel S, Hornung M et al (2002) Rapamycin inhibits primary and metastatic tumor growth by antiangiogenesis: involvement of vascular endothelial growth factor. Nat Med 8(2):128–135
- Guethoff S, Stroeh K, Grinninger C, Koenig MA, Kleinert EC, Rieger A et al (2015) De novo sirolimus with low-dose tacrolimus versus full-dose tacrolimus with mycophenolate mofetil after heart transplantation--8-year results. J Heart Lung Transplant 34(5):634–642
- Gustafsson F, Andreassen AK, Andersson B, Eiskjær H, Rådegran G, Gude E et al (2020) Everolimus initiation with early calcineurin inhibitor withdrawal in De novo heart transplant recipients: long-term follow-up from the randomized SCHEDULE study. Transplantation 104(1):154–164. https://journals.lww.com/transplantjournal/Fulltext/2020/01000/Everolimus_ Initiation_With_Early_Calcineurin.31.aspx
- Hershberger RE, Starling RC, Eisen HJ, Bergh C-H, Kormos RL, Love RB et al (2009) Daclizumab to prevent rejection after cardiac transplantation. Massachusetts Medical Society. https://www. nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJMoa032953
- Higgins R, Kirklin JK, Brown RN, Rayburn BK, Wagoner L, Oren R et al (2005) To induce or not to induce: do patients at greatest risk for fatal rejection benefit from cytolytic induction therapy? J Heart Lung Transplant 24(4):392–400. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S10 53249804000348
- Jennings DL, Lange N, Shullo M, Latif F, Restaino S, Topkara VK et al (2018) Outcomes associated with mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitors in heart transplant recipients: a meta-analysis. Int J Cardiol 265:71-76. https://www. internationaljournalofcardiology.com/article/S0167-5273(18)31103-3/abstract
- John R, Lietz K, Burke E, Ankersmit J, Mancini D, Suciu-Foca N et al (1999) Intravenous immunoglobulin reduces anti-HLA alloreactivity and shortens waiting time to cardiac transplantation in highly sensitized left ventricular assist device recipients. Circulation 100(19 Suppl):II229–II235
- Khuu T, Cadeiras M, Wisniewski N, Reed EF, Deng MC (2015) Reduced HLA class II antibody response to proteasome inhibition in heart transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 34(6): 863–865. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S105324981501030X
- Kittipibul V, Tantrachoti P, Ongcharit P, Ariyachaipanich A, Siwamogsatham S, Sritangsirikul S et al (2017) Low-dose basiliximab induction therapy in heart transplantation. Clin Transpl 31(12). https://doi.org/10.1111/ctr.13132
- Kobashigawa J, David K, Morris J, Chu AH, Steffen BJ, Gotz VP et al (2005) Daclizumab is associated with decreased rejection and no increased mortality in cardiac transplant patients receiving MMF, cyclosporine, and corticosteroids. Transplant Proc 37(2):1333–1339

- Kobashigawa JA, Patel JK, Kittleson MM, Kawano MA, Kiyosaki KK, Davis SN et al (2011) The long-term outcome of treated sensitized patients who undergo heart transplantation. Clin Transpl 25(1) https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3829691/
- Kobashigawa JA, Pauly DF, Starling RC, Eisen H, Ross H, Wang S-S et al (2013a) Cardiac allograft vasculopathy by intravascular ultrasound in heart transplant patients: substudy from the Everolimus versus mycophenolate mofetil randomized, multicenter trial. JACC Heart Fail 1(5):389–399
- Kobashigawa J, Ross H, Bara C, Delgado JF, Dengler T, Lehmkuhl HB et al (2013b) Everolimus is associated with a reduced incidence of cytomegalovirus infection following de novo cardiac transplantation. Transpl Infect Dis 15(2):150–162
- Kumar D, Yakubu I, Cooke RH, Halloran PF, Gupta G (2018) Belatacept rescue for delayed kidney allograft function in a patient with previous combined heart-liver transplant. Am J Transplant 18(10):2613–2614. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/ajt.15003
- Kushwaha SS, Raichlin E, Sheinin Y, Kremers WK, Chandrasekaran K, Brunn GJ et al (2008) Sirolimus affects cardiomyocytes to reduce left ventricular mass in heart transplant recipients. Eur Heart J 29(22):2742–2750. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2721707/
- Launay M, Guitard J, Dorent R, Prevot Y, Prion F, Beaumont L et al (2020) Belatacept-based immunosuppression: a calcineurin inhibitor-sparing regimen in heart transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 20(2):553–563
- Lehmkuhl HB, Arizon J, Viganò M, Almenar L, Gerosa G, Maccherini M et al (2009) Everolimus with reduced cyclosporine versus MMF with standard cyclosporine in de novo heart transplant recipients. Transplantation 88(1):115–122
- Li KHC, Ho JCS, Recaldin B, Gong M, Ho J, Li G et al (2018) Acute cellular rejection and infection rates in alemtuzumab vs traditional induction therapy agents for lung and heart transplantation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Transplant Proc 50(10):3723–3731
- Lick SD, Vaidya S, Kollar AC, Boor PJ, Vertrees RA (2008) Peri-operative alemtuzumab (Campath-1H) and plasmapheresis for high-PRA positive lymphocyte crossmatch heart transplant: a strategy to shorten left ventricular assist device support. J Heart Lung Transplant 27(9): 1036–1039
- López-Vilella R, Sánchez-Lázaro IJ, Martínez-Dolz L, Almenar-Bonet L, Marqués-Sulé E, Melero-Ferrer J et al (2015) Incidence of development of obesity after heart transplantation according to the calcineurin inhibitor. Transplant Proc 47(1):127–129. https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0041134514012779
- Ludwig B, Schneider J, Föll D, Zhou Q (2020) Antibody-mediated rejection with detection of de novo donor-specific anti-human leucocyte antigen class II antibodies 3 years after heart transplantation: a case report. Eur Heart J Case Rep 4(1):1–4. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC7047055/
- Lund LH, Edwards LB, Kucheryavaya AY, Benden C, Christie JD, Dipchand AI et al (2014) The Registry of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation: thirty-first official adult heart transplant report—2014; focus theme: retransplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 33(10):996–1008. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1053249814012601
- Mahmud N, Klipa D, Ahsan N (2010) Antibody immunosuppressive therapy in solid-organ transplant. MAbs 2(2):148–156. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2840233/
- Martin ST, Powell JT, Patel M, Tsapepas D (2013) Risk of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder associated with use of belatacept. Am J Health-Syst Pharm 70(22):1977–1983
- Martin ST, Kato TS, Farr M, McKeen JT, Cheema F, Ji M et al (2015) Similar survival in patients following heart transplantation receiving induction therapy using daclizumab vs. basiliximab. Circ J 79(2):368–374
- Mattei MF, Redonnet M, Gandjbakhch I, Bandini AM, Billes A, Epailly E et al (2007) Lower risk of infectious deaths in cardiac transplant patients receiving basiliximab versus anti-thymocyte globulin as induction therapy. J Heart Lung Transplant 26(7):693–699
- Mudge Gilbert H (2007) Sirolimus and cardiac transplantation. Circulation 116(23):2666–2668. https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.737965

- Mueller XM (2004) Drug immunosuppression therapy for adult heart transplantation. Part 1: immune response to allograft and mechanism of action of immunosuppressants. Ann Thorac Surg 77(1):354–362. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0003497503017879
- Mullen JC, Kuurstra EJ, Oreopoulos A, Bentley MJ, Wang S (2014) A randomized controlled trial of daclizumab versus anti-thymocyte globulin induction for heart transplantation. Transplant Res 3(1):14. https://doi.org/10.1186/2047-1440-3-14
- Nozohoor S, Stehlik J, Lund LH, Ansari D, Andersson B, Nilsson J (2020) Induction immunosuppression strategies and long-term outcomes after heart transplantation. Clin Transpl 34(7): e13871
- Ortiz V, Almenar L, Martínez-Dolz L, Zorio E, Chamorro C, Moro J et al (2006) Induction therapy with daclizumab in heart transplantation--how many doses? Transplant Proc 38(8):2541–2543
- Patel J, Everly M, Chang D, Kittleson M, Reed E, Kobashigawa J (2011) Reduction of alloantibodies via proteosome inhibition in cardiac transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 30(12):1320–1326. https://www.jhltonline.org/article/S1053-2498(11)01110-7/abstract
- Patel J, Reinsmoen N, Kittleson M, Dilibero D, Liou F, Chang DH et al (2015a) Plasmapheresis and bortezomib for sensitized patients awaiting heart transplantation - worth the effort? J Heart Lung Transplant 34(4):S30–S31. https://www.jhltonline.org/article/S1053-2498(15)00099-6/abstract
- Patel J, Dilibero D, Kittleson M, Sana S, Liou F, Chang DH et al (2015b) Terminal complement inhibition for highly sensitized patients undergoing heart transplantation - doable? J Heart Lung Transplant 34(4):S31. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S105324981500100X
- Patel JK, Coutance G, Loupy A, Dilibero D, Hamilton M, Kittleson M et al (2021) Complement inhibition for prevention of antibody-mediated rejection in immunologically high-risk heart allograft recipients. Am J Transplant. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/ajt.16420
- Penninga L, Møller CH, Gustafsson F, Steinbrüchel DA, Gluud C (2010) Tacrolimus versus cyclosporine as primary immunosuppression after heart transplantation: systematic review with meta-analyses and trial sequential analyses of randomised trials. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 66(12):1177–1187
- Petrakopoulou P, Anthopoulou L, Muscholl M, Klauss V, von Scheidt W, Überfuhr P et al (2006) Coronary endothelial vasomotor function and vascular Remodeling in heart transplant recipients randomized for tacrolimus or cyclosporine immunosuppression. J Am Coll Cardiol 47(8): 1622–1629. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0735109706001690
- Petrikovits E, Bedanova H, Necas J, Studenik P, Cerny J (2005) Daclizumab in the induction phase of immunosuppression in heart transplant recipients. Ann Transplant 10(3):5–10. https://www.annalsoftransplantation.com/download/index/idArt/433648
- Potena L, Prestinenzi P, Bianchi IG, Masetti M, Romani P, Magnani G et al (2012) Cyclosporine lowering with everolimus versus mycophenolate mofetil in heart transplant recipients: longterm follow-up of the SHIRAKISS randomized, prospective study. J Heart Lung Transplant 31(6):565–570. https://www.jhltonline.org/article/S1053-2498(12)00014-9/abstract
- Potena L, Pellegrini C, Grigioni F, Amarelli C, Livi U, Maccherini M et al (2018) Optimizing the safety profile of Everolimus by delayed initiation in De Novo heart transplant recipients: results of the prospective randomized study EVERHEART. Transplantation 102(3):493–501
- Rabea A, Alexandros B, Kremers WK, Rosalyn A, Boilson BA, Pereira NL et al (2018) Long-term sirolimus for primary immunosuppression in heart transplant recipients. J Am Coll Cardiol 71(6):636–650. https://www.jacc.org/doi/full/10.1016/j.jacc.2017.12.005
- Ravichandran AK, Schilling JD, Novak E, Pfeifer J, Ewald GA, Joseph SM (2013) Rituximab is associated with improved survival in cardiac allograft patients with antibody-mediated rejection: a single center review. Clin Transpl 27(6):961–967
- Sacha L, Teuteberg JJ, Zeevi A, Bermudez C, Kormos R, Ensor C et al (2014) Carfilzomib for refractory antibody mediated rejection and allosensitization in heart transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 33(4):S31. https://www.jhltonline.org/article/S1053-2498(14)00126-0/ abstract
- Sánchez-Lázaro IJ, Almenar-Bonet L, Martínez-Dolz L, Buendía-Fuentes F, Navarro-Manchón J, Raso-Raso R et al (2010) Preliminary results of a prospective randomized study of cyclosporine
versus tacrolimus in the development of cardiac allograft vasculopathy at 1 year after heart transplantation. Transplant Proc 42(8):3199–3200. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S004113451000713X

- Schweiger M, Wasler A, Prenner G, Stiegler P, Stadlbauer V, Schwarz M et al (2006) Everolimus and reduced cyclosporine trough levels in maintenance heart transplant recipients. Transpl Immunol 16(1):46–51
- Segovia J, Rodríguez-Lambert JL, Crespo-Leiro MG, Almenar L, Roig E, Gómez-Sánchez MA et al (2006) A randomized multicenter comparison of basiliximab and muromonab (OKT3) in heart transplantation: SIMCOR study. Transplantation 81(11):1542–1548. https://journals.lww. com/transplantjournal/Fulltext/2006/06150/A_Randomized_Multicenter_Comparison_of_ Basiliximab.8.aspx
- Söderlund C, Rådegran G (2015) Immunosuppressive therapies after heart transplantation the balance between under- and over-immunosuppression. Transplant Rev 29(3):181–189. https:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0955470X15000099
- Starling RC, Hare JM, Hauptman P, McCurry KR, Mayer HW, Kovarik JM et al (2004) Therapeutic drug monitoring for everolimus in heart transplant recipients based on exposure–effect modeling. Am J Transplant 4(12):2126–2131. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.104 6/j.1600-6143.2004.00601.x
- Starling RC, Armstrong B, Bridges ND, Eisen H, Givertz MM, Kfoury AG et al (2019) Accelerated allograft vasculopathy with rituximab after cardiac transplantation. J Am Coll Cardiol 74(1): 36–51
- Stegall MD, Diwan T, Raghavaiah S, Cornell LD, Burns J, Dean PG et al (2011) Terminal complement inhibition decreases antibody-mediated rejection in sensitized renal transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 11(11):2405–2413. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/ abs/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011.03757.x
- Stypmann J, Engelen MA, Eckernkemper S, Amler S, Gunia S, Sindermann JR et al (2011) Calcineurin inhibitor-free immunosuppression using everolimus (certican) after heart transplantation: 2 years' follow-up from the University Hospital Münster. Transplant Proc 43(5): 1847–1852. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0041134511002740
- Tarek E-S, Belperio John A, Strieter Robert M, Remick Daniel G, Fairchild Robert L (2005) Inhibition of polymorphonuclear leukocyte-mediated graft damage synergizes with short-term costimulatory blockade to prevent cardiac allograft rejection. Circulation 112(3):320–331. https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104.516708
- Teuteberg JJ, Shullo MA, Zomak R, Toyoda Y, McNamara DM, Bermudez C et al (2010) Alemtuzumab induction prior to cardiac transplantation with lower intensity maintenance immunosuppression: one-year outcomes. Am J Transplant 10(2):382–388
- Thibodeau JT, Mishkin JD, Patel PC, Kaiser PA, Ayers CR, Mammen PPA et al (2013) Tolerability of sirolimus: a decade of experience at a single cardiac transplant center. Clin Transpl 27(6): 945–952
- Thrush PT, Pahl E, Naftel DC, Pruitt E, Everitt MD, Missler H et al (2016) A multi-institutional evaluation of antibody-mediated rejection utilizing the pediatric heart transplant study database: incidence, therapies and outcomes. J Heart Lung Transplant 35(12):1497–1504. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1053249816301929
- Tönshoff B (2020) Immunosuppressants in organ transplantation. In: Kiess W, Schwab M, van den Anker J (eds) Pediatric pharmacotherapy. Springer, Cham, pp 441–469. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 164_2019_331
- Vera M-S, Branislav S, Miodrag P (2017) Modern immunosuppressive agents after heart transplantation. Curr Trends Cardiol 1(2) https://www.alliedacademies.org/abstract/modern-immunosup pressive-agents-after-heart-transplantation-8676.html
- Viganò M, Tuzcu M, Benza R, Boissonnat P, Haverich A, Hill J et al (2007) Prevention of acute rejection and allograft vasculopathy by everolimus in cardiac transplants recipients: a 24-month analysis. J Heart Lung Transplant 26(6):584–592. https://www.jhltonline.org/article/S1053-24 98(07)00254-9/abstract

- Viganò M, Dengler T, Mattei MF, Poncelet A, Vanhaecke J, Vermes E et al (2010) Lower incidence of cytomegalovirus infection with everolimus versus mycophenolate mofetil in de novo cardiac transplant recipients: a randomized, multicenter study. Transpl Infect Dis 12(1):23–30. https:// onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1399-3062.2009.00448.x
- Wang M-H, Milekhin V, Zhang H, Huang H-Z (2003) FTY720, a new immunosuppressant, as rescue therapy in mouse cardiac transplantation. Acta Pharmacol Sin 24(9):847–852
- Wang SS, Chou NK, Chi NH, Wu IH, Chen YS, Yu HY et al (2008) Heart transplantation under cyclosporine or tacrolimus combined with mycophenolate mofetil or everolimus. Transplant Proc 40(8):2607–2608. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0041134508011500
- Wang S-S, Chou N-K, Chi N-H, Huang S-C, Wu I-H, Wang C-H et al (2010) The survival of heart transplant recipients using cyclosporine and everolimus is not inferior to that using cyclosporine and mycophenolate. Transplant Proc 42(3):938–939
- Wang W, Yin H, Li X, Hu X, Yang X, Liu H et al (2012) A retrospective comparison of the efficacy and safety in kidney transplant recipients with basiliximab and anti-thymocyte globulin. Chin Med J 125(6):1135–1140
- Wang R, Moura LAZ, Lopes SV, da Costa FDA, Souza Filho NFS, Fernandes TL et al (2015) Reduced progression of cardiac allograft vasculopathy with routine use of induction therapy with basiliximab. Arg Bras Cardiol 105(2):176–183
- Whitson BA, Kilic A, Lehman A, Wehr A, Hasan A, Haas G et al (2015) Impact of induction immunosuppression on survival in heart transplant recipients: a contemporary analysis of agents. Clin Transpl 29(1):9–17
- Yan T, Tal H, Eugenia R, Boilson BA, Schirger JA, Pereira NL et al (2012) Sirojlimus as primary immunosuppression attenuates allograft vasculopathy with improved late survival and decreased cardiac events after cardiac transplantation. Circulation 125(5):708–720. https:// www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.040360
- Ye F, Ying-Bin X, Yu-Guo W, Hetzer R (2009) Tacrolimus versus cyclosporine microemulsion for heart transplant recipients: a meta-analysis. In: Database of abstracts of reviews of effects (DARE): quality-assessed reviews. Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (UK). https://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK78512/
- Zuckermann A, Keogh A, Crespo-Leiro MG, Mancini D, Vilchez FG, Almenar L et al (2012) Randomized controlled trial of sirolimus conversion in cardiac transplant recipients with renal insufficiency. Am J Transplant 12(9):2487–2497. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/ abs/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2012.04131.x
- Zuckermann A, Eisen H, Tai SS, Li H, Hahn C, Crespo-Leiro MG (2014) Sirolimus conversion after heart transplant: risk factors for acute rejection and predictors of renal function response. Am J Transplant 14(9):2048–2054. https://pennstate.pure.elsevier.com/en/publications/ sirolimus-conversion-after-heart-transplant-risk-factors-for-acut



Adverse Effects of Immunosuppression: Infections

Guy Handley and Jonathan Hand

Contents

Introduction						
Non-Biologic Disease-Modifying Therapies and Disease-Modifying Antirheumatic						
Drugs	289					
2.1 Methotrexate	289					
2.2 Aminosalicylates	289					
2.3 Pyrimidine Synthesis Inhibitors	290					
2.4 Thiopurines	290					
2.5 Sphingosine Analog	290					
2.6 Dimethyl Fumarate	291					
Janus Kinase (JAK) Inhibitors	291					
Integrin Antibodies and Adhesion-Molecule Inhibitors	292					
4.1 Natalizumab	292					
4.2 Vedolizumab	293					
Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF)-Alpha Inhibitors	294					
T-Cell Costimulatory Blockers	295					
6.1 Abatacept	295					
6.2 Belatacept	295					
Selective B-Cell Depletion and Inhibition	296					
7.1 Anti-CD 20 Monoclonal Antibodies	296					
7.1.1 Rituximab	296					
7.1.2 Obinutuzumab, Ofatumumab, Ocrelizumab	297					
7.2 Other Anti-B-Cell Agents	297					
7.3 Lymphocyte Depleting Agents	297					
7.3.1 Alemtuzumab	297					
	Introduction Non-Biologic Disease-Modifying Therapies and Disease-Modifying Antirheumatic Drugs 2.1 Methotrexate 2.2 Aminosalicylates 2.3 Pyrimidine Synthesis Inhibitors 2.4 Thiopurines 2.5 Sphingosine Analog 2.6 Dimethyl Fumarate Janus Kinase (JAK) Inhibitors Integrin Antibodies and Adhesion-Molecule Inhibitors 4.1 Natalizumab 4.2 Vedolizumab Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF)-Alpha Inhibitors T-Cell Costimulatory Blockers 6.1 Abatacept 6.2 Belatacept Selective B-Cell Depletion and Inhibition 7.1 Rituximab 7.1.1 Rituximab 7.1.2 Obinutuzumab, Ofatumumab, Ocrelizumab 7.2 Other Anti-B-Cell Agents 7.3 Lymphocyte Depleting Agents 7.3.1 Alemtuzumab					

G. Handley

Division of Infectious Disease and International Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Morsani College of Medicine, University of South Florida, Tampa, FL, USA

J. Hand (🖂)

Department of Infectious Diseases, Ochsner Health, The University of Queensland School of Medicine, Ochsner Clinical School, New Orleans, LA, USA e-mail: Jonathan.Hand@ochsner.org

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

	7.3.2 Antithymocyte Globulin	298					
	7.3.3 Brentuximab Vedotin	298					
8	Interleukin Inhibitors	298					
	8.1 IL-1 Inhibitors	298					
	8.2 IL-2 Inhibitors	299					
	8.3 IL-6 Inhibitors	300					
	8.4 Tocilizumab	300					
	8.5 IL-12/23 Inhibitors	301					
9 Complement Inhibitor							
10	Calcineurin Inhibitors						
11	Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) Inhibitors						
12	2 Mycophenolic Acids						
Refe	ferences	304					

Keywords

Immunocompromised hosts · Immunosuppression · Opportunistic infection · Transplant and immunocompromised infectious diseases

1 Introduction

Immunosuppressive therapies are currently indicated for a wide range of diseases. As new agents emerge and indications evolve the landscape grows increasingly complex. Therapies can target pathologic immune system over-activation in rheumatologic or autoimmune disease, or conditioning and graft versus host disease (GVHD) prophylactic regimens may eliminate or inhibit host immune function to improve graft survival and risk of complication in solid organ transplantation (SOT) or hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT). With immunosuppressive therapy, infections occur. Complex disease states, host factors, and concomitant therapies contribute to a "net state" of immunosuppression that must be considered and may confound perceived increased infection risks in patients receiving treatment (Roberts and Fishman 2020).

Agents that broadly act across the immune system in dose-dependent fashion, such as corticosteroids, non-myeloablative and myeloablative chemotherapy, predispose patients to a host of bacterial, viral, and fungal infections including opportunistic infections such as *Pneumocystis jirovecii pneumonia* (PJP), tuberculosis or hepatitis B reactivation. Risk factors, mechanisms of immunosuppression, and epidemiology among these broad agents are extensively reviewed elsewhere and will not be covered here. Targeted therapies, both biologic and non-biologic, selectively inhibit the immune system and carry specific individual risks which we aim to describe.

A collection of targeted therapies utilized for patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), multiple sclerosis (MS), rheumatologic diseases, HSCT and SOT are presented, but this chapter is by no means comprehensive. New therapies continue to be developed, and current ones are too numerous to be collected here. These patient

populations are preemptively screened and treated (or receive prophylaxis) for opportunistic infections such as tuberculosis, hepatitis B reactivation, cytomegalovirus (CMV), or toxoplasmosis. This may mitigate infectious risks of therapeutic agents, as pathogens are identified and treated before clinical disease develops. Screening and prevention measures (including immunizations and prophylaxis regimens) as suggested by consensus or local guidelines are assumed and may continue to change as new evidence emerges. A table of hepatitis B reactivation general reactivation risks with monitoring and prevention risks and recommendations based on societal and expert guidance is included at the end of this chapter. Data from published trials, expert opinions, and longitudinal safety monitoring regarding infectious risks associated with therapeutic agents are presented and may be incorporated at the bedside with standards of practice for each individual patient.

2 Non-Biologic Disease-Modifying Therapies and Disease-Modifying Antirheumatic Drugs

2.1 Methotrexate

Methotrexate is employed in rheumatologic, oncologic, and inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD) often as a backbone therapy. It inhibits folic acid metabolism and cytokine production, increases extracellular adenosine, induces peripheral T-cell apoptosis, suppresses IL-1 β and IL-6, and broadly inhibits leukocyte activity (Gerards et al. 2003; Walling 2006). Myelosuppression commonly follows and predisposes to infection though inconclusively at lower dosages (Cronstein 1996). Infection risk is highest shortly after initiation and sporadic cases of opportunistic infection have been reported (Kaneko et al. 2006). Tuberculosis reactivation may occur but studies showing a definitive link are lacking (Sadovici et al. 2013). Screening is reasonable, particularly in high prevalence areas or with expectation of future therapies (Sadovici et al. 2013). Studies demonstrating increased infection risk are mixed. A large meta-analysis of placebo-controlled trials in rheumatoid arthritis (RA) showed a small but significant increased infection risk not seen in non-RA populations (Ibrahim et al. 2018).

2.2 Aminosalicylates

Sulfasalazine and its component metabolite 5-aminosalicyclic acid (5-ASA) are utilized in IBD. Multiple formulations of 5-ASA are available with differing delivery sites. Mechanisms of action are not clearly defined, but could include inhibition of prostaglandins, cytokines, lymphocyte DNA synthesis, IL-2 production, or lymphocyte adhesion and function (Rousseaux et al. 2005). Specific infectious risks are not defined. Agranulocytosis and leukopenia occur with sulfasalazine and could predispose patients to infection (Jick et al. 1995). This does not extend to 5-ASA

formulations. Scattered cases of hypersensitivity reactions to sulfasalazine with detectable herpes viruses exist; however, these are limited and without causal proof (Komatsuda et al. 2008; Tohyama et al. 1998). One study reported reductions in surgical site infections in rheumatoid arthritis patients on sulfasalazine compared to other therapies which they proposed may be due to bacterial folic acid synthesis inhibition (den Broeder et al. 2007). No definitive evidence of infectious risk to opportunistic infections is established but risks of agranulocytosis and leukopenia should be considered.

2.3 Pyrimidine Synthesis Inhibitors

Pyrimidine synthesis inhibitors include leflunomide, and its active metabolite teriflunomide. They prevent T-cell activation by antigen presenting cells (Zeyda et al. 2005). They are prescribed in rheumatologic disease and MS but have been used in IBD (O'Connor et al. 2011; Prajapati et al. 2003). Randomized control trials for teriflunomide in MS did not show increased rates of infection compared to placebo and reported only 1 case of intestinal tuberculosis (O'Connor et al. 2011; Confavreux et al. 2014). Two cases of CMV were reported, but leflunomide is active against CMV by theoretical viral capsid formation inhibition (Ariza-Heredia et al. 2014). Active tuberculosis occurs in patients receiving leflunomide though is limited to case reports (Grover et al. 2006). Viral hepatitis screening should be performed before starting therapy due to potential drug hepatotoxicity and possible enhancement of hepatitis B replication (Hoppe-Seyler et al. 2012).

2.4 Thiopurines

Use is declining but azathioprine and mercaptopurine are utilized in IBD, cancer, and certain autoimmune processes. They inhibit nucleic acid metabolism which can result in leukopenia early after initiation and at higher dosages, increasing risk of bacterial infection (Present et al. 1989). Cases of CMV infection are reported in patients with IBD, but leukopenia and the disease itself may be significant risk factors (Present et al. 1989; Hookey et al. 2003). Varicella zoster virus (VZV) reactivations may be more common but risk of specific opportunistic infections is unclear (Gupta et al. 2006).

2.5 Sphingosine Analog

Fingolimod, and newer agents siponimod and ozanimod, function as a sphingosine 1-phosphate analogs causing lymphatic sequestration of lymphocytes (Chun and Hartung 2010). Two, 24-month placebo controlled trials in MS did not demonstrate increased infection rates (though over half reported upper respiratory tract infections), but reported increased mucocutaneous herpes simplex (HSV) and

VZV infections in treatment arms (Calabresi et al. 2014; Kappos et al. 2010). Tuberculosis was reported in only one patient in either trial and reported a home exposure; viral hepatitis was not reported (Calabresi et al. 2014). Sporadic cryptococcus infections, including meningoencephalitis, have occurred (Achtnichts et al. 2015). A trial comparing fingolimod to interferon therapy found more cases of herpesvirus infections in the 1.25 mg arm including fatal cases of disseminated primary VZV and HSV encephalitis (Cohen et al. 2010). No cases of HBV reactivation were reported and standardized screening was not performed. At least nine rare cases of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML) have occurred including one patient without a history of natalizumab administration (Berger 2017). Additional studies document severe VZV infection with fingolimod solidifying the association (Gross et al. 2012; Ratchford et al. 2012). Trials of siponimod report increased VZV infections (Kappos et al. 2018). Trials of ozanimod, a selective inhibitor of sphingosine 1-phosphate receptor subtypes 1 and 5, compared to interferon ß1a did not show increased rates of VZV infection, but patients were screened for VZV serology or VZV vaccination history prior to enrollment (Comi et al. 2019). Varicella zoster serostatus evaluation and vaccination should be performed prior to therapy (Arvin et al. 2015).

2.6 Dimethyl Fumarate

Dimethyl fumarate activates nuclear 1 factor-like 2 enhancing antioxidant response and altering dendritic cell differentiation in MS (Gold et al. 2012). Randomized, placebo-controlled trials report infections in a majority of patients, typically upper respiratory infections (URI) and urinary tract infections (UTI), but rates did not differ among treatment groups (Gold et al. 2012; Fox et al. 2012). No opportunistic infections were reported at 2 years in either trial and latent TB screening was not standardized. Longitudinal infectious risk is unclear, but there are sporadic case reports. PML has been documented, and at least 1 patient only received dimethyl fumarate (Sweetser et al. 2013). One case of severe disseminated VZV with neurologic deficits has occurred (Ma et al. 2016). Dimethyl fumarate has a favorable infection profile compared to placebo, though rare cases of PML warrant further study.

3 Janus Kinase (JAK) Inhibitors

Janus Kinase (JAK) inhibitors include tofacitinib, baricitinib, and upadacitinib. They are utilized in RA and IBD. Most experience is with tofacitinib. JAK inhibitors prevent lymphocyte activation through inhibition of inflammatory cytokines (Meyer et al. 2010). Large, placebo-controlled trials found increased rates of neutropenia and serious infections including cellulitis or abscesses though patients were often screened for HBV, hepatitis C (HCV), and TB (Fleischmann et al. 2012; Kremer et al. 2013; van der Heijde et al. 2013; van Vollenhoven et al. 2012). Trials also

report cases of tuberculosis (Fleischmann et al. 2012; Kremer et al. 2013; van der Heijde et al. 2013; van Vollenhoven et al. 2012). Opportunistic infections reported include PJP, cryptococcus infection, disseminated VZV, CMV sialadenitis, and esophageal candidiasis (van der Heijde et al. 2013; Lee et al. 2014). Longitudinal safety studies confirm an increased risk of VZV infection associated with tofacitinib (Winthrop et al. 2014). A trial of tofacitinib in IBD reported higher infection and VZV rates compared to placebo, highlighting the risk across multiple populations (Sandborn et al. 2017). A longitudinal safety study over eight years revealed no new opportunistic infection risk, but many patients with the potential for HBV reactivation were screened out of clinical trials (Cohen et al. 2017). Case reports of reactivation exist (Chen et al. 2018).

Trials of baricitinib report infections at similar rates compared to placebo (Dougados et al. 2017; Keystone et al. 2015; Tanaka et al. 2016). While two trials reported no opportunistic infections, Dougados et al. reported cases of TB and VZV in baricitinib groups (Dougados et al. 2017; Keystone et al. 2015; Tanaka et al. 2016). Trials for upadacitinib, a more selective JAK-1 inhibitor, continue but this agent appears to carry lower infectious risk compared to methotrexate (Smolen et al. 2019). Herpes zoster infection occurred more often with upadacitinib.

Ruxolitinib selectively inhibits JAK1 and JAK2 and is used to treat chronic GVHD after HSCT and myelofibrosis. Placebo-controlled trials in myelofibrosis reported cases of bacterial infection but differences between arms were not evaluated (Verstovsek et al. 2012). While no opportunistic infections were reported, case reports of cryptococcal infection, HBV reactivation, TB, CMV retinitis, and PML exist, but this may reflect the net state of immunosuppression rather than drug effect (Caocci et al. 2014; Colomba et al. 2012; von Hofsten et al. 2016; Wathes et al. 2013; Wysham et al. 2013). Increased cryptococcal infection risk exists and should be considered in differential diagnosis of fungemia, meningoencephalitis, or pneumonia in this population, but cases remain limited (Harvey et al. 2019). Future longitudinal studies may reveal risks. Vaccination for VZV and screening for opportunistic infections including TB and viral hepatitis should be performed prior to starting JAK inhibitors.

4 Integrin Antibodies and Adhesion-Molecule Inhibitors

4.1 Natalizumab

Selective adhesion-molecule inhibitors are prescribed for MS. Natalizumab functions as an $\alpha 4\beta 1$ integrin antibody (Epstein et al. 2018). An initial randomized, double-blind trial showed no difference in rates of infection between natalizumab and placebo groups (Miller et al. 2003). However, post-marketing studies and real-world experience have reported potential pathogens. Sporadic HSV or VZV cases including meningoencephalitis have been reported, suggesting a temporal relationship to drug therapy but studies demonstrating a link are lacking (Fine et al. 2013). Initial trials did not report latent TB reactivation, but similar integrins are involved in

immune response against pulmonary *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection (Polman et al. 2006; Rudick et al. 2006). Longitudinal studies have not found an increased risk of active TB (Mulero et al. 2012). Latent tuberculosis screening prior to natalizumab therapy is reasonable. At least one case of acute liver failure and death from HBV reactivation has been reported in a patient on natalizumab, but major trials did not report cases (Miller et al. 2003; Polman et al. 2006; Rudick et al. 2006; Hillen et al. 2015).

The most well-described infectious complication associated with natalizumab is PML. Studies have shown incidences from 2.13 to 20.7 per 1,000 treated patients (Schwab et al. 2017; Vennegoor et al. 2015). JC virus (JCV), the viral pathogen responsible for PML, seroprevalence stands at 50–90% of the adult population and clinical disease in immunocompetent hosts rarely occurs (Brew et al. 2010). In patients treated with natalizumab, prior immunosuppression, prolonged duration of treatment and JCV specific antibodies are risk factors for PML (Schwab et al. 2017). An expert panel recommends JCV serologic screening at baseline, 12 months after initiation, and every 6 months thereafter (McGuigan et al. 2016). After an anti-JCV antibody index level of 1.5, additional screening is not needed. Imaging, with MRI, should occur annually, with increasing frequency as anti-JCV antibody index increases, as findings may precede clinical disease (McGuigan et al. 2016). Once PML develops, outcomes are poor and neurologic sequelae are common (Brew et al. 2010). No therapies, other than cessation of natalizumab, have demonstrated significant treatment benefit though rare cases utilizing JC virus specific donor lymphocytes have shown potential promise for future study (Berzero et al. 2021). Trials have evaluated natalizumab in Crohn's disease but longitudinal studies are less robust (Ford et al. 2011).

4.2 Vedolizumab

Vedolizumab is a humanized monoclonal $\alpha 4\beta 7$ integrin antibody which selectively inhibits lymphocyte gastrointestinal tract migration and is utilized in the treatment of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis (Soler et al. 2009). Clinical trials in IBD reported no increases in infectious complications (Feagan et al. 2013; Parikh et al. 2012; Sandborn et al. 2013). Longitudinal reviews from these and other trials demonstrated a reduced infection rate overall with vedolizumab compared to placebo but higher rates of gastroenteritis (Colombel et al. 2017). Risk factors included prior anti-TNF failure, corticosteroid use, and narcotic analgesics. Tuberculosis was reported at a rate of 0.1 events per 100 patient years and 3 of the 4 recorded cases had negative latent tuberculosis screening testing at initiation. Hepatitis B reactivation was not reported, and although a clear risk has not been demonstrated with vedolizumab therapy, it is considered to carry a moderate risk of reactivation (Loomba and Liang 2017). Patients on vedolizumab have non-inferior immunologic responses to hepatitis B vaccination so it should be administered if indicated (Harrington et al. 2020). Notably 10% of reviewed patients reported unexplained neurologic symptoms but none were diagnosed with PML in a 2-year follow-up period (Colombel et al. 2017). The authors concluded that at a similar rate of JCV seropositivity, 6–7 cases would be expected if vedolizumab had a similar PML risk as natalizumab.

5 Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF)-Alpha Inhibitors

TNF-alpha inhibitors led to breakthrough advances in IBD and rheumatologic disease but carry infectious risks. Class drugs include monoclonal antibodies against TNF-alpha (adalimumab, golimumab, and infliximab), pegylated fragment of a humanized anti-TNF-alpha antibody (certolizumab), and soluble TNF-alpha receptor (etancercept). They inhibit neutrophil and macrophage function, granuloma formation and stability, increasing risks for granulomatous and intracellular infections (Harris et al. 2008). Extensive randomized trials show mixed rates of bacterial, fungal, and viral infections, but a large meta-analysis of 106 trials in rheumatologic patients showed increased risks of serious infection with standard dosing (Singh et al. 2015). Infectious risks may be highest early in therapy (Galloway et al. 2011). Higher TB risk exists for all agents, though etanercept may be lower, and screening should be standard (Dixon et al. 2010). Risk of non-tuberculous mycobacterial infections is also increased (Winthrop et al. 2013). Longitudinal studies demonstrate higher rates of granulomatous infection with infliximab than etancercept, and cases of coccidioidomycosis, histoplasmosis, nocardiosis, cryptococcus, listeriosis, and candidiasis along with tuberculosis have been described (Wallis et al. 2004). Endemic mycoses infections occur earlier after therapy initiation and at higher rates compared to alternative agents (Bergstrom et al. 2004). Invasive fungal infection with aspergillus, zygomycetes, and PJP may occur (Wallis et al. 2004; Tsiodras et al. 2008). Most evidence presented covers studies of adalimumab, infliximab, or etancercept, but similar risks likely occur with certolizumab and golimumab for which additional longitudinal investigation is required (Keystone et al. 2009; Smolen et al. 2009).

Herpes zoster infection rates are higher after adalimumab and infliximab use (Strangfeld et al. 2009). Hepatitis B reactivation, including cases of fulminant hepatitis, has been documented (Zingarelli et al. 2009). Antiviral therapy has been utilized successfully while on anti-TNF-alpha therapy. Screening, including surface antigen and both core and surface antibodies, should be performed prior to initiation of therapy. Vaccination or antiviral prophylaxis should be given if indicated and anti-TNF-alpha treatment is needed (Table 1) (Singh et al. 2016; Di Bisceglie et al. 2015). Evidence indicating worsening of hepatitis C in chronic quiescent disease due to treatment is lacking, but screening should be performed. The American College of Rheumatology recommends etancercept as the drug of choice in patients with active hepatitis C if needed (Singh et al. 2016).

Infliximab may be also used for steroid-refractory GVHD after HSCT. While these patients have increased risks of fungal infection or CMV disease, infliximab carries an additional risk compared to other agents, particularly for invasive fungal infection and some experts recommend mold prophylaxis if infliximab is needed (Couriel et al. 2004). Screening for latent mycobacterial infection, viral hepatitis, and fungal infections in high-risk areas is recommended and should be performed before initiation of anti-TNF-alpha therapy. Active infection with these or other bacterial, viral, or fungal infections may preclude use. Prophylaxis could be considered with recurrent herpesvirus infection, chronic hepatitis B infection, or molds colonization and infection in HSCT patients.

6 T-Cell Costimulatory Blockers

6.1 Abatacept

Abatacept, the first T-cell costimulatory blocking agent developed, is a CTLA-4 IgG1 fusion protein which blocks CD28 binding and disrupts T-cell activation (Judge et al. 1996). Abatacept may be used to treat RA, psoriatic arthritis, and juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Infectious complications of abatacept are rare but bronchopulmonary infections have been most commonly observed. A 2009 meta-analysis found no differences in infection rates when comparing patients receiving abatacept to those receiving placebo (Salliot et al. 2009). Further, when compared to patients receiving TNF-alpha inhibitors and rituximab, patients receiving abatacept had a significantly lower risk of infections requiring hospitalization (Yun et al. 2016).

6.2 Belatacept

Belatacept, a daughter protein of abatacept and more potent T-cell inhibitor, selectively blocks costimulatory pathway for T-cell activation and is used as de novo or conversion from calcineurin inhibitor (CNI) maintenance immunosuppression after kidney transplantation (Perez et al. 2018). Data in liver and thoracic transplantation is limited though emerging. In the BENEFIT and BENEFIT-EXT trials urinary tract and CMV infections were most common but no differences were seen between intensive belatacept, less intensive belatacept, and cyclosporine treatment groups (Durrbach et al. 2016). Additionally, there were no differences in rates of serious infections between groups. A large, single-center, retrospective study found significantly higher rates of low level CMV viremia when belatacept was used without tacrolimus (Adams et al. 2017). This increased CMV rate was thought to be due to higher rates of rejection in this group which was treated with thymoglobulin and steroids. More recently, a single-center retrospective study of CMV seronegative kidney transplant recipients found a higher incidence of CMV viremia, higher rates of first-line antiviral failure, and longer time to virus clearance in CMV high-risk patients treated with de novo belatacept-based maintenance regimens when compared to those treated with tacrolimus (Karadkhele et al. 2021).

Early belatacept studies found increased rates of post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD) in recipients who were initially Epstein Barr virus (EBV)-seronegative resulting in an FDA boxed warning for belatacept use in these patients (Grinyo et al. 2010). Though belatacept should be avoided in EBV-seronegative recipients, a 2014 Cochrane systematic review found PTLD risk was similar in recipients receiving belatacept when compared to those receiving calcineurin inhibitors (CNI (Masson et al. 2014). Further, no differences in PTLD risk were seen between EBV seropositive and seronegative groups or between patients receiving high- or low-dose belatacept.

7 Selective B-Cell Depletion and Inhibition

7.1 Anti-CD 20 Monoclonal Antibodies

7.1.1 Rituximab

Rituximab, an anti-CD20-directed monoclonal antibody causes rapid depletion of B interactions, cells. interferes with Band T-cell can lead to hypogammaglobulinemia, and may have prolonged immune effects lasting 6--12 months or longer (Thiel et al. 2017). Hypogammaglobulinemia may predispose patients to recurrent sinopulmonary infections and may also require routine administration of intravenous immunoglobulin (Barmettler et al. 2018; Casulo et al. 2013). Late onset neutropenia has also been described and can occur an average 5 months after drug cessation and up to nearly 1 year and in certain high-risk patients, antibacterial prophylaxis has been used during prolonged periods of neutropenia (Breuer et al. 2014). Rituximab can be used for a range of B-cell malignancies, immune disorders such as refractory RA, and for desensitization of highly sensitized or ABO-incompatible transplant recipients, as well as antibody-mediated rejection. Fatal cases of HBV reactivation led to an FDA boxed warning for rituximab use in patients with HBV infection (Martin et al. 2014). All patients should be screened for HBV prior to initiation of rituximab and all other anti-CD20 agents and AASLD guidance for screening is described in Table 1. These agents should be discontinued in patients with HBV reactivations.

The varied and composite immune defects induced by rituximab use increases infectious risk in certain patients. Though trials of rituximab for RA have not demonstrated increased infectious risks, overall it is difficult to assess and estimate specific risks given the broad range of infectious risk in published studies, limited controlled trials, and heterogeneity of concomitant immunosuppressive agents (Grim et al. 2007; Kamar et al. 2010; Kelesidis et al. 2011; Shi et al. 2019). Other opportunistic infections such as PML caused by JC virus reactivation have been described and newer anti-CD20 agents may also increase risk (Focosi et al. 2019; Molloy and Calabrese 2012). Additionally, rates of PJP infection may be higher in patients receiving rituximab when compared to those on TNF-alpha inhibitors (Rutherford et al. 2018).

7.1.2 Obinutuzumab, Ofatumumab, Ocrelizumab

Obinutuzumab, a newer anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody with high in vitro potency, used for CLL and follicular lymphoma can increase the risk for severe respiratory tract infections and VZV reactivations, and invasive fungal infections after monotherapy have been reported (Mikulska et al. 2018; Tse et al. 2015). In a study of the anti-CD20 agent, ofatumumab, used for refractory B-cell CLL, half of the patients developed mild to moderate infections (Coiffier et al. 2008). Additionally, in a trial of ofatumumab for relapsing MS, the most common infections reported were upper respiratory tract infections (39%) and urinary tract infections (10%) (KESIMPTA 2020). Similarly, in studies of ocrelizumab, used for relapsing or primary progressive MS, patients have experienced upper and lower respiratory tract infections, as well as HSV and VZV reactivations though serious infections are uncommon (Hauser et al. 2020; Montalban et al. 2017). PML after ocrelizumab monotherapy is rare and limited to case reports (Focosi et al. 2019).

7.2 Other Anti-B-Cell Agents

Inotuzumab ozogamicin, an anti-CD22 antibody-drug conjugate, binds to CD22 resulting in internalization and release of ozogamicin which leads to apoptosis. In an open-label phase 3 trial of inotuzumab ozogamicin vs standard intensive chemo-therapy for relapsed or refractory B-cell ALL, febrile neutropenia was more common in the inotuzumab ozogamicin group but the incidence of sepsis and pneumonia was similar between groups (Kantarjian et al. 2016). Finally, belimumab is a monoclonal antibody blocking B-lymphocyte stimulator (BlyS) used for SLE. In a long-term safety study cellulitis and pneumonia were found to be the most common infectious complication (Merrill et al. 2012). Serious infections of the urinary tract, CMV, and PML have been reported (Merrill et al. 2012; Raisch et al. 2016).

7.3 Lymphocyte Depleting Agents

7.3.1 Alemtuzumab

Alemtuzumab is an anti-CD52 monoclonal antibody which causes profound and prolonged (up to 1 year) T- and B-cell depletion as well as neutropenia (Hillmen et al. 2007). It is used to treat MS, CLL, Hodgkin's and non-Hodgkin's lymphomas and is used after SOT to prevent (induction therapy) and treat graft rejection, and after alloHSCT to prevent and treat GVHD (Hillmen et al. 2007; Skoetz et al. 2012; Watson et al. 2005). Increased rates of CMV, HSV, and VZV have been seen in patients treated for NHL and MS and herpetic antiviral prophylaxis is typically used in HSCT and SOT recipients treated with alemtuzumab. During periods of alemtuzumab induced profound CD4 depletion, PJP risk is increased and anti-PJP prophylaxis is recommended. Interestingly, though infectious risk is perceived to be significant, and studies have reported this increased risk, similar rates of infections

have been seen when alemtuzumab has been compared to other induction regimens after kidney transplantation (Morgan et al. 2012). Alternatively, a single-center study found increased rates of opportunistic infections when alemtuzumab was used as rejection therapy when compared to induction therapy (Peleg et al. 2007).

7.3.2 Antithymocyte Globulin

Antithymocyte globulin (ATG) is a polyclonal immunoglobulin that depletes peripheral blood T-cells, B cells with immune effects persisting beyond 1 year. ATG is used to prevent (induction therapy) and treat graft rejection after SOT, certain hematologic disorders, and prevent and treat GVHD in allogeneic HSCT recipients. In the setting of long-lasting lymphopenia, herpesvirus infections, CMV, EBV, and EBV driven PTLD, BK virus, and PJP infections have been described (Arai et al. 2017; Charpentier et al. 2003; Issa and Fishman 2009). After SOT, CMV is common in the setting of ATG use without CMV antiviral prophylaxis (von Muller et al. 2006). An early trial of ATG compared to basiliximab found higher rates of UTIs and non-CMV herpesvirus infections but lower rates of CMV disease (Brennan et al. 2006). A recent meta-analysis found no difference in 1-year infection rate between patients receiving basiliximab when compared to ATG (Wang et al. 2018). Further, a recent single-center study of elderly patients found the use of ATG increased rates of infectious complications (UTIs and CMV) when compared to basiliximab (Pham et al. 2020). The infectious risk of ATG appears to be dose dependent (Issa and Fishman 2009; Kang et al. 2021).

7.3.3 Brentuximab Vedotin

Brentuximab vedotin is an anti-CD30 monoclonal antibody-drug conjugate that causes apoptosis by disrupting the microtubule network and is used for the treatment of relapsed and refractory Hodgkin lymphoma and anaplastic large T-cell lymphoma. Studies in patients after HSCT have provided prophylaxis for herpes viruses and PJP (Moskowitz et al. 2015). Though rare, PML after brentuximab vedotin use has been described (Carson et al. 2014). CMV reactivations, PJP, aspergillus, and pseudomonal pneumonias have been observed in patients receiving brentuximab (Gopal et al. 2012).

8 Interleukin Inhibitors

8.1 IL-1 Inhibitors

Interleukin-1 inhibitors include anakinra, canakinumab, and rilonacept. Clinical use is limited mainly to rheumatologic disease and cyclic fever syndromes. Downstream effects of IL-1 involve both innate and adaptive immunity (Mantovani et al. 2019).

Anakinra is a recombinant human IL-1 receptor antagonist with the most longitudinal data. Large, randomized, controlled trials report either a trend toward increased infections or no difference between groups without notable increased risk of opportunistic infections (Cohen et al. 2004; Fleischmann et al. 2003). It should be noted that patients in both treatment and control arms received corticosteroids and other DMARDs. While sinusitis and URIs were most common, Fleischmann et al. noted that 74% of patients developing serious infection were able to resume anakinra without additional problem (Fleischmann et al. 2003). An open-label follow-up of several of these patients did find one case each of atypical mycobacterial infection, histoplasmosis and candida esophagitis though two of the patients were on prednisone and/or methotrexate (Fleischmann et al. 2006). Subsequent meta-analyses have suggested this increased infection risk may only be at higher doses and also do not report cases of opportunistic infection (Salliot et al. 2009).

Rilonacept is a human dimeric fusion protein composed of an extracellular component of IL-1 receptor and the Fc portion of IgG1 which binds IL-1 subunits to inhibit activity. Higher rates of infection were shown in one early study but not found in another (Hoffman et al. 2008). Opportunistic infection was not reported in this study, but at least one case of *Mycobacterium avium* complex was documented and screening for tuberculosis is still recommended (Koo et al. 2011; Salvana and Salata 2009). Studies of canakinumab, an IL-1 β antibody, have shown higher rates of infection compared to placebo but no difference in rates of tuberculosis or reported cases of other opportunistic infections (De Benedetti et al. 2018; Ridker et al. 2017). Infection rates with IL-1 inhibitors may be increased overall predominantly with respiratory tract infections, but studies demonstrating increased risks of opportunistic infection are lacking.

8.2 IL-2 Inhibitors

Basiliximab is the primary humanized IL-2 receptor antibody utilized in clinical practice. Daclizumab was previously used, but withdrawn from the market for safety concerns, though much of the known literature is from patients receiving daclizumab. IL-2 inhibitors have been employed as conditioning regimens in SOT recipients including heart, liver, and kidney allografts and may reduce need for calcineurin inhibitors, steroids or serve as an alternative to antithymocyte globulin (Brennan et al. 2006; Ansari et al. 2015; Emre et al. 2001; Liu et al. 2004). Some studies have found no increased rates of death due to infection with IL-2 inhibitor use but did not report specific episodes (Morris et al. 2005). A Cochrane review did find IL-2 inhibitor receptor inhibitor treated patients had a trend toward less CMV infection at 3 and 6 months which reached statistical significance at 12 months but this is confounded by prophylaxis versus preemptive strategies (Webster et al. 2010). Additionally no difference was noted in CMV infection rate compared to other biologics including muromonab-CD3 or alemtuzumab. In a study of liver transplant patients receiving basiliximab, overall reported infections were lower compared to patients receiving steroids and no opportunistic infections were reported (Liu et al. 2004). Most patients had chronic hepatitis B and received lamivudine. A study of renal transplant patients at least 65 years old demonstrated a decreased incidence of bacterial infection, the majority of which were urinary tract infection, and CMV

infection in patients receiving basiliximab compared to thymoglobulin (Pham et al. 2020). One fungal infection was reported, but not further described. In a placebo controlled trial of cardiac transplant patients all receiving cyclosporine, prednisone, and MMF, patients receiving daclizumab had no significant difference in infections reported though there was one case of cryptococcal meningitis in the daclizumab group (Hershberger et al. 2005). Basiliximab has also been used for steroid-refractory GVHD after allogeneic HSCT with some reported cases of bacterial and fungal infections in addition to herpes virus reactivation, though these are not controlled studies and may be due to cumulative and concomitant immunosuppression rather than basiliximab therapy (Massenkeil et al. 2002; Tang et al. 2020). IL-2 inhibitors have been utilized in sporadic studies for IBD with mixed results and further studies are ongoing (Creed et al. 2003; Sands et al. 2012). There do not seem to be specific infectious complications in patients related to basiliximab therapy beyond those seen with other conditioning or treatment regimens.

8.3 IL-6 Inhibitors

The primary IL-6 inhibitors commercially available are tocilizumab, sarilumab, siltuximab, and satralizumab. Most studies include patients receiving tocilizumab. Fewer cases of infection may occur in patients receiving siltuximab, but only tocilizumab will be covered here due to published studies of clinical experience (van Rhee et al. 2015). Whether similar infection risks exist with such agents requires further investigation.

8.4 Tocilizumab

Tocilizumab, a humanized IL-6 receptor antibody, has been used as primary or adjunctive therapy for a variety of rheumatologic disorders, steroid-refractory GVHD after allogeneic HSCT, chronic antibody-mediation allograft rejection in SOT recipients, and the COVID-19 pandemic (Burmester et al. 2014; Choi et al. 2017; Drobyski et al. 2011; Pettit et al. 2021). In patients with Crohn's disease it has shown improved clinical response in patients with refractory disease though there was a non-statistically significant increase in rates of gastrointestinal abscesses or infections in the treatment arms (Danese et al. 2019; Ito et al. 2004). Initial studies of patients with RA treated with tocilizumab showed an increased risk of non-serious infections, mainly bacterial skin and subcutaneous infections or bacterial or viral respiratory tract infections, without an increased risk of hepatitis or tuberculosis when compared to other medications (Campbell et al. 2011). The higher end of published studies report rates of serious infections around 9.1 per 100 patient years with pneumonia occurring most frequently (Sakai et al. 2015). Rates of infection may exceed those found in patients receiving placebo treatment but may not exceed those receiving TNF-alpha inhibitors in statistical analysis (Sakai et al. 2015; Iannone et al. 2018). While some trials have reported no increased rates of opportunistic infections or tuberculosis, a large meta-analysis included cases of tuberculosis, candidiasis, atypical mycobacterial infection, cryptococcal disease, and PJP (Emery et al. 2008; Schiff et al. 2011). Most clinical studies describe tocilizumab use in the setting of rheumatologic disease. In a series of kidney allograft recipients, there were fewer infections in patients receiving tocilizumab compared with IVIG and rituximab though two cases of PJP were reported in patients receiving tocilizumab (Sethi et al. 2021). During the one year follow-up period after completion of therapy, infections occurred at a rate of 46.3 per 100 patient-years and included cases of CMV, BK virus, VZV, and histoplasmosis. Urinary tract infections were most common and most patients received concomitant immunosuppression including agents such as tacrolimus or mycophenolate. Case series of viral hepatitis in patients treated with tocilizumab including HBV reactivation, hepatitis C, acute hepatitis E, CMV and EBV have been documented (Biehl et al. 2021).

8.5 IL-12/23 Inhibitors

Through binding of the p40 subunit common to both interleukins, ustekinumab inhibits both IL-12 and IL-23 and has been utilized in rheumatologic and inflammatory bowel diseases (Kavanaugh et al. 2014; Sandborn et al. 2012). An early trial in Crohn's disease did not report a difference in rates of infection though patients received other immunosuppressants as well (Kavanaugh et al. 2014). In one trial for psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis overall infection rates, mostly URIs, may have been increased at higher dosing but not maintenance dosing and at least one serious cutaneous VZV infection was reported (Leonardi et al. 2008). No cases of active tuberculosis were reported, but some patients were diagnosed with latent tuberculosis prior to trial entry and received isoniazid. Other subsequent trials did not demonstrate this increased infection rate at the 90 mg dosage and did not report opportunistic infections (Kavanaugh et al. 2014; Papp et al. 2008). A study in ulcerative colitis patients found similar infectious complications with the exception of one patient with CMV colitis and one with legionella pneumonia. Similar to other studies, patients received additional immunosuppressive agents (Sands et al. 2019). Ustekinumab demonstrated a non-significant trend toward lower rates of surgical site infection compared to TNF-alpha inhibitors in Crohn's disease patients (Lightner et al. 2018). Overall when used for psoriatic arthritis ustekinumab does not carry an increased risk of infection compared to other therapies (Kalb et al. 2015).

9 Complement Inhibitor

Eculizumab is a monoclonal antibody that inhibits terminal complement activation by binding to complement factor 5 and is used for atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome-associated thrombotic microangiopathy after kidney transplantation, paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria, refractory myasthenia gravis, neuromyelitis optica. Terminal complement inhibition increases the risk of infections with encapsulated bacteria. Most notably, *Neisseria* spp. infection risk is significantly increased and vaccination and antimicrobial prophylaxis targeting *N. meningitidis* are recommended (Winthrop et al. 2018).

10 Calcineurin Inhibitors

Cyclosporine and tacrolimus potently prohibit T-cell activation and proliferation by inhibiting calcineurin, blocking transcription of early cytokine genes. Though these agents are most commonly used to prevent organ rejection after SOT and GVHD after HSCT they have also been used to treat a variety of refractory autoimmune diseases. Infections with CMV, EBV (and EBV driven PTLD), BK virus, and invasive fungal infections have been described with CNI use (Singh 2005). A recent trial found reduced-dose tacrolimus and everolimus was associated with a lower incidence of CMV infection and disease compared to standard dose tacrolimus and mycophenolate (Tedesco-Silva et al. 2015).

11 Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) Inhibitors

Sirolimus and everolimus block B- and T-cell activation by impairing pro-inflammatory cytokine responsiveness and also reduce neutrophil migration. Sirolimus and everolimus are used to prevent organ rejection after SOT and everolimus is approved for the treatment of advanced renal cell carcinoma, breast carcinoma, neuroendocrine tumors, and tuberous sclerosis-associated tumors (Qi et al. 2013). Everolimus use in cancer patients has been associated with increased risk of pneumonia and sepsis and a meta-analysis found higher rates of infection-related deaths when sirolimus was used after kidney transplantation (Qi et al. 2013; Schena et al. 2009). Reactivations of TB, VZV, and HBV have been described in cancer patients and infectious screening should be implemented prior to mTOR inhibitor use (Knoll et al. 2014). Interestingly mTOR inhibitor-based regimen may carry a lower risk of CMV infection after kidney transplant and inhibit BK virus replication (Hirsch et al. 2016; Mallat et al. 2017).

12 Mycophenolic Acids

Mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) is utilized for immunosuppression after SOT or HSCT and for various rheumatologic diseases. It decreases early acute rejection rates in SOT and reduces rates of GVHD (Jorge et al. 2008; Vogelsang and Arai 2001). Through depletion of deoxyguanosine triphosphate or induction of T-cell apoptosis it suppresses B and T lymphocytes (Allison and Eugui 2005). In renal transplants, higher infection rates were observed compared to alternative agents (Pourfarziani et al. 2007). MMF may selectively inhibit pathogens such as

hepatitis C, HSV, HIV, influenza or PJP, but it carries increased risks for BK virus or CMV (Ritter and Pirofski 2009).

In SOT, BK viremia, viuria, and nephropathy occur more frequently with MMF (Mengel et al. 2003; Shi et al. 2007). A dose-dependent correlation between MMF and CMV disease has been shown in kidney transplant patients (Moreso et al. 1998). This occurs at higher doses >3 g/day, and studies report no increase in CMV rates at lower dosage (Ritter and Pirofski 2009). Conversely, some studies have shown increased rates of CMV disease even at 2 g/day dosing (Basic-Jukic et al. 2005). Variable and unreported CMV prophylactic or preemptive management strategies in these studies complicate findings. Studies of MMF in heart, liver, and lung transplant have not demonstrated similar findings (Jain et al. 1998; Palmer et al. 2001). Increased CMV antigenemia occurs in HSCT, but studies demonstrating increased CMV disease are lacking (Hambach et al. 2002). Clinicians should be aware of potential BKV and CMV risk of patients on MMF therapy.

Immunosuppression Anti-CD20 or HSCT	HBV status ^a sAg + sAg -/ cAb +	Risk Very high Moderate	Monitoring ^b Baseline HBV DNA	Antiviral prevention/ therapy ^c Yes
High-dose corticosteroids (≥prednisone 20 mg equivalent) Cytokine inhibitors	sAg + sAg -/ cAb +	High	Baseline HBV DNA HBV DNA monitoring every 1– 3 months	Yes If HBV DNA becomes detectable
Cytotoxic chemotherapy Anti-TNF-alpha Anti-rejection therapy (SOT) Anti-integrin JAK inhibitors Interleukin inhibitors	sAg + sAg -/ cAb +	Moderate	Baseline HBV DNA HBV DNA monitoring every 1– 3 months	Yes If HBV DNA becomes detectable
Methotrexate Aminosalicylates Thiopurines Pyrimidine synthesis inhibitors Sphingosine analogs Dimethyl fumarate Mycophenolic acids	sAg + sAg -/ cAb +	Low	Baseline HBV DNA HBV DNA monitoring every 1– 3 months	Yes If HBV DNA becomes detectable

 Table 1
 Risk of Hepatitis B reactivation, monitoring, and prevention (Di Bisceglie et al. 2015)

^aAll patients should be screened for HBsAg and HBcAb prior to initiation of immunosuppression ^bIf HBV testing is positive expert consultation (Infectious Diseases or Hepatology) is recommended ^cNucleos(t)ide analogs entecavir, tenofovir disoproxil fumarate, tenofovir alafenamide may be used (Buti et al. 2017). Lamivudine may be used when entecavir and tenofovir are not available (Huang et al. 2014; Loomba et al. 2008)

References

- Achtnichts L, Obreja O, Conen A, Fux CA, Nedeltchev K (2015) Cryptococcal meningoencephalitis in a patient with multiple sclerosis treated with fingolimod. JAMA Neurol 72(10):1203–1205
- Adams AB, Goldstein J, Garrett C et al (2017) Belatacept combined with transient calcineurin inhibitor therapy prevents rejection and promotes improved long-term renal allograft function. Am J Transplant 17(11):2922–2936
- Allison AC, Eugui EM (2005) Mechanisms of action of mycophenolate mofetil in preventing acute and chronic allograft rejection. Transplantation 80(2 Suppl):S181–S190
- Ansari D, Lund LH, Stehlik J et al (2015) Induction with anti-thymocyte globulin in heart transplantation is associated with better long-term survival compared with basiliximab. J Heart Lung Transplant 34(10):1283–1291
- Arai Y, Jo T, Matsui H, Kondo T, Takaori-Kondo A (2017) Efficacy of antithymocyte globulin for allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Leuk Lymphoma 58(8):1840–1848
- Ariza-Heredia EJ, Nesher L, Chemaly RF (2014) Cytomegalovirus diseases after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: a mini-review. Cancer Lett 342(1):1–8
- Arvin AM, Wolinsky JS, Kappos L et al (2015) Varicella-zoster virus infections in patients treated with fingolimod: risk assessment and consensus recommendations for management. JAMA Neurol 72(1):31–39
- Barmettler S, Ong MS, Farmer JR, Choi H, Walter J (2018) Association of immunoglobulin levels, infectious risk, and mortality with rituximab and hypogammaglobulinemia. JAMA Netw Open 1(7):e184169
- Basic-Jukic N, Kes P, Bubic-Filipi LJ et al (2005) Does mycophenolate mofetil increase the incidence of cytomegalovirus disease compared with azathioprine after cadaveric kidney transplantation? Transplant Proc 37(2):850–851
- Berger JR (2017) Classifying PML risk with disease modifying therapies. Mult Scler Relat Disord 12:59–63
- Bergstrom L, Yocum DE, Ampel NM et al (2004) Increased risk of coccidioidomycosis in patients treated with tumor necrosis factor alpha antagonists. Arthritis Rheum 50(6):1959–1966
- Berzero G, Basso S, Stoppini L et al (2021) Adoptive transfer of JC virus-specific T lymphocytes for the treatment of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. Ann Neurol 89(4):769–779
- Biehl A, Harinstein L, Brinker A, Glaser R, Munoz M, Avigan M (2021) A case series analysis of serious exacerbations of viral hepatitis and non-viral hepatic injuries in tocilizumab-treated patients. Liver Int 41(3):515–528
- Brennan DC, Daller JA, Lake KD, Cibrik D, Del Castillo D, Thymoglobulin Induction Study Group (2006) Rabbit antithymocyte globulin versus basiliximab in renal transplantation. N Engl J Med 355(19):1967–1977
- Breuer GS, Ehrenfeld M, Rosner I et al (2014) Late-onset neutropenia following rituximab treatment for rheumatologic conditions. Clin Rheumatol 33(9):1337–1340
- Brew BJ, Davies NW, Cinque P, Clifford DB, Nath A (2010) Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy and other forms of JC virus disease. Nat Rev Neurol 6(12):667–679
- Burmester GR, Rubbert-Roth A, Cantagrel A et al (2014) A randomised, double-blind, parallelgroup study of the safety and efficacy of subcutaneous tocilizumab versus intravenous tocilizumab in combination with traditional disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs in patients with moderate to severe rheumatoid arthritis (SUMMACTA study). Ann Rheum Dis 73 (1):69–74
- Buti M, Manzano ML, Morillas RM et al (2017) Randomized prospective study evaluating tenofovir disoproxil fumarate prophylaxis against hepatitis B virus reactivation in anti-HBcpositive patients with rituximab-based regimens to treat hematologic malignancies: the Preblin study. PLoS One 12(9):e0184550

- Calabresi PA, Radue EW, Goodin D et al (2014) Safety and efficacy of fingolimod in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis (FREEDOMS II): a double-blind, randomised, placebocontrolled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Neurol 13(6):545–556
- Campbell L, Chen C, Bhagat SS, Parker RA, Ostor AJ (2011) Risk of adverse events including serious infections in rheumatoid arthritis patients treated with tocilizumab: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Rheumatology (Oxford) 50 (3):552–562
- Caocci G, Murgia F, Podda L, Solinas A, Atzeni S, La Nasa G (2014) Reactivation of hepatitis B virus infection following ruxolitinib treatment in a patient with myelofibrosis. Leukemia 28 (1):225–227
- Carson KR, Newsome SD, Kim EJ et al (2014) Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy associated with brentuximab vedotin therapy: a report of 5 cases from the Southern Network on Adverse Reactions (SONAR) project. Cancer 120(16):2464–2471
- Casulo C, Maragulia J, Zelenetz AD (2013) Incidence of hypogammaglobulinemia in patients receiving rituximab and the use of intravenous immunoglobulin for recurrent infections. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk 13(2):106–111
- Charpentier B, Rostaing L, Berthoux F et al (2003) A three-arm study comparing immediate tacrolimus therapy with antithymocyte globulin induction therapy followed by tacrolimus or cyclosporine A in adult renal transplant recipients. Transplantation 75(6):844–851
- Chen YM, Huang WN, Wu YD et al (2018) Reactivation of hepatitis B virus infection in patients with rheumatoid arthritis receiving tofacitinib: a real-world study. Ann Rheum Dis 77 (5):780–782
- Choi J, Aubert O, Vo A et al (2017) Assessment of tocilizumab (anti-Interleukin-6 receptor monoclonal) as a potential treatment for chronic antibody-mediated rejection and transplant glomerulopathy in HLA-sensitized renal allograft recipients. Am J Transplant 17(9):2381–2389
- Chun J, Hartung HP (2010) Mechanism of action of oral fingolimod (FTY720) in multiple sclerosis. Clin Neuropharmacol 33(2):91–101
- Cohen SB, Moreland LW, Cush JJ et al (2004) A multicentre, double blind, randomised, placebo controlled trial of anakinra (Kineret), a recombinant interleukin 1 receptor antagonist, in patients with rheumatoid arthritis treated with background methotrexate. Ann Rheum Dis 63 (9):1062–1068
- Cohen JA, Barkhof F, Comi G et al (2010) Oral fingolimod or intramuscular interferon for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 362(5):402–415
- Cohen SB, Tanaka Y, Mariette X et al (2017) Long-term safety of tofacitinib for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis up to 8.5 years: integrated analysis of data from the global clinical trials. Ann Rheum Dis 76(7):1253–1262
- Coiffier B, Lepretre S, Pedersen LM et al (2008) Safety and efficacy of ofatumumab, a fully human monoclonal anti-CD20 antibody, in patients with relapsed or refractory B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a phase 1-2 study. Blood 111(3):1094–1100
- Colomba C, Rubino R, Siracusa L et al (2012) Disseminated tuberculosis in a patient treated with a JAK2 selective inhibitor: a case report. BMC Res Notes 5:552
- Colombel JF, Sands BE, Rutgeerts P et al (2017) The safety of vedolizumab for ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. Gut 66(5):839–851
- Comi G, Kappos L, Selmaj KW et al (2019) Safety and efficacy of ozanimod versus interferon betala in relapsing multiple sclerosis (SUNBEAM): a multicentre, randomised, minimum 12-month, phase 3 trial. Lancet Neurol 18(11):1009–1020
- Confavreux C, O'Connor P, Comi G et al (2014) Oral teriflunomide for patients with relapsing multiple sclerosis (TOWER): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet Neurol 13(3):247–256
- Couriel D, Saliba R, Hicks K et al (2004) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha blockade for the treatment of acute GVHD. Blood 104(3):649–654

- Creed TJ, Norman MR, Probert CS et al (2003) Basiliximab (anti-CD25) in combination with steroids may be an effective new treatment for steroid-resistant ulcerative colitis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 18(1):65–75
- Cronstein BN (1996) Molecular therapeutics. Methotrexate and its mechanism of action. Arthritis Rheum 39(12):1951–1960
- Danese S, Vermeire S, Hellstern P et al (2019) Randomised trial and open-label extension study of an anti-interleukin-6 antibody in Crohn's disease (ANDANTE I and II). Gut 68(1):40–48
- De Benedetti F, Gattorno M, Anton J et al (2018) Canakinumab for the treatment of autoinflammatory recurrent fever syndromes. N Engl J Med 378(20):1908–1919
- den Broeder AA, Creemers MC, Fransen J et al (2007) Risk factors for surgical site infections and other complications in elective surgery in patients with rheumatoid arthritis with special attention for anti-tumor necrosis factor: a large retrospective study. J Rheumatol 34(4):689–695
- Di Bisceglie AM, Lok AS, Martin P, Terrault N, Perrillo RP, Hoofnagle JH (2015) Recent US Food and Drug Administration warnings on hepatitis B reactivation with immune-suppressing and anticancer drugs: just the tip of the iceberg? Hepatology 61(2):703–711
- Dixon WG, Hyrich KL, Watson KD et al (2010) Drug-specific risk of tuberculosis in patients with rheumatoid arthritis treated with anti-TNF therapy: results from the British Society for Rheumatology Biologics Register (BSRBR). Ann Rheum Dis 69(3):522–528
- Dougados M, van der Heijde D, Chen YC et al (2017) Baricitinib in patients with inadequate response or intolerance to conventional synthetic DMARDs: results from the RA-BUILD study. Ann Rheum Dis 76(1):88–95
- Drobyski WR, Pasquini M, Kovatovic K et al (2011) Tocilizumab for the treatment of steroid refractory graft-versus-host disease. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 17(12):1862–1868
- Durrbach A, Pestana JM, Florman S et al (2016) Long-term outcomes in belatacept- versus cyclosporine-treated recipients of extended criteria donor kidneys: final results from BENEFIT-EXT, a phase III randomized study. Am J Transplant 16(11):3192–3201
- Emery P, Keystone E, Tony HP et al (2008) IL-6 receptor inhibition with tocilizumab improves treatment outcomes in patients with rheumatoid arthritis refractory to anti-tumour necrosis factor biologicals: results from a 24-week multicentre randomised placebo-controlled trial. Ann Rheum Dis 67(11):1516–1523
- Emre S, Gondolesi G, Polat K et al (2001) Use of daclizumab as initial immunosuppression in liver transplant recipients with impaired renal function. Liver Transpl 7(3):220–225
- Epstein DJ, Dunn J, Deresinski S (2018) Infectious complications of multiple sclerosis therapies: implications for screening, prophylaxis, and management. Open Forum Infect Dis 5(8):ofy174
- Feagan BG, Rutgeerts P, Sands BE et al (2013) Vedolizumab as induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. N Engl J Med 369(8):699–710
- Fine AJ, Sorbello A, Kortepeter C, Scarazzini L (2013) Central nervous system herpes simplex and varicella zoster virus infections in natalizumab-treated patients. Clin Infect Dis 57(6):849–852
- Fleischmann RM, Schechtman J, Bennett R et al (2003) Anakinra, a recombinant human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (r-metHuIL-1ra), in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a large, international, multicenter, placebo-controlled trial. Arthritis Rheum 48(4):927–934
- Fleischmann RM, Tesser J, Schiff MH et al (2006) Safety of extended treatment with anakinra in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 65(8):1006–1012
- Fleischmann R, Kremer J, Cush J et al (2012) Placebo-controlled trial of tofacitinib monotherapy in rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med 367(6):495–507
- Focosi D, Tuccori M, Maggi F (2019) Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy and anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies: what do we know after 20 years of rituximab. Rev Med Virol 29(6): e2077
- Ford AC, Sandborn WJ, Khan KJ, Hanauer SB, Talley NJ, Moayyedi P (2011) Efficacy of biological therapies in inflammatory bowel disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Gastroenterol 106(4):644–659, quiz 660
- Fox RJ, Miller DH, Phillips JT et al (2012) Placebo-controlled phase 3 study of oral BG-12 or glatiramer in multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 367(12):1087–1097

- Galloway JB, Hyrich KL, Mercer LK et al (2011) Anti-TNF therapy is associated with an increased risk of serious infections in patients with rheumatoid arthritis especially in the first 6 months of treatment: updated results from the British Society for Rheumatology Biologics Register with special emphasis on risks in the elderly. Rheumatology (Oxford) 50(1):124–131
- Gerards AH, de Lathouder S, de Groot ER, Dijkmans BA, Aarden LA (2003) Inhibition of cytokine production by methotrexate. Studies in healthy volunteers and patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 42(10):1189–1196
- Gold R, Kappos L, Arnold DL et al (2012) Placebo-controlled phase 3 study of oral BG-12 for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 367(12):1098–1107
- Gopal AK, Ramchandren R, O'Connor OA et al (2012) Safety and efficacy of brentuximab vedotin for Hodgkin lymphoma recurring after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Blood 120 (3):560–568
- Grim SA, Pham T, Thielke J et al (2007) Infectious complications associated with the use of rituximab for ABO-incompatible and positive cross-match renal transplant recipients. Clin Transpl 21(5):628–632
- Grinyo J, Charpentier B, Pestana JM et al (2010) An integrated safety profile analysis of belatacept in kidney transplant recipients. Transplantation 90(12):1521–1527
- Gross CM, Baumgartner A, Rauer S, Stich O (2012) Multiple sclerosis rebound following herpes zoster infection and suspension of fingolimod. Neurology 79(19):2006–2007
- Grover R, Dhir V, Aneja R et al (2006) Severe infections following leflunomide therapy for rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 45(7):918–920
- Gupta G, Lautenbach E, Lewis JD (2006) Incidence and risk factors for herpes zoster among patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 4(12):1483–1490
- Hambach L, Stadler M, Dammann E, Ganser A, Hertenstein B (2002) Increased risk of complicated CMV infection with the use of mycophenolate mofetil in allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 29(11):903–906
- Harrington JE, Hamilton RE, Ganley-Leal L, Farraye FA, Wasan SK (2020) The immunogenicity of the influenza, pneumococcal, and hepatitis B vaccines in patients with inflammatory bowel disease treated with vedolizumab. Crohn's Colitis 360 2(4):otaa082
- Harris J, Hope JC, Keane J (2008) Tumor necrosis factor blockers influence macrophage responses to mycobacterium tuberculosis. J Infect Dis 198(12):1842–1850
- Harvey J, Tran L, Sampath R, White C, Campanile T (2019) 1410. Serious cryptococcal infections with ruxolitinib use: a case of meningitis and a review of the literature. Open Forum Infect Dis 6 (Suppl 2):S513–S514
- Hauser SL, Kappos L, Arnold DL et al (2020) Five years of ocrelizumab in relapsing multiple sclerosis: OPERA studies open-label extension. Neurology 95(13):e1854–e1867
- Hershberger RE, Starling RC, Eisen HJ et al (2005) Daclizumab to prevent rejection after cardiac transplantation. N Engl J Med 352(26):2705–2713
- Hillen ME, Cook SD, Samanta A, Grant E, Quinless JR, Rajasingham JK (2015) Fatal acute liver failure with hepatitis B virus infection during nataluzimab treatment in multiple sclerosis. Neurol Neuroinflamm 2(2):e72
- Hillmen P, Skotnicki AB, Robak T et al (2007) Alemtuzumab compared with chlorambucil as firstline therapy for chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J Clin Oncol 25(35):5616–5623
- Hirsch HH, Yakhontova K, Lu M, Manzetti J (2016) BK polyomavirus replication in renal tubular epithelial cells is inhibited by sirolimus, but activated by tacrolimus through a pathway involving FKBP-12. Am J Transplant 16(3):821–832
- Hoffman HM, Throne ML, Amar NJ et al (2008) Efficacy and safety of rilonacept (interleukin-1 trap) in patients with cryopyrin-associated periodic syndromes: results from two sequential placebo-controlled studies. Arthritis Rheum 58(8):2443–2452
- Hookey LC, Depew W, Boag A, Vanner S (2003) 6-mercaptopurine and inflammatory bowel disease: hidden ground for the cytomegalovirus. Can J Gastroenterol 17(5):319–322

- Hoppe-Seyler K, Sauer P, Lohrey C, Hoppe-Seyler F (2012) The inhibitors of nucleotide biosynthesis leflunomide, FK778, and mycophenolic acid activate hepatitis B virus replication in vitro. Hepatology 56(1):9–16
- Huang H, Li X, Zhu J et al (2014) Entecavir vs lamivudine for prevention of hepatitis B virus reactivation among patients with untreated diffuse large B-cell lymphoma receiving R-CHOP chemotherapy: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 312(23):2521–2530
- Iannone F, Ferraccioli G, Sinigaglia L et al (2018) Real-world experience of tocilizumab in rheumatoid arthritis: sub-analysis of data from the Italian biologics' register GISEA. Clin Rheumatol 37(2):315–321
- Ibrahim A, Ahmed M, Conway R, Carey JJ (2018) Risk of infection with methotrexate therapy in inflammatory diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Med 8(1):15
- Issa NC, Fishman JA (2009) Infectious complications of antilymphocyte therapies in solid organ transplantation. Clin Infect Dis 48(6):772–786
- Ito H, Takazoe M, Fukuda Y et al (2004) A pilot randomized trial of a human anti-interleukin-6 receptor monoclonal antibody in active Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 126(4):989–996; discussion 947
- Jain AB, Hamad I, Rakela J et al (1998) A prospective randomized trial of tacrolimus and prednisone versus tacrolimus, prednisone, and mycophenolate mofetil in primary adult liver transplant recipients: an interim report. Transplantation 66(10):1395–1398
- Jick H, Myers MW, Dean AD (1995) The risk of sulfasalazine- and mesalazine-associated blood disorders. Pharmacotherapy 15(2):176–181
- Jorge S, Guerra J, Santana A, Mil-Homens C, Prata MM (2008) Mycophenolate mofetil: ten years' experience of a renal transplant unit. Transplant Proc 40(3):700–704
- Judge TA, Tang A, Spain LM, Deans-Gratiot J, Sayegh MH, Turka LA (1996) The in vivo mechanism of action of CTLA4Ig. J Immunol 156(6):2294–2299
- Kalb RE, Fiorentino DF, Lebwohl MG et al (2015) Risk of serious infection with biologic and systemic treatment of psoriasis: results from the psoriasis longitudinal assessment and registry (PSOLAR). JAMA Dermatol 151(9):961–969
- Kamar N, Milioto O, Puissant-Lubrano B et al (2010) Incidence and predictive factors for infectious disease after rituximab therapy in kidney-transplant patients. Am J Transplant 10(1):89–98
- Kaneko Y, Suwa A, Ikeda Y, Hirakata M (2006) Pneumocystis jiroveci pneumonia associated with low-dose methotrexate treatment for rheumatoid arthritis: report of two cases and review of the literature. Mod Rheumatol 16(1):36–38
- Kang HM, Kim SK, Lee JW, Chung NG, Cho B (2021) Efficacy of low dose antithymocyte globulin on overall survival, relapse rate, and infectious complications following allogeneic peripheral blood stem cell transplantation for leukemia in children. Bone Marrow Transplant 56 (4):890–899
- Kantarjian HM, DeAngelo DJ, Stelljes M et al (2016) Inotuzumab ozogamicin versus standard therapy for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. N Engl J Med 375(8):740–753
- Kappos L, Radue EW, O'Connor P et al (2010) A placebo-controlled trial of oral fingolimod in relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 362(5):387–401
- Kappos L, Bar-Or A, Cree BAC et al (2018) Siponimod versus placebo in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis (EXPAND): a double-blind, randomised, phase 3 study. Lancet 391 (10127):1263–1273
- Karadkhele G, Hogan J, Magua W et al (2021) CMV high-risk status and posttransplant outcomes in kidney transplant recipients treated with belatacept. Am J Transplant 21(1):208–221
- Kavanaugh A, Ritchlin C, Rahman P et al (2014) Ustekinumab, an anti-IL-12/23 p40 monoclonal antibody, inhibits radiographic progression in patients with active psoriatic arthritis: results of an integrated analysis of radiographic data from the phase 3, multicentre, randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled PSUMMIT-1 and PSUMMIT-2 trials. Ann Rheum Dis 73 (6):1000–1006
- Kelesidis T, Daikos G, Boumpas D, Tsiodras S (2011) Does rituximab increase the incidence of infectious complications? A narrative review. Int J Infect Dis 15(1):e2–e16

- KESIMPTA[®] (ofatumumab) [package insert] (2020) U.S. Food and Drug Administration website. https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2020/125326s070lbl.pdf. Accessed 15 May 2021
- Keystone EC, Genovese MC, Klareskog L et al (2009) Golimumab, a human antibody to tumour necrosis factor {alpha} given by monthly subcutaneous injections, in active rheumatoid arthritis despite methotrexate therapy: the GO-FORWARD study. Ann Rheum Dis 68(6):789–796
- Keystone EC, Taylor PC, Drescher E et al (2015) Safety and efficacy of baricitinib at 24 weeks in patients with rheumatoid arthritis who have had an inadequate response to methotrexate. Ann Rheum Dis 74(2):333–340
- Knoll GA, Kokolo MB, Mallick R et al (2014) Effect of sirolimus on malignancy and survival after kidney transplantation: systematic review and meta-analysis of individual patient data. BMJ 349:g6679
- Komatsuda A, Okamoto Y, Hatakeyama T, Wakui H, Sawada K (2008) Sulfasalazine-induced hypersensitivity syndrome and hemophagocytic syndrome associated with reactivation of Epstein-Barr virus. Clin Rheumatol 27(3):395–397
- Koo S, Marty FM, Baden LR (2011) Infectious complications associated with immunomodulating biologic agents. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am 25(1):117–138
- Kremer J, Li ZG, Hall S et al (2013) Tofacitinib in combination with nonbiologic disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 159(4):253–261
- Lee EB, Fleischmann R, Hall S et al (2014) Tofacitinib versus methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med 370(25):2377–2386
- Leonardi CL, Kimball AB, Papp KA et al (2008) Efficacy and safety of ustekinumab, a human interleukin-12/23 monoclonal antibody, in patients with psoriasis: 76-week results from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial (PHOENIX 1). Lancet 371 (9625):1665–1674
- Lightner AL, McKenna NP, Tse CS et al (2018) Postoperative outcomes in ustekinumab-treated patients undergoing abdominal operations for Crohn's disease. J Crohns Colitis 12(4):402–407
- Liu CL, Fan ST, Lo CM et al (2004) Interleukin-2 receptor antibody (basiliximab) for immunosuppressive induction therapy after liver transplantation: a protocol with early elimination of steroids and reduction of tacrolimus dosage. Liver Transpl 10(6):728–733
- Loomba R, Liang TJ (2017) Hepatitis B reactivation associated with immune suppressive and biological modifier therapies: current concepts, management strategies, and future directions. Gastroenterology 152(6):1297–1309
- Loomba R, Rowley A, Wesley R et al (2008) Systematic review: the effect of preventive lamivudine on hepatitis B reactivation during chemotherapy. Ann Intern Med 148(7):519–528
- Ma BB, Ostrow LW, Newsome SD (2016) Disseminated zoster with paresis in a multiple sclerosis patient treated with dimethyl fumarate. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm 3(2):e203
- Mallat SG, Tanios BY, Itani HS et al (2017) CMV and BKPyV infections in renal transplant recipients receiving an mTOR inhibitor-based regimen versus a CNI-based regimen: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized, controlled trials. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 12 (8):1321–1336
- Mantovani A, Dinarello CA, Molgora M, Garlanda C (2019) Interleukin-1 and related cytokines in the regulation of inflammation and immunity. Immunity 50(4):778–795
- Martin ST, Cardwell SM, Nailor MD, Gabardi S (2014) Hepatitis B reactivation and rituximab: a new boxed warning and considerations for solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant 14 (4):788–796
- Massenkeil G, Rackwitz S, Genvresse I, Rosen O, Dorken B, Arnold R (2002) Basiliximab is well tolerated and effective in the treatment of steroid-refractory acute graft-versus-host disease after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 30(12):899–903
- Masson P, Henderson L, Chapman JR, Craig JC, Webster AC (2014) Belatacept for kidney transplant recipients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (11):CD010699

- McGuigan C, Craner M, Guadagno J et al (2016) Stratification and monitoring of natalizumabassociated progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy risk: recommendations from an expert group. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 87(2):117–125
- Mengel M, Marwedel M, Radermacher J et al (2003) Incidence of polyomavirus-nephropathy in renal allografts: influence of modern immunosuppressive drugs. Nephrol Dial Transplant 18 (6):1190–1196
- Merrill JT, Ginzler EM, Wallace DJ et al (2012) Long-term safety profile of belimumab plus standard therapy in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 64 (10):3364–3373
- Meyer DM, Jesson MI, Li X et al (2010) Anti-inflammatory activity and neutrophil reductions mediated by the JAK1/JAK3 inhibitor, CP-690,550, in rat adjuvant-induced arthritis. J Inflamm (Lond) 7:41
- Mikulska M, Lanini S, Gudiol C et al (2018) ESCMID Study Group for Infections in Compromised Hosts (ESGICH) consensus document on the safety of targeted and biological therapies: an infectious diseases perspective (agents targeting lymphoid cells surface antigens [I]: CD19, CD20 and CD52). Clin Microbiol Infect 24(Suppl 2):S71–S82
- Miller DH, Khan OA, Sheremata WA et al (2003) A controlled trial of natalizumab for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 348(1):15–23
- Molloy ES, Calabrese LH (2012) Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy associated with immunosuppressive therapy in rheumatic diseases: evolving role of biologic therapies. Arthritis Rheum 64(9):3043–3051
- Montalban X, Hauser SL, Kappos L et al (2017) Ocrelizumab versus placebo in primary progressive multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 376(3):209–220
- Moreso F, Seron D, Morales JM et al (1998) Incidence of leukopenia and cytomegalovirus disease in kidney transplants treated with mycophenolate mofetil combined with low cyclosporine and steroid doses. Clin Transpl 12(3):198–205
- Morgan RD, O'Callaghan JM, Knight SR, Morris PJ (2012) Alemtuzumab induction therapy in kidney transplantation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Transplantation 93 (12):1179–1188
- Morris JA, Hanson JE, Steffen BJ et al (2005) Daclizumab is associated with decreased rejection and improved patient survival in renal transplant recipients. Clin Transpl 19(3):340–345
- Moskowitz CH, Nademanee A, Masszi T et al (2015) Brentuximab vedotin as consolidation therapy after autologous stem-cell transplantation in patients with Hodgkin's lymphoma at risk of relapse or progression (AETHERA): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet 385(9980):1853–1862
- Mulero P, Caminero AB, Neri Crespo MJ, Fernandez-Herranz R, Tellez LN (2012) Latent tuberculosis seems not to reactivate in multiple sclerosis patients on natalizumab. J Neuroimmunol 243(1–2):103–105
- O'Connor P, Wolinsky JS, Confavreux C et al (2011) Randomized trial of oral teriflunomide for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 365(14):1293–1303
- Palmer SM, Baz MA, Sanders L et al (2001) Results of a randomized, prospective, multicenter trial of mycophenolate mofetil versus azathioprine in the prevention of acute lung allograft rejection. Transplantation 71(12):1772–1776
- Papp KA, Langley RG, Lebwohl M et al (2008) Efficacy and safety of ustekinumab, a human interleukin-12/23 monoclonal antibody, in patients with psoriasis: 52-week results from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial (PHOENIX 2). Lancet 371 (9625):1675–1684
- Parikh A, Leach T, Wyant T et al (2012) Vedolizumab for the treatment of active ulcerative colitis: a randomized controlled phase 2 dose-ranging study. Inflamm Bowel Dis 18(8):1470–1479
- Peleg AY, Husain S, Kwak EJ et al (2007) Opportunistic infections in 547 organ transplant recipients receiving alemtuzumab, a humanized monoclonal CD-52 antibody. Clin Infect Dis 44(2):204–212

- Perez CP, Patel N, Mardis CR, Meadows HB, Taber DJ, Pilch NA (2018) Belatacept in solid organ transplant: review of current literature across transplant types. Transplantation 102 (9):1440–1452
- Pettit NN, Nguyen CT, Mutlu GM et al (2021) Late onset infectious complications and safety of tocilizumab in the management of COVID-19. J Med Virol 93(3):1459–1464
- Pham C, Kuten SA, Knight RJ, Nguyen DT, Graviss EA, Gaber AO (2020) Assessment of infectious complications in elderly kidney transplant recipients receiving induction with antithymocyte globulin vs basiliximab. Transpl Infect Dis 22(3):e13257
- Polman CH, O'Connor PW, Havrdova E et al (2006) A randomized, placebo-controlled trial of natalizumab for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 354(9):899–910
- Pourfarziani V, Panahi Y, Assari S, Moghani-Lankarani M, Saadat SH (2007) Changing treatment protocol from azathioprine to mycophenolate mofetil: decrease in renal dysfunction, increase in infections. Transplant Proc 39(4):1237–1240
- Prajapati DN, Knox JF, Emmons J, Saeian K, Csuka ME, Binion DG (2003) Leflunomide treatment of Crohn's disease patients intolerant to standard immunomodulator therapy. J Clin Gastroenterol 37(2):125–128
- Present DH, Meltzer SJ, Krumholz MP, Wolke A, Korelitz BI (1989) 6-Mercaptopurine in the management of inflammatory bowel disease: short- and long-term toxicity. Ann Intern Med 111 (8):641–649
- Qi WX, Huang YJ, Yao Y, Shen Z, Min DL (2013) Incidence and risk of treatment-related mortality with mTOR inhibitors everolimus and temsirolimus in cancer patients: a meta-analysis. PLoS One 8(6):e65166
- Raisch DW, Rafi JA, Chen C, Bennett CL (2016) Detection of cases of progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy associated with new biologicals and targeted cancer therapies from the FDA's adverse event reporting system. Expert Opin Drug Saf 15(8):1003–1011
- Ratchford JN, Costello K, Reich DS, Calabresi PA (2012) Varicella-zoster virus encephalitis and vasculopathy in a patient treated with fingolimod. Neurology 79(19):2002–2004
- Ridker PM, Everett BM, Thuren T et al (2017) Antiinflammatory therapy with canakinumab for atherosclerotic disease. N Engl J Med 377(12):1119–1131
- Ritter ML, Pirofski L (2009) Mycophenolate mofetil: effects on cellular immune subsets, infectious complications, and antimicrobial activity. Transpl Infect Dis 11(4):290–297
- Roberts MB, Fishman JA (2020) Immunosuppressive agents and infectious risk in transplantation: managing the "net state of immunosuppression". Clin Infect Dis. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ ciaa1189
- Rousseaux C, Lefebvre B, Dubuquoy L et al (2005) Intestinal antiinflammatory effect of 5-aminosalicylic acid is dependent on peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma. J Exp Med 201(8):1205–1215
- Rudick RA, Stuart WH, Calabresi PA et al (2006) Natalizumab plus interferon beta-1a for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N Engl J Med 354(9):911–923
- Rutherford AI, Patarata E, Subesinghe S, Hyrich KL, Galloway JB (2018) Opportunistic infections in rheumatoid arthritis patients exposed to biologic therapy: results from the British Society for Rheumatology Biologics Register for Rheumatoid Arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 57 (6):997–1001
- Sadovici V, Mazur-Nicorici L, Salaru V et al (2013) Do we need to screen for latent TB when initiating a methotrexate treatment? Eur Respir J 42:P2839
- Sakai R, Cho SK, Nanki T et al (2015) Head-to-head comparison of the safety of tocilizumab and tumor necrosis factor inhibitors in rheumatoid arthritis patients (RA) in clinical practice: results from the registry of Japanese RA patients on biologics for long-term safety (REAL) registry. Arthritis Res Ther 17:74
- Salliot C, Dougados M, Gossec L (2009) Risk of serious infections during rituximab, abatacept and anakinra treatments for rheumatoid arthritis: meta-analyses of randomised placebo-controlled trials. Ann Rheum Dis 68(1):25–32

- Salvana EM, Salata RA (2009) Infectious complications associated with monoclonal antibodies and related small molecules. Clin Microbiol Rev 22(2):274–290
- Sandborn WJ, Gasink C, Gao LL et al (2012) Ustekinumab induction and maintenance therapy in refractory Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med 367(16):1519–1528
- Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Rutgeerts P et al (2013) Vedolizumab as induction and maintenance therapy for Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med 369(8):711–721
- Sandborn WJ, Su C, Sands BE et al (2017) Tofacitinib as induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. N Engl J Med 376(18):1723–1736
- Sands BE, Sandborn WJ, Creed TJ et al (2012) Basiliximab does not increase efficacy of corticosteroids in patients with steroid-refractory ulcerative colitis. Gastroenterology 143 (2):356–364.e351
- Sands BE, Sandborn WJ, Panaccione R et al (2019) Ustekinumab as induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. N Engl J Med 381(13):1201–1214
- Schena FP, Pascoe MD, Alberu J et al (2009) Conversion from calcineurin inhibitors to sirolimus maintenance therapy in renal allograft recipients: 24-month efficacy and safety results from the CONVERT trial. Transplantation 87(2):233–242
- Schiff MH, Kremer JM, Jahreis A, Vernon E, Isaacs JD, van Vollenhoven RF (2011) Integrated safety in tocilizumab clinical trials. Arthritis Res Ther 13(5):R141
- Schwab N, Schneider-Hohendorf T, Melzer N, Cutter G, Wiendl H (2017) Natalizumab-associated PML: challenges with incidence, resulting risk, and risk stratification. Neurology 88 (12):1197–1205
- Sethi S, Peng A, Najjar R, Vo A, Jordan SC, Huang E (2021) Infectious complications in tocilizumab-treated kidney transplant recipients. Transplantation 105(8):1818–1824
- Shi Y, Moriyama T, Namba Y et al (2007) Association of treatment with 15-deoxyspergualin and BK virus nephropathy in kidney allograft recipients. Clin Transpl 21(4):502–509
- Shi Y, Wu Y, Ren Y, Jiang Y, Chen Y (2019) Infection risks of rituximab versus non-rituximab treatment for rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Rheum Dis 22 (8):1361–1370
- Singh N (2005) Infectious complications in organ transplant recipients with the use of calcineurininhibitor agent-based immunosuppressive regimens. Curr Opin Infect Dis 18(4):342–345
- Singh JA, Cameron C, Noorbaloochi S et al (2015) Risk of serious infection in biological treatment of patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet 386 (9990):258–265
- Singh JA, Saag KG, Bridges SL Jr et al (2016) 2015 American College of Rheumatology guideline for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 68(1):1–25
- Skoetz N, Bauer K, Elter T et al (2012) Alemtuzumab for patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (2):CD008078
- Smolen J, Landewe RB, Mease P et al (2009) Efficacy and safety of certolizumab pegol plus methotrexate in active rheumatoid arthritis: the RAPID 2 study. A randomised controlled trial. Ann Rheum Dis 68(6):797–804
- Smolen JS, Pangan AL, Emery P et al (2019) Upadacitinib as monotherapy in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis and inadequate response to methotrexate (SELECT-MONOTHERAPY): a randomised, placebo-controlled, double-blind phase 3 study. Lancet 393(10188):2303–2311
- Soler D, Chapman T, Yang LL, Wyant T, Egan R, Fedyk ER (2009) The binding specificity and selective antagonism of vedolizumab, an anti-alpha4beta7 integrin therapeutic antibody in development for inflammatory bowel diseases. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 330(3):864–875
- Strangfeld A, Listing J, Herzer P et al (2009) Risk of herpes zoster in patients with rheumatoid arthritis treated with anti-TNF-alpha agents. JAMA 301(7):737–744
- Sweetser MT, Dawson KT, Bozic C (2013) Manufacturer's response to case reports of PML. N Engl J Med 368(17):1659–1661
- Tanaka Y, Emoto K, Cai Z et al (2016) Efficacy and safety of baricitinib in Japanese patients with active rheumatoid arthritis receiving background methotrexate therapy: a 12-week, doubleblind, randomized placebo-controlled study. J Rheumatol 43(3):504–511

- Tang FF, Cheng YF, Xu LP et al (2020) Basiliximab as treatment for steroid-refractory acute graftversus-host disease in pediatric patients after haploidentical hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 26(2):351–357
- Tedesco-Silva H, Felipe C, Ferreira A et al (2015) Reduced incidence of cytomegalovirus infection in kidney transplant recipients receiving everolimus and reduced tacrolimus doses. Am J Transplant 15(10):2655–2664
- Thiel J, Rizzi M, Engesser M et al (2017) B cell repopulation kinetics after rituximab treatment in ANCA-associated vasculitides compared to rheumatoid arthritis, and connective tissue diseases: a longitudinal observational study on 120 patients. Arthritis Res Ther 19(1):101
- Tohyama M, Yahata Y, Yasukawa M et al (1998) Severe hypersensitivity syndrome due to sulfasalazine associated with reactivation of human herpesvirus 6. Arch Dermatol 134 (9):1113–1117
- Tse E, Leung RY, Kwong YL (2015) Invasive fungal infections after obinutuzumab monotherapy for refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Ann Hematol 94(1):165–167
- Tsiodras S, Samonis G, Boumpas DT, Kontoyiannis DP (2008) Fungal infections complicating tumor necrosis factor alpha blockade therapy. Mayo Clin Proc 83(2):181–194
- van der Heijde D, Tanaka Y, Fleischmann R et al (2013) Tofacitinib (CP-690,550) in patients with rheumatoid arthritis receiving methotrexate: twelve-month data from a twenty-four-month phase III randomized radiographic study. Arthritis Rheum 65(3):559–570
- van Rhee F, Casper C, Voorhees PM et al (2015) A phase 2, open-label, multicenter study of the long-term safety of siltuximab (an anti-interleukin-6 monoclonal antibody) in patients with multicentric Castleman disease. Oncotarget 6(30):30408–30419
- van Vollenhoven RF, Fleischmann R, Cohen S et al (2012) Tofacitinib or adalimumab versus placebo in rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med 367(6):508–519
- Vennegoor A, van Rossum JA, Polman CH, Wattjes MP, Killestein J (2015) Longitudinal JCV serology in multiple sclerosis patients preceding natalizumab-associated progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. Mult Scler 21(12):1600–1603
- Verstovsek S, Mesa RA, Gotlib J et al (2012) A double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of ruxolitinib for myelofibrosis. N Engl J Med 366(9):799–807
- Vogelsang GB, Arai S (2001) Mycophenolate mofetil for the prevention and treatment of graftversus-host disease following stem cell transplantation: preliminary findings. Bone Marrow Transplant 27(12):1255–1262
- von Hofsten J, Johnsson Forsberg M, Zetterberg M (2016) Cytomegalovirus retinitis in a patient who received ruxolitinib. N Engl J Med 374(3):296–297
- von Muller L, Schliep C, Storck M et al (2006) Severe graft rejection, increased immunosuppression, and active CMV infection in renal transplantation. J Med Virol 78(3):394–399
- Walling J (2006) From methotrexate to pemetrexed and beyond. A review of the pharmacodynamic and clinical properties of antifolates. Investig New Drugs 24(1):37–77
- Wallis RS, Broder MS, Wong JY, Hanson ME, Beenhouwer DO (2004) Granulomatous infectious diseases associated with tumor necrosis factor antagonists. Clin Infect Dis 38(9):1261–1265
- Wang K, Xu X, Fan M (2018) Induction therapy of basiliximab versus antithymocyte globulin in renal allograft: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Exp Nephrol 22(3):684–693
- Wathes R, Moule S, Milojkovic D (2013) Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy associated with ruxolitinib. N Engl J Med 369(2):197–198
- Watson CJ, Bradley JA, Friend PJ et al (2005) Alemtuzumab (CAMPATH 1H) induction therapy in cadaveric kidney transplantation--efficacy and safety at five years. Am J Transplant 5 (6):1347–1353
- Webster AC, Ruster LP, McGee R et al (2010) Interleukin 2 receptor antagonists for kidney transplant recipients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (1):CD003897
- Winthrop KL, Baxter R, Liu L et al (2013) Mycobacterial diseases and antitumour necrosis factor therapy in USA. Ann Rheum Dis 72(1):37–42
- Winthrop KL, Yamanaka H, Valdez H et al (2014) Herpes zoster and tofacitinib therapy in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheumatol 66(10):2675–2684

- Winthrop KL, Mariette X, Silva JT et al (2018) ESCMID Study Group for Infections in Compromised Hosts (ESGICH) consensus document on the safety of targeted and biological therapies: an infectious diseases perspective (soluble immune effector molecules [II]: agents targeting interleukins, immunoglobulins and complement factors). Clin Microbiol Infect 24 (Suppl 2):S21–S40
- Wysham NG, Sullivan DR, Allada G (2013) An opportunistic infection associated with ruxolitinib, a novel janus kinase 1,2 inhibitor. Chest 143(5):1478–1479
- Yun H, Xie F, Delzell E et al (2016) Comparative risk of hospitalized infection associated with biologic agents in rheumatoid arthritis patients enrolled in medicare. Arthritis Rheumatol 68 (1):56–66
- Zeyda M, Poglitsch M, Geyeregger R et al (2005) Disruption of the interaction of T cells with antigen-presenting cells by the active leflunomide metabolite teriflunomide: involvement of impaired integrin activation and immunologic synapse formation. Arthritis Rheum 52 (9):2730–2739
- Zingarelli S, Frassi M, Bazzani C, Scarsi M, Puoti M, Airo P (2009) Use of tumor necrosis factoralpha-blocking agents in hepatitis B virus-positive patients: reports of 3 cases and review of the literature. J Rheumatol 36(6):1188–1194



Malignancy: An Adverse Effect of Immunosuppression

Mrudula Munagala and Anita Phancao

Contents

1	Introduction					
2	Epidemiology of Malignancy in Immunocompromised Patients					
3	Pathogenesis of Malignancy in Solid Organ Transplant Recipients					
	3.1	Immur	ne Surveillance	318		
	3.2	Role o	f Viral Infections in Carcinogenesis	319		
	3.3	Direct	Effect of Immunosuppressive Agents in Carcinogenesis	320		
4	Carc	inogene	esis in Immunocompromised Patients: Risk Factors	321		
	4.1	Patient	t Related Factors	321		
	4.2	Enviro	nmental Factors	322		
	4.3	Transp	Plant Related Factors	322		
	4.4	Manag	gement Related Factors	323		
5	Clas	sificatio	n of Malignancies in SOTRs	323		
	5.1	Recuri	rence of Pre-Transplant Malignancy in Solid Organ Transplant Recipients	323		
	5.2	Donor	Derived Malignancy in Solid Organ Transplant Recipients	324		
	5.3	De No	vo Malignancies in Solid Organ Transplant Recipients	325		
		5.3.1	Skin Cancers	326		
		5.3.2	Lip Cancer	327		
		5.3.3	Kaposi Sarcoma	327		
		5.3.4	Anogenital Cancers	328		
		5.3.5	Post-Transplant Lymphoproliferative Disorders	328		
		5.3.6	Thyroid Cancer	329		
		5.3.7	Lung Cancer	329		
6 Immunosuppression in Organ Transplantation						
7	Conclusions					
Re	References					

M. Munagala (⊠) · A. Phancao MTI – University of Miami, Miami, FL, USA e-mail: mrm410@med.miami.edu

Abstract

Benefits of solid organ transplantation in end stage organ diseases are indisputable. Malignancy is a feared complication of solid organ transplantation and is a leading cause of mortality in patients with organ transplantation. Iatrogenic immunosuppression to prevent graft rejection plays a crucial role in the cancer development in solid organ transplant recipients. Chronic exposure to immunosuppression increases the malignancy burden through deregulation of host immune defense mechanisms and unchecked proliferation of oncogenic viruses and malignancies associated with these viruses. Vigorous screening of candidates undergoing transplant evaluation for malignancies, careful assessment of donors, and vigilant monitoring of transplant recipients are necessary to prevent, detect, and manage this life-threatening complication.

Keywords

Immunosuppression · Malignancy · Solid organ transplant

1 Introduction

Over the past decades, life expectancy of solid organ transplant recipients (SOTRs) has improved significantly due to the tremendous progress made in surgical techniques, immunology, and refinement of medical management including modern immunosuppression. Short-term outcomes of graft and patient survival have changed notably with improved screening for rejection and advances in histopathology. There has not been a significant change in the long-term survival of SOTRs over the past decade, predominantly due to mortality from cardiovascular diseases, infection, and malignancy (Lamb et al. 2011; Meier-Kriesche et al. 2004; Rana et al. 2019). Mortality of SOTRs secondary to infection and cardiovascular diseases improved after implementation of antimicrobial prophylaxis and identification and screening for cardiovascular risk factors along with optimal management of modifiable risk factors (Pilmore et al. 2010). However, malignancy in transplant recipients remains a great challenge and engenders increased mortality burden, reduced quality of life and survival of SOTRs. Risk of cancer is substantially higher in organ transplant recipients compared to the general population. This increased risk is attributed to long-term exposure to immunosuppression and impaired immune surveillance mechanisms associated with chronic immunosuppression. Immunocompromised patients are a heterogeneous group of patients including SOTRs, patients with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS), congenital immunodeficiencies, patients on dialysis and patients receiving chemotherapy and/or radiation (Gatti and Good 1971; Grulich et al. 2007; Maisonneuve et al. 1999; Serraino et al. 2007). These groups of patients share a similar cancer risk profile elucidating a broader understanding of the role of immunosuppression in carcinogenesis (Gatti and Good 1971; Grulich et al. 2007;

Maisonneuve et al. 1999; Serraino et al. 2007). In this chapter, we summarize the adverse effects of immunosuppression and its association with malignancies with a focus on SOTRs who are exposed to chronic pharmacologic immunosuppression to prevent graft rejection.

2 Epidemiology of Malignancy in Immunocompromised Patients

Increased risk of malignant neoplasms in primary immunodeficiency syndromes has been described in the literature decades ago suggesting the role of the immune system in oncogenesis. In kidney transplant recipients (KTRs), the risk of de novo malignancy reverts to pre-transplant level after graft failure suggesting the role of immunosuppression in malignancy and need for adjustment of immunosuppression to reduce those risks (KDIGO 2009; Vajdic et al. 2006; Van Leeuwen et al. 2010). The risk of malignancy in SOTRs is comparable to patients infected with HIV/AIDS after excluding Kaposi sarcoma (KS) and non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) inferring an association between immunodeficiency and carcinogenesis (Grulich et al. 2007; Serraino et al. 2007). Although increased susceptibility for cancers is noted in SOTRs and patients with HIV/AIDS, SOTRs are more prone to develop colorectal cancers, thyroid and lip cancers as opposed to HIV infected populations (Grulich et al. 2007).

Solid organ transplantation (SOT) has been recognized as the gold standard treatment option for patients with end stage organ failure and survival advantage outweighs the adverse effects of immunosuppression in these patients (Rana et al. 2015). Choice of immunosuppressive regimens in SOTRs requires careful consideration of various factors such as risk of rejection, infection, and malignancy. There is a reported two-to-four-fold greater risk of malignancy in SOTRs compared to the general population matched for age, gender, and race. The magnitude of malignancy risk is variable based on type of malignancy and the transplanted organ. Nonetheless, the increased risk is persistent in all SOTRs regardless of the transplanted organ and despite the exclusion of patients with preexisting neoplasms prior to organ transplantation (Acuna et al. 2016; Chapman et al. 2013; Collett et al. 2010; Engels et al. 2011). Analysis of a large cohort of SOTRs derived from linking between population-based transplant and cancer registries in the United States (US) between the years of 1987 and 2008 demonstrated a clear increased risk of malignancies in SOTRs. Data was analyzed in 175, 732 SOTRs with a cohort comprised of 58.4% KTRs, 21.6% liver transplant recipients, 10% heart transplant recipients and 4% of lung transplant recipients. The incidence of malignancy per 100,000 person years was 1,375 with an excess absolute risk (EAR) of 719.3 per 100,000 person years and a standardized incidence ratio (SIR) of 2.10 [95% CI, 2.06-2.14] suggestive of an exaggerated risk compared to the general population. The increased burden is noted for both cancers of infectious and noninfectious etiology (Engels et al. 2011).

Non-melanoma skin cancer (NMSC) and lip cancers, post-transplant lymphoproliferative diseases (PTLD), and KS and anogenital cancers are frequently seen in SOTRs. In addition, an elevated risk for other cancers such as urogenital cancers, cancers of kidney and thyroid gland have been reported in organ transplant recipients (Acuna et al. 2016; Agraharkar et al. 2004; Buell et al. 2005; Chapman et al. 2013; Collett et al. 2010; Engels et al. 2011; Wimmer et al. 2007). Life expectancy of SOTRs is expected to be compromised by malignancy rather than cardiovascular events in the upcoming years due to the improvements in management of cardiovascular risk factors. Furthermore, cancers in SOTRs are biologically more aggressive and are associated with worse outcomes (Ajithkumar et al. 2007; Campistol et al. 2012; Hall et al. 2013; Vegso et al. 2007).

3 Pathogenesis of Malignancy in Solid Organ Transplant Recipients

Carcinogenesis in SOTRS is a result of complex and dynamic interplay of multiple factors including genetic, host, and environmental factors. Increased incidence of cancers in SOTRs is driven by altered dynamics of host immune surveillance, oncogenic viral infections, and direct carcinogenic effects of immunosuppressive agents (Ajithkumar et al. 2007; Campistol et al. 2012; Hall et al. 2013; Vegso et al. 2007). In addition, underlying chronic disease that prompted the transplantation and associated risk factors may predispose SOTRs to higher risk of malignancies. Natural immune defense mechanisms minimize the risk of neoplastic transformation by elimination of tumor cells, prevention of inflammation, and cell protection. Dysregulation of immune systems by pharmacologic immunosuppression promotes neoplastic transformation and growth by altering mechanisms of early detection and eradication of subclinical tumor cells, immune evasion of tumor cells, bolsters inflammation and proliferation of oncogenic viruses (Sherston et al. 2014). Tumorigenesis is a multistep process and is characterized by sustained proliferative signaling, insensitivity to growth suppressor signals, neo-angiogenesis, evasion of immune mediated destruction, resistance to apoptosis, invasion of tissue and metastasis and metabolic rewiring (Fouad and Aanei 2017; Hanahan and Weinberg 2011). Carcinogenesis in transplant is dominated by impaired immune modulation including reduced ability to eradicate the tumor cells, escape and evasion of neoplastic cells fostering a "tumor microenvironment" (Fouad and Aanei 2017; Hanahan and Weinberg 2011).

3.1 Immune Surveillance

Immune surveillance is an essential host defense mechanism against the development of cancers and for the maintenance of cellular homeostasis. Paul Ehrlich introduced the concept of repression of neoplastic cells by the host immune system in 1909 which generated impassioned debate for the decades to follow. He proposed that a normally functioning host immune system destroys the subclinical tumor in its latency prior to clinical manifestation. The theory of "immunological surveillance of neoplasia" was reappraised by Lewis Thomas and Sir Frank Macfarlane Burnet in the late 1950s. Thymus dependent immunologic response was theorized to offer defense against tumor development by early detection and elimination at incipient stage. The central theme of this theory was that an immunocompetent host would be less susceptible to cancer development compared to an immunodeficient host. However, mice experiments by Carlos Martinez demonstrated reduced incidence of mammary tumors in mice that had undergone thymectomy compared to the group with intact thymus (Burnet 1970; Martinez 1964). Prospective role of immunosurveillance in carcinogenesis was summarized by Keast based on high incidence of tumors during extremes of age when immune system is nascent or senescent, with use of immunosuppressant medications, after thymectomy in animal experiments and in patients with disorders of cell mediated immunity. The association between immunological disorders and development of reticuloendothelial cancer without implying any causal effect was presented by Doll et al. (Doll and Kinlen 1970). The theory of "immunological surveillance" encountered strong criticism following the nude mice experiments by Stutman et al. and argued against carcinogenic potential of immunosuppressed state (Stutman 1979). Nonetheless, the advances in immunobiology and mice genetics rekindled the interest in the mystic role of the immune system in recognizing and destroying the tumorigenic cells. Pioneering work of Shakaran et al. validated the paradoxical role of the immune system in carcinogenesis and engendered the conceptualization of immunoediting. Over the past two decades, the theory of immunosurveillance evolved into a broader and more widely accepted concept of immunoediting that addresses not only the prevention of tumors, but also the immunogenicity of tumor cells. Immunoediting is a dynamic process characterized by three phases including elimination by immunosurveillance, equilibrium, and immune evasion leading to the escape phase (Shankaran et al. 2001). Chronic pharmacologic immunosuppression in SOTR leads to uninterrupted proliferation of tumor cells due to reduced threshold of surveillance leading to escape from immune elimination. Emanation of previously cured malignancies of donors in SOTRs has been appertained to potential lack of tumor equilibrium in the transplant recipient due to immunosuppression that may have otherwise existed in the immunocompetent donor (Teng et al. 2008).

3.2 Role of Viral Infections in Carcinogenesis

Majority of cancers in SOTRs are driven by oncogenic viruses as SOTRs are more vulnerable to reactivation of latent infections as well as acquisition of new viral infections. Oncogenic viruses can trigger genomic instability, impair DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) repair mechanism, disrupt cellular homeostasis, and alter cell signaling pathways abetting neoplastic transformation. The association between Human Papillomavirus (HPV) in anogenital cancers, Human Herpesvirus 8 (HHV8) in KS, and Epstein–Barr virus (EBV) in NHL and Hodgkin lymphomas (HL),

Merkel cell polyomavirus (MCPyV) in Merkel Cell Cancer of the skin, Hepatitis B virus (HBV) and Hepatitis C (HCV) viral infections in hepatocellular carcinoma has been well established. The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) has in fact identified these viruses as biological human carcinogens (Bouvard et al. 2009). Innate and adaptive immune responses combat viral infections in an immunocompetent host and eliminate or minimize the severity of infections. Some infections may attain a latent state by restriction of gene expression and cessation of replication by subverting cell signaling pathways. Infections with oncogenic viruses in SOTRs could be transmitted from donor or may have new onset infection if not immune from prior exposure or vaccination and/or activated from dormancy after transplantation due to immunocompromised state. Oncogenicity of viral infections is mediated through direct or indirect carcinogenic mechanisms. Direct carcinogenic mechanisms include activation of proto-oncogenes, expression of viral oncogenes along with impairing tumor-suppressor genes leading to proliferation, angiogenesis, and resistance to apoptosis. Indirect mechanisms include promoting chronic inflammation and oxidative stress with production of mutagenic molecules leading to local inflammation and tissue damage, immunosuppression, chronic antigenic stimulation, and tumor growth modulation (Krump and You 2018; Saha et al. 2010).

3.3 Direct Effect of Immunosuppressive Agents in Carcinogenesis

Immunosuppressive drugs used in SOTRs are described to have carcinogenic potential independent of their effects on host immunity and exert direct carcinogenic effects. IARC has labeled immunosuppression drugs as human carcinogens and declared azathioprine and cyclosporine to be human carcinogens (IARC 1990, 2012). Cyclosporine promotes carcinogenesis independent of immunosuppression effects by various mechanisms including increased transcription and expression of the transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) gene, which in turn promotes invasion and metastasis of tumor cells. In addition, cyclosporine also impairs response to DNA damage, inhibits apoptosis, and promotes vascularization of tumors by inducing vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) production (Barle et al. 2014; Hojo et al. 1999; Maluccio et al. 2003; Olshan et al. 1994; Yarosh et al. 2005). Azathioprine has direct carcinogenic effects and serves as a causative factor for development of premalignant dysplastic keratotic lesions. Among SOTRs on azathioprine regimen, higher levels of active metabolites of azathioprine were noted in red blood cells of transplant recipients with skin cancer compared to those without skin cancer. Metabolic derivatives of azathioprine can cause DNA damage and promote tumor growth in SOTRs and azathioprine is also reported to sensitize the skin to UV radiation (Lennard et al. 1985; Taylor and Shuster 1992).
4 Carcinogenesis in Immunocompromised Patients: Risk Factors

Israel Penn International Transplant Tumor Registry (IPITTR) is a SOTR tumor registry that is originally conceptualized by Dr. Israel Penn and was initially started at University of Colorado. This registry maintains a comprehensive repository of information on recipients of organ transplantation with cancers. This registry was previously known as Cincinnati Transplant Tumor Registry (CTTR) and was renamed to be IPITTR after Dr. Penn as a tribute to him. He was first to report high incidence of malignancies in SOTRs and his registry paved path for future research in this area (Israel Penn International Transplant Tumor Registry n.d.). Multiple studies based on this registry data and other population-based studies have reported several risk factors associated with the development of malignancy in SOTRs (Israel Penn International Transplant Tumor Registry n.d.; Acuna et al. 2016; Agraharkar et al. 2004; Chapman et al. 2013; Collett et al. 2010; Engels et al. 2011; Sherston et al. 2014; Wimmer et al. 2007). These risk factors can be primarily classified into patient related factors, transplant related factors, environmental factors, and management factors.

4.1 Patient Related Factors

Patient related factors including genetic predisposition, age, race, gender, comorbid medical conditions, underlying chronic pathology that necessitated the organ transplantation and prior history of infections with oncogenic viruses influence the risk of malignancy in SOTRs (Agraharkar et al. 2004; Buell et al. 2005; Chapman et al. 2013; Collett et al. 2010; Engels et al. 2011; Grulich et al. 2007; Krump and You 2018; Serraino et al. 2007; Vajdic et al. 2006; Wimmer et al. 2007). There is twofold increased risk of cancer for recipients >65 years of age, while children who receive organ transplantation carry a 15-30 times increased risk of cancer. There is an increase in the risk of cancer by 40% in SOTRs with prior history of cancer compared to those who do not have prior history of cancer. Caucasian race and male sex are associated with higher incidence of cancers. It was initially assumed that this increased risk may be related to higher rates of skin cancer due to inherent predisposition for skin cancers. Nonetheless, skin cancers alone could not validate the heightened risk that was observed. ESRD secondary to diabetic nephropathy pre-transplant are noted to have less cancer burden compared to other etiologies (Webster et al. 2007).

A retrospective study of large cohort of KTRs by Agraharkar et al., with a mean follow-up of 6.1 years with more than 10-year follow-up in 21% of the patients demonstrated high frequency of skin (40%), gastrointestinal (13%), urologic (11%) malignancies, and lymphomas (9%) compared to the general population. KTRs who developed malignancies seem to be older (43.5 years) at the time of transplant with a mean age of 50 ± 12 years at the time of cancer diagnosis (Agraharkar et al. 2004). In this study, incidence of breast and lung cancers was found to be lower in KTRs

than the general population with a SIR of 0.7. There is significant elevation in the incidence of lymphomas with a SIR of 4.9, renal cell cancers with a SIR of 7.2, and colorectal cancers with a SIR of 1.5. Although the risk of cancer development is higher in patients >60 years after transplantation with a relative risk (RR) of 6.2 compared to KTRs of age < 40 years, younger patients at the time of transplant were observed to have the highest relative risk for developing malignancies compared to age matched general population (Agraharkar et al. 2004). The similar risk profile for cancers had been reflected in patients with ESRD receiving dialysis therapy in a study by Maisonneuve et al. suggesting the importance of underlying disease contributing to the risk of cancers in transplant recipients (Agraharkar et al. 2004; Maisonneuve et al. 1999). EBV seronegative status at the time of transplant posed high risk for malignancy in SOTRs (Shahinian et al. 2003). There is notably high risk of gastric cancer related to Helicobacter pylori in Asian populations suggestive of genetic predisposition in the cancer manifestation (Engels et al. 2011).

4.2 Environmental Factors

Geographical and environmental factors play an important role in carcinogenesis. There is an exponential increase in risk of skin cancer in patients with high skin exposure compared to the regions with limited exposure to sun. This high risk is attributed to increased ultraviolet (UV) radiation associated with excess exposure to sunlight (Birkelans et al. 1995; Euvrard et al. 1997, 2003; Hartevelt et al. 1990; Kullavanijaya and Kim 2005; Vink et al. 1996). There are geographical differences in the spectrum of cancers in SOTRs as noted by a study that assesses cancer incidence in SOTRs in Taiwan. The skin cancer risk was noted to be significantly higher in western countries compared to the studies reported from Asian countries including Japan and Taiwan (Birkelans et al. 1995; Hartevelt et al. 1990; Hoshida and Aozasa 2004; Lee et al. 2016). Gastric and hepatocellular cancers are more common among SOTRs in Japan compared to western countries (Birkelans et al. 1995; Hartevelt et al. 2016).

4.3 Transplant Related Factors

The role of transplant related factors such as type of organ transplant, time since transplantation, living versus deceased donor status and history of malignancy or oncogenic viral infections in carcinogenesis in SOTRs needs to be considered. There is an elevated risk of liver cancer among liver transplant recipients and this risk is more pronounced in the first 6 months after the transplant. There is substantially elevated risk of kidney cancers in KTRs with SIR of 6.6 [95% CI 6.12–7.32] and recipients of liver and heart transplant with SIR of 1.80 [95% CI 1.40–2.29] and 2.90 [95% CI 2.32–3.59], respectively (Engels et al. 2011). Cardiothoracic transplantation carries a higher burden of malignancy following transplant compared to other organs and may likely be related to higher intensity of immunosuppression used in

heart and lung transplant recipients (Collett et al. 2010; Engels et al. 2011; Na et al. 2013; Taylor et al. 2005a).

4.4 Management Related Factors

In SOTRs, time since transplantation, induction at the time of transplant, duration and intensity of immunosuppression are important factors that are well known to be associated with carcinogenesis. An increase in frequency of PTLD is noted in patients who received induction with antithymocyte globulin (ATG) or monoclonal anti-T cell antibody, muromonab-CD-3 (OKT3) (Cherikh et al. 2003). Agraharkar et al. reported a cumulative incidence of 19% for NMSC and 36% for all malignancies was reported in KTRs at 25 years after the transplant. Despite using a stringent p value of 0.002, post-transplant duration of >10 years had remained a significant risk factor in this study owing to the risk of prolonged exposure to immunosuppression therapy in development of cancers (Agraharkar et al. 2004). The high incidence of cancers in recipients who are of younger age at the time of transplantation compared to age matched controls could potentially be attributed to longer cumulative exposure to immunosuppressive therapy and likelihood of exposure to primary infections with oncogenic viruses after transplant compared to older counterparts who may have been exposed and achieved seronegative status prior to transplant (Saha et al. 2010).

5 Classification of Malignancies in SOTRs

Malignancy in SOTRs is a well-known complication and can be categorized into three broad groups: 1) Recurrence of cancers that were present before transplant and/or activation of dormant neoplasms, otherwise described as pre-transplant malignancy (PTM), 2) Cancers that are transmitted inadvertently from donors with prior history of malignancy or undiagnosed or occult malignancies at the time of transplant described as donor derived malignancy (DDM), and 3) Cancers arising de novo after the transplant reported as de novo malignancies (DNMs). In addition, latent infection with oncogenic viruses can predispose SOTRs to malignancy development after transplant in the setting of immunosuppression.

5.1 Recurrence of Pre-Transplant Malignancy in Solid Organ Transplant Recipients

Pre-transplant malignancy (PTM) is considered to be a significant risk factor for development of cancer in SOTRs. Analysis of IPITTR data suggested a recurrence rate of 21% with high frequency of recurrence in those who had been transplanted with a time interval <2 years since the diagnosis of cancer or receiving therapy for cancer (Penn 1997a). Contrary to data reported by Penn, a more recent meta-analysis

by Acuna et al. identified the risk of cancer recurrence to be lower in SOTRs with PTM than previously reported with a pooled recurrence rate of 1.6 [95% CI 1.0–2.6] per 100-person year. Recurrence rate of 1.1 per 100-person year was noted in liver transplant recipients compared to 2.4 in patients with KTRs (Acuna et al. 2017). A thorough evaluation including the risk of recurrent cancer is warranted in patients who are undergoing transplant assessment with prior history of malignancy. Cancer remission intervals and permissible wait times prior to considering for transplantation in these patients are variable based on the type of malignancy and survival expectancy from the neoplasm (Acuna et al. 2017). Multidisciplinary assessment with input from oncology colleagues is essential in the decision-making process. American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC) and American Society of Transplantation (AST) issued a consensus statement delineating the general recommendations to assist evaluation of patients undergoing evaluation for SOT with a history of PTM (Al-Adra et al. 2021). Nevertheless, the decision to either consider for transplant or defer the transplant may need to be tailored to each patient based on careful assessment of risk-benefit profile. Examination of various risk factors including tumor biology, response to treatment, cancer free interval, recurrent risk estimates, genetic and epigenetic risk factors, organ in consideration, potential effect of immunosuppression on recurrence of tumor, life expectancy and alterate therapy options is essential in analyzing the risk-benefit ratio (Al-Adra et al. 2021; Penn 1993).

5.2 Donor Derived Malignancy in Solid Organ Transplant Recipients

Transmission of cancers from donors with a history of previously treated cancer or undiagnosed cancer is an infrequent cause of cancer in SOTRs (Feng et al. 2002; Kauffman et al. 2000; Ma et al. 2014; Penn 1995). The estimates of risk are variable with significantly higher rates in IPTRR registry compared to Organ Procurement and Transplantation (OPTN) reports. Magnitude of risk varies based on the type of cancer and transplanted organ. Donors with a history of primary central nervous system tumors, renal cell carcinoma, malignant melanoma, and choriocarcinoma are at high risk for transmission compared to colon and breast cancers (Penn 1995). The persistent disparity between organ donation and end stage organ failure patients awaiting organs leads to evolution of extended criteria for organ donation. The expansion of donor pool by including older age donors renders high risk for donor derived malignancy (DDM) as advanced age is associated with a high rate of premalignant or occult lesions. Primary central nervous system malignancies are reported to be a common source of DDM. Careful assessment of donors with unusual presentations and prior history of malignancies is essential to minimize the risk of transmission. United States Donor Transmitted Assessment Committee (DTAC) provides guidance to physicians and patients regarding risk of donor transmitted diseases including malignancy from potential donors. Risk categorization of transmission risk of malignancies is a helpful aid in assessing the potential risk of transmission (Ison and Nalesnik 2011; Kauffman et al. 2002; Penn 1995). the donor is crucial.

5.3 De Novo Malignancies in Solid Organ Transplant Recipients

De novo malignancy is a well-recognized complication following organ transplantation due to inherent need for immunosuppression to prevent graft rejection and has emerged as a major cause of mortality and morbidity in these patients. De novo malignancies in SOTRs are primarily driven by immunocompromised state due to pharmacologic immunosuppression, oncogenic viral infections, direct oncogenic effects of immunosuppression, genetic and environmental risk factors. A 10-year incidence of de novo cancers in SOTRs is twice that of an age- and sex- matched general population cohort with marked elevation in the incidence of NMSC (Collett et al. 2010). A retrospective analysis of data from cardiothoracic and liver transplant recipients between 1984 and 2006 in Australia demonstrated excess risk of death secondary to de novo malignancy compared to the general population (Na et al. 2013). This risk was consistently elevated in both sexes, pediatric and adult populations and in all transplanted organ groups. Most common malignancy that resulted in death of transplant recipient was NHL in this cohort. Pediatric transplant recipients were noted to have the highest risk of death from de novo malignancy with 80% of deaths in pediatric SOTRs were related to NHL (Na et al. 2013). Age is an important risk factor in estimating the excess cancer risk. Like in the general population, advanced age is a risk factor for cancer development in SOTRs. While the absolute risk of cancer is significantly elevated in older transplant recipients, excess rate of cancer risk compared to the general population, defined by the relative risk (RR) is much greater in youngest recipients of organ transplant (Chapman et al. 2013; Engels et al. 2011; Na et al. 2013; Webster et al. 2007). This may be secondary to increased vulnerability of young transplant recipients to primary infections in the setting of chronic employment of immunosuppression. Heart and lung transplant recipients are at the higher risk for de novo malignancy after transplantation compared to kidney and liver transplant recipients owing to the risk of more intense immunosuppression required in cardiothoracic transplantation (Na et al. 2013).

Most common post-transplant malignancies in SOTRs include NMSC, lymphoproliferative disorders, KS, and HPV related anogenital cancers (Acuna et al. 2016; Chapman et al. 2013; Collett et al. 2010; Engels et al. 2011; Na et al. 2013; Webster et al. 2007). Although overall cancer burden is increased in SOTRs, the incidence of breast, prostate, ovarian, and testicular cancers in SOTRs is not elevated in comparison with the general population (Wong et al. 2017). Population-based studies in patients with HIV/AIDS noted that the incidence of breast, prostate, and ovarian cancers is observed at a relatively low or comparable rate to that of the general population, suggesting that an immunocompromised state in itself may not predispose to the increased number of these cancers. Nonetheless, breast cancers are

associated with poor prognosis in SOTRs compared to the general population, despite similar incidence rates (Grulich et al. 2007; Na et al. 2013; Serraino et al. 2007).

The risk of death from de novo malignancies is elevated in all SOTRs compared to the general population. The magnitude of cancer risk differed among SOTRs based on the transplanted organ with excess risk greatest for lung transplant recipients (Acuna et al. 2016; Chapman et al. 2013; Engels et al. 2011; Na et al. 2013). Compared to the general population, prognosis of cancers in SOTRs is poor and is associated with excess mortality. Cancers are more advanced at the time of diagnosis in SOTRs with more poorly differentiated tumors and respond poorly to the treatment (Acuna et al. 2017; Ajithkumar et al. 2007). Interactions between immunosuppressants and antineoplastic agents need to be considered in designing treatment strategies. A multidisciplinary approach may need to be pursued to address these cancers in SOTRs.

5.3.1 Skin Cancers

The most common cancer in SOTRs is NMSC with predominance of squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) of the skin with >50-fold increased risk compared to that of the general population (Euvrard et al. 1997, 2003; Hartevelt et al. 1990; Krynitz et al. 2013; Na et al. 2013; Penn 1997b). Although keratinocyte carcinomas including SCC and basal cell carcinoma (BCC) account to >90% of skin cancers in SOTRs, KS, Merkel cell carcinoma, and malignant melanoma are reported to occur more commonly in SOTRs compared to the general population. There is reported 65–250-fold increase in the incidence of SCC and 10–16-fold increased incidence of BCC in SOTRs. In contrast to the general population, the ratio of SCC to BCC is reversed in SOTRs (Euvrard et al. 2003; Penn 1997b). SCCs of SOTRs are noted to have histologic features suggestive of epithelial to mesenchymal transition that is ascribed to the use of immunosuppression (Euvrard et al. 2003).

Direct effects of immunosuppression agents, type and duration of immunosuppression, and exposure to UV radiation play a central role in development of skin cancers (Han et al. 2012; Krynitz et al. 2013; Penn 1997b; Vink et al. 1996; Yarosh et al. 2005). Caucasian race, older age at the time of transplant, exposure to HPV infections, and history of prior skin cancers contribute to the risk of skin cancer in SOTRs. Genetic factors such as human leukocyte antigen (HLA) and polymorphisms in glutathione S-transferase may also influence development of cutaneous neoplastic lesions. SOTRs with cutaneous carcinomas have significantly lower CD4 counts than patients without skin cancer (Banvinck et al. 1993; Euvrard et al. 2003; Harwood et al. 2000; Krynitz et al. 2013; Ramsay et al. 2001). Higher incidence of skin cancers is noted in heart transplant recipients compared to KTRs and liver transplant recipients. However, this differential risk is attributed to higher intensity of immunosuppression used in heart transplant recipients. Skin cancers are more prevalent in geographical areas with high sun exposure and cancers are seen more often in sun exposed body parts in SOTRs. UV light has direct carcinogenic effect and causes local immunosuppression by mutagenic effects on p53 tumor-suppressor gene (Banvinck et al. 1993; Euvrard et al. 2003; Vink et al.

1996; Yarosh et al. 2005). UV light also induces histologic changes locally, promotes local inflammation, and has synergistic effect with HPV and immunosuppression agents (Harwood et al. 2000; Krynitz et al. 2013). There is also a significant association between SCC and HPV infection. HPV is postulated to be cocarcinogenic and HPV DNA has been isolated in approximately 65-90% of SCC lesions in SOTRs (Euvrard et al. 2003; Harwood et al. 2000; Krynitz et al. 2013). SCC in SOTRs appears to be more aggressive with high metastatic potential compared to the general population. Presence of multiple tumors, extracutaneous manifestation of tumors, cephalic location, older age, and high exposure to UV radiation are associated with unfavorable prognosis (Euvrard et al. 2003; Krynitz et al. 2013).

5.3.2 Lip Cancer

SOTRs are at greater risk for lip cancer with 13–66-fold increase in risk compared to the general population with poorly understood reasons for this excess risk (Acuna et al. 2016; Chapman et al. 2013; Collett et al. 2010; Engels et al. 2011; Krynitz et al. 2013). A 15-fold increase in the incidence of lip cancer is observed in SOTRs compared to the general population (Laprise et al. 2019). While elevated risk of lip cancer is noted both in SOTRs and patients with HIV/AIDS, the magnitude of risk is higher in SOTRs compared to patients with HIV/AIDS (Grulich et al. 2007; Laprise et al. 2019). Lip cancers are predominantly SCCs and can be external lip cancers or mucosal lip cancers. Tobacco use and alcohol consumption predisposes to mucosal lip cancers of the external lip (Euvrard et al. 2003; Grulich et al. 2007; Laprise et al. 2019). Prior diagnosis of SCC, Caucasian race, immunosuppressive therapy particularly with cyclosporine and/or azathioprine have been strongly associated with lip cancer (Laprise et al. 2019).

5.3.3 Kaposi Sarcoma

KS is an angioproliferative disorder of vascular endothelium driven by oncogenic virus HHV-8. Although most cases of KS in SOTRs are secondary to HHV-8 reactivation in organ recipients, cases of donor transmission have been described in the literature. The incidence of KS in SOTRs is profoundly increased and is 400–500-fold greater in SOTRs compared to the general population with a preponderance for male sex (Acuna et al. 2016; Chapman et al. 2013; Collett et al. 2010; Engels et al. 2011; Krynitz et al. 2013). It can manifest as a cutaneous sarcoma or visceral sarcoma or can present with mixed features in SOTRs. The most common presentation of cutaneous KS is angiomatous lesions on legs similar to classic KS and gastrointestinal tract, lymph nodes, and lung are affected in visceral form of KS. The incidence of KS is greatly elevated in SOTRs compared to the general population and predominantly seen in patients of Mediterranean, Jewish, Arabic, Caribbean, and African descent. KS manifests at an earlier age in SOTRs compared to patients with classic KS with a mean age of 43 at the time of diagnosis in SOTRs (Euvrard et al. 2003). KS is known to respond well to reduction in immunosuppression and especially reduction of CNIs to the minimal safe dose is associated with regression of lesions.

5.3.4 Anogenital Cancers

Immunocompromised patients are at increased risk for anogenital cancers, and the risk increases by approximately 20-fold in these patients compared to the general population. HPV infection, multiple sexual partners, smoking, prior history of genital herpes, presence of extragenital skin cancers, and high intensity immunosuppression are all risk factors associated with development of anogenital cancer (Euvrard et al. 2003). Anogenital HPV is highly prevalent in female transplant recipients who are sexually active (Euvrard et al. 2003).

5.3.5 Post-Transplant Lymphoproliferative Disorders

Post-transplant lymphoproliferative diseases (PTLD) is used to describe a spectrum of lymphoproliferative disorders ranging from benign hyperplasia to aggressive lymphomas in SOTRs. PTLD is the most common cause of cancer related death in both adult and pediatric organ transplant recipients (Campistol et al. 2012; Vegso et al. 2007). Although proliferation of any cell lines B cells, T cells, natural killer cells, and plasma cells could cause PTLD, vast majority of PTLDs are of B cell lymphomas and a strong association with EBV infection has been noted. PTLDs in SOTRs are more aggressive in nature and respond poorly to conventional treatment measures compared to lymphoproliferative malignancies in the general population. Vast majority of PTLDs (90%) are associated with EBV infection (Opelz and Dohler 2004; Shahinian et al. 2003; Taylor et al. 2005a; Yarosh et al. 2005). Normally functioning T cell plays a critical role in immune control of EBV infection and inhibition of T cell function secondary to immunosuppression in SOTRs and impaired T cell function in primary immunodeficiency disorders and patients with HIV/AIDs leads to loss of immune control of EBV infection. Risk of NHL is elevated in these conditions due to loss of immune modulation of EBV mediated lymphoproliferation (Opelz and Dohler 2004).

NHL usually demonstrates bimodal incidence pattern with early onset PTLD developing within the first year of the transplant and late onset PTLD developing later in the post-transplant course with a median time of 4 years (Opelz and Dohler 2004; Shahinian et al. 2003). Recipients of heart and lung transplants are at a higher risk of PTLD than KTRs and liver transplant recipients owing to the need of heavy immunosuppression in the former group. SOTRs who are induced with T cell depleting agents such as antithymocyte globulin (ATG) or muromonab-CD-3 (OKT3) were observed to have higher risk of developing PTLD (Gao et al. 2003; Opelz and Dohler 2004). Heightened incidence of PTLD is noted in cardiothoracic transplant recipients compared to KTRs and liver transplant recipients (Cherikh et al. 2003; Gao et al. 2003). Tacrolimus is associated with higher risk of PTLD than cyclosporine and patients treated with mycophenolate mofetil (MMF) are reported to have less risk of PTLD compared to patients treated with azathioprine.

The risk of Hodgkin's lymphoma (HL) is also elevated in SOTRs as well as those with HIV infection when compared to the general population, indicating the role of impaired immune regulation in the inception of this cancer. Analysis of SRTR data by Quinlan et al. demonstrated a twofold increase in risk of developing HL in SOTRs compared to general population with a SIR of 2.2 [95% CI 1.7–2.7] with

5.3.6 Thyroid Cancer

SOTRs are at elevated risk for thyroid cancer and a 2.5-fold higher incidence rate is noted in SOTRs compared to the general population. Risk was amplified in KTRs with an incidence rate ratio (IRR) of 1.26 [95% CI 1.03–1.53]. The risk is more pronounced in patients who underwent kidney transplant secondary to hypertensive nephrosclerosis with an IRR of 1.41 [95% CI 1.03–1.94] and liver transplant secondary to cholestatic liver disease/cirrhosis with an IRR of 1.69 [95% CI 1.09–2.63]. In addition, longer duration of dialysis prior to kidney transplant is strongly associated with higher incidence of thyroid cancer. Majority of thyroid cancers in SOTRs were identified to be papillary thyroid cancers (91%) followed by follicular cancers (5%). Increased risk of death with a Hazard Ratio (HR) of 1.33 [95% CI 1.02–1.73] is noted among patients diagnosed with thyroid cancer following the organ transplantation (Kitahara et al. 2017).

5.3.7 Lung Cancer

Lung transplant recipients are at highest risk for lung cancers among SOTRs. Despite lower incidence of lung cancer in kidney, liver, and heart transplant recipients compared to lung transplant recipients, the overall risk of all SOTRs is higher than general population. The risk of developing lung cancer is sixfold higher in lung transplant recipients compared to two- to threefold increased risk noted in the recipients of other organs. Smoking is a major risk-factor in the development of lung cancer. The risk of lung cancer is higher in single lung transplant recipients compared to bilateral lung transplant recipients (Collett et al. 2010; Engels et al. 2011). This may be attributed to the presence of native lung in single lung transplant recipient that continues to carry the burden of underlying disease process, and the exposure to the risk factors that may have been contributed to the pathogenesis of underlying disease process that prompted the transplant.

6 Immunosuppression in Organ Transplantation

Immunosuppressive medications used in organ transplantation are associated with a wide spectrum of adverse effects including malignancy and can contribute to decreased life expectancy or quality of life in these patients. First successful life prolonging kidney transplantation was performed in 1954 between identical twins at Peter Bent Brigham Hospital, Massachusetts. The genetic matching of recipient and donor ushered the graft and recipient survival despite no use of immunosuppression. Sublethal total body irradiation (TBI) by Murray et al. demonstrated that immunologic barrier of transplantation could be vanquished by immunosuppression. None-theless, cytoablative radiation has proven to be an undesirable modality of

immunosuppression due to high mortality (>90%) associated with TBI. Scientific work of Sir Peter Medawar laid the foundations of transplant immunology with discovery of acquired immunological tolerance and received Nobel Prize for his pioneering work. Pharmacologic immunosuppression gained momentum in the emergence of therapeutic agents for leukemia 1960s with such as 6-mercaptoprurine, cyclophosphamide, and methotrexate. George Hutching and Gertrude Elion introduced azathioprine, a more clinically permissible congener of 6-mercaptopurine. Sir Roy Clane's work resulted in the emergence of azathioprine as a successful immunosuppression therapy and a viable therapeutic option for organ transplant recipients. A significant survival advantage was noted with combination immunosuppressive regimens comprising of azathioprine and corticosteroids. Continued evolution of science in the field of transplant led to the discovery of cyclosporine compared to single agent regimens. Dramatic graft and patient survivals were noted following the use of cyclosporine and brought transformational change in field of organ transplantation.

Immunosuppressive regimens are essential in preventing rejection and for the survival of allograft in SOTRs. Most organ transplant recipients receive a combination of two or three pharmacologic agents for immunosuppression. Although some immunosuppressant medications are described to be more carcinogenic than others, it is the overall intensity and duration of immunosuppression that profess the risk of cancer development in SOTRs (Cherikh et al. 2003; Herman et al. 2001; Martinez and de Gruijl 2008; Taylor et al. 2005b). Corticosteroids are used as first-line agents during the transplantation and immediately after transplantation. Corticosteroids are anti-inflammatory and decrease the production of cytokines and circulating CD4 cells. Corticosteroids promote carcinogenesis predominantly through immune modulation. Steroids reduce the immune surveillance of tumor cells resulting in evasion and escape of tumorigenic cells (Taylor et al. 2005b). Corticosteroids also increase the risk of infection and thus cancers related to oncogenic viruses.

MMF and azathioprine are antimetabolites that are used in organ transplantation. Azathioprine has been recognized as a carcinogen and is implicated in the development of skin cancers and NHL in SOTRs. The use of azathioprine in modern era of organ transplantation is sparse. Synergistic effects of azathioprine and UV radiation result in mutagenic oxidative damage of DNA and impaired repaired response leading to carcinogenesis. Despite the pro-oncogenicity seen in in vitro studies with impaired DNA damage response and inflated invasion of tumor cells, clinical studies failed to demonstrate any substantial increased risk of malignancy with MMF. In fact, MMF based immunosuppressive regimens demonstrated lower risk of PTLD compared to immunosuppressive regimens based on azathioprine (Cherikh et al. 2003).

Cyclosporine and Tacrolimus are the two common CNIs used in the management of SOTRs and CNIs remain cornerstone of immunosuppression in SOTRs. CNIs based maintenance immunosuppressive regimens are associated with reduced graft rejection and improved survival. However, unfavorable nephrotoxic and metabolic side effect profile of CNIs led to investigations toward CNI free immunosuppressive regimens. CNIs based immunosuppressive regimens are also implicated in increased malignancy risk in SOTRs. CNIs can promote carcinogenesis through immunosuppression as well as direct carcinogenic effects by inducing TGF- β production that aids in evasion of host immune defenses and stimulating the secretion of vascular endothelial cell growth factor (VEGF) that facilitates tumor angiogenesis (Han et al. 2012; Hojo et al. 1999; Olshan et al. 1994). Tacrolimus has a dose-dependent effect on TGF- β expression and thus permits the idea of potential modulation of carcinogenic effect with therapeutic level monitoring.

Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) is a conserved protein kinase that plays an important role in cell growth, proliferation, survival, metabolism, and autophagy through various signaling pathways. The mTOR signaling pathway modulates protein synthesis, gene transcription, and translation and thus controls cellular homeostasis, angiogenesis, cytoskeletal remodeling, stress response, and activity of immune cells. It plays a key role in activation, differentiation, and function of immune cells by regulating the expression of various inflammatory mediators, cytokines, chemokines, membrane receptors, and apoptosis (Koehl et al. 2004; Martinez and de Gruijl 2008). Dysregulation of various elements of this pathway could lead to disease states such as neoplastic transformation, insulin resistance, obesity, and neurodegeneration. mTOR inhibitors piqued interest in transplant field as these agents offer immunosuppression and tumor growth suppression. There are several clinical trials that demonstrated reduced incidence of cancers in patients treated with sirolimus in kidney transplant recipients (Alberu et al. 2011; Gatault and Lebranchu 2013; Lebranchu et al. 2009; Schena et al. 2009). CONCEPT study demonstrated less incidence of cancers in patients whose immunosuppression was switched from Cyclosporine to Sirolimus 3 months after kidney transplantation compared to the cohort that continued to receive CNI-based immunosuppressive therapy (Lebranchu et al. 2009).

7 Conclusions

Optimal immunosuppression is key to the success of organ transplant. However, chronic exposure to immunosuppression in SOTRs is unfortunately associated with higher incidence of various hematologic and non-hematologic malignancies. Complex interplay of various factors including immune, non-immune, infectious, environmental, and genetic factors leads to carcinogenesis in SOTRs. While advances in transplant medicine, histopathology, and surgery have helped in expanding the donor pool and willingness to take more risk, they come with the cost of increased risk of cancers, thus suggesting the need for enhanced vigilance in screening, patient and donor selection, early recognition and management of malignancies, as well as individualization of appropriate immunosuppressive regimens in this high-risk population.

References

- Acuna SA, Fernandes KA, Daly C et al (2016) Cancer mortality among recipients of solid-organ transplantation in Ontario, Canada. JAMA Oncol 2(4):463–469
- Acuna SA, Huang JW, Dossa F et al (2017) Cancer recurrence after solid organ transplantation: a systemic review and metanalysis. Transplant Rev 31(4):240–248
- Agraharkar ML, Cinclair RD, Kuo YF et al (2004) Risk of malignancy with long-term immunosuppression in renal transplant recipients. Kidney Int 66:383–389
- Ajithkumar TV, Parkinson CA, Butler A (2007) Management of solid tumors in organ-transplant recipients. Lancet Oncol 8(10):921–932
- Al-Adra DP, Hammel L, Roberts J et al (2021) Pretransplant solid organ transplant malignancy and organ transplant candidacy: a consensus expert opinion. Am J Transplant 21(2):460–474
- Alberu J, Pascoe M, Campistol J et al (2011) Lower malignancy rates in renal allograft recipients converted to sirolimus-based, calcineurin inhibitor-free immunotherapy: 24-month results from the CONVERT trial. Transplantation 92(3):303–310
- Banvinck JN, De Boer A, Vermeer BJ, Hartevelt MM et al (1993) Sunlight, keratotic skin lesions and skin cancer in renal transplant recipients. Br J Dermatol 129(3):242–249
- Barle EL, Winkler GC, Ulrich P et al (2014) Cancer risk of immunosuppressants in manufacturing. Regul Toxicol Pharmacol 70(1):122–124
- Birkelans SA, Storm HH, Lamm LU et al (1995) Cancer risk after renal transplantation in the Nordic countries, 1964-1986. Int J Cancer 60(2):183–189
- Bouvard V, Baan R, Straif K et al (2009) A review of human carcinogens. Part B: biological agents. Lancet Oncol 10(4):321–322
- Buell JF, Gross TG, Woodle ES (2005) Malignancy after transplantation. Transplantation 80 (2 Suppl):S254–S264
- Burnet FM (1970) The concept of immunological surveillance. Prog Exp Tumor Res 13:1-27
- Campistol JM, Cuervas-Mons V, Manito N et al (2012) New concepts and best practices for management of pre- and post-transplantation cancer. Transplant Rev (Orlando) 26(4):261–279
- Chapman JR, Webster AC, Wong G (2013) Cancer in the transplant recipient. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 3(7):a015677
- Cherikh WS, Kauffman HM, McBride M et al (2003) Association of the type of induction immunosuppression with posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder, graft survival, and patient survival after primary kidney transplantation. Transplantation 76(9):1289–1293
- Collett D, Mumford L, Banner NR et al (2010) Comparison of the incidence of malignancy in recipients of different types of organ: a UK registry audit. Am J Transplant 10(8):1889–1896
- Doll R, Kinlen L (1970) Immunosurveillance and cancer: epidemiological evidence. Br Med J 4:420–422
- Engels E, Pfeiffer R, Fraumeni J et al (2011) Spectrum of cancer risk among US solid organ transplant recipients. JAMA 306(17):1891–1901
- Euvrard S, Kanitakis J, Pouteil-Noble C et al (1997) Skin cancers in organ transplant recipients. Ann Transplant 2(4):28–32
- Euvrard S, Kanitakis J, Claudy A (2003) Skin cancers after organ transplantation. N Engl J Med 348 (17):1681–1691
- Feng S, Buell JF, Cherikh WS et al (2002) Organ donors with positive viral serology or malignancy: risk of disease transmission by transplantation. Transplantation 74(12):1657–1663
- Fouad YA, Aanei C (2017) Revisiting the hallmarks of cancer. Am J Cancer Res 7(5):1016–1036
- Gao SZ, Chaparro SV, Perlroth M et al (2003) Post-transplantation lymphoproliferative diseases in heart and heart-lung transplant recipients: 30-year experience at Stanford university. J Heart Lung Transplant 22(5):505–514
- Gatault P, Lebranchu Y (2013) Conversion to mTOR-inhibitor based immunosuppression: which patients and when? Transplant Res 2(Suppl. 1):S3
- Gatti RA, Good RA (1971) Occurrence of malignancy in immunodeficiency diseases. A literature review. Cancer 28(1):89–98

- Grulich AE, van Leeuwen MT, Falster MO, Vajdic CM (2007) Incidence of cancers in people with HIV/AIDS compared with immunosuppressed transplant recipients: a meta-analysis. Lancet 370(9581):59–67
- Hall EC, Pfeiffer RM, Segev DL, Engels EA (2013) Cumulative incidence of cancer after solid organ transplantation. Cancer 119(12):2300–2308
- Han W, Soltani K, Ming M, He YY (2012) Deregulation of XPC and CypA by cyclosporin A: an immunosuppression-independent mechanism of skin carcinogenesis. Cancer Prev Res 5 (9):1155–1162
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA (2011) Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 144(5):646-674
- Hartevelt MM, Bouwes-Bavinck JN, Koote AM et al (1990) Incidence of skin cancer after renal transplantation in the Netherlands. Transplantation 49(3):506–509
- Harwood CA, Surentheran T, McGregor JM et al (2000) Human papillomavirus infection and non-melanoma skin cancer in immunosuppressed and immunocompetent individuals. J Med Virol 61(3):289–297
- Herman M, Weinstein T, Korzets A et al (2001) Effect of cyclosporin A on DNA repair and cancer incidence in kidney transplant recipients. J Lab Clin Med 137(1):14–20
- Hojo M, Morimoto T, Maluccio M et al (1999) Cyclosporine induces cancer progression by a cellautonomous mechanism. Nature 397(6719):530–534
- Hoshida Y, Aozasa K (2004) Malignancies in organ transplant recipients. Pathol Int 54(9):649-658
- IARC (1990) IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans, vol 50. Pharmaceutical drugs. International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon
- IARC (2012) A review of human carcinogens: pharmaceuticals. IARC monogr. eval. carcinog. risks hum. 100A–22. International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon
- Ison MG, Nalesnik MA (2011) An update on donor-derived disease transmission in organ transplantation. Am J Transplant 11(6):1123–1130
- Israel Penn International Transplant Tumor Registry (n.d.). https://ipittr.uc.edu
- Kauffman HM, McBride MA, Delmonico FL et al (2000) First report of the united network for organ sharing transplant tumor registry: donors with a history of cancer. Transplantation 70 (12):1747–1751
- Kauffman HM, McBride MA, Cherikh WS, Spain PS, Marks WH, Roza AM (2002) Transplant tumor registry: donor related malignancies. Transplantation 74:358–362
- KDIGO (2009) KDIGO clinical practice guideline for the care of kidney transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 9(suppl 3) https://kdigo.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/KDIGO-2009-Transplant-Recipient-Guideline-English.pdf
- Kitahara CM, Yanik EL, Ladenson PW et al (2017) Risk of thyroid cancer among solid organ transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 17(11):2911–2921
- Koehl GE, Andrassy J, Guba M et al (2004) Rapamycin protects allografts from rejection while simultaneously attacking tumors in immunosuppressed mice. Transplantation 77(9):1319–1326
- Krump NA, You J (2018) Molecular mechanisms of viral oncogenesis in humans. Nat Rev Microbiol 16(11):684–698
- Krynitz B, Edgren G, Lindelof B, Baecklund E, Brattstrom C, Wilczek H et al (2013) Risk of skin cancer and other malignancies in kidney, liver, heart and lung transplant recipients 1970 to 2008 – a Swedish population-based study. Int J Cancer 132(6):1429–1438
- Kullavanijaya P, Kim HW (2005) Photoprotection. J Am Acad Dermatol 52(6):937-958
- Lamb KE, Lodhi S, Meier-Kriesche HU (2011) Long-term renal allograft survival in the United States: a critical reappraisal. Am J Transplant 11(3):450–462
- Laprise C, Cahoon EK, Lynch CF et al (2019) Risk of lip cancer after solid organ transplantation in the unites states. Am J Transplant 19(1):227–237
- Lebranchu Y, Thierry A, Toupance O et al (2009) Efficacy on renal function of early conversion from cyclosporine to sirolimus 3 months after renal transplantation: concept study. Am J Transplant 9(5):115–1123
- Lee K-F, Tsai Y-T, Lin C-Y, Hsieh C-B et al (2016) Cancer incidence among heart, kidney, and liver transplant recipients in Taiwan. PLoS One 11(5):e0155602

- Lennard L, Thomas S, Harington CI et al (1985) Skin cancer in renal transplant recipients is associated with increased concentrations of 6-thioguanine nucleotide in red blood cells. Br J Dermatol 113(6):723–729
- Ma MK, Lim WH, Turner RM et al (2014) The risk of cancer in recipients of living-donor, standard and expanded criteria deceased donor kidney transplants: a registry analysis. Transplantation 98 (2):1286–1293
- Maisonneuve P, Agodoa L, Gellert R (1999) Cancer in patients on dialysis for end-stage renal disease: an international collaborative study. Lancet 354(9173):93–99
- Maluccio M, Sharma V, Lagman M et al (2003) Tacrolimus enhances transforming growth factorbeta1 expression and promotes tumor progression. Transplantation 76(3):597–602
- Martinez C (1964) Effect of early thymectomy on development of mammary tumors in mice. Nature 203:1188
- Martinez OM, de Gruijl FR (2008) Molecular and immunologic mechanisms of cancer pathogenesis in solid organ transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 8(11):2205–2211
- Meier-Kriesche HU, Schold JD, Srinivas TR et al (2004) Lack of improvement in renal allograft survival despite a marked decrease in acute rejection rates over the most recent era. Am J Transplant 4(3):378–383
- Na R, Grulich AE, Meagher NS et al (2013) De novo cancer-related death in Australian liver and cardiothoracic transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 13(5):1296–1304
- Olshan AF, Mattison DR, Zwanenburg TSB (1994) Cyclosporine A: review of genotoxicity and potential for adverse human reproductive and developmental effects. Mutat Res 317(2):163–173
- Opelz G, Dohler B (2004) Lymphomas after solid organ transplantation: a collaborative transplant study report. Am J Transplant 4(2):222–230
- Penn I (1993) The effect of immunosuppression on pre-existing cancers. Transplantation 55 (4):742–747
- Penn I (1995) De novo cancers in organ allograft recipients. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 3:188-196
- Penn I (1997a) Evaluation of transplant candidates with pre-existing malignancies. Ann Transplant 2:14–17
- Penn I (1997b) Skin disorders in organ transplant recipients. Arch Dermatol 133:221-223
- Pilmore H, Dent H, Chang S, McDonald SP, Chadban SJ (2010) Reduction in cardiovascular death after kidney transplantation. Transplantation 89(7):851–857
- Quinlan S, Landgren O, Mortann L et al (2010) Hodgkin lymphoma among U.S. solid organ transplant recipients. Transplantation 90(9):1011–1015
- Ramsay HM, Harden PN, Reece S et al (2001) Polymorphisms in glutathione S-transferase are associated with altered risk on nonmelanoma skin cancer in renal transplant recipients: a preliminary analysis. J Invest Dermatol 117(2):251–255
- Rana A, Gruessner A, Agopian VG et al (2015) Survival benefit of solid-organ transplant in the United States. JAMA Surg 150(3):252–259
- Rana A, Ackah AL, Webb GJ et al (2019) No gains in long-term survival after liver transplantation over the past three decades. Ann Surg 269(1):20–27
- Saha A, Kaul R, Murakami M et al (2010) Tumor viruses and cancer biology: modulating signaling pathways for therapeutic intervention. Cancer Biol Ther 10(10):961–978
- Schena FP, Pascoe MD, Alberu J et al (2009) Conversion from calcineurin inhibitors to sirolimus maintenance therapy in renal allograft recipients: 24-month efficacy and safety results from the CONVERT trial. Transplantation 87(2):233–242
- Serraino D, Piselli P, Busnach G et al (2007) Risk of cancer following immunosuppression in organ transplant recipients and in HIV-positive individuals in southern Europe. Eur J Cancer 43 (14):2117–2123
- Shahinian VB, Muirhead N, Jevnikar AM et al (2003) Epstein-Barr virus seronegativity is a risk factor for late-onset posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder in adult renal allograft recipients. Transplantation 75(6):851–856
- Shankaran V, Ikeda H, Bruce AT et al (2001) IFNgamma and lymphocytes prevent primary tumour development and shape tumour immunogenicity. Nature 410(6832):1107–1111

- Sherston SN, Carroll RP, Harden PN et al (2014) Predictors of cancer risk in the long-term solid organ transplant recipient. Transplantation 97(6):605–611
- Stutman O (1979) Chemical carcinogenesis in nude mice: comparison between nude mice from homozygous matings and heterzygous matings and effect of age and carcinogen dose. J Natl Cancer Inst 62(2):353–358
- Taylor A, Shuster S (1992) Skin cancer after renal transplantation: the casual role of azathioprine. Acta Dermatol Venerol 72(2):115–119
- Taylor AL, Marcus R, Bradley JA (2005a) Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders (PTLD) after solid organ transplantation. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 56(1):155–167
- Taylor AL, Watson CJ, Bradley JA (2005b) Immunosuppressive agents in sold organ transplantation: mechanisms of action and therapeutic efficacy. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 56(1):23–46
- Teng MW, Swann JB, Koebel CM et al (2008) Immune-mediated dormancy: an equilibrium with cancer. J Leukoc Biol 84(4):988–993
- Vajdic CM, McDonald SP, McCredie MR (2006) Cancer incidence before and after kidney transplantation. JAMA 296(23):2823–2831
- Van Leeuwen MT, Webster AC, McCredie MR et al (2010) Effect of reduced immunosuppression after kidney transplant failure on risk of cancer: population based retrospective cohort study. BMJ 340:c570
- Vegso G, Toth M, Hidvegi M et al (2007) Malignancies after renal transplantation during 33 years at a single center. Pathol Oncol Res 13(1):63–69
- Vink AA, Strickland FM, Bucana C et al (1996) Localization of DNA damage and its role in altered antigen-presenting cell function in ultraviolet-irradiated mice. J Exp Med 183(4):1491–1500
- Webster AC, Craig JC, Simpson JM et al (2007) Identifying high risk groups and quantifying absolute risk of cancer after kidney transplantation: a cohort study of 15183 recipients. Am J Transplant 7(9):2140–2151
- Wimmer CD, Rentsch M, Crispin A et al (2007) The janus face of immunosuppression de novo malignancy after renal transplantation: the experience of the transplantation center Munich. Kidney Int 71(12):1271–1278
- Wong G, Au E, Badve SV et al (2017) Breast cancer and transplantation. Am J Transplant 17 (9):2243–2253
- Yarosh DB, Pena AV, Nay SL et al (2005) Calcineurin inhibitors decrease DNA repair and apoptosis in human keratinocytes following ultraviolet B irradiation. J Invest Dermatol 125 (5):1020–1025



Adverse Effects of Immunosuppression: Nephrotoxicity, Hypertension, and Metabolic Disease

Jamael Hoosain and Eman Hamad

Contents

1	Intro	Introduction			
2 Immunosuppression and Nephrotoxicity		unosuppression and Nephrotoxicity	338		
	2.1	Corticosteroids	338		
	2.2	Calcineurin Inhibitors	339		
	2.3	Antimetabolites	341		
	2.4	Azathioprine	341		
	2.5	Mycophenolic Acid	342		
	2.6	Proliferation Signal Inhibitors/Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR)			
		Inhibitors	342		
	2.7	Induction Therapy	343		
3	Immunosuppression: Hypertension and Metabolic Disease		343		
	3.1	Corticosteroids	344		
	3.2	Calcineurin Inhibitors (CNIs)	344		
	3.3	Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) Inhibitors: (Rapamycin/Sirolimus)	345		
	3.4	Antimetabolites: MMF (CellCept)	345		
Re	References 34				

Abstract

The use of Immunosuppression has led to the tremendous improvement in graft survival. However, immunosuppressants have been found to cause a variety of metabolic derangements including but not limited to: insulin resistance and diabetes, hyperlipidemia, hypertension, and weight gain after transplantation. This combination of metabolic risk factors may be associated with increased cardiovascular disease (Grundy et al., Circulation 112(17):2735, 2005). In addition many transplant recipients may have many of these risk factors pre-transplant

J. Hoosain \cdot E. Hamad (\boxtimes)

Division of Cardiology, Temple University School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, USA e-mail: eman.hamad@tuhs.temple.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

H. J. Eisen (ed.), Pharmacology of Immunosuppression,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 272, https://doi.org/10.1007/164_2021_547

that are exacerbated by immunosuppression. These facts emphasize the need for rigorous follow-up and management of these risk factors post-transplant.

The most common immune suppressant regimens may include different combinations of these agents: Corticosteroids, Calcineurin inhibitors (CNIs), Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) Inhibitors, Antimetabolite.

Keywords

Immunosupression · Metabolic disease · Nephrotoxicity

1 Introduction

The cornerstone of heart transplant recipient care comes in the form of meticulous management of immune modulation to ensure immunologically acceptance of the donor organ. Recipient survival requires an equilibrium between acute rejection and the adverse effects from chronic immunosuppression. In this chapter, we will discuss immunosuppression's effects on nephrotoxicity, hypertension, and metabolic consequences that transplant recipients might face.

2 Immunosuppression and Nephrotoxicity

There are many challenges in managing immune modulation. A significant longterm consequence of immunosuppression is nephrotoxicity. The nephrotoxicity and significant progression of renal dysfunction resulting from these agents has proven to be an Achilles' heel in heart transplantation. Based on the ISHLT registry data, between the years January 1995 to June 2017, 6.7% of transplant survivors experienced severe renal dysfunction (defined as serum creatinine >2.5 mg/DL, chronic dialysis, or renal transplantation) within the first year, as well as observed in 15.7% of survivors within 5 years, and 22.3% within 10 years (Khush et al. 2019). In the current era, freedom from severe renal dysfunction has improved compared to the previous era (1995–2004), however severe renal dysfunction still provides a significant impact on survival to 1 year. There are many factors that contribute to development of severe renal dysfunction after transplant. The recipient's pre-transplant creatinine plays a role in which there is an inflection point in which the hazard ratio increases for serum creatinine >1.1 mg/dL. In this section we will be exploring in more detail each of the immunosuppressant classes and their effects on renal function (Khush et al. 2019).

2.1 Corticosteroids

Corticosteroids or glucocorticoids are some of the most widely used immunosuppressant agents. They are non-specific anti-inflammatory agents that work at the level of the nucleus to augment expression of pro-inflammatory proteins. Corticosteroids are associated with many adverse effects with long-term use, however there is no reported direct nephrotoxicity associated with their use.

2.2 Calcineurin Inhibitors

Calcineurin inhibitors have remained at the cornerstone of maintenance immunosuppression since the early 1980s. The current available calcineurin inhibitors (CNIs) are cyclosporine (CsA; Sandimmune, Gengraf, or Neoral) and tacrolimus (Tac; Prograf). Both cyclosporine and tacrolimus block calcium activated calcineurin. Specifically, cyclosporine binds to cyclophilin and tacrolimus to the FK binding protein-12. Each drug and their respective immunophilin binds to calcineurin. Calcineurin is a phosphatase that dephosphorylates multiple molecules including nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT), which will subsequently bind premotor regions on several cytokine genes causing up-regulation. Cyclosporine and tacrolimus both inhibit calcineurin, and thus blunt the upregulation of the cytokines including interleukin-2 (IL-2). Additionally, cyclosporine also stimulates transforming growth factor beta (TGFB) production which also contributes to its immunosuppressive effects (Shin et al. 1998).

Cyclosporine has been part of the cornerstone of immunosuppression since the early 1980s. Over the years, different formulary have existed including a modified microemulsion formulation of cyclosporine which demonstrated a greater bioavail-ability and more predictable pharmacogenetics and oil-based preparations (Cooney et al. 1998). Nephrotoxicity is a well-known associated consequence of cyclosporine use. Nephrotoxicity with cyclosporine is a dose-related effect that can either be acute or chronic resulting in arteriolar sclerosis and tubular interstitial fibrosis. In rare instances cyclosporine may also manifest as a hemolytic uremic syndrome (Valantine 2000).

Tacrolimus, formally known as FK506, is the other calcineurin inhibitor that is widely used. There have been a number of studies comparing tacrolimus to cyclosporine, in both the oil-based and micro emulsion formularies. Tacrolimus was compared to oil based cyclosporine, there were similar patient and allograft survival, however the incidence of moderate to severe cellular rejection at 6 months was significant lower in the tacrolimus group compared to the micro-emulsion cyclosporine group (Taylor et al. 1999; Reichart et al. 2001; Grimm et al. 2006; Kobashigawa et al. 2006).

In a cohort study of solid organ transplants, including heart, liver, and lung in the USA, the overall incidence of CKD was 60% in the cyclosporine group and 20% in the tacrolimus group. At a median follow-up of 36 months, 17% had developed CKD stage IV or greater. The risk of CKD increases over time with all of the solid organ transplant and was associated with a 4.6 fold increase in risk of death compared to those without CKD. Twenty-nine percent of patients went on to develop end-stage renal disease requiring renal replacement therapy. Risk factors had included older age, lower pretransplant GFR, female sex, postop AKI, baseline

history of diabetes and hypertension as well as hepatitis C viral infection (UTD 12, 14). Other risk factors include concomitant nephrotoxic drug use such as nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, as well as drugs that inhibits the cytochrome P450 3A4/5 thereby increase exposure to CNI metabolites and drugs that inhibited P glycoprotein mediated efflux of TNI from tubular epithelial cells causing an increase in local renal exposure (UTD 31). Polymorphisms in the genes encoding for CYP 3 A4/5 and P glycoprotein (ABCB1) will also affect the risk of nephrotoxicity (UTD 31).

Both acute and chronic nephrotoxic effects are generally similar with cyclosporine and tacrolimus (UTD 15). A lot of data in this field comes from renal transplant recipient and involves cyclosporine given the wide availability. Acute calcineurin inhibitor nephrotoxicity is due to vasoconstriction of the afferent and arterial, thereby causing a reduction in renal blood flow and glomerular filtration rate (UTD 36). Although the exact mechanism is still unclear, there seems to be a substantial impairment of endothelial cell function with enhanced release of vasoconstrictors like endothelin and thromboxane (UTD 36). Renal plasma flow and GFR reduction correlate with the dose and peak cyclosporine level, which may be associated with increased urinary excretion of endothelin, which decreases when trough drug levels are reached (UTD 38). This increase in vascular resistance may be reflected by an increase in plasma creatinine concentration as well as systemic hypertension (UTD 2). This vasoconstriction prevents and delays recovery from early AKI associated with hypoperfusion and ischemia. It is also possible that these episodes of renal ischemia may contribute to a chronic cyclosporine nephrotoxicity.

In addition to the aforementioned effects on renal function, there are a number of electrolyte and metabolic abnormalities that may result from CNI use. These include hyperkalemia, non-anion gap metabolic acidosis, hypomagnesemia, hyperkalemia, hypophosphatemia, hyperuricemia and gout (UTD 20, 21, 67, 68).

CNI use may cause an elevation in plasma potassium concentration by reducing the efficiency of urinary potassium excretion by decreasing the activity of the reninangiotensin-aldosterone system and by impairing tubular responsiveness to aldosterone (UTD 69, 70). There are some in vitro studies suggesting that cyclosporine may directly impair the function of the cells in the cortical collecting tubule, with decreased activity of the NA–K–ATPase pump with inhibition of the luminal potassium channel and thereby increasing chloride reabsorption (UTD 70). Tacrolimus has a similar inhibitory effect on the Na–K–ATPase pump (UTD 73).

Cyclosporine can cause tubular injury thereby impairing acid excretion as well as decreasing aldosterone activity with suppression of ammonia excretion by the concomitant hyperkalemia (UTD 2, 70). Cyclosporine may also cause urinary phosphate wasting, as well as abnormalities in calcium and magnesium reabsorption resulting in hypophosphatemia, hypomagnesemia, and hypocalcemia respectively (UTD 2, 78). The CNI effects on glomerular and tubular function can also lead to a decrease in uric acid excretion leading to hyperuricemia (UTD 67).

As mentioned, CNI nephrotoxicity can manifest either as an acute or chronic injury. Other renal effects include tubular dysfunction and rarely a thrombotic microangiopathy which can also lead to acute renal loss. The majority of data published on this topic comes from cyclosporine, however there are similar patterns of renal disease described and tacrolimus, thus implying a drug class effect. (UTD 2–5).

One of the best ways to prevent chronic calcineurin inhibitor induced nephrotoxicity is to minimize the patient's exposure to CNI agents, and potentially replace them with non-nephrotoxic immunosuppressive agents. Strategies for minimizing CNI exposure are in the section below. There has been a great deal of interest in finding other agents to minimize the nephrotoxic effects of CNI. These include cold fish oil (UTD 85, 86, 90), renin angiotensin system inhibitors, calcium channel blockade, thromboxane synthesis inhibitors (UTD 111), and pentoxifylline (UTD 110), however agents have either unproven or no benefit.

There are some small animal studies that showed ACE inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers can prevent cyclosporine-induced interstitial fibrosis and improve renal function, however studies in humans have not demonstrated a clear benefit (UTD 100–102) Similar findings and interval studies are suggestive that aldosterone antagonism with spironolactone may be beneficial, however there are no human studies to support this. (UTD 105).

Unlike RAS inhibition, calcium channel blockers in animal and human data in renal transplants suggest that concomitant administration with cyclosporine may be protective by minimizing the renal vasoconstriction (UTD 92). Although there may be some small benefit in renal vasoconstriction initially in renal transplant recipients, there is no proven benefit in long-term outcomes of graft survival, or chronic vascular and tubulointerstitial injury. There has also been an inability to demonstrate a better outcome in protecting against kidney injury with calcium channel blockers versus ACE inhibitors (UT 50).

2.3 Antimetabolites

The antiproliferative agents otherwise known as antimetabolite provide an additional component of the backbone of maintenance immunosuppression. Their fax can be found by interference of the synthesis of nucleic acids, preventing the proliferation of T and B lymphocytes. The two most commonly encountered antimetabolites in heart transplantation include azathioprine and mycophenolic acid.

2.4 Azathioprine

Azathioprine (Imuran), once hydrolyzed and converted to its purine analog thioinosine-monophosphate, becomes incorporated into DNA inhibiting the mitotic and proliferative function of activated T and B lymphocytes. This drug used to be a common addition to a calcineurin-based regimen for maintenance immunosuppression. Side effects include leukopenia, hepatotoxicity, and pancreatitis amongst others, however nephrotoxicity is not one of them.

2.5 Mycophenolic Acid

In this current era, mycophenolic acid has replaced azathioprine as the preferred antimetabolite agent. The two major forms are mycophenolate popliteal (MMF; CellCept) or mycophenolate sodium (Myfortic). Mycophenolate mofetil also is a prodrug requiring hydrolysis to its active form of mycophenolic acid (MPA), while mycophenolate sodium (EC–MPS) is an enteric-coated, delayed release salt of mycophenolic acid. In its mycophenolic acid form it becomes a reversible inhibitor inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase, preventing de novo synthesis of guanine nucleotide, and thus selectively inhibiting T and B lymphocyte proliferation. There are a number of benefits to mycophenolic acid over azathioprine including less bone marrow suppression, amongst others that will be discussed in other parts of this book. Both forms of mycophenolic acid discussed are not nephrotoxic.

2.6 Proliferation Signal Inhibitors/Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) Inhibitors

The fourth class of immunosuppressive agents include the proliferation signal inhibitors (PSI) otherwise known as the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibitors. There are a few indications that have risen to the top in which PSI based regimens have proven ineffective over the more conventional maintenance therapies.

The two drugs in this category of medications include sirolimus (Rapamune) and everolimus (Zortress). Similar to tacrolimus they bind to the FK binding protein, but rather than blocking calcineurin dependent T-cell activation, there is inhibition of a protein kinase in the cytoplasm called the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR). TOR phosphorylases proteins that regulate the cell cycle, thus it plays a critical role in transmission of the IL-2 mediated growth and proliferation of T and B lymphocytes. The activation of TOR also plays a role in the proliferation of smooth muscle and endothelial cells and may explain some of the benefits and prevention of graft atherosclerosis and indication of tumor growth in animal models (Heitman et al. 1991; Guba et al. 2002; Poston et al. 1999). Inhibition of mTOR will inhibit T and B-cell proliferation in response to cytokine signaling.

Sirolimus or Rapamune has been compared to a number of standard immunosuppressive agents, notably, as an alternative to azathioprine in a prospective, open label, randomized trial in which there was a lower proportion of moderate to severe acute cellular mediated rejection episodes within 6 months and the sirolimus group out as well has a reduction in cardiac allograft vasculopathy at both 6 months and 2 years (Kirklin et al. 1994). This made sirolimus an attractive agent. Everolimus (Zortress) is an analog of sirolimus, with the main difference being everolimus's better bioavailability with a shorter terminal half-life (30 h), compared to sirolimus (60 h) (Klawitter et al. 2015).

Compared to CNIs, PSIs are unique and that they inherently have no nephrotoxicity effect but can potentiate the efficacy and nephrotoxicity of CNIs. When a CNI + PSI-based strategy is used, a dose reduction in the CNI of at least 25% is recommended. Sirolimus and everolimus have similar toxicity profiles overall, and though no head-to-head comparison had been made between the two drugs (Keogh et al. 2004).

2.7 Induction Therapy

Induction therapy is a widely available treatment strategy in which early intense immunosuppressant agents are administered in the early post-op period, with a goal of providing immediate immunomodulation. Approximately only 40-50% of heart transplant programs currently employed this strategy of upfront intense immunomodulation when risk of allograft rejection is the highest (Khush et al. 2019). There are a few different immunogenic targets which can be utilized, such as monoclonal antibody against IL-2 receptor antagonism (currently available agent, basiliximab (Simulect)), polyclonal anti-thymocyte antibodies (ATGAM-horse derived lymphocyte immune globulin or Thymoglobulin-rabbit derived lymphocyte immune globulin) and antibodies against the CD52 antigen (currently available agent, Alemtuzumab (Campath-1H)). Induction strategies may benefit those who are at high risk for severe rejection, such as African-American patients, younger patients, those with high levels of preformed antibodies, and in cross matches with a high number of HLA mismatches (Rosenberg et al. 2005). Induction allows for a secondary advantage of delaying initiation or lower doses of other immunosuppressant agents, namely those with significant adverse effects such as those that induce nephrotoxicity or metabolic sequelae (Cantarovich et al. 2004; Higgins et al. 2005). In a small study from Cantarovich et al., they studied postop renal dysfunction in heart transplant recipients receiving ATG induction, which the authors results suggested that delaying cyclosporine initiation post induction had comparable survival at 1 year, with a reduction in post-op renal dysfunction (Higgins et al. 2005). In a Cochrane review from Penninga et.al, reviewing 22 randomized control trials that utilize T-Cell antibody, the authors concluded that there was no clear benefit or harm associated with use of any kind of T-cell antibody induction compared to no induction, with a possible reduction in acute rejection with IL-2 RA compared to no induction. Overall there was no significant difference found for any comparison group for mortality, or adverse events including significant differences in renal function (Penninga et al. 2013).

3 Immunosuppression: Hypertension and Metabolic Disease

The use of Immunosuppression has led to the tremendous improvement in graft survival. However, immunosuppressants have been found to cause a variety of metabolic derangements including but not limited to: insulin resistance and diabetes, hyperlipidemia, hypertension, and weight gain after transplantation. This combination of metabolic risk factors may be associated with increased cardiovascular disease (Grundy et al. 2005). In addition many transplant recipients may have

many of these risk factors pre-transplant that are exacerbated by immunosuppression. These facts emphasize the need for rigorous follow-up and management of these risk factors post-transplant.

The most common immune suppressant regimens may include different combinations of these agents: Corticosteroids, Calcineurin inhibitors (CNIs), Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) Inhibitors, Antimetabolite.

3.1 Corticosteroids

Corticosteroids have been an integral part of immunosuppression regimens since the beginnings of clinical transplantation (Bell et al. 1971). They are usually started at high doses and titrated off over a variable time frame ranging from 1 to 6 months. Steroids can lead to insulin resistance, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and weight gain due to enhanced appetite. The steroid effect on glucose levels is dose dependent and generally improves as steroids are tapered off. Steroids stimulate insulin resistance by decreasing beta cell insulin production and increase in gluconeogenesis and a decrease in glucose utilization (Watt 2011). Steroids are also thought to cause hypertension due to sodium and water retention due to the mineralocorticoid effect and by vasoconstriction due to the glucocorticoid effect on smooth muscle (Goodwin et al. 2008). Long-term use of steroids is also associated with hyperlipidemia. Steroids can lead to an increase in both low-density lipoprotein (LDL) and high-density lipoprotein (HDL) levels and have a minimal effect on triglycerides. The mechanism by which LDL increase takes place is thought to involve the increased production of very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) cholesterol and increased activity of 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl-coenzyme A, and decreased LDL receptor function. The increase in HDL is attributed to the increase in lipoprotein lipase activity and a decrease in hepatic triglyceride lipase activity (Lau et al. 2010).

3.2 Calcineurin Inhibitors (CNIs)

CNIS are associated with hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and impaired glucose metabolism (Moien-Afshari et al. 2003). Tacrolimus (Tac) has a lower incidence of hypertension and hyperlipidemia when compared to cyclosporine (CsA)[·] However Tac has been linked to higher levels of new onset diabetes and impaired glucose intolerance (Pham et al. 1996; Reichart et al. 1998; Eisen and Ross 2004).

CNIs have been thought to cause hyperlipidemia through decreasing bile acid synthesis from cholesterol and reducing cholesterol transport into the intestines leading to increased serum levels. In addition, cyclosporine can bind to LDL cholesterol receptor leading to the increase level of circulating LDL cholesterol (Muñoz 1995). The diabetogenic effects of cyclosporine and tacrolimus include toxic effects on pancreatic B cells which were more prominent with CsA, and inhibition of basal insulin secretin which is more prominent with TAC in the acute

phase. Taken together these effects result in reduced insulin synthesis, secretion, and increased insulin resistance (Øzbay et al. 2011).

The cause of hypertension secondary to CNIs is multifactorial. Systemic vasoconstriction combined with a decrease in glomerular filtration and enhanced sodium reabsorption in the renal tubules are thought to be the main culprits (Watt 2011). This vasoconstriction is thought to be related to the impaired balance of vasodilatory mediators (prostacyclin and nitric oxide) vs vasoconstricting mediators (endothelin, thromboxane A2, and the renin-angiotensin system) (Vaziri et al. 1998).

For those maintained on CsA considerations should be given when switching over to Tac if hyperlipidemia and hypertension are an issue. In addition, exposure to CNIs should be minimized to the lowest optimal level needed to maintain allograft to avoid the metabolic consequences discussed.

Because of all the potential metabolic side effects of both agents, efforts to minimize calcineurin inhibitor dosing are ideal. If the dominant issues are hyperlipidemia and hypertension, the conversion from cyclosporine to tacrolimus may result in improvements of these comorbidities.

3.3 Mammalian Target of Rapamycin (mTOR) Inhibitors: (Rapamycin/Sirolimus)

Sirolimus is a potent immunosuppressive drug capable of significantly reducing acute graft rejecting. However, hyperlipidemia is a major adverse event associated with Sirolimus. Sirolimus is thought to induce or exacerbate hyperlipidemia in a reversible and dose-dependent manner. It can increase total cholesterol and LDL with a much more potent effect on triglycerides. The mechanism leading to hypertriglyceridemia is thought to be multifactorial. Sirolimus can interfere with insulin-dependent adipocyte triglyceride storage. There is an increase in apolipoprotein B100 (associated with VLDL and LDL cholesterol), an increase in C III levels (which is a lipoprotein lipase inhibitor), and an increase in apolipoprotein C II (a lipoprotein lipase activator for triglyceride hydrolysis) (Morrisett et al. 2002).

Sirolimus also effects glucose metabolism and can cause glucose intolerance through unrestrained activation of hepatic gluconeogenesis. This can lead to the occurrence of a diabetes-like syndrome in patients (Houde et al. 2010).

3.4 Antimetabolites: MMF (CellCept)

Although very little data exist for the specific effects of MMF on metabolic comorbidities. Thus, this agent should be considered as an additional immunosuppressive agent that could allow dose reductions of the background immunosuppression (calcineurin or mTOR inhibitors) in patients with hypertension and metabolic disease.

Immunosuppression: hypertension and metabolic disease					
Immunosuppressant	Effect	Comments			
Corticosteroids	Hyperlipidemia HTN Insulin resistance Weight gain	 With prolonged use: ↑LDL, ↑HDL, TG↔ Salt, water retention and Vasoconstirction Dose dependent, reversible with taper off Enhanced appetite 			
Calcineurin inhibitors Tacrolimus (Tac) Cyclosporin (CsA) mTOR inhibitors Sirolimus	Hyperlipidemia HTN Reduced insulin synthesis and increased resistance Hypertriglyceridemia Glucose intolerance and insulin resistance	- CsA > tac - CsA > tac - Tac > CsA			
Antimetabolites MMF (CellCept)	No significant effect				

References

- Bell PR, Briggs JD, Calman KC, Paton AM, Wood RF, Macpherson SG, Kyle K (1971) Reversal of acute clinical and experimental organ rejection using large doses of intravenous prednisolone. Lancet 1(7705):876–880. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(71)92441-x
- Cantarovich M, Giannetti N, Barkun J, Cecere R (2004) Antithymocyte globulin induction allows a prolonged delay in the initiation of cyclosporine in heart transplant patients with postoperative renal dysfunction. Transplantation 78:779
- Cooney GF, Jeevanandam V, Choudhury S et al (1998) Comparative bioavailability of Neoral and Sandimmune in cardiac transplant recipients over 1 year. Transplant Proc 30(5):1892–1894
- Eisen H, Ross H (2004) Optimizing the immunosuppressive regimen in heart transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 23(5 Suppl):S207–S213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2004.03.010
- Goodwin JE, Zhang J, Geller DS (2008) A critical role for vascular smooth muscle in acute glucocorticoid-induced hypertension. J Am Soc Nephrol 19(7):1291–1299. https://doi.org/10. 1681/ASN.2007080911
- Grimm M, Rinaldi M, Yonan NA et al (2006) Superior prevention of acute rejection by tacrolimus vs. cyclosporine in heart transplant recipients—a large European trial. Am J Transplant 6(6):1387–1397
- Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Daniels SR, Donato KA, Eckel RH, Franklin BA, Gordon DJ, Krauss RM, Savage PJ, Smith SC Jr, Spertus JA, Costa F, American Heart Association, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (2005) Diagnosis and management of the metabolic syndrome: an American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute scientific statement. Circulation 112(17):2735–2752. Erratum in: Circulation. 2005 Oct 25;112(17): e297. Erratum in: Circulation. 2005 Oct 25;112(17): e298. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105. 169404
- Guba M, von Breitenbuch P, Steinbauer M et al (2002) Rapamycin inhibits primary and metastatic tumor growth by antiangiogenesis: involvement of vascular endothelial growth factor. Nat Med 8(2):128–135
- Heitman J, Movva NR, Hall MN (1991) Targets for cell cycle arrest by the immunosuppressant rapamycin in yeast. Science 253(5022):905–909

- Higgins R, Kirklin JK, Brown RN et al (2005) To induce or not to induce: do patients at greatest risk for fatal rejection benefit from cytolytic induction therapy? J Heart Lung Transplant 24:392
- Houde VP, Brûlé S, Festuccia WT, Blanchard PG, Bellmann K, Deshaies Y, Marette A (2010) Chronic rapamycin treatment causes glucose intolerance and hyperlipidemia by upregulating hepatic gluconeogenesis and impairing lipid deposition in adipose tissue. Diabetes 59 (6):1338–1348. https://doi.org/10.2337/db09-1324
- Keogh A, Richardson M, Ruygrok P et al (2004) Sirolimus in de novo heart transplant recipients reduces acute rejection and prevents coronary artery disease at 2 years: a randomized clinical trial. Circulation 110:2694
- Khush KK, Cherikh WS, Chambers DC et al (2019) The international thoracic organ transplant registry of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation: thirty-sixth adult heart transplantation report - 2019; focus theme: donor and recipient size match [published correction appears in J Heart Lung Transplant. 2020 Jan;39(1):91]. J Heart Lung Transplant 38 (10):1056–1066. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healun.2019.08.004
- Kirklin JK, Bourge RC, Naftel DC et al (1994) Treatment of recurrent heart rejection with mycophenolate mofetil (RS-61443): initial clinical experience. J Heart Lung Transplant 13 (3):444–450
- Klawitter J, Nashan B, Christians U (2015) Everolimus and sirolimus in transplantation-related but different. Expert Opin Drug Saf 14(7):1055–1070. https://doi.org/10.1517/14740338.2015. 1040388
- Kobashigawa JA, Patel J, Furukawa H et al (2006) Five-year results of a randomized, single-center study of tacrolimus vs microemulsion cyclosporine in heart transplant patients. J Heart Lung Transplant 25(4):434–439
- Lau KK, Tancredi DJ, Perez RV, Butani L (2010) Unusual pattern of dyslipidemia in children receiving steroid minimization immunosuppression after renal transplantation. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 5(8):1506–1512. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.08431109
- Moien-Afshari F, McManus BM, Laher I (2003) Immunosuppression and transplant vascular disease: benefits and adverse effects. Pharmacol Ther 100(2):141–156. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.pharmthera.2003.08.002
- Morrisett JD, Abdel-Fattah G, Hoogeveen R, Mitchell E, Ballantyne CM, Pownall HJ, Opekun AR, Jaffe JS, Oppermann S, Kahan BD (2002) Effects of sirolimus on plasma lipids, lipoprotein levels, and fatty acid metabolism in renal transplant patients. J Lipid Res 43(8):1170–1180
- Muñoz SJ (1995) Hyperlipidemia and other coronary risk factors after orthotopic liver transplantation: pathogenesis, diagnosis, and management. Liver Transpl Surg 1(5 Suppl 1):29–38
- Øzbay LA, Smidt K, Mortensen DM, Carstens J, Jørgensen KA, Rungby J (2011) Cyclosporin and tacrolimus impair insulin secretion and transcriptional regulation in INS-1E beta-cells. Br J Pharmacol 162(1):136–146. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.2010.01018.x
- Penninga L, Møller CH, Gustafsson F et al (2013) Immunosuppressive T-cell antibody induction for heart transplant recipients. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (12):CD008842
- Pham SM, Kormos RL, Hattler BG, Kawai A, Tsamandas AC, Demetris AJ, Murali S, Fricker FJ, Chang HC, Jain AB, Starzl TE, Hardesty RL, Griffith BP (1996) A prospective trial of tacrolimus (FK 506) in clinical heart transplantation: intermediate-term results. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 111(4):764–772. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-5223(96)70336-7
- Poston RS, Billingham M, Hoyt EG et al (1999) Rapamycin reverses chronic graft vascular disease in a novel cardiac allograft model. Circulation 100(1):67–74
- Reichart B, Meiser B, Viganò M, Rinaldi M, Martinelli L, Yacoub M, Banner NR, Gandjbakhch I, Dorent R, Hetzer R, Hummel M (1998) European multicenter tacrolimus (FK506) heart pilot study: one-year results--European tacrolimus multicenter heart study group. J Heart Lung Transplant 17(8):775–781
- Reichart B, Meiser B, Viganò M et al (2001) European multicenter tacrolimus heart pilot study: three year follow-up. J Heart Lung Transplant 20(2):249–250

- Rosenberg PB, Vriesendorp AE, Drazner MH et al (2005) Induction therapy with basiliximab allows delayed initiation of cyclosporine and preserves renal function after cardiac transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 24:1327
- Shin GT, Khanna A, Ding R et al (1998) In vivo expression of transforming growth factor-beta1 in humans: stimulation by cyclosporine. Transplantation 65(3):313–318
- Taylor DO, Barr ML, Radovancevic B et al (1999) A randomized, multicenter comparison of tacrolimus and cyclosporine immunosuppressive regimens in cardiac transplantation: decreased hyperlipidemia and hypertension with tacrolimus. J Heart Lung Transplant 18(4):336–345
- Valantine H (2000) Neoral use in the cardiac transplant recipient. Transplant Proc 32 (3A Suppl):27S-44S
- Vaziri ND, Ni Z, Zhang YP, Ruzics EP, Maleki P, Ding Y (1998) Depressed renal and vascular nitric oxide synthase expression in cyclosporine-induced hypertension. Kidney Int 54 (2):482–491. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1755.1998.00014.x
- Watt KD (2011) Metabolic syndrome: is immunosuppression to blame? Liver Transpl 17:S38–S42. https://doi.org/10.1002/lt.22386